Predicting Personality and Mapping its Impacts in Rapidly Evolving Business Environments: A Behavioral Process Perspective

Inauguraldissertation

zur Erlangung des akademischen Grades eines Doktors der Wirtschaftswissenschaften des Fachbereichs Wirtschaftswissenschaften der Universität Osnabrück

> vorgelegt von Tobias Marc Härtel

Osnabrück, November 2023

Dekan: Referenten:

Tag der Disputation:

Prof. Dr. Frank TeutebergProf. Dr. Julia MüllerProf. Dr. Robert Gillenkirch07. November 2023

Acknowledgments1
1. Introduction
1.1 Aims and Scope2
1.2 Detailed Outline5
1.2.1 Predicting Personality Based on Traditional and Novel Applicant Information
(Chapter 2)9
1.2.1.1 Relationships Between Resumé Cues and Applicants' Personality (Chapter 2.1)
9
1.2.1.2 Using Valid Cues to Predict Narcissism and Intelligence From LinkedIn Profiles
(Chapter 2.2)10
1.2.2 Mapping Personality Traits' Leadership Impacts in Face-to-Face and Virtual Groups
(Chapter 3)11
1.2.2.1 Pathways From Narcissism to Leadership Emergence in Social Groups (Chapter
3.1)
1.2.2.2 Differential Impacts of Behavioral Pathways Linking Personality to Leadership
Outcomes (Chapter 3.2) 13
1.2.3 Zooming-in on Effective Vocational Behaviors in Rapidly Changing Business
Environments (Chapter 4) 13
1.2.3.1 Associations Between the Implementation of Telework Strategies and Job
Performance: Moderating Influences of Boundary Management Preferences and
Telework Experience (Chapter 4.1)14
1.2.3.2 Examining the Extended Full-Range Leadership Model and Leadership
Effectiveness in Remote Work Contexts: The Moderating Role of VUCA Environments
(Chapter 4.2)15
1.3 Concluding Remarks and Outlook16
1.4 References
2. Predicting Personality Based on Traditional and Novel Applicant Information28
2.1 Relationships Between Resumé Cues and Applicants' Personality28
2.1.1 Introduction
2.1.2 Theoretical Background
2.1.2.1 Applying the Lens Model to Resumé Based Personality Inferences
2.1.2.2 Previous Research on Personality Related Cue Validities in Resumés
2.1.2.3 Valid Resumé Cues Signaling Personality

Contents

2.1.2.3.1 Cues of Conscientiousness	
2.1.2.3.2 Cues of Extraversion	
2.1.2.3.3 Cues of Openness	34
2.1.2.3.4 Cues of Agreeableness	34
2.1.2.3.5 Cues of Neuroticism	35
2.1.2.3.6 Cues of Narcissism	35
2.1.2.4 Present Study	
2.1.3 Method	
2.1.3.1 Participants	
2.1.3.2 Procedure	
2.1.3.3 Measures	
2.1.3.3.1 Personality	
2.1.3.3.2 Resumé Cues	
2.1.3.4 Analytical Approach	40
2.1.4 Results	40
2.1.4.1 Cue Validities	40
2.1.4.2 Explanation of Variance in Personality Traits by Resumé Cues	
2.1.5 Discussion	
2.1.5.1 Embedding the Present Findings in the Framework of the Lens Model	50
2.1.5.2 Extending Preliminary Findings on Resumé Cues and Personality	50
2.1.5.3 Practical Implications	51
2.1.5.4 Limitations and Future Directions	52
2.1.5.5 Conclusion	55
2.1.6 References	56
Appendix 2.1.A	67
Appendix 2.1.B	72
Appendix 2.1.C	76
Appendix 2.1 References	102
2.2 Using Valid Cues to Predict Narcissism and Intelligence From LinkedIn	Profiles
	103
2.2.1 Introduction	104
2.2.2 Theoretical Background	106
2.2.2.1 Applying the Lens Model to Personality Inferences Based on LinkedIn	Profiles
	106

2.2.2.2 Previous Research on Valid Cues Signaling Personality on LinkedIn	107
2.2.2.3 Automated Approach to Personality Inferences Based on LinkedIn	108
2.2.2.4 Deriving LinkedIn Cues Potentially Signaling Narcissism and Intelligence.	109
2.2.2.5 Present Study	111
2.2.3 Method	111
2.2.3.1 Sample	111
2.2.3.2 Procedure	112
2.2.3.3 Measures	112
2.2.3.3.1 Personality	112
2.2.3.3.2 LinkedIn Cues	113
2.2.3.4 Analytical Approach	113
2.2.4 Results	115
2.2.4.1 Bivariate Correlations	115
2.2.4.2 Machine Learning Approach	116
2.2.5 Discussion	122
2.2.5.1 Applying the Lens Model to Personality Inferences Based on LinkedIn Pro	files
	122
2.2.5.2 Extending Previous Research on Valid Cues Signaling Personality on Link	edIn
	123
2.2.5.3 Automated Approach to Personality Inferences Based on LinkedIn	124
2.2.5.4 Practical Implications	125
2.2.5.5 Limitations and Directions for Future Research	127
2.2.6 References	129
Appendix 2.2.A	138
Appendix 2.2.B	141
Appendix 2.2.C	.142
Appendix 2.2.D	150
Appendix 2.2 References	157
3. Mapping Personality Traits' Leadership Impacts in Face-to-Face and Virtual Gro	oups
	162
3.1 Pathways From Narcissism to Leadership Emergence in Social Groups	162
3.1.1 Introduction	163
3.1.2 Theoretical Background	163
	1.00

3.1.2.1.1 Main Effects of Narcissism on Leadership Emergence	164
3.1.2.1.2 Behavioral Mediators of the Relationship Between Narcissism	and
Leadership Emergence	165
3.1.2.1.3 Evidence for Distinct Relations of Agentic and Antagonistic Narciss	ism
With Leadership Emergence	165
3.1.2.2 A Dual-Pathway Approach Linking Narcissism to Leadership Emergence.	166
3.1.2.2.1 Pathway From Agentic Narcissism to Leadership Emergence	166
3.1.2.2.2 Pathway From Antagonistic Narcissism to Leadership Emergence	168
3.1.2.3 Contrasting Effects on Leadership Emergence With Those on Popularity	169
3.1.2.4 Additional Intelligence and Physical Attractiveness Pathways	170
3.1.2.5 The Present Study	170
3.1.3 Method	172
3.1.3.1 Sample	172
3.1.3.2 Procedure	172
3.1.3.3 Measures	174
3.1.3.3.1 Narcissism	174
3.1.3.3.2 Intelligence	174
3.1.3.3.3 Physical Attractiveness	175
3.1.3.3.4 Coded Behaviors	175
3.1.3.3.5 Interpersonal Impressions	176
3.1.3.3.6 Leadership and Popularity	176
3.1.3.4 Analytical Approach	176
3.1.4 Results	178
3.1.4.1 Descriptive Statistics and Bivariate Correlations	178
3.1.4.2 Model Results	180
3.1.4.2.1 Model 1: Pathways From Narcissism to Leadership Emergence	180
3.1.4.2.2 Model 2: Pathways From Narcissism to Leadership Emergence	and
Popularity	181
3.1.4.2.3 Model 3: Pathways From Intelligence and Physical Attractiveness	s to
Leadership Emergence and Popularity	183
3.1.4.2.4 Model 4: Pathways From Narcissism, Intelligence, and Phys	ical
Attractiveness to Leadership Emergence and Popularity	183
3.1.5 Discussion	185
3.1.5.1 How Do Narcissists Emerge as Leaders?	186

3.1.5.2 Contrasting Effects With Popularity	
3.1.5.3 Robustness of the Narcissism Pathways	
3.1.5.4 Implications for Understanding Grandiose Narcissism	
3.1.5.5 Implications for Understanding Leadership Emergence in Social	Groups 188
3.1.5.6 Limitations and Future Directions	
3.1.5.7 Conclusion	
3.1.6 References	
Appendix 3.1.A	
Appendix 3.1.B	
Appendix 3.1.C	
Appendix 3.1.D	
Appendix 3.1 References	
3.2 Differential Impacts of Behavioral Pathways Linking Personality t	o Leadership
Outcomes	
3.2.1 Introduction	
3.2.2 Theoretical Background	
3.2.2.1 Main Effects of Personality Traits on Leadership Outcomes	
3.2.2.2 A Behavioral Pathway Approach Linking Personality to Leaders	ship Outcomes
3.2.2.3 Distinct Effects of Behavioral Pathways Linking Personality W	ith Leadership
Emergence and Effectiveness	
3.2.3 Method	
3.2.3.1 Sample	
3.2.3.2 Procedure	
3.2.3.3 Measures	
3.2.3.3.1 Personality	
3.2.3.3.2 Behavioral Ratings	
3.2.3.3 Interpersonal Impressions	
3.2.3.3.4 Leadership Evaluations	
3.2.3.4 Analytical Approach	
3.2.3.4 Analytical Approach3.2.4 Results	
3.2.3.4 Analytical Approach3.2.4 Results3.2.4.1 Descriptive Statistics and Bivariate Correlations	
 3.2.3.4 Analytical Approach 3.2.4 Results 3.2.4.1 Descriptive Statistics and Bivariate Correlations 3.2.4.2 Model Results 	
 3.2.3.4 Analytical Approach 3.2.4 Results 3.2.4.1 Descriptive Statistics and Bivariate Correlations 3.2.4.2 Model Results 3.2.5 Discussion 	235 235 235 236 238

3.2.5.1 Theoretical Implications	240
3.2.5.2 Practical Implications	241
3.2.5.3 Limitations and Future Research	243
3.2.5.4 Conclusion	245
3.2.6 References	246
4. Zooming-in on Effective Vocational Behaviors in Rapidly Changing Busin	ness
Environments	253
4.1 Associations Between the Implementation of Telework Strategies and	Job
Performance: Moderating Influences of Boundary Management Preferences	and
Telework Experience	253
4.1.1 Introduction	254
4.1.2 Theoretical Background	255
4.1.2.1 Implementation of Telework Strategies	255
4.1.2.2 Associations Between Telework Strategies and Job Performance	257
4.1.2.3 Moderating Influences of Boundary Management Preferences and Telew	vork
Experience	259
4.1.2.4 Present Study	261
4.1.3 Method	262
4.1.3.1 Sample	262
4.1.3.2 Measures	262
4.1.3.2.1 Telework Strategies	262
4.1.3.2.2 Job Performance	263
4.1.3.2.3 Boundary Management Preferences	264
4.1.3.2.4 Telework Experience	264
4.1.3.3 Analytical Approach	264
4.1.4 Results	265
4.1.5 Discussion	274
4.1.5.1 Implementation of Telework Strategies	274
4.1.5.2 Associations Between Telework Strategies and Job Performance	275
4.1.5.3 Divergences Between Telework Strategies' Implementation and Associa	tion
With Job Performance	276
4.1.5.4 Moderating Influences of Boundary Management Preferences and Telew	vork
Experience	277
4.1.5.5 Theoretical Implications	278

4.1.5.6 Organizational Implications	
4.1.5.7 Limitations and Directions for Future Research	
4.1.5.8 Conclusion	
4.1.6 References	
Appendix 4.1.A	
Appendix 4.1.B	
Appendix 4.1.C	
Appendix 4.1 References	
4.2 Examining the Extended Full-Range Leadership Model and	Leadership
Effectiveness in Remote Work Contexts: The Moderating Role of VUCA En	vironments
4.2.1 Introduction	
4.2.2 Theoretical Background	
4.2.2.1 The Extended Full-Range Leadership Model	
4.2.2.2 eFRLM and Leadership Effectiveness	
4.2.2.3 eFRLM and Leadership Effectiveness in Remote Work Contexts	
4.2.2.4 Moderating Role of VUCA Environments	
4.2.2.5 Present Study	
4.2.3 Method	
4.2.3.1 Sample	
4.2.3.2 Measures	
4.2.3.2.1 Transformational and Transactional Leadership (FRLM)	
4.2.3.2.2 Instrumental Leadership (eFRLM)	
4.2.3.2.3 Leadership Effectiveness	
4.2.3.2.4 VUCA Environment	
4.2.3.2.5 Control Variables	
4.2.3.3 Analytical Approach	
4.2.4 Results	
4.2.5 Discussion	
4.2.5.1 Implications for Theory	
4.2.5.1.1 Associations of the eFRLM Dimensions and Factors Wit	h Perceived
Leadership Effectiveness in Remote Work Contexts	
4.2.5.1.2 Moderating Role of Perceived VUCA Environments	
4.2.5.2 Limitations and Future Research	

4.2.5.3 Practical Implications	
4.2.5.4 Conclusion	
4.2.6 References	
Appendix 4.2.A	
Appendix 4.2.B	
Appendix 4.2 References	

Acknowledgments

With great gratitude, I acknowledge the individuals who played a role in this dissertation's completion. While I'll be keeping my list to those with a direct impact on the professional side of things, it's worth noting that without the unwavering support of my loved ones, this journey would have resembled a shipwreck in the sea of despair. A special thank you goes to my supervisor, Prof. Dr. Julia Müller, and my co-supervisor, Prof. Dr. Robert Gillenkirch. I am also eternally grateful to my twelve co-authors - Prof. Dr. Mitja D. Back, Dr. Simon M. Breil, Dr. Katharina Geukes, Prof. Dr. Michael P. Grosz, Eric Grunenberg, Dr. Felix Hoch, Dominik Hüttemann, Dr. Albrecht C. P. Küfner, Dr. Marius Leckelt, Prof. Dr. Julia Müller, Prof. Dr. Steffen Nestler, and Benedikt A. Schuler - it was my sincerest honor working with such brilliant minds (also thank you for not setting my drafts on fire). And let's not forget the 18 student assistants who tirelessly contributed to the collection and processing of mountains of data - Ghada Al Khoury, Miklas Cordes, Miriam Finke, Carolin Gnaub, Ann-Kathrin Helweg, Nathalie Herzog, Maximilian Klimek, Tim Lammert, Laura Lopes Lange, Anna Langner, Anna Nordlohne, Johanna Ohlig, Marcel Palm, Marcel Pollag, Ann-Christin Rösner, Annika Schüler, Nele Spangenberg, and Marc Steuernagel. A round of applause also goes to my eleven research interns, who put in a marvelous combined 2180 hours (that's like working a full-time job for over a year) of coding about 240 cues (and who didn't throw their laptops out the window while doing so) - Alea Bexten, Katharina M. Breuer, Alexander Gumbrecht, Ariane Hillebrand, Mareike Huisken, Laura Lopes Lange, Marilena Lütkemeyer, Rebecca L. Seggewiß, Nele Spangenberg, Philipp Springub, and Hannah Ventzke. Cheers to two thesis candidates, Chiara Blomberg and Christian Heinzmann, who also made valuable contributions. Shoutout to Birgit Jatzkowski, who ensured that I could afford to put food on the table. Last but not least, I am grateful to the 2299 participants who made this research possible – your willingness to donate your precious time for the advancement of knowledge is inspiring.

1. Introduction

1.1 Aims and Scope

Individuals carry inherent personality traits not directly accessible to others. However, these traits play a significant role in shaping how individuals feel, make decisions, and behave in daily interactions. This leads to powerful cumulative personality effects on fundamental life outcomes, such as the probability of divorce, salary levels (see also Ng et al., 2005), and even the timing of death (Roberts et al., 2007). The effect size of personality is substantial, comparable to established medical effects (Meyer et al., 2001). Whereas most people are aware that chemotherapy increases the probability of surviving breast cancer (r = .03), ibuprofen relieves pain (r = .14), and alcohol induces aggressive behavior (r = .23), it is also reasonable to acknowledge personality traits' impacts on vocational outcomes. For instance, personality predicts job performance (e.g., $r_{\text{Conscientiousness, job performance} = .13$; e.g., Barrick & Mount, 1991), counterproductive work behavior (e.g., $r_{\text{Emotional stability, job satisfaction} = .24$; e.g., Judge et al., 2002), occupational stress (e.g., $r_{\text{Emotional stability, emotional exhaustion} = -.42$; e.g., Alarcon et al., 2002), and leadership outcomes (e.g., $r_{\text{Extraversion, leadership emergence} = .33$; e.g., Judge, Bono, et al., 2002).

Accordingly, there is ongoing interest in (a) predicting applicants' personality traits for personnel selection and development purposes (e.g., Sackett et al., 2022; Schmidt & Hunter, 1998; Schmitt et al., 1984), and (b) mapping their multifaceted vocational impacts (e.g., Bell, 2007; Hogan et al., 1994; Judge, Bono, et al., 2002; Lord et al., 1986; Mann, 1959). These interests (c) do not operate in a vacuum but in the context of constantly changing business environments characterized by digital transformation (e.g., Hanelt et al., 2021; Verhoef et al., 2021). This dissertation's three-fold goal is to advance research in these areas (a-c) by addressing exemplary focal, yet under-explored, questions taking a (personality-evoked) behavior-centered perspective sensitive to changes in the business environment.

The lens model (Brunswik, 1956) offers a framework for understanding complex links between personality traits and interpersonal judgments (see also Back et al., 2011; Grosz et al., 2020; Nestler & Back, 2013), making it a suitable framing theory for this dissertation: As personality traits are latent constructs, the key to understanding their effects on interpersonal judgments lies in personality-evoked behaviors. These behaviors or "cues" are more accessible to interpersonal observation and play the central mediating role. Thus, behavioral processes (or residues thereof) represent the common ground for (a) predicting applicants' personality traits, (b) mapping their vocational impacts, and (c) embedding these processes in the context of rapidly evolving business environments (see Figure 1).

The critical behavioral cues vary depending on the link between personality traits and interpersonal judgments to be understood. Concerning (a) predicting applicants' personality traits, interpersonal personality judgments are the relevant outcome. Key questions cover personality judgments' accuracy based on different information bases (e.g., resumés, LinkedIn profiles) and how this accuracy (or lack thereof) arises. Here, personality-evoked behaviors used to infer personality may represent traces of past behavior, such as job-relevant experiences listed in resumés. Concerning (b) mapping personality traits' vocational impacts, interpersonal judgments related to evaluations of leadership outcomes are extensively studied (e.g., Judge, Bono, et al., 2002; Judge et al., 2009). Unanswered questions revolve around explaining the link between distal personality traits and evaluations of leadership outcomes through proximal mediating behavioral mechanisms (e.g., Antonakis et al., 2012; Zaccaro et al., 2018). Here, personality-evoked behaviors may represent expressed behaviors in interpersonal interactions, such as task-focused behavior in work groups.

However, digital transformation-driven changes to the business environment present (c) altered boundary conditions and new opportunities for (a) predicting personality and (b) mapping its vocational impacts. For example, whereas recruiters have traditionally inferred applicants' personality from resumés (e.g., Brown & Campion, 1994; Burns et al., 2014), these may eventually be replaced (Zide et al., 2014) by digital profiles on online networks such as LinkedIn ("cybervetting"; e.g., Cubrich et al., 2021; Hartwell & Campion, 2020). Such changes may also affect the nature of perceivers, with human recruiters being complemented by mechanical perceivers (machine learning algorithms). In Chapter 2 "Predicting Personality Based on Traditional and Novel Applicant Information", we investigate (i) resumés' and (ii) LinkedIn profiles' potential to accurately infer personality. Also, there is a shift from stationary face-to-face groups to virtual groups and hybrids of both (e.g., Hertel et al., 2005; Rudolph et al., 2021). In Chapter 3 "Mapping Personality Traits' Leadership Impacts in Face-to-Face and Virtual Groups", we examine the behavioral-perceptual processes that explain (i) narcissists' leadership emergence in face-to-face groups and (ii) links of big five traits with distinct leadership outcomes in virtual groups.

Figure 1

Behavioral Processes as Common Ground for Predicting Personality and Mapping its Impacts in Rapidly Evolving Business Environments



Note. Chapter 4 does not present lens model studies in the proper sense due to the lack of multi-source data (objectively coded behaviors, *inter*personal judgments). Thus, the depicted lens only covers Chapter 2 and 3. However, future research may conduct full-featured lens model studies by building on effective vocational behaviors in remote contexts as mediating processes between personality and interpersonal judgments.

In Chapter 4 "Zooming-in on Effective Vocational Behaviors in Rapidly Changing Business Environments", we shift our spotlight from personality effects framed in the lens model to more general effective vocational behaviors (telework strategies, remote leadership behaviors) instrumental for key outcomes in novel business environments (remote job performance and leadership effectiveness). Specifically, the COVID-19 pandemic has accelerated changes in the work mode, moving away from on-site work to remote work, in a business environment characterized by uncertainty (Kniffin et al., 2021; Kramer & Kramer, 2020; Rudolph et al., 2021). This "zoomed-in" perspective allows us to draw a nuanced picture of effective vocational behaviors considering additional moderating influences (individual teleworker characteristics, perceptions of the organizational environment as uncertain). The identified effective vocational behaviors may serve as a foundation to better understand the mediating mechanisms between personality traits and vocational outcomes in these under-explored circumstances in the future (see Avolio et al., 2014; O'Neill et al., 2009).

1.2 Detailed Outline

Table 1 presents the assignment of research articles included in this dissertation to their respective chapters, along with basic information on the publication status, authors' contributions, aim, method, analysis, and results. The main text outlines how our research extends the current state of knowledge and highlights central contributions.

Table 1

Overview of Research Articles Included in This Dissertation

	Publication Status	Authors' Contributions	Aim	Method	Analysis	Results
		Chapter 2: Predictir	ng Personality Based on Tr	raditional and Novel Applicant Informat	ion	
	Chapter 2.1: Relationships Between Resumé	Cues and Applicants' Personality				
	Härtel, T. M., Breil, S. M., Grunenberg,	TH conceived the idea for this	We illuminate	We collected self-reported	We identified valid	We found valid resumé cues for
	E., & Back, M. D. (2023). Relationships	article, reviewed by SB and MB.	resumés' predictive	personality traits (big five,	resumé cues based on	each personality trait, and resumé
	between resumé cues and applicants'	SB organized the resumé	potential to accurately	narcissism) and resumés of 141	bivariate correlations to	cues explained substantial
	personality. Submitted to Journal of	collection and personality	infer personality by	business students. Eleven trained	ensure the comparability	personality variance. However,
	Business and Psychology.	assessment. TH derived the	identifying valid	coders coded 160 resumé cues,	with previous research.	only 16 of the 70 resumé cues
	[The data, codebook, R-script, and	resumé cues and organized their	resumé cues signaling	from which we selected 70 cues for	We computed	appeared to be valid, and resumé
	supplementary results are made transparent	coding. TH prepared the data and	personality.	the main analysis based on their	hierarchical multiple	cues' explanation of personality
	on the open science framework:	ran the statistical analyses. EG		theoretical underpinnings to signal	linear regressions to	variance beyond demographics was
	https://bit.ly/3al6vv1.]	checked the computation of		personality.	identify the explained	not significant for agreeableness
		machine learning models. TH			personality variance by	and neuroticism, suggesting a
		wrote the manuscript. All authors			resumés. As a robustness	mediocre upper limit to the
		provided feedback to shape the			check, we computed	potential of accurately inferring
		final manuscript. TH prepared the			nested cross-validated	personality from resumés.
		supplemental material.			elastic nets.	
	Chapter 2.2: Using Valid Cues to Predict Nar	cissism and Intelligence From Linked	In Profiles			
	Härtel, T. M., Schuler, B. A., & Back, M.	TH and BS conceived the idea for	We illuminate	We collected personality traits (self-	We identified valid	We found ten/eleven valid
6	D. (2023). Using valid cues to predict	this article, reviewed by MB. TH	LinkedIn profiles'	reported narcissism, aptitude tests	LinkedIn cues based on	LinkedIn cues signaling narcissism/
	narcissism and intelligence from LinkedIn	organized the collection of	predictive potential to	of intelligence) and LinkedIn	bivariate correlations and	intelligence that showed significant
	profiles. Submitted to The 83 th Annual	LinkedIn profiles and personality	accurately infer	profiles in a mixed sample of 406	their feature importance	bivariate correlations and appeared
	Meeting of the Academy of Management.	assessment. TH derived the	personality by	students/professionals. Three	in nested cross-validated	to be robust in the nested
	[The data, codebook, R-script, and	Linkedin cues and organized their	Identifying valid	trained coders coded 64 deductively	elastic nets. We	cross-validated elastic nets. The
	supplementary results are made transparent	coding. I H prepared the data and	Linkedin cues	derived Linkedin cues based on	identified mechanical	mechanical perceiver achieved
	on the open science framework:	ran the statistical analyses. BS	signaling personality	their theoretical underpinnings to	hand on the couracy	substantial accuracy ($r = .28/.32$ for
	https://bit.ly/3p1Hr2Mi.j	computed the machine learning	that are used by	signal narcissism and intelligence.	based on the correlations	that noncomplitut traits can be
		models. TH wrote the manuscript	mechanical perceivers		between the predicted	that personality traits can be
		mashina learning models in the	informace		the pasted group	accurately interred from Linkedin
		Mathad and Paculta, which was	lifferences.		validated alastic nots and	promes in the contained valid cues
		written by BS. TH prepared the			the observed personality	are used consistently.
		supplemental material			values	
		Chapter 3: Mapping Pe	ersonality Traits' Leadersh	in Impacts in Face-to-Face and Virtual (Troups	
	Chapter 3.1: Pathways From Narcissism to L	eadership Emergence in Social Group	s		510455	
	Härtel. T. M., Leckelt, M., Grosz, M. P.,	TH and MB conceived the idea	We illuminate the	We applied data from a multi-	We computed multiple	The results suggest that narcissists'
	Küfner, A. C. P., Nestler, S., Geukes, K.,	for this article. AK, KG, and MB	behavioral-perceptual	methodological laboratory group	mediator models with	emergence as group leaders is due
	& Back, M. D. (2019, September 16-18).	organized the data collection and	processes that explain	interaction study (PILS) comprising	group-mean-centered	to agentic narcissism components.
	Narcissists' pathways to leadership in	preparation of the personality	the narcissism-	four types of variables assessed in a	data to control for the	More specifically, we found
	naturally emerging social groups	interaction laboratoy study (PILS;	leadership emergence	predominantly student sample of	nesting of participants in	narcissistic admiration to be
	[Conference presentation]. The 15 th	Geukes et al., 2019). TH prepared	link in social groups.	311 participants: Personality traits	groups. We applied a	expressed in dominant-expressive
	Biennial Conference of the German	the data required for this article.	C 1	(narcissistic admiration and rivalry,	non-parametric	behaviors, evoking interpersonal
	Psychological Society - Personality	TH ran the statistical analyses,		intelligence, physical	bootstrapping approach	impressions of assertiveness, which
		supervised by ML and SN. TH		attractiveness), video-recorded	to test for significant	were positively evaluated by

Publication Status	Authors' Contributions	Aim	Method	Analysis	Results
Psychology and Psychological Diagnostics (DPPD) Section, Dresden, Germany. Härtel, T. M. , Leckelt, M., Grosz, M. P., Küfner, A. C. P., Geukes, K., & Back, M. D. (2021). Pathways from narcissism to leadership emergence in social groups. <i>European Journal of Personality</i> , <i>35</i> (5), 1-23. https://doi.org/10.1177/0890207021- 1046266. [The data, codebook, R-script, Mplus- scripts and supplementary results are made transparent on the open science framework: https://osf.io/4hput/.]	wrote the manuscript. All authors provided feedback to shape the final manuscript. TH prepared the supplemental material, except from the PILS-Codebook, which was prepared by AK, KG, and MB.		behaviors coded by six trained coders (dominant-expressive, arrogant-aggressive, verbal fluency), interpersonal impressions (assertive, untrustworthy, intelligent, attractive), and interpersonal evaluations (leadership emergence, popularity).	(differences in) indirect effects. As a robustness check, we computed multilevel structural equation models.	interaction partners in terms of leadership emergence. These effects were distinct from effects of narcissism on popularity and remained robust when the intelligence and physical attractiveness pathways were also considered.
Unapter 3.2: Differential Impacts of Behavior	rai Pathways Linking Personality to L	eadership Outcomes	W/11	W7	We form this form
Härtel, T. M., Hoch, F., & Back, M. D. (2023). Differential impacts of behavioral pathways linking personality to leadership outcomes. Accepted at <i>The 23rd Annual</i> <i>Meeting of the European Academy of</i> <i>Management</i> and submitted to <i>The 83rd</i> <i>Annual Meeting of the Academy of</i> <i>Management.</i>	IH and FH devised the idea for the online group interaction study (OGIS), reviewed by MB. TH conceived the idea for this article, supported by FH. TH and FH organized the data collection and the data preparation of OGIS. TH ran the statistical analyses. TH took the lead in writing the manuscript, supported by FH.	We illuminate the behavioral-perceptual processes that explain links between big five personality traits and distinct leadership outcomes in social groups.	We collected multi-methodological data in an online group interacting study comprising four types of variables assessed in a predominantly student sample of 364 participants: Self-reported personality traits (extraversion, agreeableness, emotional stability), video-recorded behaviors coded by six trained coders (task-focus, member-focus, resilient), interpersonal impressions (assertive, trustworthy, calm), and interpersonal evaluations (leadership emergence, leadership effectiveness).	We computed multiple mediator models with group-mean-centered data to control for the nesting of participants in groups. We applied a non-parametric bootstrapping approach to test for significant (differences in) indirect effects.	We tound big five personality traits to differently relate to distinct leadership outcomes via the examined behavioral-perceptual pathways: Extraversion was more important to leadership emergence due to impressions of assertiveness evoked by task-focused behavior being stronger valued. Agreeableness/emotional stability were more important to leadership effectiveness due to impressions of trustworthiness/calmness evoked by member-focused/resilient behavior being stronger valued.
	Chapter 4: Zooming-in on	Effective Vocational Beha	viors in Rapidly Changing Business Env	vironments	
Chapter 4.1: Associations Between the Imple	mentation of Telework Strategies and	Job Performance: Modera	ting Influences of Boundary Manageme	nt Preferences and Telework	Experience
 Harter, I. M., Huttemann, D., & Muller, J. (2023). Associations between the implementation of telework strategies and job performance: Moderating influences of boundary management preferences and telework experience. <i>Frontiers in Psychology</i>, 14, 1099138. https://doi.org/1-0.3389/fpsyg.2023.1099138. [The data, codebook, R-script, and supplementary results are made transparent on the open science framework: https://osf.io/gqpdf/.] 	home office project (HOC). TH conceived the idea for the article, supported by DH and JM. TH and DH organized the data collection, supervised by JM. TH and DH prepared the data and ran the statistical analyses. TH took the lead in writing the manuscript, supported by DH. TH and DH prepared the supplemental material.	we illuminate the effectiveness of the individual ways in which teleworkers organize their work processes by exploring telework strategies' associations with job performance and moderating influences of boundary management preferences and telework experience.	we assessed the self-reported implementation of 85 telework strategies derived from previous research and popular media, job performance, boundary management preferences, and telework experience in a sample of 548 teleworkers.	we computed multiple linear regression analyses to identify telework strategies' associations with job performance and moderating effects of boundary management preferences and telework experience.	we round the most implemented telework strategies to be the ones most positively associated with job performance. These serve less the purpose of drawing boundaries between work- and private-life, but rather purposes of working task- oriented and productively as well as keeping social contact. We also found telework strategies' effectiveness to depend on teleworkers' boundary management preferences and telework experience.

 \neg

Role of VUCA Environments wer We computed Instrumental leadership was hierarchical linear perceived as highly effective in iors regression analyses to remote work contexts, explaining
wer We computed Instrumental leadership was hierarchical linear perceived as highly effective in regression analyses to remote work contexts, explaining
well examine associations of eFLRM behaviors with leadership effectiveness in remote contexts and moderating effects of VUCA environments. VUCA environments. Hint work voriance beyond transformational-transactional leadership. The effectiveness of remote leadership behaviors appears to depend on follower perceptions of the organizational environment as VUCA-like, with instrumental leadership behaviors gaining effectiveness in VUCA environments, while transformational-transactional leadership behaviors
ir s 9

1.2.1 Predicting Personality Based on Traditional and Novel Applicant Information (Chapter 2)

Personality self-reports are established personnel selection tools predicting occupational outcomes (e.g., Barrick & Mount, 1991). However, they are suspect to suffer from invasiveness, faking, and limited introspection (Morgeson et al., 2007). Also, recruiters often take alternative routes to assess applicants' personality. For example, recruiters draw from resumés to make personality inferences (e.g., Brown & Campion, 1994; Burns et al., 2014), and also from their digital incarnation providing additional cues, LinkedIn profiles (e.g., Roulin & Levashina, 2019; Van de Ven et al., 2017). Yet, little is known about whether these information bases allow accurate personality inferences and what specific information can be used to do so. Our research builds on the lens model (Brunswik, 1956) and underlines its status as a framework to understand the processes involved in making personality inferences based on applicant information in recruitment contexts. Specifically, we add valid resumé/LinkedIn cues to the information bases recruiters may draw on to infer personality (e.g., job interviews, applicant photographs, online social network profiles; e.g., DeGroot & Gooty, 2009; Fernandez et al., 2017; Stopfer et al., 2014). The lens model appeared useful for unraveling why human recruiters lack accuracy when making resumé (Burns et al., 2014; Cole et al., 2009)/LinkedIn based (Roulin & Levashina, 2019; Roulin & Stronach, 2022; Van de Ven et al., 2017) personality inferences: There are valid cues signaling personality contained in resumés/LinkedIn profiles, suggesting that recruiters' lack of accuracy is (at least to some extent) due to a lack of consistently using this valid information. Even more so, the lens model may be extended to mechanical perceivers, recently attracting attention in accurately predicting personality from online social network profiles like Facebook (e.g., Azucar et al., 2018; Settanni et al., 2018). We show that machine learning algorithms achieve remarkable accuracy when predicting personality based on resumés and particularly based on LinkedIn profiles by consistently using the contained valid information. This automated approach emerged as a suitable vehicle to unravel predictive potentials.

1.2.1.1 Relationships Between Resumé Cues and Applicants' Personality (Chapter 2.1). The aim of this research article is to identify resumés' predictive potential for accurate personality inferences. We focus on the lens model's necessary prerequisite for accurate personality inferences (left side), the identification of valid resumé cues signaling personality (see Figure 1). We expand previous explorative research by examining an extensive set of resumé cues (70 compared to 20/26 cues in Cole et al., 2003/Burns et al., 2014) in a larger resumé sample (141 compared to 122/37 resumés in Cole et al., 2003/Burns et al., 2014). We

establish robust findings on valid resumé cues by (a) deductively deriving the cues based on personality theory and empirical findings, and (b) applying nested cross-validated elastic nets (Stachl et al., 2020; Zou & Hastie, 2005) as supplemental analysis, addressing previous research' power and replicability limitations (Burns et al., 2014; Cole et al., 2003). Further, we broaden the focus from big five traits to narcissism, complementing the big five when predicting vocational outcomes (Grijalva & Newman, 2015; Judge et al., 2006). We found resumé cues to explain substantial personality variance, but only 16 of 70 resumé cues actually signaled personality traits. We contribute to the literature by unraveling that resumés seem to hold mediocre predictive potential with a clear upper limit to accurately infer personality. This suggests that human perceivers' lack of accuracy (Burns et al., 2014; Cole et al., 2009) might be to some extent due to resumés' inherent limited capacity to signal personality, but also due to recruiters using the contained valid information inconsistently. Our supplemental analyses based on mechanical perceivers consistently using valid cues point in the direction that machine learning algorithms are a promising approach to derive personality traits from resumés, at least for prescreening purposes.

1.2.1.2 Using Valid Cues to Predict Narcissism and Intelligence From LinkedIn Profiles (Chapter 2.2). The aim of this research article is to identify LinkedIn profiles' predictive potential for accurate personality inferences, focusing on narcissism and intelligence, two key traits in online network (e.g., Gnambs & Appel, 2018; Hartwell & Campion, 2020) and organizational contexts (e.g., Campbell et al., 2011; Salgado et al., 2003). We again shed light on the lens model's necessary prerequisite for accurate personality inferences (left side), the identification of valid LinkedIn cues signaling personality. We augment this one-sided perspective by examining the accuracy of mechanical perceivers consistently using valid LinkedIn cues, representing the lens model's sufficient prerequisite for accurate personality inferences (right side, see Figure 1). We follow calls to illuminate LinkedIn based applicant assessments (Roth et al., 2016; Van Iddekinge et al., 2016) and add to previous research by examining an extensive set of LinkedIn cues (64 cues compared to $9 \le N_{\text{Cues}} \le 33$ in Fernandez et al., 2021; Roulin & Levashina, 2019; Roulin & Stronach, 2022; Van de Ven et al., 2017) in a larger LinkedIn profile sample than most previous studies (406 profiles compared to $97 \le N_{\text{Profiles}} \le 154$ in Roulin & Levashina, 2019; Roulin & Stronach, 2022; Van de Ven et al., 2017; cf. Fernandez et al., 2021). We address calls to add robustness to exploratory findings on valid LinkedIn cues (Roulin & Levashina, 2019; Roulin & Stronach, 2022; Van de Ven et al., 2017) by (a) deductively deriving the cue set based on personality theory and empirical findings (see Fernandez et al., 2021), and (b) applying nested cross-validated elastic nets. Further, we

extend an initial attempt to transfer the automated approach on online social network based personality assessments (e.g., Bleidorn & Hopwood, 2019; Tay et al., 2020) to more restricted online professional networks like LinkedIn. Specifically, we go beyond training machine learning algorithms based on textual cues (Roulin & Stronach, 2022) by using an extensive cue set reflecting LinkedIn's broad information spectrum. Deductively deriving cues ensured the conceptual connection to the inferred personality traits, addressing lacks of content validity. Overall, we unravel LinkedIn's predictive potential: LinkedIn profiles contain a rich set of valid cues that appeared as robust predictors in nested cross-validated elastic nets. Accordingly, mechanical perceivers achieved substantial prediction accuracy for narcissism (r = .28) and intelligence (r = .32). This suggests that recruiters' lack of accuracy (Roulin & Levashina, 2019; Roulin & Stronach, 2022; Van de Ven et al., 2017) is due to their lack of consistency in using valid LinkedIn cues. We thereby introduce a novel methodological approach for lens model studies, that is, identifying robust valid cues based on feature importance in nested cross-validated machine learning models consistently using valid cues to predict personality.¹ This automated approach provides solid metrics to quantify predictive potentials.

1.2.2 Mapping Personality Traits' Leadership Impacts in Face-to-Face and Virtual Groups (Chapter 3)

Leaders play a crucial role in managing work group performance and satisfaction. As such, identifying who becomes an (effective) group leader is a long-standing question in the trait perspective of leadership. The establishment of personality taxonomies has advanced the detection of robust personality-leadership links, some of which diverging between conceptually distinct leadership outcomes. For example, whereas extraversion is considered the most important big five predictor of leadership emergence, it seems to be comparatively less important for leadership effectiveness. Conversely, agreeableness may not be decisive for rising as a leader, but for leading effectively (Judge, Bono, et al., 2002). Yet, the underlying reasons why these effects hold are poorly understood, leading to calls for process-oriented approaches to unravel the mediating mechanisms behind personality-leadership links (e.g., Antonakis et al., 2012; Zaccaro et al., 2018). We develop a behavioral-perceptual pathway approach to explain (a) how narcissists emerge as leaders in stationary face-to-face groups, and (b) how big five traits relate to leadership outcomes in virtual groups. We base this approach on the rationale of the lens model adapted in modern process models of personality (e.g., Back et al., 2011;

¹ Applying *nested* cross-validated machine learning algorithms in itself represents a methodological advancement that is often overlooked in research on automated personality assessments leading to optimistically biased accuracy estimates (Stachl et al., 2020).

Grosz et al., 2020; Nestler & Back, 2013): Personality effects are mediated by expressed behaviors and evoked impressions, which are in turn evaluated by interaction partners in terms of leadership outcomes. Whereas we build on the narcissistic admiration and rivalry concept (NARC; Back et al., 2013) and the dual-pathway approach (Küfner et al., 2013) to explain narcissists' leadership emergence, we marry process models of personality with leadership process models (e.g., Antonakis et al., 2012; Zaccaro et al., 2018) and behavioral personality science (e.g., Leising & Bleidorn, 2011) to explain big five-leadership links. In doing so, we demonstrate the benefits of collecting multi-source and multi-methodological data in a behavioral-perceptual pathway framework.

1.2.2.1 Pathways From Narcissism to Leadership Emergence in Social Groups (Chapter 3.1).

The aim of this research article is to explain the narcissism-leadership emergence link in social groups based on a well-powered sample of 311 predominantly student participants.² We address calls to (a) examine how narcissists emerge as leaders (Brunell et al., 2008) by zooming-in on the underlying behavioral-perceptual mechanisms, and (b) investigate this link by differentiating between distinct effects of narcissism's agentic and antagonistic subdimensions (Braun, 2017; Grijalva et al., 2015; Zeigler-Hill et al., 2018). We establish robust findings by analyzing whether narcissism effects on leadership emergence are distinct from effects on popularity and remain meaningful when considering intelligence and physical attractiveness as additional prototypical leader attributes. We contribute to the literature demonstrating that building on the NARC (Back et al., 2013) and the dual-pathway approach (Küfner et al., 2013) represents a powerful process-oriented framework to illuminate the "how" of narcissists' group leadership emergence by disentangling effects of agentic and antagonistic behavioral-perceptual pathways: Whereas narcissists' agentic aspects fostered leadership emergence via dominant-expressive behaviors yielding impressions of being seen as assertive, narcissists' antagonistic side reduced their popularity via arrogant-aggressive behaviors yielding impressions of being seen as untrustworthy. These effects held when considering intelligence and physical attractiveness pathways. The findings go well with conceptualizations

² This research article was originally based on the idea of the first author's master's thesis, which underwent rigorous changes before publication. First, feedback was incorporated based on a presentation at *The 15th Biennial Conference of the German Psychological Society - Personality Psychology and Psychological Diagnostics (DPPD) Section*. The manuscript's structure was fundamentally altered. A new literature search was conducted. The statistical models were adapted and updated. A project was created on the open science framework to provide supplementary materials. Due to a rejection by the *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, the manuscript underwent rigorous revisions, before being submitted to the *European Journal of Personality*, where it was accepted after yet another revision. Overall, the manuscript underwent multiple revisions to improve its scientific rigor and clarity.

of narcissism as a multidimensional construct with its subdimensions arousing distinct interpersonal consequences (e.g., Back, 2018; Brown et al., 2009; Krizan & Herlache, 2018) and point to the potential of employing multi-methodological process-oriented behavioral-perceptual pathway approaches to explain a wide range of personality impacts on group leadership outcomes.

1.2.2.2 Differential Impacts of Behavioral Pathways Linking Personality to Leadership Outcomes (Chapter 3.2).

This research article sheds light on the behavioral-perceptual processes unraveling the causal mediating mechanisms linking big five traits to group leadership outcomes. We show that opening this "black box" explains differential main effects of big five traits on leadership emergence versus effectiveness. This way, we address broader calls (e.g., Antonakis et al., 2012; DeRue et al., 2011; Judge, Bono, et al., 2002; Zaccaro et al., 2018) to take a process-driven approach on the "how" of personality-leadership links and specific calls (Banks et al., 2021; Blake et al., 2022; Hu et al., 2019; Judge et al., 2009) to put the spotlight on personality-evoked truly behavioral constructs (third-party coded video-recorded behaviors). We do so collecting multi-source and multi-methodological online group data in an unprecedented sample size of 364 predominantly student participants. We found big five traits to differently relate to distinct leadership outcomes via the behavioral-perceptual pathways: Extraversion was more important to leadership emergence due to impressions of assertiveness evoked by task-focused behavior being stronger valued. Agreeableness/emotional stability were more important to leadership effectiveness due to impressions of trustworthiness/calmness evoked by member-focused/resilient behavior being stronger valued. We contribute to the literature on leadership process models (e.g., Antonakis et al., 2012; Zaccaro et al., 2018) by demonstrating that integrating these with process models of personality (e.g., Back et al., 2011; Grosz et al., 2020; Nestler & Back, 2013) and behavioral personality science (e.g., Leising & Bleidorn, 2011) offers a powerful framework to decrypt puzzling personality-leadership links. 1.2.3 Zooming-in on Effective Vocational Behaviors in Rapidly Changing Business **Environments (Chapter 4)**

The COVID-19 pandemic brought significant changes to the business world, including the enduring shift from on-site work to remote work (e.g., Athanasiadou & Theriou, 2021; Kniffin et al., 2021) and the amplification of organizational environment characteristics of volatility, uncertainty, complexity, and ambiguity (VUCA; Bennett & Lemoine, 2014; see also Jacquart et al., 2020; Mumford et al., 2000). These sudden changes posed challenges to maintaining workforce productivity and made research on best-practice vocational behaviors

related to (a) the individual ways in which teleworkers organize effective work processes and (b) effective remote leadership an urgent necessity (see Rudolph et al., 2021, calling for research on both aspects). Meanwhile, the pandemic served as a door opener to collect large teleworker samples (our combined sample comprises more than 1000 teleworkers). Also, the pandemic created opportunities to investigate moderating influences on effective remote working behaviors by mitigating self-selection effects and range restrictions concerning individual teleworker characteristics (e.g., teleworkers preferring to separate work- and private-life; Shockley & Allen, 2010; unexperienced teleworkers; Kramer & Kramer, 2020), and by functioning as a salient VUCA context (see Stoker et al., 2022). Our research represents an initial approach to identifying remote workers' effective vocational behaviors as well as illustrating that these depend on individual and environmental factors. The findings highlight the benefits of building on established theories (e.g., boundary theory; Ashforth et al., 2000; Nippert-Eng, 1996; person-environment fit theory, P-E fit; Kristof, 1996; Edwards, 2008; full-range leadership model, FLRM; Bass, 1985) when illuminating effective vocational behaviors in remote settings, but also stress the need to refine these theories (e.g., adding telework strategies related to adopting a conducive work attitude/keeping social contact; Greer & Payne, 2014; Kowalski & Swanson, 2005; boundary congruence/fit theory; Ammons, 2013; Kreiner, 2006; extended full-range leadership model, eFLRM; Antonakis & House, 2014).

1.2.3.1 Associations Between the Implementation of Telework Strategies and Job Performance: Moderating Influences of Boundary Management Preferences and Telework Experience (Chapter 4.1). The aim of this research article is to illuminate the individual ways in which teleworkers organize work processes, a nascent research area not yet well-anchored in the scientific literature. We answer calls (Allen et al., 2021; Rudolph et al., 2021; see also Binnewies et al., 2020) to examine the effectiveness (i.e. associations with job performance) of telework strategies and to explore moderating factors, that is, individual boundary management preferences and telework experience. We collected survey data of 548 teleworkers and add to the literature by (a) taking a quantitative approach on (b) a broad set of 85 telework strategies from different theoretical streams pursuing different goals. We (c) conduct our analyses on an aggregated level focusing on telework strategy categories as well as on an individual strategy level to draw nuanced inferences. While the scientific literature lags behind in providing evidence on telework strategies' effectiveness, there is a wide range of recommendations in the popular media. We (d) aim to close this gap by complementing telework strategies from the popular media. We found that teleworkers tend to implement and may profit from telework strategies that help them work task-oriented and productively (e.g.,

Greer & Payne, 2014) by adopting a conducive work-attitude as well as maintain social contact (e.g., Kowalski & Swanson, 2005) by using modern communication technology. The findings underline the merits of broadening a narrow scope on boundary related telework strategies (e.g., Basile & Beauregard, 2016; Fonner & Stache, 2012). Also, we found telework strategies' effectiveness to depend on teleworkers' individual boundary management preferences and telework experience, illustrating the benefits of marrying the literature streams of P-E fit (Edwards, 2008; Kristof, 1996), in particular, boundary congruence/fit (Ammons, 2013; Kreiner, 2006), and telework strategies.

1.2.3.2 Examining the Extended Full-Range Leadership Model and Leadership Effectiveness in Remote Work Contexts: The Moderating Role of VUCA Environments (Chapter 4.2). The aim of this research article is to shed light on the effectiveness of established (transformational-transactional leadership, FLRM; Bass, 1985) and aspiring (instrumental leadership, eFLRM; Antonakis & House, 2014) leadership behaviors in rarely addressed remote work contexts, as well as on the moderating role of VUCA-like organizational environments. Thereby, we answer (a) broad calls to examine how contextual factors influence leadership behaviors' effectiveness (e.g., Liden & Antonakis, 2009; Oc, 2018; Porter & McLaughlin, 2006), and (b) specific calls to examine how the COVID-19 pandemic (necessity of remote leadership, uncertain business environment) has affected effective leadership (e.g., Rudolph et al., 2021). Even more so, we lack understanding of instrumental leadership's effectiveness, a conglomerate of leadership behaviors potentially striving under challenging conditions (Antonakis & House, 2014). We collected survey data of 529 remote followers and add to the literature by (a) capturing the follower perspective, and (b) examining eFRLM leadership behaviors' effectiveness at dimensional and factor levels. This allows us to draw high-level conclusions while also delving deeper into the nuanced behaviors driving effectiveness. We show that instrumental leadership is perceived as highly effective in remote work contexts, explaining unique variance beyond transformational-transactional leadership. This underlines the theoretical and methodological (omitted variable bias) need for an extension of the FLRM (Antonakis & House, 2014; Rowold, 2014). Also, we found remote leadership behaviors' effectiveness depending on follower perceptions of the organizational environment as VUCA-like, with instrumental leadership behaviors becoming more effective in VUCA environments and transformational-transactional leadership decreasing in effectiveness. Thus, augmenting FRLM leadership behaviors with instrumental leadership seems to be a fertile ground to illuminate effective leadership in rapidly changing business environments.

1.3 Concluding Remarks and Outlook

This dissertation presents research progress on predicting personality and mapping its impacts in dynamic business environments. The common core marks a set of (personality-evoked) behavioral processes, which are subject to change in rapidly evolving business environments. We draw on established theories, apply them to current issues in nascent research areas, and combine them in novel ways. This way, we contribute to theory refinement. Specifically, we underline the lens model's (Brunswik, 1956) status as a framework for understanding processes involved in accurately predicting applicant personality. By extending the lens model to mechanical perceivers along with the methodological advancements of nested cross-validated machine learning algorithms, we can complement future lens model studies (see also Bleidorn & Hopwood, 2019; Tay et al., 2020). Further, the lens model adapted to modern process models of personality (e.g., Back et al., 2011; Grosz et al., 2020; Nestler & Back, 2013; see also Back et al., 2013; Küfner et al., 2013) served as a fruitful framework to track personality traits' vocational impacts, particularly when combined with leadership process models (e.g., Antonakis et al., 2012; Zaccaro et al., 2018) and behavioral personality science (e.g., Leising & Bleidorn, 2011). We also build on recent theoretical extensions (e.g., boundary congruence/fit theory; Ammons, 2013; Kreiner, 2006; eFLRM; Antonakis & House, 2014) of established theories (e.g., P-E fit theory; Kristof, 1996; Edwards, 2008; FLRM; Bass, 1985) and demonstrate how these help illuminate effective vocational behaviors in remote settings.

Our research shares strengths and weaknesses, and combining insights can pave the way for future research. First, the methodological foundation for advancing research on personality prediction from applicant information was increasing the numbers of resumés/LinkedIn profiles and deductively derived cues. This unprecedented data base, combined with the theoretical framing of the lens model and analytical advancements of nested cross-validated machine learning algorithms, enabled us to uncover resumés'/LinkedIn profiles' predictive potential: There may lurk a somewhat higher predictive potential in LinkedIn profiles due to additional valid cues unavailable on resumés. Future research could collect a participant sample providing both their resumés and LinkedIn profiles. This may contribute to a context-dependent understanding of the comparative predictive potentials, enabling to track how the validity of cues may differ across traditional non-public, non-digital applicant information like resumés and novel public, digital information like LinkedIn profiles. In a similar vein, future research may present resumés and LinkedIn profiles to both human and mechanical perceivers and compare their accuracy while tracing differences to deviations in valid cue use. Yet, coding cues constitutes a resource-intensive process (our research involved 14 human coders). Future research may overcome this bottleneck by employing automated cue scraping techniques (e.g., Landers et al., 2016), but legal constraints may arise (e.g., Goldfein & Keyte, 2017).

Second, concerning mapping personality traits' vocational impacts, we achieved methodological advancements by collecting multi-source and multi-methodological data (self-reported personality traits, third-party coded video-recorded behaviors, interpersonal impressions and evaluations by group members) in unprecedented sample sizes (see Cheng et al., 2013, Küfner et al., 2013, Witkower et al., 2020, for comparable designs). We analyzed this data in sophisticated statistical models, that is, multiple mediator models (Preacher & Hayes, 2008) and multilevel structural equation models (Preacher et al., 2010), determining indirect effects based on non-parametric bootstrapping. Focusing on behavioral constructs (Banks et al., 2021) is rare due to the costs of objectively coding behaviors, thus putting our work in a favorable position to advance research on personality-leadership links (e.g., Blake et al., 2022; Hu et al., 2019; Judge et al., 2004, 2009). The enhanced process understanding offers targeted starting points to investigate moderating factors that can intervene at any stage of the mediation chain (e.g., Grosz et al., 2020; Tett & Burnett, 2003). One such moderating factor could be processes taking place in face-to-face groups as in our research on narcissists' leadership emergence versus in virtual groups as in our research on big five-leadership links. This online versus offline context might have impacted our results. For example, personality-evoked impressions of trustworthiness may be more valued in virtual groups (e.g., Breuer et al., 2016).³ Future research may introduce the online work mode as a moderating factor to track how specific pathways may change. Overall, however, our results suggest that established personality-leadership links and underlying behavioral-perceptual mechanisms can be detected not only in face-to-face but also in virtual groups, serving as preliminary evidence in cautious favor of the generalizability of personality-leadership processes to online contexts.

Finally, our research on effective telework strategies and remote leadership behaviors is more exploratory, accompanied by streamlined methodological and analytical approaches (e.g., focusing on single-source information). To add robustness and causal elements, future research could collect multi-source data at multiple time points, and test the identified behaviors' effectiveness in pre-post control group training studies (e.g., Binnewies et al., 2020; Rexroth et

³ Indeed, whereas we found a significant indirect effect of the communal pathway (agreeableness, member-focused behavior, being seen as trustworthy) on leadership emergence in the online context, we did not find such an effect of the communal pathway (narcissistic rivalry, arrogant-aggressive behavior, being seen as untrustworthy) in the offline context. However, caution should be exercised in attributing these differences to the online/offline context, as there were further factors that differed between the studies, such as differences in instructions, differently composed pathways, and controlling for other factors in the statistical models.

al., 2016). Research may then build on the identified effective behaviors by developing comprehensive personality-behavior-outcome chains in up-and-rising remote settings.

Our research offers practical implications for corporate human resources best practices following the spirit of evidence-based management (Rousseau, 2006; Rynes et al., 2007), which we hope may contribute to bridging the scientist-practitioner gap (e.g., Anderson et al., 2001; Deadrick & Gibson, 2007; Rynes et al., 2002).⁴ To maximize societal and organizational impact, we favor open access publishing (see Härtel et al., 2021, 2023). We also created open science framework (Foster & Deardorff, 2017) projects providing the public with the raw data sets, analysis scripts, codebooks (including an overview of the study design, instructions, and collected variables), and supplemental results supporting our conclusions.⁵ By taking these measures, we aim to increase transparency and confidence in our findings hopefully helping to put our research into action.

First, organizations may rather rely on self-report personality tests for selection purposes than inferring personality from resumés/LinkedIn profiles due to the early stage of research and resumés' mediocre predictive potential. However, our findings foreshadow merits of automated resumé and particularly LinkedIn based personality inferences as a non-invasive prescreening tool when facing large applicant numbers. Yet, as recruiters still routinely make resumé/LinkedIn based personality inferences, our findings may also inspire evidence-based training putting such inferences on an empirical foundation (e.g., Cole et al., 2005; Karelaia & Hogarth, 2008).

Second, organizations may align their leader selection, promotion, and development procedures towards the proximal, directly observable behaviors and impressions fostering leading effectively rather than taking the lead. Specifically, our findings suggest placing a stronger emphasis on personality-evoked behaviors and impressions related to interpersonal warmth and calmness, and less on agentic assertiveness. This may also serve as a measure for preventing narcissists from entering group leadership positions where they could potentially do harm (e.g., Grijalva & Newman, 2015; Judge et al., 2006; O'Boyle et al., 2012).

Finally, our research provides a preliminary understanding of effective vocational behaviors in novel business environments. Yet, restrictions centered around missing causality limit the potential for practical implications. Our findings cautiously point in the direction that

⁴ We are glad our work on narcissists' leadership emergence has been featured in the popular media ("Gehirn und Geist"; Hartmann, 2022), as the inclusion of research in practitioner readings is a key measure to overcome the scientist-practitioner gap (Rynes et al., 2002).

⁵ The project page for the in-progress research project "Differential Impacts of Behavioral Pathways Linking Personality to Leadership Outcomes" (Chapter 3.2) is still in construction and thus not linked in this dissertation.

remote workers have an intuitive understanding of effective telework strategies, but they could profit from adopting a conducive work attitude and refraining from telework strategies related to temporal flexibility. Remote leaders may benefit from implementing instrumental, that is, strategic and work-facilitating, leadership behaviors. However, we did not find a one-fits-all solution. Organizations may tailor training contents to individual characteristics and broader environmental factors as well as take measures to raise awareness of the context-dependent nature of effective vocational behaviors.

Bringing it all together, this dissertation underlines the benefits of a flexible (personality-evoked) behavior-centered perspective in addressing key questions related to predicting personality and mapping its impacts in rapidly evolving business environments. It is my sincere hope that this work will inspire research progress in these areas as well as inform corporate human resources practices.

1.4 References

- Alarcon, G., Eschleman, K. J., & Bowling, N. A. (2009). Relationships between personality variables and burnout: A meta-analysis. *Work & Stress*, 23(3), 244–263. https://doi.org/10.1080/02678370903282600
- Allen, T. D., Merlo, K., Lawrence, R. C., Slutsky, J., & Gray, C. E. (2021). Boundary management and work-nonwork balance while working from home. *Applied Psychology*, 70(1), 60–84. https://doi.org/10.1111/apps.12300

Ammons, S. K. (2013). Work-family boundary strategies: Stability and alignment between preferred and enacted boundaries. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 82(1), 49–58. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2012.11.002

- Anderson, N., Herriot, P., & Hodgkinson, G. P. (2001). The practitioner-researcher divide in industrial, work and organizational (IWO) psychology: Where are we now, and where do we go from here? *Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology*, 74(4), 391–411. https://doi.org/10.1348/096317901167451
- Antonakis, J., Day, D. V., & Schyns, B. (2012). Leadership and individual differences: At the cusp of a renaissance. *The Leadership Quarterly*, *23*(4), 643–650. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2012.05.002
- Antonakis, J., & House, R. J. (2014). Instrumental leadership: Measurement and extension of transformational-transactional leadership theory. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 25(4), 746–771. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2014.04.005
- Ashforth, B. E., Kreiner, G. E., & Fugate, M. (2000). All in a day's work: Boundaries and micro role transitions. *Academy of Management Review*, 25(3), 472–491. https://doi.org/10.5465/amr.2000.3363315
- Athanasiadou, C., & Theriou, G. (2021). Telework: Systematic literature review and future research agenda. *Heliyon*, 7(10). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2021.e08165
- Avolio, B. J., Sosik, J. J., Kahai, S. S., & Baker, B. (2014). E-leadership: Re-examining transformations in leadership source and transmission. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 25(1), 105–131. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2013.11.003
- Azucar, D., Marengo, D., & Settanni, M. (2018). Predicting the big 5 personality traits from digital footprints on social media: A meta-analysis. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 124, 150–159. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2017.12.018
- Back, M. D. (2018). The narcissistic admiration and rivalry concept. In A. D. Hermann, A. B. Brunell, & J. D. Foster (Eds.), *Handbook of trait narcissism: Key advances, research methods, and controversies* (pp. 57–67). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-92171-6_6.
- Back, M. D., Baumert, A., Denissen, J. J. A., Hartung, F.-M., Penke, L., Schmukle, S. C., Schönbrodt, F. D., Schröder-Abé, M., Vollmann, M., Wagner, J., & Wrzus, C. (2011).
 PERSOC: A unified framework for understanding the dynamic interplay of personality and social relationships. *European Journal of Personality*, 25(2), 90–107. https://doi.org/10.1002/per.811
- Back, M. D., Küfner, A. C. P., Dufner, M., Gerlach, T. M., Rauthmann, J. F., & Denissen, J. J. A. (2013). Narcissistic admiration and rivalry: Disentangling the bright and dark sides of narcissism. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 105(6), 1013–1037. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0034431
- Banks, G. C., Woznyj, H. M., & Mansfield, C. A. (2021). Where is "behavior" in organizational behavior? A call for a revolution in leadership research and beyond. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 101581. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2021.101581
- Barrick, M. R., & Mount, M. K. (1991). The big five personality dimensions and job performance: A meta-analysis. *Personnel Psychology*, 44(1), 1–26. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-6570.1991.tb00688.x

- Basile, K. A., & Beauregard, T. A. (2016). Strategies for successful telework: How effective employees manage work/home boundaries. *Strategic HR Review*, *15*(3), 106–111. https://doi.org/10.1108/SHR-03-2016-0024
- Bass, B. M. (1985). Leadership and performance beyond expectations. Free Press.
- Bell, S. T. (2007). Deep-level composition variables as predictors of team performance: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 92(3), 595–615. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.92.3.595
- Bennett, N., & Lemoine, G. J. (2014). What a difference a word makes: Understanding threats to performance in a VUCA world. *Business Horizons*, *57*(3), 311–317. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bushor.2014.01.001
- Binnewies, C., Haun, V. C., Törk, J., Brauner, C., & Haun, S. (2020). The effects of boundary management strategies on employees' recovery and well-being. *Academy of Management Proceedings*, 2020(1). https://doi.org/10.5465/AMBPP.2020.17134abstract
- Blake, A. B., Luu, V. H., Petrenko, O. V., Gardner, W. L., Moergen, K. J. N., & Ezerins, M. E. (2022). Let's agree about nice leaders: A literature review and meta-analysis of agreeableness and its relationship with leadership outcomes. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 33(1), 101593. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2021.101593
- Bleidorn, W., & Hopwood, C. J. (2019). Using machine learning to advance personality assessment and theory. *Personality and Social Psychology Review*, 23(2), 190–203. https://doi.org/10.1177/1088868318772990
- Braun, S. (2017). Leader narcissism and outcomes in organizations: A review at multiple levels of analysis and implications for future research. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 8(773), 1–22. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2017.00773
- Breuer, C., Hüffmeier, J., & Hertel, G. (2016). Does trust matter more in virtual teams? A meta-analysis of trust and team effectiveness considering virtuality and documentation as moderators. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 101(8), 1151–1177. https://doi.org/10.1037/ap10000113
- Brown, B. K., & Campion, M. A. (1994). Biodata phenomenology: Recruiters' perceptions and use of biographical information in resume screening. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 79(6), 897–908. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.79.6.897
- Brown, R. P., Budzek, K., & Tamborski, M. (2009). On the meaning and measure of narcissism. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, *35*(7), 951–964. https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167209335461
- Brunell, A. B., Gentry, W. A., Campbell, W. K., Hoffman, B. J., Kuhnert, K. W., & DeMarree, K. G. (2008). Leader emergence: The case of the narcissistic leader. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 34(12), 1663–1676. https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167208324101
- Brunswik, E. (1956). *Perception and the representative design of psychological experiments*. University of California Press.
- Burns, G. N., Christiansen, N. D., Morris, M. B., Periard, David. A., & Coaster, J. A. (2014). Effects of applicant personality on resume evaluations. *Journal of Business and Psychology*, 29(4), 573–591. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10869-014-9349-6
- Campbell, W. K., Hoffman, B. J., Campbell, S. M., & Marchisio, G. (2011). Narcissism in organizational contexts. *Human Resource Management Review*, 21(4), 268–284. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hrmr.2010.10.007
- Cheng, J. T., Tracy, J. L., Foulsham, T., Kingstone, A., & Henrich, J. (2013). Two ways to the top: Evidence that dominance and prestige are distinct yet viable avenues to social rank and influence. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 104(1), 103–125. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0030398

- Cole, M. S., Feild, H. S., & Giles, W. F. (2003). What can we uncover about applicants based on their resumes? A field study. *Applied HRM Research*, 8(2), 51–62.
- Cole, M. S., Feild, H. S., Giles, W. F., & Harris, S. G. (2009). Recruiters' inferences of applicant personality based on resume screening: Do paper people have a personality? *Journal of Business and Psychology*, 24(1), 5–18. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10869-008-9086-9
- Cole, M. S., Feild, H. S., & Stafford, J. O. (2005). Validity of resumé reviewers' inferences concerning applicant personality based on resumé evaluation. *International Journal of Selection and Assessment*, 13(4), 321–324. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-2389.2005.00329.x
- Cubrich, M., King, R. T., Mracek, D. L., Strong, J. M. G., Hassenkamp, K., Vaughn, D., & Dudley, N. M. (2021). Examining the criterion-related validity evidence of LinkedIn profile elements in an applied sample. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 120, 106742. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2021.106742
- Deadrick, D. L., & Gibson, P. A. (2007). An examination of the research–practice gap in HR: Comparing topics of interest to HR academics and HR professionals. *Human Resource Management Review*, 17(2), 131–139. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hrmr.2007.03.001
- DeGroot, T., & Gooty, J. (2009). Can nonverbal cues be used to make meaningful personality attributions in employment interviews? *Journal of Business and Psychology*, 24(2), 179–192. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10869-009-9098-0
- DeRue, D. S., Nahrgang, J. D., Wellman, N., & Humphrey, S. E. (2011). Trait and behavioral theories of leadership: An integration and meta-analytic test of their relative validity. *Personnel Psychology*, *64*(1), 7–52. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-6570.2010.01201.x
- Edwards, J. R. (2008). Person–environment fit in organizations: An assessment of theoretical progress. *Academy of Management Annals*, 2(1), 167–230. https://doi.org/10.5465/19416520802211503
- Fernandez, S., Stöcklin, M., Terrier, L., & Kim, S. (2021). Using available signals on LinkedIn for personality assessment. *Journal of Research in Personality*, 93, 104122. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrp.2021.104122
- Fernandez, S., Stosic, G., & Terrier, L. (2017). Does your résumé photograph tell who you are? *Personality and Individual Differences*, 104, 186–189. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2016.08.006
- Fonner, K. L., & Stache, L. C. (2012). All in a day's work, at home: Teleworkers' management of micro role transitions and the work–home boundary. *New Technology, Work and Employment*, 27(3), 242–257. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-005X.2012.00290.x
- Foster, E. D., & Deardorff, A. (2017). Open science framework (OSF). *Journal of the Medical Library Association*, 105(2), 203–206. https://doi.org/10.5195/jmla.2017.88
- Geukes, K., Breil, S. M., Hutteman, R., Nestler, S., Küfner, A., & Back, M. D. (2019). Explaining the longitudinal interplay of personality and social relationships in the laboratory and in the field: The PILS and the CONNECT study. *PLOS ONE*, 14(1), e0210424. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0210424
- Gnambs, T., & Appel, M. (2018). Narcissism and social networking behavior: A metaanalysis. *Journal of Personality*, 86(2), 200–212. https://doi.org/10.1111/jopy.12305
- Goldfein, S., & Keyte, J. (2017). Big data, web 'scraping' and competition law: The debate continues. *New York Law Journal*, 258(49), 1–3.
- Greer, T. W., & Payne, S. C. (2014). Overcoming telework challenges: Outcomes of successful telework strategies. *The Psychologist-Manager Journal*, 17(2), 87–111. https://doi.org/10.1037/mgr0000014
- Grijalva, E., Harms, P. D., Newman, D. A., Gaddis, B. H., & Fraley, R. C. (2015). Narcissism

and leadership: A meta-analytic review of linear and nonlinear relationships. *Personnel Psychology*, *68*(1), 1–47. https://doi.org/10.1111/peps.12072

- Grijalva, E., & Newman, D. A. (2015). Narcissism and counterproductive work behavior (CWB): Meta-analysis and consideration of collectivist culture, big five personality, and narcissism's facet structure. *Applied Psychology*, 64(1), 93–126. https://doi.org/10.1111/apps.12025
- Grosz, M. P., Leckelt, M., & Back, M. D. (2020). Personality predictors of social status attainment. *Current Opinion in Psychology*, *33*, 52–56. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copsyc.2019.07.023
- Hanelt, A., Bohnsack, R., Marz, D., & Antunes Marante, C. (2021). A systematic review of the literature on digital transformation: Insights and implications for strategy and organizational change. *Journal of Management Studies*, 58(5), 1159–1197. https://doi.org/10.1111/joms.12639
- Härtel, T. M., Hüttemann, D., & Müller, J. (2023). Associations between the implementation of telework strategies and job performance: Moderating influences of boundary management preferences and telework experience. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 14, 1099138. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2023.1099138
- Härtel, T. M., Leckelt, M., Grosz, M. P., Küfner, A. C. P., Geukes, K., & Back, M. D. (2021). Pathways from narcissism to leadership emergence in social groups. *European Journal of Personality*, 35(5), 1–23. https://doi.org/10.1177/08902070211046266
- Hartmann, C. (2022). Unsere dunkle Seite: Warum wir alle ein wenig narzisstisch und machthungrig sind. *Gehirn & Geist*, *9*, 12–18.
- Hartwell, C. J., & Campion, M. A. (2020). Getting social in selection: How social networking website content is perceived and used in hiring. *International Journal of Selection and Assessment*, 28(1), 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1111/ijsa.12273
- Hertel, G., Geister, S., & Konradt, U. (2005). Managing virtual teams: A review of current empirical research. *Human Resource Management Review*, *15*(1), 69–95. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hrmr.2005.01.002
- Hogan, R., Curphy, G. J., & Hogan, J. (1994). What we know about leadership: Effectiveness and personality. *American Psychologist*, 49(6), 493–504. https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.49.6.493
- Hu, J., Zhang, Z., Jiang, K., & Chen, W. (2019). Getting ahead, getting along, and getting prosocial: Examining extraversion facets, peer reactions, and leadership emergence. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 104(11), 1369–1386. https://doi.org/10.1037/ap10000413
- Jacquart, P., Santoni, S., Schudy, S., Sieweke, J., & Withers, M. C. (2020). Special issue on harnessing exogenous shocks for leadership and management research. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 31(5), 101464. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1048-9843(20)30091-6
- Judge, T. A., Bono, J. E., Ilies, R., & Gerhardt, M. W. (2002). Personality and leadership: A qualitative and quantitative review. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 87(4), 765–780. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.87.4.765
- Judge, T. A., Heller, D., & Mount, M. K. (2002). Five-factor model of personality and job satisfaction: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *87*(3), 530–541. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.87.3.530
- Judge, T. A., LePine, J. A., & Rich, B. L. (2006). Loving yourself abundantly: Relationship of the narcissistic personality to self- and other perceptions of workplace deviance, leadership, and task and contextual performance. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 91(4), 762–776. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.91.4.762
- Judge, T. A., Piccolo, R. F., & Ilies, R. (2004). The forgotten ones? The validity of consideration and initiating structure in leadership research. *Journal of Applied*

Psychology, 89(1), 36-51. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.89.1.36

- Judge, T. A., Piccolo, R. F., & Kosalka, T. (2009). The bright and dark sides of leader traits: A review and theoretical extension of the leader trait paradigm. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 20(6), 855–875. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2009.09.004
- Karelaia, N., & Hogarth, R. M. (2008). Determinants of linear judgment: A meta-analysis of lens model studies. *Psychological Bulletin*, 134(3), 404–426. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.134.3.404
- Kniffin, K. M., Narayanan, J., Anseel, F., Antonakis, J., Ashford, S. P., Bakker, A. B.,
 Bamberger, P., Bapuji, H., Bhave, D. P., Choi, V. K., Creary, S. J., Demerouti, E.,
 Flynn, F. J., Gelfand, M. J., Greer, L. L., Johns, G., Kesebir, S., Klein, P. G., Lee, S.
 Y., ... Vugt, M. van. (2021). COVID-19 and the workplace: Implications, issues, and
 insights for future research and action. *American Psychologist*, *76*(1), 63–77.
 https://doi.org/10.1037/amp0000716
- Kowalski, K. B., & Swanson, J. A. (2005). Critical success factors in developing teleworking programs. *Benchmarking: An International Journal*, 12(3), 236–249. https://doi.org/10.1108/14635770510600357
- Kramer, A., & Kramer, K. Z. (2020). The potential impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on occupational status, work from home, and occupational mobility. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, *119*, 103442. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2020.103442
- Kreiner, G. E. (2006). Consequences of work-home segmentation or integration: A personenvironment fit perspective. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 27(4), 485–507. https://doi.org/10.1002/job.386
- Kristof, A. L. (1996). Person-organization fit: An integrative review of its conceptualizations, measurement, and implications. *Personnel Psychology*, 49(1), 1–49. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-6570.1996.tb01790.x
- Krizan, Z., & Herlache, A. D. (2018). The narcissism spectrum model: A synthetic view of narcissistic personality. *Personality and Social Psychology Review*, 22(1), 3–31. https://doi.org/10.1177/1088868316685018
- Küfner, A. C. P., Nestler, S., & Back, M. D. (2013). The two pathways to being an (un-)popular narcissist. *Journal of Personality*, 81(2), 184–195. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-6494.2012.00795.x
- Landers, R. N., Brusso, R. C., Cavanaugh, K. J., & Collmus, A. B. (2016). A primer on theory-driven web scraping: Automatic extraction of big data from the Internet for use in psychological research. *Psychological Methods*, 21(4), 475–492. https://doi.org/10.1037/met0000081
- Leising, D., & Bleidorn, W. (2011). Which are the basic meaning dimensions of observable interpersonal behavior? *Personality and Individual Differences*, *51*(8), 986–990. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2011.08.003
- Liden, R. C., & Antonakis, J. (2009). Considering context in psychological leadership research. *Human Relations*, 62(11), 1587–1605. https://doi.org/10.1177/0018726709346374
- Lord, R. G., De Vader, C. L., & Alliger, G. M. (1986). A meta-analysis of the relation between personality traits and leadership perceptions: An application of validity generalization procedures. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 71(3), 402–410. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.71.3.402
- Mann, R. D. (1959). A review of the relationships between personality and performance in small groups. *Psychological Bulletin*, *56*(4), 241–270. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0044587
- Meyer, G. J., Finn, S. E., Eyde, L. D., Kay, G. G., Moreland, K. L., Dies, R. R., Eisman, E. J., Kubiszyn, T. W., & Reed, G. M. (2001). Psychological testing and psychological

assessment: A review of evidence and issues. *American Psychologist*, 56(2), 128–165. https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.56.2.128

- Morgeson, F. P., Campion, M. A., Dipboye, R. L., Hollenbeck, J. R., Murphy, K., & Schmitt, N. (2007). Reconsidering the use of personality tests in personnel selection contexts. *Personnel Psychology*, 60(3), 683–729. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-6570.2007.00089.x
- Mumford, M. D., Zaccaro, S. J., Harding, F. D., Jacobs, T. O., & Fleishman, E. A. (2000). Leadership skills for a changing world: Solving complex social problems. *The Leadership Quarterly*, *11*(1), 11–35. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1048-9843(99)00041-7
- Nestler, S., & Back, M. D. (2013). Applications and extensions of the lens model to understand interpersonal judgments at zero acquaintance. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, *22*(5), 374–379. https://doi.org/10.1177/0963721413486148
- Ng, T. W. H., Eby, L. T., Sorensen, K. L., & Feldman, D. C. (2005). Predictors of objective and subjective career success: A meta-analysis. *Personnel Psychology*, *58*(2), 367–408. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-6570.2005.00515.x
- Nippert-Eng, C. (1996). Calendars and keys: The classification of "home" and "work." Sociological Forum, 11(3), 563–582. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02408393
- O'Boyle, E. H., Forsyth, D. R., Banks, G. C., & McDaniel, M. A. (2012). A meta-analysis of the dark triad and work behavior: A social exchange perspective. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *97*(3), 557–579. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0025679
- Oc, B. (2018). Contextual leadership: A systematic review of how contextual factors shape leadership and its outcomes. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 29(1), 218–235. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2017.12.004
- O'Neill, T. A., Hambley, L. A., Greidanus, N. S., MacDonnell, R., & Kline, T. J. B. (2009). Predicting teleworker success: An exploration of personality, motivational, situational, and job characteristics. *New Technology, Work and Employment*, *24*(2), 144–162. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-005X.2009.00225.x
- Porter, L. W., & McLaughlin, G. B. (2006). Leadership and the organizational context: Like the weather? *The Leadership Quarterly*, 17(6), 559–576. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2006.10.002
- Preacher, K. J., & Hayes, A. F. (2008). Asymptotic and resampling strategies for assessing and comparing indirect effects in multiple mediator models. *Behavior Research Methods*, 40(3), 879–891. https://doi.org/10.3758/BRM.40.3.879
- Preacher, K. J., Zyphur, M. J., & Zhang, Z. (2010). A general multilevel SEM framework for assessing multilevel mediation. *Psychological Methods*, 15(3), 209–233. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0020141
- Rexroth, M., Feldmann, E., Peters, A., & Sonntag, K. (2016). Learning how to manage the boundaries between life domains. *Zeitschrift für Arbeits- und Organisationspsychologie A&O*, 60(3), 117–129. https://doi.org/10.1026/0932-4089/a000197
- Roberts, B. W., Kuncel, N. R., Shiner, R., Caspi, A., & Goldberg, L. R. (2007). The power of personality: The comparative validity of personality traits, socioeconomic status, and cognitive ability for predicting important life outcomes. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, 2(4), 313–345. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1745-6916.2007.00047.x
- Roth, P. L., Bobko, P., Van Iddekinge, C. H., & Thatcher, J. B. (2016). Social media in employee-selection-related decisions: A research agenda for uncharted territory. *Journal of Management*, 42(1), 269–298. https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206313503018
- Roulin, N., & Levashina, J. (2019). LinkedIn as a new selection method: Psychometric properties and assessment approach. *Personnel Psychology*, 72(2), 187–211. https://doi.org/10.1111/peps.12296

- Roulin, N., & Stronach, R. (2022). LinkedIn-based assessments of applicant personality, cognitive ability, and likelihood of organizational citizenship behaviors: Comparing self-, other-, and language-based automated ratings. *International Journal of Selection* and Assessment, 30(4), 503–524. https://doi.org/10.1111/ijsa.12396
- Rousseau, D. M. (2006). Is there such a thing as "evidence-based management"? Academy of Management Review, 31(2), 256–269. https://doi.org/10.5465/amr.2006.20208679
- Rowold, J. (2014). Instrumental leadership: Extending the transformational-transactional leadership paradigm. *German Journal of Human Resource Management*, *28*(3), 367–390. https://doi.org/10.1177/239700221402800304
- Rudolph, C. W., Allan, B., Clark, M., Hertel, G., Hirschi, A., Kunze, F., Shockley, K., Shoss, M., Sonnentag, S., & Zacher, H. (2021). Pandemics: Implications for research and practice in industrial and organizational psychology. *Industrial and Organizational Psychology*, 14(1–2), 1–35. https://doi.org/10.1017/iop.2020.48
- Rynes, S. L., Colbert, A. E., & Brown, K. G. (2002). HR professionals' beliefs about effective human resource practices: Correspondence between research and practice. *Human Resource Management*, 41(2), 149–174. https://doi.org/10.1002/hrm.10029
- Rynes, S. L., Giluk, T. L., & Brown, K. G. (2007). The very separate worlds of academic and practitioner periodicals in human resource management: Implications for evidencebased management. *Academy of Management Journal*, 50(5), 987–1008. https://doi.org/10.5465/amj.2007.27151939
- Sackett, P. R., Zhang, C., Berry, C. M., & Lievens, F. (2022). Revisiting meta-analytic estimates of validity in personnel selection: Addressing systematic overcorrection for restriction of range. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 107(11), 2040–2068. https://doi.org/10.1037/ap10000994
- Salgado, J. F., Anderson, N., Moscoso, S., Bertua, C., & Fruyt, F. D. (2003). International validity generalization of GMA and cognitive abilities: A European community metaanalysis. *Personnel Psychology*, 56(3), 573–605. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-6570.2003.tb00751.x
- Schmidt, F. L., & Hunter, J. E. (1998). The validity and utility of selection methods in personnel psychology: Practical and theoretical implications of 85 years of research findings. *Psychological Bulletin*, 124(2), 262–274. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.124.2.262
- Schmitt, N., Gooding, R. Z., Noe, R. A., & Kirsch, M. (1984). Metaanalyses of validity studies published between 1964 and 1982 and the investigation of study characteristics. *Personnel Psychology*, 37(3), 407–422. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-6570.1984.tb00519.x
- Settanni, M., Azucar, D., & Marengo, D. (2018). Predicting individual characteristics from digital traces on social media: A meta-analysis. *Cyberpsychology, Behavior, and Social Networking*, 21(4), 217–228. https://doi.org/10.1089/cyber.2017.0384
- Shockley, K. M., & Allen, T. D. (2010). Investigating the missing link in flexible work arrangement utilization: An individual difference perspective. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 76(1), 131–142. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2009.07.002
- Stachl, C., Pargent, F., Hilbert, S., Harari, G. M., Schoedel, R., Vaid, S., Gosling, S. D., & Bühner, M. (2020). Personality research and assessment in the era of machine learning. *European Journal of Personality*, 34(5), 613–631. https://doi.org/10.1002/per.2257
- Stoker, J. I., Garretsen, H., & Lammers, J. (2022). Leading and working from home in times of COVID-19: On the perceived changes in leadership behaviors. *Journal of Leadership & Organizational Studies*, 29(2), 208–218. https://doi.org/10.1177/15480518211007452
- Stopfer, J. M., Egloff, B., Nestler, S., & Back, M. D. (2014). Personality expression and impression formation in online social networks: An integrative approach to understanding the processes of accuracy, impression management and meta-accuracy. *European Journal of Personality*, 28(1), 73–94. https://doi.org/10.1002/per.1935
- Tay, L., Woo, S. E., Hickman, L., & Saef, R. M. (2020). Psychometric and validity issues in machine learning approaches to personality assessment: A focus on social media text mining. *European Journal of Personality*, 34(5), 826–844. https://doi.org/10.1002/per.2290
- Tett, R. P., & Burnett, D. D. (2003). A personality trait-based interactionist model of job performance. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 88(3), 500–517. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.88.3.500
- Van de Ven, N., Bogaert, A., Serlie, A., Brandt, M. J., & Denissen, J. J. A. (2017). Personality perception based on LinkedIn profiles. *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, 32(6), 418–429. https://doi.org/10.1108/JMP-07-2016-0220
- Van Iddekinge, C. H., Lanivich, S. E., Roth, P. L., & Junco, E. (2016). Social media for selection? Validity and adverse impact potential of a facebook-based assessment. *Journal of Management*, 42(7), 1811–1835. https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206313515524
- Verhoef, P. C., Broekhuizen, T., Bart, Y., Bhattacharya, A., Qi Dong, J., Fabian, N., & Haenlein, M. (2021). Digital transformation: A multidisciplinary reflection and research agenda. *Journal of Business Research*, 122, 889–901. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2019.09.022
- Witkower, Z., Tracy, J. L., Cheng, J. T., & Henrich, J. (2020). Two signals of social rank: Prestige and dominance are associated with distinct nonverbal displays. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *118*(1), 89–120. https://doi.org/10.1037/pspi0000181
- Zaccaro, S. J., Green, J. P., Dubrow, S., & Kolze, M. (2018). Leader individual differences, situational parameters, and leadership outcomes: A comprehensive review and integration. *The Leadership Quarterly*, *29*(1), 2–43. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2017.10.003
- Zeigler-Hill, V., Vrabel, J. K., McCabe, G. A., Cosby, C. A., Traeder, C. K., Hobbs, K. A., & Southard, A. C. (2018). Narcissism and the pursuit of status. *Journal of Personality*, 87(2), 310-327. https://doi.org/10.1111/jopy.12392
- Zide, J., Elman, B., & Shahani-Denning, C. (2014). LinkedIn and recruitment: How profiles differ across occupations. *Employee Relations*, 36(5), 583–604. https://doi.org/10.1108/ER-07-2013-0086
- Zou, H., & Hastie, T. (2005). Regularization and variable selection via the elastic net. *Journal* of the Royal Statistical Society: Series B (Statistical Methodology), 67(2), 301–320. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9868.2005.00503.x

Predicting Personality Based on Traditional and Novel Applicant Information Relationships Between Resumé Cues and Applicants' Personality

Publication Status. Härtel, T. M., Breil, S. M., Grunenberg, E., & Back, M. D. (2023). Relationships between resumé cues and applicants' personality. Submitted to *Journal of Business and Psychology*.

Abstract. HR professionals frequently draw inferences on applicants' personality based on resumés. Building on the lens model, this study's goal is to shed light on resumés' potential for accurately inferring personality by providing empirical evidence on valid resumé cues signaling applicants' personality. We assessed self-reported big five personality traits and narcissism of 141 business students at career start who applied with resumés for a fictional business entry level position. Drawing on personality theory and previous empirical findings, 70 resumé cues (e.g., appealing look, number of internships/jobs, creative hobbies) were post hoc selected from a larger cue set comprising 160 resumé cues coded by 11 trained coders. Computing bivariate correlations and multiple linear regressions, we identified easy-to-interpret valid resumé cues explaining substantial variance of the big five traits and narcissism. Even though all considered personality traits were expressed in resumés, only a fraction of the deductively derived resumé cues (16 out of 70) actually signaled personality traits. This suggests that there is a definite and rather mediocre upper limit to the potential of accurately inferring personality based on resumés. We contribute to the literature on personality inferences at zero-acquaintance by adding valid resumé cues to information bases allowing to make (somewhat) accurate personality inferences in recruitment contexts (e.g., job interviews, LinkedIn profiles). The results have practical implications for identifying appropriate application purposes of resumé based personality inferences in recruitment contexts and for improving HR professionals' accuracy when inferring personality based on resumés.

Keywords. Resumé screening, personality expression, big five, narcissism, lens model.

Open Science Statement. The data, codebook, R-script, and supplementary results are made transparent on the open science framework: https://bit.ly/3al6vv1.

2.1.1 Introduction

Resumé screening is cost-effective and highly accepted by applicants (e.g., Marcus, 2003; Moscoso & Salgado, 2004; Steiner & Gilliland, 1996) making it the most applied personnel selection procedure (e.g., König et al., 2010; Schuler et al., 2007; Zibarras & Woods, 2010). HR professionals place great importance on applicants' personality when making hiring decisions (e.g., Dunn et al., 1995; Lievens et al., 2005; Ones & Viswesvaran, 1999; Tews et al., 2011) and frequently draw inferences on applicants' personality based on resumés (e.g., Brown & Campion, 1994; Burns et al., 2014; Cole et al., 2004, 2009). For instance, HR professionals tend to use a neat presentation of information as a cue for an applicant's conscientiousness and the presence of a leadership position as a cue for an applicant's extraversion (Burns et al., 2014).

Following the lens model (Brunswik, 1956), the necessary prerequisite for accurate resumé based personality inferences is the presence of valid cues, that is, information in resumés that is actually associated with applicants' personality. Building on that, this study's goal is to shed light on resumés' potential to accurately infer personality by enlarging our understanding of valid resumé cues signaling applicants' personality. Only two studies (Burns et al., 2014; Cole et al., 2003b)⁶ have examined cue validities for the big five personality traits based on small explorative sets of resumé cues. Here, we complement these important initial findings by (a) examining cue validities for an extensive set of cues ($N_{\text{Cues}} = 70$) that were deductively selected based on personality theory and previous empirical findings, and by (b) including grandiose narcissism (Back et al., 2013) as an additional, impactful personality trait in work contexts (e.g., Campbell et al., 2011; Grijalva et al., 2015; Grijalva & Newman, 2015) complementing the big five traits.

For this purpose, we assessed the self-reported personality of 141 business students at career start who applied with resumés for a fictional position. Eleven trained coders coded the resumé cues. Based on (a) bivariate correlations between cues and personality, and (b) multiple linear regressions using cues to predict personality we identify (a) valid cues for each personality trait, and (b) the amount of personality variance explained by resumé cues.

The present study can contribute to our understanding of how personality is expressed in resumés and could add valid resumé cues to the literature on personality inferences in recruitment related zero-acquaintance contexts such as application photographs (e.g., Fernandez et al., 2017), online professional networks (LinkedIn; e.g., Van de Ven et al., 2017), and job interviews (e.g., DeGroot & Gooty, 2009). The lens model serves as a framework to

⁶ Cole et al. (2003a) is based on a subsample of Cole et al. (2003b) and, thus, is not considered here.

examine the extent to which resumés contain valid information signaling applicants' personality and thereby identifying resumés' upper limit for accurate personality inferences. This should help to clarify whether the previously found lack of accuracy of HR professionals' resumé based personality inferences (Burns et al, 2014; Cole et al., 2009) might be rather due to resumés' potential inherent limited capacity to signal personality or due to HR' professionals potentially not consistently using the cues signaling valid personality information in resumés.

This study can help to derive practical implications on how to appropriately use resumé based personality assessments for recruitment purposes. Depending on resumés' potential for accurately inferring personality, organizations could be advised to (a) replace or supplement established personnel selection tools such as self-report personality tests (e.g., Barrick & Mount, 1991), that might suffer from faking (Morgeson et al., 2007), or (b) rather refrain from using resumé based personality assessments for recruitment purposes other than maybe prescreening high numbers of applicants. Either way, resumé based personality assessments are common practice in many organizations and HR professionals' lack of accuracy might lead to costly erroneous selection decisions such as rejecting competent applicants due to their apparent non-suitable personality. Identifying valid and non-valid resumé cues is thus important to improve HR professionals' accuracy when inferring personality based on resumés by conducting training sessions educating about these valid and non-valid resumé cues (Cole et al., 2005).

2.1.2 Theoretical Background

2.1.2.1 Applying the Lens Model to Resumé Based Personality Inferences. The lens model (Brunswik, 1956; see also Back & Nestler, 2016; Karelaia & Hogarth, 2008; Nestler & Back, 2013; Osterholz et al., 2021) is a theoretical framework that enables to unravel the processes involved in perceivers making accurate personality inferences based on targets' observable information (cues) at zero-acquaintance. Thereby, the presence of valid cues, that is, the presence of information which is actually associated with the targets' personality, constitutes the necessary prerequisite for accurate personality inferences (left side of the lens model). Perceivers using cues consistently according to their validity constitutes the sufficient prerequisite for accurate personality inferences (right side of the lens model).

Figure 2.1.1 illustrates the application of the lens model to drawing resumé based personality inferences. Previous research indicates that HR professionals lack accuracy when making resumé based personality inferences (Burns et al., 2014; Cole et al., 2009). According to the lens model, this might be due to (a) the lack of valid cues signaling personality in resumés, that is, cues that are actually related to the applicants' personality traits (left side of the lens

model), or (b) HR professionals using resumé cues inconsistently and not according to their validity when making resumé based personality inferences (right side of the lens model).

Figure 2.1.1

Application of the Lens Model to Resumé Based Personality Inferences



The present study aims to shed light on the left side of the lens model, the identification of valid resumé cues, constituting the necessary condition for accurate personality inferences. If a lack of valid cues signaling personality traits in resumés was identified, this would likely be the reason for HR professionals' lack of accuracy of resumé based personality inferences. From this, one could conclude that resumés should not be used for making personality inferences. However, if a valid cue base signaling personality traits in resumés was identified, this would suggest that HR professionals' lack of consistent use of resumé cues according to their validity might rather be the reason for the lack of accuracy of resumé based personality inferences. Information on valid cues might then be applied in recruitment contexts to enhance HR professionals' accuracy of personality inferences by conducting training interventions clarifying (non-) valid resumé cues (Karelaia & Hogarth, 2008; see also Cole et al., 2005; Powell & Bourdage, 2016).

2.1.2.2 Previous Research on Personality Related Cue Validities in Resumés. Cole et al. (2003b) report cue validities of 20 resumé cues (see Brown & Campion, 1994) for the big five traits of 122 upper-division management students. Due to the preliminary nature of their

findings, Cole et al. (2003b) emphasize the need to confirm their results before they might provide practical guidance. Burns et al. (2014) report cue validities of 26 resumé cues for the big five traits. However, because the sample consisted of only 37 master of business administration students, power and replicability are limited. Both Burns et al. (2014) and Cole et al. (2003b) examined cues in an explorative manner, that is, they did not derive their cues deductively based on theory and empirical findings on personality traits (see Burns et al., 2014, for a call for deductive approaches to examining relationships between personality and resumé cues). These important first steps towards a more detailed understanding of valid resumé cues led to several preliminary insights that make intuitive sense. For instance, Burns et al. (2014) found extraversion to be associated with leadership positions on resumés, which fits well with extraverts' assertiveness (Costa & McCrae, 1995) and tendency to emerge as leaders (e.g., Judge, Bono, et al., 2002). Cole et al. (2003b) found conscientiousness to be associated with a better grade point average on resumés, which fits well with conscientious individuals' striving for academic success (e.g., Poropat, 2009). Other findings, however, are difficult to interpret. For example, extraverts were found to use a different format for name and address (Burns et al., 2014) and conscientious individuals were found to be less likely to have supervised others (Cole et al., 2003b). Thus, to date, there are only few robust and very explorative findings on valid resumé cues signaling personality. In this study, we want to enhance our understanding of valid resumé cues by exploiting a comprehensive set of cues that are theoretically related to personality (see also Fernandez et al., 2021, for a similar approach in the context of LinkedIn profiles). We do so by selecting an extensive set of resumé cues ($N_{\text{Cues}} = 70$) from a larger cue set based on their theoretical underpinnings and empirical findings to signal the big five traits and narcissism.

2.1.2.3 Valid Resumé Cues Signaling Personality

2.1.2.3.1 Cues of Conscientiousness. Conscientious individuals are characterized by competence, order, dutifulness, achievement-striving, self-discipline, and deliberation (Costa & McCrae, 1995). Just like conscientious individuals value a tidy, neat, and organized physical appearance (Breil et al., 2021; Naumann et al., 2009) and rooms (Gosling et al., 2002) they may aim for a tidy, neat, and organized resumé. For instance, they could (1) use page numbers and (2) present information in a tidy manner. Conscientious individuals' preference for order along with their diligence might also lead them to omit less information and provide complete resumés (see also Fernandez et al., 2021, for a similar reasoning in the context of LinkedIn profiles). Thus, conscientious individuals may (3) fill out more resumé sections and distinguish more differentiated, nuanced sections, for example, (4) using separate sections for professional

experiences through internships and jobs. They might also describe relevant experiences in detail, for example, (5) listing study focuses (see also Burns et al., 2014) and (6) providing descriptions with internships and jobs. In a similar vein, they may list rather irrelevant, supplemental information such as their (7) primary school, (8) high school subjects, and (9) hobbies. Their tendency to work thoroughly could lead conscientious individuals to (10) make fewer spelling and grammar errors. However, the presence of spelling mistakes was not related to conscientiousness in LinkedIn profiles (Fernandez et al., 2021). Nevertheless, HR professionals tend to use spelling and grammar errors as a cue for low conscientiousness (Martin-Lacroux, 2017, see also Vignovic & Thompson, 2010). Conscientious individuals are competent, disciplined, and successfully strive for academic and professional success (e.g., Barrick et al., 2001; Judge et al., 1999; Kanfer et al., 2001; O'Connor & Paunonen, 2007; Poropat, 2009), so they may (11) spent fewer time on secondary school, (12) be less likely to study above the standard study period, (13) achieve better marks (see also Cole et al., 2003b), gain more professional experiences, that is, (14) more internships and jobs, (15) receive more scholarships, and (16) have a higher share of extracurricular activities in academic contexts (see also Cole et al., 2003b).

2.1.2.3.2 Cues of Extraversion. Extraverts are characterized by warmth, gregariousness, assertiveness, activity, excitement seeking, and positive emotions (Costa & McCrae, 1995). Extraverts seek social attention (Ashton et al., 2002) and extensively use online social networks (Azucar et al., 2018; Liu & Campbell, 2017), which is why they may (1) link their online profiles on resumés. Just like extraverts have a stylish and attractive physical appearance (e.g., Albright et al., 1988; Breil et al., 2021; Meier et al., 2010; Naumann et al., 2009; Vazire et al., 2008), they might (2) put effort in an appealing look of their resumé (see Burns et al., 2014). Extraverts highlight their expressive-dominant verbal communication with frequent broad, energetic gestures and a strong, full voice (e.g., Breil et al., 2021; Lippa, 1998) which may translate to (3) highlighting their written communication on resumés using bolded words. Extraverts prefer high-intensity sensory stimuli (Eysenck, 1967) and high-croma colors (Pazda & Thorstenson, 2018). Thus, they use diverse colors on their Instagram photos (Kim & Kim, 2019) and could (4) use more colors on resumés. Matching their assertiveness, extraverts emerge as leaders (e.g., Judge, Bono, et al., 2002), and thus, might (5) set a study focus on management that is geared to the preparation for leadership positions, and (6) occupy leadership positions in extracurricular activities (see also Burns et al., 2014, who found extraversion to be associated with leadership positions on resumés, and Fernandez et al., 2021, who found

extraversion to be associated with leadership roles and skills on LinkedIn). Due to their activity and sociability, extraverts could also (7) list team sports hobbies (see Allen et al., 2021).

2.1.2.3.3 Cues of Openness. Open individuals are characterized by openness to phantasy, aesthetics, feelings, actions, ideas, and values (Costa & McCrae, 1995). Just like open individuals feature a unique physical appearance (e.g., Naumann et al., 2009) and rooms (Gosling et al., 2002), their resumés may (1) look distinctive. For instance, they might (2) use various types of bullets, (3) mix fonts with and without serifs, and (4) include flow text. Their tendency to take new, alternative paths could make them early adopters changing the order of resumé sections, for example, (5) presenting professional before educational experiences. They might also (6) attend an unconventional school form (vocational high school), and (7) list extraordinary hobbies. Open individuals are creative (e.g., Feist, 1998; Larson et al., 2002), and thus, may (8) set a study focus on marketing, matching their creative mindset, rather than on (9) conventional business specializations such as accounting and taxation. They might also (10) list creative software skills (e.g., graphic design), and (11) hobbies (e.g., arts, music; Wolfradt & Pretz, 2001). Due to their curiousness to take on new challenges, open individuals are prone to frequently change jobs (e.g., Ng et al., 2005; Wille et al., 2010) and thus, could (12) display lower mean durations of internships and jobs on resumés. Open individuals also learn new, cutting-edge things, which could translate to (13) more software skills on resumés in a digitalized world (see also Saadé et al., 2006). Also, they may (14) list more languages on resumés (see also Fernandez et al., 2021), (15) except for Latin, an antiquated language no longer actively spoken. In a similar vein, characteristics such as broad-mindedness, intellectuality, and the desire for learning opportunities could make open individuals (16) list trainings (e.g., Barrick & Mount, 1991; Salgado, 1997) and (17) financial scholarships (Heist et al., 1961).

2.1.2.3.4 Cues of Agreeableness. Agreeable individuals are characterized by trust, straightforwardness, altruism, compliance, modesty, and tender-mindedness (Costa & McCrae, 1995). They are competent in cooperating (e.g., Bartram, 2005) and most valuable when interpersonal interaction is needed (Mount et al., 1998). Thus, agreeable individuals might (1) list interpersonal skills on resumés. Agreeable individuals contribute to team performance (e.g., Bell, 2007; Peeters, Van Tuijl, et al., 2006) and are satisfied when working in teams (e.g., Peeters, Rutte, et al., 2006), and thus, could (2) mention teams on resumés (see also Fernandez et al., 2021, who found agreeable individuals to list teamwork skills on LinkedIn). Due to their prosocial behavior (e.g., Habashi et al., 2016) and valuing of universalism and benevolence (Parks-Leduc et al., 2015), they may engage in (3) more and (4) longer extracurricular activities

(see also Fernandez, 2021, who found agreeable individuals to list volunteering on LinkedIn). In particular, their desire to support others could (5) predispose agreeable individuals to tutoring (see also Fernandez et al., 2021, who found a positive, non-significant, association between agreeableness and tutoring on LinkedIn). Agreeableness is associated with studying abroad (e.g., Greischel et al., 2016; Niehoff et al., 2017; Zimmermann & Neyer, 2013), travel curiosity (Andresen & Bergdolt, 2021; Jani, 2014), and cultural adjustment (e.g., Li et al., 2016; Zhang et al., 2010). Thus, agreeable individuals might display (6) more and (7) longer stays abroad, (8) an international study orientation, (9) a higher share of travel hobbies, and (10) intercultural skills.

2.1.2.3.5 Cues of Neuroticism. Neurotic individuals are characterized by anxiety, angry hostility, depression, self-consciousness, impulsiveness, and vulnerability (Costa & McCrae, 1995). Neuroticism is associated with academic dissatisfaction (e.g., Trapmann et al., 2007), academic stress (e.g., Shokri et al., 2007), and coping with withdrawal (e.g., Connor-Smith & Flachsbart, 2007). Thus, neurotic individuals may (1) show discontinued studies on resumés (see also Lounsbury et al., 2004). In a similar vein, they could show resumé gaps (Frank & Kanning, 2014). In particular, in a student sample at career start, neurotic individuals might (2) display academic gaps (gaps between and/or within high school, bachelor, and master). Due to their avoidance motivation (e.g., Elliot & Thrash, 2002), tendency to procrastinate (e.g., Schouwenburg & Lay, 1995; Steel, 2007; Watson, 2001), and less successful job search (Kanfer et al., 2001), they may (3) make less constructive use of academic gaps (e.g., simple side jobs rather than business-related internships). Neuroticism is associated with low self-esteem (e.g., Judge, Erez, et al., 2002), fear of failure (e.g., Watson, 2001), and self-handicapping (e.g., Ross et al., 2002), which could lead neurotic individuals to (4) opt for less prestigious universities and (5) employers. Neuroticism is negatively associated with physical activity (e.g., Sutin et al., 2016; Wilson & Dishman, 2015), and thus, neurotic individuals might (6) display a low share of sport related extracurricular activities and (7) hobbies. In particular, they tend to avoid group-oriented, competitive, and risky sports (e.g., Kajtna et al., 2004; Kirkcaldy & Furnham, 1991), so that they may rather (8) display recreational sports (e.g., walking).

2.1.2.3.6 Cues of Narcissism. Narcissists⁷ are characterized by entitled self-importance (Krizan & Herlache, 2018) going along with agentic (e.g., charmingness, assertiveness) and antagonistic aspects (e.g., arrogance, manipulativeness; Back, 2018; Back et al., 2013). Narcissism complements the big five (Paulhus & Williams, 2002) and explains unique variance

⁷ With the term *narcissists*, we refer to individuals relatively higher than most people on the continuous dimension of grandiose narcissism as a personality trait in the general population (Morf & Rhodewalt, 2001).

when predicting occupational outcomes (Grijalva & Newman, 2015; Judge et al., 2006). Due to narcissists' self-importance and vanity, research on CEO narcissism argues that narcissistic CEOs draw attention to their names in public documents (Cragun et al., 2020). Accordingly, cues such as the number of mentions of the CEO's name in company press releases (e.g., Chatterjee & Hambrick, 2007) and the CEO's signature size (e.g., Ham et al., 2018) are used as CEO narcissism indicators. Applying this reasoning to resumés, narcissists might (1) grant their name a prominent position and (2) mention it often. Narcissists strive for supremacy and brag about academic accomplishments (e.g., Buss & Chiodo, 1991) so that they may (3) list percentage ranks and test scores with academic achievements. In a similar vein, narcissists could list (4) more accomplishments with professional experiences and (5) more (even irrelevant) awards. Narcissists long for power (e.g., Carroll, 1987; Rogoza et al., 2016), status (e.g., Zeigler-Hill et al., 2018), and public admiration (e.g., Wallace & Baumeister, 2002), and might fulfill these desires by (6) decorating their resumé with prestigious internships and jobs at top tier business consultancies/auditing firms. Narcissists are rather self-focused than caring (e.g., Campbell & Foster, 2007), and thus, could be expected to display fewer extracurricular activities. However, narcissists might engage in volunteering for egoistic purposes such as advancing the career (e.g., Brunell et al., 2014; Kauten & Barry, 2016; Konrath et al., 2016). Thus, narcissists could (7) display fewer extracurricular activities with a focus on altruistically helping, but (8) more career-oriented extracurricular activities. Narcissism is associated with impression management (e.g., Hart et al., 2016; Paulhus et al., 2013; Sedikides & Nevicka, 2021) which may lead narcissists to strategically list hobbies that emphasize desirable applicant characteristics, for example, (9) cognitive (e.g., chess) and (10) business-related (e.g., reading business news) hobbies. At the same time, narcissists might list fewer hobbies typically not contributing to a positive impression, for instance, (11) hobbies primarily serving personal pleasures and relaxation (e.g., gaming). Due to their self-focus, narcissists could also (12) list fewer hobbies serving primarily social needs (e.g., meeting friends).

2.1.2.4 Present Study. Building on the lens model (Brunswik, 1956), we aimed to shed light on resumés' potential to allow accurate personality inferences by providing empirical evidence on valid resumé cues signaling applicants' personality in a sample of 141 business students. Specifically, we extended previous research (Burns et al., 2014; Cole et al., 2003b) by (a) examining an extensive set of cues ($N_{\text{Cues}} = 70$) that were tailored to each respective personality trait based on personality theory and previous empirical evidence, and (b) supplementing self-reported big five traits with narcissism. Drawing from a larger cue set ($N_{\text{Cues}} = 160$), we identified 16 cues potentially signaling conscientiousness, seven cues

potentially signaling extraversion, 17 cues potentially signaling openness, ten cues potentially signaling agreeableness, eight cues potentially signaling neuroticism, and twelve cues potentially signaling narcissism. Based on bivariate correlations, we provide evidence on valid resumé cues signaling personality. Based on multiple linear regressions, we examine whether whole sets of available cues explain (a) a substantial amount of variance in personality traits and (b) substantial incremental variance beyond basic applicant demographics (gender and age). This study was not preregistered as the resumé cues used in this study had been originally collected for a different research project. It is important to note that the deductive selection of cues took place at a stage when the data had already been collected. To address potential concerns of selecting cues after data collection, we (a) computed cue validities based on bivariate correlations for all 90 remaining cues (see Appendix 2.1.A) and (b) applied an alternative analytical approach, that is nested cross-validated elastic nets (Zou & Hastie, 2005), to check whether the identified valid cues signaling personality traits based on bivariate correlations remain robust when using resampling methods (see Appendix 2.1.B).

2.1.3 Method

2.1.3.1 Participants. The final sample consisted of 141 German-speaking business students (62 female) at the start of their professional careers. The prerequisite for participation was that participants (a) hold (or were just about to finish) a bachelor's degree in a subject related to business and economics (i.e., business and economics, industrial engineering, business informatics, and comparable courses of study) for a maximum of one year, and/or (b) were currently studying for a master's degree in a subject related to business and economics, or (c) were holding a master's degree in a subject related to business and economics for less than one year. We recruited participants via online channels, in particular, posting in Facebook and Xing (an online professional network) groups for business students, posting in online forums for business students, and e-mailing business student councils and lecturers for study distribution. In return for participation, we offered a €10 Amazon voucher, customized resumé feedback, and feedback on how the resumé's hireability was evaluated. We removed five participants from the initial sample, four participants because they did not give consent and one participant because they submitted their resumé twice. The average age was 24.48 (SD = 2.00), ranging from 20 to 32. Because the data collection was not specifically designed to test the research questions of the present study, no a priori power analysis was conducted. However, we computed a post hoc power analysis with G*Power (Version 3.1.9.6; Faul et al., 2007) for the difference of a correlation from a constant ($\rho_0 = 0$) using the bivariate normal model to get an impression of the power to identify significant cue validities. Testing two-tailed with an α -error of .05 the power was .95 for a large correlation of $\rho = .30$, .67 for a medium correlation of $\rho = .20$, and .22 for a small correlation of $\rho = .10$ (Gignac & Szodorai, 2016).

2.1.3.2 Procedure. All procedures were in line with the recommendations of the German Research Foundation (DFG) and the German Psychological Society (DGPs). First, we asked participants to e-mail their completely anonymized two-page, tabular resumé in German as a PDF-file, with which they applied for a fictitious position in the "Trainee Program of the SELECT Group". We presented a corresponding job advertisement with the study advertisement. The entry-level trainee position was designed to appeal equally to students of business and economics related subjects at career start. We asked participants to include their high school graduation grades and university grades in their resumés, representing a common request of real-life organizations. Once we had received a resumé, we sent a confirmation e-mail including a link to a 15-minute online questionnaire. The self-report questionnaire assessed demographics, personality traits (big five, narcissism, self-esteem, self-concept), interest in the trainee position and the corresponding business units, previous professional and application success, and quality of and attitudes towards the own resumé. Participant collection took place between November 2017 and July 2018. For an overview of the survey and detailed information on all assessed variables see the Codebook at https://bit.ly/3al6vv1.

2.1.3.3 Measures.

2.1.3.3.1 Personality. The big five traits conscientiousness ($\alpha = .69$, M = 4.00, SD = 0.55), extraversion ($\alpha = .75$, M = 3.64, SD = 0.63), openness ($\alpha = .75$, M = 3.52, SD = 0.70), agreeableness ($\alpha = .72$, M = 3.75, SD = 0.60), and neuroticism ($\alpha = .77$, M = 2.53, SD = 0.68) were measured with the 30-item short form of the Big Five Inventory-2 (BFI2-S; Soto & John, 2017; German version Rammstedt et al., 2018) using 5-point scales ranging from 1 (*do not agree at all*) to 5 (*agree completely*). Narcissism ($\alpha = .74$, M = 2.54, SD = 0.80) was measured with the 6-item Narcissistic Admiration and Rivalry Questionnaire Short Scale (NARQ-S; Leckelt et al., 2018) using 6-point scales ranging from 1 (*do not agree at all*) to 6 (*agree completely*).

2.1.3.3.2 Resumé Cues. The full cue set originally collected for a different research project contained 160 resumé cues that were chosen based on a combination of a top-down (incorporating resumé cues from previous research; Burns et al., 2014; Cole et al., 2003b) and bottom-up approach (incorporating resumé cues that should vary between individuals). Thereby, we aimed to reflect the broad bandwidth of information contained in resumés by assessing resumé cues related to (a) format and layout (e.g., appealing look), (b) education (e.g., average marks), (c) professional experiences (e.g., number of internships/jobs), (d) language

skills (e.g., number of listed languages), (e) software skills (e.g., number of graphic design software skills), (f) scholarships (e.g., number of financial scholarships), and (g) extracurricular activities and hobbies (e.g., sport related extracurricular activities and hobbies; see Table 2.1.1 and Appendix 2.1.A).

We assessed two types of cues. Objective cues ($n_{\text{Cues}} = 139$) could be unambiguously coded by a single coder (e.g., counting the links to online networks). However, if a coder was still unsure, the specific coding was discussed with the first author who established objective decision rules which resolved the ambiguity. Subjective cues ($n_{\text{Cues}} = 21^8$) had substantial decision latitude (e.g., rating the tidy presentation of information) and were rated on scales from 1 (*not at all*) to 6 (*completely*) by multiple coders. In total, eleven coders (nine female) were involved who studied psychology or business administration and were employed as research interns or student assistants. The coders of the subjective cues got extensive training⁹ to ensure reliable and valid ratings. All subjective cues were initially rated by two coders. If the interrater agreement was good (ICC_{3, k} \geq .60; Cicchetti, 1994), the rating of the subjective cue was completed and the single ratings were averaged to a composite score. If not, an additional coder rated the cue until interrater agreement was good, leading to one subjective cue rated by three/four coders, respectively.

We selected resumé cues for this study from the full cue set based on their theoretical underpinnings to signal personality traits (see the deductive derivation of resumé cues in the chapter "2.1.2.3 Valid Resumé Cues Signaling Personality"). We thereby aimed for a broad selection of divergent cues assessing qualitatively different types of information and comprehensively reflecting the wide information spectrum in resumés ("good information"; Back & Nestler, 2016). Resumé cues on higher aggregation levels (e.g., total number of stays abroad) were preferred over cues on lower aggregation levels (e.g., number of stays abroad at school, semesters abroad, work and travel stays) to ensure reliable and comprehensive measurements and to reduce overlap. This led to a final set of 70 deductively derived resumé cues used for the main analysis (64 objective cues, 6 subjective cues; see Table 2.1.1 for details on measurement and descriptives). The 90 remaining cues from the full cue set along with their

⁸ Three of the 21 subjective cues were originally assessed with two separate subjective cues, respectively, and then aggregated to a single cue due to strong similarity in content (i.e., serious, usual fonts, detailed descriptions internships/jobs, reputation of employers).

⁹ We conducted two training sessions that included (a) input on the cues to be rated, including definitions of what exactly is meant by the cue and going through example resumés to exemplify the scale anchors, (b) information on what to be aware of when rating (e.g., exploiting the scale width) and which rating errors (e.g., halo effect) should be avoided, and (c) individually rating sample resumés and discussing disagreements to establish a shared understanding of cues and scale anchors.

measurement, descriptives, and correlations with personality traits can be found in the Appendix 2.1.A.

2.1.3.4 Analytical Approach. Before analyses, winsorizing was applied to the objective cues to reduce disproportionate influences of extreme values (z > |4.47|; see Chebyshev's inequality in Saw et al., 1984). We set extreme values to the next less extreme observed value below the threshold z to keep valuable information in the data set. To identify cue validities for each personality trait we computed bivariate correlations with the respective theoretically derived cues. Even though we derived one-sided expectations for the relationships between resumé cues and personality, we computed two-sided *p*-values. We also explored bivariate correlations of the cues derived for a specific personality trait with all remaining personality traits. In addition, we computed nested cross-validated elastic nets (Zou & Hastie, 2005) as an alternative analytical approach to check whether the identified valid cues signaling personality based on the bivariate correlations remain robust when using resampling. To identify whether cues explain a substantial amount of variance in personality traits, we computed six hierarchical linear regression analyses to predict conscientiousness, extraversion, openness, agreeableness, neuroticism, and narcissism, respectively. We inputted gender (0/1 = female/male) and age as controls in the first step (baseline model), and added the specific theoretically derived cues in the second step (full model). We z-standardized all cues and personality traits in the regression analyses. Some cues had missing values and we used pairwise complete observations to compute bivariate correlations and mean imputation for the regression analyses in these cases.¹⁰ We used the statistical program R (version 4.1.0; R Core Team, 2018) and the interface RStudio (version 1.4.1106; RStudio Team, 2016) for all analyses. The data and statistical code for all main and supplemental analyses can be found at https://bit.ly/3al6vv1.

2.1.4 Results

2.1.4.1 Cue Validities. Descriptive statistics and bivariate correlations of the resumé cues with the personality traits they were expected to signal and with the remaining personality traits are displayed in Table 2.1.1 (an extensive correlation table showing all intercorrelations between personality traits, gender, age, and all cues of the main and supplemental analyses can be found in the Appendix 2.1.C). Four of 16 cues expected to be associated with conscientiousness were indeed associated with conscientiousness (fewer years on secondary school, better average marks, more internships and jobs, higher share of academic

¹⁰ Five cues had missing values (years on secondary school, 39 missing; reputation of universities, one missing; constructive use of academic gaps, 47 missing; reputation of employers, two missing; extraordinary hobbies, 53 missing) because the respective information was not contained in some resumés.

extracurricular activities). Two of seven cues expected to be associated with extraversion were indeed associated with extraversion (more links to online networks, appealing look). Three of 17 cues expected to be associated with openness were indeed associated with openness (presence of flow text, having attended a vocational high school, higher share of creative hobbies). Three of ten cues expected to be associated with agreeableness were indeed associated with agreeableness (higher average duration of extracurricular activities, more stays abroad, higher average duration of stays abroad). One of eight cues expected to be associated with neuroticism was indeed associated with neuroticism (lower reputation of universities). Three of twelve cues expected to be associated with narcissism were indeed associated with narcissism (more top tier business consultancies/auditing firms, higher share of career-oriented extracurricular activities, lower share of pleasure hobbies). Overall, we found significant effects for about 23% of all examined associations, which is a higher value than expected by chance (i.e., 5%).

Table 2.1.1

Measurement and Descriptive Statistics of the Resumé Cues and Correlations With Personality Traits

	Cue	Measurement	ICC	M	SD	rc	r _E	ro	rA	$r_{\rm N}$	<i>r</i> _{Nar}
		Resumé cues derived for conscientiousness									
	1. Page numbers	0 = not present; $1 = $ present		.24	.43	.08	03	01	.03	.07	01
	2. Tidy information	1 = not at all to 6 = completely (i.e., presentation of information is neat, structured, and	.60	3.95	0.85	.13	14	13	13	.14	.03
	presentation	facilitates information acquisition)									
	3. Subordinate sections	Numerically counted (i.e., number of sections separated by formatting, e.g., headers,		6.01	1.58	.10	.02	.06	$.18^{*}$.00	12
		lines)									
	4. Internships/jobs separated	0 = internships/jobs mixed; 1 = internships/jobs in separate sections		.12	.33	.16	03	13	.03	04	06
	5. Study focusses	Numerically counted (i.e., number of study focusses presented with study programs)		2.43	1.96	.08	.11	08	13	.08	.01
	6. Descriptions internships/jobs	s 0 = not present; 1 = present (i.e., tasks associated with internships/jobs are listed)		.78	.42	.02	.01	.02	09	.06	02
	7. Primary school	0 = not present; $1 = $ present		.11	.31	.12	.06	.01	.15	06	02
	8. School subjects	Numerically counted (i.e., number of school subjects presented with high school)		0.64	1.32	.09	08	.00	11	04	.03
	9. Hobbies	Numerically counted (i.e., number of activities/interests that concern personal pleasures)		2.65	2.69	.15	.09	.10	.15	.03	.04
	10. Grammar/spelling errors	Number of grammar/spelling errors divided by total number of characters		.00	.00	.00	.02	.12	.06	02	.11
	11. Years on secondary school	Numerically counted in school years		8.53	0.71	21*	.08	.10	04	.00	02
42	12. Studies above standard	Numerically counted (standard study period was defined as six/four semesters for		0.73	0.51	12	.12	.04	.07	02	08
	period	bachelor/master)									
	13. Average marks	Average of marks of high school/college degrees in European grading system (1.0-4.0)		-0.03	0.84	21 [*]	.22**	.08	.13	01	.01
	14. Internships/jobs	Numerically counted (i.e., number of experiences closely related to internships (e.g., no		4.77	2.17	$.20^{*}$	01	10	.12	.13	18*
		theses in cooperation with companies, no project work) or jobs (activities that earn									
		money, e.g., no volunteering)									
	15. Scholarships	Numerically counted (e.g., financial scholarships, online scholarships, university funding		0.81	.15	.02	.05	.05	05	07	.05
		initiatives, talent networks of renowned companies)									
	16. Academic extracurricular	Number of academic extracurricular activities (e.g., student council, university mentoring,		.31	.36	.21*	.03	04	.04	.00	.04
	activities	school/class/scholarship representative) divided by total number of extracurricular									
		activities									
		Resumé cues derived for extraversion									
	1. Links to online networks	Numerically counted (e.g., LinkedIn, Twitter)		0.07	0.26	.08	$.20^{*}$.09	.08	16	.03
	2. Appealing look	1 = not at all to $6 = completely$ (i.e., resumé appears appealing at first glance)	.61	3.52	0.91	.12	$.17^{*}$.08	06	01	01
	3. Bold words	Number of bold words divided by total number of words		.15	.09	.08	.14	.07	03	13	.08
	4. Colors	Numerically counted (i.e., number of distinct colors; shades of grey not included)		0.80	1.55	.10	.16	.09	07	.00	.11
	5. Study focusses on	Numerically counted (i.e., number of study focusses on management related subjects)		0.37	0.60	.01	.10	.01	.11	.00	15
	management										

	Cue	Measurement	ICC	М	SD	rc	r _E	ro	r _A	r _N	r _{Nar}
	6. Leadership positions in extracurricular activities	Number of leadership positions in extracurricular activities (e.g., chair/board member of student associations/university groups/student councils, group leader) divided by total number of extracurricular activities		.40	.43	.00	.12	04	.05	06	02
	7. Team sport hobbies	Number of team sport hobbies (i.e., sports requiring collaboratively working together towards shared goals, e.g., soccer) divided by total number of sport hobbies		.15	.29	04	14	06	.01	.05	04
		Resumé cues derived for openness									
	1. Distinctive look	1 = not at all to $6 = completely$ (i.e., resumé looks unique, stands out)	.85	3.67	1.09	02	.05	.14	.04	07	11
	2. Types of bullets	Numerically counted (i.e., number of divergent bullets, e.g., circles, dots)		0.70	0.53	.05	12	.04	14	.12	.16
	3. Fonts with and without serifs	s0 = not present; 1 = present		.09	.29	16	.12	.04	.05	.02	05
	4. Flow text	0 = not present; 1 = present (i.e., grammatically complete sentences ending with a period)		.08	.27	11	.10	$.17^{*}$	08	17*	.05
	5. Experience before education section	0 = not present; 1 = present		.11	.32	10	.08	.15	09	.04	.13
	6. Vocational high school	0 = not present; 1 = present		.11	.32	01	05	.19*	03	04	01
	7. Extraordinary hobbies	1 = not at all to $6 = completely$ (i.e., hobbies/interests are unique, special, rare, e.g., visiting medieval festivals, mountain climbing, parasailing)	.80	3.26	1.16	05	.10	.12	.14	18	.13
	8. Study focusses on marketing	Numerically counted (i.e., number of study focusses on marketing related subjects)		0.23	0.53	02	.03	.07	.12	.03	.15
	9. Study focusses on	Numerically counted (i.e., number of study focusses on accounting/taxation related		0.44	0.81	.07	05	13	01	.05	01
4	accounting/taxation	subjects)						-			
نن	10. Graphic design software skills	Number of graphic design software skills (i.e., software for image/video editing, visualization) divided by total number of software skills		.04	.11	10	03	.13	04	02	.02
	11. Creative hobbies	Number of creative hobbies (e.g., playing an instrument, painting, photographing) divided by total number of hobbies		.07	.15	.03	.03	.19*	.17*	02	04
	12. Mean duration internships/iobs	Total duration of internships/jobs in days divided by total number of internships/jobs		249	174	.07	.08	12	10	.03	04
	13. Software skills	Numerically counted		4.96	3.08	12	13	.15	09	.15	02
	14. Languages	Numerically counted (i.e., number of foreign languages; Latin not included)		2.39	0.95	08	.11	.16	.16	.18*	01
	15. Latin	0 = not present; $1 = $ present		.21	.41	.04	01	16	.14	02	13
	16. Trainings	Numerically counted (e.g., workshops, seminars, language and IT courses)		0.74	1.30	03	.07	.15	.10	.03	02
	17. Financial scholarships	Number of financial scholarships (i.e., scholarships that involve an elaborated application		0.14	0.31	.01	04	.13	11	11	.03
	1	process and substantial financial benefits) divided by total number of scholarships									
		Resumé cues derived for agreeableness									
	1. Interpersonal skills	Numerically counted (e.g., communication, conflict management, empathy)		0.16	0.42	.05	.00	.08	.04	.03	.01
	2. Teams	Numerically counted (i.e., number of mentions of teams, teamwork, groups, etc.)		0.62	0.82	01	06	.03	11	.00	04
	3. Extracurricular activities	Numerically counted (i.e., number of voluntary activities outside the academic curriculum		2.27	1.78	.01	01	.06	.01	09	02
		often serving social goals, e.g., engagement in university groups, athletic coach, mentor)									
	4. Mean duration extracurricular activities	Toral duration of extracurricular activities in days divided by total number of extracurricular activities		607	676	02	04	05	.17*	07	09
	5. Tutoring	Numerically counted (i.e., number of activities related to providing academic lessons)		0.15	0.36	.13	.02	.15	.11	13	.01

Cue	Measurement	ICC	М	SD	<i>r</i> c	ľE	ro	ľА	ľN	<i>l</i> 'Nar
6. Stays abroad	Numerically counted (i.e., number of all stays abroad, e.g., school exchange, semester		2.06	1.78	.00	.07	.11	.21*	04	08
-	abroad, language courses abroad, internships/jobs abroad, travel stays)									
7. Mean duration stays abroad	Total duration of stays abroad in days divided by total number of stays abroad		123	89	12	.05	.05	$.18^{*}$	08	09
8. International orientation of	Numerically counted (i.e., number of study programs that focus on international topics,		0.18	0.42	.06	07	10	.10	11	01
studies	e.g., international business administration/management/economics)									
9. Travel hobbies	Number of travel hobbies (e.g., backpacking, discovering foreign countries and cultures)		.09	.16	.02	.12	.05	.10	01	03
	divided by total number of hobbies									
10. Intercultural skills	Numerically counted (e.g., intercultural communication/knowledge)		0.18	0.41	13	.01	03	.12	02	06
	Resumé cues derived for neuroticism									
1. Discontinued studies	Numerically counted (i.e., number of discontinued studies without degree)		0.11	0.32	07	06	12	08	.14	12
2. Academic gaps	Numerically counted (i.e., number of gaps (at least one semester) between/within high school, bachelor, and master)		0.83	0.69	03	05	.03	01	.04	04
3. Constructive use of gaps	1 = not at all to 6 = completely (i.e., constructive use of academic gaps, e.g.,	.85	3.67	1.33	.02	.00	03	.06	05	.08
	business-related internship rather than simple side job)									
4. Reputation of universities	Aggregation of the z-scaled ranks of universities (bachelor, master, semesters abroad) in		0.01	0.72	.13	.05	.11	.02	23**	.16
	the Times Higher Education (THE; World University Rankings 2020, 2019)-ranking and									
	Quacquarelli Symonds (QS; QS World University Rankings, 2020)-ranking									
5. Reputation of employers	Reputation of employers (i.e., internships/jobs at renowned organisations; 1 = not at all to	.84/.81	0.03	0.85	01	.04	.06	07	15	.08
	6 = completely) was assessed separately for internships and jobs. The two subjective cues									
	(r = .33 [.15; .49], t(108) = 3.64, p < .001) were z-scaled and aggregated.			• •						
6. Sport extracurricular	Number of extracurricular activities in sport contexts (e.g., athletic coach, organizing		.11	.28	.06	. 04	16	.07	12	10
activities	sport events) divided by total number of extracurricular activities					0.6	10	~ -	~-	
7. Sport hobbies	Number of sport hobbies (i.e., hobbies that require physical exertion) divided by total number of hobbies		.34	.35	.08	06	10	05	.07	04
8. Recreational sport hobbies	Number of sport hobbies that primarily serve the personal recreation and relaxation (e.g.,		.16	.28	.13	.08	11	08	.16	.06
	walking, cycling) divided by total number of sport hobbies									
	Resumé cues derived for narcissism									
1. Prominent name position	Numerically counted how many of the following aspects are fulfilled: 1. Name		0.90	0.80	01	.05	.08	04	04	.05
	top-centred, 2. Name as header, 3. Name (with headings) larger than rest of the resumé						. –			
2. Own name	Numerically counted		1.40	0.73	.09	.11	07	11	.00	07
3. Academic comparison	0 = not present; $1 = $ present (i.e., bachelor's final mark presented with a percentage rank		.10	.30	07	03	.11	08	.00	.16
	and/or categorized within the European Credit Transfer System (ECTS) and/or Graduate									
4 4 1'1 4 '1	Management Admission Test (GMAT)-score presented)		0.00	0.25	0.4	0.4	10	0.1	10	00
4. Accomplishments with	Numerically counted (i.e., number of accomplishments listed with internships/jobs, e.g.,		0.06	0.25	.04	04	.13	.01	10	.08
protessional experiences	naving successfully completed a project, having increased sales)		0.52	1.05	00	07	0.4	10	11	10
5. Awards	Numerically counted (i.e., number of awards in various contexts, e.g., high school		0.53	1.05	.00	06	.04	10	11	.10
	graduation awards, awards for university achievements, athletic competition titles)									

Cue	Measurement	ICC	M	SD	$r_{\rm C}$	r _E	r_0	rA	r _N	r _{Nar}
6. Top tier business	Numerically counted (i.e., number of professional experiences at top tier business		0.06	0.16	.03	.01	02	18*	08	.29***
consultancies/auditing firms	consultancies/auditing firms, e.g., McKinsey, BCG, Bain, PWC, EY)									
7. Altruistic extracurricular	Number of altruistic extracurricular activities (i.e., strong focus on altruistically helping,		.17	.29	.05	14	05	.00	07	15
activities	e.g., food bank, geriatric caregiver) divided by total number of extracurricular activities									
8. Career-oriented	Number of career-oriented extracurricular activities (i.e., student business consultancies)		.04	.13	.00	05	.00	11	07	.23**
extracurricular activities	divided by total number of extracurricular activities									
9. Cognitive hobbies	Number of hobbies requiring considerable cognitive effort (e.g., playing chess, learning a		.04	.10	.10	05	.08	.06	.07	.14
	language, reading) divided by total number of hobbies									
10. Business hobbies	Number of business-related hobbies (e.g., following business news, tracking		.02	.07	.02	.11	.10	.00	17*	01
	developments of the stock market) divided by total number of hobbies									
11. Pleasure hobbies	Number of hobbies primarily serving pleasure/relaxation (e.g., listening to music, playing		.03	.08	.07	.07	.08	04	.05	19*
	video games) divided by total number of hobbies									
12. Social hobbies	Number of hobbies primarily serving social needs (e.g., spending time with		.01	.05	.02	.04	02	.11	.05	13
	family/friends) divided by total number of hobbies									

Note. ICC = ICC (3, k). C = conscientiousness; E = extraversion; O = openness; A = agreeableness; N = neuroticism; Nar = narcissism. ${}^{*}p < .05$. ${}^{**}p < .01$. ${}^{***}p < .001$.

45

The valid resumé cues identified based on the significant bivariate correlations appeared to be robust when applying resampling in nested cross-validated elastic nets (see Appendix 2.1.B). More specifically, the valid resumé cues based on the bivariate correlations represented the most important elastic net predictors (strongest absolute values of regression coefficients averaged across the ten outer folds) for all examined personality traits except for conscientiousness. Concerning conscientiousness, the four valid resumé cues based on the bivariate correlations were among the five most important predictors of the elastic net. Thus, the machine learning approach backs up the pattern of results on valid resumé cues based on the bivariate correlations. We focus on the results of the bivariate correlations because this is the commonly applied analysis to identify cue validities (Back & Nestler, 2016; see for instance Gosling et al., 2002; Küfner et al., 2010; Naumann et al., 2009; Vazire et al., 2008) and thus facilitates the comparability with previous findings on cue validities based on resumés (Burns et al., 2014; Cole et al., 2003b). Also, because both analytical approaches yielded similar results, focusing on the less complex analysis is preferable.

2.1.4.2 Explanation of Variance in Personality Traits by Resumé Cues. The results of the hierarchical linear regressions are displayed in Table 2.1.2. For each personality trait, the multiple linear regressions using demographics (gender and age) and the respective theoretically derived resumé cues as predictors (step 2, full model) explained significant variance. More specifically, the full model accounted for 26% of the variance in openness, 26% of the variance in narcissism, 22% of the variance in conscientiousness, 19% of the variance in agreeableness, 18% of the variance in neuroticism, and 13% of the variance in extraversion. Comparing the multiple linear regressions of the baseline model (step 1; gender and age) and the full model (step 2; gender, age, and resumé cues), we found incremental explained variance in personality traits beyond basic demographics by adding resumé cues for openness ($\Delta R^2 = .23$), conscientiousness ($\Delta R^2 = .12$), and neuroticism ($\Delta R^2 = .09$).

Table 2.1.2

Results of the Hierarchical Linear Regressions Predicting Personality Traits

Cue	β	95%	6 CI	t	р	F	R^2	$R^2_{\rm Adj}$	$\Delta R^2 \Delta R^2_{\rm Adj}$
		LL	UL	-					
Step 1: Baseline model for					.070	2.72 (2, 138)	.04	.02	
conscientiousness									
Intercept	0.00	-0.16	0.16	0.00	1.00				
Gender $(0/1 = \text{female/male})$	-0.03	-0.19	0.14	-0.31	.76				
Age	-0.19	-0.36	-0.03	-2.29	.023				

C	0	050	CI	,		Г	D 2	D ²	A D?	A D?
Cue	р	95%			р	F	<i>R</i> ²	R ² Adj	ΔK^2	ΔK^2 Adj
Step 2: Full model for		LL	UL		018	1.04 (18, 122)	22	11		
conscientiousness					.010	1.94(10, 122) 1.81(16, 122)	.22	.11	18	08
Intercent	0.00	-0.16	0.16	0.00	1 00	1.01 (10, 122)			.10	.00
Gender $(0/1 = \text{female/male})$	0.06	-0.11	0.10	0.68	50					
Age	-0.05	-0.27	0.16	-0.50	61					
1 Page numbers	0.05	-0.12	0.22	0.60	55					
2 Tidy information presentation	0.05	-0.02	0.33	1 76	085					
3. Subordinate sections	0.06	-0.11	0.24	0.72	.47					
4. Internships and jobs separated	0.15	-0.03	0.32	1.65	.10					
5. Study focusses	0.09	-0.09	0.26	1.01	.31					
6. Descriptions internships/jobs	0.03	-0.14	0.20	0.35	.73					
7. Primary school	0.13	-0.05	0.31	1.44	.15					
8. School subjects	0.07	-0.10	0.24	0.84	.40					
9 Hobbies	0.07	-0.04	0.21	1 54	13					
10 Grammar/spelling errors	-0.05	-0.05	0.12	-0.60	55					
11 Vears on secondary school	-0.13	-0.05	0.12	-1.51	13					
12 Studies above standard	-0.15	-0.05	0.04	-0.56	.15					
neriod	-0.05	-0.05	0.15	-0.50	.57					
13 Average marks	-0.00	-0.30	0.12	-0.87	30					
13. Average marks	-0.09	-0.50	0.12	-0.07	.39					
14. Internships/jobs	0.14	-0.05	0.52	0.16	.12					
16. A se densis estre comission	0.01	-0.1/	0.20	0.10	.00					
16. Academic extracurricular	0.16	-0.01	0.33	1.80	.066					
Stop 1: Descline model for					61	0.40 (2.129)	01	01		
Step 1: Baseline model for					.01	0.49(2, 138)	.01	01		
Intercent	0.00	0.17	0.17	0.00	1.00					
Conder (0/1 = formale/male)	0.00	-0.17	0.17	0.00	1.00					
Gender $(0/1 - ienaie/male)$	0.00	-0.10	0.17	0.00	.90					
Age	0.08	-0.08	0.23	0.99	.33	2 22 (0, 121)	12	07		
Step 2: Full model for extraversion					.024	2.23(9, 131)	.13	.07	12	00
Intercent	0.00	0.16	0.16	0.00	.012	2.72 (7, 131)			.13	.08
	0.00	-0.16	0.10	0.00	1.00					
Gender $(0/1 = \text{female/male})$	0.02	-0.15	0.19	0.25	.80					
Age	0.06	-0.11	0.23	0.73	.46					
1. Links to online networks	0.16	-0.02	0.34	1.80	.074					
2. Appealing look	0.15	-0.01	0.32	1.87	.063					
3. Bold words	0.08	-0.09	0.25	0.93	.36					
4. Colors	0.06	-0.11	0.24	0.70	.48					
5. Study focusses on	0.10	-0.07	0.26	1.14	.26					
management										
6. Leadership positions in	0.15	-0.01	0.32	1.81	.072					
extracurricular activities										
7. Team sport hobbies	-0.14	-0.31	0.03	-1.65	.10					
Step 1: Baseline model for openness					.16	1.83 (2, 138)	.03	.01		
Intercept	0.00	-0.17	0.17	0.00	1.00					
Gender $(0/1 = \text{female/male})$	0.14	-0.03	0.31	1.67	.097					
Age	0.07	-0.09	0.24	0.85	.40					
Step 2: Full model for openness					.005	2.21 (19, 121)	.26	.14		
					.007	2.22 (17, 121)			.23	.13
Intercept	0.00	-0.15	0.15	0.00	1.00					
Gender $(0/1 = \text{female/male})$	0.13	-0.04	0.31	1.52	.13					
Age	-0.01	-0.21	0.18	-0.14	.89					
1. Distinctive look	0.13	-0.03	0.30	1.63	.10					
2. Types of bullets	-0.05	-0.22	0.12	-0.59	.56					
3. Fonts with and without serifs	0.05	-0.12	0.22	0.58	.56					
4. Flow text	0.13	-0.04	0.31	1.54	.13					
5. Experience before education	0.04	-0.14	0.21	0.44	.66					
section										
6. Vocational high school	0.17	-0.01	0.36	1.87	.063					

Cue	β	95%	6 CI	t	р	F	R^2	$R^2_{ m Adj}$	ΔR^2	$\Delta R^2_{ m Adj}$
	-	LL	UL	-						
7. Extraordinary hobbies	0.05	-0.11	0.22	0.64	.52					
8. Study focusses on marketing	0.02	-0.15	0.19	0.20	.84					
9. Study focusses on accounting/taxation	-0.05	-0.22	0.12	-0.62	.53					
10. Graphic software skills	0.06	-0.10	0.22	0.72	.47					
11. Creative hobbies	0.20	0.04	0.36	2.44	.016					
12. Mean duration	-0.15	-0.33	0.02	-1.74	.085					
internships/jobs										
13. Software skills	0.05	-0.12	0.22	0.63	.53					
14. Languages	0.15	-0.02	0.33	1.73	.087					
15. Latin	-0.12	-0.30	0.05	-1.36	.18					
16. Trainings	0.16	0.00	0.31	1.95	.053					
17. Financial scholarships	0.06	-0.11	0.22	0.69	.49					
Step 1: Baseline model for					.005	5.51 (2, 138)	.07	.06		
agreeableness	0.00	0.16	0.16	0.00	1 00					
Intercept $C_{\text{resc}} = C_{\text{resc}} \left(0/1 - C_{\text{resc}} + 1 \right)$	0.00	-0.16	0.16	0.00	1.00					
Gender $(0/1 = \text{female/male})$	-0.27	-0.43	-0.11	-3.31	.001					
Age Star 2: Full model for a gradehlanger	0.00	-0.16	0.10	-0.01	.99	2 52 (12 129)	10	12		
Step 2. Full model for agreeableness					.005	2.32(12, 120) 1 85 (10, 128)	.19	.12	12	05
Intercent	0.00	-0.16	0.16	0.00	1.00	1.85 (10, 128)			.12	.05
Gender $(0/1 = \text{female/male})$	-0.25	-0.42	-0.09	-3.07	003					
Age	-0.04	-0.21	0.03	-0.50	.005					
1. Interpersonal skills	0.02	-0.15	0.19	0.24	.81					
2. Teams	-0.13	-0.29	0.03	-1.58	.12					
3. Extracurricular activities	-0.09	-0.28	0.09	-1.00	.32					
4. Mean duration extracurricular	0.18	0.02	0.35	2.21	.029					
5 Tutoring	0.12	-0.05	0.29	1 43	16					
6 Stays abroad	0.12	-0.09	0.29	1.43	30					
7. Mean duration stays abroad	0.13	-0.03	0.30	1.62	.11					
8. International orientation of studies	0.05	-0.12	0.23	0.63	.53					
9. Travel hobbies	0.05	-0.13	0.22	0.53	.59					
10. Intercultural skills	0.08	-0.10	0.26	0.90	.37					
Step 1: Baseline model for					.001	7.09 (2, 138)	.09	.08		
neuroticism										
Intercept	0.00	-0.16	0.16	0.00	1.00					
Gender $(0/1 = \text{female/male})$	-0.29	-0.45	-0.13	-3.59	<.001					
Age	0.11	-0.05	0.27	1.30	.19					
Step 2: Full model for neuroticism					.002	2.94 (10, 130)	.18	.12	0.0	
T , ,	0.00	0.16	0.16	0.00	.0/8	1.82 (8, 130)			.09	.04
Intercept $C_{andar}(0/1 = f_{amala}/mala)$	0.00	-0.16	0.16	0.00	1.00					
Gender $(0/1 - \text{female/male})$	-0.27	-0.45	-0.11	-5.59	20					
Age 1. Discontinued studies	0.09	-0.08	0.23	1.04	.50					
2 Academic gans	0.08	-0.09	0.24	0.95	.55					
2. Academic gaps 3. Constructive use of gaps	0.04	-0.15	0.21	0.44	.00 80					
4 Reputation of universities	-0.18	-0.15	-0.01	-2.07	.00					
5 Reputation of employers	-0.18	-0.35	0.10	-0.90	37					
6 Sport extracurricular activities	-0.09	-0.26	0.10	-1.06	29					
7. Sport hobbies	-0.02	-0.22	0.17	-0.24	.81					
8. Recreational sport hobbies	0.16	-0.02	0.34	1.77	.079					
Step 1: Baseline model for					.002	6.64 (2, 138)	.09	.07		
narcissism						())				
Intercept	0.00	-0.16	0.16	0.00	1.00					
Gender $(0/1 = \text{female/male})$	0.29	0.13	0.45	3.58	<.001					
Age	-0.07	-0.23	0.09	-0.86	.39					

Cue	β	95%	6 CI	t	р	F	R^2	$R^2_{ m Adj}$	ΔR^2	$\Delta R^2_{ m Adj}$
		LL	UL	-						
Step 2: Full model for narcissism					<.001	3.11 (14, 126)	.26	.17		
-					.008	2.39 (12, 126)			.17	.10
Intercept	0.00	-0.15	0.15	0.00	1.00					
Gender $(0/1 = \text{female/male})$	0.25	0.09	0.42	3.09	.002					
Age	0.03	-0.13	0.20	0.40	.69					
1. Prominent name position	0.03	-0.13	0.18	0.33	.74					
2. Own name	-0.03	-0.19	0.13	-0.39	.70					
3. Academic comparison	0.07	-0.09	0.23	0.84	.40					
4. Accomplishments with	-0.01	-0.17	0.15	-0.13	.90					
professional experiences										
5. Awards	0.09	-0.08	0.26	1.08	.28					
6. Top tier business	0.19	0.02	0.35	2.25	.026					
consultancies/auditing firms										
7. Altruistic extracurricular	-0.17	-0.33	-0.02	-2.20	.030					
activities										
8. Career-oriented extracurricular	0.11	-0.06	0.27	1.27	.21					
activities										
9. Cognitive hobbies	0.10	-0.06	0.27	1.22	.22					
10. Business hobbies	-0.03	-0.19	0.12	-0.43	.67					
11. Pleasure hobbies	-0.13	-0.29	0.03	-1.63	.11					
12. Social hobbies	-0.13	-0.29	0.03	-1.65	.10					

Note. N = 141. CI = confidence interval; LL = lower limit; UL = upper limit; $R^{2}_{Adj} =$ adjusted R^{2} . All values on *z*-scale.

2.1.5 Discussion

This study's goal was to shed light on resumés' potential for accurate personality inferences by extending our understanding of valid resumé cues signaling personality traits (big five and, for the first time, narcissism) based on 141 business students' resumés and self-reported personality. We went beyond previous research by selecting a broad set of resumé cues ($N_{\text{Cues}} = 70$) based on personality theory and previous empirical findings. We found basic demographic characteristics together with the respective resumé cues to explain substantial variance for all personality traits. With regard to specific resumé cues signaling personality, we identified 16 resumé cues being correlated with the personality trait expected to be associated with: Four cues for conscientiousness (fewer years on secondary school, better average marks, more internships and jobs, higher share of academic extracurricular activities), two cues for extraversion (more links to online networks, appealing look), three cues for openness (presence of flow text, having attended a vocational high school, higher share of creative hobbies), three cues for agreeableness (higher average duration of extracurricular activities, more stays abroad, higher average duration of stays abroad), one cue for neuroticism (lower reputation of universities), and three cues for narcissism (more top tier business consultancies/auditing firms, higher share of career-oriented extracurricular activities, lower share of pleasure hobbies). However, cue-personality correlations were rather small and many intuitive and theoretically

expected relationships between resumé cues and personality traits did not appear to be significant, leading to a mixed picture regarding resumés' potential to accurately infer personality.

2.1.5.1 Embedding the Present Findings in the Framework of the Lens Model. This study focused on the left side of the lens model (Brunswik, 1956), that is, the identification of valid resumé cues signaling personality. According to the lens model, the presence of valid cues is the necessary condition for accurate personality inferences at zero-acquaintance. We identified a valid resumé cue base for all examined personality traits, in particular, we (a) showed that resumé cues together with basic demographic characteristics (that can also be inferred from resumés) explain substantial personality variance, and (b) identified the corresponding driving valid resumé cues. However, the fact that only a fraction of theoretically sound resumé cues actually appeared to signal personality traits (with rather small associations) suggests that there is a definite and rather mediocre upper limit to the possibility of making accurate personality inferences based on resumés.

Previous studies on HR professionals' accuracy of resumé based personality inferences have only found (mixed) evidence for a modest level of accuracy of conscientiousness (Burns et al., 2014; cf. Cole et al., 2009) and extraversion inferences (Cole et al., 2009; cf. Burns et al., 2014), and no accuracy for the other big five traits. The present results suggest that HR professionals' lack of accuracy might be to some extent due to resumés as an information base holding limited capacity to signal valid personality information with the number of non-valid cues exceeding the number of valid cues. However, we also found that there are valid resumé cues for each personality trait that could be used to infer personality, which suggests that HR professionals' lack of consistent use of these valid resumé cues according to their validity might also contribute to the lack of accuracy.

2.1.5.2 Extending Preliminary Findings on Resumé Cues and Personality. This study extends our understanding of valid resumé cues signaling personality beyond initial exploratory findings (Burns et al., 2014; Cole et al., 2003b). For instance, Cole et al. (2003b) did not find valid resumé cues signaling openness. Burns et al. (2014) found eight resumé cues associated with openness. However, the conclusiveness of their findings is limited due to a small resumé sample (N=37) and lacking theoretical underpinnings of the cue set, both enhancing the likelihood of type I error, that is, assuming resumé cues to signal personality which in fact do not (see Burns et al., 2014, explicitly addressing these limitations). For instance, Burns et al. (2014) found that openness was associated with a higher average length of employment. This finding seems somewhat contradictory to open individuals' curiosity to

explore new things and tendency to frequently change job positions (e.g., Ng et al., 2005; Wille et al., 2010). Also, such a finding could not be supported in the present study (the correlation between the average duration of internships/jobs was negative; r = -.12, p = .17). As further examples, Burns et al. (2014) found open individuals to be less likely to list (a) supplemental information beyond school and degree in the education section, and (b) academic awards. However, there seem to be little theoretical and empirical underpinnings to explain those findings. In contrast, characteristics of open individuals such as broad-mindedness, intellectual complexity, and the desire to meet learning opportunities, if at all, rather suggest positive associations with the aforementioned resumé cues. In the present study, we now demonstrate that resumé cues explain substantial variance in openness (even beyond basic demographic characteristics), and identify easy-to-interpret cues, such as the presence of flow text, having attended a vocational high school, and listing creative hobbies, that might be used to infer an applicant's openness based on their resumé.

Overall, the present study contributes to the broad literature on personality inferences at zero-acquaintance by adding insights on valid resumé cues to the extensive, multi-faceted information bases that can be used to make (somewhat) accurate personality inferences such as physical appearances and observed behaviors (e.g., Back et al., 2010; Borkenau & Liebler, 1992; Hirschmüller et al., 2015; Naumann et al., 2009), bedrooms and offices (Gosling et al., 2002), music preferences (Rentfrow & Gosling, 2006), written information (e.g., short stories; Küfner et al., 2010), online social network profiles (e.g., Facebook; Stopfer et al., 2014), and even e-mail addresses (Back et al., 2008), and, in particular, to information bases related to recruitment contexts such as (handshakes in; Stewart et al., 2008) job interviews (e.g., DeGroot & Gooty, 2009; Gifford et al., 1985), application photographs (Fernandez et al., 2017), and online professional network profiles (e.g., LinkedIn; Fernandez et al., 2021; Van de Ven et al., 2017). In alignment with previous zero-acquaintance research, we found that the incremental explained variance of resumé cues beyond gender and age was only significant for conscientiousness, extraversion, openness, and narcissism, but not for agreeableness and neuroticism, which represent typical difficult to observe traits in zero-acquaintance situations (e.g., Connelly & Ones, 2010; Connolly et al., 2007; Hall et al., 2008; Kenny et al., 1992, 1994).

2.1.5.3 Practical Implications. Even though we found some valid resumé cues signaling each of the examined personality traits, the present results also suggest that resumés come with a definite and rather mediocre upper limit to accurately infer personality. This speaks for using resumé based personality inferences rather for non-invasive preliminary screening purposes when confronted with high numbers of applicants. Other than that, organizations

should apply well-established personnel selection tools to infer applicants' personality such as self-report personality tests, that were demonstrated to robustly predict occupational outcomes (e.g., Barrick & Mount, 1991; Salgado, 1997; Tett et al., 1991). These can be supplemented by alternative methods to measure personality that minimize socially desirable responding, such as asking specific (biographical or situational) personality related questions in job interviews (Levashina et al., 2014). It would be intriguing to test whether supplementing self-report personality tests with resumé based personality assessments might gain incremental accuracy when predicting (a) applicants' personality and (b) occupational outcomes such as job performance. If so, resumé based personality assessments might be used as a valuable complement to well-established selection tools.

That aside, HR professionals making resumé based personality inferences (e.g., Brown & Campion, 1994; Burns et al., 2014; Cole et al., 2004, 2009) and thereby lacking accuracy (Burns et al, 2014; Cole et al., 2009) reflects daily practice in many organizations. In bad cases, inaccurate resumé based personality inferences might lead to direct false applicant rejections or impair the validity of hiring decisions at later personnel selection stages (e.g., Binning et al., 1988; Dipboye et al., 1984; Dougherty et al., 1994; Macan & Dipboye, 1990). Organizations should make efforts to reduce such erroneous decision-making, not only for reasons of fairness but also since avoiding erroneous applicant rejection has become a key competitive advantage in the "war for talent" (Beechler & Woodward, 2009). The lens model (Brunswik, 1956) suggests that the lack of consistently using resumé cues according to their validity might be to some extent accountable for HR professionals' low accuracy of resumé based personality inferences (Burns et al., 2014; Cole et al., 2009). The present results (if affirmed in future confirmatory research) might thus serve as a first step on the road to improving HR professionals' accuracy by educating about valid and non-valid resumé cues signaling personality. More specifically, a promising approach might be designing training sessions that educate HR professionals to (a) assess resumé cues in a standardized way, (b) distinguish valid and non-valid resumé cues for each personality trait, and (c) incorporate valid resumé cues consistently into personality inferences (see Karelaia & Hogarth, 2008). Cole et al. (2005) provided initial evidence that the accuracy of resumé based personality inferences could be enhanced after attending a brief training session educating about valid resumé cues (see also Powell & Bourdage, 2016, for a similar approach in the context of employment interviews).

2.1.5.4 Limitations and Future Directions. The deductive selection of resumé cues in this study took place after data collection, and thus, without preregistration. We addressed this limitation by (a) reporting cue validities for all resumé cues assessed in the original research

project and (b) demonstrating the robustness of the identified valid resumé cues using resampling methods. However, the absence of preregistration still necessitates the direct replication of our results in future confirmatory research.

Although the present study used a larger resumé sample (N = 141) than previous research on resumé cues signaling personality (N = 37 in Burns et al., 2014; N = 122 in Cole et al., 2003b), our power to identify significant cue validities was still rather low. Against the background of the numerous small effects in the present study (around r = |.10|; Gignac & Szodorai, 2016), it seems likely that many associations between personality and resumé cues occur in the range of small effect sizes (see also typical effect sizes of cues signaling personality on LinkedIn; Fernandez et al., 2021; Roulin & Levashina, 2019; Roulin & Stronach, 2022; Van de Ven et al., 2017). Our power to detect small effects ($\rho = .10$) was only .22 (testing two-tailed with an α -error of .05). Small effects are practically less relevant than medium sized effects ($\rho = .20$), which we were able to detect quite reliably ($1-\beta = .67$). However, when considered in combination, small effects might explain substantial variance, as many cues might each make a small, unique contribution (see also Fernandez et al., 2021). It would be enlightening to examine which of the numerous small effects prove robust in a sample (N = 782) providing sufficient power ($1-\beta = .80$).

This study dealt with the left side of the lens model (Brunswik, 1956), the identification of valid resumé cues signaling personality, representing the necessary condition for accurate personality inferences at zero-acquaintance. A further step would be to examine the extent to which HR professionals consistently use these cues. This might help paint a more comprehensive picture of HR professionals' lack of accuracy when making resumé based personality inferences (Burns et al, 2014; Cole et al., 2009). Burns et al. (2014) provide preliminary evidence by asking HR professionals to rate the personality relevance of resumé cues on Likert-scales. These findings can be aligned with the present findings on cue validities to form hypotheses on why HR professionals might lack accuracy. For instance, whereas HR professionals consider grammar/spelling errors to be the most relevant resumé cue to infer conscientiousness (Burns et al., 2014; see also Martin-Lacroux, 2017; Vignovic & Thompson, 2010), this study suggests that grammar/spelling errors do not reflect conscientiousness (r = .00, p = 1.00). Also, whereas HR professionals consider the number of jobs amongst the least relevant resumé cues to infer conscientiousness (Burns et al., 2014), the present study suggests that the number of internships/jobs reflects conscientiousness (r = .20, p = .018). However, such inferences must be drawn with caution as there is a substantial divergence between how HR professionals self-report to make resumé based inferences and how they actually do it (e.g., Burns et al., 2014; Cole et al., 2007; Rynes et al., 2003). Taking the present cue set and examining actual personality related cue utilizations thus represents a consequential step to better understanding why HR professionals lack accuracy. Thereby, future studies might go beyond the preliminary findings on hireability related cue utilizations based on the aggregated judgment level (average perceiver approach; Burns et al., 2014; Cole et al., 2007; Cole, Feild, Giles, et al., 2004) by conducting analyses on the single judgment level (single perceiver approach; see Back & Nestler, 2016; Nestler & Back, 2017). This would allow to (a) obtain reliable results by considering the multilevel data structure (resumés nested in HR professionals and vice versa; Nestler & Back, 2017), (b) obtain practically relevant results as HR professionals seldomly draw inferences in groups, and (c) examine interindividual variations of cue utilizations (see also Dougherty et al., 1994; Kinicki et al., 1990; Zedeck et al., 1983) and which characteristics of HR professionals (e.g., job experience, intelligence) might explain these.

Given that the present findings suggest that HR professionals' lack of accuracy of resumé based personality inferences might be to some extent due to a lack of human perceivers' using valid cues consistently, it would be intriguing to examine automated perceivers' accuracy of resumé based personality inferences (Bleidorn & Hopwood, 2019; Stachl et al., 2020; Tay et al., 2020). Automated perceivers (i.e., machine learning algorithms) should have key advantages over human perceivers because they are built to (a) use cues consistently according to their validity (e.g., to predict conscientiousness, valid cues such as the number of internships/jobs would consistently be considered more than non-valid cues such as the number of grammar/spelling errors; see Alexander et al., 2020; Karelaia & Hogarth, 2008) and (b) detect and consider complex cue interactions (e.g., the simultaneous presence of good grades and many jobs/internships might be particularly predictive of conscientiousness; see also Cole et al., 2007; Hakel et al., 1970; Knouse, 1994, suggesting that HR professionals consider simple cue interactions when making resumé based hireability inferences).¹¹

This study focused on business students at career start ensuring the comparability with previous studies on personality and resumé cues (Burns et al., 2014; Cole et al., 2003b). Future

¹¹ The results of the nested cross-validated elastic nets (see Appendix 2.1.B) might serve as preliminary evidence that automated perceivers could achieve substantial prediction accuracy levels potentially surpassing human perceivers' accuracy levels when making resumé based personality inferences (averaged prediction accuracy racross the ten outer folds between .16 and .35 depending on the personality trait). However, due to the relatively small sample size, prediction accuracies were quite unstable, that is, prediction accuracies showed high variation across the ten outer folds. Future research might apply a more bottom-up approach using complex machine learning algorithms designed to handle big data (several hundred cues in thousands of resumés) and to model complex cue interactions (e.g., random forests; Breiman, 2001, neural networks; LeCun et al., 2015) to identify a reliable upper-threshold of automated perceivers' resumé based prediction accuracy.

research might examine the present findings' transferability to other applicant populations. For instance, whereas a high number of professional positions served as a valid cue for conscientiousness in our young sample, this might change amongst older applicants. Here, many professional positions might be less due to diligence, but, for instance, signaling dark personality traits causing problems at work (Grijalva & Newman, 2015; O'Boyle et al., 2012) and potentially leading to job changes (Campbell and Campbell, 2009). In a similar vein, it would be fascinating to see which findings on resumé based cue validities hold up in online contexts (profiles on professional networks such as LinkedIn; see Fernandez et al., 2021; Roulin & Levashina, 2019; Roulin & Stronach, 2022; Van de Ven et al., 2017) that long-term might replace traditional resumés (e.g., Zide et al., 2014) and come with overlapping (e.g., educational/professional experiences) but also diverging sets of cues (e.g., layout aspects in resumés, number of contacts/postings in online networks).

2.1.5.5 Conclusion. Selecting a broad set of resumé cues based on personality theory and empirical findings allowed us to identify easy-to-interpret valid resumé cues explaining substantial variance of the big five traits and narcissism. However, only a fraction of the deductively derived resumé cues actually signaled personality traits suggesting that there is a definite and rather mediocre upper limit to accurately inferring personality based on resumés. The lens model (Brunswik, 1956) turned out as a useful framework to guide future research and derive practical implications: Resumés provide some valid cues signaling personality, and thus, HR professionals' potential lack of accuracy might be to some extent due to a lack of consistently using these valid cues. Future research might pick up on this by examining (a) HR professionals' personality related cue utilizations, and (b) automated perceivers' accuracy levels. Given the mediocre upper accuracy limit of resumé based personality assessments, organizations might be advised to refrain from using them for other purposes than prescreening large amounts of applicants and rather adhere to established personnel selection tools such as self-report personality tests or structured interviews. However, resumé based personality assessments represent common practice in many organizations. Thus, the present results might be applied to improve HR professionals' accuracy by designing training sessions educating about valid resumé cues.

2.1.6 References

- Albright, L., Kenny, D. A., & Malloy, T. E. (1988). Consensus in personality judgments at zero acquaintance. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *55*(3), 387–395. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.55.3.387
- Alexander, L., Mulfinger, E., & Oswald, F. L. (2020). Using big data and machine learning in personality measurement: Opportunities and challenges. *European Journal of Personality*, 34(5), 632–648. https://doi.org/10.1002/per.2305
- Allen, M. S., Mison, E. A., Robson, D. A., & Laborde, S. (2021). Extraversion in sport: A scoping review. *International Review of Sport and Exercise Psychology*, 14(1), 229– 259. https://doi.org/10.1080/1750984X.2020.1790024
- Andresen, M., & Bergdolt, F. (2021). Individual and job-related antecedents of a global mindset: An analysis of international business travelers' characteristics and experiences abroad. *The International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 32(9), 1953–1985. https://doi.org/10.1080/09585192.2019.1588349
- Ashton, M. C., Lee, K., & Paunonen, S. V. (2002). What is the central feature of extraversion? Social attention versus reward sensitivity. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 83(1), 245–252. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.83.1.245
- Azucar, D., Marengo, D., & Settanni, M. (2018). Predicting the Big 5 personality traits from digital footprints on social media: A meta-analysis. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 124, 150–159. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2017.12.018
- Back, M. D. (2018). The narcissistic admiration and rivalry concept. In A. D. Hermann, A. B. Brunell, & J. D. Foster (Eds.), *Handbook of trait narcissism: Key advances, research methods, and controversies* (pp. 57–67). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-92171-6 6.
- Back, M. D., Küfner, A. C. P., Dufner, M., Gerlach, T. M., Rauthmann, J. F., & Denissen, J. J. A. (2013). Narcissistic admiration and rivalry: Disentangling the bright and dark sides of narcissism. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 105(6), 1013–1037. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0034431
- Back, M. D., & Nestler, S. (2016). Accuracy of judging personality. In J. A. Hall, M. Schmid Mast, & T. V. West (Eds.), *The social psychology of perceiving others accurately* (pp. 98–124). Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9781316181959.005.
- Back, M. D., Schmukle, S. C., & Egloff, B. (2008). How extraverted is honey.bunny77@hotmail.de? Inferring personality from e-mail addresses. *Journal of Research in Personality*, 42(4), 1116–1122. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrp.2008.02.001
- Back, M. D., Schmukle, S. C., & Egloff, B. (2010). Why are narcissists so charming at first sight? Decoding the narcissism–popularity link at zero acquaintance. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 98(1), 132–145. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0016338
- Barrick, M. R., & Mount, M. K. (1991). The big five personality dimensions and job performance: A meta-analysis. *Personnel Psychology*, 44(1), 1–26. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-6570.1991.tb00688.x
- Barrick, M. R., Mount, M. K., & Judge, T. A. (2001). Personality and performance at the beginning of the new millennium: What do we know and where do we go next? *International Journal of Selection and Assessment*, 9(1–2), 9–30. https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-2389.00160
- Bartram, D. (2005). The great eight competencies: A criterion-centric approach to validation. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 90(6), 1185–1203. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.90.6.1185
- Beechler, S., & Woodward, I. C. (2009). The global "war for talent." *Journal of International Management*, 15(3), 273–285. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.intman.2009.01.002

Bell, S. T. (2007). Deep-level composition variables as predictors of team performance: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 92(3), 595–615. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.92.3.595

Binning, J. F., Goldstein, M. A., Garcia, M. F., & Scattaregia, J. H. (1988). Effects of preinterview impressions on questioning strategies in same- and opposite-sex employment interviews. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 73(1), 30–37. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.73.1.30

Bleidorn, W., & Hopwood, C. J. (2019). Using machine learning to advance personality assessment and theory. *Personality and Social Psychology Review*, 23(2), 190–203. https://doi.org/10.1177/1088868318772990

Borkenau, P., & Liebler, A. (1992). Trait inferences: Sources of validity at zero acquaintance. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 62(4), 645–657. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.62.4.645

Breil, S. M., Osterholz, S., Nestler, S., & Back, M. D. (2021). Contributions of nonverbal cues to the accurate judgment of personality traits. In T. D. Letzring & J. S. Spain (Eds.), *The Oxford handbook of accurate personality judgment* (pp. 195–218). Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordhb/9780190912529.013.13.

Breiman, L. (2001). Random forests. *Machine Learning*, 45(1), 5–32. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1010933404324

Brown, B. K., & Campion, M. A. (1994). Biodata phenomenology: Recruiters' perceptions and use of biographical information in resume screening. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 79(6), 897–908. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.79.6.897

Brunell, A. B., Tumblin, L., & Buelow, M. T. (2014). Narcissism and the motivation to engage in volunteerism. *Current Psychology*, 33(3), 365–376. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12144-014-9216-7

Brunswik, E. (1956). *Perception and the representative design of psychological experiments*. University of California Press.

Burns, G. N., Christiansen, N. D., Morris, M. B., Periard, David. A., & Coaster, J. A. (2014). Effects of applicant personality on resume evaluations. *Journal of Business and Psychology*, 29(4), 573–591. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10869-014-9349-6

Buss, D. M., & Chiodo, L. M. (1991). Narcissistic acts in everyday life. *Journal of Personality*, 59(2), 179–215. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-6494.1991.tb00773.x

Campbell, W. K., & Campbell, S. M. (2009). On the self-regulatory dynamics created by the peculiar benefits and costs of narcissism: A contextual reinforcement model and examination of leadership. *Self and Identity*, 8(2–3), 214–232. https://doi.org/10.1080/15298860802505129

Campbell, W. K., & Foster, J. D. (2007). The narcissistic self: Background, an extended agency model, and ongoing controversies. In C. Sedikides & S. J. Spencer (Eds.), *The Self* (pp. 115–138). Psychology Press.

Campbell, W. K., Hoffman, B. J., Campbell, S. M., & Marchisio, G. (2011). Narcissism in organizational contexts. *Human Resource Management Review*, 21(4), 268–284. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hrmr.2010.10.007

Carroll, L. (1987). A study of narcissism, affiliation, intimacy, and power motives among students in business administration. *Psychological Reports*, *61*(2), 355–358. https://doi.org/10.2466/pr0.1987.61.2.355

Chatterjee, A., & Hambrick, D. C. (2007). It's all about me: Narcissistic chief executive officers and their effects on company strategy and performance. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, *52*(3), 351–386. https://doi.org/10.2189/asqu.52.3.351

Cicchetti, D. V. (1994). Guidelines, criteria, and rules of thumb for evaluating normed and standardized assessment instruments in psychology. *Psychological Assessment*, 6(4),

284-290. https://doi.org/10.1037/1040-3590.6.4.284

- Cole, M. S., Feild, H. S., & Giles, W. F. (2003a). Using recruiter assessments of applicants' resume content to predict applicant mental ability and big five personality dimensions. *International Journal of Selection and Assessment*, 11(1), 78–88. https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-2389.00228
- Cole, M. S., Feild, H. S., & Giles, W. F. (2003b). What can we uncover about applicants based on their resumes? A field study. *Applied HRM Research*, 8(2), 51–62.
- Cole, M. S., Feild, H. S., Giles, W. F., & Harris, S. G. (2004). Job type and recruiters' inferences of applicant personality drawn from resume biodata: Their relationships with hiring recommendations. *International Journal of Selection and Assessment*, 12(4), 363–367. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0965-075X.2004.00291.x
- Cole, M. S., Feild, H. S., Giles, W. F., & Harris, S. G. (2009). Recruiters' inferences of applicant personality based on resume screening: Do paper people have a personality? *Journal of Business and Psychology*, 24(1), 5–18. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10869-008-9086-9
- Cole, M. S., Feild, H. S., & Stafford, J. O. (2005). Validity of resumé reviewers' inferences concerning applicant personality based on resumé evaluation. *International Journal of Selection and Assessment*, 13(4), 321–324. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-2389.2005.00329.x
- Cole, M. S., Rubin, R. S., Feild, H. S., & Giles, W. F. (2007). Recruiters' perceptions and use of applicant résumé information: Screening the recent graduate. *Applied Psychology*, 56(2), 319–343. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1464-0597.2007.00288.x
- Connelly, B. S., & Ones, D. S. (2010). An other perspective on personality: Meta-analytic integration of observers' accuracy and predictive validity. *Psychological Bulletin*, 136(6), 1092–1122. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0021212
- Connolly, J. J., Kavanagh, E. J., & Viswesvaran, C. (2007). The convergent validity between self and observer ratings of personality: A meta-analytic review. *International Journal of Selection and Assessment*, *15*(1), 110–117. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-2389.2007.00371.x
- Connor-Smith, J. K., & Flachsbart, C. (2007). Relations between personality and coping: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 93(6), 1080–1107. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.93.6.1080
- Costa, P. T., & McCrae, R. R. (1995). Domains and facets: Hierarchical personality assessment using the revised NEO Personality Inventory. *Journal of Personality Assessment*, 64(1), 21–50. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15327752jpa6401_2
- Cragun, O. R., Olsen, K. J., & Wright, P. M. (2020). Making CEO narcissism research great: A review and meta-analysis of CEO narcissism. *Journal of Management*, 46(6), 908–936. https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206319892678
- DeGroot, T., & Gooty, J. (2009). Can nonverbal cues be used to make meaningful personality attributions in employment interviews? *Journal of Business and Psychology*, 24(2), 179–192. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10869-009-9098-0
- Dipboye, R. L., Stramler, C. S., & Fontenelle, G. A. (1984). The effects of the application on recall of information from the interview. *Academy of Management Journal*, 27(3), 561–575. https://doi.org/10.5465/256045
- Dougherty, T. W., Turban, D. B., & Callender, J. C. (1994). Confirming first impressions in the employment interview: A field study of interviewer behavior. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 79(5), 659–665. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.79.5.659
- Dunn, W. S., Mount, M. K., Barrick, M. R., & Ones, D. S. (1995). Relative importance of personality and general mental ability in managers' judgments of applicant qualifications. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 80(4), 500–509.

https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.80.4.500

- Elliot, A. J., & Thrash, T. M. (2002). Approach-avoidance motivation in personality: Approach and avoidance temperaments and goals. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 82(5), 804–818. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.82.5.804
- Eysenck, H. J. (1967). The biological basis of personality. C. C. Thomas.
- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Lang, A.-G., & Buchner, A. (2007). G*Power 3: A flexible statistical power analysis program for the social, behavioral, and biomedical sciences. *Behavior Research Methods*, 39(2), 175–191. https://doi.org/10.3758/BF03193146
- Feist, G. J. (1998). A meta-analysis of personality in scientific and artistic creativity. *Personality and Social Psychology Review*, 2(4), 290–309. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15327957pspr0204 5
- Fernandez, S., Stöcklin, M., Terrier, L., & Kim, S. (2021). Using available signals on LinkedIn for personality assessment. *Journal of Research in Personality*, 93, 104122. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrp.2021.104122
- Fernandez, S., Stosic, G., & Terrier, L. (2017). Does your résumé photograph tell who you are? *Personality and Individual Differences*, 104, 186–189. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2016.08.006
- Frank, F., & Kanning, U. P. (2014). Lücken im Lebenslauf. Zeitschrift für Arbeits- und Organisationspsychologie A & O, 58(3), 155–162. https://doi.org/10.1026/0932-4089/a000140
- Gifford, R., Ng, C. F., & Wilkinson, M. (1985). Nonverbal cues in the employment interview: Links between applicant qualities and interviewer judgments. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 70(4), 729–736. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.70.4.729
- Gignac, G. E., & Szodorai, E. T. (2016). Effect size guidelines for individual differences researchers. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 102, 74–78. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2016.06.069
- Gosling, S. D., Ko, S. J., Mannarelli, T., & Morris, M. E. (2002). A room with a cue: Personality judgments based on offices and bedrooms. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 82(3), 379–398. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.82.3.379
- Greischel, H., Noack, P., & Neyer, F. J. (2016). Sailing uncharted waters: Adolescent personality development and social relationship experiences during a year abroad. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 45(11), 2307–2320. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-016-0479-1
- Grijalva, E., Harms, P. D., Newman, D. A., Gaddis, B. H., & Fraley, R. C. (2015). Narcissism and leadership: A meta-analytic review of linear and nonlinear relationships. *Personnel Psychology*, 68(1), 1–47. https://doi.org/10.1111/peps.12072
- Grijalva, E., & Newman, D. A. (2015). Narcissism and counterproductive work behavior (CWB): Meta-analysis and consideration of collectivist culture, big five personality, and narcissism's facet structure. *Applied Psychology*, 64(1), 93–126. https://doi.org/10.1111/apps.12025
- Habashi, M. M., Graziano, W. G., & Hoover, A. E. (2016). Searching for the prosocial personality: A big five approach to linking personality and prosocial behavior. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 42(9), 1177–1192. https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167216652859
- Hakel, M. D., Dobmeyer, T. W., & Dunnette, M. D. (1970). Relative importance of three content dimensions in overall suitability ratings of job applicants' resumes. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 54(1), 65–71. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0028649
- Hall, J. A., Andrzejewski, S. A., Murphy, N. A., Mast, M. S., & Feinstein, B. A. (2008). Accuracy of judging others' traits and states: Comparing mean levels across tests. *Journal of Research in Personality*, 42(6), 1476–1489.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrp.2008.06.013

- Ham, C., Seybert, N., & Wang, S. (2018). Narcissism is a bad sign: CEO signature size, investment, and performance. *Review of Accounting Studies*, 23(1), 234–264. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11142-017-9427-x
- Hart, W., Adams, J. M., & Alex Burton, K. (2016). Narcissistic for the people: Narcissists and non-narcissists disagree about how to make a good impression. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 91, 69–73. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2015.11.045
- Heist, P., McConnell, T. R., Matsler, F., & Williams, P. (1961). Personality and scholarship: The traits of able students at colleges productive of scholars are different from those of other able students. *Science*, 133(3450), 362–367. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.133.3450.362
- Hirschmüller, S., Egloff, B., Schmukle, S. C., Nestler, S., & Back, M. D. (2015). Accurate judgments of neuroticism at zero acquaintance: A question of relevance. *Journal of Personality*, 83(2), 221–228. https://doi.org/10.1111/jopy.12097
- Jani, D. (2014). Big five personality factors and travel curiosity: Are they related? *Anatolia*, 25(3), 444–456. https://doi.org/10.1080/13032917.2014.909366
- Judge, T. A., Bono, J. E., Ilies, R., & Gerhardt, M. W. (2002). Personality and leadership: A qualitative and quantitative review. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 87(4), 765–780. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.87.4.765
- Judge, T. A., Erez, A., Bono, J. E., & Thoresen, C. J. (2002). Are measures of self-esteem, neuroticism, locus of control, and generalized self-efficacy indicators of a common core construct? *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 83(3), 693–710. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.83.3.693
- Judge, T. A., Higgins, C. A., Thoresen, C. J., & Barrick, M. R. (1999). The big five personality traits, general mental ability, and career success across the life span. *Personnel Psychology*, 52(3), 621–652. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-6570.1999.tb00174.x
- Judge, T. A., LePine, J. A., & Rich, B. L. (2006). Loving yourself abundantly: Relationship of the narcissistic personality to self- and other perceptions of workplace deviance, leadership, and task and contextual performance. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 91(4), 762–776. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.91.4.762
- Kajtna, T., Tušak, M., Barić, R., & Burnik, S. (2004). Personality in high-risk sports athletes. *Kinesiology*, *36*(1), 24–34.
- Kanfer, R., Wanberg, C. R., & Kantrowitz, T. M. (2001). Job search and employment: A personality–motivational analysis and meta-analytic review. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 86(5), 837–855. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.86.5.837
- Karelaia, N., & Hogarth, R. M. (2008). Determinants of linear judgment: A meta-analysis of lens model studies. *Psychological Bulletin*, 134(3), 404–426. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.134.3.404
- Kauten, R. L., & Barry, C. T. (2016). Adolescent narcissism and its association with different indices of prosocial behavior. *Journal of Research in Personality*, 60, 36–45. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrp.2015.11.004
- Kenny, D. A., Albright, L., Malloy, T. E., & Kashy, D. A. (1994). Consensus in interpersonal perception: Acquaintance and the big five. *Psychological Bulletin*, 116(2), 245–258. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.116.2.245
- Kenny, D. A., Horner, C., Kashy, D. A., & Chu, L. (1992). Consensus at zero acquaintance: Replication, behavioral cues, and stability. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 62(1), 88–97. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.62.1.88
- Kim, J. H., & Kim, Y. (2019). Instagram user characteristics and the color of their photos: Colorfulness, color diversity, and color harmony. *Information Processing* &

Management, 56(4), 1494–1505. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ipm.2018.10.018

- Kinicki, A. J., Lockwood, C. A., Hom, P. W., & Griffeth, R. W. (1990). Interviewer predictions of applicant qualifications and interviewer validity: Aggregate and individual analyses. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 75(5), 477–486. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.75.5.477
- Kirkcaldy, B., & Furnham, A. (1991). Extraversion, neuroticism, psychoticism and recreational choice. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 12(7), 737–745. https://doi.org/10.1016/0191-8869(91)90229-5
- Knouse, S. B. (1994). Impressions of the resume: The effects of applicant education, experience, and impression management. *Journal of Business and Psychology*, 9(1), 33–45. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02230985
- König, C. J., Klehe, U.-C., Berchtold, M., & Kleinmann, M. (2010). Reasons for being selective when choosing personnel selection procedures. *International Journal of Selection and Assessment*, 18(1), 17–27. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-2389.2010.00485.x
- Konrath, S., Ho, M.-H., & Zarins, S. (2016). The strategic helper: Narcissism and prosocial motives and behaviors. *Current Psychology*, 35(2), 182–194. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12144-016-9417-3
- Krizan, Z., & Herlache, A. D. (2018). The narcissism spectrum model: A synthetic view of narcissistic personality. *Personality and Social Psychology Review*, 22(1), 3–31. https://doi.org/10.1177/1088868316685018
- Küfner, A. C. P., Back, M. D., Nestler, S., & Egloff, B. (2010). Tell me a story and I will tell you who you are! Lens model analyses of personality and creative writing. *Journal of Research in Personality*, 44(4), 427–435. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrp.2010.05.003
- Larson, L. M., Rottinghaus, P. J., & Borgen, F. H. (2002). Meta-analyses of big six interests and big five personality factors. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 61(2), 217–239. https://doi.org/10.1006/jvbe.2001.1854
- Leckelt, M., Wetzel, E., Gerlach, T. M., Ackerman, R. A., Miller, J. D., Chopik, W. J., Penke, L., Geukes, K., Küfner, A. C. P., Hutteman, R., Richter, D., Renner, K.-H., Allroggen, M., Brecheen, C., Campbell, W. K., Grossmann, I., & Back, M. D. (2018). Validation of the Narcissistic Admiration and Rivalry Questionnaire Short Scale (NARQ-S) in convenience and representative samples. *Psychological Assessment*, 30(1), 86–96. https://doi.org/10.1037/pas0000433
- LeCun, Y., Bengio, Y., & Hinton, G. (2015). Deep learning. *Nature*, *521*(7553), Article 7553. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature14539
- Levashina, J., Hartwell, C. J., Morgeson, F. P., & Campion, M. A. (2014). The structured employment interview: Narrative and quantitative review of the research literature. *Personnel Psychology*, 67(1), 241–293. https://doi.org/10.1111/peps.12052
- Li, M., Mobley, W. H., & Kelly, A. (2016). Linking personality to cultural intelligence: An interactive effect of openness and agreeableness. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 89, 105–110. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2015.09.050
- Lievens, F., Highhouse, S., & De Corte, W. (2005). The importance of traits and abilities in supervisors' hirability decisions as a function of method of assessment. *Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology*, 78(3), 453–470. https://doi.org/10.1348/096317905X26093
- Lippa, R. (1998). The nonverbal display and judgment of extraversion, masculinity, femininity, and gender diagnosticity: A lens model analysis. *Journal of Research in Personality*, 32(1), 80–107. https://doi.org/10.1006/jrpe.1997.2189
- Liu, D., & Campbell, W. K. (2017). The big five personality traits, big two metatraits and social media: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Research in Personality*, 70, 229–240.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrp.2017.08.004

- Lounsbury, J. W., Saudargas, R. A., & Gibson, L. W. (2004). An investigation of personality traits in relation to intention to withdraw from college. *Journal of College Student Development*, 45(5), 517–534. https://doi.org/10.1353/csd.2004.0059
- Macan, T. H., & Dipboye, R. L. (1990). The relationship of interviewers' preinterview impressions to selection and recruitment outcomes. *Personnel Psychology*, 43(4), 745–768. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-6570.1990.tb00681.x
- Marcus, B. (2003). Attitudes towards personnel selection methods: A partial replication and extension in a German sample. *Applied Psychology*, *52*(4), 515–532. https://doi.org/10.1111/1464-0597.00149
- Martin-Lacroux, C. (2017). "Without the spelling errors I would have shortlisted her...": The impact of spelling errors on recruiters' choice during the personnel selection process. *International Journal of Selection and Assessment*, 25(3), 276–283. https://doi.org/10.1111/ijsa.12179
- Meier, B. P., Robinson, M. D., Carter, M. S., & Hinsz, V. B. (2010). Are sociable people more beautiful? A zero-acquaintance analysis of agreeableness, extraversion, and attractiveness. *Journal of Research in Personality*, 44(2), 293–296. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrp.2010.02.002
- Morf, C. C., & Rhodewalt, F. (2001). Unraveling the paradoxes of narcissism: A dynamic self-regulatory processing model. *Psychological Inquiry*, 12(4), 177–196. https://doi.org/10.1207/S15327965PLI1204_1
- Morgeson, F. P., Campion, M. A., Dipboye, R. L., Hollenbeck, J. R., Murphy, K., & Schmitt, N. (2007). Reconsidering the use of personality tests in personnel selection contexts. *Personnel Psychology*, 60(3), 683–729. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-6570.2007.00089.x
- Moscoso, S., & Salgado, J. F. (2004). Fairness reactions to personnel selection techniques in Spain and Portugal. *International Journal of Selection and Assessment*, 12(1–2), 187–196. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0965-075X.2004.00273.x
- Mount, M. K., Barrick, M. R., & Stewart, G. L. (1998). Five-Factor Model of personality and performance in jobs involving interpersonal interactions. *Human Performance*, 11(2– 3), 145–165. https://doi.org/10.1080/08959285.1998.9668029
- Naumann, L. P., Vazire, S., Rentfrow, P. J., & Gosling, S. D. (2009). Personality judgments based on physical appearance. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 35(12), 1661–1671. https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167209346309
- Nestler, S., & Back, M. D. (2013). Applications and extensions of the lens model to understand interpersonal judgments at zero acquaintance. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 22(5), 374–379. https://doi.org/10.1177/0963721413486148
- Nestler, S., & Back, M. D. (2017). Using cross-classified structural equation models to examine the accuracy of personality judgments. *Psychometrika*, 82(2), 475–497. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11336-015-9485-6
- Ng, T. W. H., Eby, L. T., Sorensen, K. L., & Feldman, D. C. (2005). Predictors of objective and subjective career success: A meta-analysis. *Personnel Psychology*, *58*(2), 367–408. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-6570.2005.00515.x
- Niehoff, E., Petersdotter, L., & Freund, P. A. (2017). International sojourn experience and personality development: Selection and socialization effects of studying abroad and the big five. *Personality and Individual Differences*, *112*, 55–61. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2017.02.043
- O'Boyle, E. H., Forsyth, D. R., Banks, G. C., & McDaniel, M. A. (2012). A meta-analysis of the dark triad and work behavior: A social exchange perspective. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 97(3), 557–579. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0025679
- O'Connor, M. C., & Paunonen, S. V. (2007). Big five personality predictors of postsecondary academic performance. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 43(5), 971– 990. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2007.03.017
- Ones, D. S., & Viswesvaran, C. (1999). Relative importance of personality dimensions for expatriate selection: A policy capturing study. *Human Performance*, 12(3–4), 275– 294. https://doi.org/10.1080/08959289909539872

Osterholz, S., Breil, S. M., Nestler, S., & Back, M. D. (2021). Lens and dual lens models. In T. D. Letzring & J. S. Spain (Eds.), *The Oxford handbook of accurate personality judgment* (pp. 45–60). Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordhb/9780190912529.013.4

- Parks-Leduc, L., Feldman, G., & Bardi, A. (2015). Personality traits and personal values: A meta-analysis. *Personality and Social Psychology Review*, 19(1), 3–29. https://doi.org/10.1177/1088868314538548
- Paulhus, D. L., Westlake, B. G., Calvez, S. S., & Harms, P. D. (2013). Self-presentation style in job interviews: The role of personality and culture. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 43(10), 2042–2059. https://doi.org/10.1111/jasp.12157
- Paulhus, D. L., & Williams, K. M. (2002). The dark triad of personality: Narcissism, machiavellianism, and psychopathy. *Journal of Research in Personality*, 36(6), 556– 563. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-6566(02)00505-6
- Pazda, A. D., & Thorstenson, C. A. (2018). Extraversion predicts a preference for highchroma colors. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 127, 133–138. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2018.01.028
- Peeters, M. A. G., Rutte, C. G., Van Tuijl, H. F. J. M., & Reymen, I. M. M. J. (2006). The big five personality traits and individual satisfaction with the team. *Small Group Research*, 37(2), 187–211. https://doi.org/10.1177/1046496405285458
- Peeters, M. A. G., Van Tuijl, H. F. J. M., Rutte, C. G., & Reymen, I. M. M. J. (2006). Personality and team performance: A meta-analysis. *European Journal of Personality*, 20(5), 377–396. https://doi.org/10.1002/per.588
- Poropat, A. E. (2009). A meta-analysis of the Five-Factor Model of personality and academic performance. *Psychological Bulletin*, 135(2), 322–338. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0014996
- Powell, D. M., & Bourdage, J. S. (2016). The detection of personality traits in employment interviews: Can "good judges" be trained? *Personality and Individual Differences*, 94, 194–199. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2016.01.009
- QS World University Rankings. (2020). Top Universities. https://www.topuniversities.com/university-rankings/world-university-rankings/2020
- R Core Team. (2018). R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. http://www.R-project.org/
- Rammstedt, B., Danner, D., Soto, C. J., & John, O. P. (2020). Validation of the short and extra-short forms of the Big Five Inventory-2 (BFI-2) and their German adaptations. *European Journal of Psychological Assessment*, 36(1), 149–161. https://doi.org/10.1027/1015-5759/a000481
- Rentfrow, P. J., & Gosling, S. D. (2006). Message in a ballad: The role of music preferences in interpersonal perception. *Psychological Science*, 17(3), 236–242. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9280.2006.01691.x
- Rogoza, R., Wyszyńska, P., Maćkiewicz, M., & Cieciuch, J. (2016). Differentiation of the two narcissistic faces in their relations to personality traits and basic values. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 95, 85–88. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2016.02.038
- Ross, S. R., Canada, K. E., & Rausch, M. K. (2002). Self-handicapping and the Five Factor

Model of personality: Mediation between neuroticism and conscientiousness. *Personality and Individual Differences*, *32*(7), 1173–1184. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0191-8869(01)00079-4

- Roulin, N., & Levashina, J. (2019). LinkedIn as a new selection method: Psychometric properties and assessment approach. *Personnel Psychology*, 72(2), 187–211. https://doi.org/10.1111/peps.12296
- Roulin, N., & Stronach, R. (2022). LinkedIn-based assessments of applicant personality, cognitive ability, and likelihood of organizational citizenship behaviors: Comparing self-, other-, and language-based automated ratings. *International Journal of Selection* and Assessment, 30(4), 503–524. https://doi.org/10.1111/ijsa.12396
- RStudio Team. (2016). *RStudio: Integrated development for R. RStudio, Inc., Boston, MA.* https://www.Rproject.org/
- Rynes, S. L., Trank, C. Q., Lawson, A. M., & Ilies, R. (2003). Behavioral coursework in business education: Growing evidence of a legitimacy crisis. *Academy of Management Learning & Education*, 2(3), 269–283. https://doi.org/10.5465/amle.2003.10932135
- Saadé, R. G., Kira, D., Nebebe, F., & Otrakji, C. (2006). Openness to experience: An HCI experiment. *Issues in Informing Science and Information Technology*, 3, 541–550. https://doi.org/10.28945/914
- Salgado, J. F. (1997). The Five Factor Model of personality and job performance in the European community. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 82(1), 30–43. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.82.1.30
- Saw, J. G., Yang, M. C. K., & Mo, T. C. (1984). Chebyshev inequality with estimated mean and variance. *The American Statistician*, 38(2), 130–132. https://doi.org/10.1080/00031305.1984.10483182
- Schouwenburg, H. C., & Lay, C. H. (1995). Trait procrastination and the big-five factors of personality. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 18(4), 481–490. https://doi.org/10.1016/0191-8869(94)00176-S
- Schuler, H., Hell, B., Trapmann, S., Schaar, H., & Boramir, I. (2007). Die Nutzung psychologischer Verfahren der externen Personalauswahl in deutschen Unternehmen. *Zeitschrift für Personalpsychologie*, 6(2), 60–70. https://doi.org/10.1026/1617-6391.6.2.60
- Sedikides, C., & Nevicka, B. (2021). Employee narcissism and promotability prospects. *Journal of Personality*, 89(4), Article 4. https://doi.org/10.1111/jopy.12619
- Settanni, M., Azucar, D., & Marengo, D. (2018). Predicting individual characteristics from digital traces on social media: A meta-analysis. *Cyberpsychology, Behavior, and Social Networking*, 21(4), 217–228. https://doi.org/10.1089/cyber.2017.0384
- Shokri, O., Kadivar, P., Naghsh, Z., Ghanai, Z., Daneshvarpour, Z., & Molaei, M. (2007). Personality traits, academic stress, and academic performance. *Journal of Educational Psychology Studies*, 3(3), 25–48.
- Soto, C. J., & John, O. P. (2017). Short and extra-short forms of the Big Five Inventory–2: The BFI-2-S and BFI-2-XS. *Journal of Research in Personality*, *68*, 69–81. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrp.2017.02.004
- Stachl, C., Pargent, F., Hilbert, S., Harari, G. M., Schoedel, R., Vaid, S., Gosling, S. D., & Bühner, M. (2020). Personality research and assessment in the era of machine learning. *European Journal of Personality*, 34(5), 613–631. https://doi.org/10.1002/per.2257
- Steel, P. (2007). The nature of procrastination: A meta-analytic and theoretical review of quintessential self-regulatory failure. *Psychological Bulletin*, 133(1), 65–94. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.133.1.65
- Steiner, D. D., & Gilliland, S. W. (1996). Fairness reactions to personnel selection techniques

CHAPTER 2: PERSONALITY PREDICTION FROM APPLICATION INFORMATION

in France and the United States. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 81(2), 134–141. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.81.2.134

- Stewart, G. L., Dustin, S. L., Barrick, M. R., & Darnold, T. C. (2008). Exploring the handshake in employment interviews. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 93(5), 1139– 1146. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.93.5.1139
- Stopfer, J. M., Egloff, B., Nestler, S., & Back, M. D. (2014). Personality expression and impression formation in online social networks: An integrative approach to understanding the processes of accuracy, impression management and meta-accuracy. *European Journal of Personality*, 28(1), 73–94. https://doi.org/10.1002/per.1935
- Sutin, A. R., Stephan, Y., Luchetti, M., Artese, A., Oshio, A., & Terracciano, A. (2016). The Five-Factor Model of personality and physical inactivity: A meta-analysis of 16 samples. *Journal of Research in Personality*, 63, 22–28. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrp.2016.05.001
- Tay, L., Woo, S. E., Hickman, L., & Saef, R. M. (2020). Psychometric and validity issues in machine learning approaches to personality assessment: A focus on social media text mining. *European Journal of Personality*, 34(5), 826–844. https://doi.org/10.1002/per.2290
- Tett, R. P., Jackson, D. N., & Rothstein, M. (1991). Personality measures as predictors of job performance: A meta-analytic review. *Personnel Psychology*, *44*(4), 703–742. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-6570.1991.tb00696.x
- Tews, M. J., Stafford, K., & Tracey, J. B. (2011). What matters most? The perceived importance of ability and personality for hiring decisions. *Cornell Hospitality Quarterly*, 52(2), 94–101. https://doi.org/10.1177/1938965510363377
- Trapmann, S., Hell, B., Hirn, J.-O. W., & Schuler, H. (2007). Meta-analysis of the relationship between the big five and academic success at university. *Zeitschrift für Psychologie/Journal of Psychology*, 215(2), 132–151. https://doi.org/10.1027/0044-3409.215.2.132
- Van de Ven, N., Bogaert, A., Serlie, A., Brandt, M. J., & Denissen, J. J. A. (2017). Personality perception based on LinkedIn profiles. *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, 32(6), 418–429. https://doi.org/10.1108/JMP-07-2016-0220
- Vazire, S., Naumann, L. P., Rentfrow, P. J., & Gosling, S. D. (2008). Portrait of a narcissist: Manifestations of narcissism in physical appearance. *Journal of Research in Personality*, 42(6), 1439–1447. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrp.2008.06.007
- Vignovic, J. A., & Thompson, L. F. (2010). Computer-mediated cross-cultural collaboration: Attributing communication errors to the person versus the situation. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 95(2), 265–276. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0018628
- Wallace, H. M., & Baumeister, R. F. (2002). The performance of narcissists rises and falls with perceived opportunity for glory. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 82(5), 819–834. https://doi.org/10.1037//0022-3514.82.5.819
- Watson, D. C. (2001). Procrastination and the Five-Factor Model: A facet level analysis. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 30(1), 149–158. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0191-8869(00)00019-2
- Wille, B., De Fruyt, F., & Feys, M. (2010). Vocational interests and big five traits as predictors of job instability. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, *76*(3), 547–558. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2010.01.007
- Wilson, K. E., & Dishman, R. K. (2015). Personality and physical activity: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 72, 230–242. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2014.08.023
- Wolfradt, U., & Pretz, J. E. (2001). Individual differences in creativity: Personality, story writing, and hobbies. *European Journal of Personality*, 15(4), 297–310.

CHAPTER 2: PERSONALITY PREDICTION FROM APPLICATION INFORMATION

https://doi.org/10.1002/per.409

- *World University Rankings 2020.* (2019, August 20). Times Higher Education (THE). https://www.timeshighereducation.com/world-university-rankings/2020/world-ranking
- Zedeck, S., Tziner, A., & Middlestadt, S. E. (1983). Interviewer validity and reliability: An individual analysis approach. *Personnel Psychology*, *36*(2), 355–370. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-6570.1983.tb01443.x
- Zeigler-Hill, V., Vrabel, J. K., McCabe, G. A., Cosby, C. A., Traeder, C. K., Hobbs, K. A., & Southard, A. C. (2018). Narcissism and the pursuit of status. *Journal of Personality*, 87(2). https://doi.org/10.1111/jopy.12392
- Zhang, J., Mandl, H., & Wang, E. (2010). Personality, acculturation, and psychosocial adjustment of Chinese international students in Germany. *Psychological Reports*, 107(2), 511–525. https://doi.org/10.2466/07.09.11.17.PR0.107.5.511-525
- Zibarras, L. D., & Woods, S. A. (2010). A survey of UK selection practices across different organization sizes and industry sectors. *Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology*, 83(2), 499–511. https://doi.org/10.1348/096317909X425203
- Zide, J., Elman, B., & Shahani-Denning, C. (2014). LinkedIn and recruitment: How profiles differ across occupations. *Employee Relations*, 36(5), 583–604. https://doi.org/10.1108/ER-07-2013-0086
- Zimmermann, J., & Neyer, F. J. (2013). Do we become a different person when hitting the road? Personality development of sojourners. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 105(3), 515–530. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0033019
- Zou, H., & Hastie, T. (2005). Regularization and variable selection via the elastic net. *Journal* of the Royal Statistical Society: Series B (Statistical Methodology), 67(2), 301–320. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9868.2005.00503.x

Appendix 2.1.A

Table 2.1.A

Measurement, Descriptive Statistics, and Correlations With All Personality Traits Considered in the Main Analyses for the Remaining Resumé

Cues Not Considered in the Main Analyses

Cue	Measurement	ICC	М	SD	rc	rE	ro	ŕΑ	ľΝ	ľNar
	Format and layout									
Curriculum vitae as header	0 = not present; 1 = present (i.e., document type used as top header, e.g., "Curriculum Vitae",		.61	.49	.05	.10	.00	.08	.02	.04
	"Resumé", as opposed to own name as top header/no top header, etc.)									
Foot- and/or headnote	0 = not present; $1 = $ present		.28	.45	01	.06	.00	.00	.02	.07
Name and address formatted	0 = not present; 1 = present (i.e., name and address formatted differently, e.g., different		.56	.50	.05	.02	.10	.09	.03	01
differently	font/font size/highlighting)									
Academic degree and university	0 = not present; 1 = present (e.g., bold, italicized, underlined, capitalized, different color)		.33	.47	01	.02	15	.09	.08	12
Inconsistent date resolution	0 = not present; 1 = present (i.e., resolution of dates (days/months/years) switches)		51	50	02	14	05	08	- 02	03
Dates right	0 = not present; 1 = present (i.e., resolution of dates (days/months/years) swheres)		.51	.50	.02	- 02	- 08	- 00	02	.05
• Dates left	0 = not present, $1 = present$ (i.e., more than half of the dates is presented on the left margin)		.00	.25	.04	02	08	02	10	10
Juconsistent date position	0 = not present, $1 = present$ (i.e., dates are positioned inconsistently, e.g., sometimes on the		.07	50	.05	15	.07	13	- 06	- 01
meonsistent date position	right sometimes on the left sometimes integrated in bullet points)		.+5	.50	.17	.15	.07	.15	00	01
Inconsistent chronology	0 = not present $1 = present$ (i.e. deviations/errors in the chronology e.g. a descending		26	44	01	02	- 03	- 02	- 01	- 03
meonsistent emonology	chronology is replaced by an ascending chronology (or vice versa))		.20		.01	.02	.05	.02	.01	.05
Professional layout	1 = not at all to 6 = completely (i.e. layout looks professional elaborated)	76	3 71	0.80	08	- 10	- 11	17	12	02
Tabular layout	1 = not at all to 6 = completely (i.e., rayout roots protestional, encounted)1 = not at all to 6 = completely (i.e. tabular presentation e.g. use of columns horizontal and	71	4 11	0.79	13	08	- 09	- 05	04	11
	vertical separators, short bullet points)	• / 1		0.79	.15	.00	.07	.02		
Harmonic layout	1 = not at all to 6 = completely (i.e., layout looks well-rounded, coherent)	.62	3.57	0.84	.00	07	03	15	.07	06
Consistent formatting	1 = not at all to 6 = completely (i.e., consistent use of headings, fonts, font sizes, bullet	.67	3.85	0.69	.09	24	18	05	.06	.12
C	points, highlighting, line spacing, color, etc.)									
Formatting errors	1 = not at all to 6 = completely (i.e., presence of formatting inaccuracies, e.g., bullet points	.60	2.52	0.89	01	.24	.04	.05	.04	14
-	inconsistently intended, non-parallel lines, overlapping graphics, inconsistent paragraph use)									
Page break within section	0 = not present; $1 = $ present (i.e., a section is continued on the second page)		.61	.49	06	09	11	05	.09	11
Page break within bullet	0 = not present; $1 = $ present (i.e., a bullet is continued on the second page)		.11	.31	01	.03	05	07	.17	01
Margin width	Average margin width in centimetres (measured separately for each side (the smallest		2.45	0.50	03	13	16	03	.05	.11
-	distance was used in each case) and then averaged)									
Space between sections	1 = very small to $6 = very large$.88	3.30	1.06	10	03	04	10	.06	.01
Line spacing	1 = very small to $6 = very large$.84	3.05	1.04	02	07	07	03	.04	.04
Fonts	Numerically counted (i.e., number of different font types)		1.17	0.38	06	01	05	.06	01	02

Cue	Measurement	ICC	M	SD	rc	r _E	ro	ľА	ľN	ľNar
Serious, usual fonts	Serious, usual fonts was assessed with two subjective cues $(1 = not at all to 6 = completely)$.77	0.00	0.91	.02	13	07	05	.13	.07
	assessing the seriousness of fonts and distinctiveness of fonts (recoded), respectively. The	/.80								
	two subjective cues were highly correlated ($r = .65$ [.54; .74], $t(138) = 10.06$, $p < .001$), and									
	thus, z-scaled and aggregated.									
Font without serif	0 = not present; 1 = present		.73	.45	.16	.07	.06	02	08	.01
Font size	Numerically counted (i.e., number of different font sizes)		3.38	1.20	02	.00	.03	09	.05	10
Font size headers	1 = very small to $6 = very large$.81	3.28	1.14	09	03	.12	.03	.13	10
Font size text	1 = very small to $6 = very large$.80	3.11	1.17	01	.01	.00	12	02	.06
Appropriate highlighting	1 = <i>not at all</i> to 6 = <i>completely</i> (i.e., highlighting is used appropriately, e.g., to emphasize/ structure information, facilitate the reading flow)	.63	3.34	0.99	01	08	08	07	.09	.04
Italicized words	Number of italicized words divided by total number of words		.03	.08	.03	02	.06	03	10	.03
Underlined words	Number of underlined words divided by total number of words		.00	.01	.03	15	18	01	.07	.02
Capitalized words	Number of words with only capitalized letters divided by total number of words		.02	.04	.14	08	.00	01	08	03
Number of symbols	Numerically counted (i.e., number of symbols, pictograms, scales, diagrams, logos, etc.)		0.79	2.31	.02	.20	.17	.04	14	.09
Appropriate use of color	1 = not at all to 6 = completely (i.e., color is used appropriately, e.g., to emphasize/structure	.62	3.49	0.94	18	11	07	11	.04	13
	information, to facilitate the reading flow)									
Number of words	Numerically counted (resumés were standardized (e.g., standardizing abbreviations, dates,		303	101	.02	.04	.18	.06	05	.03
	words with hyphens) and the number of words was counted by (a) an online-tool (Zeichen									
	zählen & Wörter zählen, 2019) and (b) the built-in Microsoft Word-function "Word Count"									
	(Microsoft Word, 2022). Both results were aggregated to a single score.									
	Education									
Comprehensive/secondary school	10 = not present; 1 = present		.08	.27	06	.07	.05	.00	17	.06
Business focus on school	0 = not present; 1 = present (e.g., high school with business focus, business related school subjects)		.13	.33	.12	06	.04	.02	.00	.01
Science school subjects	Number of science related high school subjects (e.g., mathematics, physics, chemistry, biology) divided by total number of high school subjects		.07	.18	.14	.00	08	15	06	.09
Humanities school subjects	Number of humanities related high school subjects (e.g., history, politics, religion) divided by total number of high school subjects	,	.06	.16	.10	17	06	16	03	.02
Language school subjects	Number of language related high school subjects (e.g., German, English, French) divided by total number of high school subjects		.07	.17	03	17	.05	01	.08	11
Stays abroad during school	Numerically counted		0.32	0.69	11	10	08	.23	- 01	- 07
Mean duration stays abroad	Total duration of stays abroad during high school in days divided by total number of stays		27	76	.11	06	- 05	.19	- 11	18
during school	abroad during high school		_ /	10	.05			•=>		
Mean duration academic gaps	Total duration of academic gaps in days divided by total number of academic gaps		346	347	07	.02	.02	11	.07	02
Study programs at technical/dual colleges	Numerically counted		0.26	0.51	06	.04	.07	.04	.01	06
Duration bachelor studies	Duration of the main bachelor study program in days		1220	237	09	.08	.08	.01	02	.09
Business administration studies	Numerically counted (i.e., number of business administration or related study programs)		0.99	0.79	.12	.06	02	.12	09	13

	Cue	Measurement	ICC	М	SD	rc	rE	ro	rА	ľN	ľNar
	Economics studies	Numerically counted (i.e., number of economics or related study programs)		0.22	0.57	10	04	01	.05	07	09
	Business and economics studies	Numerically counted (i.e., number of business and economics or related study programs)		0.18	0.46	.06	.12	06	.04	.14	.01
	Neighbouring disciplines	Numerically counted (i.e., number of business and economics neighbouring disciplines (e.g.,		0.18	0.42	03	.03	.05	17	.06	.09
		business education, informatics, psychology) as study programs)									
	Study focusses on finance	Numerically counted (i.e., number of focusses on finance or related subjects in study programs)		0.39	0.73	.16	.11	.01	14	08	.15
	Study focusses on controlling	Numerically counted (i.e., number of focusses on controlling or related subjects in study programs)		0.06	0.25	10	.03	01	.13	.07	04
	Study focusses on logistics	Numerically counted (i.e., number of focusses on logistics or related subjects in study programs)		0.07	0.26	.00	.07	12	08	.06	03
	Study focusses on economics	Numerically counted (i.e., number of focusses on economics or related subjects in study programs)		0.14	0.35	.11	.03	15	05	07	.00
	Study focusses on informatics	Numerically counted (i.e., number of focusses on informatics or related subjects in study programs)		0.13	0.33	.11	.02	.04	.05	02	17
	Study focuses on neighbouring	Numerically counted (i.e., number of focusses on business and economics neighbouring disciplines (e.g., statistics, psychology) in study programs)		0.08	0.27	.13	04	01	06	.04	15
	Theses topics	Numerically counted		0 47	0.67	- 06	- 06	12	- 06	03	08
	Theses with companies	Numerically counted (i.e. number of theses conducted in cooperation with companies)		0.08	0.07	- 09	- 07	- 05	- 06	.00	- 13
60	Bachelor thesis presented with mark	0 = not present; 1 = present		.16	.37	04	07	.07	04	06	07
	Semesters abroad	Numerically counted (i.e., number of semesters abroad at university)		0.76	0.83	.00	02	.06	.16	.00	.02
		Professional experiences									
	Apprenticeships	Numerically counted (including completed, aspired, and discontinued apprenticeships)		0.22	0.43	.10	.14	.08	01	14	.06
	Work and travel/au pair	Numerically counted		0.09	0.28	06	04	08	16	.10	.01
	Internships	Number of internships divided by total number of professional positions (internships plus jobs)		.46	.28	05	15	11	04	02	.02
	Internships/jobs relevant for	Number of internships/jobs relevant for the advertised trainee position divided by total		.76	.26	05	07	.03	14	21	.07
	position	number of internships/jobs									
	Internships/jobs in research	Number of internships/jobs in the field of research divided by total number of internships/jobs		.15	.22	.05	.02	.01	.02	12	19
	Internships/jobs in consulting	Number of internships/jobs at business consultancies divided by total number of internships/jobs		.06	.13	06	01	.04	.06	11	07
	Internships/jobs abroad	Number of internships/jobs abroad divided by total number of internships/jobs		.10	.17	03	13	.09	01	07	.10
	Inconsistent descriptions	0 = not present; $1 = $ present (i.e., descriptions of internships/jobs sometimes provided,		.29	.46	.08	.02	05	.14	.07	33
	internships/jobs	sometimes not provided)									
	Detailed descriptions	Detailed descriptions (i.e., descriptions of internships and jobs are extensive and detailed)	.93	0.01	0.91	06	01	.07	09	.05	.08
	internships/jobs	was assessed with two subjective cues $(1 = not at all to 6 = completely)$ assessing the level of	i /.93								

Cue	Measurement	ICC	М	SD	rc	rE	ro	rА	ľN	<i>I</i> 'Nar
	detail of descriptions separately for internships and jobs. The two cues ($r = .52$ [.37; .64],									
	t(108) = 6.29, p < .001) were z-scaled and aggregated.									
	Language skills									
Business languages	Number of languages most relevant in business contexts (English, Chinese, Japanese) divided by total number of languages	1	.51	.24	.10	02	07	07	01	.01
Business English	Numerically counted (i.e., number of references to specific knowledge in Business English)		0.11	0.31	01	.15	04	.13	.01	07
English level	1 = <i>poor</i> to 6 = <i>excellent</i> (i.e., high level of English skills is indicated, e.g., high language test scores, advanced level according to Common European Frame of Reference (CEFR), "business fluent")	.86	3.87	1.11	01	.00	03	.00	.09	.01
English TOEFL	0 = not present; $1 = $ present (i.e., Test of English as a Foreign Language (TOEFL)-score)		.24	.43	.01	.01	01	.00	.02	03
English CEFR	0 = not present; $1 = $ present (i.e., English level reported following the CEFR)		.31	.46	.00	.02	02	.08	.12	13
Language tests	Numerically counted		0.51	0.79	.00	.07	.04	.05	.02	04
Language trainings	Number of language courses divided by total number of trainings		.10	.29	.09	.04	03	.00	.01	.03
	Software skills									
Substantial software skills	Number of substantial software skills (excluding basic, trivial skills, e.g., operating systems such as Windows, MacOS, mail programs) divided by total number of software skills		.97	.10	.02	.09	.12	.06	02	03
Mathematical software skills	Number of mathematical software skills (e.g., Matlab, R, SPSS) divided by total number of software skills		.12	.18	.14	03	06	08	.06	.05
Webpage software skills	Number of software skills to maintain webpages (e.g., Java, HTML, WordPress) divided by total number of software skills		.06	.12	08	.13	.04	07	05	01
IT trainings	Number of IT courses divided by total number of trainings		.05	.22	.20	.08	03	.23	05	17
	Scholarships									
German Academic Scholarship Foundation	0 = not present; $1 = $ present		.07	.26	.05	.04	.15	.06	20	06
Germany Scholarship	0 = not present; $1 = $ present		.09	.29	06	08	.00	22	01	.14
Non-financial scholarships	Number of non-financial scholarships (e.g., online scholarships (e.g., e-fellows), talent networks of renowned companies (e.g., McKinsey First Hand Program)) divided by total number of scholarships		.10	.27	.11	11	16	.04	04	.02
Scholarships abroad	Number of scholarships to finance stays abroad (e.g., Erasmus, PROMOS) divided by total number of scholarships		.15	.33	08	.07	.07	.07	.00	02
Erasmus	0 = not present; 1 = present		.09	.28	17	.00	04	.09	.05	.03
PROMOS	0 = not present; 1 = present		.06	.25	.16	.07	.05	03	06	.02
	Extracurricular activities (EAs) and hobbies									
Political EAs	Number of EAs in political contexts (e.g., political parties, political university groups, non-governmental organizations) divided by total number of EAs		.04	.12	11	.07	.05	01	.01	01
Religious EAs	Number of EAs in religious contexts (e.g., church communities, religiously oriented associations) divided by total number of EAs		.04	.12	11	.05	.14	.01	.05	05
EAs abroad	Number of EAs abroad divided by total number of EAs		.05	.13	.07	10	.00	.10	.00	06

Cue	Measurement	ICC	M	SD	ľC	r _E	ro	ľА	ľN	$r_{\rm Nar}$
Political/historical hobbies	Number of hobbies related to politics, history, current/world affairs, etc. divided by total		.01	.04	04	.00	.05	.08	15	.03
	number of hobbies									
	Other									
Professional licenses/	Numerically counted (e.g., Kaufmann International Certificate, DIN-certifications)		0.11	0.38	03	.15	01	02	.05	.04
certifications										
Driver's license	0 = not present; $1 = $ present		.14	.35	05	.10	.01	22	.06	.12
Academic/professional trainings	Number of academic/professional trainings (workshops, voluntary seminars, etc. at the		.23	.40	19	.02	.19	.05	01	.04
	university/job; no language courses, no IT courses) divided by total number of trainings									
Quality of leadership experience	s1 = poor to 6 = excellent (i.e., various, enduring, and relevant leadership experiences)	.84	3.23	1.38	10	.10	.11	08	04	.04
Note. ICC = ICC $(3, k)$. C = cons	scientiousness; E = extraversion; O = openness; A = agreeableness; N = neuroticism; Nar = n	arcissis	m. EA	$A_{S} = 0$	extrac	urric	ular a	ctivit	ies.	

Correlations in bold are significant at the $p \le .05$ level.

Appendix 2.1.B

We computed the elastic nets (Zou & Hastie, 2005) using the respective theoretically derived cues (plus gender, 0/1 = female/male, and age as controls) as features to predict the big five traits and narcissism, respectively. Elastic nets optimize the predictive performance by regularizing features' regression coefficients, that is, applying a penalization factor λ . This vields parsimonious models that only contain features adding predictive power and prevents overfitting to the data. We separated hyperparameter tuning and computing prediction accuracy by implementing a nested cross-validation approach (10 x 10 nested resampling; Cawley & Talbot, 2010; Varma & Simon, 2006; see also Stachl et al., 2020). The inner loop consisted of a 10-fold cross-validation for preprocessing and hyperparameter tuning (Kohavi, 1995). Preprocessing comprised three steps. (a) We imputed missing values using the missForest package (version 1.5; Stekhoven, 2022; see also Stekhoven & Bühlmann, 2012). (b) We winsorized extreme values to reduce their disproportionate influence (see Hastie et al., 2009). (c) We z-standardized features and the target output. For hyperparameter tuning, we tested 100 λ and selected the λ that minimized the MSE of the predicted from the observed values. We saved the best performing model of the 10-fold cross-validation for the evaluation on the test data in the outer loop. As measures of feature importance, we averaged the regression coefficients across the models evaluated in the ten outer folds.

Table 2.1.B1

	Co	onscien	tiousne	ss		Extrav	resion			Oper	nness			Agreea	bleness	3		Neuro	ticism			Narci	ssism	
	Elast	ic net	Base	eline	Elast	ic net	Base	eline	Elast	ic net	Base	eline	Elast	ic net	Base	eline	Elast	ic net	Base	eline	Elast	ic net	Base	eline
	М	SD	M	SD	M	SD	M	SD	M	SD	M	SD	M	SD	M	SD	M	SD	M	SD	M	SD	M	SD
λ_{Min}	0.21	0.14			0.11	0.11			0.15	0.13			0.17	0.05			0.12	0.04			0.12	0.03		
r	.16	.22			.16	.23			.23	.21			.28	.23			.26	.23			.35	.28		
R^2	.06	.05			.07	.05			.11	.08			.06	.04			.09	.04			.13	.11		
$R^2_{ m Adj.}$	01	.02			.02	.04			.03	.07			.01	.03			.05	.04			.07	.11		
RMSE	0.96	0.05	0.96	0.00	0.96	0.07	0.96	0.00	0.96	0.07	0.96	0.00	0.93	0.05	0.96	0.00	0.94	0.07	0.96	0.00	0.92	0.12	0.96	0.00
MSE	0.93	0.09	0.93	0.09	0.92	0.13	0.93	0.00	0.92	0.13	0.93	0.00	0.88	0.10	0.93	0.00	0.88	0.12	0.93	0.01	0.86	0.23	0.93	0.00
MAE	0.79	0.06	0.79	0.04	0.81	0.08	0.81	0.05	0.77	0.07	0.79	0.04	0.77	0.05	0.79	0.03	0.74	0.05	0.78	0.03	0.76	0.11	0.81	0.03

Hyperparameter and Performance Estimates of Nested Cross-Validated Elastic Nets

Note. N = 141. Intercept-only model (mean) served as baseline model.

Table 2.1.B2

Cue	Вм	BSD	CVFI
Conscientiousness	- 114	- 52	
Intercept	0.00	0.00	10
Gender $(0/1 = \text{female/male})$	0.01	0.03	1
Age	-0.03	0.02	8
Page numbers	0.01	0.02	4
Tidy information presentation	0.06	0.06	6
Subordinate sections	0.02	0.03	5
Internships and jobs separated	0.05	0.05	8
Study focusses	0.01	0.02	3
Descriptions internships/jobs	0.00	0.00	1
Primary school	0.02	0.04	5
School subjects	0.02	0.03	4
Hobbies	0.05	0.03	8
Grammar/spelling errors	0.00	0.00	0
Years on secondary school	-0.05	0.04	7
Studies above standard period	-0.01	0.02	3
Average marks	-0.05	0.04	8
Internships/jobs	0.07	0.05	8
Scholarships	0.00	0.00	0
Academic extracurricular activities (EAs)	0.08	0.05	8
Extraversion			
Intercept	0.00	0.00	10
Gender $(0/1 = \text{female/male})$	0.00	0.00	0
Age	0.03	0.03	8
Links to online networks	0.12	0.05	9
Appealing look	0.10	0.05	9
Bold words	0.05	0.03	8
Colors	0.05	0.03	9
Study focusses on management	0.06	0.03	8
Leadership positions in EAs	0.09	0.05	9
Team sport hobbies	-0.08	0.04	8
Openness	0.00	0.00	10
Intercept $C_{\text{res}} = c_{\text{res}} c_{res$	0.00	0.00	10
Gender $(0/1 = \text{female/male})$	0.08	0.05	8
Age	0.00	0.00	0
Distinctive look	0.06	0.04	8
lypes of bullets	0.00	0.00	0
Fonts with and without serifs	0.00	0.01	3
Flow text	0.09	0.06	8
Experience before education section	0.03	0.03	/
Vocational high school	0.09	0.06	8
Extraordinary hobbies	0.01	0.02	6
Study focusses on marketing	0.00	0.01	1
Study focusses on accounting/taxation	-0.03	0.03	/
Graphic software skills	0.03	0.03	8
Creative hobbies	0.12	0.07	8
Mean duration internships/jobs	-0.07	0.05	8
Sonware skills	0.02	0.02	8
Languages	0.09	0.06	8
Latin	-0.06	0.04	8
Trainings	0.08	0.05	8
Financial scholarships	0.03	0.02	8
Agreeableness	0.00	0.00	10
$\frac{1}{1} \frac{1}{1} \frac{1}$	0.00	0.00	10
$\Delta \alpha e$	-0.1/	0.05	10
ALL	0.00	0.01	1

Regression Coefficients of Nested Cross-Validated Elastic Nets Predicting Personality Traits

CHAPTER 2: PERSONALITY PREDICTION FROM APPLICANT INFORMATION

Cue	β_M	β _{SD}	CV _{FI}
Interpersonal skills	0.00	0.00	0
Teams	-0.04	0.04	7
EAs	0.00	0.00	0
Mean duration EAs	0.08	0.04	9
Tutoring	0.02	0.02	9
Stays abroad	0.07	0.02	10
Mean duration stays abroad	0.06	0.03	9
International orientation of studies	0.00	0.01	3
Travel hobbies	0.01	0.02	5
Intercultural skills	0.02	0.02	5
Neuroticism			
Intercept	0.00	0.00	10
Gender $(0/1 = \text{female/male})$	-0.20	0.04	10
Age	0.04	0.03	8
Discontinued studies	0.04	0.03	8
Academic gaps	0.01	0.02	3
Constructive use of gaps	0.00	0.00	0
Reputation of universities	-0.12	0.03	10
Reputation of employers	-0.05	0.02	10
Sport EAs	-0.05	0.03	9
Sport hobbies	0.00	0.00	1
Recreational sport hobbies	0.09	0.05	9
Narcissism			
Intercept	0.00	0.00	10
Gender $(0/1 = \text{female/male})$	0.19	0.03	10
Age	-0.01	0.03	1
Prominent name position	0.00	0.01	2
Own name	-0.02	0.04	2
Academic comparison	0.03	0.03	7
Accomplishments with professional experiences	0.00	0.00	1
Awards	0.02	0.02	9
Top tier business consultancies/auditing firms	0.15	0.03	10
Altruistic EAs	-0.09	0.03	10
Career-oriented EAs	0.08	0.02	10
Cognitive hobbies	0.05	0.03	9
Business hobbies	0.00	0.00	2
Pleasure hobbies	-0.08	0.03	10
Social hobbies	-0.06	0.04	10

Note. N = 141. $CV_{FI} = cross-validation fold incidence, which refers to the number of outer folds the regression coefficient <math>\beta$ of the cue was \neq zero. EAs = extracurricular activities. All values on z-scale.

Appendix 2.1.C

Table 2.1.C

Intercorrelations Between All Personality Traits Considered in the Main Analyses, Age, Gender, and All Resumé Cues of the Main and

Supplemental Analyses

			1.	2.	3.	4.	5.	6.	7.	8.	9.	10.	11.	12.	13.	14.	15.	16.	17.	18.	19.	20.	21.	22.	23.	24.	25.	26.	27.	28.	29. 30.
	1.	Conscientiousness	-	.19	05	.19	32	09	03	19	.08	.13	.10	.16	.08	.02	.12	.09	.15	.00	21	12	21	.20	.02	.21	.08	.12	.08	.10	.01 .00
	2.	Extraversion		-	.35	.16	36	.04	.01	.08	03	14	.02	03	.11	.01	.06	08	.09	.02	.08	.12	.22	01	.05	.03	.20	.17	.14	.16	.10 .12
	3.	Openness			-	.10	27	.16	.14	.08	01	13	.06	13	08	.02	.01	.00	.10	.12	.10	.04	.08	10	.05	04	.09	.08	.07	.09	.0104
	4.	Agreeableness				-	21	40	27	01	.03	13	.18	.03	13	09	.15	11	.15	.06	04	.07	.13	.12	05	.04	.08	06	03 -	.07	.11 .05
	5.	Neoroticism					-	.05	29	.09	.07	.14	.00	04	.08	.06	06	04	.03	02	.00	02	01	.13	07	.00	16	01	13	.00	.0006
	6.	Narcissism						-	.29	06	01	.03	12	06	.01	02	02	.03	.04	.11	02	08	.01	18	.05	.04	.03	01	.08	.11 •	.1502
	7.	Gender $(0/1 =$							-	.05	.03	.12	17	11	08	.08	07	.12	02	01	.08	02	.15	22	.05	15	.08	02	.13 -	.05 -	.15 .00
		female/male)																													
	8.	Age								-	.01	05	.24	19	.11	.10	11	24	.08	06	.40	.35	.43	.02	11	12	.11	.02	13	.19	.0909
	9.	Page numbers									-	05	.04	.05	.06	.02	.07	.00	.09	.00	09	.07	01	.01	21	03	03	.04	01	.00 ·	.01 .02
L	10.	Tidy information										-	17	21	.13	.19	18	.10	03	15	.07	11	03	10	05	.09	16	.44	.00	.00	.05 .07
6		presentation																													
	11.	Subordinate											-	.19	03	04	.07	11	.15	04	.01	.07	02	.16	.09	.07	01	08	16 -	.07	.0908
		sections																													
	12.	Internships/jobs												-	14	17	.15	05	01	01	08	06	07	.11	11	01	02	08	.07 -	.07 -	.12 .01
		separated																													
	13.	Study focusses													-	.18	16	.10	.03	10	05	.21	02	.10	07	07	03	.16	.12	.04	.37 .11
	14.	Descriptions														-	15	.06	.03	.04	.16	.02	.04	.01	.03	.04	.01	.16	.06	.03	.1501
		internships/jobs																													
	15.	Primary school															-	06	.05	.09	.02	.00	.21	.17	12	.05	.08	19	01 -	.04 -	0609
	16.	School subjects																-	02	.03	02	09	08	07	.09	03	05	01	.16 -	.14 -	.07 .14
	17.	Hobbies																	-	.21	.14	06	08	.21	03	06	.02	.02	03	.09	.05 .05
	18.	Grammar/spelling																		-	12	17	.06	.20	11	.00	.14	.07	.02	.07 -	1306
		errors																													
	19.	Years on secondary																			-	.10	.30	10	.03	08	.23	06	07	.21 -	.13 .08
		school																													

		1.	2.	3.	4.	5.	6.	7.	8.	9.	10.	11.	12.	13.	14.	15.	16.	17.	18.	19.	20.	21.	22.	23.	24.	25.	26.	27.	28.	29.	30.
20.	Studies above standard period																				-	.32	.02	13	04	07	09	06	.10	.12 -	.08
21.	Average marks																					-	.01	35	23	06	.05	07	.08	03 -	09
22.	Internships/jobs																						-	16	.07	12	.05	.01	.11	.07 -	03
23.	Scholarships																							-	.17	.02	16	03	15	.09	.13
24.	Academic																								-	10	.09	03	08	05	.14
	extracurricular																														
	activities (EAs)																														
25.	Links to online																									-	05	.13	.34	03 -	05
	networks																														
26.	Appealing look																										-	.14	.01	.02	.02
27.	Bold words																											-	.02	.02	.09
28.	Colors																												-	.17 -	03
29.	Study focusses on																														01
	management																														
30.	Leadership																														-
	positions in EAs																														
31.	Team sport hobbies	04	14	06	.01	.05	04	.13	02	.11	.10	.11	.05	.08	13	01	04	.19	03	.06	.00	04	.08	.01	05	15	04	06	10	.03	.22
32.	Distinctive look	02	.05	.14	.04	07	11	11	.08	.06	06	05	07	.08	.03	.04	.01	03	.07	.19	.00	.09	06	06	12	.27	.31	.27	.41	.12 -	02
33.	Types of bullets	.05	12	.04	14	.12	.16	.07	.10	.04	.01	.10	08	.16	.45	24	.11	.15	.19	.07	.04	05	02	.03	13	.10	.06	05	.14	.08 -	05
34.	Fonts with and	16	.12	.04	.05	.02	05	06	.13	.16	05	.18	04	03	07	.13	10	08	04	.16	02	01	06	.01	03	.10	04	08	04	.21 -	04
	without serifs																														
35.	Flow text	11	.10	.17	08	17	.05	.26	.20	10	08	14	11	.09	.09	10	.06	.05	.05	.24	.10	.04	04	.05	07	.13	.06	.04	.17	.04	.02
36.	Experience before	10	.08	.15	09	.04	.13	.05	.09	.06	14	03	06	.04	08	12	.03	.05	.12	13	03	02	13	06	23	.16	.01	.03	.05	03 -	.15
37	Vocational high	- 01	- 05	.19	- 03	- 04	- 01	09	.32	- 04	- 10	13	00	04	19	- 12	- 09	00	09	- 07	01	05	- 05	- 10	- 09	16	00	- 12	09	- 07 -	- 04
27.	school			•=>				,									.05		,						.09				.05		
38.	Extraordinary	05	.10	.12	.14	18	.13	.17	11	02	13	05	22	03	.04	01	.22	.08	.06	08	.18	.11	13	.05	.04	.16	01	.21	14	07	.10
20.	hobbies			•••=	••••			•1 /																							
39.	Study focusses on	02	.03	.07	.12	.03	.15	12	.08	12	05	.06	12	.19	06	02	03	.18	.08	02	.05	.00	.07	17	03	.09	.16	.06	.14	.24 -	04
	marketing						-																				-				
40.	Study focusses on	.07	05	13	01	.05	01	07	13	.08	.16	02	.01	.38	.06	05	.09	04	09	13	01	07	.04	05	11	15	.12	.13	08	04	.14
	accounting/taxation																														
41.	Graphic design	10	03	.13	04	02	.02	.00	03	07	16	.00	.06	15	12	10	.12	09	.09	.03	.00	01	.17	02	.06	.01	05	.03	.00	15	.07
	software skills			-							-			-																-	
42.	Creative hobbies	.03	.03	.19	.17	02	04	02	03	.08	20	.10	.08	06	.10	.00	01	.23	.05	10	02	11	.15	02	.07	.07	05	.05	04	11	.00
43.	Mean duration	.07	.08	12	10	.03	04	09	.31	.06	04	.10	.11	.14	08	.00	12	09	11	07	.12	.13	.09	14	.08	11	.07	.11	.05	.11	.06
	internships/jobs																														

		1.	2.	3.	4.	5.	6.	7.	8.	9.	10.	11.	12.	13.	14.	15.	16.	17.	18.	19.	20.	21.	22.	23.	24.	25.	26.	27.	28.	29.	30.
44.	Software skills	12	13	.15	09	.15	02	.02	.06	.10	.04	.07	08	.12	01	20	14	04	03	.04	.11	09	.05	11	09	.01	.07	.06	.00	.02	18
45.	Languages	08	.11	.16	.16	.18	01	24	.07	.03	23	.19	04	05	.00	.00	02	.12	.06	.04	.09	10	.10	.09	.10	.12	15	.06	.04	.21	.00
46.	Latin	.04	01	16	.14	02	13	03	25	05	.05	07	03	10	10	.10	.06	07	.04	10	.00	02	.08	.01	.15	01	.07	.10	14	09	06
47.	Trainings	03	.07	.15	.10	.03	02	08	.00	.00	11	.07	.12	03	12	.23	15	01	.09	07	.03	.05	.16	07	.05	01	.02	08	.02	.04	06
48.	Financial	.01	04	.13	11	11	.03	.05	05	04	07	.22	.07	06	11	06	01	04	09	.01	10	38	.00	.42	.16	.04	04	08	08	04	.04
	scholarships																														
49.	Interpersonal skills	.05	.00	.08	.04	.03	.01	11	.11	.11	15	01	14	.18	.12	.04	01	08	02	10	.13	15	06	.09	.12	.23	17	01	.22	.28	04
50.	Teams	01	06	.03	11	.00	04	01	.02	.00	14	.01	07	.07	.13	21	01	.09	.06	11	.01	20	.07	02	.01	.13	07	.04	.08	.02	.15
51.	EAs	.01	01	.06	.01	09	02	.05	.03	.05	17	.17	.08	19	01	07	.06	08	07	10	.09	21	.04	.29	.35	.04	12	.13	05	01	.14
52.	Mean duration EAs	02	04	05	.17	07	09	.03	.14	.07	10	.05	.13	17	12	.18	.14	01	11	.20	.16	.09	07	.13	.01	04	20	.00	12	14	.27
53.	Tutoring	.13	.02	.15	.11	13	.01	.05	14	.00	.01	.02	09	03	02	.11	05	.07	.00	14	13	13	.21	.10	.23	.04	06	.14	.04	.11	.12
54.	Stays abroad	.00	.07	.11	.21	04	08	17	03	06	19	.12	05	06	.18	.12	.03	.17	.24	.08	.02	12	.19	.35	.21	.02	15	.01	09	.02	.04
55.	Mean duration	12	.05	.05	.18	08	09	01	.10	.08	.01	.07	20	05	.20	.02	01	04	.07	.16	.12	.11	.04	.19	03	.04	.02	.01	02	.10	.05
	stays abroad																														
56.	International	.06	07	10	.10	11	01	03	02	04	06	06	.05	16	.18	04	.09	.02	.14	.12	11	03	.05	.03	.00	.28	.03	.05	04	06	.06
	orientation of																														
	studies																														
57.	Travel hobbies	.02	.12	.05	.10	01	03	08	.13	06	04	.10	07	.13	.09	13	13	.42	.06	.22	.06	.01	.01	.07	.02	07	.09	19	02	.19	01
58.	Intercultural skills	13	.01	03	.12	02	06	.02	.25	17	10	.16	06	.07	.07	04	09	.12	.05	.15	.14	.06	.01	.09	01	.15	02	.00	.07	.19	11
59.	Discontinued	07	06	12	08	.14	12	04	.01	.16	01	.01	.00	10	.08	05	.01	.15	.02	.10	12	10	13	.00	.12	.08	01	07	07	.00	04
	studies																														
60.	Academic gaps	03	05	.03	01	.04	04	.05	.28	.07	.08	.10	07	.09	.14	.09	01	.17	.05	.04	.05	.20	.04	09	.00	01	01	02	.06	.03	30
61.	Constructive use of	02	.00	03	.06	05	.08	.06	.01	.01	.11	.06	08	.28	08	06	.01	.05	02	01	.00	03	.02	.06	20	.13	11	.01	.03	.09	11
	gaps																														
62.	Reputation of	.13	.05	.11	.02	23	.16	.10	01	.05	06	09	.24	.04	05	02	.00	.05	.11	.13	.09	01	.01	09	.06	.05	.09	.20	.06	11	.06
	universities																														
63.	Reputation of	01	.04	.06	07	15	.08	.10	01	.01	.01	.06	.02	.19	.18	25	.08	12	11	01	.05	13	08	.32	03	11	.08	04	10	04	.09
	employers																														
64.	Sport EAs	.06	.04	16	.07	12	10	.00	.00	.01	.10	08	03	.12	.00	06	.16	.20	.04	02	03	.02	.04	06	22	01	.08	.14	02	.02	.37
65.	Sport hobbies	.08	06	10	05	.07	04	02	.01	.17	.14	.07	08	.02	05	04	.11	.36	.00	.11	14	03	.12	09	04	13	02	11	04	.00	.12
66.	Recreational sport	.13	.08	11	08	.16	.06	.04	.03	.15	.15	04	03	.02	.00	09	.03	.42	.04	.12	21	05	.12	06	07	06	.15	05	.16	.10	.04
	hobbies																														
67.	Prominent name	01	.05	.08	04	04	.05	.00	06	01	.12	15	15	16	.08	01	01	.05	01	.17	07	07	06	.16	.14	.10	.11	.10	06	.06	.14
	position																														
68.	Own name	.09	.11	07	11	.00	07	04	08	.14	08	01	.06	.05	01	03	.06	.02	15	.09	.01	01	.01	06	02	08	.02	.06	.03	.00	.04
69.	Academic	07	03	.11	08	.00	.16	04	06	02	12	.13	.02	.02	.06	.12	.22	05	05	.05	06	13	07	.20	.08	.09	14	02	13	05	.01
	comparison																														

			1.	2.	3.	4.	5.	6.	7.	8.	9.	10.	11.	12.	13.	14.	15.	16.	17.	18.	19.	20.	21.	22.	23.	24.	25.	26.	27.	28.	29.	30.
	70.	Accomplishments with professional	.04	04	.13	.01	10	.08	.11	03	01	05	04	.08	.08	.14	.00	02	.09	.12	11	03	07	.00	.02	01	07	01	.08	06	06	.06
		experiences																														
	71.	Awards	.00	06	.04	10	11	.10	.12	26	.00	09	.06	.08	07	11	09	.15	.08	15	02	13	36	09	.45	.01	.12	08	.08	.09	.02	.05
	72.	Top tier business consultancies/ auditing firms	.03	.01	02	18	08	.29	.13	03	02	.07	.13	02	.07	.15	04	.03	.01	.02	.09	03	.04	05	.17	.00	11	03	14	05	07	.02
	73	Altruistic EAs	05	- 14	- 05	00	- 07	- 15	12	14	11	- 11	12	06	- 15	02	05	- 01	- 01	- 19	05	20	05	- 15	- 07	- 09	05	- 13	- 12	04	00	- 15
	74	Career-oriented	.00	- 05	00	- 11	- 07	23	06	- 17	- 05	07	- 03	.00	- 12	.02	.05	- 07	01	23	- 10	- 05	- 17	05	05	- 03	11	04	02	- 03	- 07	- 12
	/ 4.	EAs	.00	.05	.00	.11	.07	.20	.00	-•17	.05	.07	.05	.07	.12	.00	.04	.07	.01	.20	.10	.05	-•17	.05	.05	.05	.11	.04	.02	.05	.07	.12
	75.	Cognitive hobbies	.10	05	.08	.06	.07	.14	.02	11	.00	02	.05	.03	20	01	.05	.18	.26	02	05	.04	10	01	.06	.00	.08	09	05	.01	12	.02
	76.	Business hobbies	.02	.11	.10	.00	17	01	.20	09	12	.12	.01	12	.03	01	.12	.04	.27	03	03	14	.05	16	.10	11	.09	.01	.08	02	.15	.00
	77.	Pleasure hobbies	.07	.07	.08	04	.05	19	07	.17	.00	.00	.17	03	.00	.12	02	11	.19	.06	03	13	08	.08	02	07	.03	05	14	.06	.25	02
	78.	Social hobbies	.02	.04	02	.11	.05	13	07	03	04	09	.00	.11	.00	.02	.07	.03	.22	.06	.06	.03	02	.15	.01	16	02	19	12	.17	.17	01
	79.	Curriculum vitae as	.05	.10	.00	.08	.02	.04	.02	.13	.11	.10	.13	02	.06	.00	.13	10	.04	05	.02	.15	.19	.06	12	17	06	04	20	.04	.08	12
		header								-	_						-					-			_							
	80.	Foot- and/or	01	.06	.00	.00	.02	.07	03	04	.13	12	.17	.01	.10	02	11	.00	.10	.01	.13	05	.00	.03	.10	.01	.01	.03	.04	.10	.10	.10
. 1		headnote																														
9	81.	Name and address	.05	.02	.10	.09	.03	01	04	07	07	.03	05	07	05	.12	.07	.04	.09	.16	.01	11	09	.13	.09	.18	.08	.21	.09	02	.02	.07
		formatted																														
		differently																														
	82.	Academic degree	01	.02	15	.09	.08	12	15	.05	.00	19	.13	.02	07	22	.05	18	13	21	01	.10	.16	.04	13	02	13	28	50	05	13	.05
		and university not																														
		highlighted																														
	83.	Inconsistent date	.02	.14	.05	.08	02	.03	07	18	.02	10	.07	.06	08	01	.25	02	.19	.12	03	04	12	.23	.13	.15	.05	.03	05	.03	08	.00
		resolution																														
	84.	Dates right	.04	02	08	09	16	.08	.11	25	08	21	08	.17	15	.14	09	.09	10	.10	04	26	19	.08	.22	.08	.15	09	.13	10	02	.12
	85.	Dates left	.03	.04	.09	02	.13	.10	.11	.25	.07	.37	.10	13	02	.04	.03	14	.17	04	.19	.07	.20	.00	09	06	10	.13	23	.06	05	.01
	86.	Inconsistent date	.14	.15	.07	.13	06	01	01	03	.11	02	.10	02	04	.08	.02	.03	.17	.02	.04	02	11	.22	.05	.17	.04	.04	21	.06	.04	.19
		position																														
	87.	Inconsistent	.01	.02	03	02	01	03	01	04	03	04	01	.13	.05	16	04	02	.08	06	01	.09	12	.20	.00	.21	04	.03	09	14	12	.20
		chronology																														
	88.	Professional layout	.08	10	11	17	.12	.02	.07	05	.00	.56	09	17	.21	.27	24	.11	.03	15	14	05	12	.04	.11	.24	30	.53	.08	25	.07	.11
	89.	Tabular layout	.13	.08	09	05	.04	.11	.08	.00	.00	.29	.08	.02	01	04	14	04	.04	02	10	.03	.11	11	.00	.10	13	.18	.04	.02	05	.09
	90.	Harmonic layout	.00	07	03	15	.07	06	.00	.01	01	.58	13	19	.21	.19	11	.04	04	10	05	04	01	02	01	.14	22	.69	.07	16	.08	.03
	91.	Consistent	.09	24	18	05	.06	.12	.11	06	01	.45	12	07	.15	.06	19	.08	.01	22	07	04	18	01	.12	.10	20	.16	04	07	.03	.04
		formatting																														
	92.	Formatting errors	01	.24	.04	.05	.04	14	07	.16	01	34	.10	.03	.00	05	.06	20	09	.16	05	03	.17	.10	09	09	.23	01	.03	.16	.08	.00

2. 3.

1.

4. 5. 6. 7.

8.

		1.	2.	3.	4.	5.	6.	7.	8.	9.	10.	11.	12.	13.	14.	15.	16.	17.	18.	19.	20.	21.	22.	23.	24.	25.	26.	27.	28.	29.	30.
93	Page break within	06	09	11	05	.09	11	01	.05	.04	.16	13	11	.11	.28	10	.03	.11	.05	.09	.01	03	.08	01	.13	18	.07	.07	07	.08	.08
94	Page break within bullet	01	.03	05	07	.17	01	02	.03	.13	03	05	06	.00	.02	.03	06	.10	.15	.08	.14	.06	05	.00	.11	10	06	08	.01	06	.01
95	Margin width	03	13	16	03	.05	.11	04	11	.01	.18	12	.04	09	13	.16	06	29	04	01	05	.14	15	09	02	26	14	05	11	11	12
96	Space between sections	10	03	04	10	.06	.01	19	11	11	.06	15	.06	.02	15	.21	09	11	10	.18	06	.03	05	08	.13	04	.00	03	.00	.03	.03
97	Line spacing	02	07	07	03	.04	.04	.01	.05	03	.05	15	.12	.01	09	.10	04	.00	.14	.06	05	.09	.07	06	16	05	.11	.19	.07	04	.01
98	Fonts	06	01	05	.06	01	02	02	.12	.27	12	.11	.01	03	.06	.03	13	.01	05	.09	.06	09	.00	02	.04	.17	04	11	.06	.10	.01
99	Serious, usual fonts	.02	13	07	05	.13	.07	.13	.03	04	.12	.10	05	11	.02	17	03	.03	04	03	04	05	.10	07	01	18	10	20	06	11	02
10). Font without serif	.16	.07	.06	02	08	.01	.01	14	07	.14	13	.08	.17	.06	15	.02	.08	07	10	.06	03	09	06	.05	08	.14	.14	05	08	.00
10	1. Font size	02	.00	.03	09	.05	10	01	.04	.14	11	17	10	.13	.05	.06	.21	.06	.03	.02	01	.00	.01	.02	09	.07	.14	.10	.21	.12	10
10	2. Font size headers	09	03	.12	.03	.13	10	07	07	.08	.03	09	06	.06	12	01	.00	.01	.14	03	03	.08	06	18	18	.06	.19	.07	.27	.12	11
10	Font size text	01	.01	.00	12	02	.06	10	01	.03	.02	01	.04	11	04	.03	10	15	.10	20	01	.15	19	17	09	.07	.14	.03	.16	06	09
10	 Appropriate highlighting 	01	08	08	07	.09	.04	.01	22	.03	.54	22	15	.18	.27	27	.08	.01	04	18	22	13	03	02	.11	29	.50	.17	13	.12	.08
10	5. Italicized words	.03	02	.06	03	10	.03	.00	09	.01	06	.03	.05	13	.11	03	.07	03	.13	.12	07	14	11	.10	13	.14	06	05	.06	.04	.02
∞ 10	6. Underlined words	.03	15	18	01	.07	.02	13	.00	.08	15	06	08	.15	14	.24	01	15	.00	09	06	03	02	.05	.03	02	27	14	03	.09	.01
◦ 10	7. Capitalized words	.14	08	.00	01	08	03	.01	02	.14	03	04	01	.03	06	.30	.18	.06	05	.04	03	.07	05	09	04	.10	02	.18	.04	.05	.03
10	8. Number of symbols	.02	.20	.17	.04	14	.09	.02	.16	02	23	.04	.00	.15	.04	04	09	.07	.16	.29	.19	.13	.12	19	03	.35	.09	.09	.56	.05	.05
10	9. Appropriate use of color	18	11	07	11	.04	13	15	02	.01	.32	.05	01	.02	.02	23	.05	13	22	.10	04	.08	10	21	.07	33	.50	.07	24	.03	.08
11). Number of words	.02	.04	.18	.06	05	.03	.10	.04	.01	17	.09	10	.10	.37	18	.13	.24	.10	.04	.06	27	.25	.33	.14	.11	.01	.11	03	.06	.12
11	1. Comprehensive/ secondary school	06	.07	.05	.00	17	.06	.15	.09	04	03	.07	.14	09	23	01	14	06	.06	04	11	.14	03	07	16	.02	.08	.08	.00	.09	07
11	2. Business focus on school	.12	06	.04	.02	.00	.01	.04	.10	02	04	.04	01	.07	.00	.01	.32	.01	.07	06	05	06	02	07	09	.23	.01	.06	.10	09	.05
11	3. Science school subjects	.14	.00	08	15	06	.09	.09	24	05	.14	10	01	.00	02	08	.70	03	.02	.06	13	06	09	.05	.00	.04	.02	.25	10	16	.09
11	4. Humanities school subjects	.10	17	06	16	03	.02	.12	22	.00	.03	07	01	.05	.06	.01	.60	07	.07	03	07	19	14	.05	.04	.07	.01	.12	09	14	.06
11	5. Language school subjects	03	17	.05	01	.08	11	.06	18	.00	.10	08	08	.09	.11	07	.73	02	.14	03	17	04	.05	.03	09	11	03	.03	12	.01	.04
11	5. Stays abroad during school	.11	.10	.08	.23	01	07	27	21	07	16	.03	.08	03	05	.24	09	.31	.06	.00	06	10	.16	.16	.16	05	04	08	07	03	.05

	1.	2.	3.	4.	5.	6.	7.	8.	9.	10.	11.	12.	13.	14.	15.	16.	17.	18.	19.	20.	21.	22.	23.	24.	25.	26.	27.	28.	29.	30.
117. Mean duration stays abroad during	.09 g	.06	05	.19	11	18	21	08	04	13	.06	08	09	.02	.05	03	06	05	06	03	12	.07	.09	.01	05	02	13	08	.00	.05
school 118. Mean duration	07	.02	.02	11	.07	02	.06	.45	.02	.01	.16	16	.02	.01	.02	10	.07	.07	.12	01	.22	01	07	12	.12	09	12	.11	.01	24
academic gaps																														
119. Study programs at technical/dual colleges	06	.04	.07	.04	.01	06	14	.00	.11	17	.03	.20	.08	14	13	08	.04	01	03	.05	12	08	.00	.03	.08	.03	01	.00	.02	.02
120. Duration bachelor studies	09	.08	.08	.01	02	.09	.03	.39	.12	.04	05	06	.21	.09	.03	03	11	17	.16	.60	.26	.06	08	05	10	.10	04	.02	.02	.10
121. Business administration studies	.12	.06	02	.12	09	13	09	06	.05	.10	.03	.06	.16	.01	.18	08	.04	14	09	.01	09	.07	.04	.06	10	.03	01	01	.13	13
122 Economics studies	- 10	- 04	- 01	05	- 07	- 09	07	.21	- 01	- 08	03	- 03	24	02	- 05	- 10	- 10	- 01	.24	08	12	- 11	04	06	09	- 06	- 12	- 16	22	- 09
123. Business and economics studies	.06	.12	06	.04	.14	.01	02	.00	05	.14	.24	01	.25	05	.01	.00	.02	09	.03	.06	.03	.11	11	06	05	.10	.12	.12	.19	.20
124. Neighbouring disciplines	03	.03	.05	17	.06	.09	.01	.16	.07	14	10	01	02	01	04	02	06	.08	14	.07	.12	.00	13	05	.08	.00	06	.07	13	08
125. Study focusses on finance	.16	.11	.01	14	08	.15	.20	05	.02	.16	05	05	.48	.14	.04	.16	.12	06	.05	.04	04	02	03	.02	.04	.02	.18	02	17	.14
126. Study focusses on controlling	10	.03	01	.13	.07	04	12	.00	.06	05	.00	10	.37	.07	09	.12	.11	03	07	.08	.01	.01	.12	03	07	02	.11	08	.27	.03
127. Study focusses on logistics	.00	.07	12	08	.06	03	03	.09	03	07	01	.07	.17	19	10	09	03	.03	15	.09	.07	.03	07	11	.03	02	.00	05	08	01
128. Study focusses on economics	.11	.03	15	05	07	.00	.03	06	04	.12	01	.04	.25	.17	07	.00	.01	01	.17	.02	04	08	.14	.15	.05	.04	08	01	.02	07
129. Study focusses on informatics	.11	.02	.04	.05	02	17	.00	01	.03	.03	.03	08	.25	.00	13	.17	01	02	.00	.08	01	.15	03	09	02	.12	01	01	.01	02
130. Study focuses on neighbouring disciplines	.13	04	01	06	.04	15	12	04	.08	08	03	03	.37	.15	10	.04	01	02	09	.10	13	.08	.00	.05	.02	.15	13	08	.04	05
131. Theses topics	06	06	.12	06	.03	.08	.09	.18	07	09	.08	13	.20	.14	.00	03	.04	01	.13	.10	02	04	04	.13	.05	02	.00	01	.06	11
132. Theses with companies	09	07	05	06	.00	13	12	.08	16	.00	.21	.14	.19	04	10	04	02	10	11	.10	09	.03	.05	02	08	.01	01	08	.04	05
133. Bachelor thesis presented with mark	04	07	.07	04	06	07	.08	04	02	03	01	05	.17	.10	15	.17	04	.01	11	11	09	.03	.11	02	12	09	.10	08	.11	01
134. Semesters abroad	.00	02	.06	.16	.00	.02	03	.12	.10	12	.15	10	07	.24	09	06	.25	.19	.13	.13	03	.14	.20	.04	.05	12	.00	.06	.05	08

	1	2	3	1	5	6	7	8	0	10	11	12	12	14	15	16	17	18	10	20	21	22	23	24	25	26	27	28	20	30
135 Apprenticeshing	1.	2. 11	<u> </u>	4.	J. 14	0.	/. 10	0. 28	9. 02	03	06	12.	03	14.	13.	10.	17.	10.	<u>19.</u> 02	20.	1/	22.	23.	24. 26	<u> </u>	20.	<u>27.</u> 04	07	29.	06
135. Apprenticeships	.10	.14	.08	01	14	.00	.13	.20	02	.05	.00 20	09	.05	09	07	05	05	00	.02	.01	.14	23	.09	20	.10	.04	.04	.07	04	00
150. WOIK and travel/au	00	04	08	10	.10	.01	04	.09	11	.11	.20	.04	.01	02	02	05	04	.08	09	.11	04	•1 /	.01	.15	08	.15	.00	08	.07	08
137 Internshins	- 05	15	_ 11	- 04	- 02	02	10	- 16	07	08	03	00	- 12	20	00	00	06	03	12	- 14	- 06	04	11	- 06	- 04	- 07	- 24	05	05	08
137. Internships/jobs	05	15	11	04	02	.02	.10	10	.07	.00	.05	.09	12	.20	.09	.09	.00	05	.12	14	00	.04	10	00	04	07	24	05	.05	.00
relevant for	05	07	.05	14	21	.07	.09	.02	.14	.10	.07	08	.12	.10	-,1/	.00	01	02	.02	.01	15	11	.10	12	09	.10	08	04	04	.00
139 Internships/jobs in	05	02	01	02	- 12	- 19	- 11	02	01	19	02	09	04	- 01	- 15	03	- 09	- 09	- 12	08	- 15	08	05	10	- 06	00	00	- 07	10	06
research		.02	.01	.02	.12	•17		.02	.01	•17	.02	.07		.01	.10	.05	.07	.07	.12	.00	.10	.00	.00	.10	.00	.00	.00	.07	.10	.00
140. Internships/jobs in consulting	06	01	.04	.06	11	07	.07	08	01	.00	02	06	01	.17	.11	.07	.02	.05	01	.07	06	01	.04	04	.22	.03	10	.01	.04	13
141. Internships/jobs	03	13	.09	01	07	.10	.19	03	.16	06	07	07	11	.14	.01	.13	.14	.15	.02	14	08	.00	.12	.07	.03	07	01	04	.11	.13
abroad																														
142. Inconsistent	.08	.02	05	.14	.07	33	12	.06	.08	07	.16	05	.08	.34	02	01	.02	.07	.05	.09	02	.23	.08	.10	.07	.03	.03	.04	.18	02
descriptions internships/jobs																														
143. Detailed	06	01	.07	09	.05	.08	.15	.11	.00	.08	14	19	.22	.71	30	.11	.01	.02	.05	.11	05	04	.09	.09	.07	.10	.04	.01	.06	.00
descriptions internships/jobs																														
144. Business languages	.10	02	07	07	01	.01	.23	.00	.04	.26	12	.07	.12	.07	15	03	04	02	03	05	.16	11	15	12	10	.15	.05	01	20	04
145. Business English	01	.15	04	.13	.01	07	20	12	.07	02	02	.01	.05	15	04	03	04	08	17	.14	11	06	.14	07	01	01	08	.10	.09	01
146. English level	01	.00	03	.00	.09	.01	15	13	02	.11	.08	09	.08	.17	18	02	.08	.09	.12	02	18	.12	.14	.01	.01	.08	.00	02	.13	.06
147. English TOEFL	.01	.01	01	.00	.02	03	.00	13	.11	.08	.03	.05	08	.18	09	.04	.15	.10	.15	13	12	.18	.04	05	.04	.03	03	11	04	.01
148. English CEFR	.00	.02	02	.08	.12	13	17	.14	.16	.08	.09	11	.11	05	03	06	.13	.10	.02	.09	.07	.04	09	02	13	.21	05	.10	.15	.05
149. Language tests	.00	.07	.04	.05	.02	04	02	20	03	.00	.01	.01	11	.06	05	.01	.04	.07	.12	10	14	.21	.17	02	.03	06	11	02	05	04
150. Language trainings	.09	.04	03	.00	.01	.03	06	.15	.03	03	.17	.09	.03	07	.08	12	.09	.02	02	01	.07	.13	07	04	.00	.03	08	.23	.11	04
151. Substantial software skills	.02	.09	.12	.06	02	03	.02	.09	14	.03	.01	02	.08	03	24	.01	.00	.00	.06	.04	.00	.00	04	04	.10	.01	.02	.01	12	.13
152. Mathematical software skills	.14	03	06	08	.06	.05	10	.09	06	.06	.02	14	03	02	03	.07	05	.05	.11	06	13	01	03	.15	.15	.08	.05	08	15	06
153. Webpage software skills	08	.13	.04	07	05	01	.16	.19	.10	05	.08	06	.10	09	04	.11	.01	06	.05	.11	.11	.00	05	02	.09	.00	.07	04	07	.15
154. IT trainings	.20	.08	03	.23	05	17	15	15	.09	.11	06	02	02	04	.10	04	.16	.12	06	08	03	.26	12	.15	07	.08	08	08	02	09
155. German Academic	.05	.04	.15	.06	20	06	.02	07	09	16	.02	02	07	05	10	03	12	.01	.02	24	34	10	.36	.13	.25	01	02	11	12	.14
Scholarship Foundation																														
156. Germany Scholarship	06	08	.00	22	01	.14	.08	08	01	.05	.10	.11	01	07	.05	.01	09	14	.03	02	19	05	.37	.13	09	02	02	02	.05	.00

		1.	2.	3.	4.	5.	6.	7.	8.	9.	10.	11.	12.	13.	14.	15.	16.	17.	18.	19.	20.	21.	22.	23.	24.	25.	26.	27.	28.	29.	30.
157	. Non-financial scholarships	.11	11	16	.04	04	.02	.15	14	02	.12	05	02	03	.03	12	.17	05	.04	.01	02	07	16	.37	.05	03	15	.03	12	.02	.23
158	. Scholarships abroad	08	.07	.07	.07	.00	02	.05	.16	09	07	.03	15	13	.24	04	11	08	04	.01	.10	.10	.04	.33	.06	06	.01	.05	14	.02	05
159	Erasmus	17	.00	04	.09	.05	.03	.07	.09	17	01	04	11	09	.16	11	09	.02	03	06	.06	.19	.09	.18	03	08	.01	.08	08	.07	01
160	PROMOS	16	07	05	- 03	- 06	02	00	- 02	06	02	01	- 10	03	14	.19	01	- 07	- 03	- 04	08	00	01	.25	09	- 07	- 09	05	- 10	03	- 05
161	Political EAs	- 11	07	05	- 01	01	- 01	- 04	.17	- 03	- 10	- 07	- 04	- 04	- 03	03	02	- 14	- 04	- 12	11	.00	- 11	07	- 09	02	- 04	07	- 11	- 08	04
162	Religious EAs	11	.05	.14	.01	.05	05	02	05	.06	01	01	03	.04	02	.04	14	06	01	02	.02	01	.00	.06	12	.08	03	14	.04	.03	.03
163	EAs abroad	07	- 10	00	10	00	- 06	- 08	- 04	.00	00	01	- 11	- 11	11	03	- 12	- 05	08	- 06	02	17	- 03	- 01	16	- 03	- 07	06	- 10	- 04	- 10
164	. Political/historical hobbies	04	.00	.05	.08	15	.03	.15	.05	.03	07	.02	.05	09	.00	04	12	.29	.02	.07	02	02	07	.09	.04	.18	.01	.09	03	01	.09
165	Professional licenses/	03	.15	01	02	.05	.04	04	05	.01	14	12	.00	.04	16	.02	06	07	01	.07	.09	.01	06	.08	11	.06	13	.05	.06	12	.12
	certifications																														
166	Driver's license	05	.10	.01	22	.06	.12	05	.11	.01	.02	21	03	.02	13	07	09	05	08	06	02	.06	05	22	14	.05	.08	.08	.25	01	.09
167	. Academic/	19	.02	.19	.05	01	.04	.12	.04	07	10	02	02	02	.03	.08	02	12	.04	08	.06	.03	.01	.06	08	.05	10	.15	01	.05	.08
	professional																														
1.60	trainings	10	10										~-		10	10				~ -		•			•	10	~ .	~-			•
168	. Quality of	10	.10	.11	08	04	.04	.01	.01	15	22	.00	07	06	.19	18	.14	01	02	.05	.03	21	.03	.27	.20	.18	04	.07	.03	.01	.38
	leadership																														
	experiences	21	22	22	2.4	25	26	27	20	20	40	41	40	12	4.4	1.5	16	47	40	40	50	<u> </u>	50	50	5.4				50	50	(0)
21	T (1.11)	31.	32.	33.	34.	35.	36.	37.	38.	39.	40.	41.	42.	43.	44.	45.	46.	47.	48.	49.	50.	51.	52.	33.	54.	<u> </u>	<u> </u>	57.	<u> </u>	<u>59.</u>	60.
31.	Team sport hobbie	s -	14	10	01	11	01	.15	08	.00	.06	04	09	05	.06	05	01	12	.07	11	23	09	.00	.12	02	.02	08	.08	09	.00	02
32. 22	Distinctive look		-	.04	03	.05	.11	.0/	.07	.18	.04	01	04	.09	.08	.03	02	.04	.03	.14	.06	0/	07	05	0/	.01	.10	01	.15	.13	.04
33. 24	Types of bullets			-	14	04	.12	.12	.09	.15	.02	03	.12	1ð	.13	.01	13	08	02	.21	.35	00	02	10	.09	.02	.21	.15	.19	.03	.08
34.	without serifs				-	.00	.04	11	09	05	.01	.07	05	.01	05	.13	.13	.10	.13	.00	03	.08	04	.00	.03	.05	08	06	.10	04	.08
35.	Flow text					_	.06	02	.00	.17	06	01	10	06	.03	04	15	09	05	05	.04	04	.01	.03	07	.08	12	.19	.19	02	.07
36.	Experience before						-	.30	.04	.14	06	.02	09	05	.27	03	19	.02	.10	.19	.17	18	12	.04	19	10	10	.02	.00	.01	01
	education section																														
37.	Vocational high							-	11	03	.00	.03	03	.01	.22	12	13	03	.08	.03	.11	04	13	02	14	14	10	06	.00	.01	01
	school																														
38.	Extraordinary								-	.05	22	.14	.02	12	02	.15	.23	.04	.04	.15	.09	.23	05	.11	.34	.21	.24	23	.13	05	.04
	hobbies																														
39.	Study focusses on									-	21	.00	.05	.02	.06	.02	13	02	06	.16	.12	16	07	.12	04	.01	03	.30	.06	07	07
	marketing																														
40.	Study focusses on										-	11	.03	07	.01	19	.15	02	09	04	03	10	.00	05	21	14	19	02	03	.00	.02
	accounting/taxation	1																													

		31.	32.	33.	34.	35.	36.	37.	38.	39.	40.	41.	42.	43.	44.	45.	46.	47.	48.	49.	50.	51.	52.	53.	54.	55.	56.	57.	58.	59.	60.
41.	Graphic design											-	.17	.10	.06	.14	01	.03	02	.04	.17	.13	04	.21	.01	.01	02	04	.02	.05	06
	software skills																														
42.	Creative hobbies												-	.04	02	.07	05	.04	.06	.05	.22	.02	.04	.16	.11	05	.09	08	06	.03	.02
43.	Mean duration													-	.02	.03	08	.09	03	06	04	.05	.19	03	12	06	12	13	.03	05	.04
	internships/jobs																														
44.	Software skills														-	.16	06	.04	.06	.09	.16	06	15	07	08	02	.05	02	.09	.04	09
45.	Languages															-	.01	.11	.03	.24	01	.17	.04	.12	.35	.03	.15	.05	.24	.07	.01
46.	Latin																-	.04	13	15	.09	.19	.14	.07	01	.03	.03	16	.06	.03	10
47.	Trainings																	-	.00	.19	.10	.05	01	10	.09	07	.02	08	.14	07	.07
48.	Financial																		-	.02	05	.29	.04	.03	.13	.03	.08	13	14	06	06
	scholarships																														
49.	Interpersonal skills																			-	.15	.15	07	.08	.09	.01	.04	06	.25	03	06
50.	Teams																				-	.11	.07	.02	01	.00	.09	.05	.08	.19	12
51.	EAs																					-	.22	.24	.30	.19	.19	20	.07	.02	.03
52.	Mean duration EAs																						-	.03	.09	.06	.08	.01	.06	07	.03
53.	Tutoring																							-	.10	.07	08	.01	04	02	13
54.	Stays abroad																								-	.22	.37	.06	.18	02	.08
55.	Mean duration																									-	.11	.01	.14	06	.14
	stays abroad																														
56.	International																										-	.01	.14	.06	02
	orientation of																														
	studies																														
57.	Travel hobbies																											-	.26	.20	.03
58.	Intercultural skills																												-	.06	.11
59.	Discontinued																													-	.02
<i>(</i> 0	studies																														
60.	Academic gaps	•••	0.4	0.4	0.1	20	16	•••	0.1	0.5	20	10		0.4	1.4	0.4	0.2	07	1.5	00	10	~~	0.5	1.5	10	0.0	0.2	00	07	10	-
61.	Constructive use of	.28	04	.04	01	20	.16	.23	.01	05	.20	10	11	04	.14	.04	.03	.07	.15	.08	13	22	05	.15	10	08	.03	09	07	16	.04
\sim	gaps	10	14	01	10	20	07	00	22	0.5	07	10	10	02	02	07	00	10	14	00	00	10	0.2	06	10	01	30	0.4	02	10	1.5
62.	Reputation of	12	.14	.01	13	.20	.06	.02	.22	.05	0/	12	10	03	03	06	09	.12	.14	08	02	.19	03	06	.12	.01	.20	04	02	10	.15
\sim	universities	10	00	20	15	00	05	05	11	06	31	01	15	10	00	04	16	00	21	01	07	02	07	04	02	10	06	10	02	01	00
63.	Reputation of	.12	.00	.20	15	.00	.05	.05	11	06	.21	01	15	12	.08	04	16	09	.21	.01	0/	.02	0/	04	.02	.12	.06	.19	.03	.01	08
61	Smoot EA a	22	10	00	12	02	10	10	10	04	17	06	01	05	04	10	07	04	06	05	00	00	14	06	01	02	06	00	05	02	00
04. 65	Sport hobbies	.23 16	.12	.00	13	02	٥١.	.10	.12	.04	·1/	.00	01	03	04	10	07	04	00	03	.08	09	.14	00	.01	02	.00	08	03	02	08
03. 66	Poprotional grant	.40	13	04	.07	08	08	04	.03 • •	.02	.13	.01	08	13	02	12	.04	10	11	13	14	10	.02	.15	.00	04	02	.11	1/ 06	.13 2 4	.15
00.	hobbies	.04	.01	.01	.03	.12	.04	11	24	.13	02	08	09	04	03	04	.04	13	09	10	.05	07	01	.05	11	12	.05	.24	00	.24	.01
	11000105																														

		31.	32.	33.	34.	35.	36.	37.	38.	39.	40.	41.	42.	43.	44.	45.	46.	47.	48.	49.	50.	51.	52.	53.	54.	55.	56.	57.	58.	59.	60.
67.	Prominent name	.00	.20	.08	02	03	04	.02	.03	.02	10	.12	.11	.07	.01	03	09	13	.09	10	.01	.09	.03	.08	.04	.12	.14	.07	01	.13	06
	position																														
68.	Own name	07	04	. 02	01	09	.05	11	14	10	04	.06	.04	.08	03	09	03	03	07	.05	.08	02	.00	10	17	13	.00	.02	16	.02	06
69.	Academic	.05	14	.10	02	01	04	.11	.00	10	.00	06	05	24	.00	.09	11	10	.05	01	.01	.07	.05	.06	.12	.14	03	17	03	04	.01
	comparison																														
70.	Accomplishments	.01	.00	.20	08	08	09	.09	.17	.10	.04	10	.24	04	.05	02	06	.14	.05	.04	.19	.01	.01	11	.14	.00	.10	11	05	.00	.11
	with professional																														
	experiences																														
71.	Awards	01	.10	02	02	.11	.10	01	01	07	.07	.04	.11	04	.04	.08	02	14	.47	.05	02	.24	.12	.09	.08	.01	.01	.01	.05	05	02
72.	Top tier business	.19	12	.07	.04	05	12	09	08	15	.24	11	12	20	11	06	.02	08	.01	06	09	08	12	03	06	.10	06	.07	13	01	.08
	consultancies/																														
	auditing firms																														
73.	Altruistic EAs	03	.08	.08	04	05	.03	02	.06	05	12	15	.06	.07	.03	01	.04	16	.10	03	.07	.12	.19	01	06	.02	.06	05	04	.23	.10
74.	Career-oriented	06	.00	04	.08	01	10	08	.16	09	01	04	.03	11	06	.01	.12	05	02	02	02	.02	09	.00	.06	02	.10	13	.03	01	.03
	EAs																														
75.	Cognitive hobbies	.09	20	.02	.02	06	03	.12	.00	06	08	.05	.22	17	10	.13	06	13	.02	11	.02	.06	.05	.00	.03	.02	.07	04	06	01	01
76.	Business hobbies	.13	.04	02	11	.00	.09	02	.11	.09	04	13	08	16	05	09	.04	08	.02	.05	04	08	11	.16	10	.04	09	.14	.04	.02	.01
77.	Pleasure hobbies	02	07	01	.18	.13	06	02	05	04	09	12	.03	.04	04	.13	06	.06	.15	.00	04	.01	06	04	.01	07	.01	.02	07	.01	.09
78.	Social hobbies	.03	01	01	.03	.28	.16	06	25	.04	.11	09	07	11	05	01	10	.03	03	.04	.15	03	.06	01	01	.03	08	.11	.04	.12	.02
79.	Curriculum vitae as	.03	18	04	.00	.12	03	13	11	.16	.02	28	10	06	15	12	01	.13	01	.06	03	14	.07	07	07	.01	15	.03	.04	13	.03
	header																														
80.	Foot- and/or	02	.07	.11	.08	06	02	07	.05	.15	06	.06	.07	.04	03	.01	05	.00	.01	.11	.13	.06	.03	04	.01	.04	.08	.08	09	02	05
	headnote																														
81.	Name and address	.04	.23	.01	06	.10	13	.09	.17	.12	.00	.11	.07	.09	.09	.11	.04	10	.01	08	02	.05	05	.05	.16	.12	.07	.00	.16	.09	05
	formatted																														
	differently																														
82.	Academic degree	.03	31	24	.04	03	06	.04	19	08	.05	.02	09	.01	07	11	03	.07	08	04	12	05	02	04	16	07	15	02	13	06	07
	and university not																														
	highlighted																														
83.	Inconsistent date	.01	04	.04	.16	.07	01	05	.10	02	.06	02	.15	18	10	05	.06	06	.20	01	02	.08	.06	.17	.17	04	.01	.04	04	01	.07
	resolution																														
84.	Dates right	.06	.08	.04	.02	08	09	09	.26	06	11	.23	.05	04	12	.08	.15	06	.18	03	.12	.27	01	.14	.24	01	.31	06	.10	.09	19
85.	Dates left	.02	24	.04	.01	01	02	02	21	06	.07	20	.05	.10	.07	14	10	.06	08	06	09	07	.08	03	12	.01	09	.04	13	02	.14
86.	Inconsistent date	.09	05	.03	.02	.07	.00	.05	.10	.05	12	.02	.13	01	.03	.02	21	.00	.18	.09	.00	.11	.01	.08	.17	.05	.11	.07	04	04	.03
	position		. –																												
87.	Inconsistent	.06	07	01	.04	05	16	.05	.09	01	.08	.16	.10	.10	.06	02	.05	.00	.23	06	.05	.02	.13	02	.10	23	.06	.05	.09	06	12
0.5	chronology			<i></i>				<u> </u>		<u> </u>		~ ~	<i>.</i> -	c -	<i></i>			<i></i>	<i>.</i> .		<i>c</i> -	<i>.</i>			<u> </u>		<i>.</i>			<i>.</i> .	0.5
88.	Professional layout	.09	16	.06	14	02	19	.02	.00	07	.21	08	.02	05	.06	11	.12	15	.04	16	.00	.01	14	.08	05	.09	01	.10	08	01	.00

		31.	32.	33.	34.	35.	36.	37.	38.	39.	40.	41.	42.	43.	44.	45.	46.	47.	48.	49.	50.	51.	52.	53.	54.	55.	56.	57.	58.	59.	60.
89	. Tabular layout	05	.05	.06	15	16	11	.03	.12	12	.12	.00	12	.09	.09	10	.08	.02	07	12	.00	.02	03	01	11	07	.09	.05	08	.06	06
90	. Harmonic layout	.13	.17	05	06	.05	05	.06	.00	.07	.17	09	09	.02	.10	19	.04	13	.03	12	10	17	26	.01	15	.11	10	.06	.03	.05	.02
91	. Consistent formatting	.06	19	04	07	07	17	09	14	07	.10	.02	.02	.03	01	05	11	14	.12	09	03	.01	.01	02	.06	.05	.00	06	.00	08	.13
92	. Formatting errors	21	.30	11	.12	01	.07	.13	.01	.02	05	06	05	.20	.07	.09	.10	.21	14	.10	.07	.02	08	12	09	.02	01	03	.18	.07	10
93	Page break within section	.06	12	.21	10	.12	17	17	02	.00	.11	06	02	01	05	15	.02	.04	08	.06	.01	04	.10	.01	.01	.00	.03	.13	.01	.06	03
94	. Page break within bullet	.10	07	.06	03	10	12	12	.17	11	.01	07	03	10	.10	.13	.05	04	04	.09	01	04	04	08	.05	04	.02	.13	.01	.24	08
95	. Margin width	01	12	26	.03	18	07	09	14	15	02	06	21	.02	02	15	11	.09	03	07	34	13	02	16	06	11	13	22	18	07	.02
96	Space between sections	.01	.10	16	.18	15	08	14	15	.15	.00	07	05	.02	08	11	.04	.01	.05	13	19	14	.06	05	11	05	13	08	10	03	.03
97	. Line spacing	.06	.11	04	04	.01	.05	02	15	.02	.11	.03	05	.14	02	15	06	.10	06	07	06	10	.00	04	12	.00	08	06	07	02	.14
98	. Fonts	.00	.00	.04	.57	.01	.08	10	.14	.16	08	.04	02	10	.01	.07	.04	.03	.08	.28	.12	.24	.01	.13	.12	.04	.08	08	.12	.02	.00
99	. Serious, usual fonts	s .14	44	.07	02	.10	10	.05	.02	07	.07	.04	05	06	.00	12	.10	05	04	22	04	.08	.04	.12	05	04	12	.02	09	03	03
10	0. Font without serif	03	.04	.02	52	06	.07	03	.02	03	.01	15	.00	.07	.16	09	11	.00	15	.07	.05	20	01	11	03	.01	.07	.08	04	.07	.04
10	1. Font size	09	.40	.13	.15	.15	.15	02	16	.14	.04	04	.01	04	03	02	02	01	07	.19	.02	17	06	05	05	11	08	.02	.13	.06	.16
∞ 10	2. Font size headers	06	.47	07	.05	.01	.13	.06	10	.04	.04	.01	09	01	.08	.06	06	.11	16	06	09	24	24	17	14	16	21	03	.06	.17	.07
Q 10	3. Font size text	.05	.05	14	07	02	.15	.04	.01	.03	02	05	21	.03	06	11	13	06	12	11	10	07	19	04	22	01	09	13	15	.08	02
10	 Appropriate highlighting 	.03	.04	.05	11	09	12	11	01	.00	.21	12	.05	.05	.03	15	.06	03	05	14	.04	14	20	10	06	.10	.05	03	02	.05	.11
10	5. Italicized words	11	.08	.07	.01	01	.05	08	.29	.03	13	.01	02	07	08	.12	04	17	.27	.12	.06	.12	.14	06	.07	.15	.09	08	07	02	11
10	6. Underlined words	09	02	06	.09	01	.01	.02	.07	.00	12	.00	12	.22	09	.03	09	01	.02	.19	07	07	.06	.03	.12	02	11	12	02	09	.03
10	7. Capitalized words	02	.29	11	12	05	04	.05	10	.06	02	03	.04	05	09	.03	08	10	12	.09	06	08	.07	14	.03	09	.09	02	01	.03	.15
10	8. Number of symbols	11	.35	.09	09	.36	.00	.01	.01	.30	15	.12	.00	.05	.04	.05	12	.12	10	.08	.09	05	05	.00	.01	.02	.12	.23	.12	10	.00
10	 Appropriate use of color 	.07	.08	18	.08	.02	06	15	.08	06	.01	.10	18	.19	.08	04	.02	19	04	29	15	04	16	05	18	.08	03	.03	01	.00	11
11	0. Number of words	10	04	.35	08	.27	07	05	.26	.06	05	.14	.24	16	.10	.30	.01	.04	.09	.19	.34	.30	.04	.10	.47	.17	.30	.20	.30	.04	.03
11	1. Comprehensive/ secondary school	.11	.08	14	.09	08	.06	.23	12	.12	.01	02	07	.05	04	18	02	.00	02	05	13	04	06	12	17	05	06	07	.00	10	16
11	2. Business focus on school	.12	.03	.18	12	03	.13	.47	06	01	.11	.06	.08	01	.05	.04	04	06	06	.01	.07	03	.01	.02	07	11	.04	06	02	.06	03
11	3. Science school subjects	05	.00	.10	04	.01	.05	04	.14	02	.10	.08	10	13	08	12	.16	15	.04	05	.02	.02	.11	06	01	08	.11	16	10	.07	15
11	4. Humanities school subjects	12	.05	.07	13	.12	.06	07	.04	.00	.04	.10	.06	.00	06	12	.05	11	02	03	.13	.07	.16	04	03	05	.16	07	02	.11	16

		31.	32.	33.	34.	35.	36.	37.	38.	39.	40.	41.	42.	43.	44.	45.	46.	47.	48.	49.	50.	51.	52.	53.	54.	55.	56.	57.	58.	59.	60.
115	. Language school subjects	06	.03	.06	08	.09	01	10	.12	06	01	.11	04	07	09	.07	03	06	05	01	06	07	02	03	.05	01	01	05	04	.01	.06
116	. Stays abroad	04	05	03	04	14	13	13	.13	.01	01	02	.16	04	14	.20	.04	.02	.09	05	12	.08	.07	.18	.62	08	.10	.15	.04	.00	05
	during school																														
117	. Mean duration stays abroad during school	.04	.04	12	06	11	11	12	.13	03	07	.02	08	.01	12	.07	.04	03	.01	.03	15	.08	02	.12	.29	.25	.03	.04	04	05	04
118	. Mean duration	01	02	.14	.11	01	.08	.15	02	01	01	06	02	.13	11	.02	13	.01	02	.05	02	06	.03	10	.04	.07	02	.01	.09	03	.55
	academic gaps																														
119	. Study programs at technical/dual colleges	07	.08	.12	11	.01	.13	.17	.16	04	07	04	.03	08	.21	.07	12	.17	.21	.01	.08	.14	09	13	.13	.02	.25	05	.05	.08	.12
120	. Duration bachelor	.03	06	.01	.03	.16	01	.01	.15	.10	.05	.03	02	.19	01	01	06	04	08	.08	09	.04	.13	.01	02	.12	09	05	04	18	01
	studies																														
121	Business administration studies	08	01	09	.04	.11	.01	11	28	.01	.31	13	03	04	03	10	.01	.05	04	.05	17	24	01	.03	18	08	40	.15	08	08	.14
122	. Economics studies	.03	13	09	.01	.07	02	02	08	17	19	.05	03	.04	.17	.13	.04	03	.11	.03	04	.23	.17	06	.08	.20	.25	05	.16	.14	05
123	. Business and	.15	.05	.02	.03	12	05	.00	01	.26	.11	07	19	.09	.02	.05	.02	03	08	04	.11	.02	06	.09	12	12	17	.06	03	05	10
	economics studies																														
124	. Neighbouring	06	.03	04	08	.00	.11	.27	.03	03	13	.10	.04	.20	.05	.00	02	02	17	.00	.10	.05	04	09	06	01	02	17	.01	05	06
	disciplines																														
125	. Study focusses on finance	.10	09	.03	10	01	10	04	07	18	.42	12	.02	07	.00	12	.01	16	06	04	11	05	03	.10	04	12	16	05	15	13	.01
126	. Study focusses on controlling	12	.01	.15	.02	.03	.00	.00	.22	06	.22	10	.05	10	.04	.17	.08	02	10	.04	.12	.06	.09	03	.22	.08	.03	.09	.38	.09	.11
127	. Study focusses on	.03	11	.00	09	08	.16	.08	.23	.03	15	.02	04	.11	.03	11	08	.05	.05	04	.03	01	.00	12	10	07	.02	12	13	10	.11
	logistics																									,					
128	. Study focusses on economics	.09	03	.04	06	.03	02	02	23	18	10	14	01	04	01	.00	06	.05	.08	.04	14	15	17	06	.03	.01	.02	.12	03	.05	.10
129	. Study focusses on	.06	.06	.05	12	03	.00	.06	.05	.23	13	.04	05	.11	.16	11	10	06	.07	04	.05	11	12	10	.00	.06	.04	.08	07	.00	.00
	informatics																														
130	. Study focuses on neighbouring disciplines	06	.06	.11	.00	.01	.06	02	03	.02	06	.05	.08	.13	.12	01	.04	.04	.10	.08	.10	10	05	12	.04	09	.13	.04	.00	02	04
131	Theses topics	- 07	08	09	03	15	- 02	08	- 04	15	05	02	07	00	.21	01	- 05	15	- 04	.25	11	- 02	- 06	- 02	- 02	02	- 02	.20	20	05	05
132	Theses with	08	01	.16	.00	.01	.02	.23	.07	.02	.07	04	03	01	.22	01	02	.08	.15	05	.20	.02	03	12	.15	05	.13	.01	.19	02	.07
152	companies		1			1		0					.05	1		1	.02					.02		.12						.02	.07

	31.	32.	33.	34.	35.	36.	37.	38.	39.	40.	41.	42.	43.	44.	45.	46.	47.	48.	49.	50.	51.	52.	53.	54.	55.	56.	57.	58.	59.	60.
133. Bachelor thesis	01	12	.03	07	.01	10	04	05	16	.28	.14	.17	02	.05	.04	.10	.00	14	.06	.13	.10	04	.14	06	.03	10	05	.04	.02	.17
presented with																														
mark																														
134. Semesters abroad	.04	02	.21	03	01	06	.00	.24	.03	26	03	.01	14	.20	.33	06	.02	.06	.11	.15	.23	06	.00	.47	.36	.37	.10	.18	.02	.03
135. Apprenticeships	.05	.04	.07	.01	.10	.28	.23	.06	10	.13	12	07	.08	.01	02	10	05	.07	.01	13	17	.06	07	07	13	.02	04	.09	13	.13
136. Work and travel/au	ı .02	09	.03	01	.01	11	11	07	04	07	.12	.13	.20	.10	.01	03	04	.08	11	02	.10	.08	.02	.12	.12	.05	06	.11	11	.15
pair																														
137. Internships	.09	09	.07	.12	12	19	19	12	06	12	09	.08	34	15	04	03	.04	.06	.05	.00	.07	.02	08	.17	.03	.14	03	13	.04	.05
138. Internships/jobs	.17	.13	.17	11	09	.12	.06	06	08	.08	13	11	10	.22	05	20	05	.19	.13	06	02	03	15	.05	.07	.16	.04	.01	.04	.08
relevant for																														
position																														
139. Internships/jobs in	01	.08	04	14	.07	.06	.13	11	08	.11	.05	03	.18	.28	.17	08	05	.21	.06	.03	.12	.06	03	04	02	.06	.00	.12	.01	16
research																														
140. Internships/jobs in	04	.03	.12	.02	01	.05	09	.22	.14	16	14	04	15	05	02	.04	.14	.07	.14	.06	.13	05	.01	.18	.12	.15	01	.17	08	.16
consulting																														
141. Internships/jobs	.01	.07	.12	01	.22	04	03	.19	01	15	03	.02	11	11	.17	03	07	.08	.03	.12	.15	.09	05	.33	.10	.20	.07	.10	.18	.20
abroad																														
∞ 142. Inconsistent	.06	.05	.12	.01	01	.02	03	02	11	.02	06	.16	.01	.10	.10	.09	03	.04	.13	.05	.10	01	05	.16	.03	.10	06	.06	.07	02
∞ descriptions																														
internships/jobs																														
143. Detailed	20	04	.47	20	.27	01	07	.08	.06	04	03	.15	10	.05	.05	10	09	12	.20	.22	03	11	12	.15	.14	.19	.19	.12	.07	.03
descriptions																														
internships/jobs																														
144. Business languages	s .11	03	.12	10	.09	.11	.01	.04	01	.28	14	16	08	.04	58	.05	10	18	15	.02	19	04	10	26	04	20	.03	07	05	.06
145. Business English	.08	.02	11	.13	01	.09	05	.12	11	.18	05	04	14	.00	.03	01	.01	.14	.09	18	12	12	14	.07	.01	04	.00	.13	12	.02
146. English level	.05	.02	.12	.13	09	03	17	.16	09	.10	10	07	19	.16	.23	.06	.05	.08	.01	.16	.06	08	01	.27	.30	.18	.09	.08	.04	.06
147. English TOEFL	.05	14	.04	.11	04	04	20	.00	16	.00	05	.00	13	.05	.19	01	04	.00	17	.08	04	01	.09	.23	.06	.16	.19	09	.16	05
148. English CEFR	.01	.21	.03	.10	08	.15	.10	.01	.11	.11	18	06	07	.14	.01	.02	.06	.09	.00	.01	.00	.03	11	.08	.10	.04	.05	.03	05	.08
149. Language tests	.06	08	09	02	02	.05	12	03	20	.04	07	.03	16	.12	.25	01	01	.16	11	04	06	.01	.06	.28	.06	.13	.12	05	.00	01
150. Language trainings	.15	02	.09	.19	01	.07	.15	07	04	.10	04	.02	.04	06	.03	15	.32	.01	.02	03	13	12	11	.07	14	09	06	.08	01	.12
151. Substantial	.03	10	02	.01	.04	.09	.10	04	04	.10	.09	.02	09	.05	.16	01	.00	13	.10	.06	09	10	.03	09	.08	10	.09	.02	18	06
software skills																														
152. Mathematical	.00	09	09	11	.04	.02	.03	.04	.10	14	06	13	.14	.10	.15	.01	14	01	.02	15	02	10	16	.02	.01	.02	03	.00	05	13
software skills																														
153. Webpage software	.03	.01	.05	08	.24	.17	.18	.12	.16	09	.02	08	04	.14	01	07	13	06	.07	.27	.06	.17	.05	03	.10	05	.13	.03	.13	.03
skills																														
154. IT trainings	08	10	18	.03	07	09	09	22	02	.11	10	01	.00	.05	.02	.13	.36	01	09	02	12	.01	01	08	03	07	.09	03	09	.09

	31.	32.	33.	34.	35.	36.	37.	38.	39.	40.	41.	42.	43.	44.	45.	46.	47.	48.	49.	50.	51.	52.	53.	54.	55.	56.	57.	58.	59.	60.
155. German Academic	.00	02	.00	.10	.13	01	.08	.16	.03	15	.08	.15	10	.00	.03	01	.05	.44	.10	.20	.24	.05	.12	.15	.05	.02	10	06	01	13
Scholarship																														
Foundation																														
156. Germany	.08	.03	05	.07	09	.04	04	12	05	.04	.01	09	.01	02	13	11	05	.60	.00	15	.10	.04	.00	01	.05	02	08	14	.04	.01
Scholarship																														
157. Non-financial	.21	13	.10	08	.01	06	10	.16	14	.02	.00	17	11	05	.16	.05	08	09	02	07	.14	.16	.13	.28	.07	.19	.10	02	01	08
scholarships																														
158. Scholarships	15	14	.07	01	04	15	10	.05	13	12	.06	.07	06	.04	.05	06	.00	09	.08	.05	.09	.11	05	.29	.14	.03	01	.15	07	.02
abroad																														
159. Erasmus	12	09	.12	10	.01	11	11	02	09	10	.06	.08	.04	.04	.01	.09	02	14	05	.14	.07	.10	06	.10	.18	.05	08	.17	11	.00
160. PROMOS	14	09	02	08	08	09	09	.00	12	07	10	06	11	08	02	14	04	06	.11	06	06	04	.05	.20	.05	04	.07	05	.00	.02
161. Political EAs	08	03	14	.04	04	.06	.20	.05	08	.02	.00	.00	.12	02	04	.14	10	.05	.05	.04	.27	.08	.12	07	.03	07	20	04	04	16
162. Religious EAs	13	.05	.00	.22	.03	.02	07	06	04	.04	09	02	09	07	01	.12	.17	.01	01	.15	.10	.16	.06	.09	01	.13	01	.01	08	04
163. EAs abroad	.01	13	10	.04	04	05	13	.03	.00	.04	02	08	04	.01	.09	.11	07	01	.04	13	.14	01	.02	.19	.17	.02	.07	01	.03	.17
164. Political/historical	.13	.01	.02	.03	.04	.01	01	.11	.05	10	.02	.06	12	14	.07	.02	04	.09	02	.13	.15	.00	.16	.10	.08	.03	.06	.10	.24	.03
hobbies																														
165. Professional	.07	01	15	10	09	11	05	.09	13	.14	.03	07	06	03	.03	02	.18	06	07	16	.04	.00	07	.06	08	.01	.06	04	.01	01
licenses/																														
certifications																														
166. Driver's license	02	.02	.00	.08	.03	.05	.11	.02	.01	.01	.09	04	.15	04	.03	06	05	12	05	.04	08	07	.12	18	23	08	15	08	02	08
167. Academic/	09	.09	03	03	03	01	01	.23	02	08	.07	08	.02	.06	.00	.06	.46	04	.23	.15	.16	.00	.04	.16	.10	.16	06	.22	06	08
professional																														
trainings																														
168. Quality of	09	01	.07	.04	.24	12	04	.30	04	10	.20	01	11	13	.21	.08	03	.14	.07	.30	.52	.03	.15	.25	.12	.18	01	.16	.07	21
leadership																														
experiences																														
	61.	62.	63.	64.	65.	66.	67.	68.	69.	70.	71.	72.	73.	74.	75.	76.	77.	78.	79.	80.	81.	82.	83.	84.	85.	86.	87.	88.	89.	90.
61. Constructive use of	-	01	.47	.11	.25	.03	12	19	.11	.07	.16	.39	21	.18	04	.08	10	.06	.06	17	17	.04	07	11	.01	11	02	.09	.11	.00
gaps																														
62. Reputation of		-	.17	.11	15	02	.00	.03	.09	.14	.04	04	03	.09	.01	04	05	.03	.00	.09	07	04	.02	04	.02	.09	.01	07	.04	06
universities																														
63. Reputation of			-	.07	.00	04	.03	.00	.21	.06	.14	.50	15	.07	07	04	23	.00	09	.01	10	03	05	.05	08	.02	.02	.25	.01	.12
employers																														
64. Sport EAs				-	.32	.08	.16	.06	03	.10	.02	.01	19	11	.00	.09	03	.14	.02	.06	05	.01	06	.00	.04	.05	.07	.04	.07	.03
65. Sport hobbies					-	.42	02	.00	.11	10	05	.24	04	01	01	.02	.07	.05	.02	.06	04	.15	.04	.04	.02	.06	.07	.07	01	.04
66. Recreational sport						-	04	.14	12	10	07	.09	05	.06	08	.06	.09	.24	.13	.09	06	.03	.08	06	.16	.05	02	.08	.09	.06
hobbies																														

		61.	62.	63.	64.	65.	66.	67.	68.	69.	70.	71.	72.	73.	74.	75.	76.	77.	78.	79.	80.	81.	82.	83.	84.	85.	86.	87.	88.	89.	90.
67.	Prominent name							-	.11	.01	04	.06	02	04	.03	.12	.02	.09	12	38	.08	.52	26	.09	.14	03	.15	.18	.18	.00	.13
	position																														
68.	Own name								-	05	15	.00	.00	.05	11	.04	01	.10	04	02	.62	27	.11	.00	11	02	11	03	05	.01	07
69.	Academic									-	.01	01	.19	03	.18	.27	02	11	.03	07	.01	.06	03	.04	.01	11	.14	09	.05	24	04
	comparison																														
70.	Accomplishments										-	08	.10	.01	.19	.12	09	05	07	09	.03	.17	12	.02	.05	.04	.12	02	.01	.07	01
	with professional																														
	experiences																														
71.	Awards											_	05	.04	.00	.12	.13	13	.18	09	.13	.00	18	.16	.23	12	.09	.08	.04	06	01
72.	Top tier business												-	10	.30	.06	06	08	.02	.03	.08	07	.07	02	.01	.09	11	16	.13	.13	01
	consultancies/																						,			,					
	auditing firms																														
73.	Altruistic EAs													_	07	.02	.02	04	07	02	04	.00	.02	06	.05	.01	10	04	21	11	11
74.	Career-oriented														_	.11	04	09	07	.05	.01	.12	14	.17	.16	03	.09	02	.10	05	.02
,	EAs																	.05				•••=		•••			,				
75	Cognitive hobbies															_	- 08	02	08	- 13	04	15	- 06	.18	- 03	06	08	- 06	03	- 07	- 10
76.	Business hobbies																-	.00	.04	.10	.06	05	08	.08	09	.15	.03	17	.09	.15	.10
77	Pleasure hobbies																	-	10	04	00	- 02	01	- 04	- 08	14	03	- 02	- 11	02	- 16
78	Social hobbies																		-	12	- 06	- 12	.01	08	- 07	12	00	- 07	20	- 11	19
79.	Curriculum vitae as																				.04	39	.22	.00	21	.24	01	10	07	.07	09
, , , ,	header																												,	,	,
80	Foot- and/or																				-	- 06	- 02	10	- 03	02	04	- 07	- 07	10	- 14
00.	headnote																					.00	.02	.10	.00	.02		.07	.07	.10	
81.	Name and address																					_	21	.13	.23	16	.20	.19	.13	07	.26
011	formatted																														
	differently																														
82.	Academic degree																						-	.02	18	.10	.03	03	22	.01	22
	and university not																														
	highlighted																														
83.	Inconsistent date																							-	.02	01	.48	.18	.00	11	10
	resolution																														
84.	Dates right																								-	59	.06	.18	.00	09	07
85.	Dates left																									-	.15	05	.12	.32	.04
86.	Inconsistent date																										-	.24	.08	02	.00
	position																														
87.	Inconsistent																											-	.11	.06	.04
	chronology																														
88.	Professional layout						<u>.</u>						<u>.</u>								<u>.</u>								-	.25	.70

			61.	62.	63.	64.	65.	66.	67.	68.	69.	70.	71.	72.	73.	74.	75.	76.	77.	78.	79.	80.	81.	82.	83.	84.	85.	86.	87.	88.	89.	90.
	89.	Tabular layout																													-	.09
	90.	Harmonic layout																														-
	91.	Consistent	.09	01	.10	02	.04	.12	03	10	.06	.10	.14	.07	12	.08	.08	02	13	03	02	10	.06	01	14	.08	01	01	01	.43	.09	.33
		formatting																														
	92.	Formatting errors	09	01	03	.03	18	08	14	03	14	01	08	07	.06	11	17	04	.06	.03	04	.07	.02	.11	08	01	02	02	08	33	.02	18
	93.	Page break within	.10	09	.18	.10	.14	.02	.12	08	12	.09	08	.08	11	11	.01	12	.03	.05	04	16	.02	19	03	.03	.04	04	.13	.25	.03	.11
		section																														
	94.	Page break within	02	11	.01	10	.14	.05	04	.03	11	.00	02	.07	.07	.07	06	03	.05	04	01	.04	.03	04	.02	09	.03	02	.11	.02	.10	.00
		bullet																														
	95.	Margin width	05	09	16	07	05	13	20	10	02	10	13	03	07	10	08	14	02	02	.01	20	18	.15	10	08	03	12	17	10	.04	.01
	96.	Space between	08	03	17	03	.10	01	07	02	.08	01	10	08	.00	12	08	.03	02	01	.00	04	13	.09	02	03	08	03	.02	11	07	.13
		sections																														
	97.	Line spacing	06	.01	15	.02	.01	.04	.12	.06	17	.03	11	02	.05	12	21	.04	03	.10	18	02	.13	06	13	07	.11	18	.02	10	05	.12
	98.	Fonts	02	.05	04	07	.09	.07	06	.09	02	.04	.02	02	.14	.00	03	08	.12	.00	.01	.23	06	.05	.07	.11	.00	.10	.08	16	10	11
	99.	Serious, usual fonts	.09	02	.08	01	.19	.07	02	02	.12	03	08	.03	10	.04	.07	07	.17	.02	.05	09	08	.19	.04	11	.29	.14	.04	.18	.08	09
	100.	Font without serif	.12	.13	.13	.05	04	.06	06	.10	01	.09	03	.03	.02	01	.00	.03	13	05	.04	02	09	02	15	17	.08	05	05	.16	.25	.11
	101.	Font size	06	01	.01	.06	.00	.20	.07	.17	04	01	.09	02	05	.02	03	.00	.00	.15	.04	.11	.04	12	.11	08	13	07	06	08	13	.07
	102.	Font size headers	13	.02	09	.06	06	.08	.06	01	12	03	05	09	.04	02	14	05	08	.08	08	02	.16	06	07	05	11	14	12	19	10	.11
91	103.	Font size text	.02	.04	.01	.05	.07	04	.02	02	01	14	08	.06	.06	.02	04	01	03	01	.15	01	.01	.11	11	01	.01	21	24	16	03	.00
	104.	Appropriate	.03	01	.10	.04	03	.08	.17	05	08	.13	.01	.08	15	.12	02	08	04	08	10	03	.25	30	13	.07	.08	.04	.01	.62	.19	.60
		highlighting																														
	105.	Italicized words	06	.01	06	.01	08	04	.12	09	.00	.08	.08	.05	.12	.20	.06	03	.18	06	.03	.04	.15	15	01	.21	05	.09	05	15	07	13
	106.	Underlined words	.07	06	12	06	01	13	02	.11	09	07	04	10	.07	08	08	08	02	06	02	.04	.03	.11	.01	07	09	11	.13	21	17	15
	107.	Capitalized words	24	.03	22	.18	01	.07	06	.10	.07	09	.04	14	.12	08	.09	.20	09	.00	.08	.09	01	10	09	05	10	14	15	10	06	.02
	108.	Number of	02	.26	.03	02	06	.10	04	.12	11	09	.03	10	.00	09	05	07	05	.09	07	.17	01	.00	.04	.00	07	.02	02	20	07	14
		symbols																														
	109.	Appropriate use of	24	05	.03	.01	.06	.07	.12	01	13	18	18	04	.06	09	26	10	16	20	21	03	.21	12	17	05	.02	06	.07	.44	01	.56
		color																														
	110.	Number of words	.05	.09	.31	04	08	.01	.08	08	.12	.22	.28	.04	14	.16	.19	06	03	.10	19	.06	.18	34	.22	.26	12	.29	.16	.27	13	01
	111.	Comprehensive/	.02	.01	.02	.22	.01	.09	03	05	10	.03	02	.06	10	.19	06	.00	03	08	.07	.12	01	09	14	.03	.06	09	05	04	.04	03
		secondary school																														
	112.	Business focus on	.10	10	.05	.07	01	02	01	04	.09	.07	05	10	.10	11	.15	03	03	06	13	09	.08	04	09	10	06	08	03	.01	08	01
		school																														
	113.	Science school	.00	.00	.00	.21	.20	.15	.02	.17	.19	08	.14	.02	08	.00	.12	.08	13	03	.04	.09	06	10	.07	.10	15	01	.01	.04	.02	01
		subjects																														
	114.	Humanities school	12	.01	.06	.11	.00	.02	01	.13	.13	10	.16	12	.05	05	.04	.03	12	02	03	.09	06	16	08	.08	13	.01	05	.08	08	.03
		subjects																														

	61.	62.	63.	64.	65.	66.	67.	68.	69.	70.	71.	72.	73.	74.	75.	76.	77.	78.	79.	80.	81.	82.	83.	84.	85.	86.	87.	88.	89.	90.
115. Language school subjects	.10	03	.06	02	.00	.02	04	.03	.09	04	.00	.02	05	08	.09	.00	.05	.06	13	01	.05	17	09	.02	13	02	11	.07	09	.10
116. Stays abroad	09	.10	04	.11	.06	03	.02	09	02	.13	.17	06	04	.00	.02	03	04	.04	05	06	.06	.03	.21	.13	07	.12	.13	12	13 -	11
117. Mean duration stays abroad durin school	13 g	.08	.06	.09	.05	14	01	01	02	08	02	.00	.12	09	12	.02	.04	04	04	13	05	.16	.01	.14	16	.07	01	13	05 -	07
118. Mean duration	.26	11	08	10	.10	.00	.00	06	02	02	08	.05	.08	.02	04	.16	.09	04	.14	02	01	.06	02	14	.15	11	14	07	.00 -	07
119. Study programs at technical/dual	.14	.52	.11	.08	08	.03	.05	.07	.07	.15	.05	16	.02	.02	05	08	.07	.03	03	.00	09	.10	04	07	04	.04	.12	02	.05 -	04
120. Duration bachelor studies	02	.14	.09	02	20	16	11	01	04	.02	15	04	.03	06	01	20	08	01	.19	05	09	.00	02	23	.22	.04	.09	.07	03	.11
121. Business administration studies	.29	01	.20	11	.06	.11	04	01	.13	11	.14	.16	16	.01	17	.06	04	.17	.11	07	09	.01	.14	18	01	.02	.01	.15	07	.09
122. Economics studies	28	14	.02	06	05	11	01	.03	09	10	08	09	.28	09	.03	05	02	01	.00	04	01	.10	17	.05	.07	16	.00	11	09 -	02
123. Business and economics studies	.02	.01	02	.12	02	.06	09	.05	08	.09	13	.02	02	08	01	.16	.04	.04	.07	.13	.04	.02	.05	11	.18	.09	.01	02	.18	.02
124. Neighbouring	11	12	17	.05	09	15	11	10	03	.16	16	05	.00	.03	.12	15	.02	05	06	08	.08	.05	21	05	.01	11	10	11	02 -	02
125. Study focusses on finance	.32	06	.20	.13	.19	.04	02	03	.15	02	.03	.30	16	.01	05	.10	08	09	.05	11	05	.00	.04	10	.10	04	.02	.18	.09	.01
126. Study focusses on controlling	.03	.11	.07	.18	07	04	04	15	.11	.05	.03	05	05	07	.06	.02	08	.07	03	.03	.06	12	.14	07	04	.01	.05	.07	02 -	02
127. Study focusses on	.15	.22	03	.12	.11	02	10	.15	.09	.04	11	11	.07	.07	10	09	.10	07	06	.08	20	.10	06	07	03	02	.09	05	.01 -	04
128. Study focusses on	.03	10	.16	09	05	.00	03	.08	07	11	.03	.25	01	11	03	.01	01	05	01	02	09	15	05	.06	.01	07	.00	.11	01	.06
129. Study focusses on informatics	.10	.06	.14	11	02	.03	11	01	.02	.16	01	16	01	.00	09	09	03	.00	04	.05	.04	.01	09	01	06	.14	.07	.09	07	.14
130. Study focuses on neighbouring disciplines	04	04	.01	.01	12	07	03	.20	10	.03	02	12	.01	08	09	10	.10	08	04	.17	01	03	09	.03	09	.01	.13	.02	01	.07
131. Theses topics	05	.09	.17	02	.04	.04	02	02	.09	.12	03	.09	05	03	07	09	05	05	03	.04	.00	08	01	05	.05	.05	.13	.03	05 -	01
132. Theses with companies	.09	.21	.07	.11	11	17	10	16	.08	.14	.08	12	05	.05	09	.00	.02	.05	.07	06	06	.02	.02	08	01	.01	.25	.15	.24	.08

	61.	62.	63.	64.	65.	66.	67.	68.	69.	70.	71.	72.	73.	74.	75.	76.	77.	78.	79.	80.	81.	82.	83.	84.	85.	86.	87.	88.	89.	90.
133. Bachelor thesis	.09	09	.09	01	.03	08	14	.02	.05	.12	.12	.13	05	.05	04	.09	.03	.07	08	.03	11	14	11	.04	01	15	08	.11	08	06
presented with																														
mark																														
134. Semesters abroad	01	.06	.12	07	05	.08	.07	10	.04	.15	.02	.06	01	.07	.13	07	06	01	04	.08	.17	16	.08	.04	.01	.13	01	.02	03	06
135. Apprenticeships	.38	03	.05	.19	.06	04	10	13	11	07	.15	.00	01	06	04	.23	02	.02	.07	17	11	.00	03	07	.14	05	15	.01	.11	.01
136. Work and travel/au	21	03	14	06	03	09	.10	03	02	08	.04	09	07	.01	.09	01	.12	01	.04	02	.07	10	.04	08	.13	.04	.05	.13	.07	.06
pair																														
137. Internships	01	07	.06	.05	.13	.12	01	03	.16	.18	.03	.34	.01	.25	.10	06	.15	.06	.03	.04	08	.00	01	.17	.04	.06	11	.02	10	10
138. Internships/jobs	.35	.18	.60	.20	.11	.01	01	05	.13	.13	.14	.30	07	.09	11	.01	07	.07	07	04	16	09	07	03	.00	.03	11	.11	.01	.10
relevant for																														
position																														
139. Internships/jobs in	14	.10	.22	01	14	01	.03	.01	.01	07	.13	16	.03	04	02	.02	05	.14	02	03	.07	.03	01	.02	14	.13	.16	.01	03	.02
research											-	-														-	-			
140. Internships/jobs in	.02	.01	.05	11	07	08	07	10	.01	.13	.10	03	.07	.05	.03	02	03	.00	.15	08	.02	15	02	03	.10	.00	01	11	10	05
consulting																														
141. Internships/jobs	18	.14	05	.04	08	.08	.08	06	04	06	.18	09	.11	.06	05	.05	.06	.03	.04	.00	.09	27	04	.24	05	.10	.05	.01	08	.04
abroad																														
142. Inconsistent	14	05	.00	.01	10	11	02	.14	11	04	.00	16	.18	.02	.01	07	.12	.04	.03	.13	.13	.02	.03	.02	01	.07	.13	.05	10	.06
descriptions																														
internships/jobs																														
143. Detailed	.07	.03	.35	07	18	09	.08	06	.02	.20	.00	.16	13	.02	.07	06	.06	.03	16	01	.10	29	05	.05	02	.06	10	.28	07	.11
descriptions																														
internships/jobs																														
144. Business languages	.00	.11	.10	.15	.20	.14	09	.10	07	.05	17	.08	.03	.08	17	.16	13	02	.15	.02	11	.06	02	06	.14	05	03	.11	.14	.17
145. Business English	.12	.09	.08	.10	03	13	04	13	.04	09	.18	03	11	.11	.07	03	01	.13	.13	11	02	.15	.20	09	03	.16	.06	06	05	.02
146. English level	.13	.07	.12	04	.06	.07	03	15	.13	.23	.07	.25	12	.25	.04	10	07	.17	.05	.02	.02	18	.12	.12	03	.17	09	.13	.07	.07
147. English TOEFL	.10	07	.10	03	.15	.08	01	02	.09	.12	.09	.22	07	.17	.07	11	03	.18	.01	.02	04	11	.15	.26	02	.14	03	.17	02	06
148. English CEFR	08	.19	08	.09	.02	.07	01	.00	12	.01	06	15	03	09	09	.00	.14	.03	.04	.06	02	08	.05	18	.05	.12	04	.05	.10	.15
149. Language tests	.15	.03	.17	.06	.02	.00	04	06	.09	.05	.29	.16	05	.19	.13	08	13	.14	.09	02	08	03	.18	.20	01	.25	.10	.08	07	05
150. Language trainings	.15	.05	01	.12	.05	13	05	09	.05	.21	05	.04	12	.01	.07	12	.02	.08	.09	03	03	.04	.01	09	.02	.06	01	02	08	02
151. Substantial	.04	.05	.08	.01	02	01	21	09	.09	07	13	.12	07	.04	.06	.04	17	.02	02	08	05	.15	13	13	.06	09	10	.03	01	03
software skills																														
152. Mathematical	31	12	16	04	03	.03	.00	04	02	05	11	03	.05	08	.06	07	.04	12	.00	08	.15	08	18	08	.01	14	06	04	07	.07
software skills			-																		-									
153. Webpage software	06	.03	.02	.01	08	03	11	.05	03	.07	03	11	.15	07	12	.13	06	.00	.08	04	10	01	03	12	.03	.06	.07	03	04	.04
skills													-			-														
154. IT trainings	.14	06	07	08	.05	.03	08	.08	08	07	04	05	13	07	10	06	.16	.07	.14	05	07	.03	01	07	.02	.08	.17	.05	.02	.03

		61.	62.	63.	64.	65.	66.	67.	68.	69.	70.	71.	72.	73.	74.	75.	76.	77.	78.	79.	80.	81.	82.	83.	84.	85.	86.	87.	88.	89.	90.
1;	55. German Academic Scholarship	10	.06	.04	08	11	01	.00	12	.19	.15	.10	09	02	03	04	01	.03	07	12	.01	.08	07	.10	.27	18	.20	.16	05	13	01
	Foundation																														
1:	56. Germany	.26	.00	.25	06	04	03	.10	01	02	.02	.35	.22	.05	.03	12	02	.00	02	.05	.02	06	06	.16	.12	06 -	03	.09	.07	.06	.04
	Scholarship																														
1:	57. Non-financial	.04	.04	.11	. 05	.10	04	01	16	.06	06	.06	.02	01	02	.05	07	08	03	04	04	05	13	07	.21	07	.03 -	04	.04	.08	10
	scholarships																														
1:	58. Scholarships	15	20	.05	05	13	19	.09	.09	.05	.13	02	.04	08	02	.07	08	12	01	02	.09	.13	.01	.09	.06	03 -	.05	.05	.11	04	.03
	abroad																														
1:	59. Erasmus	05	13	08	02	14	13	.10	06	02	.02	.06	13	07	09	.06	.08	10	.02	02	.04	.12	05	06	.02	.00 -	11	.00	.07	04	.03
10	50. PROMOS	04	08	.23	05	03	01	.07	.17	.11	.05	13	.28	07	.04	03	09	08	07	.03	.03	.00	.00	.08	07	04 -	.05 -	09	.07	09	.05
10	51. Political EAs	03	07	03	02	15	11	04	.00	06	09	01	07	05	08	.03	03	07	03	.00	09	03	.07	.01	01	.06 -	.06 -	12	.04	.03	.00
10	52. Religious EAs	18	05	12	11	07	.05	14	09	06	09	.00	10	05	08	05	11	.15	.07	.10	.02	09	.08	.12	.00	.05 -	.04	.12	10	.13	15
10	53. EAs abroad	15	.05	01	14	01	09	07	02	06	02	11	03	.14	01	09	04	05	10	08	05	.05	.02	.02	.02	14 -	.07 -	11	.01	13	.01
10	64. Political/historical	04	.08	07	.00	03	04	.00	14	.02	.10	.02	.00	.13	02	.08	.31	06	.05	02	10	.11	04	.07	.19	06 -	.02 -	02	07	03	.02
	hobbies																														
10	55. Professional	.08	.18	.06	.05	03	11	01	.09	04	.00	.08	.03	09	.05	.03	.02	09	08	.01	.07	11	.15	04	08	.03 -	.07 -	09	21	.02	13
9	licenses/																														
Ã	certifications																														
10	66. Driver's license	08	.05	13	.03	.03	02	.03	.11	13	02	07	10	03	11	.04	08	.06	11	05	.07	.03	.11	05	11	.12 -	07	.00	06	.03	02
10	67. Academic/	.10	.08	.05	.03	11	10	02	05	01	.07	04	02	11	.04	16	.06	12	.00	.12	.01	09	07	20	.14	09 -	14 -	04	11	.10	08
	professional																														
	trainings																														
10	68. Quality of	24	.08	.12	05	14	02	.18	.00	.15	02	.10	.02	11	.10	.15	07	.06	.03	15	.01	.11	13	.06	.29	23	.19	.03	.10	09	07
	leadership																														
	experiences																														
		91.	92.	93.	94.	95.	96.	97.	98.	99.	100.	101.	102.	103.	104.	105.	106.	107.	108.	109.	110.	111.	112.	113.	114.	115.1	16.1	117.	118.	119.	120.
9	1. Consistent	-	51	07	21	.20	.03	.06	05	02	.16	11	.00	15	.45	06	06	.05	24	.12	.05	09	07	01	03	.12	.09 -	06	.06	08	04
9′	P Formatting errors		_	- 13	08	- 08	05	- 01	08	- 10	- 07	13	20	05	- 21	- 04	05	05	27	- 09	- 06	16	11	- 17	- 03	- 17 -	- 10	08	04	- 08	- 07
9	Page break within			-	28	- 05	- 10	- 03	- 06	21	01	01	- 14	- 10	22	- 08	- 01	- 25	- 05	03	25	- 04	- 17	- 01	- 04	05	01 -	- 07	- 07	- 11	11
).	section				.20	.05	.10	.05	.00	•#1	.01	.01	.17	.10		.00	.01	25	.05	.05	•20	.04	-•1/	.01	.04	.05	.01	.07	.07	• • • •	• • •
94	4. Page break within				_	05	19	08	03	.10	10	01	02	.03	05	02	.02	07	03	05	.09	01	06	05	03	07 -	.03 -	06	03	.01	.05
	bullet																				,										
9	5. Margin width					-	.31	.07	07	.05	.06	21	.08	.02	.06	07	.17	.16	21	.05	41	.10	15	03	03	.06 -	.02 -	03	07	15	.02
90	6. Space between						-	.11	.08	23	.01	.10	.06	09	01	07	.04	.18	10	.04	36	02	10	05	04	05	.05	.01	03	02	.04
	sections										1				1																
9′	7. Line spacing							-	12	24	.02	.03	.15	.07	.07	08	.07	.02	.03	.13	24	08	01	07	11	.03 -	09 -	02	.07	02	02

		91.	92.	93.	94.	95.	96.	97.	98.	99.	100.	101.	102.	103.	104.	105.	106.	107.	108.	109.	110.	111.	112.	113.	114.	115.	116.	117.	118.	119.120).
98.	Fonts								-	.02	32	.11	.00	.02	12	.09	.05	15	.03	07	.09	.01	06	11	06	15	.04	.02	.07	.03 .12	2
99.	Serious, usual fonts									-	16	33	25	08	.02	04	04	41	08	04	.10	01	.03	.02	.02	04	08	06	.07	09 .02	2
100	. Font without serif										-	.03	03	02	.22	20	05	.05	.11	.07	02	06	06	.01	.01	.05	.03	.03	06	.210	9
101	. Font size											-	.34	02	05	14	.03	.25	.13	08	.02	05	.13	.12	.06	.15	02	06	.10	.05 .06	5
102	. Font size headers												-	.33	.11	04	.01	.18	.12	.14	27	.18	.02	12	01	.11	.07	.00	05	.070	7
103	. Font size text													-	05	.06	03	02	.02	.09	41	.16	.06	11	.00	16	08	01	.04	.08 .02	2
104	. Appropriate														-	08	26	05	24	.45	.08	.02	10	03	.05	.11	10	09	12	.000	8
	highlighting																														
105	. Italicized words															-	.05	08	06	05	02	.00	06	.06	.10	.04	06	11	.05	100	6
106	. Underlined words																-	.07	.05	11	11	07	.04	10	02	.15	.08	.14	.12	01 .04	ł
107	. Capitalized words																	-	.07	04	12	.11	.11	.10	.23	.10	.00	03	.02	060	5
108	. Number of																		-	.00	.20	04	.04	10	.02	04	08	02	01	.15 .03	5
	symbols																														
109	. Appropriate use of																			-	18	.10	13	07	.04	.13	11	01	21	02 .11	1
	color																					•			~ -				~-	10 00	
110	. Number of words																				-	20	01	.02	.07	.14	.17	.00	07	.10 .08	3
111	. Comprehensive/																					-	03	12	11	12	10	09	02	040	3
0	secondary school																							16	•		10	0.1	0.6		
7 112	. Business focus on																						-	.16	.36	.17	12	01	.06	.02 .04	ł
110	school																								40	20	00	00	06	00 1	4
113	. Science school																							-	.49	.28	09	08	06	0814	4
114	subjects																									22	10	02	16	07 0	7
114	. Humanities school																								-	.33	10	03	10	070	/
115																											07	02	04	10 0	0
113	. Language school																									-	07	.05	04	100	3
116	Stave abroad																											13	12	13 0	7
110	during school																										-	.45	15	.150	/
117	Mean duration																											_	- 07	$12 - 0^{\circ}$	2
11/	stave abroad during																											-	07	.120	2
	school																														
118	Mean duration																												_	- 10 - 0	7
110	academic gaps																													.10 .0	'
119	. Study programs at																													0	5
,	technical/dual																													.0	-
	colleges																														
120	. Duration bachelor																													-	
	studies																														

- 11	<u>95.</u> 02	<u>96.</u> 13	<u>97.</u> 04	98.	99.	$\frac{100.}{13}$	101.	102.	103.	$\frac{104.}{02}$	105.	106.	107.	108.	109.	$\frac{110}{-02}$	111.	112.	$\frac{113}{-07}$	114.	<u>115.</u> 00	116.	11/.	$\frac{118}{02}$	119.	<u>120.</u> 03
11	.02	.13	.04	00	04	.15	.10	.00	00	.02	10	01	.00	.02	04	02	00	15	07	09	.00	05	11	.02	00	.05
.15	01	11	04	.09	.00	13	16	17	.08	15	.01	02	.03	07	.10	.00	02	.08	06	01	11	05	.10	.02	05	.01
.00	00	09	.07	.02	.05	10	15	.12	.05	.08	05	07	.00	.02	.00	00	.11	.05	07	00	.00	05	.01	09	1/	.11
10	03	.02	01	02	05	.00	02	.05	.07	15	.06	.17	01	04	06	07	.12	.19	07	03	04	01	02	.05	09	.10
.00	03	11	08	11	.08	.15	.04	13	01	.02	08	11	.01	03	13	.02	12	.14	.17	.11	.04	.03	11	.00	17	.04
.00	08	09	11	.04	15	.03	.11	.10	10	.07	02	.04	.03	08	02	.25	08	01	.02	03	.11	.22	07	05	.21	.01
01	.07	.08	.07	.02	.10	.11	16	11	.03	05	.05	.07	09	.10	.02	16	.02	02	04	02	11	09	03	.04	.35	02
01	.11	05	.09	13	18	.16	.01	.05	06	.10	05	.12	.05	.00	04	.01	12	03	.01	03	.04	01	.04	.00	08	.00
.07	04	06	02	06	02	.09	.04	.11	08	.19	02	09	.01	.09	.11	.08	03	.11	.02	.20	.15	08	07	09	.06	.08
01	13	.00	03	.08	05	.12	.06	.09	10	.03	11	.21	05	.08	.04	.11	08	.05	.03	.19	.06	.13	.18	02	.06	.10
.00	16	05	12	.11	03	.04	.10	.03	12	05	17	.02	.02	.21	05	.19	.11	.05	07	.01	02	09	01	07	.02	.11
10	10	.03	08	.01	.04	.12	.00	06	04	.08	13	08	08	05	04	.11	.01	.05	06	05	09	.06	02	.04	.48	.00
03	09	13	02	05	01	.01	.05	13	09	.05	05	04	04	08	07	.21	.01	.12	.01	.00	.22	09	03	.02	.00	.03
.24	19	32	07	.09	05	06	09	12	08	06	.19	06	06	.10	06	.42	04	.01	06	10	02	.04	11	.02	.11	.10
07 11	01 .01	11 .13	.02 .05	06 14	.04 .02	.05 .07	.02 07	03 13	.08 07	08 .14	06 03	.04 07	.02 .01	.05 10	11 .15	03 .01	.10 09	.10 04	01 .04	06 .04	09 12	05 .01	03 03	.45 .15	.00 .00	05 .04
01	.07	03	03	.12	.02	12	.04	10	14	.01	.20	09	.10	13	11	.10	.06	20	.05	13	.11	.06	05	15	09	09
06	.08	03	08	01	.00	.20	.06	06	.00	.09	.00	04	.01	.01	.00	.12	.04	.04	04	.00	.12	05	.08	.02	.09	.06
05	10	05	_ 73	04	07	08	12	01	05	06	00	05	04	02	02	07	02	22	00	11	00	02	10	16	24	01

91. 92. 93.

.06 -.15 .11

-.01 .09 .00

-.08 .28 -.20

-.07 .06 .15

.05 -.07 -.09

.02 -.08 .12

.08 .02 -.10

.18 -.22 .02

.19 -.07 .07

121. Business

123. Business and

124. Neighbouring disciplines

finance

controlling

logistics

economics

informatics

neighbouring disciplines 131. Theses topics

132. Theses with

mark

pair 137. Internships

companies 133. Bachelor thesis

135. Apprenticeships

138. Internships/jobs

relevant for position

research

presented with

administration studies

economics studies

122. Economics studies -.04 .02 .05

125. Study focusses on .10 -.12 .11

126. Study focusses on .08 .03 .03

127. Study focusses on -.12 .05 -.06

128. Study focusses on .12 -.13 .16

129. Study focusses on .15 -.06 -.04

134. Semesters abroad -.02 -.04 .08

136. Work and travel/au .16 -.08 .04

139. Internships/jobs in -.06 .12 -.02

6 130. Study focuses on .01 .10 -.04

	91.	92.	93.	94.	95.	96.	97.	98.	99.	100.	101.	102.	103.	104.	105.	106.	107.	108.	109.	110.	111.	112.	113.	114.	115.	116.	117.	118.	119. 1	120.
140. Internships/jobs in consulting	02	.04	.01	01	16	04	.01	.18	06	.06	.15	.01	.04	06	.10	.11	05	.07	11	.18	03	.07	05	05	.09	.09	.07	.09	04	.09
141. Internships/jobs abroad	.03	03	04	.01	14	10	07	.08	05	06	.09	01	08	.09	.16	.07	.30	.03	04	.29	10	07	.00	.09	.18	.04	02	.06	.05 -	02
142. Inconsistent descriptions internships/jobs	14	.13	.06	.08	11	12	04	.08	07	.07	.03	.05	04	.02	.07	.07	.01	.03	04	.15	07	.13	02	.09	.02	.00	.02	05	.11	.02
143. Detailed descriptions internships/jobs	.08	07	.38	.06	21	24	19	02	.08	.13	.02	16	19	.25	03	08	15	.13	06	.63	23	01	03	.10	.19	03	03	05	05	.19
144. Business languages	.01	07	.11	.00	05	04	.01	05	.27	.14	02	05	.08	.09	11	08	14	.02	.06	17	.12	04	.12	.01	09	17	04	.06	.04 -	06
145. Business English	.00	11	15	.03	02	.03	07	03	05	.05	.08	.08	.10	.10	05	10	05	06	03	09	10	06	01	08	07	.11	.15	13	.28	.02
146. English level	.14	11	.03	.06	04	04	20	02	.02	.08	07	05	17	.21	.13	15	12	05	.11	.29	16	19	.02	09	.04	.10	.08	06	.08 -	01
147. English TOEFL	.12	11	.08	.02	01	06	17	.01	.08	.04	09	03	15	.08	.07	15	14	06	.07	.29	10	17	.08	.00	.11	.17	.05	11	12 -	01
148. English CEFR	04	.01	03	.12	.07	.04	.02	.06	.02	04	.08	.13	07	.12	.00	10	.09	.09	.14	02	.03	07	05	02	04	.07	.04	.01	.23	.05
149. Language tests	.03	08	.06	.01	11	06	29	10	.00	.09	03	05	10	.02	.07	13	10	06	10	.25	09	14	.03	.00	.06	.28	.11	14	.03 -	06
150. Language trainings	.08	04	.01	04	04	02	.00	.07	.12	09	.04	.09	.02	.03	11	01	12	.06	.03	01	01	.12	06	14	09	.10	10	.20	.05 -	06
151. Substantial	02	.15	06	.12	07	19	06	19	.01	.03	03	03	08	06	07	07	.08	.11	.07	.02	.10	.05	01	09	.04	17	.01	01	03	.02
software skills																														
152. Mathematical software skills	08	.06	.01	.07	.10	.05	04	08	01	06	10	07	.03	07	.05	.05	.25	06	.09	06	.02	.18	.16	.04	.01	05	.08	04	15	.02
153. Webpage software skills	18	.05	.00	.09	23	09	02	.04	03	.09	.03	05	04	18	.03	.11	.01	.14	01	.07	09	.19	.05	.12	.01	11	03	.08	.10	.20
154. IT trainings	.08	.09	.14	.05	.13	.11	.05	03	.04	.01	02	.04	07	.15	10	01	07	09	14	03	07	10	08	06	.06	.03	03	07	09 -	05
155. German Academic	.00	.04	06	10	04	.09	01	.17	.02	14	11	17	16	07	.06	.09	08	01	07	.17	08	.06	04	.04	.00	.03	.18	11	.08 -	12
Scholarship																														
Foundation																														
156. Germany Scholarship	.17	16	10	03	.07	.09	.11	01	18	03	.02	03	.02	.04	.21	.03	11	11	01	06	.09	12	.06	.03	04	.03	03	.00	.08	.03
157. Non-financial scholarships	.08	18	.06	.03	.00	09	02	07	.08	.03	18	10	.01	02	01	.02	07	08	08	.16	07	.03	.11	.10	.12	.10	.12	05	03	.05
158. Scholarships abroad	.09	08	.15	.07	.01	17	.03	.00	08	02	.04	11	12	02	09	.03	.00	13	06	.23	07	11	04	16	06	.02	.00	01	11	.09
159. Erasmus	.12	07	.14	02	02	18	.03	07	.00	04	10	09	06	.04	11	.03	06	08	.00	.15	.01	12	03	12	02	03	10	02	05	.00
160. PROMOS	.03	12	.09	.10	.14	06	.10	12	17	.09	.16	01	.02	05	07	.12	.07	09	02	.07	08	10	04	07	.07	.09	.00	05	07	.12
161. Political EAs	10	.14	04	09	.02	04	.15	.05	.05	03	08	11	.09	11	.03	.12	09	11	.06	06	.07	.00	.00	.06	01	06	.00	.01	13	.22
162. Religious EAs	05	.08	06	02	03	.02	12	.10	.02	16	03	04	11	07	01	07	08	.04	16	.02	03	08	10	08	13	01	06	08	.00	.01
163. EAs abroad	.05	10	.07	.09	.10	.03	.01	.10	.01	14	11	.01	.02	.03	05	.05	.06	11	.09	.03	08	10	16	06	04	.15	.31	.08	09	.07

		91.	92.	93.	94.	95.	96.	97.	98.	99.	100.	101.	102.	103.	104.	105.	106.	107.	108.	109.	110.	111.	112.	113.	114.	115.	116.	117.	118.	119.	120.
164.	Political/historical hobbies	.11	05	04	09	10	.04	.14	.12	03	.01	12	.04	.02	09	.03	05	.02	06	17	.06	07	10	11	10	10	.15	02	.15	.00	06
165.	Professional licenses/ certifications	13	01	03	.20	05	02	.00	14	01	03	06	.07	.20	17	06	08	.02	.07	25	08	09	.05	05	03	07	.16	.16	07	.22	.02
166.	Driver's license	03	.06	05	07	.01	02	.11	.19	.06	03	.01	.19	.26	.02	06	.13	11	.06	.03	21	.03	.09	07	03	12	.02	01	.03	.08	.07
167.	Academic/	10	.09	.07	04	03	11	.06	.00	17	.00	03	.03	04	04	06	03	.01	.08	19	.14	.10	03	04	.05	.06	04	.11	11	.13	.04
	professional trainings																														
168.	Quality of	08	.05	.10	.05	38	19	21	.10	.09	21	.03	17	11	10	.15	13	17	.14	.00	.51	10	.01	.06	.10	.08	.04	.04	19	.07	.07
	leadership																														
	experiences																														
		121.	122.	123.	124.	125.	126.	127.	128.	129.	130.	131.	132.	133.	134.	135.	136.	137.	138.	139.	140.	141.	142.	143.	144.	145.	146.	147.	148.	149.	150.
121.	Business administration	-	45	25	42	.22	07	.00	.06	.03	16	.20	.01	.15	13	07	06	.06	.13	.01	01	12	09	01	.10	.15	.03	.14	.01	.13	.12
	studies																														
122.	Economics studies		-	13	.15	07	10	11	.20	15	.07	.03	11	07	.22	.01	.06	02	.04	.23	.06	.07	.14	.03	10	13	08	10	13	.00	14
123.	Business and economics studies			-	14	.08	.09	05	08	.17	06	03	.00	01	07	.01	07	06	10	12	04	14	05	09	.02	09	.08	08	.13	05	04
124.	Neighbouring				-	09	.09	.01	08	12	.31	13	.06	06	06	.05	01	03	09	.08	.10	11	.05	.08	06	15	21	09	19	13	.02
	disciplines																														
125.	Study focusses on					-	.06	15	.26	12	.03	.09	05	.21	04	.07	02	.05	.15	03	03	12	11	.10	.18	06	.04	.06	15	.04	02
	finance																														
126.	Study focusses on controlling						-	07	02	10	.03	.08	.36	.20	.11	.07	08	09	02	.14	04	.08	.15	.09	10	.10	.12	08	.14	.01	.01
127.	Study focusses on logistics							-	11	.31	.02	03	.23	05	09	01	.01	05	.04	05	11	12	.01	17	.15	.08	09	16	.11	14	.03
128.	Study focusses on								_	09	.26	.20	12	.10	.09	02	.09	.13	.11	06	.16	.01	.10	.21	09	14	.08	.10	14	.10	07
	economics									,					,		,								.05						,
129.	Study focusses on									-	.13	.11	.13	05	.11	10	04	03	.09	.01	.05	09	.04	.05	.01	.07	.00	02	.11	09	02
	informatics																														
130.	Study focuses on										-	.03	.11	13	08	03	.01	06	.06	.10	.22	06	.22	.26	03	01	05	04	.03	09	01
	neighbouring																														
	disciplines																														
131.	Theses topics											-	.15	.32	.13	09	.01	05	.11	.09	.03	07	.02	.16	.12	14	.10	07	.10	09	14
132.	Theses with												-	.01	.05	.10	.10	12	.13	.25	07	06	.10	06	.04	.16	.08	10	.20	02	.13
	companies																														
	121.	122.	123.	124.	125.	126.	127.	128.	129.	130.	131.	132.	133.	134.	135.	136.	137.	138.	139.	140.	141.	142.	143	144.	. 145.	146.	147.	. 148.	149.	150.	
--	------	------	------	------	------	------	------	------	------	------	------	------	------	------	------	------	------	------	------	------	------	------	------	------	--------	------	------	--------	------	------	
133. Bachelor thesis presented with mark													-	01	.04	.07	.01	.04	.08	07	.00	.01	.14	.09	09	.15	.07	05	.06	07	
134 Semesters abroad														_	19	- 03	12	13	02	.23	16	.17	.21	25	- 07	.29	.19	09	.19	- 01	
135 Apprenticeships																02	36	09	00	- 10	- 01	- 15	- 02	.18	14	- 10	17	12	- 08	.19	
136. Work and travel/au																-	14	11	.12	04	12	.08	01	09	.06	.15	.07	.07	.03	.02	
pair																															
137. Internships																	-	.32	31	.24	.21	08	.12	10	06	.14	.28	13	.14	.04	
138. Internships/jobs																		-	.19	.16	.03	13	.24	01	.08	.20	.10	.07	.11	.05	
relevant for																															
position																															
139. Internships/jobs in																			-	10	03	.22	07	03	.14	.05	10	.08	.18	05	
research																															
140. Internships/jobs in																				-	.02	.02	.17	15	06	.08	.10	09	.02	.09	
consulting																						~-									
141. Internships/jobs																					-	.07	.15	09	04	.02	.03	02	.12	06	
abroad																															
142. Inconsistent																						-	.15	.00	.08	.04	.00	.14	.08	.02	
descriptions																															
internships/jobs																													0.6	•	
143. Detailed																							-	02	10	.16	.17	10	.06	03	
descriptions																															
internships/jobs																									•••				10	0.0	
144. Business languages	5																							-	.02	02	11	.11	13	03	
145. Business English																									-	.20	09	.21	.19	.28	
146. English level																										-	.54	.36	.48	.17	
147. English TOEFL																											-	09	.05	.12	
148. English CEFR																												-	09	.13	
149. Language tests																													-	.10	
150. Language trainings	04	02	02	00	14	01	00	00	01	16	00	02	05	02	06	06	06	02	02	12	14	02	00	10	04	12	00	00	06	-	
151. Substantial	.04	.03	.03	.00	.14	.01	.00	.06	.01	16	.08	02	.05	.03	.06	06	06	02	.03	13	14	03	.00	.10	04	.13	.08	06	.06	10	
software skills	17	20	00	20	05	11	04	17	04	00	00	00	02	00	01	15	00	06	16	02	01	00	01	10	10	00	00	00	02	12	
software skills	1/	.30	.00	.20	.05	11	04	.17	04	.08	.08	09	02	.08	01	.15	08	00	.10	.03	01	.00	.01	12	12	.00	.00	09	03	13	
153. Webpage software	08	.04	.15	.09	06	03	.11	11	.17	03	01	.12	.00	.09	.03	02	12	.03	.05	.05	.10	.04	.03	.10	08	05	05	.09	01	06	
skills																															
154. IT trainings	.16	04	.08	11	02	07	07	.08	.05	.05	.04	07	.02	05	13	08	04	09	01	.05	08	.05	08	06	09	.06	.09	.13	.08	09	

			121.	122.	123.	124.	125.	126.	127.	128.	129.	130.	131.	132.	133.	134.	135.	136.	137.	. 138.	. 139.	140.	141.	142.	143.	144.	145.	146.	147.	148.	149.	150.
	155.	German Academic	13	.14	.01	06	11	07	.03	.05	02	.13	.05	.02	05	09	01	08	03	03	.10	02	.11	.01	02	02	10	.08	03	07	.03	10
		Scholarship																														
		Foundation																														
	156.	Germany	.16	12	13	08	.00	08	.01	.08	.10	.09	04	.09	07	.00	.01	.08	.13	.18	01	.08	01	04	11	15	.13	.00	.05	.00	.01	03
		Scholarship																														
	157.	Non-financial	10	01	02	09	.03	.04	07	.09	03	03	05	.04	.04	.14	.17	01	.05	.12	02	04	.13	.00	.07	.04	.10	.17	.09	.06	.11	04
		scholarships																														
	158.	Scholarships	01	.24	11	.02	03	.10	10	.06	03	06	.09	04	.18	.33	08	.12	.09	02	01	.01	05	.21	.17	06	03	.10	.16	09	.09	.01
		abroad																														
	159.	Erasmus	06	.24	12	.11	02	.13	08	.02	12	.01	02	.01	.21	.24	10	.18	.03	10	.05	02	.01	.14	.19	02	11	.04	.01	10	.03	02
	160	PROMOS	15	00	02	- 11	14	05	- 07	.23	- 01	- 08	12	- 08	04	.22	- 13	- 08	.18	14	- 08	05	- 02	- 04	10	- 12	- 09	08	12	- 11	.09	- 09
	161	Political EAs	- 12	.00	- 01	.24	- 03	- 03	02	- 10	- 11	06	- 05	- 05	- 02	- 05	14	- 05	- 13	- 02	01	.05	- 04	- 04	- 02	- 11	- 02	- 14	- 13	01	19	- 12
	162	Religious EAs	- 06	.00	09	00	- 02	12	- 01	- 05	- 01	.00	06	.20	- 09	06	- 10	- 03	15	- 05	- 10	10	- 03	- 07	- 06	- 05	01	06	- 06	03	- 02	- 12
	163	EAs abroad	00	18	- 03	- 02	- 13	03	- 10	- 04	- 01	.02	02	- 11	01	07	- 06	- 11	- 09	- 03	- 06	02	08	00	07	- 05	- 04	05	02	07	- 04	- 04
	164	Political/historical	- 17	11	04	06	- 06	03	- 07	06	- 10	02	- 18	02	- 11	13	.00	- 08	- 04	- 03	- 11	05	11	.00	01	- 08	- 09	07	.02	01	- 06	05
	104.	hobbies	-•1 /	• • • •	.04	.00	.00	.05	.07	.00	.10	.02	10	.02	• • • •	.15	.07	.00	.04	.05	.11	.05	• • • •	.05	.01	.00	.07	.07	.00	.01	.00	.05
	165	Professional	- 02	02	08	- 09	07	00	14	- 07	00	- 09	- 07	- 09	07	- 03	- 02	- 09	- 02	- 05	07	- 08	- 01	- 03	- 10	10	38	06	- 08	04	21	07
	105.	licenses/	.02	.02	.00	.07	.07	.00	.17	.07	.00	.07	.07	.07	.07	.05	.02	.07	.02	.05	.07	.00	.01	.05	.10	.10		.00	.00	.04	•#1	.07
0		certifications																														
0	166	Driver's license	- 17	- 09	10	26	- 02	06	- 03	- 11	- 16	03	- 07	03	- 12	- 18	12	- 05	- 23	- 13	03	- 04	- 18	01	- 13	- 05	- 01	- 20	- 09	- 05	- 13	10
	167	A cademic/	- 04	07	- 01	- 04	02	.00	05	- 08	10	- 03	07	13	12	12	- 10	05	03	15	.05	04	10	- 07	01	05	01	03	07	- 08	00	- 12
	107.	nrofessional	04	.05	01	04	07	.00	.05	08	.00	05	.23	.15	.04	.12	10	08	.05	.09	.01	.05	.04	07	.01	.00	02	.05	01	08	.00	12
		trainings																														
	168	Quality of	24	05	- 01	00	- 02	00	- 1/	- 13	05	01	00	00	08	20	- 14	03	03	- 05	20	00	17	06	26	_ 1/	_ 11	16	07	_ 01	01	- 00
	100.	leadership	24	.05	01	.09	02	.09	14	15	05	.01	.00	.00	.08	.20	14	05	.05	05	.20	.09	•1 /	.00	.20	14	11	.10	.07	01	.01	09
		experiences																														
		experiences	151	152	152	154	155	156	157	150	150	160	161	162	162	164	165	166	167	169												
	151	Substantial	131.	132.	133.	154.	10	130.	137.	136.	139.	100.	101.	102.	105.	104.	105.	02	04	100.												
	151.	substantial	-	.14	.07	05	.10	23	01	.04	.05	05	08	.04	.00	01	04	.05	.04	.10												
	150	Mathamatical			00	00	11	16	06	12	02	10	02	00	21	00	00	07	06	01												
	132.			-	09	09	.11	10	00	.12	.02	.10	05	08	.41	09	.00	07	00	01												
	152	Software skills				06	06	10	04	00	01	02	01	04	11	17	04	02	02	12												
	133.	webpage software			-	00	.00	10	.04	.00	.01	02	.01	04	11	.1/	04	.03	03	.13												
	151	SKIIIS					06	00	00	10	00	07	00	02	02	07	00	10	00	15												
	154.	11 trainings				-	.06	08	09	12	08	0/	09	.02	.05	0/	Uð	10	09	13												
	133.	German Academic					-	09	.03	.01	08	0/	.12	.09	.00	.10	08	03	.03	.23												
		Scholarship																														
		Foundation																														

	151. 152. 153. 154. 155. 156. 157. 158. 159. 160. 161. 162. 163. 164. 165. 166. 167. 168.
156. Germany	050210 .12 .020403 .031013 .0604
Scholarship	
157. Non-financial scholarships	100601 .06 .01 .03 .1115 .02 .11
158. Scholarships abroad	- .66 .47 .01 .02 .10 .10 .0113 .15 .14
159. Erasmus	02040111 .120205 .14 .13
160. PROMOS	03 .04 .20 07 .0011 .0706
161. Political EAs	0505 .17 03 .24 .04 .18
162. Religious EAs	0403 .0101 .10 .03
163. EAs abroad	05 .001203 .00
164. Political/historical hobbies	08 .0607 .13
165. Professional	04 .17 .05
licenses/	
certifications	
166. Driver's license	05 .02
167. Academic/	16
professional	
trainings	
168. Quality of	
leadership	
experiences	

Note. EAs = extracurricular activities.

Correlations in bold are significant at the $p \leq .05$ level.

Appendix 2.1 References

- Cawley, G. C., & Talbot, N. L. C. (2010). On over-fitting in model selection and subsequent selection bias in performance evaluation. *Journal of Machine Learning Research*, 11, 2079–2107. https://doi.org/10.48550/arXiv.1809.09446
- Hastie, T., Tibshirani, R., & Friedman, J. (2009). *The elements of statistical learning* (2nd ed.). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-0-387-84858-7
- Kohavi, R. (1995). A study of cross-validation and bootstrap for accuracy estimation and model selection. *Proceedings of the 14th International Joint Conference on Artificial Intelligence*, *2*, 1137–1143. https://dl.acm.org/citation.cfm?id=1643031.1 643047

Microsoft Word. (2022). Microsoft. https://www.microsoft.com/en-ww/microsoft-365/word

- Stachl, C., Pargent, F., Hilbert, S., Harari, G. M., Schoedel, R., Vaid, S., Gosling, S. D., & Bühner, M. (2020). Personality research and assessment in the era of machine learning. *European Journal of Personality*, 34(5), 613–631. https://doi.org/10.1002/per.2257
- Stekhoven, D. J. (2022). *missForest: Nonparametric missing value imputation using random forest.* R package version 1.5.
- Stekhoven, D. J., & Bühlmann, P. (2012). MissForest—Non-parametric missing value imputation for mixed-type data. *Bioinformatics*, 28(1), 112–118. https://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/btr597
- Varma, S., & Simon, R. (2006). Bias in error estimation when using cross-validation for model selection. *BMC Bioinformatics*, 7(1), 91. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2105-7-91
- Zeichen zählen & Wörter zählen. (2019). Zeichenzähler. https://zeichenzähler.de/de/
- Zou, H., & Hastie, T. (2005). Regularization and variable selection via the elastic net. *Journal* of the Royal Statistical Society: Series B (Statistical Methodology), 67(2), 301–320. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9868.2005.00503.x

2.2 Using Valid Cues to Predict Narcissism and Intelligence From LinkedIn Profiles

Publication Status. Härtel, T. M., Schuler, B. A., & Back, M. D. (2023). Using valid cues to predict narcissism and intelligence from LinkedIn profiles. Submitted to *The* 83rd *Annual Meeting of the Academy of Management.*

Abstract. Recruiters routinely use LinkedIn profiles to infer applicants' key personality traits like narcissism and intelligence. However, little is known about LinkedIn profiles' predictive potential to accurately infer personality. According to Brunswik's lens model, accurate personality inferences depend on (a) the presence of valid cues in LinkedIn profiles containing information about users' personality and (b) the consistent utilization of valid cues. We assessed narcissism (self-report) and intelligence (aptitude tests) in a mixed sample of 406 students/professionals along with 64 deductively derived LinkedIn cues coded by 3 trained coders. Applying nested cross-validated elastic nets, we demonstrate that (a) LinkedIn profiles contain valid information about users' narcissism (e.g., uploading a background picture) and intelligence (e.g., listing many accomplishments). Furthermore, (b) mechanical perceivers like machine learning algorithms use these valid cues consistently so that the elastic nets attained substantial prediction accuracy (r = .28/.32 for narcissism/intelligence). This way, we uncover LinkedIn profiles' potential to accurately infer personality: Personality can be inferred accurately if (a) the valid cues contained in LinkedIn profiles are (b) used consistently like a mechanical perceiver does. The results have practical implications for improving recruiters' accuracy and foreshadow potentials of automated LinkedIn based personality assessments for recruitment purposes.

Keywords: Brunswikian lens model, cybervetting, machine learning.

Open Science Statement. The data, codebook, R-script, and supplementary results are made transparent on the open science framework: https://bit.ly/3pTHr2M.

2.2.1 Introduction

Along with the growth of online networks recruiters commonly started to engage in practices like "cybervetting" and "social media assessments" (Cubrich et al., 2021; Hartwell & Campion, 2020) to inform their recruitment decisions. In particular, recruiters routinely draw on (potential) applicants' LinkedIn profiles to make personality inferences (e.g., Roulin & Levashina, 2019; Van de Ven et al., 2017). LinkedIn is currently the most popular online professional network in the world with 810 million users (LinkedIn, 2022). For instance, recruiters might use the presence of a LinkedIn profile summary as a signal for applicants' conscientiousness and the presence of a LinkedIn profile picture as a signal for trait self-presentation (Van de Ven et al., 2017). Thereby, LinkedIn profiles do not only provide information typically available in traditional resumés like educational and professional experiences or online social networks such as Facebook like the number of connections but also add information like followed interests and other users' recommendations (e.g., Fernandez et al., 2021).

Previous research calls for empirical studies on LinkedIn based social media assessments (P. L. Roth et al., 2016; Van Iddekinge et al., 2016). Yet, LinkedIn profiles' predictive potential to accurately infer personality remains quite unclear, that is, (a) there are few robust and mixed findings on the specific LinkedIn information (cues) signaling personality, leading to contradictory conclusions as to whether LinkedIn profiles allow for accurate personality inferences (e.g., Fernandez et al., 2021) or not (e.g., Roulin & Stronach, 2022). In particular, we know little about whether LinkedIn profiles contain valid information on applicants' narcissism and intelligence, representing two key traits in online network and organizational contexts. Also (b) human perceivers (recruiters) were shown to achieve only modest accuracy when inferring personality on LinkedIn (human approach; Roulin & Levashina, 2019; Roulin & Stronach, 2022; Van de Ven et al., 2017) which may be due to LinkedIn's inherent lacking capacity to signal valid personality information or human perceivers' inconsistent use of such valid information. Yet, we know little about mechanical perceivers' accuracy of LinkedIn based personality inferences (Roulin & Stronach, 2022), that consistently use valid cues and were shown to achieve substantial accuracy levels based on online social media profiles like Facebook (Azucar et al., 2018; Settanni et al., 2018).

Therefore, this study aims to shed light on LinkedIn profiles' predictive potential for accurate personality inferences by following a two-fold approach based on the lens model framework (Brunswik, 1956): We identify (a) LinkedIn cues conveying valid information on narcissism and intelligence and (b) accuracy levels of mechanical perceivers like machine

learning algorithms (*automated approach*; Bleidorn & Hopwood, 2019; Tay et al., 2020) exploiting LinkedIn profiles' predictive potential by using these valid cues consistently (see Figure 2.2.1). We examine LinkedIn profiles in a mixed student/professional sample (N = 406) coded by three trained coders, and users' corresponding narcissism (self-reports) and intelligence (aptitude tests) scores. We deductively derived a broad set of 64 diverse LinkedIn cues based on theoretical underpinnings to signal narcissism and intelligence ensuring high interpretability of valid cues (Fernandez et al., 2021) and addressing lacks of content validity of automated approaches to personality assessment (Bleidorn & Hopwood, 2019; Tay et al., 2020). Applying nested cross-validated elastic nets ensured robust and easy-to-interpret results leveraging the potential for practical applications.

Figure 2.2.1



Brunswikian Lens Model in the Context of Cybervetting Based on LinkedIn Profiles

3 Uncovering LinkedIn Profiles' Predictive Potential for Accurate Personality Inferences

The results contribute to the literature on personality expression in recruitment relevant contexts by adding robust valid LinkedIn cues signaling narcissism (e.g., less smiling on the profile picture) and intelligence (e.g., listing schools with many followers) to the information bases providing valid personality signals (e.g., resumés, job interviews, Facebook profiles; e.g., Burns et al., 2014; Gifford et al., 1985; Stopfer et al., 2014). Also, we contribute to the literature

on automated personality assessments for recruitment purposes by demonstrating that mechanical perceivers can not only make accurate personality inferences based on online social networks like Facebook but also based on professional networks like LinkedIn (prediction accuracy r = .28/.32 for narcissism/intelligence). Combining these two contributions helped to (c) resolve mixed initial findings on the potential of LinkedIn profiles to allow accurate personality inferences: LinkedIn profiles offer the possibility to make accurate personality inferences when consistently incorporating valid cues (as identified in the present study) into personality inferences (like mechanical perceivers do).

Basing personality inferences on the wrong information can lead to misjudgments, which could add costly false positive and false negative errors to organizations' hiring decisions (i.e., suitable (unsuitable) applicants are rejected (selected)). The present study's insights on LinkedIn cues signaling personality may thus be applied in practice to improve recruiters' accuracy by training them to consistently use valid cues (Karelaia & Hogarth, 2008; see also Cole et al., 2005). Also, mechanical perceivers might be applied (a) in practice to automatize accurate LinkedIn based personality assessments for recruitment purposes, and (b) in research to obtain unobtrusive measures of personality (Morgeson et al., 2007).

2.2.2 Theoretical Background

2.2.2.1 Applying the Lens Model to Personality Inferences Based on LinkedIn Profiles. This study is concerned with how personality traits (narcissism and intelligence) of an unknown target person (applicant) can be accurately inferred from the target's observable information (LinkedIn profile). Following the lens model (Brunswik, 1956; see also Back & Nestler, 2016; Nestler & Back, 2013), personality must be inferred indirectly in this situation by drawing on cues (see Figure 2.2.1). The necessary prerequisite for accuracy is thus the presence of valid cues, that is, LinkedIn information associated with users' personality (left side of the lens model). There is initial evidence that LinkedIn profiles contain such valid information (e.g., Fernandez et al., 2021). However, little is known about valid LinkedIn cues signaling narcissism and intelligence.

The sufficient prerequisite for accurate LinkedIn based personality inferences is that cues are used consistently according to their validity (right side of the lens model). Although LinkedIn profiles likely contain some valid personality information, human perceivers' LinkedIn based personality inferences appear to lack accuracy (Roulin & Levashina, 2019; Roulin & Stronach, 2022; Van de Ven et al., 2017). Following the lens model, this may be due to human perceivers' lack of consistency in using valid cues (see also Fernandez et al., 2021). For instance, human perceivers use the presence of a profile picture as a cue for agreeableness

(Van de Ven et al., 2017), but there seems to be no association between agreeableness and the presence of a profile picture (Roulin & Levashina, 2019; Van de Ven et al., 2017). In contrast, machine learning algorithms can be construed as mechanical perceivers who consistently and correctly use valid cues to make accurate inferences about targets (Roulin & Stronach, 2022).

The lens model's (Brunswik, 1956) value lies in its scope illustrating both human and automated approaches, that is the human perceiver is replaced by a mechanical perceiver in the automated approach (Tay et al., 2020). This way, the lens model provides the opportunity to shed light on LinkedIn profiles predictive potential: If LinkedIn profiles contain a valid cue base signaling narcissism and intelligence, the mechanical perceiver should achieve prediction accuracy because it consistently uses these valid cues. This would also suggest that human perceivers' lack of accuracy is rather due to not using valid LinkedIn cues consistently than due to LinkedIn profiles' inherent limited capacity to accurately signal personality.

2.2.2.2 Previous Research on Valid Cues Signaling Personality on LinkedIn. Initial research reports cue validities for small explorative sets of LinkedIn cues ($9 \le N_{\text{Cues}} \le 22$) and personality traits like the big five, self-presentation, honesty-humility, and cognitive ability in rather small samples of LinkedIn users ($97 \le N \le 154$; Roulin & Levashina, 2019; Roulin & Stronach, 2022; Van de Ven et al., 2017). This exploratory approach led to initial important insights that make intuitive sense and contribute to a more precise understanding of valid Linked cues. For example, users high on self-presentation were found to include a summary on their LinkedIn profile, which provides opportunity for self-promotion (Van de Ven et al., 2017). Yet, other findings remain hard to explain. For instance, users high on self-presentation were found to have high education (Van de Ven et al., 2017). Also, the findings were quite instable, for example, none of the valid cues signaling personality in Roulin and Levashina (2019) was confirmed by Roulin and Stronach (2022) and vice versa. Due to the explorative nature of their findings, these studies generally draw conclusions with caution and call for (replicating) research on valid LinkedIn cues signaling personality.

Using a deductive approach recently enabled to demonstrate the existence of an easy-to-interpret valid LinkedIn cue base for big five traits. More specifically, Fernandez et al. (2021) addressed limitations of the exploratory studies by reporting cue validities of (a) a wider range of LinkedIn cues ($N_{\text{Cues}} = 33$) (b) that were deductively derived based on theoretical underpinnings to signal big five traits (c) in a large sample of 607 LinkedIn users. Yet, we only have preliminary findings on cue validities for narcissism (see findings on self-presentation and honesty-humility with partial conceptual overlap; Van de Ven et al., 2017; Roulin & Stronach, 2022) and intelligence (Roulin & Levashina, 2019; Roulin & Stronach, 2022).

In this study, we aim to extend our knowledge of valid LinkedIn cues signaling narcissism and intelligence by (a) examining an extensive set of diverse cues ($N_{\text{Cues}} = 64$) that (b) were deductively derived based on personality theory and previous empirical findings ensuring high interpretability (c) in a sample of 406 LinkedIn users. We also go beyond previous research by not only identifying valid cues based on bivariate correlations following the traditional analytical approach (Back & Nestler, 2016) but also based on important predictors in nested cross-validated machine learning models. This ensures robust results due to resampling and facilitates to identify cues that actually add predictive value in the context of other cues (e.g., Stachl et al., 2020).

2.2.2.3 Automated Approach to Personality Inferences Based on LinkedIn. Previous research applied the automated approach to online social networks like Facebook using various cue sets (e.g., posts, pictures, likes). Substantial prediction accuracy was found for several personality traits (Azucar et al., 2018; Settanni et al., 2018) including initial findings on narcissism (Garcia & Sikström, 2014; Preotiuc-Pietro et al., 2016; Sumner et al., 2012) and intelligence (Kosinski et al., 2013, 2014; Wei & Stillwell, 2017).

However, the automated approach has not been comprehensively applied to professional networks like LinkedIn. Online professional networks substantially differ in their cue base from social media networks like Facebook (e.g., Hartwell & Campion, 2020). They might be particularly suitable for practical applications in recruitment contexts because professional networks should suffer less from adverse impact, low acceptance, and legal issues (e.g., Cubrich et al., 2021; Stoughton et al., 2015). An initial attempt to transfer the automated approach to LinkedIn applied automated language-based big five assessments (Pennebaker et al., 2015) to 154 LinkedIn profiles but did not find prediction accuracy (Roulin & Stonach, 2022). This led to calls for research (a) relying less on limited textual information (which generally shows only small personality associations; e.g., Chen et al., 2020; Holtzman et al., 2019), and (b) predicting traits beyond the big five.

Generally, previous research following the automated approach typically applied a data-driven, explorative approach without preselecting cues based on theoretical underpinnings and empirical findings (Settanni et al., 2018). Such explorative approaches might find novel associations and contribute to theory building. However, they might also lead to lacks of content validity coming with serious limitations as, for instance, (a) related constructs might be measured rather than actual trait content, (b) the intuitive interpretability of cues might suffer (machine learning algorithm as "black box") reducing potentials for practical applications, and (c) generalizability across users of different online networks might be impaired (e.g., Alexander

et al., 2020; Bleidorn & Hopwood, 2019; Tay et al., 2020).

In this study, we apply the automated approach to assessments of narcissism and intelligence based on the online professional network LinkedIn. Thereby, we go beyond textual cues (cf. Roulin & Stronach, 2022) by aiming for an extensive selection of cues that assess qualitatively different types of information reflecting LinkedIn profiles' broad information spectrum. This should enable the identification of divergent valid cues and potentially high accuracy ("good information", Back & Nestler, 2016; see also meta-analytical evidence that multiple types of online network cues enhance accuracy; Azucar et al., 2018; Settanni et al., 2018). We base our cue set on theory and empirical findings to ensure cues' conceptual connection to the personality traits that we intend to infer. This should lead to high interpretability and leverage potentials for practical applications.

2.2.2.4 Deriving LinkedIn Cues Potentially Signaling Narcissism and Intelligence. Grandiose narcissism is a form of entitled self-importance (Krizan & Herlache, 2018) with agentic (e.g., charm, assertiveness) and antagonistic (e.g., arrogance, manipulativeness) components (Back, 2018) coming with powerful organizational consequences (e.g., Campbell et al., 2011; Grijalva et al., 2015) beyond the big five traits (Grijalva & Newman, 2015; Judge et al., 2006). Online networks such as LinkedIn might serve narcissists¹² as ideal platform (e.g., Gnambs & Appel, 2018; McCain & Campbell, 2018) to exercise their need for external validation of their grandiose selves (Morf & Rhodewalt, 2001) by providing various self-enhancement opportunities (e.g., demonstrating achievements; Buss & Chiodo, 1991; Wallace & Baumeister, 2002). Intelligence is the ability to process complex information facilitating higher order thinking skills such as reasoning and problem solving (Gottfredson, 1997), and represents the most powerful trait to predict job performance (e.g., Sackett et al., 2021; Salgado et al., 2003). Intelligence is seen by recruiters to be particularly effectively inferred based on LinkedIn (e.g., Roulin & Stronach, 2022; Schroeder et al., 2020).

We inferred the present study's LinkedIn cue set used following a four-step top-down approach. (a) We derived LinkedIn cues from transferring theoretical implications and empirical findings on narcissism/intelligence from broader non-online contexts to the LinkedIn context. For example, narcissists might view leadership positions as a stage to demonstrate superiority (Campbell & Campbell, 2009) and to earn public admiration (Wallace & Baumeister, 2002), which is why they are motivated to attain leadership (Benson et al., 2016;

¹² With *narcissists*, we refer to individuals relatively higher on the continuous dimension of grandiose narcissism as a personality trait in the general population (Morf & Rhodewalt, 2001).

Brunell et al., 2008). Indeed, due to their agentic dominant-expressive behaviors, narcissists induce impressions of assertiveness (Härtel et al., 2021) potentially leading them to attain group leadership (Grijalva et al., 2015), managerial ranks (e.g., Ahmetoglu et al., 2016; Wille et al., 2019), and representative leadership positions (e.g., Deluga, 1997; Watts et al., 2013). On LinkedIn, narcissism might thus be expressed through listing leadership positions in the Experience section and leadership skills in the Skills section. The same may hold true for intelligence: Intelligent individuals¹³ thrive in contexts requiring complex information processing (Gottfredson, 1997) which match leadership contexts, that involve high cognitive demands such as processing large amounts of information, problem-solving, and strategy development (Fiedler & Garcia, 1987; Kirkpatick & Locke, 1991). Accordingly, intelligence is a key leadership attribute (Lord et al., 1984; Offermann et al., 2011; Judge et al., 2004).

(b) We transferred theoretical implications and empirical findings on the association between narcissism/intelligence and cues in LinkedIn related contexts like resumés and online social media networks such as Facebook to the LinkedIn context. For instance, in line with the notion of narcissists' exploiting online networks as a vehicle to boost their grandiose selves by self-promoting, narcissists were found to frequently post on online social media networks (Gnambs & Appel, 2018; McCain & Campbell, 2018). This self-promoting strategy should be particularly effective when reaching large audiences, which may additionally serve narcissists as a direct confirmation of their popularity (Buffardi & Campbell, 2008; Davenport et al., 2014). Indeed, narcissists feature large networks on online social media platforms (Gnambs & Appel, 2018; McCain & Campbell, 2018) which aligns with their general ability to successfully initiate connections (e.g., Back et al., 2010; Leckelt et al., 2015). On LinkedIn, narcissism might therefore be expressed through displaying more activities like posting, liking, and commenting as well as larger networks. As another example, intelligence was shown to be expressed in listing scholastic awards on resumés (Cole et al., 2003). Intelligent individuals' advanced cognitive abilities predispose them to learning resulting in positive effects on various indicators of academic achievement (Kuncel et al., 2004) like better marks (B. Roth et al., 2015). Accordingly, intelligent individuals might also list honors and awards in the Accomplishments section on LinkedIn.

(c) We added LinkedIn cues showing significant relationships with narcissism/intelligence related traits (e.g., self-presentation, honesty-humility, cognitive

¹³ With *intelligent individuals*, we refer to individuals relatively higher on the continuous intelligence dimension.

ability) based on previous explorative findings (see Section "2.2.2.2 Previous Research on Valid Cues Signaling Personality on LinkedIn"). For example, LinkedIn users high on self-presentation were found to show less smilling on their profile pictures (Van de Ven et al., 2017). The same may hold true for narcissists whose antagonistic, disagreeable side might predispose them to show rather arrogant facial expressions with less wide and genuine smiles.

(d) Finally, there is a research stream focusing on cues that might be used for unobtrusive measurements of CEO narcissism (e.g., Aktas et al., 2016, Chatterjee & Hambrick, 2007; see Cragun et al., 2020, for an overview). Recently, this research has begun to speculate on LinkedIn cues that may serve as CEO narcissism indicators (e.g., number of skills/interests, presence of a profile picture/About section; Aabo & Eriksen, 2018). We added these cues to the LinkedIn cues potentially signaling narcissism. Following this four-step top-down approach led to a final set of 64 LinkedIn cues. Due to reasons of parsimony the detailed deductive derivation of this study's LinkedIn cue set is summarized in Appendix 2.2.A.

2.2.2.5 Present Study. This study's goal is to uncover LinkedIn profiles' predictive potential to accurately infer personality. Therefore, we build on the lens model (Brunswik, 1956) and follow a two-step approach, that is, determining valid LinkedIn cues signaling personality traits and mechanical perceivers' prediction accuracy that use valid LinkedIn cues consistently. We go beyond previous research by (a) focusing on narcissism and intelligence, two consequential traits in online and organizational contexts, (b) examining a broad selection of diverse LinkedIn cues ($N_{\text{Cues}} = 64$) that (c) were deductively derived based on theoretical and empirical underpinnings ensuring high interpretability, and (d) applying resampling to get robust results. For this purpose, we collected a larger LinkedIn profile sample (N = 406; coded by three trained coders) than most previous studies in this context (Roulin & Levashina, 2019; Roulin & Stronach, 2022; Van de Ven et al., 2017). We calculated bivariate correlations between cues and traits to identify potentially valid cues. We computed nested cross-validated elastic nets to obtain robust results for valid cues and to identify mechanical perceivers' accuracy.

2.2.3 Method

2.2.3.1 Sample. The sample consisted of 406 (243 female) German-speaking LinkedIn users¹⁴ with substantial subscribers (M = 297.15, SD = 468.32) mainly recruited via (a) postings

¹⁴ From 8,457 participants who started the survey, we excluded 7,980 participants without sufficient responses (either due to discontinuing on own initiative or to automated termination because of not fulfilling the participation conditions, that is, fluent German, legal age, up-to-date LinkedIn profile), eight participants who indicated they did not answer seriously, five double participants, 28 participants without information to track their LinkedIn profiles, and 30 participants with LinkedIn profiles with less than ten subscribers.

on online professional (LinkedIn, Xing) and social (Facebook) network groups, (b) Surveycircle and Pollpool, online-platforms to raise participants based on mutual support, and (c) lecture ("Human Resource Management") announcements at Osnabrück University.¹⁵ The average age was 29.47 (SD = 9.69), 283 (69.70%) participants held a bachelor's degree or higher, 258 (63.55%) participants were students (37.59% business/economics), and 215 participants (52.96%) were working at least 20 hours per week in various sectors (23.26% IT/telecommunication/media) and professions (45.58% high qualified). Sample collection took place between June 2021 and February 2022. We computed a post hoc power analysis with G*Power (Version 3.1.9.6; Faul et al., 2007) for the difference of a correlation from a constant ($\rho_0 = 0$) using the bivariate normal model to identify the power to detect significant cue validities. The power was 1.00/.98/.52 to detect a large/medium/small correlation of $\rho = .30/.20/.10$ (testing two-tailed with an α -error of .05; Gignac & Szodorai, 2016).

2.2.3.2 Procedure. All procedures were in line with recommendations of the German Research Foundation and the German Psychological Society. Participants filled out the online survey assessing demographics, personality traits, and basic information about/attitudes towards their LinkedIn profile. At survey start, participants were asked to connect their profiles with this study's LinkedIn showcase page. We saved the profiles with different formats to create an optimal information base for cue coding, that is, saving (a) the profile picture as separate image to ensure high quality and independence from the other information, (b) the profiles as pdf-export with the built-in function to assess the profile length (see Roulin & Levashina, 2019; Roulin & Stronach, 2022), and (c) multiple screenshots of all further relevant profile information. For a detailed survey overview see the Codebook at https://bit.ly/3pTHr2M.

2.2.3.3 Measures.

2.2.3.3.1 *Personality.* The 18-item Narcissistic Admiration and Rivalry Questionnaire (NARQ; Back et al., 2013) was used to measure narcissism with 6-point scales ranging from 1 (*do not agree at all*) to 6 (*agree completely*). The short version of the Hagen Matrices Test (Heydasch et al., 2012), the HMT-S (Heydasch et al., 2013), was used to measure fluid intelligence (M = 4.31, SD = 1.45). The short version of the Berlin Test for the Assessment of Fluid and Crystallized Intelligence (Wilhelm et al., 2014), the BEFKI GC-K (Schipolowski et al., 2013), was used to measure crystallized intelligence (M = 4.31, SD = 1.45). To obtain a comprehensive intelligence indicator, we aggregated both measures' z-standardized scores

¹⁵ Participants of Surveycircle (n = 171) and PollPool (n = 19) got "points" to gain participants for own surveys. Participants of Osnabrück University (n = 27) studied business and received course grade. All participants could choose to receive personality feedback. There was no monetary compensation.

(r = .26, p < .001). Descriptive statistics and Cronbach's alphas for all personality traits are displayed in Table 2.2.1.

2.2.3.3.2 LinkedIn Cues. We identified two types of cues (see Table 2.2.1). Objective cues (n = 55) could be unambiguously coded by a single coder (e.g., counting skills).¹⁶ Subjective cues (n = 9) had decision latitude (e.g., rating physical attractiveness) and were rated by two coders on scales from 1 (not at all) to 6 (completely). The three coders (2 female) studied business or psychology and conducted the coding as part of their final theses or research internship. The subjective cue coders rated LinkedIn profiles in unique randomized orders and received extensive training¹⁷ to ensure reliable, valid ratings. Interrater agreement was tested with the intraclass correlation coefficient (ICC_{3, k}) and was good to excellent (Cicchetti, 1994; Koo & Li, 2016; ICC_{3, k} \geq .84 for all subjective cues; see Table 2.2.1). In addition to the 64 deductively derived cues, we assessed 13 cues we did not have specific expectations for. These cues represent leftover (a) unique LinkedIn information (i.e., premium account, badges, causes), (b) cues resulting from remaining categories of the derived cues (e.g., "language" skills/accomplishments), and (c) basic photograph information (i.e., picture in color, eve contact into camera, picture with non-neutral background; Van de Ven et al., 2017). The additional cues' measurement, descriptives, and correlations with narcissism and intelligence can be found in Appendix 2.2.B.

2.2.3.4 Analytical Approach. To get an initial impression of the cue validities, we computed bivariate correlations of narcissism and intelligence with the deductively derived LinkedIn cues (Table 2.2.1). We winsorized cues to reduce extreme values' disproportionate influences (z > |4.47|; see Chebyshev's inequality in Saw et al., 1984). Although we derived one-sided expectations concerning cue-personality relationships, we computed two-sided *p*-values. An extensive intercorrelation table of narcissism, intelligence, age, gender, and the entire cue set can be found in Appendix 2.2.C.

To (a) test whether cue validities remain robust in the context of other cues and using resampling, and (b) examine mechanical perceivers' accuracy, we computed elastic nets (Zou & Hastie, 2005) using the deductively derived LinkedIn cues as independent variables (features) to predict the dependent variables narcissism and intelligence (target features). We also included gender (0/1 = female/male) and age as controls. Although elastic nets are

¹⁶ One cue (picture above neckline; 0/1 = not present/present) had small decision latitude. To ensure objectivity, this cue was coded by two coders who, in rare cases of disagreement, discussed and agreed on a coding.

¹⁷ The training sessions included (a) input on the cues (i.e., definitions, reviewing profiles to illustrate scale anchors), (b) input on rating (e.g., exploiting the scale width, avoiding biases), and (c) independently rating profiles and discussing disagreements to establish a shared understanding of the cues and scale anchors.

conceptually similar to multiple regressions, elastic nets optimize prediction performance instead of the explanation of variation in the data by regularizing features' regression coefficients. Also, elastic nets are suited to handle many (intercorrelated) features. Specifically, elastic nets apply a combination of the LASSO (least absolute shrinkage and selection operator; Tibshirani, 2011) and Ridge (Hoerl & Kennard, 1970) penalties λ to the regression coefficients, which shrinks unimportant coefficients to zero (James et al., 2013). λ is chosen so that a predictive performance criterion like the mean squared error (MSE) between the predicted and observed target feature values is optimized. Thereby, elastic nets yield parsimonious models that only contain features that add predictive power, which prevents overfitting.

Unlike "black box" machine learning algorithms like random forests (Breiman, 2001) or neural networks (LeCun et al., 2015), where it remains unclear how the algorithm makes the predictions, the elastic net results remain interpretable as the coefficients can be obtained from the final model and interpreted like multiple regression results (Alexander et al., 2020). This allowed us to compare the cue validities of the traditional approach based on bivariate correlations to the cue validities of the machine learning approach. Also, this allows the practical application in recruitment settings. The combination of prediction performance and interpretability made the elastic net the ideal machine learning algorithm for this study.

Previous research typically has used *k*-fold cross-validation (Kohavi, 1995) for hyperparameter tuning and determining mechanical perceivers' accuracy inferring personality on online social networks. However, combining the tasks of hyperparameter tuning and determining prediction accuracy leads to optimistic performance estimates (Cawley & Talbot, 2010; Varma & Simon, 2006). Thus, we used a nested cross-validation (CV) approach to fit the elastic nets and evaluate their predictive accuracy.

The inner loop consisted of a 10-fold CV for preprocessing and hyperparameter tuning. Preprocessing comprised three steps: First, we imputed missing values using the missForest algorithm, which is a computationally efficient method of imputing high-dimensional data that consists of continuous and categorical features while making no assumptions about the feature distributions (Stekhoven & Bühlmann, 2012). Second, we winsorized extreme values (z > |4.47|) to reduce their disproportionate influence. While outliers can represent valid observations, extreme values can hurt prediction accuracy (Hastie et al., 2009). Third, we z-standardized the (target) features to ensure that λ is consistently applied to the regression coefficients so that the feature importance (i.e., the regression coefficients' magnitude) is comparable across features (Tibshirani, 1997). To tune the hyperparameter λ , we tested 100 λ s and selected the λ that minimized the MSE between the predicted and observed values of the target features. We saved the best performing model of the 10-fold CV for the evaluation on the test data in the outer loop.

The outer CV loop repeated the inner CV loop ten times. Thereby, we obtained ten models that each represented the best fitting model of the corresponding 10-fold CV of the inner loop. Concerning absolute prediction performance estimates we averaged (a) the MSE, (b) the Root Mean Squared Error (RMSE), and (c) the Mean Absolute Error (MAE) across the ten outer folds. Regarding relative prediction performance estimates we averaged (d) the correlations between the predicted and observed target feature values *r*, (e) the share of variation explained by the features R^2 , and (f) the adjusted share of variation explained by the features R^2_{Adj} , across the ten outer folds. We Fisher *z*-transformed the correlations *r* before averaging and retransformed the mean to minimize bias (Silver & Dunlap, 1987). To evaluate the absolute prediction accuracy, we compared the absolute prediction performance estimates of the elastic net and the intercept-only model predicting the means of the target features. Finally, we computed the means, standard deviations, and cross-validation fold incidences (CV_{FI}, number of outer folds the regression coefficient of a feature was $\neq 0$) of the regression coefficients of the models evaluated in the outer loop as measures of feature importance.

We provide supplementary results (Appendix 2.2.D) of the elastic nets with (a) the entire cue set as features (i.e., all cues regardless of whether deductively derived for narcissism or intelligence plus the leftover cues), (b) narcissism subdimensions, that is, narcissistic admiration and narcissistic rivalry (Back et al., 2013), as target features, and (c) narcissism measured with the German 13-item short form (G-NPI-13; Brailovskaia et al., 2019; Gentile et al., 2013) of the Narcissistic Personality Inventory (NPI; Raskin & Terry, 1988) as target feature.

We used the statistical program R (version 4.1.0; R Core Team, 2018) and the interface RStudio (version 1.4.1106; RStudio Team, 2016) for all analyses. We used the glmnet package (version 4.1-2; Friedman et al., 2010) and missForest package (version 1.5; Stekhoven, 2022) for the machine learning applications. The data and statistical code for all main and supplemental analyses can be found at https://bit.ly/3pTHr2M.

2.2.4 Results

2.2.4.1 Bivariate Correlations. Descriptive statistics and bivariate correlations of the LinkedIn cues with narcissism and intelligence are displayed in Table 2.2.1. Ten of the 48 cues expected to be correlated with narcissism were correlated with narcissism (narcissists featured (a) less smiling on the profile picture; (b) background pictures; (c) leadership positions in the Experience section; (d) more skills; (e) public speaking skills; (f) more accomplishments related

to organizations; (g) more received recommendations; (h) interests with more followers; (i) English profiles). Thereby, one cue was correlated in the opposite direction than expected (narcissists featured (j) altruistic volunteering). 15 of the 39 cues expected to be correlated with intelligence were correlated with intelligence (intelligent individuals featured (a) less dressed-up, trimmed appearances on profile pictures; (b) profile pictures above neckline; (c) more and (d) extensively described educational stations; (e) more and (f) in average longer volunteer experiences; (g) more accomplishments and more accomplishments related to (h) honors/awards, (i) publications, (j) projects, (k) test scores; (l) schools with more followers; (m) more groups; (n) English profiles; (o) longer profiles). Overall, we found significant effects for about 29% of all expected correlations, which is a higher value than would be expected by chance (i.e., 5%). These findings provide initial evidence for (a) potential valid LinkedIn cues signaling narcissism and intelligence which are yet to be confirmed by the elastic nets, and (b) the existence of a valid cue base that should allow the mechanical perceiver to make accurate personality inferences.

2.2.4.2 Machine Learning Approach. The performance estimates of the nested cross-validated elastic nets predicting narcissism and intelligence based on the deductively derived cues are shown in Table 2.2.2. The results show that narcissism and intelligence can be accurately predicted based on LinkedIn profile data. In terms of absolute prediction performance, the elastic nets outperformed the intercept-only models: The elastic nets' mean absolute performance measures (MSE, RMSE, MAE) were lower than the intercept-only models' mean absolute performance measures. Thus, the elastic nets made smaller errors when predicting narcissism and intelligence compared to the intercept-only models. In terms of relative prediction performance, the predicted target feature values were substantially correlated with the observed target feature values for narcissism (r = .28) and intelligence (r = .32).

Table 2.2.1

Measurement and Descriptive Statistics for the LinkedIn Cues and Correlations With Narcissism and Intelligence

Cue	Measurement	α/ICC	М	SD r _N r _I
	Cues potentially signalling narcissism and intelligence			
Profile card				
Name with title	0 = not present; 1 = present (e.g., BSc, MA, PhD, Dr., Prof.)		.17	.3703 .06
Profile picture				
Profile picture	0 = not present; $1 = $ present (profile pictures depicting an actual person were coded as "1")		.94	.2409 .01
Charming facial expression	1 = not at all; 6 = completely (i.e., confident, friendly facial expression)	.84	3.52	1.480509
Professional/formal	1 = not at all; 6 = completely (e.g., suit/blazer/dress, formal accessories such as necktie, fly)	.93	3.49	1.66 .05 .00
appearance				
Stylish/flashy/fashionable	1 = not at all; 6 = completely (e.g., extravagant/dyed hair, hair ornaments (e.g., clip), colorful/extravagantly	.86	3.48	1.55 .0306
appearance	cut clothes, eye-catching jewellery (e.g., earrings, watch) and accessories (e.g., scarf), cleavage, tattoos,			
	piercings)			
Dressed-up, trimmed	1 = not at all; 6 = completely (e.g., plucked eyebrows, make-up (e.g., lipstick, made-up eyelashes, eye	.84	3.54	1.52 .09 12
appearance	shadow), manicured fingernails, styled/gelled hair, well-groomed/neatly shaved beard)			
Professional shot	1 = not at all; 6 = completely (i.e., picture looks like taken by a professional, professional lighting, high	.90	3.57	1.56 .06 .03
	resolution, photo effects (e.g., blurred background, use of editing software))			
About				
About	0 = not present; 1 = present		.32	.47 .07 .08
Extensive About section	Number of words in About Section		22.77	50.22 .00 .08
Experience			1.0.6	0.05 01 05
Professional positions	Numerically counted		4.96	2.9501 .07
Leadership positions	0 = not present; 1 = present (e.g., (vice-) president, head, director, team leader, project manager)		.15	.35 .11 .07
Education				40 04 00
Business studies	0 = not present; $1 = $ present (i.e., studies of business administration or subdisciplines (e.g., finance,		.35	.48 .0408
	_marketing))			
Volunteering	Name and a large state of the		0.02	1 49 04 13
Volunteer experiences	Numerically counted $0 = net magant (i.e., valuetaging with strong balaing facts (e.g., fact hard, and areas))$		0.83	1.48 .04 .13
Autruistic volunteering	U = not present; I = present (i.e., volunteering with strong helping locus (e.g., lood bank, red cross))		.10	.30 .11 .0/
Average duration			12.30	27.00 .04 .14
Licences and certifications	Numerically counted		1.00	2 12 06 01
Strilla	Numericany counted		1.00	2.13 .0001
Skills	Numerically counted		12 21	11.45 14 03
Endorsements	Numerically counted		13.77	39.61 05 08
Leadershin	0 = not present: $1 = present$ (e.g. team leadership/organization, people management)		13.77	37 08 - 04

Cue	Measurement	α/ICC	М	SD	rn ri
Accomplishments					
Accomplishments	_Numerically counted		3.58	5.28	.08 .2
Recommendations					
Received recommendations	_Numerically counted		0.07	0.41	.13 .05
Other					
Profile in English	0 = not present; $1 = $ present (i.e., profile at least partly in English)		.47	.50	.10 .13
Profile length	Number of words counted based on downloaded profile via LinkedIn's built-in pdf-export feature		171.57	112.65	.04 .14
	Cues potentially signalling narcissism	.84	2.52	0.60	
Profile card					
Extensive profile card	Number of words to briefly describe the own person		7.03	4.21	.0403
Twitter	0 = not present; 1 = present (i.e., profile card contains link to user's Twitter profile)		.03	.18	.02 .03
Profile picture					
Glasses	0 = not present; $1 = $ present (i.e., user wears glasses as vision aid, no sunglasses)		.24	.43	.01 .04
Smiling	1 = not at all; 6 = completely (i.e., "laughing with the eyes", teeth shown)	.93	3.51	1.63 -	.18 .0
Physical attractiveness	1 = not at all; 6 = completely	.87	3.51	1.54 -	.0600
Additional pictures	_				
Background picture	0 = not present; 1 = present		.33	.47	.15 .0
Self-promotional backgroun	d 1 = not at all; 6 = completely (i.e., geared towards convincing others of user's positive qualities)	.93	3.25	1.57	.00 .02
picture					
Additional pictures/videos	0 = not present; $1 = $ present (i.e., user provides additional pictures/videos in the permanent profile)		.13	.34 -	.02 .00
About					
Self-promotional content	1 = not at all; 6 = completely (i.e., geared towards convincing others of user's positive qualities)	.93	3.49	1.67 -	.02 .02
Self-related words	Number of self-related words (e.g., "I", "me", user's name) divided by total number of words in About section	1	1.00	2.80	.01 .03
Featured					
Posts	Numerically counted		0.27	0.92	.020
Activities					
Average activities per day	Total number of activities (limited to latest 50 entries) divided by time period (days between newest and oldes activity)	t	0.56	1.30	.0605
Articles/posts/documents	Numerically counted (i.e., activities categorized as "articles"/"posts"/"documents"; limited to latest 50 entries))	6.17	13.12	.04 .00
Subscribers	Numerically counted (i.e., total number of subscribers displayed on LinkedIn)		297.15	468.32	.06 .02
Experience					
Average duration	Total duration of professional positions in months divided by total number of professional positions		26.71	45.94	.04 .00
Skills					
Public speaking	0 = not present; 1 = present (i.e., skills directly related to public speaking; no presentation software skills)		.10	.30	.14 .0
Interpersonal	Number of skills categorized as "interpersonal" skills divided by total number of skills		.07	.11	.0414
Teamwork	0 = not present; $1 = $ present (i.e., skills related to cooperatively working together towards shared goals)		.21	.41	.0107
Accomplishments					

Cue	Measurement	α/ICC	M	SD	"N <i>I</i> "I
Organizations	Number of accomplishments categorized as "organizations" divided by total number of accomplishments		.02	.08	.14 .0
Courses	Number of accomplishments categorized as "courses" divided by total number of accomplishments		.04	.14	.08 .0
Interests					
Interests	Numerically counted (i.e., interests related to groups, influencers, companies, and schools)		40.92	65.94 -	.010
Median of interests'	Median of number of followers of interests related to groups, influencers, companies, and schools (assessing		56074	126762	.161
followers	numbers of followers was limited to the first 50 interests in each category)				
Influencers	Number of interests related to influencers divided by total number of interests		.03	.05	.070
Median of influencers'	Median of number of followers of interests related to influencers (assessing numbers of followers was limited	1	3112174	007637	.050
followers	to the first 50 influencer interests)				
Other					
Sports activities	0 = not present; 1 = present (i.e., activities involving physical exertion (e.g., soccer captain, marathon))		.03	.16	.09 .0
	Cues potentially signaling intelligence (aggregate of fluid and crystallized intelligence)	.60/.54	.00	.79	
Profile picture					
Picture above neckline	0 = not present; 1 = present		.65	.48 -	.01 .1
Experience					
Extensive description	Total number of words to describe professional positions divided by total number of professional positions		8.59	14.29	.02 .0
Education					
Marks	0 = not present; $1 = $ present (e.g., marks as numerical number, percentile ranks, graduation with honors)		.27	.45	.01 .0
Averaged marks	Mean of marks presented as numerical number in German grading system (1.0-4.0)		1.63	0.45 -	.141
Educational stations	Numerically counted		2.64	1.48	.07 .1
Extensive description	Total number of words to describe educational stations divided by total number of educational stations		5.60	10.61	.00 .1
Average duration	Total duration of educational stations in years divided by total number of educational positions		3.58	1.61 -	.050
Skills					
Industry knowledge	Number of skills categorized as "industry knowledge" skills divided by total number of skills		.17	.20	.09 .0
Tools and technologies	Number of skills categorized as "tools and technologies" skills divided by total number of skills		.13	.17	.07 .0
Accomplishments	_ 0				
Honors/awards	Number of accomplishments categorized as "honors and awards" divided by total number of accomplishments		.06	.15	.05 .1
Publications	Number of accomplishments categorized as "publications" divided by total number of accomplishments		.03	.10	.03 .1
Projects	Number of accomplishments categorized as "projects" divided by total number of accomplishments		.02	.07	.05 .1
Test scores	Number of accomplishments categorized as "test scores" divided by total number of accomplishments		.01	.03 -	.02 .1
Interests					
Schools	Number of interests related to schools divided by total number of interests		.11	.09	.00 .0
Median of schools' follower	rs Median of number of followers of interests related to schools (assessing numbers of followers was limited to		50800	64121	.12 .1
	the first 50 school interests)				
Groups	Number of interests related to groups divided by total number of interests		.07	.10 -	.03 .1

Correlations in bold are significant at the $p \le .05$ level.

Table 2.2.2

Performance	and	Hyperparameter	Estimates	of	Nested	Cross-Validated	Elastic	Nets
Predicting Na	rcissi	sm and Intelligenc	е					

		Narc	issism			Intell	ligence		
	Elasti	Elastic net		pt-only	Elast	ic net	Intercept-only		
	M	SD	М	SD	M	SD	M	SD	
MSE	0.905	0.081	0.975	0.001	0.892	0.092	0.975	0.001	
RMSE	0.950	0.042	0.988	0.000	0.943	0.049	0.988	0.000	
MAE	0.760	0.054	0.793	0.041	0.744	0.057	0.782	0.035	
r	.28	.16			.32	.15			
R^2	.07	.01			.10	.03			
$R^2_{ m Adj.}$.02	.01			.05	.03			
λ_{Min}	0.100	0.016			0.087	0.017			

Concerning the features driving these effects (see Table 2.2.3), we found similar LinkedIn cues to convey valid personality information than identified in the traditional approach based on bivariate correlations. Thus, the traditional approach's cue validities generally appeared to be robust when controlling for other cues and using resampling. More specifically, all ten LinkedIn cues correlated with narcissism appeared as important elastic net predictors ($\beta_M \ge |0.017|$, $CV_{FI} \ge 9$). The five most important elastic net predictors all showed significant correlations with narcissism and indicate that narcissists display (a) interests with more followers, (b) less smiling on the profile picture, (c) more accomplishments related to organizations, (d) background pictures, and (e) public speaking skills. Likewise, eleven of the 15 LinkedIn cues correlated with intelligence appeared as important elastic net predictors $(\beta_M \ge |0.017|, CV_{FI} \ge 7)$. Four cues (extensive description of educational stations, number of volunteer experiences, profile length, English profile) that showed significant correlations with intelligence did not appear as important elastic net predictors ($\beta_M \leq |0.003|$, $CV_{FI} \leq 3$). The five most important elastic net predictors all showed significant correlations with intelligence and indicate that intelligent individuals display (a) schools with more followers, (b) profile pictures above neckline, (c) more accomplishments, (d) less dressed-up, trimmed appearances on profile pictures, and (e) more accomplishments related to honors/awards.

Table 2.2.3

Regression Coefficients of Nested Cross-Validated Elastic Nets Predicting Narcissism and Intelligence

Cue	$\mathrm{CV}_{\mathrm{FI}}$	β_M	β_{SD}	β_{Full}
Narcissism				
Interests: Median of interests' followers	10	0.098	0.016	0.106
Profile picture: Smiling	10	-0.096	0.014	-0.105

Сце	$CV_{\rm FI}$	ßız	ßen	ßr. u
Gender	$\frac{CVFI}{10}$	p	0.016	0 004
Accomplishments: Organizations	10	0.089	0.010	0.094
Additional nictures: Background nicture	10	0.077	0.014	0.085
Skille: Public specking	10	0.009	0.014	0.074
Voluntaaring: Altruistia voluntaaring	10	0.007	0.027	0.074
Profile picture	10	0.043	0.018	0.051
Additional nictures: Additional nictures/videos	10	-0.042	0.021	-0.031
Additional pictures: Additional pictures/videos	10	-0.057	0.020	-0.030
Othern Specific attention	9	0.033	0.010	0.039
Diner: Sport activities	10	0.031	0.013	0.040
Encommendations: Received recommendations	9	0.030	0.025	0.038
Experience: Leadership positions	10	0.021	0.014	0.029
Other: Profile in English	9	0.019	0.014	0.026
Skills	9	0.01/	0.014	0.019
Profile picture: Professional shot	6	0.009	0.013	0.011
Education: Business studies	5	0.008	0.011	0.003
Accomplishments: Courses	9	0.007	0.009	0.013
Interests	3	-0.007	0.014	-0.015
Profile picture: Stylish/flashy/fashionable appearance	2	0.003	0.008	0.007
About: Extensive About section	2	-0.002	0.006	0.000
Skills: Endorsements	1	-0.001	0.004	0.000
Profile card: Name with title	1	0.000	0.001	0.000
Intercept	10	0.000	0.000	0.000
Intelligence				
Interests: Median of schools' followers	10	0.105	0.012	0.103
Profile picture: Picture above neckline	10	0.091	0.020	0.093
Gender	10	0.090	0.024	0.090
Accomplishments	10	0.080	0.020	0.084
Profile picture: Dressed-up, trimmed appearance	10	-0.075	0.015	-0.077
Accomplishments: Honors/awards	10	0.058	0.015	0.059
Interests: Groups	10	0.056	0.019	0.057
Accomplishments: Publications	10	0.054	0.022	0.054
Accomplishments: Test scores	10	0.045	0.010	0.045
Education: Averaged marks	9	-0.043	0.024	-0.040
Volunteering: Average duration	10	0.040	0.013	0.042
Skills: Leadership	9	-0.033	0.020	-0.032
Education: Educational stations	7	0.019	0.021	0.019
Profile picture: Charming facial expression	5	-0.019	0.026	-0.009
Accomplishments: Projects	8	0.017	0.015	0.019
Licenses and certifications	6	-0.013	0.015	-0.004
Age	5	0.011	0.015	0.000
Profile picture: Professional shot	4	0.010	0.021	0.000
Profile picture	3	0.009	0.016	0.000
Interests: Schools	3	0.007	0.011	0.000
Education: Marks	3	0.007	0.009	0.000
Volunteering: Volunteer experiences	1	0.004	0.009	0.000
Skille: Industry knowledge	1	-0.003	0.011	0.000
Experience: Leadership positions	3	-0.003	0.009	0.000
Other: Profile length	3	0.003	0.005	0.000
Education, Extensive description	5	0.003	0.005	0.000
Education: Extensive description	1	0.002	0.000	0.000
Education: Average duration	<u>ل</u> 1	-0.002	0.005	0.000
Education. Average duration	1	-0.001	0.002	0.000
Accommendations: Received recommendations	1	0.001	0.002	0.000
Other: Profile in English	1	0.000	0.000	0.000
Intercept	10	0.000	0.000	0.000

Note. $CV_{FI} = cross-validation fold incidence, that is, the number of outer folds the regression coefficient of a feature was <math>\neq 0$; $\beta_M = regression$ coefficients averaged across outer folds; $\beta_{SD} =$ standard deviation of regression coefficients across outer folds; $\beta_{Full} =$ regression coefficients of elastic net trained on full data. Only cues are shown for that $CV_{FI} > 0$. Cues sorted by $|\beta_M|$. All values on *z*-scale.

2.2.5 Discussion

With this study we uncover LinkedIn profiles' predictive potential to accurately infer personality. Building on the lens model (Brunswik, 1956), we demonstrate that LinkedIn profiles contain a valid cue base signaling users' narcissism (e.g., less smiling on the profile picture, uploading background pictures) and intelligence (e.g., listing more accomplishments, displaying schools with more followers) suggesting that the necessary condition for accurate personality inferences is met. Consistently utilizing these valid cues, the mechanical perceiver attained substantial prediction accuracy (r = .28/.32 for narcissism/intelligence). This shows that when the sufficient condition for accurate personality inferences is met, LinkedIn based personality inferences can indeed be accurate. Thereby, this study contributes to the literature on personality expression in recruitment contexts by adding valid LinkedIn specific cues to the information bases that recruiters draw on (e.g., resumés, online social network profiles, job interviews) to make (somewhat) accurate personality inferences. Furthermore, we add to the literature on the automated approach to personality assessment by showing that mechanical perceivers cannot only make accurate personality inferences based on online social media networks like Facebook but also based on online professional networks like LinkedIn, substantially differing in their cue base.

2.2.5.1 Applying the Lens Model to Personality Inferences Based on LinkedIn Profiles. This study underlines the utility of extending the application of the lens model framework (Brunswik, 1956) from human to mechanical perceivers (machine learning algorithms) to systematically examine processes involved in accurately inferring personality (Tay et al., 2020). More specifically, mechanical perceivers are trained to use cues consistently according to their validity and thus turned out as a useful vehicle to demonstrate that LinkedIn profiles possess predictive potential as long as the valid cues contained in LinkedIn profiles are used consistently.

Thereby, the lens model perspective allowed us to resolve previous discouraging findings of human perceivers' LinkedIn based personality inferences. Human perceivers achieve (if at all) modest accuracy when inferring personality on LinkedIn (Roulin & Levashina, 2019; Roulin & Stronach, 2022; Van de Ven et al., 2017). According to the lens model (Brunswik, 1956), this may be due to a lack of a (a) valid LinkedIn cue base or (b) consistent use of valid cues. Whereas Roulin and Stronach (2022) based on a small set of explorative cues challenge the existence of a valid LinkedIn cue base, Fernandez et al. (2021) based on deductively derived cues conclude the opposite. Following the deductive approach, we identified a rich set of valid LinkedIn cues for narcissism and intelligence that appeared as

robust predictors in cross-validated machine learning models. This suggests that human perceivers' lack of accuracy may be due to a lack of consistently using valid cues.

Indeed, we found that the mechanical perceiver, trained to consistently use valid cues, achieves substantial prediction accuracy for narcissism and intelligence. Inspecting the cues used by human versus mechanical perceivers might explain this: Whereas human perceivers were found to use cues such as the presence of an About section, the number of subscribers, and the number of previous employers to infer self-presentation (Van de Ven et al., 2017), and cues such as the presence of a professional profile picture, the presence of an About section, the number of subscribers, and the number of subscribers, and the number of skills (Roulin & Stronach, 2022) to infer intelligence, we did not find these cues to signal narcissism and intelligence. Thus, the mechanical perceiver did not use these cues. Also, there are valid cues used by the mechanical perceiver, such as providing English profiles to infer narcissism, that may not be used accordingly by human perceivers (Van de Ven et al., 2017). Overall, these findings are in line with meta-analytical evidence that models of human personality inferences are more accurate than humans themselves due to removing inconsistencies in cue utilizations (Karelaia & Hogarth, 2008).

2.2.5.2 Extending Previous Research on Valid Cues Signaling Personality on LinkedIn. This study contributes to the young literature on personality expression in online professional networks like LinkedIn by providing ten/eleven easy-to-interpret LinkedIn cues correlated with narcissism/intelligence tested to be robust in nested cross-validated machine learning models. Thereby, our findings on valid LinkedIn cues support some findings of previous explorative research. For instance, in line with findings on valid cues signaling trait self-presentation (Van de Ven et al., 2017), we identified less smiling on the profile picture and English profiles as valid cues signaling narcissism. However, there were also findings of previous research that could not be supported in this study, such as the presence of an About section signaling trait self-presentation (Van de Ven et al., 2017). This might be due to previous research having focused on distinct, albeit-related personality traits (e.g., trait self-presentation) that show only partly conceptual overlap with the traits of the present study (e.g., narcissism) and might thus differently relate to cues. Also, a strength of this study is that we tested the robustness of valid cues using resampling methods which previous research did not. As such, some previous findings appeared to be instable across studies. For example, whereas the presence of an About section was found to be associated with self-presentation (Van de Ven et al., 2017), it was not found to be associated with the (negatively) related construct honesty-humility (Roulin & Stronach, 2022).

Taking a broader perspective, this study contributes to the literature on personality expression in recruitment relevant contexts by adding valid LinkedIn cues to the information bases recruiters can draw on to make (somewhat) accurate personality inferences such as resumés (e.g., Burns et al., 2014; Cole et al., 2003), application photographs (Fernandez et al., 2017), online social networks (e.g., Back, Stopfer, et al., 2010; Gnambs & Appel, 2018; Stopfer et al., 2014), job interviews (e.g., DeGroot & Gooty, 2009; Gifford et al., 1985), or even handshakes in on-site personnel selection procedures (Stewart et al., 2008). In particular, we add valid LinkedIn specific cues such as a high number of received recommendations and listing interests with many followers for narcissism or listing groups and schools with many followers for intelligence, that are unavailable on other recruitment relevant information bases such as resumés or Facebook profiles.

Yet, we also found several LinkedIn cues that might have been expected to signal personality based on findings in other contexts to not signal personality in the LinkedIn context. For example, narcissism has been shown to be expressed in several cues related to their everyday physical appearance (e.g., charming facial expression, professional/formal appearance; e.g., Back, Schmukle, et al., 2010; Vazire et al., 2008). Yet, we found that most of these cues did not signal narcissism based on the physical appearance displayed in the LinkedIn profile photo. This might be due to LinkedIn profiles representing a situation strongly imposing commonly accepted norms (e.g., showing a professional/formal appearance) and broadly triggering most individuals to engage in professional self-promotion (e.g., showing a charming facial expression). This could make some cues less discriminative on LinkedIn than in other, less contextually restricted situations (e.g., the everyday physical appearance). Likewise, whereas narcissism has been shown to be expressed in cues such as more connections and activities like posting (Gnambs & Appel, 2018; McCain & Campbell, 2018) on rather unconstrained online social networks like Facebook (Hartwell & Campion, 2020), this seems not to be the case on LinkedIn. Here, most individuals might feel obliged to build a large professional network and post about professional topics. Overall, these findings underline that personality traits are expressed differently depending on the surrounding situation's strength (R. D. Meyer et al., 2010; Mischel, 1973).

2.2.5.3 Automated Approach to Personality Inferences Based on LinkedIn. This study advances the literature on automated personality assessments based on online (professional) networks by applying the automated approach to LinkedIn based personality inferences (a) using a broad set of divergent cues (cf. Roulin & Stronach, 2022) and (b) following calls (e.g., Bleidorn & Hopwood, 2019; Tay et al., 2020) to preselect features based

on theoretical and empirical underpinnings. This way, we obtained (a) high predictivity (Back & Nestler, 2016; see Azucar et al., 2018; Settanni et al., 2018) and (b) the ability to provide explanations to our findings (see Yarkoni & Westfall, 2017), both central aspects for practical application purposes.

The machine learning models' accuracies predicting narcissism/intelligence were substantial (r = .28/.32, see G. J. Meyer et al., 2001; Roberts et al., 2007) and within the expectable range of automated personality assessments based on online social networks like Facebook ($.29 \le r \le .40$; Azucar et al., 2018; Settanni et al., 2018). LinkedIn profile's predictive potential is especially noteworthy because LinkedIn as a professional online network represents a substantially stronger situation than less contextually restricted online social networks such as Facebook (Hartwell & Campion, 2020). Accordingly, on LinkedIn, the situation dominates the behavior much more strongly limiting possibilities of personality expression. Against this background, it is remarkable how well accurate personality inferences can be made based on LinkedIn data when consistently using divergent valid cues.

Comparing mechanical versus human perceivers, mechanical perceivers' LinkedIn based accuracy seems to be at the upper border of human perceivers' accuracy: Concerning narcissism, human perceivers' prediction accuracy lay between .16 (honesty-humility; Roulin & Stronach, 2022) and .29 (self-presentation; Van de Ven et al., 2017). Concerning intelligence, human perceivers' prediction accuracy lay between -.02 and .30 (Roulin & Levashina, 2019; Roulin & Stronach, 2022). However, the human perceivers' accuracy levels refer to the accuracy of averaged inferences of groups of human perceivers (*aggregated perceiver approach*; Back & Nestler, 2016; ten/two-four/≥ six perceivers in Van de Ven et al., 2017/Roulin & Levashina, 2019/Roulin & Stronach, 2022). Substantially lower accuracy levels (possibly no accuracy at all; see Van Iddekinge et al., 2016) are to be expected for the average individual perceiver (*single perceiver approach*; Back & Nestler, 2016), such as the single recruiter inferring personality based on LinkedIn in real-life recruitment settings.

2.2.5.4 Practical Implications. This study shows that LinkedIn profiles possess predictive potential if the valid cues contained in LinkedIn profiles are used consistently. Yet, recruiters, routinely inferring personality based on LinkedIn, lack accuracy (Roulin & Levashina, 2019; Roulin & Stronach, 2022; Van de Ven et al., 2017). This might lead to erroneous decision-making in recruitment processes because, for instance, suitable applicants might be immediately falsely rejected due to their apparent "not suitable" personality. Also, inaccurate initial personality impressions might transfer to hiring decisions in advanced selection stages and harm their validity (e.g., Dougherty et al., 1994; Macan & Dipboye, 1990).

Trainings educating about incorporating valid LinkedIn cues (as identified in the present study) consistently into personality inferences could improve recruiters' accuracy (see Cole et al., 2005; Karelaia & Hogarth, 2008; Powell & Bourdage, 2016).

Besides, the present findings might raise the notion of leaving LinkedIn based personality inferences to mechanical rather than human perceivers. This seems to have great potential due to possibly enhanced accuracies and massive resource savings. However, it would be premature to conclude that based on the current state of research. For example, it should be noted that mechanical perceivers are trained to optimally predict self-reported personality, whereas human perceivers usually more broadly try to infer "true personality. Indispensable steps preceding practical applications of automated LinkedIn based personality inferences for recruitment purposes are thus examining the extent automated personality inferences (a) actually predict work outcomes, particularly job performance (criterion-related validity, see also Cubrich et al., 2021) and (b) thereby explain incremental variance beyond recruiters' LinkedIn inferred personality as well as established self-report personality and aptitude tests. Until then, organizations may be well advised to not rely too heavily on automated LinkedIn based personality inferences to base their selection decisions on but rather use these for non-invasive pre-screening practices when facing high applicant numbers.

The automated approach might also be applied for research purposes to measure personality efficiently and non-invasively. This could be leveraged to (a) reach large samples for which it is challenging to obtain personality traits,¹⁸ (b) evade limitations of self-reports such as faking, social desirability, and restricted introspection (e.g., Morgeson et al., 2007), and (c) add incremental validity to self-reports. We finally emphasize the need to handle the present results responsibly as there are ethically controversial applications of automated LinkedIn based personality inferences such as tailoring LinkedIn contents and design to users' personality for purposes of enhancing user experience and time spent online (e.g., Alves et al., 2020), targeted advertising (e.g., Shumanov et al., 2021), or exerting political influence (e.g., Zarouali et al., 2022).

¹⁸ An illustrative example might be research on consequences of CEO-narcissism whereby it is difficult to obtain self-reported narcissism due to CEO's time constraints. Research often circumvents this by combining public information (e.g., CEO's picture size in the annual report, number of CEO references in press releases) to narcissism scores (Cragun et al., 2020). Such scores have been validated against third-party reports (e.g., Patel & Cooper, 2014), but not self-reported narcissism. Aabo and Eriksen (2018) picked up on this and proposed a CEO-narcissism measure based on LinkedIn cues, that is, the number of (a) skills, (b) subscribers, and (c) professional positions, and the presence of a (d) profile picture, (e) About section, and (f) interests. However, Aabo and Eriksen (2018) do not demonstrate convergent validity. The present results might be valuable to optimize unobtrusive CEO-narcissism measures (if transferability to a CEO sample can be shown), as in our study many of the cues proposed to signal CEO-narcissism did not signal self-reported narcissism (only the number of skills had predictive value).

2.2.5.5 Limitations and Directions for Future Research. This study followed a top-down approach (Bleidorn & Hopwood, 2019; Tay et al., 2020) and focused on (a) deductively derived LinkedIn cues based on theoretical and empirical underpinnings to signal narcissism and intelligence, and (b) an easy-to-grasp machine learning algorithm, that is, the elastic net. This ensured robust results and interpretability leveraging our understanding of personality expression in online (professional) networks and potentials for practical applications. It is crucial for recruitment purposes to have clear insights into how selection decisions are made to ensure fair, transparent procedures and to adhere to legal arrangements prohibiting to consider specific personal characteristics (e.g., gender, ethnicity; Brown & Vaughn, 2011) to prevent discrimination (Goretzko & Finja Israel, 2022; Köchling & Wehner, 2020). Yet, future research might profit from a bottom-up approach (see Alexander et al., 2020) exploring hundreds of (automatically processed)¹⁹ LinkedIn cues in thousands of users to detect robust novel cues signaling personality that might be used for theory refinement. Thereby, complex machine learning algorithms working best in big data environments and taking complex cue interactions into account such as random forests may be applied to identify an upper-threshold of mechanical perceivers' LinkedIn based prediction accuracy.

Mechanical perceivers seem to infer personality on LinkedIn more accurately than single human perceivers which might be due to human perceivers not using valid cues consistently. However, we have only limited evidence on human perceivers' cue utilizations based on small exploratory cue sets (Roulin & Stronach, 2022; Van de Ven et al., 2017). Preliminary evidence suggests that human perceivers might focus on the "wrong" cues, that is, they seem to use non-valid cues and disregard valid cues. To better understand this process, future research could examine the extent human perceivers incorporate deductively derived LinkedIn cues into personality inferences. This may also facilitate designing effective trainings that educate especially about those valid cues with a large discrepancy between recruiters' cue utilization. Thereby, researchers might refrain from solely using the aggregated perceiver approach (Nestler & Back, 2017). Conducting analyses on the single perceiver level would allow to (a) attain more relevant accuracy estimations, as recruiters typically view LinkedIn profiles individually rather than averaging inferences in groups, and (b) examine individual characteristics (e.g., personality traits, job experience) that might explain interindividual

¹⁹ In this study, LinkedIn cues were coded manually by humans. An efficient practical application of a bottom-up approach to automated LinkedIn based personality inferences would require automatically processing cues ranging from simple web-scraping (e.g., Youyou et al., 2015) to complex deep learning methods (e.g., Wei & Stillwell, 2017). Yet, legal conditions are to be considered as to whether LinkedIn data is allowed to be automatically collected (LinkedIn prevents such practices; e.g., Goldfein & Keyte, 2017).

differences in accuracies (see Kinicki et al., 1990; Zedeck et al., 1983).

Although LinkedIn as a professional online network is a more contextually restricted platform compared to online social networks like Facebook (Hartwell & Campion, 2020), the information depth (e.g., pictures, skills, interests) seems to be sufficient for accurate personality inferences. This is positive news for applications in recruitment settings, as online social networks come with various obstacles, such as adverse impact, low acceptance, and legal disputes (e.g., P. L. Roth et al., 2016; Van Iddekinge et al., 2016), which are less pronounced in LinkedIn as a platform tailored to professional information (e.g., Cubrich et al., 2021; Stoughton et al., 2015). Future research might (a) directly compare prediction accuracies of (automated) personality assessments based on online social and professional networks using identical participants' profiles across networks and (b) test differences in the predictive value of similar cues across networks (e.g., number of LinkedIn subscribers and Facebook friends). This would contribute to a context specific understanding of personality expression in online social versus professional networks in alignment with situational strength theories (R. D. Meyer et al., 2010; Mischel, 1973).

Finally, future lens model research examining the processes involved in accurately inferring personality may profit from employing an alternative methodological approach. That is, identifying valid cues based on the feature importance in nested cross-validated machine learning models using cues to predict personality instead of based on bivariate correlations and multiple regressions. (a) Machine learning models optimize prediction instead of explanation which should be more appropriate when examining accurate personality inferences that inherently represent a predictive question (Yarkoni & Westfall, 2017). Also, (b) machine learning models are well-suited to handle environments with many intercorrelated cues (James et al., 2013) which should be the case for most information bases used to infer personality. Thereby, the importance of features provides practically relevant information for the weighting of specific cues in the context of a multitude of other cues. In addition, (c) resampling procedures ensure robust results which helps to avoid and clarify contradictory findings on valid and non-valid cues (e.g., Roulin & Levashina, 2019; Roulin & Stronach, 2022). Finally, (d) the machine learning approach provides solid metrics to quantify a specific information base's predictive potential. We hope that our research inspires other scholars to further investigate the potential of LinkedIn profiles for inferring personality characteristics in recruitment contexts.

2.2.6 References

- Aabo, T., & Eriksen, N. B. (2018). Corporate risk and the humpback of CEO narcissism. *Review of Behavioral Finance*, 10(3), 252–273. https://doi.org/10.1108/RBF-07-2017-0070
- Ahmetoglu, G., Dobbs, S., Furnham, A., Crump, J., Chamorro-Premuzic, T., & Bakhshalian, E. (2016). Dark side of personality, intelligence, creativity, and managerial level. *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, 31(2), 391–404. https://doi.org/10.1108/JMP-03-2013-0096
- Aktas, N., Bodt, E. de, Bollaert, H., & Roll, R. (2016). CEO narcissism and the takeover process: From private initiation to deal completion. *Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis*, *51*(1), 113–137. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0022109016000065
- Alexander, L., Mulfinger, E., & Oswald, F. L. (2020). Using big data and machine learning in personality measurement: Opportunities and challenges. *European Journal of Personality*, 34(5), 632–648. https://doi.org/10.1002/per.2305
- Alves, T., Natálio, J., Henriques-Calado, J., & Gama, S. (2020). Incorporating personality in user interface design: A review. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 155, 109709. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2019.109709
- Azucar, D., Marengo, D., & Settanni, M. (2018). Predicting the big 5 personality traits from digital footprints on social media: A meta-analysis. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 124, 150–159. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2017.12.018
- Back, M. D. (2018). The narcissistic admiration and rivalry concept. In A. D. Hermann, A. B. Brunell, & J. D. Foster (Eds.), *Handbook of trait narcissism: Key advances, research methods, and controversies* (pp. 57–67). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-92171-6 6.
- Back, M. D., Küfner, A. C. P., Dufner, M., Gerlach, T. M., Rauthmann, J. F., & Denissen, J. J. A. (2013). Narcissistic admiration and rivalry: Disentangling the bright and dark sides of narcissism. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 105(6), 1013–1037. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0034431
- Back, M. D., & Nestler, S. (2016). Accuracy of judging personality. In J. A. Hall, M. Schmid Mast, & T. V. West (Eds.), *The social psychology of perceiving others accurately* (pp. 98–124). Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9781316181959.005.
- Back, M. D., Schmukle, S. C., & Egloff, B. (2010). Why are narcissists so charming at first sight? Decoding the narcissism–popularity link at zero acquaintance. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 98(1), 132–145. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0016338
- Back, M. D., Stopfer, J. M., Vazire, S., Gaddis, S., Schmukle, S. C., Egloff, B., & Gosling, S. D. (2010). Facebook profiles reflect actual personality, not self-idealization. *Psychological Science*, 21(3), 372–374. https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797609360756
- Benson, A. J., Jordan, C. H., & Christie, A. M. (2016). Narcissistic reactions to subordinate role assignment: The case of the narcissistic follower. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 42(7), 985–999. https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167216649608
- Bleidorn, W., & Hopwood, C. J. (2019). Using machine learning to advance personality assessment and theory. *Personality and Social Psychology Review*, 23(2), 190–203. https://doi.org/10.1177/1088868318772990
- Brailovskaia, J., Bierhoff, H.-W., & Margraf, J. (2019). How to identify narcissism with 13 items? Validation of the German Narcissistic Personality Inventory–13 (G-NPI-13). *Assessment*, *26*(4), 630–644. https://doi.org/10.1177/1073191117740625
- Breiman, L. (2001). Random forests. *Machine Learning*, 45(1), 5–32. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1010933404324
- Brown, V. R., & Vaughn, E. D. (2011). The writing on the (Facebook) wall: The use of social

networking sites in hiring decisions. *Journal of Business and Psychology*, 26(2), 219–225. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10869-011-9221-x

- Brunell, A. B., Gentry, W. A., Campbell, W. K., Hoffman, B. J., Kuhnert, K. W., & DeMarree, K. G. (2008). Leader emergence: The case of the narcissistic leader. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 34(12), 1663–1676. https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167208324101
- Brunswik, E. (1956). *Perception and the representative design of psychological experiments*. University of California Press.
- Buffardi, L. E., & Campbell, W. K. (2008). Narcissism and social networking web sites. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 34(10), 1303–1314. https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167208320061
- Burns, G. N., Christiansen, N. D., Morris, M. B., Periard, David. A., & Coaster, J. A. (2014). Effects of applicant personality on resume evaluations. *Journal of Business and Psychology*, 29(4), 573–591. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10869-014-9349-6
- Buss, D. M., & Chiodo, L. M. (1991). Narcissistic acts in everyday life. *Journal of Personality*, 59(2), 179–215. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-6494.1991.tb00773.x
- Campbell, W. K., & Campbell, S. M. (2009). On the self-regulatory dynamics created by the peculiar benefits and costs of narcissism: A contextual reinforcement model and examination of leadership. *Self and Identity*, 8(2–3), 214–232. https://doi.org/10.1080/15298860802505129
- Campbell, W. K., Hoffman, B. J., Campbell, S. M., & Marchisio, G. (2011). Narcissism in organizational contexts. *Human Resource Management Review*, *21*(4), 268–284. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hrmr.2010.10.007
- Cawley, G. C., & Talbot, N. L. C. (2010). On over-fitting in model selection and subsequent selection bias in performance evaluation. *Journal of Machine Learning Research*, 11, 2079–2107. https://doi.org/10.48550/arXiv.1809.09446
- Chatterjee, A., & Hambrick, D. C. (2007). It's all about me: Narcissistic chief executive officers and their effects on company strategy and performance. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, *52*(3), 351–386. https://doi.org/10.2189/asqu.52.3.351
- Chen, J., Qiu, L., & Ho, M.-H. R. (2020). A meta-analysis of linguistic markers of extraversion: Positive emotion and social process words. *Journal of Research in Personality*, 89, 104035. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrp.2020.104035
- Cicchetti, D. V. (1994). Guidelines, criteria, and rules of thumb for evaluating normed and standardized assessment instruments in psychology. *Psychological Assessment*, 6(4), 284–290. https://doi.org/10.1037/1040-3590.6.4.284
- Cole, M. S., Feild, H. S., & Giles, W. F. (2003). What can we uncover about applicants based on their resumes? A field study. *Applied HRM Research*, 8(2), 51–62.
- Cole, M. S., Feild, H. S., & Stafford, J. O. (2005). Validity of resumé reviewers' inferences concerning applicant personality based on resumé evaluation. *International Journal of Selection and Assessment*, 13(4), 321–324. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-2389.2005.00329.x
- Cragun, O. R., Olsen, K. J., & Wright, P. M. (2020). Making CEO narcissism research great: A review and meta-analysis of CEO narcissism. *Journal of Management*, 46(6), 908–936. https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206319892678
- Cubrich, M., King, R. T., Mracek, D. L., Strong, J. M. G., Hassenkamp, K., Vaughn, D., & Dudley, N. M. (2021). Examining the criterion-related validity evidence of LinkedIn profile elements in an applied sample. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 120, 106742. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2021.106742
- Davenport, S. W., Bergman, S. M., Bergman, J. Z., & Fearrington, M. E. (2014). Twitter versus Facebook: Exploring the role of narcissism in the motives and usage of

different social media platforms. *Computers in Human Behavior*, *32*, 212–220. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2013.12.011

- DeGroot, T., & Gooty, J. (2009). Can nonverbal cues be used to make meaningful personality attributions in employment interviews? *Journal of Business and Psychology*, 24(2), 179–192. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10869-009-9098-0
- Deluga, R. J. (1997). Relationship among American presidential charismatic leadership, narcissism, and rated performance. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 8(1), 49–65. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1048-9843(97)90030-8
- Dougherty, T. W., Turban, D. B., & Callender, J. C. (1994). Confirming first impressions in the employment interview: A field study of interviewer behavior. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 79(5), 659–665. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.79.5.659

Ensari, N., Riggio, R. E., Christian, J., & Carslaw, G. (2011). Who emerges as a leader? Meta-analyses of individual differences as predictors of leadership emergence. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 51(4), 532–536. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2011.05.017

- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Lang, A.-G., & Buchner, A. (2007). G*Power 3: A flexible statistical power analysis program for the social, behavioral, and biomedical sciences. *Behavior Research Methods*, 39(2), 175–191. https://doi.org/10.3758/BF03193146
- Fernandez, S., Stöcklin, M., Terrier, L., & Kim, S. (2021). Using available signals on LinkedIn for personality assessment. *Journal of Research in Personality*, 93, 104122. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrp.2021.104122
- Fernandez, S., Stosic, G., & Terrier, L. (2017). Does your résumé photograph tell who you are? *Personality and Individual Differences*, *104*, 186–189. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2016.08.006
- Fiedler, F. E., & Garcia, J. E. (1987). New approaches to effective leadership: Cognitive resources and organizational performance. John Wiley & Sons.
- Friedman, J., Hastie, T., & Tibshirani, R. (2010). Regularization paths for generalized linear models via coordinate descent. *Journal of Statistical Software*, 33(1), 1–22. https://doi.org/10.18637/jss.v033.i01
- Garcia, D., & Sikström, S. (2014). The dark side of Facebook: Semantic representations of status updates predict the dark triad of personality. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 67, 92–96. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2013.10.001
- Gentile, B., Miller, J. D., Hoffman, B. J., Reidy, D. E., Zeichner, A., & Campbell, W. K. (2013). A test of two brief measures of grandiose narcissism: The Narcissistic Personality Inventory–13 and the Narcissistic Personality Inventory-16. *Psychological Assessment*, 25(4), 1120–1136. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0033192
- Gifford, R., Ng, C. F., & Wilkinson, M. (1985). Nonverbal cues in the employment interview: Links between applicant qualities and interviewer judgments. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 70(4), 729–736. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.70.4.729
- Gignac, G. E., & Szodorai, E. T. (2016). Effect size guidelines for individual differences researchers. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 102, 74–78. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2016.06.069
- Gnambs, T., & Appel, M. (2018). Narcissism and social networking behavior: A metaanalysis. *Journal of Personality*, 86(2), 200–212. https://doi.org/10.1111/jopy.12305
- Goldfein, S., & Keyte, J. (2017). Big data, web 'scraping' and competition law: The debate continues. *New York Law Journal*, *258*(49), 1–3.
- Goretzko, D., & Finja Israel, L. S. (2022). Pitfalls of machine learning-based personnel selection: Fairness, transparency, and data quality. *Journal of Personnel Psychology*, 21(1), 37–47. https://doi.org/10.1027/1866-5888/a000287
- Gottfredson, L. S. (1997). Why g matters: The complexity of everyday life. Intelligence,

24(1), 79-132. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0160-2896(97)90014-3

- Grijalva, E., Harms, P. D., Newman, D. A., Gaddis, B. H., & Fraley, R. C. (2015). Narcissism and leadership: A meta-analytic review of linear and nonlinear relationships. *Personnel Psychology*, 68(1), 1–47. https://doi.org/10.1111/peps.12072
- Grijalva, E., & Newman, D. A. (2015). Narcissism and counterproductive work behavior (CWB): Meta-analysis and consideration of collectivist culture, big five personality, and narcissism's facet structure. *Applied Psychology*, 64(1), 93–126. https://doi.org/10.1111/apps.12025
- Härtel, T. M., Leckelt, M., Grosz, M. P., Küfner, A. C. P., Geukes, K., & Back, M. D. (2021). Pathways from narcissism to leadership emergence in social groups. *European Journal of Personality*, 35(5), 1–23. https://doi.org/10.1177/08902070211046266
- Hartwell, C. J., & Campion, M. A. (2020). Getting social in selection: How social networking website content is perceived and used in hiring. *International Journal of Selection and Assessment*, 28(1), 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1111/ijsa.12273
- Hastie, T., Tibshirani, R., & Friedman, J. (2009). *The elements of statistical learning* (2nd ed.). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-0-387-84858-7
- Heydasch, T., Haubrich, J., & Renner, K.-H. (2013). The Short Version of the Hagen Matrices Test (HMT-S): 6-Item induction intelligence test. *Methods, Data, Analyses*, 7(2), Article 2. https://doi.org/10.12758/mda.2013.011
- Heydasch, T., Renner, K.-H., & Haubrich, J. (2012, January 1). Der Hagener Matrizen-Test (HMT): Ein kostenloser, web-basierter Intelligenztest. *17. Coping-Tagung*.
- Hoerl, A. E., & Kennard, R. W. (1970). Ridge regression: Biased estimation for nonorthogonal problems. *Technometrics*, 12(1), 55–67. https://doi.org/10.1080/00401706.1970.10488634
- Holtzman, N. S., Tackman, A. M., Carey, A. L., Brucks, M. S., Küfner, A. C. P., Deters, F. G., Back, M. D., Donnellan, M. B., Pennebaker, J. W., Sherman, R. A., & Mehl, M. R. (2019). Linguistic markers of grandiose narcissism: A LIWC analysis of 15 samples. *Journal of Language and Social Psychology*, *38*(5–6), 773–786. https://doi.org/10.1177/0261927X19871084
- James, G., Witten, D., Hastie, T., & Tibshirani, R. (2013). An introduction to statistical *learning*. Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-7138-7
- Judge, T. A., Colbert, A. E., & Ilies, R. (2004). Intelligence and leadership: A quantitative review and test of theoretical propositions. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 89(3), 542–552. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.89.3.542
- Judge, T. A., LePine, J. A., & Rich, B. L. (2006). Loving yourself abundantly: Relationship of the narcissistic personality to self- and other perceptions of workplace deviance, leadership, and task and contextual performance. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 91(4), 762–776. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.91.4.762
- Karelaia, N., & Hogarth, R. M. (2008). Determinants of linear judgment: A meta-analysis of lens model studies. *Psychological Bulletin*, 134(3), 404–426. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.134.3.404
- Kinicki, A. J., Lockwood, C. A., Hom, P. W., & Griffeth, R. W. (1990). Interviewer predictions of applicant qualifications and interviewer validity: Aggregate and individual analyses. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 75(5), 477–486. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.75.5.477
- Kirkpatick, S. A., & Locke, E. A. (1991). Leadership: Do traits matter? *Academy of Management Perspectives*, 5(2), 48–60. https://doi.org/10.5465/ame.1991.4274679
- Köchling, A., & Wehner, M. C. (2020). Discriminated by an algorithm: A systematic review of discrimination and fairness by algorithmic decision-making in the context of HR recruitment and HR development. *Business Research*, *13*(3), 795–848.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s40685-020-00134-w

- Kohavi, R. (1995). A study of cross-validation and bootstrap for accuracy estimation and model selection. *Proceedings of the 14th International Joint Conference on Artificial Intelligence*, 14(2), 1137–1143. https://dl.acm.org/citation.cfm?id=1643031.1 643047
- Koo, T. K., & Li, M. Y. (2016). A guideline of selecting and reporting intraclass correlation coefficients for reliability research. *Journal of Chiropractic Medicine*, 15(2), 155–163. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcm.2016.02.012
- Kosinski, M., Bachrach, Y., Kohli, P., Stillwell, D., & Graepel, T. (2014). Manifestations of user personality in website choice and behaviour on online social networks. *Machine Learning*, *95*(3), 357–380. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10994-013-5415-y
- Kosinski, M., Stillwell, D., & Graepel, T. (2013). Private traits and attributes are predictable from digital records of human behavior. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *110*(15), 5802–5805. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1218772110
- Krizan, Z., & Herlache, A. D. (2018). The narcissism spectrum model: A synthetic view of narcissistic personality. *Personality and Social Psychology Review*, 22(1), 3–31. https://doi.org/10.1177/1088868316685018
- Kuncel, N. R., Hezlett, S. A., & Ones, D. S. (2004). Academic performance, career potential, creativity, and job performance: Can one construct predict them all? *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 86(1), 148–161. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.86.1.148
- Leckelt, M., Küfner, A. C. P., Nestler, S., & Back, M. D. (2015). Behavioral processes underlying the decline of narcissists' popularity over time. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *109*(5), 856–871. https://doi.org/10.1037/pspp0000057
- LeCun, Y., Bengio, Y., & Hinton, G. (2015). Deep learning. *Nature*, *521*(7553). https://doi.org/10.1038/nature14539
- LinkedIn. (2022). About Us. https://news.linkedin.com/about-us
- Lord, R. G., Foti, R. J., & De Vader, C. L. (1984). A test of leadership categorization theory: Internal structure, information processing, and leadership perceptions. *Organizational Behavior and Human Performance*, 34(3), 343–378. https://doi.org/10.1016/0030-5073(84)90043-6
- Macan, T. H., & Dipboye, R. L. (1990). The relationship of interviewers' preinterview impressions to selection and recruitment outcomes. *Personnel Psychology*, 43(4), 745–768. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-6570.1990.tb00681.x
- McCain, J. L., & Campbell, W. K. (2018). Narcissism and social media use: A meta-analytic review. *Psychology of Popular Media Culture*, 7(3), 308–327. https://doi.org/10.1037/ppm0000137
- Meyer, G. J., Finn, S. E., Eyde, L. D., Kay, G. G., Moreland, K. L., Dies, R. R., Eisman, E. J., Kubiszyn, T. W., & Reed, G. M. (2001). Psychological testing and psychological assessment: A review of evidence and issues. *American Psychologist*, 56(2), 128–165. https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.56.2.128
- Meyer, R. D., Dalal, R. S., & Hermida, R. (2010). A review and synthesis of situational strength in the organizational sciences. *Journal of Management*, *36*(1), 121–140. https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206309349309
- Mischel, W. (1973). Toward a cognitive social learning reconceptualization of personality. *Psychological Review*, 80(4), 252–283. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0035002
- Morf, C. C., & Rhodewalt, F. (2001). Unraveling the paradoxes of narcissism: A dynamic self-regulatory processing model. *Psychological Inquiry*, 12(4), 177–196. https://doi.org/10.1207/S15327965PLI1204_1
- Morgeson, F. P., Campion, M. A., Dipboye, R. L., Hollenbeck, J. R., Murphy, K., & Schmitt, N. (2007). Reconsidering the use of personality tests in personnel selection contexts.

Personnel Psychology, *60*(3), 683–729. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-6570.2007.00089.x

- Nestler, S., & Back, M. D. (2013). Applications and extensions of the lens model to understand interpersonal judgments at zero acquaintance. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, *22*(5), 374–379. https://doi.org/10.1177/0963721413486148
- Offermann, L. R., Kennedy, J. K., & Wirtz, P. W. (1994). Implicit leadership theories: Content, structure, and generalizability. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 5(1), 43–58. https://doi.org/10.1016/1048-9843(94)90005-1
- Patel, P. C., & Cooper, D. (2014). The harder they fall, the faster they rise: Approach and avoidance focus in narcissistic CEOs. *Strategic Management Journal*, 35(10), 1528– 1540. https://doi.org/10.1002/smj.2162

Pennebaker, J. W., Boyd, R. L., Jordan, K., & Blackburn, K. (2015). *The development and psychometric properties of LIWC2015*. https://repositories.lib.utexas.edu/handle/2152/31333

- Powell, D. M., & Bourdage, J. S. (2016). The detection of personality traits in employment interviews: Can "good judges" be trained? *Personality and Individual Differences*, 94, 194–199. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2016.01.009
- Preotiuc-Pietro, D., Carpenter, J., Giorgi, S., & Ungar, L. (2016). Studying the dark triad of personality through Twitter behavior. *Proceedings of the 25th ACM International on Conference on Information and Knowledge Management*, 761–770. https://doi.org/10.1145/2983323.2983822
- R Core Team. (2018). R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. http://www.R-project.org/
- Raskin, R. N., & Terry, H. (1988). A principal-components analysis of the Narcissistic Personality Inventory and further evidence of its construct validity. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 54(5), 890–902. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.54.5.890
- Roberts, B. W., Kuncel, N. R., Shiner, R., Caspi, A., & Goldberg, L. R. (2007). The power of personality: The comparative validity of personality traits, socioeconomic status, and cognitive ability for predicting important life outcomes. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, 2(4), 313–345. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1745-6916.2007.00047.x
- Roth, B., Becker, N., Romeyke, S., Schäfer, S., Domnick, F., & Spinath, F. M. (2015). Intelligence and school grades: A meta-analysis. *Intelligence*, *53*, 118–137. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.intell.2015.09.002
- Roth, P. L., Bobko, P., Van Iddekinge, C. H., & Thatcher, J. B. (2016). Social media in employee-selection-related decisions: A research agenda for uncharted territory. *Journal of Management*, 42(1), 269–298. https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206313503018
- Roulin, N., & Bangerter, A. (2013). Social networking websites in personnel selection. Journal of Personnel Psychology, 12(3), 143–151. https://doi.org/10.1027/1866-5888/a000094
- Roulin, N., & Levashina, J. (2019). LinkedIn as a new selection method: Psychometric properties and assessment approach. *Personnel Psychology*, 72(2), 187–211. https://doi.org/10.1111/peps.12296
- Roulin, N., & Stronach, R. (2022). LinkedIn-based assessments of applicant personality, cognitive ability, and likelihood of organizational citizenship behaviors: Comparing self-, other-, and language-based automated ratings. *International Journal of Selection* and Assessment, 30(4), 503–524. https://doi.org/10.1111/ijsa.12396
- RStudio Team. (2016). *RStudio: Integrated development for R. RStudio, Inc., Boston, MA.* https://www.Rproject.org/
- Sackett, P. R., Zhang, C., Berry, C. M., & Lievens, F. (2022). Revisiting meta-analytic estimates of validity in personnel selection: Addressing systematic overcorrection for restriction of range. *Journal of Applied Psychology 107*(11), 2040–2068. https://doi.org/10.1037/apl0000994
- Salgado, J. F., Anderson, N., Moscoso, S., Bertua, C., & Fruyt, F. D. (2003). International validity generalization of GMA and cognitive abilities: A European community metaanalysis. *Personnel Psychology*, 56(3), 573–605. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-6570.2003.tb00751.x
- Saw, J. G., Yang, M. C. K., & Mo, T. C. (1984). Chebyshev inequality with estimated mean and variance. *The American Statistician*, 38(2), 130–132. https://doi.org/10.1080/00031305.1984.10483182

Schipolowski, S., Wilhelm, O., Schroeders, U., Kovaleva, A., Kemper, C. J., & Rammstedt, B. (2013). BEFKI GC-K: A short scale for the measurement of crystallized intelligence. *Methods, Data, Analyses*, 7(2). https://doi.org/10.12758/mda.2013.010

- Schroeder, A. N., Odd, K. R., & Whitaker, J. H. (2020). Agree to disagree: Examining the psychometrics of cybervetting. *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, 35(5), 435–450. https://doi.org/10.1108/JMP-09-2018-0420
- Settanni, M., Azucar, D., & Marengo, D. (2018). Predicting individual characteristics from digital traces on social media: A meta-analysis. *Cyberpsychology, Behavior, and Social Networking*, *21*(4), 217–228. https://doi.org/10.1089/cyber.2017.0384
- Shumanov, M., Cooper, H., & Ewing, M. (2021). Using AI predicted personality to enhance advertising effectiveness. *European Journal of Marketing*, 56(6), 1590–1609. https://doi.org/10.1108/EJM-12-2019-0941
- Silver, N. C., & Dunlap, W. P. (1987). Averaging correlation coefficients: Should Fisher's z transformation be used? *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 72(1), 146–148. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.72.1.146
- Stekhoven, D. J. (2022). *missForest: Nonparametric missing value imputation using random forest.* R package version 1.5.
- Stekhoven, D. J., & Bühlmann, P. (2012). MissForest—Non-parametric missing value imputation for mixed-type data. *Bioinformatics*, 28(1), 112–118. https://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/btr597
- Stewart, G. L., Dustin, S. L., Barrick, M. R., & Darnold, T. C. (2008). Exploring the handshake in employment interviews. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 93(5), 1139– 1146. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.93.5.1139
- Stopfer, J. M., Egloff, B., Nestler, S., & Back, M. D. (2014). Personality expression and impression formation in online social networks: An integrative approach to understanding the processes of accuracy, impression management and meta-accuracy. *European Journal of Personality*, 28(1), 73–94. https://doi.org/10.1002/per.1935
- Stoughton, J. W., Thompson, L. F., & Meade, A. W. (2015). Examining applicant reactions to the use of social networking websites in pre-employment screening. *Journal of Business and Psychology*, 30(1), 73–88. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10869-013-9333-6
- Sumner, C., Byers, A., Boochever, R., & Park, G. J. (2012). Predicting dark triad personality traits from Twitter usage and a linguistic analysis of tweets. 2012 11th International Conference on Machine Learning and Applications, 2, 386–393. https://doi.org/10.1109/ICMLA.2012.218
- Tay, L., Woo, S. E., Hickman, L., & Saef, R. M. (2020). Psychometric and validity issues in machine learning approaches to personality assessment: A focus on social media text mining. *European Journal of Personality*, 34(5), 826–844. https://doi.org/10.1002/per.2290

Tibshirani, R. (1997). The lasso method for variable selection in the Cox model. Statistics in

Medicine, *16*(4), 385–395. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1097-0258(19970228)16:4<385::AID-SIM380>3.0.CO;2-3

- Tibshirani, R. (2011). Regression shrinkage and selection via the lasso: A retrospective. *Journal of the Royal Statistical Society: Series B (Statistical Methodology)*, 73(3), 273–282. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9868.2011.00771.x
- Van de Ven, N., Bogaert, A., Serlie, A., Brandt, M. J., & Denissen, J. J. A. (2017). Personality perception based on LinkedIn profiles. *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, 32(6), 418–429. https://doi.org/10.1108/JMP-07-2016-0220
- Van Iddekinge, C. H., Lanivich, S. E., Roth, P. L., & Junco, E. (2016). Social media for selection? Validity and adverse impact potential of a facebook-based assessment. *Journal of Management*, 42(7), 1811–1835. https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206313515524
- Varma, S., & Simon, R. (2006). Bias in error estimation when using cross-validation for model selection. *BMC Bioinformatics*, 7(1), 91. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2105-7-91
- Vazire, S., Naumann, L. P., Rentfrow, P. J., & Gosling, S. D. (2008). Portrait of a narcissist: Manifestations of narcissism in physical appearance. *Journal of Research in Personality*, 42(6), 1439–1447. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrp.2008.06.007
- Wallace, H. M., & Baumeister, R. F. (2002). The performance of narcissists rises and falls with perceived opportunity for glory. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 82(5), 819–834. https://doi.org/10.1037//0022-3514.82.5.819
- Watts, A. L., Lilienfeld, S. O., Smith, S. F., Miller, J. D., Campbell, W. K., Waldman, I. D., Rubenzer, S. J., & Faschingbauer, T. J. (2013). The double-edged sword of grandiose narcissism: Implications for successful and unsuccessful leadership among U.S. presidents. *Psychological Science*, 24(12), 2379–2389. https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797613491970
- Wei, X., & Stillwell, D. (2017). How smart does your profile image look? Estimating intelligence from social network profile images. *Proceedings of the Tenth ACM International Conference on Web Search and Data Mining*, 33–40. https://doi.org/10.1145/3018661.3018663
- Wilhelm, O., Schroeders, U., & Schipolowski, S. (2014). Berliner Test zur Erfassung fluider und kristalliner Intelligenz für die 8. Bis 10. Jahrgangsstufe. Hogrefe. https://fis.unibamberg.de/handle/uniba/20955
- Wille, B., Hofmans, J., Lievens, F., Back, M. D., & De Fruyt, F. (2019). Climbing the corporate ladder and within-person changes in narcissism: Reciprocal relationships over two decades. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 115, 103341. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2019.103341
- Yarkoni, T., & Westfall, J. (2017). Choosing prediction over explanation in psychology: Lessons from machine learning. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, 12(6), 1100– 1122. https://doi.org/10.1177/1745691617693393
- Youyou, W., Kosinski, M., & Stillwell, D. (2015). Computer-based personality judgments are more accurate than those made by humans. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 112(4), 1036–1040. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1418680112
- Zarouali, B., Dobber, T., De Pauw, G., & De Vreese, C. (2022). Using a personality-profiling algorithm to investigate political microtargeting: Assessing the persuasion effects of personality-tailored ads on social media. *Communication Research*, 49(8), 1066–1091. https://doi.org/10.1177/0093650220961965
- Zedeck, S., Tziner, A., & Middlestadt, S. E. (1983). Interviewer validity and reliability: An individual analysis approach. *Personnel Psychology*, *36*(2), 355–370. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-6570.1983.tb01443.x

Zou, H., & Hastie, T. (2005). Regularization and variable selection via the elastic net. *Journal* of the Royal Statistical Society: Series B (Statistical Methodology), 67(2), 301–320. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9868.2005.00503.x

Appendix 2.2.A

In the LinkedIn profile card, users provide brief personal information (e.g., job titles, contact details). Narcissists might use this for self-promotion by listing more information and an academic title. Also, they could link a Twitter profile (e.g., Davenport et al., 2014; Panek et al., 2013). Due to their vanity, narcissists may include a profile picture (Aabo & Eriksen, 2018; cf. Van de Ven et al., 2017). Theron narcissists could display (a) fewer glasses (Vazire et al., 2008), (b) a charming facial expression (Back et al., 2010), (c) less smiling (Van de Ven et al., 2017), (d) a formal appearance (Back et al., 2010; Vazire et al., 2008; see also Van de Ven et al., 2017; cf. Roulin & Stronach, 2022), (e) a stylish, flashy appearance (Back et al., 2010; Cisek et al., 2014; Vazire et al., 2008; see also McCain et al., 2016), (f) a dressed-up, trimmed appearance (Davis et al., 2001; Giacomin & Rule, 2019; Holtzman & Strube, 2013; Vazire et al., 2008; see also McCain et al., 2016), (g) a professional edited shot (Fox & Rooney, 2015; Wang, 2019), and (h) physical attractivity (Holtzman & Strube, 2010; see also Buffardi & Campbell, 2008; Kapidzic, 2013). Also, narcissists could feature a (self-promotional) background picture and further pictures/videos as they post more pictures (Gnambs & Appel, 2018; McCain & Campbell, 2018).

In the About section (formerly "Summary") users highlight personal characteristics and experiences. Narcissists may use this for self-promotion by filling out the About section (Aabo & Eriksen, 2018; cf. Roulin & Stronach, 2022), providing more (self-promoting) information (Roulin & Stronach, 2022), and using more self-related words (e.g., "I/me"; see Cragun et al., 2020; cf. Carey et al., 2015). Narcissists spend more time and post frequently on online networks (Gnambs & Appel, 2018; McCain & Campbell, 2018). Thus, they could feature more average activities (e.g., liking posts), self-made posts, and posts in the Featured section. Narcissists are skilled in initiating connections (e.g., Back et al., 2010; Leckelt et al., 2015) and strive for large networks providing an audience (Wallace & Baumeister, 2002) and confirmation of popularity (Buffardi & Campbell, 2008; Davenport et al., 2014). Thus, narcissists have many connections on online networks (Gnambs & Appel, 2018; McCain & Campbell, 2018), which may also apply on LinkedIn (Aabo & Eriksen, 2018; Van de Ven et al., 2017; cf. Roulin & Stronach, 2022).

Narcissists could display more professional positions as they may include irrelevant experiences to show all previous achievements (Aabo & Eriksen, 2018; Van de Ven et al., 2017; cf. Roulin & Stronach, 2022). Narcissists excel at personnel selection procedures (e.g., Brunell et al., 2008; Paulhus et al., 2013), but mid-term cause problems at work (e.g., Grijalva & Newman, 2015) potentially leading to frequent job changes (Campbell & Campbell, 2009).

Thus, narcissists might feature lower average durations per professional position. Narcissists attain group leadership (Grijalva et al., 2015; e.g., Härtel et al., 2021), managerial ranks (e.g., Ahmetoglu et al., 2016; Wille et al., 2019), and representative leadership positions (e.g., Deluga, 1997; Watts et al., 2013), and thus, may display leadership positions. Concerning educational experiences, narcissists could display business studies (Bergman et al., 2010; Westerman et al., 2012). Narcissists focus on their own welfare (Campbell & Foster, 2007), and thus, might display less volunteering. However, narcissists may engage in volunteering for egoistic purposes (e.g., Brunell et al., 2014; Konrath et al., 2016), and thus, might particularly display less altruistic volunteering. They also prefer low effort volunteering (Konrath & Tian, 2018) and may thus display shorter average volunteering durations.

Narcissists may list more information concerning "Licenses and Certifications", "Skills", and "Accomplishments", as these sections trigger self-promotion (cf. Roulin & Stronach, 2022). Skills can be endorsed, which narcissists could use as grandiosity affirmation (Van Dijck, 2013; cf. Roulin & Stronach, 2022). This might also apply to received recommendations (cf. Roulin & Stronach, 2022), which may be fostered by narcissists' ability to make positive initial impressions (Back et al., 2018). Concerning specific skills, narcissists might list leadership and public speaking, matching their agentic side, and less "interpersonal skills" and teamwork, clashing with their antagonistic side (see also Fernandez et al.'s, 2021, findings on extraversion and agreeableness). Concerning specific accomplishments, narcissists might list low effort accomplishments such as "organizations" and "courses". Users follow groups, influencers, companies, and schools in the Interest section. Narcissists might feature more interests to display self-promoting details (Aabo & Eriksen, 2018). They tend to associate with high status others (Campbell, 1999; see also Barry & McDougall, 2018), and thus, may list interests with many followers, particularly many influencers with many followers. Finally, narcissists could feature (a) sports (e.g., Bruno et al., 2014; Spano, 2001), (b) English profiles to reach big audiences (Van de Ven et al., 2017), and (c) long profiles due to exploiting the various self-promotion opportunities (cf. Roulin & Stronach, 2022).

Intelligent individuals may list an academic title in the profile card as intelligence predicts academic degree attainment (Kuncel et al., 2004). They might also include a LinkedIn profile picture (Roulin & Levashina; 2019). Intelligent individuals feature a self-assured facial expression and a less showy dress (Borkenau & Liebler, 1995). This could translate to a charming facial expression and a less stylish, flashy, and dressed-up, trimmed appearance on the profile picture. Intelligent individuals were found to feature a "high quality headshot with professional dress" on LinkedIn (Roulin & Levashina, 2019) which might translate to the cues

(a) professional edited shot, (b) picture above neckline, and (c) formal appearance (cf. Roulin & Stronach, 2022). Intelligent individuals could also include an (extensive) About section (Roulin & Levashina, 2019; cf. Roulin & Stronach, 2022).

Intelligence predicts career success (e.g., Judge et al., 1999; Ng et al., 2005) which may translate to listing more (extensively described; Roulin & Levashina, 2019; cf. Roulin & Stronach, 2022) professional positions (cf. Roulin & Stronach, 2022). Intelligence is a key leadership attribute (e.g., Offermann et al., 1994) and predicts leadership emergence (e.g., Judge et al., 2004). Thus, intelligent individuals might list leadership positions. Intelligence predicts academic achievement (Kuncel et al., 2004) and thus, intelligent individuals could display (good) marks (Roth et al., 2015), and more (extensively described) educational stations (Roulin & Stronach, 2022). Intelligent individuals take more time to finish their studies (Kuncel et al., 2004), and thus, might feature longer average durations of educational stations. They have low enterprising vocational interests (Pässler et al., 2015), and thus, may display fewer business studies. Intelligence is associated with prosocial behavior and volunteering (Guo et al., 2019; Kail & Car, 2020; Rosenthal et al., 1998). Thus, intelligent individuals could feature more (altruistic) volunteering and longer average durations.

Intelligent individuals may list more information concerning "Licenses and Certifications", "Skills", and "Accomplishments" (cf. Roulin & Stronach, 2022), as they efficiently acquire job knowledge and skills (Hunter, 1986) and excel at trainings (Hunter & Hunter, 1984; Salgado et al., 2003). In a similar vein, intelligent individuals might feature endorsed skills and received recommendations (cf. Roulin & Levashina, 2019; Roulin & Stronach, 2022) due to their positive internship appraisals (Kuncel et al., 2004) and job performance. Concerning specific skills, they could list skills related to job knowledge ("industry knowledge", "tools and technologies") and leadership. Concerning specific accomplishments, intelligent individuals might list accomplishments requiring cognitive complexity (see Gottfredson, 1997) such as "honors/awards" (Cole et al., 2003; Roulin & Stronach, 2022), "publications", "projects", and "test scores". Concerning interests, due to their academic achievement, they may list more schools with more followers. They could also list rather groups (cf. Roulin & Levashina, 2019), serving professional purposes, than showing off influencers. Finally, as intelligent individuals attain high-wage level jobs (Judge et al., 1999; Ng et al., 2005) often requiring English skills (Stöhr, 2015) they might provide English profiles. They may have long profiles because they should have obtained more job-relevant experiences and describe these in detail (Roulin & Levashina, 2019; cf. Roulin & Stronach, 2022).

Appendix 2.2.B

Table 2.2.B

Measurement, Descriptive Statistics, and Correlations of the Leftover LinkedIn Cues With Narcissism and Intelligence

Cue	Measurement	M	SD	ľN	$r_{\rm I}$
Profile card					
Premium account	0 = not present; $1 = $ present	.07	.25	.03	.00
Profile picture					
Badges	0 = not present; 1 = present (i.e., badges ("open to work", "hiring") presented with profile picture)	.04	.20	09	.02
Picture in color	0 = not present; $1 = $ present	.91	.29	.05	.08
Eye contact into camera	0 = not present; $1 = $ present	.95	.21	.02	.08
Picture with non-neutral	0 = not present; $1 =$ present (neutral background was defined as neutral photograph settings such as plain	.36	.48	.01	.05
background	colored walls, whereas non-neutral background was defined as more natural settings such as outdoors)				
Skills					
Language	Number of skills categorized as "language" skills divided by total number of skills	.02	.06	01	06
Other	Number of skills categorized as "other" skills divided by total number of skills	.18	.21	.05	.15
Accomplishments					
Languages	Number of accomplishments categorized as "languages" divided by total number of accomplishments	.39	.43	01	.03
Recommendations					
Given recommendations	Numerically counted	0.07	0.30	.14	.04
Interests					
Companies	Number of interests related to companies divided by total number of interests	.79	.12	.01	15
Median of groups' followers	Median of number of followers of interests related to groups (assessing numbers of followers was limited to the	16493	66382	.05	.06
C I	first 50 group interests)				
Median of companies'	Median of number of followers of interests related to companies (assessing numbers of followers was limited to	78250	220055	.12	12
followers	the first 50 company interests)				
Causes	/				
Causes	0 = not present; 1 = present	0.05	0.21	03	.04
Note $N = narcissism \cdot I = interview I = in$	alligence				

Correlations in bold are significant at the $p \le .05$ level.

Appendix 2.2.C

Table 2.2.C

Intercorrelations Between Narcissism, Intelligence, Age, Gender, and All LinkedIn Cues of the Main and Supplemental Analyses

-		1.	2.	3.	4.	5.	6.	7.	8.	9.	10.	11.	12.	13.	14.	15.	16.	17.	18.	19.	20.
	1. Narcissism	-	.00	.82	.78	.56	.03	.19	03	09	05	.05	.03	.09	.06	.07	.00	01	.11	.04	.04
	2. Intelligence		-	01	.02	07	.07	.17	.06	.01	09	.00	06	12	.03	.08	.08	.07	.07	08	.13
	3. Narcissistic admiration			-	.27	.52	.02	.10	.01	05	.05	.04	.04	.09	.03	.05	02	.00	.13	.03	.07
	4. Narcissistic rivalry				-	.37	.02	.20	06	10	14	.04	.01	.04	.07	.07	.03	01	.05	.04	.00
	5. Narcissism (NPI)					-	03	.09	03	05	.17	.14	.02	.13	.15	.09	.03	.04	.11	.09	.14
	6. Age						-	.27	06	.01	10	.10	10	18	03	.22	.22	.07	.50	12	14
	7. Gender							-	04	10	12	.13	29	05	05	.07	.08	.02	.20	07	.01
	8. Name with title								-	.06	03	02	09	09	02	.03	.03	.10	05	07	.12
	9. Profile picture									-	-	-	-	-	-	.05	.02	.10	01	01	04
	10. Charming facial										-	.26	.09	.27	.52	02	01	.13	03	.05	.13
	expression																				
	11. Professional/formal											-	07	.21	.42	.08	.08	.06	.10	.12	01
<u> </u>	appearance																				
42	12. Stylish/flashy/												-	.37	.10	.05	.02	.07	01	03	.06
	fashionable appearance																				
	13. Dressed-up, trimmed													-	.28	.00	07	.01	09	.11	01
	appearance																				
	14. Professional shot														-	.07	.04	.13	.00	.17	.14
	15. About															-	.66	.26	.21	07	.16
	16. Extensive About section																-	.23	.24	.04	.13
	17. Professional positions																	-	.11	01	.27
	18. Leadership positions																		-	.02	.01
	19. Business studies																			-	.02
	20. Volunteer experiences																				-
	21. Altruistic volunteering	.11	.07	.14	.03	.12	09	05	.04	06	.10	01	.04	.00	.01	.01	01	.09	.06	03	.42
	22. Average duration of	.04	.14	.07	01	.10	.02	.08	.06	04	.10	.06	05	.02	.09	.07	.02	.11	.10	04	.40
	volunteer experiences																				
	23. Licenses and	.06	01	.06	.04	.07	.15	.13	01	.08	03	.01	.06	01	02	.23	.15	.21	.19	.04	.14
	certifications																				
	24. Skills	.14	.03	.14	.08	.11	.28	.14	.02	.06	01	.11	.01	.03	.05	.46	.31	.29	.30	08	.10
	25. Endorsements	.05	.08	.09	.00	.07	.41	.15	.01	.04	.01	.16	.01	.02	.09	.33	.28	.27	.37	07	.08
	26. Leadership skills	.08	04	.10	.02	.07	.35	.18	.02	.03	03	.10	02	02	.00	.26	.24	.14	.33	.02	.04

	1.	2.	3.	4.	5.	6.	7.	8.	9.	10.	11.	12.	13.	14.	15.	16.	17.	18.	19.	20.
27. Accomplishments	.08	.21	.06	.07	.12	01	.05	.14	.02	.04	.07	.08	.03	.11	.34	.27	.35	.05	10	.32
28. Received	.13	.05	.17	.03	.06	.13	.15	03	.02	.07	.09	.03	.11	.17	.14	.09	.12	.13	.02	.11
recommendations																				
29. Profile in English	.10	.13	.07	.09	.11	04	01	.18	.03	.02	.10	.04	.08	.11	.21	.19	.35	.05	.02	.29
30. Profile length	.04	.14	.02	.04	.08	.11	.06	.13	.09	.06	.12	.10	.01	.15	.51	.56	.70	.19	.01	.34
31. Extensive profile card	.04	03	.06	.01	.03	.03	.02	.12	.05	.12	.03	.02	.06	.18	.20	.26	.17	.09	.02	.10
32. Twitter	.02	.05	.00	.03	.01	.22	.05	04	.05	01	01	.11	.01	.14	.20	.17	.16	.20	02	.19
33. Glasses	.01	.04	03	.05	08	.07	.05	.04	-	15	09	.00	15	07	.05	.04	.14	.05	05	.06
34. Smiling	18	.01	08	22	01	10	25	.02	-	.51	.07	.05	.00	.15	03	.03	.16	04	07	.15
35. Physical attractiveness	06	06	01	09	.02	45	29	.04	-	.45	04	.08	.37	.20	14	15	.07	29	.12	.07
36. Background picture	.15	.01	.17	.07	.16	.03	.01	.00	.09	.03	05	.11	.03	.05	.31	.26	.16	.10	03	.21
37. Self-promotional	.00	.02	.03	03	06	.29	.23	05	.13	.12	.02	.00	.03	.06	.16	.15	.10	.20	21	01
background picture																				
38. Additional pictures/	02	.00	.00	04	.06	.21	.20	04	.07	.08	.14	.04	.02	.10	.29	.37	.24	.23	10	.25
videos																				
39. Self-promotional content	02	.02	01	02	.02	.22	.02	14	04	.02	.15	03	.02	01	.13	.59	.16	.33	.04	.02
40. Self-related words	.01	.05	01	.02	.02	.08	.01	.03	.00	01	.05	.05	.00	.04	.52	.79	.18	.13	.09	.09
41. Posts	.02	01	.07	05	.02	.20	.14	.01	.06	.02	.06	.09	03	.08	.29	.29	.16	.23	11	.22
42. Average activities per	.06	05	.07	.04	.10	.24	.03	.03	.07	.05	.17	.09	.09	.09	.28	.29	.17	.27	.00	.08
day																				
43. Articles/posts/	.04	.00	.04	.02	.07	.42	.09	02	.09	.05	.17	.04	.02	.10	.40	.38	.16	.39	09	.09
documents																				
44. Subscribers	.06	.02	.05	.04	.15	.26	.14	.03	.05	.08	.21	.05	.12	.16	.29	.25	.28	.28	.03	.17
45. Average duration of	.04	.00	.05	.02	02	.59	.15	07	02	08	.03	03	11	03	.12	.07	15	.26	12	12
professional positions																				
46. Public speaking skills	.14	.01	.13	.08	.12	.03	.07	.00	.05	.07	03	01	01	.06	.16	.13	.16	.04	03	.19
47. Interpersonal skills	.04	14	.10	04	.04	.11	06	.02	.00	.09	02	.09	.04	.05	.11	.10	.12	.14	.05	.12
48. Teamwork skills	.01	07	.03	01	.02	14	12	.00	.05	.11	05	.04	.06	.07	.04	.05	.12	12	.02	.06
49. Organizations	.14	.06	.14	.08	.09	.19	.04	.01	.04	.04	.05	.09	.03	.07	.21	.07	.12	.21	14	.04
50. Courses	.08	.05	.04	.10	.08	01	.09	.01	.01	.01	02	01	01	03	.23	.21	.19	.04	04	.07
51. Interests	01	04	.00	02	.07	.09	.09	.05	.09	.06	.14	.05	.09	.16	.30	.35	.28	.14	.08	.25
52. Median of interests'	.16	12	.11	.15	.05	17	.06	.05	.02	.02	.05	12	.03	02	01	04	12	10	.04	.02
followers																				
53. Influencers	.07	02	.09	.01	.13	.04	.11	06	.02	.07	.11	.02	.11	.00	.00	.07	.06	.07	.12	.06
54. Median of influencers'	.05	01	.02	.05	.05	07	.10	.02	.02	.01	03	.08	.04	10	.05	.01	.05	.05	.07	.11
followers																				
55. Sports activities	.09	.02	.04	.10	.10	01	.08	.05	.04	11	06	.02	06	.00	.05	.06	.06	.02	06	.19
56. Picture above neckline	01	.17	04	.03	04	.01	.11	.06	-	20	.09	21	.05	03	.03	.07	11	04	06	02

	1.	2.	3.	4.	5.	6.	7.	8.	9.	10.	11.	12.	13.	14.	15.	16.	17.	18.	19.	20.
57. Extensive description of	.02	.06	.03	.00	.03	.10	.00	.11	.02	.04	.11	.13	.04	.11	.35	.39	.31	.16	.00	.19
58 Marks	01	06	02	01	03	- 13	- 04	04	00	09	- 01	12	07	06	06	04	22	- 05	- 05	16
59 Averaged marks	- 14	- 17	- 02	- 15	- 04	15 14	04	- 10	.00	- 05	01	- 04	- 03	- 04	.00	-0. 00	.22	03	03	.10 _ 22
60 Educational stations	14	17 14	00	15	04	- 07	- 02	10	05	05	.05	04	05	04	.12	.07	.00	.02	04	22
61 Extensive description of	.07	.14	- 01	.00	.10	- 10	02	10	.05	.04	.04	.05	01	.07	.22	.10	.55 28	.02	.00	.55
educational stations	.00	•11	01	.02	.07	10	.00	.10	.00	•14	.00	.07	.01	•11	.25	.25	.20	.00	.01	. TU
62. Average duration of	05	03	04	04	02	27	06	.02	03	.00	.00	03	.00	02	02	05	02	15	.04	.02
educational stations	0.0	0.0	07	07	0.0	10	0.2	0.1	0.4	0.1	0.1	0.4	0.1	0.2	•		•	10	0.2	10
63. Industry knowledge	.09	.00	.07	.07	.08	.18	02	01	.04	.01	01	.04	01	02	.24	.22	.26	.18	02	.10
skills	07	02	0.5	06	02	26	0.4	00	07	0.4	01	0.4	00	0.2	14	00	0.5	00	06	15
skills	.07	.03	.05	.06	.02	26	.04	.09	.07	04	01	04	.09	.02	.14	.08	.05	09	.06	.17
65. Honors/awards	.05	.18	.02	.06	.04	10	.09	.15	01	.03	.04	03	.03	.04	.04	.03	.17	05	.00	.28
66. Publications	.03	.15	.06	02	.04	.07	.02	.18	.06	.07	11	.03	.02	.00	.16	.14	.14	.06	11	.09
67. Projects	.05	.10	.08	01	.06	.11	.07	.04	07	02	.02	.09	04	.05	.17	.09	.15	.09	16	.13
68. Test scores	02	.11	06	.03	03	06	05	.07	.05	.03	.09	.08	.05	.07	.06	.07	.09	.02	.06	.11
69. Schools	.00	.06	.01	02	05	24	10	.07	09	10	17	.01	05	05	17	16	15	20	.00	02
70. Median of schools'	.12	.19	.13	.05	.12	09	.04	.04	.00	.09	.08	.04	.10	.06	.19	.04	.12	05	06	.11
followers																				
71. Groups	03	.13	07	.02	03	.43	.08	.07	.06	08	.04	.02	09	08	.16	.14	.10	.25	10	.02
72. Premium account	.03	.00	.03	.02	.06	.25	.00	04	.07	.14	.09	.07	.03	.17	.18	.12	.07	.23	.01	09
73. Badges	09	.02	09	06	02	.07	.03	.01	.00	05	08	.00	06	.00	.15	.14	.09	.09	05	03
74. Picture in color	.05	.08	.02	.07	.00	01	.06	08	-	10	.12	.07	.05	06	.04	.04	04	.00	.03	.00
75. Eye contact into camera	.02	.08	.03	.00	.06	07	.00	03	-	.24	.18	.01	.14	.19	.05	.08	.08	.02	.11	.06
76. Picture with non-neutral background	.01	.05	.00	.02	.07	.10	.00	02	-	.00	22	.14	10	.13	.01	.01	.04	.11	01	.11
77. Language skills	01	06	.04	06	03	15	17	.04	.04	01	06	.03	.04	.00	.07	.05	.03	09	.04	.04
78. Other skills	.05	.15	.06	.02	.07	.22	.18	07	.02	.03	.16	10	02	.10	.20	.13	.07	.14	12	03
79. Languages	01	.03	02	.01	.00	06	05	02	.03	.00	.06	.04	.03	.02	.11	.02	.12	03	.08	.08
80. Given recommendations	.14	.04	.14	.08	.11	.23	.17	05	.06	.03	.11	06	.06	.08	.20	.06	.12	.23	04	.03
81. Companies	.01	15	.02	01	.02	19	03	08	.00	.10	.04	02	.07	.13	.00	02	01	09	.05	01
82. Median of groups'	.05	.06	.04	.04	.00	02	05	.08	06	05	04	.04	.01	.03	.06	.06	.03	02	.07	.00
followers																				
83. Median of companies'	.12	12	.12	.07	.01	15	.01	.04	.03	05	.01	05	.03	05	.01	01	15	09	.03	.02
followers																				
84. Causes	03	.04	04	01	04	.14	.08	.09	.01	05	.04	.04	.03	.05	.22	.21	.19	.17	01	.18

	21.	22.	23.	24.	25.	26.	27.	28.	29.	30.	31.	32.	33.	34.	35.	36.	37.	38.	39.	40.
21. Altruistic volunteering	-	.31	.07	06	01	.01	.08	.07	.16	.12	.02	01	03	.06	.06	.01	15	.07	.07	.00
22. Average duration of		-	.02	.11	.04	.06	.13	.00	.21	.13	03	.02	04	.10	.06	.03	02	.12	.02	.00
volunteer experiences																				
23. Licenses and			-	.44	.23	.30	.22	.15	.12	.26	.11	.10	.00	01	14	.18	.14	.21	.05	.08
certifications																				
24. Skills				-	.49	.49	.32	.20	.21	.40	.20	.18	.02	05	16	.33	.17	.29	.17	.26
25. Endorsements					-	.32	.33	.39	.18	.36	.19	.34	.13	02	21	.24	.33	.37	.26	.17
26. Leadership skills						-	.11	.15	.10	.28	.03	.15	.01	09	21	.14	.25	.24	.20	.23
27. Accomplishments							-	.13	.35	.47	.18	.13	.12	.05	05	.25	.09	.33	.10	.19
28. Received								_	.10	.18	.11	.31	.08	01	10	.18	.10	.31	.14	.08
recommendations																				
29. Profile in English									-	.45	.25	.08	.01	.04	.04	.19	.07	.20	.18	.16
30. Profile length										-	.31	.23	.10	.08	06	.29	.14	.37	.48	.50
31. Extensive profile card											-	.05	.03	.03	.00	.23	.20	.14	.16	.17
32. Twitter												_	.10	.09	10	.17	.19	.22	.14	.16
33. Glasses													-	01	27	.04	.01	.04	.05	.04
34. Smiling														-	.21	03	.06	.02	.08	.01
35. Physical attractiveness															-	02	06	14	17	11
36. Background picture																-	-	.21	.16	.21
37. Self-promotional																	-	.24	.12	.06
background picture																				
38. Additional pictures/																		-	.25	.27
videos																				
39. Self-promotional content																			-	.52
40. Self-related words																				-
41. Posts	.09	.11	.26	.35	.45	.28	.21	.37	.15	.30	.19	.36	.06	.00	16	.22	.32	.65	.21	.24
42. Average activities per	03	03	.31	.37	.47	.30	.26	.18	.12	.27	.18	.21	.00	.05	12	.23	.34	.25	.20	.28
day																				
43. Articles /posts/	02	.00	.25	.41	.52	.33	.14	.26	.10	.31	.15	.40	.09	.09	21	.26	.37	.44	.25	.26
documents																				
44. Subscribers	01	.06	.21	.37	.66	.25	.27	.32	.23	.35	.19	.31	.08	.10	11	.23	.31	.42	.13	.14
45. Average duration of	05	.00	.03	.09	.20	.15	10	.09	10	10	03	.26	02	08	27	.04	.21	.15	.05	.00
professional positions																				
46. Public speaking skills	.11	.06	.09	.26	.11	.15	.08	.08	.14	.21	.14	.03	07	.02	.01	.16	.01	.13	.00	.12
47. Interpersonal skills	.13	.14	.15	.26	.09	.39	.07	.07	.10	.20	.12	.09	01	.01	01	.12	08	.14	.16	.10
48. Teamwork skills	.02	.02	.11	.24	02	.15	.09	03	.15	.15	.01	06	.00	.09	.14	.05	20	.09	.07	.10
49. Organizations	03	.07	.19	.25	.34	.12	.22	.24	.05	.14	.06	.23	03	.03	06	.04	.25	.16	.06	.03
50. Courses	.05	.02	.11	.17	.06	.15	.59	.05	.17	.24	.05	.02	.06	04	03	.12	.11	.20	.14	.24

145

	21.	22.	23.	24.	25.	26.	27.	28.	29.	30.	31.	32.	33.	34.	35.	36.	37.	38.	39.	40.
51. Interests	04	.03	.20	.41	.37	.24	.23	.32	.24	.38	.14	.33	.07	.09	05	.22	.14	.37	.11	.30
52. Median of interests'	.08	02	04	.00	06	.06	01	02	.02	08	05	01	02	07	01	01	15	08	.02	01
followers																				
53. Influencers	.05	.08	.01	.07	.08	.12	.04	.02	.06	.06	.04	.00	03	02	.05	.08	.00	.05	.13	.05
54. Median of influencers'	.14	02	.09	.07	.00	.05	.09	03	.03	.04	.01	.10	.05	03	.05	.08	10	.01	.04	.03
followers																				
55. Sports activities	.05	.05	.03	.01	.00	03	.16	03	.03	.11	.01	.23	.05	.08	06	.18	.12	.07	11	.05
56. Picture above neckline	05	.02	05	03	.07	06	.03	.01	.02	02	04	.02	.09	03	09	05	07	.01	.09	.01
57. Extensive description of	.11	.07	.15	.27	.33	.25	.28	.14	.21	.70	.18	.21	.04	02	08	.22	.13	.27	.26	.35
professional positions																				
58. Marks	.04	.08	.01	.11	01	.05	.22	01	.11	.25	.03	02	.02	01	.10	.16	24	.09	.01	.05
59. Averaged marks	14	08	.07	.09	11	.08	03	11	20	.07	13	15	01	14	16	.09	.10	09	.18	.19
60. Educational stations	.11	.26	.18	.22	.13	.07	.39	04	.31	.43	.11	.07	.13	.09	.00	.14	.03	.10	.11	.15
61. Extensive description of	.14	.09	.20	.20	.15	.10	.37	.08	.28	.47	.15	.08	.04	.09	.02	.25	08	.30	.09	.23
educational stations																				
62. Average duration of	.05	03	04	.01	05	01	01	02	07	.01	02	06	05	02	.09	01	25	06	08	05
educational stations																				
63. Industry knowledge	.00	.08	.19	.49	.39	.19	.15	.11	.18	.31	.07	.09	.04	.01	09	.19	.07	.13	.32	.11
skills																				
64. Tools and technologies	.04	.12	.03	.19	09	06	.14	08	.11	.12	.13	07	.02	01	.16	.14	12	05	.03	.12
skills																				
65. Honors/awards	.23	.09	.07	.00	.03	02	.27	.06	.20	.20	.14	01	.09	.01	03	.09	10	.04	02	02
66. Publications	.02	.08	.07	.15	.20	.06	.33	.04	.15	.23	.08	.05	01	.04	.02	.14	.15	.19	.06	.06
67. Projects	05	.05	.13	.24	.11	.21	.28	.03	.04	.16	.02	.15	.05	.07	12	.14	.17	.10	08	.07
68. Test scores	06	.05	.03	.04	.00	.01	.19	.06	.11	.12	.02	.03	01	.01	.06	.05	02	.05	01	.09
69. Schools	.03	05	09	24	14	16	.05	09	09	13	12	15	03	07	.03	17	09	14	13	12
70. Median of schools'	.08	.08	.01	.06	.08	.02	.11	.15	.23	.17	.06	03	.04	.05	.02	.07	04	.07	.06	.07
followers																				
71. Groups	.06	.11	.14	.29	.27	.18	.08	.12	.10	.14	.07	.14	.04	06	21	.11	.13	.17	.09	.04
72. Premium account	09	05	.17	.24	.23	.15	.04	.15	.07	.13	.18	.06	03	.05	04	.07	.16	.13	02	.00
73. Badges	03	08	.13	.10	.01	.11	.08	04	05	.09	.00	.03	.04	08	03	.01	01	.03	.00	.05
74. Picture in color	.00	03	02	.02	.03	06	03	06	09	01	02	.01	13	01	05	.01	17	01	.04	.00
75. Eye contact into camera	.07	.07	03	.00	.07	10	.06	.04	.06	.12	.06	03	.01	.13	.10	02	05	.02	.18	.08
76. Picture with non-neutral	.06	.09	.04	.04	.02	.03	.11	.04	.07	.04	.01	.04	.03	02	03	.10	11	.08	02	.00
background									/											
77. Language skills	.04	.06	03	.13	04	05	.00	05	.07	.05	01	06	03	.02	.09	.03	06	06	06	.08
78. Other skills	08	.04	.17	.47	.15	.24	.11	.10	02	.12	.07	.06	03	05	13	.12	.16	.20	10	.12
79. Languages	.04	.11	.01	.09	.10	.01	.18	02	.10	.15	.09	.03	.02	.00	.05	.06	11	02	.06	.05

	21.	22.	23.	24.	25.	26.	27.	28.	29.	30.	31.	32.	33.	34.	35.	36.	37.	38.	39.	40.
80. Given recommendations	.01	.00	.33	.34	.55	.21	.18	.52	.04	.16	.13	.24	.13	03	14	.21	.16	.20	.08	.03
81. Companies	08	08	04	09	14	08	12	03	03	04	.03	.00	.01	.10	.12	01	05	06	04	.05
82. Median of groups'	.03	04	02	.08	01	.02	.09	.00	.08	.06	.05	.03	.04	02	.03	.12	11	01	.05	.12
followers																				
83. Median of companies'	.13	01	05	02	06	.07	.01	03	06	09	04	.01	01	10	02	.03	16	07	01	02
followers																				
84. Causes	.09	.17	.13	.18	.23	.28	.15	.08	.14	.32	03	.42	01	09	01	.10	.10	.15	.13	.16
	41.	42.	43.	44.	45.	46.	47.	48.	49.	50.	51.	52.	53.	54.	55.	56.	57.	58.	59.	60.
41. Posts	-	.38	.56	.45	.16	.17	.09	02	.14	.10	.35	06	.04	.05	.10	02	.30	02	02	.03
42. Average activities per		-	.55	.53	.20	.09	.09	03	.23	.12	.45	08	.09	.03	.01	04	.27	05	.23	.06
day																				
43. Articles/posts/			-	.58	.30	.14	.19	.05	.22	.06	.34	07	.12	.00	.08	01	.30	04	.00	.02
documents							<u> </u>			. –		. –								
44. Subscribers				-	.28	.04	.05	.00	.24	.07	.62	07	.15	02	.10	.05	.29	.01	16	.16
45. Average duration of					-	03	.02	10	.13	05	.04	08	.01	05	.03	.01	02	12	02	17
professional positions								4.0			10	0.6						~ -		4.0
46. Public speaking skills						-	.31	.19	.00	.04	.10	06	03	.00	01	11	.10	.05	.01	.10
47. Interpersonal skills							-	.46	.05	.05	.05	.02	.07	.04	09	07	.17	.12	.01	.08
48. Teamwork skills								-	02	.08	.05	.08	.05	.02	09	03	.04	.12	17	.13
49. Organizations									-	01	.20	06	.02	04	.02	02	.09	.03	19	.03
50. Courses										-	.10	01	.01	.13	.08	02	.12	.07	.04	.18
51. Interests											-	02	.09	.03	.06	02	.25	.05	.10	.13
52. Median of interests												-	.27	.21	01	03	05	02	11	04
followers														24	02	07	00	06	14	01
53. Influencers													-	.24	.03	07	.09	.00	.14	.01
54. Median of influencers														-	04	04	.04	.13	.04	.01
55. Sports activities															-	.09	.07	07	_	.13
56. Picture above neckline																-	.02	08	.05	01
57. Extensive description of																	-	.20	.02	.17
professional positions																				
58. Marks																		-	-	.23
59. Averaged marks																			-	10
60. Educational stations																				-
61. Extensive description of	.25	.11	.15	.19	09	.16	.13	.18	.04	.12	.18	08	.03	.11	.09	06	.45	.22	13	.25
educational stations																				
62. Average duration of	11	10	11	06	24	01	.00	.02	.04	02	.01	.10	.03	.00	.02	03	.06	.14	03	03
educational stations																				

147

	41.	42.	43.	44.	45.	46.	47.	48.	49.	50.	51.	52.	53.	54.	55.	56.	57.	58.	59.	60.
63. Industry knowledge skills	.17	.17	.26	.27	.03	.07	.23	.17	.11	.05	.25	01	.14	.02	05	05	.20	.05	06	.20
64. Tools and technologies skills	07	05	13	03	17	.07	.01	.05	06	.12	.02	.08	.12	.06	.14	.09	.08	.16	.10	.19
65. Honors/awards	.00	.02	07	.10	11	.00	03	.00	.04	.01	.07	.08	.06	.05	.00	.08	.14	.10	33	.20
66. Publications	.24	.10	.12	.15	02	.11	.05	.05	.09	.02	01	.04	.03	.06	.04	.02	.16	.05	08	.09
67. Projects	.19	.08	.11	.09	.05	.05	.05	02	.07	.03	.14	07	03	01	.14	06	.13	.15	04	.03
68. Test scores	03	01	02	.01	05	.00	.06	.02	.00	.05	.05	02	01	.00	03	01	.09	.14	13	.14
69. Schools	14	24	30	22	19	06	08	02	08	.01	34	05	21	09	02	.03	07	02	04	.16
70. Median of schools' followers	.05	.05	.06	.09	09	.05	.00	.02	.18	.08	.07	.14	.00	.05	03	.05	.07	01	25	.14
71. Groups	.22	.15	.30	.18	.27	.08	.15	.04	.09	.00	.03	15	04	.00	06	.02	.17	.06	11	01
72. Premium account	.18	.17	.35	.26	.10	.10	.18	.08	.23	05	.18	09	.01	05	04	05	.09	.04	.16	.00
73. Badges	.03	.08	.03	04	.01	07	.15	02	.12	.04	.01	06	.02	.08	03	01	.12	.12	.14	01
74. Picture in color	.01	.04	.06	02	.04	01	.03	.01	04	12	08	03	.04	.02	.00	.00	.02	04	07	02
75. Eye contact into camera	.03	.02	.03	.07	18	.04	01	01	01	.00	.04	04	07	02	.04	.09	.05	03	.04	.05
76. Picture with non-neutral background	.08	.02	.02	.05	.05	.06	.02	.05	.12	.00	.08	04	.00	.03	.00	22	.01	.03	16	.00
77. Language skills	06	03	08	05	09	.08	.09	.13	09	.01	.07	.04	05	07	01	04	.03	.05	.18	.11
78. Other skills	.21	.10	.18	.07	.13	.13	08	.06	.15	.04	.12	06	.01	.04	.02	.00	.07	.08	.09	.04
79. Languages	.00	.06	.05	.05	10	.09	.08	.13	03	07	.05	.00	.07	.05	.08	.02	.06	.09	.24	.17
80. Given recommendations	.26	.28	.37	.42	.10	.19	.09	03	.22	.15	.27	.00	.02	02	04	.06	.13	04	.04	.09
81. Companies	09	.03	06	04	07	05	09	04	02	.00	.20	.05	25	03	.05	.01	11	09	.07	11
82. Median of groups' followers	.00	03	01	01	.00	06	.04	.04	04	.08	.01	.03	.00	.00	04	09	.03	.07	07	.01
83. Median of companies'	06	06	07	08	07	04	.07	.04	07	.01	04	.79	.18	.20	01	11	04	02	16	01
followers																				
84. Causes	.24	.15	.20	.16	.04	.04	.15	.03	.13	.05	.17	.03	.06	.09	04	.01	.31	.05	03	.17
	61.	62.	63.	64.	65.	66.	67.	68.	69.	70.	71.	72.	73.	74.	75.	76.	77.	78.	79.	80.
61. Extensive description of	-	.01	.13	.10	.17	.17	.13	.16	01	.11	.12	.10	.04	02	.10	.06	.02	.09	.11	.02
educational stations																				
62. Average duration of educational stations		-	.02	.18	.05	03	11	01	.06	.04	12	03	.05	.06	03	07	.04	06	.07	07
63. Industry knowledge			-	04	.05	.09	.03	.04	18	.05	.20	.12	.02	02	.04	.02	.11	08	.09	.22
skills 64. Tools and technologies				-	.10	02	02	.02	03	.10	07	07	07	.07	03	02	.15	08	.18	11
65. Honors/awards					-	.05	.08	.05	.07	.15	04	06	02	.00	01	.05	04	06	09	.08

$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$
$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$
$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$
5 .10 3 .07) .20 3 05 7 05 4 .01 3 03
3 .07) .20 3 05 7 05 i .01 3 03
0 .20 3 05 7 05 1 .01 3 03
805 705 1 .01 303
705 1 .01 303
4 .01 303
303
)04
.09
.00
-
401
201
)02
3.11
1 2 3

Note. Correlations in bold are significant at the $p \le .05$ level.

Appendix 2.2.D

(a) Deductively deriving features might not rule out including explorative features because these might contribute to the predictive performance and be used for hypothesis derivation in future confirmatory research contributing to theory refinement (Stachl et al., 2020). We report the elastic nets with the deductively derived cues likely to contribute information in the main paper because many uninformative features might harm predictive performance and interfere with sparse, easy-to-interpret, and practically applicable models (Bleidorn & Hopwood, 2019; Stachl et al., 2020). Most importantly, the elastic nets based on the entire cue set yielded similar results concerning absolute (smaller prediction errors compared to intercept-only models) and relative performance estimates (r = .24/.33 for narcissism/intelligence; see Table 2.2.D1) as well as important features (see Table 2.2.D2). However, some additional features appeared to be important that might be tested in future confirmatory research such as narcissists listing fewer "interpresonal skills", interests with fewer followers, and more "other" skills.

(b) Following factor-analytically supported (e.g., Ackerman et al., 2011; Back et al., 2013) conceptualizations, grandiose narcissism is a multidimensional construct with agentic and antagonistic components that go along with distinct social (e.g., Back et al., 2018) and organizational consequences (e.g., Campbell et al., 2011). Computing elastic nets using the deductively derived cues for narcissism as features and NARQ-measured narcissistic admiration ($\alpha = .84$) and rivalry ($\alpha = .82$; Back et al., 2013) as target features, in terms of absolute prediction performance, we found both models to show smaller prediction errors compared to the intercept-only models (see Table 2.2.D1). However, we found lower relative prediction performance estimates for narcissistic admiration (r = .16) compared to rivalry (r = .27) and global narcissism (r = .28). This could seem somewhat counterintuitive because online networks might be seen as providing opportunities for self-promotion rather than ego-threat triggering antagonistic narcissism (Bushman & Baumeister, 1998), so that narcissists might seldomly be urged to deviate from their agentic default strategy (Grapsas et al., 2020). Yet, it may be that LinkedIn stimulates most users to engage in impression management, so that cues geared towards self-promotion become less discriminative. Indeed, the two most important global narcissism predictors, median of interests' followers ($\beta_M = 0.098$) and smiling on the profile picture ($\beta_M = -0.096$), rather predicted narcissistic rivalry ($\beta_M = 0.070$, $\beta_M = -$ 0.106) than admiration ($\beta_M = 0.044$, $\beta_M = -0.011$). Overall, inspecting the important features to predict narcissistic admiration versus rivalry (see Table 2.2.D2) revealed some preliminary

insights on features differently important to narcissism subdimensions. For instance, in line with research showing that narcissists' leadership emergence is rather due to their agentic than their antagonistic side (e.g., Härtel et al., 2021), the presence of leadership positions was only an important feature when predicting narcissistic admiration ($\beta_M = 0.035$) and not rivalry ($\beta_M = 0.000$). In a similar vein, in line with research showing that narcissists' positive first impressions are rather due to their agentic than their antagonistic side (Back et al., 2018), the number of received recommendations was only an important feature when predicting narcissistic admiration ($\beta_M = 0.060$) and not rivalry ($\beta_M = 0.000$). Future confirmatory research might build on this by deriving theoretically sound expectations for divergent cue validities of narcissism subdimensions and testing these.

(c) We report supplemental results on NPI-measured narcissism (Raskin & Terry, 1988) because it has long been the most common measure of non-clinical narcissism (Tamborski & Brown, 2011). However, we focus on NARQ-measured narcissism (Back et al., 2013) in the main analysis because the NPI has been shown to suffer from unrelatedness to conceptual models, problems with item content, unstable factor structure, and lack of internal consistency (e.g., Ackerman et al., 2016; Wetzel et al., 2016). The elastic net predicting NPI-measured narcissism ($\alpha = .58$) based on the deductively derived cues for narcissism, in terms of absolute prediction performance, showed smaller prediction errors compared to the intercept-only model (see Table 2.2.D1). However, we found lower relative prediction performance estimates for NPI-measured narcissism (r = .16) compared to NARQ-measured narcissism (r = .28). NPI-measured narcissism's prediction accuracy was similar to narcissistic admiration's prediction accuracy (r = .16), which aligns with findings of NPI-measured narcissism being biased towards measuring agentic rather than antagonistic narcissism (Back et al., 2013). Indeed, the two most important features predicting NARQ-measured narcissism, median of interests' followers ($\beta_M = 0.098$) and smiling on the profile picture ($\beta_M = -0.096$), that were rather related to narcissistic rivalry than to admiration, were substantially less important when predicting NPI-measured narcissism ($\beta_M = 0.009$, $\beta_M = -0.008$; see Table 2.2.D2).

Table 2.2.D1

Performance and Hyperparameter Estimates of Nested Cross-Validated Elastic Nets Predicting (a) Narcissism and Intelligence Based on the Entire Cue Set, (b) Narcissistic Admiration and Rivalry Based on Deductively Derived Cues, (c) NPI-Measured Narcissism Based on Deductively Derived Cues

	Narcissism (entire cue set)	Intelligence (entire cue set)	Narcissistic	admiration	Narcissis	tic rivalry	Narcissi	ism (NPI)
	Elastic net	Intercept-only	Elastic net	Intercept-only	Elastic net	Intercept-only	Elastic net	Intercept-only	Elastic net	Intercept-only
	M SD	M SD	M SD	M SD	M SD	M SD	M SD	M SD	M SD	M SD
MSE	0.939 0.080	0.975 0.001	0.879 0.085	0.975 0.001	0.958 0.060	0.975 0.001	0.921 0.070	0.975 0.001	0.952 0.104	0.959 0.053
RMSE	0.968 0.040	$0.988 \ 0.000$	0.937 0.045	0.988 0.000	0.978 0.031	0.988 0.000	0.959 0.037	0.988 0.000	0.974 0.056	0.979 0.028
MAE	0.772 0.052	0.793 0.041	0.740 0.051	0.782 0.035	0.790 0.049	0.799 0.036	0.766 0.050	0.793 0.042	0.795 0.043	0.806 0.030
r	.24 .15		.33 .13		.16 .18		.27 .15		.16 .21	
R^2	.05 .03		.11 .03		.03 .02		.04 .02		.03 .03	
$R^2_{ m Adj.}$.00 .02		.04 .03		.00 .01		.01 .02		01 .02	
λ_{Min}	0.124 0.026		0.096 0.019		0.157 0.100		0.127 0.050		0.151 0.067	

Table 2.2.D2

Regression Coefficients of Nested Cross-Validated Elastic Nets Predicting (a) Narcissism and Intelligence Based on the Entire Cue Set, (b) Narcissistic Admiration and Rivalry Based on Deductively Derived Cues, (c) NPI-Measured Narcissism Based on Deductively Derived Cues

Cue	$\mathrm{CV}_{\mathrm{FI}}$	β_M	β_{SD}	β_{Full}
Narcissism (entire cue set)			•	•
Profile picture: Smiling	10	-0.089	0.016	-0.112
Interests: Median of interests' followers	10	0.083	0.024	0.097
Gender	10	0.080	0.022	0.090
Accomplishments: Organizations	10	0.066	0.018	0.084
Additional pictures: Background picture	10	0.060	0.018	0.072
Skills: Public sneaking	9	0.000	0.010	0.065
Volunteering: Altruistic volunteering	9	0.031	0.019	0.050
Profile picture: Badges	9	-0.036	0.017	-0.049
Profile picture	10	-0.030	0.023	-0.045
Additional nictures: Additional nictures/videos	6	-0.031	0.020	-0.045
Profile picture: Dressed up, trimmed appearance	0	0.022	0.020	0.040
Courses	6	0.020	0.012	0.031
Causes	0	-0.018	0.019	-0.034
Experience: Leadership positions	9	0.018	0.012	0.031
December: Sport activities	9	0.018	0.015	0.034
Recommendations: Received recommendations	/	0.017	0.020	0.022
Interests: Median of schools' followers	9	0.015	0.010	0.018
Skills	7	0.014	0.017	0.018
Recommendations: Given recommendations	7	0.012	0.019	0.011
Other: Profile in English	8	0.010	0.009	0.016
Skills: Industry knowledge	5	0.007	0.010	0.014
Profile picture: Picture in color	5	0.007	0.009	0.011
Education: Average duration	4	-0.006	0.016	-0.012
Interests: Groups	3	-0.005	0.009	-0.005
Profile picture: Professional shot	4	0.004	0.009	0.011
Accomplishments: Courses	4	0.003	0.007	0.011
Education: Averaged marks	3	-0.003	0.007	-0.018
Education: Business studies	2	0.002	0.005	0.000
Education: Extensive description	1	-0.002	0.007	0.000
Education: Educational stations	3	0.002	0.003	0.000
Interests	1	-0.001	0.004	-0.001
Profile picture: Stylish/flashy/fashionable appearance	1	0.001	0.003	0.000
Interests: Median of groups' followers	1	0.000	0.001	0.001
Accomplishments	1	0.000	0.000	0.000
Intercept	10	0.000	0.000	0.000
Intelligence (entire cue set)				
Interests: Median of schools' followers	10	0.111	0.018	0.109
Skills: Interpersonal	10	-0.100	0.020	-0.097
Accomplishments	10	0.092	0.018	0.098
Profile picture: Picture above neckline	10	0.079	0.021	0.081
Gender	10	0.075	0.021	0.001
Interests: Median of interests' followers	10	-0.067	0.020	-0.077
Profile picture: Dressed up, trimmed appearance	10	-0.007	0.025	-0.077
A acomplishments: Heners/owards	10	-0.004	0.013	-0.004
Accomptishments. Honors/awards	10	0.002	0.015	0.002
Accomptishments: Publications	10	0.030	0.022	0.034
Skills: Other	10	0.033	0.015	0.038
volunteering: Average duration	10	0.048	0.014	0.050
Interests: Groups	10	0.039	0.017	0.040
Profile picture: Picture in color	9	0.038	0.015	0.035
Accomplishments: 1 est scores	10	0.038	0.013	0.040
Education: Averaged marks	9	-0.029	0.022	-0.033
Additional pictures: Additional pictures/videos	9	-0.028	0.014	-0.032

Activities: Average activities per day 9 0.024 0.018 0.025 Interests: Companies 9 0.024 0.017 0.023 Interests: Companies 9 0.024 0.017 0.023 Interests: Median of companies' followers 5 0.011 0.013 0.000 Featured: Posts 6 0.011 0.013 0.000 Fedtaron: Educational stations 6 0.011 0.010 0.009 Forfile picture: Eye contact 8 0.011 0.000 0.000 Profile picture: Volunteer expression 6 0.010 0.009 0.005 Profile picture: Volunteer expressional shot 2 0.006 0.001 0.000 Profile picture: Volunteer expressional shot 3 0.006 0.011 0.000 Recommendiations: Received recommendations 1 0.000 0.001 0.000 Recommendiations: Received recommendations 1 0.000 0.000 0.000 Recommendiations: Received recommendations 2 0.004 0.000 <	Cue	$CV_{\rm FI}$	ßи	ßso	BENU
Neurone Archage activities per day 2 -0.02 0.017 -0.022 Interests: Profile card 4 -0.012 0.021 -0.003 Interests: Median of companies' followers 5 -0.011 0.010 -0.002 Featured: Posts 6 -0.011 0.010 -0.003 Interests: Comparise' followers 7 0.011 0.010 0.009 Education: Edu	Activities: Average activities per day	0	_0.025	0.018	_0.025
Interests 9 -0.02-1 0.014 -0.022 Profile card: Extensive profile card 4 -0.012 0.021 -0.003 Interests: Median of groups' followers 5 -0.012 0.000 Feature2: Interests: Median of groups' followers 7 0.011 0.013 -0.003 Folle picture: Charming facial expression 6 -0.010 0.019 0.009 Profile picture: Charming facial expression 6 -0.010 0.012 0.000 Voluncering: Volunteer experiences 5 0.010 0.017 0.000 Orbite picture: Profile picture: Profiles interure 2 0.008 0.008 0.001 Experience: Leadership positions 3 0.007 0.011 0.000 Accomplishments: Projects 5 0.002 0.001 0.000 Recommendations: Received recommendations 1 0.002 0.000 0.001 0.000 Profile picture: Bodges 1 0.002 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 Profile	Interesta: Companies	9	-0.023	0.018	-0.025
Interests 7 -0.013 0.004 -0.002 Profile card: Extensive profile card 4 -0.012 0.021 -0.003 Interests: Median of companies' followers 5 -0.011 0.010 -0.003 Featured: Posts 6 -0.011 0.010 0.009 Education: Education: Education at Stations 6 0.011 0.010 0.009 Profile picture: Charming facial expression 6 -0.010 0.017 0.000 Volunteering: Volunteer experiences 5 0.010 0.019 0.000 Other: Profile in English 6 0.008 0.001 0.000 Profile order: Ladership positions 3 0.007 0.018 0.000 About: Self-related words 3 0.005 0.015 0.006 Accomplishments: Projects 5 0.005 0.013 0.000 Charline in English 1 0.002 0.000 0.000 Additional pictures: Self-related words 3 0.005 0.000 0.001 0.000 <	Interests	7	-0.024	0.017	-0.023
Floine cadu. Excessive profile cadu 4 -0.012 0.001 -0.005 Interests: Median of groups' followers 5 -0.011 0.013 -0.003 Interests: Median of groups' followers 7 0.011 0.013 -0.003 Education: Educational stations 6 0.011 0.019 0.000 Profile picture: Professional shot 2 0.008 0.017 0.000 Volunteering: Volunteer experiences 5 0.010 0.019 0.007 Profile picture: Professional shot 2 0.008 0.001 0.000 Cherrier: Profile in English 6 0.001 0.000 0.000 Excorrence: Leadership positions 3 0.007 0.011 0.000 Accomplishments: Projects 5 0.003 0.001 0.000 Eccensenations: Received recommendations 1 0.002 0.000 0.003 0.000 Profile picture: Non-neutral background picture 2 0.003 0.007 0.000 Eccensenation: Received recommendations 2 0.002 0.000 0.000 Profile picture: Badges <td< td=""><td>Interests Drofile conde Extensive profile cond</td><td>/</td><td>-0.015</td><td>0.014</td><td>-0.002</td></td<>	Interests Drofile conde Extensive profile cond	/	-0.015	0.014	-0.002
Interests: Median of companies followers 3 -0.012 0.001 0.001 Featured: Posts 7 0.011 0.010 0.009 Relacation: Extractional stations 6 0.011 0.009 0.005 Profile picture: Eye contact 8 0.011 0.009 0.005 Profile picture: Charming fical expression 6 0.010 0.012 0.000 Volunteering: Volunteer experiences 5 0.010 0.019 0.007 Profile picture: Charming fical expression 6 0.008 0.008 0.000 Profile picture: Charming fical expression 3 0.007 0.011 0.000 Accomptishments: Projects 3 0.006 0.013 0.000 Accomptishments: Projects 3 0.005 0.008 0.000 Additional pictures: Self-promotional background picture 2 0.003 0.007 0.000 Education: Extensive description 2 0.002 0.004 0.000 0.000 Education: Extensive description 2 0.001	Interacte Malier of communical following	4	-0.012	0.021	-0.005
reatures: 0 -0.011 0.013 -0.003 Interests: Median of groups' followers 7 0.011 0.010 0.009 Education: Education: Education: 6 0.011 0.010 0.009 Profile picture: Eye contact 8 0.011 0.009 0.005 Profile picture: Olumeter Systemenes 5 0.010 0.017 0.000 Other: Profile picture: Profile picture 3 0.007 0.011 0.000 Experience: Leadership positions 3 0.007 0.018 0.000 Accomplishments: Projects 5 0.005 0.015 0.000 Recommendations: Received recommendations 1 0.000 0.001 0.000 Profile picture: Norts 3 0.000 0.001 0.000 Profile picture: Norts 3 0.000 0.001 0.000 Checanics: Marks 1 0.002 0.000 0.	Extra b Bust	5	-0.012	0.021	0.000
Interests: Median of groups followers 7 00.11 00.10 00.09 Profile picture: Eye contact 8 00.11 00.10 00.09 00.05 Profile picture: Charming facial expression 6 00.010 00.012 00.000 Volunteering: Volunteer experiences 5 00.010 00.019 00.07 Profile picture: Professional shot 2 00.008 00.017 00.000 Other: Profile in English 6 00.008 00.001 00.000 Profile picture: Leadership positions 3 00.007 00.11 00.000 Accomplishments: Projects 5 00.007 00.010 00.000 Other: Profile length 3 00.005 00.007 00.000 Recommendations: Received recommendations 1 00.005 00.007 00.000 Recommendations: Received recommendations 1 00.005 00.008 00.000 Additional pictures: Non-neutral background picture 2 00.003 00.007 00.000 Accomplishments: Projects 1 00.003 00.007 00.000 Recommendations: Received recommendations 1 00.003 00.000 Other: Profile length 3 00.007 00.000 Recommendations: Received recommendations 1 00.003 00.000 Additional pictures: Self-promotional background picture 2 00.003 00.007 00.000 Licenses and certifications 1 -0.003 00.000 Additional pictures: Self-promotional background picture 2 00.002 00.004 0.000 Age 2 00.002 00.004 0.000 Skills: Public speaking 1 00.001 00.002 0.000 Activities: Subscribers 1 -0.001 0.002 0.000 Activities: Subscribers 1 -0.001 0.002 0.000 Activities: Subscribers 1 -0.001 0.002 0.000 Activities: Subscribers 1 -0.001 0.000 0.000 Skills: Public speaking 8 0.037 0.020 0.000 Skills: Public speaking 8 0.037 0.025 0.066 Skills: Public speaking 8 0.037 0.025 0.066 Skills: Public speaking 8 0.037 0.025 0.066 Skills: Public speaking 7 0.014 0.010 0.000 Skills: Public speaking 8 0.037 0.025 0.066 Skills: Public speaking 7 0.014 0.001 0.000 Skills: Public speaking 7 0.014 0.002 0.000 Activities: Subscribers 8 0.044 0.025 0.066 Skills: Public speaking 7 0.014 0.013 0.000 Profile picture: Professional/formal appearance 7 0.025 0.056 Skills: Public speaking 7 0.014 0.013 0.000 Profile picture: Professional pictures // 0.002 0.000 Additional pictures: Additional pictures/video	Featured: Posts	6	-0.011	0.013	-0.003
Falucation: Educational stations 6 0.011 0.005 0.005 Profile picture: Eye contact 8 0.010 0.009 0.005 Profile picture: Charming facial expression 6 -0.010 0.012 0.000 Othere: Profile picture: Profile singlish 6 0.008 0.007 0.001 0.000 Profile picture: Profile singlish 6 0.008 0.007 0.011 0.000 Experience: Leadership positions 3 0.007 0.018 0.000 Recomplishments: Projects 5 0.005 0.015 0.000 Recomplishments: Projects 2 0.004 0.001 0.000 Chieres and certifications: Marks 1 0.003 0.001 0.000 Additional pictures: Self-promotional background 2 0.003 0.000 0.000 Profile picture: Non-neutral background 2 0.002 0.004 0.000 Additional pictures: Badges 1 0.001 0.000 0.000 Scienses and certifytion 2 0.001 <td>Interests: Median of groups' followers</td> <td>1</td> <td>0.011</td> <td>0.010</td> <td>0.009</td>	Interests: Median of groups' followers	1	0.011	0.010	0.009
Profile picture: Eye contact 8 0.011 0.009 0.009 Profile picture: Charming facial expression 6 -0.010 0.019 0.007 Volunteering: Volunteer experiences 5 0.010 0.008 0.008 0.0019 0.007 Profile picture: Professional shot 2 0.008 0.001 0.000 Experience:: Leadership positions 3 0.007 0.011 0.000 Accomptishments: Projects 5 0.005 0.008 0.000 Accomptishments: Projects 2 0.003 0.000 0.000 Accomptishments: Projects 2 0.003 0.000 0.000 Cucation: Marks 1 0.002 0.004 0.014 0.000 Additional pictures: Self-promotional background picture 2 0.003 0.000 0.000 Education: Marks 1 0.002 0.004 0.000 0.000 Stills: Public speaking 1 0.001 0.002 0.000 Volunteering: Altruistic volunteering 4 <	Education: Educational stations	6	0.011	0.015	0.008
Profile picture: Charming facial expression 6 -0.010 0.012 0.000 Volunteering: Volunteer expressional shot 2 0.008 0.000 0.001 Profile picture: Professional shot 2 0.008 0.008 0.000 0.001 Profile picture 3 0.007 0.011 0.000 Experience: Leadership positions 3 0.007 0.018 0.000 About: Self-related words 3 0.005 0.015 0.000 Recommendations: Received recommendations 1 0.005 0.013 0.000 Chicerasci Received recommendations 1 0.003 0.013 0.000 Chicerasci Received recommendations 1 0.003 0.014 0.000 Chicerasci Received recommendations 1 0.003 0.010 0.000 Chicerasci Received recommendations 1 0.003 0.000 0.000 Chicerasci Ruf Chicerasci Received recommendations 1 0.002 0.000 0.000 Licenasci Ruf Chicerasci Rufilis 1 0.001 <td>Profile picture: Eye contact</td> <td>8</td> <td>0.011</td> <td>0.009</td> <td>0.005</td>	Profile picture: Eye contact	8	0.011	0.009	0.005
Volunteering: Volunteer experiences 5 0.010 0.019 0.007 Profile picture: Professional shot 2 0.008 0.001 0.000 Cher: Profile in English 6 0.008 0.001 0.000 Dexperience: Leadership positions 3 0.007 0.018 0.000 Accomplishments: Projects 5 0.005 0.007 0.008 Accomplishments: Projects 2 0.004 0.014 0.000 Calucation: Marks 2 0.004 0.014 0.000 Additional pictures: Non-neutral background picture 2 0.003 0.007 0.000 Profile picture: Non-neutral background 2 0.002 0.004 0.000 Chiles peaking 1 0.001 0.002 0.000 Skills: Public speaking 1 0.001 0.002 0.000 Chiles paking 1 0.001 0.002 0.000 Skills: Public speaking 1 0.001 0.000 0.000 Optimetering: Profile picture: Non-neutrat	Profile picture: Charming facial expression	6	-0.010	0.012	0.000
Profile picture: Professional shot 2 0,008 0,007 0,001 Profile picture 3 0,007 0,011 0,000 Experience: Leadership positions 3 0,007 0,018 0,000 Experience: Leadership positions 3 0,007 0,018 0,000 Accomplishments: Projects 5 0,005 0,007 0,000 Other: Profile length 3 0,005 0,001 0,000 Catching turners: Self-promotional background picture 2 0,003 0,013 0,000 Additional pictures: Self-promotional background picture 2 0,003 0,007 0,000 Profile picture: Non-neutral background picture 2 0,003 0,007 0,000 Profile picture: Non-neutral background picture 2 0,003 0,007 0,000 Profile picture: Non-neutral background 2 0,003 0,007 0,000 Profile picture: Self-promotional background 2 0,003 0,007 0,000 Profile picture: Self-promotional background 2 0,002 0,004 0,000 Skills: Public speaking 1 0,002 0,006 0,000 Volunteering: Altruistic volunteering 4 0,001 0,002 0,000 Volunteering: Altruistic volunteering 4 0,001 0,002 0,000 Experience: Average duration 1 0,000 0,000 Profile picture: Profesional/formal appearance 1 0,000 0,000 0,000 Experience: Average duration 1 0,000 0,000 0,000 Experience: Average duration 1 0,000 0,000 0,000 Experience: Average duration 1 0,000 0,000 0,000 Recommendations: Received recommendations 8 0,066 0,039 0,039 Activities: Background picture 8 0,052 0,031 0,073 Accomplishments: Organizations 8 0,069 0,040 0,100 Recommendations: Received recommendations 8 0,067 0,025 0,066 Skills: Public speaking 7 0,016 0,012 0,000 Experience: Leadership positions 8 0,037 0,025 0,066 Skills: Public speaking 7 0,014 0,012 0,020 Profile eard: Twitter 7 0,016 0,001 0,000 Activities 0,003 0,003 0,000 Profile eard: Twitter 7 0,016 0,001 0,000 Activities: Background picture 7 0,016 0,014 0,025 About: Extensive About section 7 0,014 0,013 0,019 Profile picture: Background picture 7 0,016 0,014 0,025 About: Extensive About section 4 0,007 0,000 Profile eard: Twitter 7 0,016 0,000 0,000 Profile picture: Singling 7 0,014 0,013 0,019 Profile card: Twitter 4 0,001 0,000 Profile picture: Glass	Volunteering: Volunteer experiences	5	0.010	0.019	0.007
Other: Profile in English 6 0.008 0.001 0.008 Profile picture 3 0.007 0.011 0.000 Accomplishments: Projects 5 0.005 0.007 0.000 Accomplishments: Projects 5 0.005 0.007 0.000 Accomplishments: Projects 1 0.005 0.007 0.000 Accomplishments: Projects 2 0.004 0.014 0.000 Additional pictures: Self-promotional background picture 2 0.003 0.007 0.000 Profile picture: Rodges 1 -0.003 0.007 0.000 Additional pictures: Badges 1 -0.002 0.004 0.000 Profile picture: Badges 1 -0.002 0.004 0.000 Skills: Public speaking 1 -0.001 0.000 0.000 Profile picture: Rodges 2 -0.001 0.001 0.000 Profile picture: Rodgesional/formal appearance 1 -0.001 0.000 0.000 Profile picture: Professional/formal appearance 1 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000	Profile picture: Professional shot	2	0.008	0.017	0.000
Profile picture 3 0.007 0.011 0.000 About: Self-related words 3 0.006 0.013 0.000 Accomplishments: Projects 5 0.005 0.007 0.018 0.000 Recommendations: Received recommendations 1 0.005 0.017 0.000 Other: Profile length 3 0.007 0.013 0.000 Additional pictures: Self-promotional background picture 2 0.003 0.007 0.000 Licenses and certifications 1 -0.003 0.000 0.000 Profile picture: Badges 1 0.002 0.004 0.000 Age 2 0.002 0.004 0.000 Skills: Public speaking 1 0.001 0.002 0.000 Other: Sport activities 2 0.001 0.002 0.000 Volter: Synt activities 2 0.001 0.002 0.000 Skills: Teamwork 1 0.000 0.001 0.000 Profile card: Twitter Narcissistic admiration 1 0.000 0.000 Stalls: Teamwork	Other: Profile in English	6	0.008	0.008	0.001
Experience: Leadership positions 3 0.007 0.018 0.000 About: Self-related words 3 0.005 0.007 0.000 Accomplishments: Projects 5 0.005 0.007 0.000 Recommendations: Received recommendations 1 0.005 0.008 0.000 Cherr, Profile length 3 0.007 0.000 Recommendations: Received recommendations 1 0.003 0.007 0.000 Additional picture: Non-neutral background 2 0.003 0.007 0.000 Licenses and certifications 1 -0.003 0.009 0.000 Profile picture: Badges 1 0.002 0.004 0.000 Skills: Public speaking 1 0.001 0.002 0.000 Volunteering: Altruistic volunteering 4 0.001 0.002 0.000 Volunteering: Profisesional/formal appearance 1 0.000 0.000 Recommendations: Received recommendations 8 0.069 0.000 Scennerdations: Received recommendations 8 0.04	Profile picture	3	0.007	0.011	0.000
About: Self-related words 3 0.000 0.0013 0.0007 Accomplishments: Projects 5 0.005 0.005 0.0007 0.0000 Other: Profile length 3 0.005 0.0014 0.0000 Additional pictures: Self-promotional background picture 2 0.003 0.0017 0.000 Additional picture: Non-neutral background 2 0.003 0.0007 0.000 Profile picture: Badges 1 0.002 0.004 0.000 Age 2 0.002 0.004 0.000 Skills: Public speaking 1 0.002 0.004 0.000 Other: Sport activities 2 -0.001 0.002 0.000 Activities: Subscribers 1 -0.001 0.002 0.000 Profile picture: Professional/formal appearance 1 0.000 0.000 0.000 Skills: reamwork 1 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 Narcissistic admiration 1 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 Activities: Walge duration 8	Experience: Leadership positions	3	0.007	0.018	0.000
Accomplishments: Projects 5 0.007 0.000 Recommendations: Received recommendations 1 0.005 0.008 0.000 Education: Marks 2 0.004 0.014 0.000 Additional pictures: Self-promotional background picture 2 0.003 0.007 0.000 Profile picture: Non-neutral background 2 0.003 0.007 0.000 Additional pictures: Badges 1 -0.002 0.004 0.000 Age 2 0.002 0.004 0.000 Education: Extensive description 2 0.002 0.004 0.000 Skills: Public speaking 1 -0.001 0.002 0.000 Activities: Subscribers 1 -0.001 0.002 0.000 Accivities: Subscribers 1 -0.001 0.002 0.000 Skills: Public speaking 1 0.000 0.001 0.000 Skills: Rubitic volunteering 4 0.001 0.000 0.001 0.000 Skills: Public speaking	About: Self-related words	3	0.006	0.013	0.000
Recommendations: 1 0.005 0.015 0.000 Other:: Profile length 3 0.005 0.008 0.000 Additional pictures: Self-promotional background picture 2 0.003 0.013 0.000 Profile picture: Non-neutral background 2 0.003 0.007 0.000 Licenses and certifications 1 -0.003 0.009 0.000 Profile picture: Badges 1 0.002 0.004 0.000 Age 2 0.002 0.004 0.000 Skills: Public speaking 1 0.001 0.002 0.000 Other: Sport activities 2 -0.001 0.002 0.000 Other: Sport activities 2 -0.001 0.002 0.000 Other: Sport activities 2 0.001 0.002 0.000 Profile acit: Twitter 2 0.001 0.000 0.000 Experience: Average duration 1 0.000 0.000 0.000 Skills: Teatumwork 1 0.000	Accomplishments: Projects	5	0.005	0.007	0.000
Other: Profile length 3 0.005 0.008 0.000 Education: Marks 2 0.003 0.014 0.000 Additional pictures: Self-promotional background picture 2 0.003 0.007 0.000 Licenses and certifications 1 -0.003 0.009 0.000 Profile picture: Badges 1 0.002 0.004 0.000 Education: Extensive description 2 0.002 0.004 0.000 Skills: Public speaking 1 0.001 0.002 0.000 Volunteering: Altruistic volunteering 4 0.001 0.002 0.000 Volunteering: Nature 2 0.001 0.000 0.000 Profile picture: Professional/formal appearance 1 0.000 0.001 0.000 Robits: Teamwork 1 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 Interest: Median of interests' followers 8 0.060 0.039 0.083 Volunteering: Altruistic volunteering 8 0.060 0.039 0.083 Volunteering: Received recommendations 8 0.060 0.039	Recommendations: Received recommendations	1	0.005	0.015	0.000
Education: Marks 2 0.004 0.014 0.000 Additional pictures: Self-promotional background 2 0.003 0.001 0.000 Profile picture: Non-neutral background 2 0.003 0.009 0.000 Profile picture: Badges 1 0.002 0.006 0.000 Age 2 0.002 0.004 0.000 Education: Extensive description 2 0.002 0.004 0.000 Skills: Public speaking 1 0.001 0.002 0.000 Other: Sport activities 2 -0.001 0.002 0.000 Voluteering: Altruistic volunteering 4 0.001 0.000 0.001 0.000 Profile card: Twitter 2 0.001 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 Experience: Average duration 1 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000<	Other: Profile length	3	0.005	0.008	0.000
Additional pictures: Self-promotional background 2 0.003 0.013 0.000 Profile picture: Non-neutral background 2 0.003 0.007 0.000 Dicenses and certifications 1 -0.003 0.000 0.000 Profile picture: Badges 1 0.002 0.004 0.000 Age 2 0.002 0.004 0.000 Skills: Public speaking 1 0.001 0.005 0.000 Other: Sport activities 2 -0.001 0.002 0.000 Volunteering: Altruistic volunteering 4 0.001 0.002 0.000 Profile picture: Professional/formal appearance 1 0.000 0.001 0.000 Experience: Average duration 1 0.000 0.001 0.000 Skills: Teamwork 1 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 Recommendations: Received recommendations 8 0.066 0.039 0.043 0.025 0.066 Skills: Public speaking 8 0.052 0.031 0.073 0.025 0.066 Skills 0.040 0.000	Education: Marks	2	0.004	0.014	0.000
Profile picture: Non-neutral background 2 0.003 0.007 0.000 Licenses and certifications 1 -0.003 0.009 0.000 Age 2 0.002 0.004 0.000 Education: Extensive description 2 0.002 0.004 0.000 Skills: Public speaking 1 0.001 0.005 0.000 Other: Sport activities 2 -0.001 0.002 0.000 Activities: Subscribers 1 -0.001 0.002 0.000 Profile acti: Twitter 2 0.001 0.000 0.000 Profile acti: Twitter 2 0.001 0.000 0.000 Skills: Teamwork 1 0.000 0.000 0.000 Experience: Average duration 1 0.000 0.000 0.000 Skills: reamwork 10 0.000 0.000 0.000 Additional pictures: Background picture 8 0.060 0.039 0.083 Volunteering: Altruistic volunteering 8 0.044 0.025 0.066 Skills: Teamwork 8 0.04	Additional pictures: Self-promotional background picture	2	0.003	0.013	0.000
Licenses and certifications 1 -0.003 0.009 0.000 Profile picture: Badges 1 0.002 0.004 0.000 Age 2 0.002 0.004 0.000 Education: Extensive description 2 0.002 0.004 0.000 Skills: Public speaking 1 0.001 0.005 0.000 Other: Sport activities 2 -0.001 0.002 0.000 Volunteering: Altruistic volunteering 4 0.001 0.000 0.000 Profile picture: Professional/formal appearance 1 0.000 0.001 0.000 Experience: Average duration 1 0.000 0.000 0.000 Intercept 10 0.000 0.000 0.000 Intervets: Background pictures: Background pictures: Background pictures: 8 0.060 0.040 0.023 Recommendations: Received recommendations 8 0.060 0.031 0.073 Accomplishments: Organizations 8 0.044 0.025 0.066 Skills: Public speaking 7 </td <td>Profile picture: Non-neutral background</td> <td>2</td> <td>0.003</td> <td>0.007</td> <td>0.000</td>	Profile picture: Non-neutral background	2	0.003	0.007	0.000
Profile picture: Badges 1 0.002 0.006 0.000 Age 2 0.002 0.004 0.000 Education: Extensive description 2 0.001 0.005 0.000 Other: Sport activities 2 -0.001 0.002 0.000 Volunteering: Altruistic volunteering 4 0.001 0.002 0.000 Activities: Subscribers 1 -0.001 0.002 0.000 Profile card: Twitter 2 0.001 0.000 0.000 Profile card: Twitter 1 0.000 0.001 0.000 Profile picture: Professional/formal appearance 1 0.000 0.000 0.000 Experience: Average duration 1 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 Stills: Teamwork 1 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 Accomplishments: Organizations 8 0.052 0.031 0.073 Accomplishments: Organizations 8 0.037 0.025 0.066 Skills: Public speaking 8 0.037 0.025 0.066	Licenses and certifications	1	-0.003	0.009	0.000
Age2 0.002 0.004 0.000 Education: Extensive description2 0.002 0.004 0.000 Skills: Public speaking1 0.001 0.005 0.000 Other: Sport activities2 -0.001 0.002 0.000 Volunteering: Altruistic volunteering4 0.001 0.002 0.000 Activities: Subscribers1 -0.001 0.002 0.000 Profile carl: Twitter2 0.000 0.001 0.000 Profile picture: Professional/formal appearance1 0.000 0.001 0.000 Experience: Average duration1 0.000 0.000 0.000 Skills: Teamwork1 0.000 0.000 0.000 Intercept10 0.000 0.000 0.000 Recommendations: Received recommendations8 0.060 0.031 0.073 Accomplishments: Organizations8 0.044 0.025 0.066 Interests: Median of interests' followers8 0.044 0.025 0.066 Experience: Leadership positions8 0.037 0.025 0.056 Profile picture: Dressed up, trimmed appearance7 0.016 0.014 0.025 Skills: Tublic speaking5 0.001 0.001 0.002 Enderder7 0.016 0.014 0.025 Skills7 0.014 0.016 0.025 Additional pictures: Scilling7 0.014 0.016 Pro	Profile picture: Badges	1	0.002	0.006	0.000
Education: Extensive description 2 0.002 0.004 0.000 Skills: Public speaking 1 0.001 0.005 0.000 Other: Sport activities 2 -0.001 0.002 0.000 Activities: Subscribers 1 -0.001 0.002 0.000 Activities: Subscribers 1 -0.001 0.002 0.000 Profile picture: Professional/formal appearance 1 0.000 0.000 0.000 Experience: Average duration 1 0.000 0.000 0.000 Skills: Teamwork 1 0.000 0.000 0.000 Intercept 10 0.000 0.000 0.000 Additional pictures: Background picture 8 0.060 0.031 0.073 Accomplishments: Organizations 8 0.044 0.027 0.066 Interests: Median of interests' followers 8 0.037 0.025 0.066 Skills: Public speaking 8 0.031 0.073 0.025 0.056 Skills: Public	Age	2	0.002	0.004	0.000
Skills: Public speaking 1 0.001 0.005 0.000 Other: Sport activities 2 -0.001 0.002 0.000 Volunteering: Altruistic volunteering 4 0.001 0.002 0.000 Activities: Subscribers 1 -0.001 0.002 0.000 Profile card: Twitter 2 0.001 0.001 0.000 Profile card: Twitter 1 0.000 0.001 0.000 Experience: Average duration 1 0.000 0.000 0.000 Kills: Teamwork 1 0.000 0.000 0.000 Intercept 10 0.000 0.000 0.000 Recommendations: Received recommendations 8 0.069 0.040 0.100 Recomplishments: Organizations 8 0.044 0.027 0.066 Skills: Public speaking 8 0.037 0.025 0.066 Skills: Public speaking 8 0.037 0.025 0.066 Skills: Public speaking 7 0.014 0.016 0.025 Skills: Public speaking 7 0.014<	Education: Extensive description	2	0.002	0.004	0.000
Data 1 0.001 0.003 0.000 Volunteering: Altruistic volunteering 4 0.001 0.002 0.000 Activities: Subscribers 1 -0.001 0.002 0.000 Profile picture: Professional/formal appearance 1 0.000 0.001 0.000 Experience: Average duration 1 0.000 0.000 0.000 Skills: Teamwork 1 0.000 0.000 0.000 Intercept 10 0.000 0.000 0.000 Additional pictures: Background picture 8 0.069 0.040 0.100 Recommendations: Received recommendations 8 0.060 0.039 0.083 Volunteering: Altruistic volunteering 8 0.044 0.027 0.066 Interests: Median of interests' followers 8 0.044 0.025 0.066 Skills: Public speaking 8 0.035 0.025 0.052 Skills 7 0.016 0.014 0.025 Skills 7 0.	Skills: Public sneaking	1	0.001	0.005	0.000
Contention 2 0.001 0.002 0.000 Volunteering: Altruistic volunteering 4 0.001 0.002 0.000 Activities: Subscribers 1 -0.001 0.002 0.000 Profile card: Twitter 0.000 0.001 0.000 0.000 Profile picture: Professional/formal appearance 1 0.000 0.000 0.000 Experience: Average duration 1 0.000 0.000 0.000 Narcissistic admiration 1 0.000 0.000 0.000 Recommendations: Received recommendations 8 0.060 0.033 0.083 Volunteering: Altruistic volunteering 8 0.044 0.025 0.066 Interests: Median of interests' followers 8 0.044 0.025 0.066 Skills: Public speaking 8 0.037 0.025 0.056 Profile picture: Dressed up, trimmed appearance 7 0.016 0.014 0.025 Skills Public speaking 5 -0.011 0.016 0.025 </td <td>Other: Sport activities</td> <td>2</td> <td>-0.001</td> <td>0.003</td> <td>0.000</td>	Other: Sport activities	2	-0.001	0.003	0.000
Totalized registers 1 -0.001 0.002 0.000 Profile card: Twitter 2 0.001 0.002 0.000 Profile card: Twitter 2 0.001 0.000 0.000 Profile card: Twitter 2 0.001 0.000 0.000 Experience: Average duration 1 0.000 0.000 0.000 Skills: Teamwork 1 0.000 0.000 0.000 Intercept 10 0.000 0.000 0.000 Recommendations: Received recommendations 8 0.069 0.040 0.100 Recomplishments: Organizations 8 0.044 0.027 0.066 Interests: Median of interests' followers 8 0.044 0.025 0.066 Skills: Public speaking 8 0.037 0.025 0.056 Profile picture: Dressed up, trimmed appearance 7 0.025 0.018 0.041 Gender 7 0.016 0.014 0.025 0.056 Profile picture: Smiling 5 -0.011 0.013 -0.019 Profile picture: Smiling	Volunteering: Altruistic volunteering	2 4	0.001	0.003	0.000
Activities 1 -0.001 0.002 0.000 Profile card: Twitter 2 0.001 0.000 0.001 0.000 Profile picture: Professional/formal appearance 1 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 Skills: Teamwork 1 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 Intercept 10 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 Recommendations: Received recommendations 8 0.062 0.031 0.073 Accomplishments: Organizations 8 0.052 0.031 0.073 Accomplishments: Organizations 8 0.044 0.025 0.066 Interests: Median of interests' followers 8 0.044 0.025 0.066 Skills: Public speaking 8 0.037 0.025 0.066 Skills: Public speaking 8 0.037 0.025 0.066 Skills: Public speaking 8 0.037 0.025 0.056 Profile picture: Dressed up, trimmed appearance 7 0.016 0.014 0.025 Skills 7	Activities: Subscribers	1	-0.001	0.002	0.000
Infinite card. Twitter 2 0.001 0.001 0.000 Profile picture: Professional/formal appearance 1 0.000 0.000 0.000 Experience: Average duration 1 0.000 0.000 0.000 Skills: Teamwork 1 0.000 0.000 0.000 Intercept 10 0.000 0.000 0.000 Recommendations: Received recommendations 8 0.060 0.039 0.083 Volunteering: Altruistic volunteering 8 0.052 0.031 0.073 Accomplishments: Organizations 8 0.044 0.027 0.066 Interests: Median of interests' followers 8 0.044 0.025 0.066 Skills: Public speaking 8 0.037 0.025 0.060 Experience: Leadership positions 8 0.037 0.025 0.060 Skills 7 0.014 0.016 0.025 About: Extensive About section 4 -0.012 0.020 -0.024 Profile picture: Smiling 5 -0.011 0.018 -0.019 Profile card:	Profile card: Twitter	2	0.001	0.002	0.000
Interporting predicts 1 0.000 0.001 0.000 Experience: Average duration 1 0.000 0.000 0.000 Skills: Teamwork 1 0.000 0.000 0.000 Intercept 10 0.000 0.000 0.000 Additional pictures: Background picture 8 0.069 0.040 0.100 Recommendations: Received recommendations 8 0.060 0.039 0.083 Volunteering: Altruistic volunteering 8 0.044 0.027 0.066 Interests: Median of interests' followers 8 0.044 0.025 0.066 Skills: Public speaking 8 0.044 0.025 0.066 Skills: Public speaking 8 0.037 0.025 0.066 Experience: Leadership positions 8 0.037 0.025 0.066 Skills 7 0.016 0.014 0.025 About: Extensive About section 4 -0.012 0.020 -0.024 Profile picture: Smiling 5 -0.011 0.013 -0.019 Profile picture: Smiling	Drofile picture: Drofessional/formal appearance	2 1	0.001	0.001	0.000
Experience: Average dutation 1 0.000 0.001 0.000 Skills: Teamwork 1 0.000 0.000 0.000 Intercept 10 0.000 0.000 0.000 Additional pictures: Background picture 8 0.069 0.040 0.100 Recommendations: Received recommendations 8 0.060 0.039 0.083 Volunteering: Altruistic volunteering 8 0.052 0.031 0.073 Accomplishments: Organizations 8 0.044 0.027 0.066 Skills: Public speaking 8 0.037 0.025 0.066 Experience: Leadership positions 8 0.037 0.025 0.066 Experience: Leadership positions 8 0.037 0.025 0.056 Profile picture: Dressed up, trimmed appearance 7 0.016 0.014 0.025 Skills 7 0.014 0.016 0.025 Skills Optic Extensive About section 4 -0.012 0.020 -0.024 Profile picture 5 -0.011 0.013 -0.019	Experience: Average duration	1	0.000	0.001	0.000
Skills Teallwork 1 0.000 0.001 0.000 <t< td=""><td>Skiller Teemwork</td><td>1</td><td>0.000</td><td>0.001</td><td>0.000</td></t<>	Skiller Teemwork	1	0.000	0.001	0.000
Intercept 10 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 Narcissistic admiration Narcissistic admiration Narcissistic admiration 0.000 0.001 0.000	Jutarcont	10	0.000	0.000	0.000
Narcissistic admiration 8 0.069 0.040 0.100 Recommendations: Received recommendations 8 0.060 0.039 0.083 Volunteering: Altruistic volunteering 8 0.052 0.031 0.073 Accomplishments: Organizations 8 0.044 0.027 0.066 Interests: Median of interests' followers 8 0.044 0.025 0.060 Skills: Public speaking 8 0.037 0.025 0.060 Experience: Leadership positions 8 0.035 0.025 0.060 Profile picture: Dressed up, trimmed appearance 7 0.016 0.014 0.025 Skills 7 0.016 0.014 0.025 Skills About: Extensive About section 4 -0.012 0.020 -0.024 Profile picture: Smiling 5 -0.011 0.018 -0.019 Profile picture: Smiling 5 0.004 0.007 0.0014 -0.023 Interests: Influencers 4 -0.008 0.014 -0.023	Intercept Nonsissistic a lucinsticu	10	0.000	0.000	0.000
Additional pictures: Background picture 8 0.069 0.040 0.100 Recommendations: Received recommendations 8 0.060 0.039 0.083 Volunteering: Altruistic volunteering 8 0.052 0.031 0.073 Accomplishments: Organizations 8 0.044 0.027 0.066 Interests: Median of interests' followers 8 0.044 0.025 0.060 Skills: Public speaking 8 0.037 0.025 0.060 Experience: Leadership positions 8 0.037 0.025 0.060 Profile picture: Dressed up, trimmed appearance 7 0.016 0.014 0.025 Skills 7 0.016 0.014 0.025 About: Extensive About section 4 -0.012 0.020 -0.024 Profile picture: Smiling 5 -0.011 0.013 -0.019 Profile picture 4 -0.008 0.014 -0.023 Interests: Influencers 5 0.004 0.007 0.007 Interests: Influencers 5 0.004 0.006 -0.017	Narcissistic admiration	0	0.060	0.040	0 100
Recommendations: Received recommendations8 0.000 0.039 0.083 Volunteering: Altruistic volunteering8 0.052 0.031 0.073 Accomplishments: Organizations8 0.044 0.027 0.066 Interests: Median of interests' followers8 0.044 0.025 0.066 Skills: Public speaking8 0.037 0.025 0.066 Experience: Leadership positions8 0.037 0.025 0.066 Profile picture: Dressed up, trimmed appearance7 0.025 0.018 0.041 Gender7 0.016 0.014 0.025 Skills7 0.014 0.016 0.025 About: Extensive About section4 -0.012 0.020 -0.024 Profile picture: Smiling5 -0.011 0.013 -0.019 Profile card: Twitter4 -0.008 0.014 -0.023 Interests: Influencers5 0.004 0.007 0.007 InterestsInfluencers5 0.004 0.006 -0.017 Skills: Interpersonal4 -0.002 0.007 0.000 Profile picture: Glasses1 -0.001 0.004 0.000 About: Self-related words1 -0.000 0.001 0.000 Other: Sport activities1 0.000 0.000 0.000	Additional pictures: Background picture	8	0.069	0.040	0.100
Volunteering: Altrustic volunteering 8 0.052 0.031 0.073 Accomplishments: Organizations 8 0.044 0.027 0.066 Interests: Median of interests' followers 8 0.044 0.025 0.066 Skills: Public speaking 8 0.037 0.025 0.066 Experience: Leadership positions 8 0.037 0.025 0.056 Profile picture: Dressed up, trimmed appearance 7 0.016 0.014 0.025 Skills 7 0.014 0.016 0.025 About: Extensive About section 4 -0.012 0.020 -0.024 Profile picture: Smiling 5 -0.011 0.013 -0.019 Profile picture: Smiling 5 -0.011 0.014 -0.020 Additional pictures: Additional pictures/videos 4 -0.007 0.014 -0.023 Interests Influencers 5 0.004 0.007 0.007 Interests Influencers 5 0.004 0.006 -0.017 Ikitis: Interpersonal 4 0.003 0.004 0.0	Recommendations: Received recommendations	8	0.060	0.039	0.083
Accomplishments: Organizations8 0.044 0.027 0.066 Interests: Median of interests' followers8 0.044 0.025 0.066 Skills: Public speaking8 0.037 0.025 0.060 Experience: Leadership positions8 0.035 0.025 0.056 Profile picture: Dressed up, trimmed appearance7 0.025 0.018 0.041 Gender7 0.016 0.014 0.025 Skills7 0.016 0.014 0.025 About: Extensive About section4 -0.012 0.020 -0.024 Profile picture: Smiling5 -0.011 0.018 -0.019 Profile picture: Smiling5 -0.011 0.014 -0.020 Additional pictures: Additional pictures/videos4 -0.007 0.014 -0.023 Interests: Influencers5 0.004 0.006 -0.017 Skills: Interpersonal4 -0.002 0.007 0.000 Profile picture: Glasses1 -0.001 0.004 0.000 Profile picture: Glasses1 -0.001 0.004 0.000 Charler Sport activities1 0.000 0.001 0.000	Volunteering: Altruistic volunteering	8	0.052	0.031	0.073
Interests: Median of interests' followers 8 0.044 0.025 0.066 Skills: Public speaking 8 0.037 0.025 0.060 Experience: Leadership positions 8 0.035 0.025 0.056 Profile picture: Dressed up, trimmed appearance 7 0.025 0.018 0.041 Gender 7 0.016 0.014 0.025 Skills 7 0.014 0.016 0.025 About: Extensive About section 4 -0.012 0.020 -0.024 Profile picture: Smiling 5 -0.011 0.018 -0.019 Profile picture: Smiling 5 -0.011 0.014 -0.020 Additional pictures: Additional pictures/videos 4 -0.008 0.014 -0.023 Interests Interests 5 0.004 0.006 -0.017 Skills: Interpersonal 4 -0.002 0.007 0.001 Experience: Professional positions 1 -0.001 0.004 0.001 Profile picture: Glasses 1 -0.001 0.004 0.000	Accomplishments: Organizations	8	0.044	0.027	0.066
Skills: Public speaking 8 0.037 0.025 0.060 Experience: Leadership positions 8 0.035 0.025 0.056 Profile picture: Dressed up, trimmed appearance 7 0.016 0.014 0.025 Skills 7 0.016 0.014 0.025 Skills 0.014 0.025 About: Extensive About section 4 -0.012 0.020 -0.024 Profile picture: Smiling 5 -0.011 0.013 -0.019 Profile picture 4 -0.008 0.014 -0.020 Additional pictures: Additional pictures/videos 4 -0.007 0.014 -0.023 Interests Influencers 5 0.004 0.007 0.007 Interests Influencers 4 -0.002 0.007 0.001 Experience: Professional positions 1 -0.002 0.007 0.000 Profile picture: Glasses 1 -0.001 0.004 0.000 About: Self-related words 1 -0.001 0.003 0.000 Could about: Self-related words 1 0	Interests: Median of interests' followers	8	0.044	0.025	0.066
Experience: Leadership positions 8 0.035 0.025 0.036 Profile picture: Dressed up, trimmed appearance 7 0.025 0.018 0.041 Gender 7 0.016 0.014 0.025 Skills 7 0.014 0.016 0.025 About: Extensive About section 4 -0.012 0.020 -0.024 Profile picture: Smiling 5 -0.011 0.013 -0.019 Profile picture 4 -0.008 0.014 -0.020 Additional pictures: Additional pictures/videos 4 -0.007 0.014 -0.023 Interests Influencers 5 0.004 0.007 0.007 Skills: Interpersonal 4 -0.002 0.007 0.001 Experience: Professional positions 1 -0.001 0.004 0.000 Profile picture: Glasses 1 -0.001 0.003 0.000 About: Self-related words 1 -0.001 0.003 0.000 Other: Sport activities 1 0.000 0.000 0.000	Skills: Public speaking	8	0.037	0.025	0.060
Profile picture: Dressed up, trimmed appearance7 0.025 0.018 0.041 Gender7 0.016 0.014 0.025 Skills7 0.014 0.016 0.025 About: Extensive About section4 -0.012 0.020 -0.024 Profile picture: Smiling5 -0.011 0.013 -0.019 Profile picture4 -0.010 0.018 -0.019 Profile card: Twitter4 -0.008 0.014 -0.020 Additional pictures: Additional pictures/videos4 -0.007 0.014 -0.023 Interests: Influencers5 0.004 0.007 0.007 Interests1 -0.002 0.007 0.001 Skills: Interpersonal4 0.003 0.004 0.001 Experience: Professional positions1 -0.001 0.004 0.000 Profile picture: Glasses1 -0.001 0.003 0.000 About: Self-related words1 -0.001 0.003 0.000 Other: Sport activities1 0.000 0.000 0.000	Experience: Leadership positions	8	0.035	0.025	0.056
Gender7 0.016 0.014 0.025 Skills7 0.014 0.016 0.025 About: Extensive About section4 -0.012 0.020 -0.024 Profile picture: Smiling5 -0.011 0.013 -0.019 Profile picture4 -0.000 0.014 -0.020 Additional pictures: Additional pictures/videos4 -0.007 0.014 -0.020 Additional pictures5 0.004 0.007 0.007 InterestsInfluencers5 0.004 0.006 -0.017 Skills: Interpersonal4 -0.002 0.007 0.001 Experience: Professional positions1 -0.001 0.004 0.000 Profile picture: Glasses1 -0.001 0.003 0.000 About: Self-related words1 -0.001 0.003 0.000 Other: Sport activities1 0.000 0.000 0.000	Profile picture: Dressed up, trimmed appearance	7	0.025	0.018	0.041
Skills 7 0.014 0.016 0.025 About: Extensive About section 4 -0.012 0.020 -0.024 Profile picture: Smiling 5 -0.011 0.013 -0.019 Profile picture 4 -0.000 0.014 -0.020 Profile card: Twitter 4 -0.008 0.014 -0.020 Additional pictures: Additional pictures/videos 4 -0.007 0.014 -0.023 Interests: Influencers 5 0.004 0.007 0.007 Interests Interpersonal 4 -0.003 0.004 0.001 Skills: Interpersonal 4 0.003 0.004 0.001 Experience: Professional positions 1 -0.002 0.007 0.000 Profile picture: Glasses 1 -0.001 0.004 0.000 About: Self-related words 1 -0.001 0.003 0.000 Education: Business studies 1 0.000 0.001 0.000 Other: Sport activities 1 0.000 0.000 0.000	Gender	7	0.016	0.014	0.025
About: Extensive About section4 -0.012 0.020 -0.024 Profile picture: Smiling5 -0.011 0.013 -0.019 Profile picture4 -0.010 0.018 -0.019 Profile card: Twitter4 -0.008 0.014 -0.020 Additional pictures: Additional pictures/videos4 -0.007 0.014 -0.023 Interests: Influencers5 0.004 0.007 0.007 Interests4 -0.004 0.006 -0.017 Skills: Interpersonal4 0.003 0.004 0.001 Experience: Professional positions1 -0.001 0.004 0.000 Profile picture: Glasses1 -0.001 0.004 0.000 About: Self-related words1 -0.001 0.003 0.000 Education: Business studies1 0.000 0.001 0.000 Other: Sport activities1 0.000 0.000 0.000	Skills	7	0.014	0.016	0.025
Profile picture: Smiling 5 -0.011 0.013 -0.019 Profile picture 4 -0.010 0.018 -0.019 Profile card: Twitter 4 -0.008 0.014 -0.020 Additional pictures: Additional pictures/videos 4 -0.007 0.014 -0.023 Interests: Influencers 5 0.004 0.007 0.007 Interests 4 -0.004 0.006 -0.017 Skills: Interpersonal 4 0.003 0.004 0.001 Experience: Professional positions 1 -0.001 0.004 0.000 Profile picture: Glasses 1 -0.001 0.004 0.000 About: Self-related words 1 -0.001 0.003 0.000 Ctucation: Business studies 1 0.000 0.001 0.000 Other: Sport activities 1 0.000 0.000 0.000	About: Extensive About section	4	-0.012	0.020	-0.024
Profile picture4 -0.010 0.018 -0.019 Profile card: Twitter4 -0.008 0.014 -0.020 Additional pictures: Additional pictures/videos4 -0.007 0.014 -0.023 Interests: Influencers5 0.004 0.007 0.007 Interests4 -0.004 0.006 -0.017 Skills: Interpersonal4 0.003 0.004 0.001 Experience: Professional positions1 -0.002 0.007 0.000 Profile picture: Glasses1 -0.001 0.004 0.000 About: Self-related words1 -0.001 0.003 0.000 Education: Business studies1 0.000 0.001 0.000 Other: Sport activities1 0.000 0.000 0.000	Profile picture: Smiling	5	-0.011	0.013	-0.019
Profile card: Twitter 4 -0.008 0.014 -0.020 Additional pictures: Additional pictures/videos 4 -0.007 0.014 -0.023 Interests: Influencers 5 0.004 0.007 0.007 Interests 4 -0.004 0.006 -0.017 Skills: Interpersonal 4 0.003 0.004 0.001 Experience: Professional positions 1 -0.002 0.007 0.000 Profile picture: Glasses 1 -0.001 0.004 0.000 About: Self-related words 1 -0.001 0.003 0.000 Education: Business studies 1 0.000 0.001 0.000 Other: Sport activities 1 0.000 0.000 0.000	Profile picture	4	-0.010	0.018	-0.019
Additional pictures: Additional pictures/videos 4 -0.007 0.014 -0.023 Interests: Influencers 5 0.004 0.007 0.007 Interests 4 -0.004 0.006 -0.017 Skills: Interpersonal 4 0.003 0.004 0.001 Experience: Professional positions 1 -0.002 0.007 0.000 Profile picture: Glasses 1 -0.001 0.004 0.000 About: Self-related words 1 -0.001 0.003 0.000 Chucation: Business studies 1 0.000 0.001 0.000 Other: Sport activities 1 0.000 0.000 0.000	Profile card: Twitter	4	-0.008	0.014	-0.020
Interests: Influencers 5 0.004 0.007 0.007 Interests 4 -0.004 0.006 -0.017 Skills: Interpersonal 4 0.003 0.004 0.001 Experience: Professional positions 1 -0.002 0.007 0.000 Profile picture: Glasses 1 -0.001 0.004 0.000 About: Self-related words 1 -0.001 0.003 0.000 Education: Business studies 1 0.000 0.001 0.000 Other: Sport activities 1 0.000 0.000 0.000	Additional pictures: Additional pictures/videos	4	-0.007	0.014	-0.023
Interests 4 -0.004 0.006 -0.017 Skills: Interpersonal 4 0.003 0.004 0.001 Experience: Professional positions 1 -0.002 0.007 0.000 Profile picture: Glasses 1 -0.001 0.004 0.000 About: Self-related words 1 -0.001 0.003 0.000 Education: Business studies 1 0.000 0.001 0.000 Other: Sport activities 1 0.000 0.000 0.000	Interests: Influencers	5	0.004	0.007	0.007
Skills: Interpersonal 4 0.003 0.004 0.001 Experience: Professional positions 1 -0.002 0.007 0.000 Profile picture: Glasses 1 -0.001 0.004 0.000 About: Self-related words 1 -0.001 0.003 0.000 Education: Business studies 1 0.000 0.001 0.000 Other: Sport activities 1 0.000 0.000 0.000	Interests	4	-0.004	0.006	-0.017
Experience: Professional positions 1 -0.002 0.007 0.000 Profile picture: Glasses 1 -0.001 0.004 0.000 About: Self-related words 1 -0.001 0.003 0.000 Education: Business studies 1 0.000 0.001 0.000 Other: Sport activities 1 0.000 0.000 0.000	Skills: Interpersonal	4	0.003	0.004	0.001
Profile picture: Glasses 1 -0.001 0.004 0.000 About: Self-related words 1 -0.001 0.003 0.000 Education: Business studies 1 0.000 0.001 0.000 Other: Sport activities 1 0.000 0.000 0.000	Experience: Professional positions	1	-0.002	0.007	0.000
About: Self-related words 1 -0.001 0.003 0.000 Education: Business studies 1 0.000 0.001 0.000 Other: Sport activities 1 0.000 0.000 0.000	Profile picture: Glasses	1	-0.001	0.004	0.000
Education: Business studies 1 0.000 0.001 0.000 Other: Sport activities 1 0.000 0.000 0.000	About: Self-related words	1	-0.001	0.003	0.000
Other: Sport activities 1 0.000 0.000 0.000	Education: Business studies	1	0.000	0.001	0.000
	Other: Sport activities	1	0.000	0.000	0.000

Сце	CVFI	вм	ßsz	BEull						
Intercept	10	0.000	0.000	0.000						
Narcissistic rivalry										
Profile picture: Smiling	10	-0.106	0.016	-0.083						
Gender	10	0.095	0.027	0.070						
Interests: Median of interests' followers	10	0.070	0.021	0.033						
Profile picture: Professional shot	8	0.039	0.031	0.000						
Other: Sport activities	9	0.035	0.019	0.003						
Profile nicture: Charming facial expression	6	-0.029	0.013	0.000						
Other: Profile in English	7	0.029	0.023	0.000						
Skills: Public speaking	, 7	0.029	0.029	0.000						
Profile picture	8	-0.026	0.024	0.000						
Accomplishments: Organizations	7	0.024	0.018	0.000						
Accomplishments: Courses	7	0.022	0.024	0.000						
Featured: Posts	6	-0.017	0.019	0.000						
Additional pictures: Additional pictures/videos	4	-0.011	0.022	0.000						
Profile card: Name with title	4	-0.008	0.013	0.000						
Profile picture: Stylish/flashy/fashionable appearance	3	0.005	0.010	0.000						
Volunteering: Altruistic volunteering	2	0.004	0.008	0.000						
Additional nictures: Background nicture	3	0.003	0.006	0.000						
Skills: Interpersonal	1	-0.002	0.007	0.000						
Profile picture: Dressed up trimmed appearance	2	0.002	0.005	0.000						
Activities: Average activities per day	1	0.002	0.006	0.000						
Volunteering: Average duration	1	-0.002	0.006	0.000						
Activities: Subscribers	1	0.002	0.000	0.000						
Education: Business studies	1	0.002	0.000	0.000						
Skills: Endorsements	1	-0.001	0.004	0.000						
Skills	2	0.001	0.003	0.000						
Skills: Leadershin	1	0.001	0.003	0.000						
Interests	1	0.000	0.001	0.000						
About	1	0.000	0.000	0.000						
Interests: Influencers	1	0.000	0.000	0.000						
Intercent	10	0.000	0.000	0.000						
Narcissism (NPI)	10	0.000	0.000	0.000						
Profile picture: Charming facial expression	9	0.063	0.037	0.078						
Additional pictures: Background picture	9	0.056	0.030	0.074						
Volunteering: Altruistic volunteering	8	0.032	0.023	0.050						
Interests: Influencers	8	0.031	0.025	0.045						
Other: Sport activities	6	0.026	0.025	0.035						
Activities: Subscribers	8	0.024	0.017	0.028						
Skills: Public speaking	7	0.024	0.019	0.031						
Profile picture: Professional/formal appearance	9	0.023	0.022	0.033						
Education: Business studies	6	0.021	0.025	0.031						
Profile picture: Dressed up, trimmed appearance	8	0.020	0.019	0.035						
Gender	7	0.019	0.019	0.033						
Experience: Leadership positions	7	0.017	0.015	0.024						
Accomplishments: Organizations	6	0.014	0.018	0.021						
Volunteering: Volunteer experiences	8	0.014	0.017	0.021						
Profile picture: Professional shot	6	0.013	0.023	0.008						
Profile picture: Glasses	6	-0.011	0.011	-0.027						
Interests: Median of interests' followers	4	0.009	0.013	0.000						
Profile picture: Smiling	3	-0.008	0.015	0.000						
Profile picture	4	-0.006	0.010	-0.002						
Accomplishments: Courses	6	0.006	0.008	0.007						
Other: Profile in English	5	0.006	0.010	0.007						
Featured: Posts	1	-0.002	0.005	0.000						
Accomplishments	3	0.001	0.003	0.006						
Volunteering: Average duration	2	0.001	0.004	0.000						
Additional pictures: Self-promotional background picture	1	-0.001	0.002	0.000						
Skills	1	0.001	0.002	0.000						

	Cue			CV _{FI}	β_M	β_{SD}	β_{Full}
Age				1	0.000	0.001	0.000
About				1	0.000	0.000	0.000
Intercept				10	0.000	0.000	0.000
N. GU	111 0.111	 1	C	0 1 1 1	•	007	0

Note. $CV_{FI} = cross-validation fold incidence, that is, the number of outer folds the regression coefficient of a feature was <math>\neq 0$; $\beta_M = regression$ coefficients averaged across outer folds; $\beta_{SD} =$ standard deviation of regression coefficients across outer folds; $\beta_{Full} =$ regression coefficients of elastic net trained on full data. Only cues are shown for that $CV_{FI} > 0$. Cues sorted by $|\beta_M|$. All values on *z*-scale.

Appendix 2.2 References

- Aabo, T., & Eriksen, N. B. (2018). Corporate risk and the humpback of CEO narcissism. *Review of Behavioral Finance*, 10(3), 252–273. https://doi.org/10.1108/RBF-07-2017-0070
- Ackerman, R. A., Donnellan, M. B., Roberts, B. W., & Fraley, R. C. (2016). The effect of response format on the psychometric properties of the Narcissistic Personality Inventory: Consequences for item meaning and factor structure. *Assessment*, 23(2), 203–220. https://doi.org/10.1177/1073191114568113
- Ackerman, R. A., Witt, E. A., Donnellan, M. B., Trzesniewski, K. H., Robins, R. W., & Kashy, D. A. (2011). What does the Narcissistic Personality Inventory really measure? *Assessment*, 18(1), 67–87. https://doi.org/10.1177/1073191110382845
- Ahmetoglu, G., Dobbs, S., Furnham, A., Crump, J., Chamorro-Premuzic, T., & Bakhshalian, E. (2016). Dark side of personality, intelligence, creativity, and managerial level. *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, 31(2), 391–404. https://doi.org/10.1108/JMP-03-2013-0096
- Back, M. D., Küfner, A. C. P., Dufner, M., Gerlach, T. M., Rauthmann, J. F., & Denissen, J. J. A. (2013). Narcissistic admiration and rivalry: Disentangling the bright and dark sides of narcissism. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 105(6), 1013–1037. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0034431
- Back, M. D., Küfner, A. C. P., & Leckelt, M. (2018). Early impressions of grandiose narcissists: A dual-pathway perspective. In A. D. Hermann, A. B. Brunell, & J. D. Foster (Eds.), *Handbook of trait narcissism: Key advances, research methods, and controversies* (pp. 309–316). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-92171-6 33.
- Back, M. D., Schmukle, S. C., & Egloff, B. (2010). Why are narcissists so charming at first sight? Decoding the narcissism–popularity link at zero acquaintance. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 98(1), 132–145. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0016338
- Barry, C. T., & McDougall, K. H. (2018). Social media: Platform or catalyst for narcissism? In A. D. Hermann, A. B. Brunell, & J. D. Foster (Eds.), *Handbook of trait narcissism: Key advances, research methods, and controversies* (pp. 435–441). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-92171-6_47
- Bergman, J. Z., Westerman, J. W., & Daly, J. P. (2010). Narcissism in management education. *Academy of Management Learning & Education*, 9(1), 119–131. https://doi.org/10.5465/amle.9.1.zqr119
- Bleidorn, W., & Hopwood, C. J. (2019). Using machine learning to advance personality assessment and theory. *Personality and Social Psychology Review*, 23(2), 190–203. https://doi.org/10.1177/1088868318772990
- Borkenau, P., & Liebler, A. (1995). Observable attributes as manifestations and cues of personality and intelligence. *Journal of Personality*, *63*(1), 1–25. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-6494.1995.tb00799.x
- Brunell, A. B., Gentry, W. A., Campbell, W. K., Hoffman, B. J., Kuhnert, K. W., & DeMarree, K. G. (2008). Leader emergence: The case of the narcissistic leader. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 34(12), 1663–1676. https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167208324101
- Brunell, A. B., Tumblin, L., & Buelow, M. T. (2014). Narcissism and the motivation to engage in volunteerism. *Current Psychology*, *33*(3), 365–376. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12144-014-9216-7
- Bruno, A., Quattrone, D., Scimeca, G., Cicciarelli, C., Romeo, V. M., Pandolfo, G., Zoccali, R. A., & Muscatello, M. R. A. (2014). Unraveling exercise addiction: The role of narcissism and self-esteem. *Journal of Addiction*, 2014, e987841. https://doi.org/10.1155/2014/987841

- Buffardi, L. E., & Campbell, W. K. (2008). Narcissism and social networking web sites. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 34(10), 1303–1314. https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167208320061
- Bushman, B. J., & Baumeister, R. F. (1998). Threatened egotism, narcissism, self-esteem, and direct and displaced aggression: Does self-love or self-hate lead to violence? *Journal* of Personality and Social Psychology, 75(1), 219–229. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.75.1.219
- Campbell, W. K. (1999). Narcissism and romantic attraction. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 77(6), 1254–1270. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.77.6.1254
- Campbell, W. K., & Campbell, S. M. (2009). On the self-regulatory dynamics created by the peculiar benefits and costs of narcissism: A contextual reinforcement model and examination of leadership. *Self and Identity*, 8(2–3), 214–232. https://doi.org/10.1080/15298860802505129
- Campbell, W. K., & Foster, J. D. (2007). The narcissistic self: Background, an extended agency model, and ongoing controversies. In C. Sedikides & S. J. Spencer (Eds.), *The Self* (pp. 115–138). Psychology Press.
- Campbell, W. K., Hoffman, B. J., Campbell, S. M., & Marchisio, G. (2011). Narcissism in organizational contexts. *Human Resource Management Review*, 21(4), 268–284. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hrmr.2010.10.007
- Carey, A. L., Brucks, M. S., Küfner, A. C. P., Holtzman, N. S., Große Deters, F., Back, M. D., Donnellan, M. B., Pennebaker, J. W., & Mehl, M. R. (2015). Narcissism and the use of personal pronouns revisited. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 109(3), e1–e15. https://doi.org/10.1037/pspp0000029
- Chatterjee, A., & Hambrick, D. C. (2007). It's all about me: Narcissistic chief executive officers and their effects on company strategy and performance. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, *52*(3), 351–386. https://doi.org/10.2189/asqu.52.3.351
- Cisek, S. Z., Sedikides, C., Hart, C. M., Godwin, H. J., Benson, V., & Liversedge, S. P. (2014). Narcissism and consumer behaviour: A review and preliminary findings. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 5(232), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2014.00232
- Cole, M. S., Feild, H. S., & Giles, W. F. (2003). What can we uncover about applicants based on their resumes? A field study. *Applied HRM Research*, 8(2), 51–62.
- Cragun, O. R., Olsen, K. J., & Wright, P. M. (2020). Making CEO narcissism research great: A review and meta-analysis of CEO narcissism. *Journal of Management*, *46*(6), 908–936. https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206319892678
- Davenport, S. W., Bergman, S. M., Bergman, J. Z., & Fearrington, M. E. (2014). Twitter versus Facebook: Exploring the role of narcissism in the motives and usage of different social media platforms. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 32, 212–220. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2013.12.011
- Davis, C., Dionne, M., & Shuster, B. (2001). Physical and psychological correlates of appearance orientation. *Personality and Individual Differences*, *30*(1), 21–30. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0191-8869(00)00006-4
- Deluga, R. J. (1997). Relationship among American presidential charismatic leadership, narcissism, and rated performance. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 8(1), 49–65. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1048-9843(97)90030-8
- Fox, J., & Rooney, M. C. (2015). The dark triad and trait self-objectification as predictors of men's use and self-presentation behaviors on social networking sites. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 76, 161–165. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2014.12.017
- Giacomin, M., & Rule, N. O. (2019). Eyebrows cue grandiose narcissism. *Journal of Personality*, 87(2), 373–385. https://doi.org/10.1111/jopy.12396

Gnambs, T., & Appel, M. (2018). Narcissism and social networking behavior: A metaanalysis. *Journal of Personality*, *86*(2), 200–212. https://doi.org/10.1111/jopy.12305

Gottfredson, L. S. (1997). Why g matters: The complexity of everyday life. *Intelligence*, 24(1), 79–132. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0160-2896(97)90014-3

Grapsas, E., Brummelman, E., Back, M. D., & Denissen, J. J. A. (2020). The "why" and "how" of narcissism: A process model of narcissistic status pursuit. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, *15*(1), 150–172. https://doi.org/10.1177/1745691619873350

Grijalva, E., Harms, P. D., Newman, D. A., Gaddis, B. H., & Fraley, R. C. (2015). Narcissism and leadership: A meta-analytic review of linear and nonlinear relationships. *Personnel Psychology*, 68(1), 1–47. https://doi.org/10.1111/peps.12072

- Grijalva, E., & Newman, D. A. (2015). Narcissism and counterproductive work behavior (CWB): Meta-analysis and consideration of collectivist culture, big five personality, and narcissism's facet structure. *Applied Psychology*, 64(1), 93–126. https://doi.org/10.1111/apps.12025
- Guo, Q., Sun, P., Cai, M., Zhang, X., & Song, K. (2019). Why are smarter individuals more prosocial? A study on the mediating roles of empathy and moral identity. *Intelligence*, 75, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.intell.2019.02.006
- Härtel, T. M., Leckelt, M., Grosz, M. P., Küfner, A. C. P., Geukes, K., & Back, M. D. (2021). Pathways from narcissism to leadership emergence in social groups. *European Journal of Personality*, 35(5), 1–23. https://doi.org/10.1177/08902070211046266
- Holtzman, N. S., & Strube, M. J. (2010). Narcissism and attractiveness. *Journal of Research in Personality*, 44(1), 133–136. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrp.2009.10.004
- Holtzman, N. S., & Strube, M. J. (2013). People with dark personalities tend to create a physically attractive veneer. *Social Psychological and Personality Science*, 4(4), 461–467. https://doi.org/10.1177/1948550612461284
- Hunter, J. E. (1986). Cognitive ability, cognitive aptitudes, job knowledge, and job performance. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, *29*(3), 340–362. https://doi.org/10.1016/0001-8791(86)90013-8
- Hunter, J. E., & Hunter, R. F. (1984). Validity and utility of alternative predictors of job performance. *Psychological Bulletin*, 96(1), 72–98. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.96.1.72
- Judge, T. A., Colbert, A. E., & Ilies, R. (2004). Intelligence and leadership: A quantitative review and test of theoretical propositions. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 89(3), 542–552. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.89.3.542
- Judge, T. A., Higgins, C. A., Thoresen, C. J., & Barrick, M. R. (1999). The big five personality traits, general mental ability, and career success across the life span. *Personnel Psychology*, 52(3), 621–652. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-6570.1999.tb00174.x
- Kail, B. L., & Carr, D. C. (2020). More than selection effects: Volunteering is associated with benefits in cognitive functioning. *The Journals of Gerontology: Series B*, 75(8), 1741– 1746. https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/gbaa101
- Kapidzic, S. (2013). Narcissism as a predictor of motivations behind Facebook profile picture selection. *Cyberpsychology, Behavior, and Social Networking*, 16(1), 14–19. https://doi.org/10.1089/cyber.2012.0143
- Konrath, S., Ho, M.-H., & Zarins, S. (2016). The strategic helper: Narcissism and prosocial motives and behaviors. *Current Psychology*, 35(2), 182–194. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12144-016-9417-3
- Konrath, S., & Tian, Y. (2018). Narcissism and prosocial behavior. In A. D. Hermann, A. B. Brunell, & J. D. Foster (Eds.), *Handbook of trait narcissism: Key advances, research*

methods, and controversies (pp. 371–378). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-92171-6 40

- Kuncel, N. R., Hezlett, S. A., & Ones, D. S. (2004). Academic performance, career potential, creativity, and job performance: Can one construct predict them all? *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 86(1), 148–161. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.86.1.148
- Leckelt, M., Küfner, A. C. P., Nestler, S., & Back, M. D. (2015). Behavioral processes underlying the decline of narcissists' popularity over time. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *109*(5), 856–871. https://doi.org/10.1037/pspp0000057
- McCain, J. L., Borg, Z. G., Rothenberg, A. H., Churillo, K. M., Weiler, P., & Campbell, W. K. (2016). Personality and selfies: Narcissism and the dark triad. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 64, 126–133. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2016.06.050
- McCain, J. L., & Campbell, W. K. (2018). Narcissism and social media use: A meta-analytic review. *Psychology of Popular Media Culture*, 7(3), 308–327. https://doi.org/10.1037/ppm0000137
- Ng, T. W. H., Eby, L. T., Sorensen, K. L., & Feldman, D. C. (2005). Predictors of objective and subjective career success: A meta-analysis. *Personnel Psychology*, *58*(2), 367–408. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-6570.2005.00515.x
- Offermann, L. R., Kennedy, J. K., & Wirtz, P. W. (1994). Implicit leadership theories: Content, structure, and generalizability. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 5(1), 43–58. https://doi.org/10.1016/1048-9843(94)90005-1
- Panek, E. T., Nardis, Y., & Konrath, S. (2013). Mirror or megaphone?: How relationships between narcissism and social networking site use differ on Facebook and Twitter. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 29(5), 2004–2012. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2013.04.012
- Pässler, K., Beinicke, A., & Hell, B. (2015). Interests and intelligence: A meta-analysis. *Intelligence*, 50, 30–51. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.intell.2015.02.001
- Paulhus, D. L., Westlake, B. G., Calvez, S. S., & Harms, P. D. (2013). Self-presentation style in job interviews: The role of personality and culture. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 43(10), 2042–2059. https://doi.org/10.1111/jasp.12157
- Raskin, R. N., & Terry, H. (1988). A principal-components analysis of the Narcissistic Personality Inventory and further evidence of its construct validity. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 54(5), 890–902. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.54.5.890
- Rosenthal, S., Feiring, C., & Lewis, M. (1998). Political volunteering from late adolescence to young adulthood. *Journal of Social Issues*, *54*(3), 477–493. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-4560.1998.tb01231.x
- Roth, B., Becker, N., Romeyke, S., Schäfer, S., Domnick, F., & Spinath, F. M. (2015). Intelligence and school grades: A meta-analysis. *Intelligence*, 53, 118–137. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.intell.2015.09.002
- Roulin, N., & Levashina, J. (2019). LinkedIn as a new selection method: Psychometric properties and assessment approach. *Personnel Psychology*, 72(2), 187–211. https://doi.org/10.1111/peps.12296
- Roulin, N., & Stronach, R. (2022). LinkedIn-based assessments of applicant personality, cognitive ability, and likelihood of organizational citizenship behaviors: Comparing self-, other-, and language-based automated ratings. *International Journal of Selection* and Assessment, 30(4), 503–524. https://doi.org/10.1111/ijsa.12396
- Salgado, J. F., Anderson, N., Moscoso, S., Bertua, C., & Fruyt, F. D. (2003). International validity generalization of GMA and cognitive abilities: A European community meta-

analysis. *Personnel Psychology*, *56*(3), 573–605. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-6570.2003.tb00751.x

- Spano, L. (2001). The relationship between exercise and anxiety, obsessive-compulsiveness, and narcissism. *Personality and Individual Differences*, *30*(1), 87–93. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0191-8869(00)00012-X
- Stachl, C., Pargent, F., Hilbert, S., Harari, G. M., Schoedel, R., Vaid, S., Gosling, S. D., & Bühner, M. (2020). Personality research and assessment in the era of machine learning. *European Journal of Personality*, 34(5), 613–631. https://doi.org/10.1002/per.2257
- Stöhr, T. (2015). The returns to occupational foreign language use: Evidence from Germany. *Labour Economics*, *32*, 86–98. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.labeco.2015.01.004
- Tamborski, M., & Brown, R. P. (2011). The measurement of trait narcissism in socialpersonality research. In W. K. Campbell & J. D. Miller (Eds.), *The handbook of narcissism and narcissistic personality disorder: Theoretical approaches, empirical findings, and treatments* (pp. 133–140). John Wiley & Sons. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118093108.ch11.
- Van de Ven, N., Bogaert, A., Serlie, A., Brandt, M. J., & Denissen, J. J. A. (2017). Personality perception based on LinkedIn profiles. *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, 32(6), 418–429. https://doi.org/10.1108/JMP-07-2016-0220
- Van Dijck, J. (2013). 'You have one identity': Performing the self on Facebook and LinkedIn. Media, Culture & Society, 35(2), 199–215. https://doi.org/10.1177/0163443712468605
- Vazire, S., Naumann, L. P., Rentfrow, P. J., & Gosling, S. D. (2008). Portrait of a narcissist: Manifestations of narcissism in physical appearance. *Journal of Research in Personality*, 42(6), 1439–1447. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrp.2008.06.007
- Wang, D. (2019). A study of the relationship between narcissism, extraversion, body-esteem, social comparison orientation and selfie-editing behavior on social networking sites. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 146, 127–129. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2019.04.012
- Watts, A. L., Lilienfeld, S. O., Smith, S. F., Miller, J. D., Campbell, W. K., Waldman, I. D., Rubenzer, S. J., & Faschingbauer, T. J. (2013). The double-edged sword of grandiose narcissism: Implications for successful and unsuccessful leadership among U.S. presidents. *Psychological Science*, 24(12), 2379–2389. https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797613491970
- Westerman, J. W., Bergman, J. Z., Bergman, S. M., & Daly, J. P. (2012). Are universities creating millennial narcissistic employees? An empirical examination of narcissism in business students and its implications. *Journal of Management Education*, 36(1), 5– 32. https://doi.org/10.1177/1052562911408097
- Wetzel, E., Roberts, B. W., Fraley, R. C., & Brown, A. (2016). Equivalence of Narcissistic Personality Inventory constructs and correlates across scoring approaches and response formats. *Journal of Research in Personality*, 61, 87–98. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrp.2015.12.002
- Wille, B., Hofmans, J., Lievens, F., Back, M. D., & De Fruyt, F. (2019). Climbing the corporate ladder and within-person changes in narcissism: Reciprocal relationships over two decades. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 115, 103341. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2019.103341

Mapping Personality Traits' Leadership Impacts in Face-to-Face and Virtual Groups Pathways From Narcissism to Leadership Emergence in Social Groups

Publication Status. Härtel, T. M., Leckelt, M., Grosz, M. P., Küfner, A. C. P., Nestler,
S., Geukes, K., & Back, M. D. (2019, September 16-18). Narcissists' pathways to leadership in naturally emerging social groups [Conference presentation]. The 15th Biennial Conference of the German Psychological Society - Personality Psychology and Psychological Diagnostics (DPPD) Section, Dresden, Germany. Härtel, T. M., Leckelt, M., Grosz, M. P., Küfner, A. C.
P., Geukes, K., & Back, M. D. (2021). Pathways from narcissism to leadership emergence in social groups. European Journal of Personality, 35(5), 1-23. https://doi.org/10.1177/0890207-0211046266.

Abstract. Narcissists successfully emerge as leaders. However, the processes by which this occurs are mostly unknown. Following a dual-pathway approach and differentiating between agentic (narcissistic admiration) and antagonistic (narcissistic rivalry) narcissism, we investigated the behavioral processes underlying narcissists' leadership emergence in social groups. We applied data from a multimethodological laboratory study (N = 311) comprising 3 groups of variables: personality traits, expressed interaction behaviors, and interpersonal perceptions. Prior to the laboratory sessions, participants provided self-reported answers to various narcissism measures. Interpersonal perceptions were obtained from round-robin ratings after participants completed the Lost on the Moon task in small groups. Participants' behaviors during the group discussion were videotaped and coded by trained raters. Results supported the notion of a pathway from agentic narcissism to leadership (measured as target effects of being seen as a leader) determined by narcissistic admiration, dominant-expressive behavior, and being seen as assertive. To clarify narcissism's relationship to leadership emergence, the effects were (a) contrasted with narcissism's effects on popularity and (b) set in relation to process pathways leading from intelligence and physical attractiveness to leadership. The findings underscore the benefits of a behavioral pathway approach for unravelling the impact of narcissism on leadership emergence.

Keywords: Narcissism, leadership emergence, popularity, behavioral processes, interpersonal perception.

Open Science Statement: The data, codebook, R-script, Mplus-scripts and supplementary results are made transparent on the open science framework: https://osf.io/4hpuf/.

3.1.1 Introduction

The performance and satisfaction of groups that do not have formal leaders critically depends on the person who eventually emerges as the group's informal leader. Emergent leadership has become an important topic in organizational (Pescosolido, 2001, 2002), personality, and social psychological research (e.g., Ensari et al., 2011; Ogunfowora & Bourdage, 2014; Ong et al., 2016). The trends of self-managing work teams (S. Cohen, 1993; Lawler et al., 1995; Manz & Sims, 1993) and of decentralization in organizations (M. Y. Lee & Edmondson, 2017) foster the emergence of leaders from within work groups. Consequently, understanding why a particular person informally emerges as a leader and how this happens is becoming more important for an organization's prosperity. Also, individuals repeatedly come together in social groups outside the business context (e.g., study groups, sports teams) in which they interact to complete tasks, solve problems, and pursue goals (e.g., to prepare for an exam, train for a competition). Thus, interacting in groups is a fundamental part of people's daily social lives. A key personality trait that has consistently been found to predict leadership emergence in social groups is narcissism²⁰ (e.g., Grijalva et al., 2015).

Prior research on the relationship between narcissism and leadership emergence has not looked at the behavioral and perceptual processes that drive the effects of narcissism on leadership emergence (Brunell et al., 2008). Moreover, recent research has suggested that researchers should differentiate between at least two dimensions of grandiose narcissism (i.e., agentic and antagonistic aspects of narcissism) when aiming to understand how narcissism results in social consequences (e.g., Back, 2018). However, research has rarely considered narcissism's multidimensionality when examining narcissism's impact on leadership emergence (Grijalva et al., 2015). In the present study, we addressed these issues by testing a comprehensive path model on narcissists' leadership emergence in social groups. Building on the narcissistic admiration and rivalry concept (NARC; Back et al., 2013), we (a) disentangled the two narcissism's effects on popularity (i.e., likeability), and (c) compared the pathways with effects of intelligence and physical attractiveness on leadership emergence.

3.1.2 Theoretical Background

3.1.2.1 Previous Research on Narcissism and Leadership Emergence.

 $^{^{20}}$ This paper focuses on grandiose narcissism representing a personality trait in the general population (Morf & Rhodewalt, 2001). Therefore, whenever the term *narcissism* is used, it refers to grandiose narcissism, and whenever the term *narcissists* is used, it refers to individuals who are relatively higher than most other people on the continuous dimension of grandiose narcissism.

CHAPTER 3: MAPPING PERSONALITY-LEADERSHIP LINKS

3.1.2.1.1 Main Effects of Narcissism on Leadership Emergence. Grandiose narcissism is a form of entitled self-importance (Krizan & Herlache, 2018) that goes along with grandiosity, a need for admiration and dominance, vanity, arrogance, disregard for others, and a tendency to manipulate others (Back et al., 2013; Braun, 2017; Miller et al., 2011; Raskin & Terry, 1988). According to self-regulatory models, in order to enhance and maintain their views of a grandiose self, narcissists have an extraordinary need for admiration and external validation (Morf & Rhodewalt, 2001). Consequently, narcissists are expected to be highly motivated to seek out leadership positions as these go hand in hand with high social status (Gardner, 2007). Leadership positions provide narcissists with an ideal opportunity to exhibit their competencies and demonstrate their superiority (Campbell & Campbell, 2009). Thus, they might view a leadership position as a platform for self-promotion that will help them earn the admiration and glory they are convinced they deserve (Wallace & Baumeister, 2002). Accordingly, narcissism has shown positive associations with desires for power (Carroll, 1987; Raskin & Novacek, 1991; Rogoza et al., 2016), status (Zeigler-Hill et al., 2018), and leadership (Brunell et al., 2008; see also Benson et al., 2016). Narcissists also seem to be successful at attaining leadership positions: Taking a closer look at illustrious positions of leadership (e.g., president, CEO), narcissists appear to be prevalent in leadership roles (Deluga, 1997; Maccoby, 2000; Rosenthal & Pittinsky, 2006; Watts et al., 2013; see also Ahmetoglu et al., 2016; Wille et al., 2013, 2019). Indeed, narcissists have attained leadership and status in social groups in the short-term (Brunell et al., 2008; Carlson & DesJardins, 2015; Harms et al., 2011; Nevicka, De Hoogh, et al., 2011; Nevicka, Ten Velden, et al., 2011; Ong et al., 2016; Paunonen et al., 2006; see Grijalva et al., 2015, for meta-analytical evidence).

The association between narcissism and leadership emergence must not be mistaken for the association between narcissism and leadership effectiveness (see Grijalva et al., 2015). Leadership emergence and leadership effectiveness are conceptually distinct constructs (Lord et al., 1986) that become relevant at distinct temporal stages of group processes (Ong et al., 2016). Leadership emergence processes are characterized by uncertainty (Marinova et al. 2013) and describe being viewed as a leader by group members that have limited information about that individuals' performance (R. Hogan et al. 1994; Judge et al. 2002) at the beginning of group processes (Ong et al., 2016). Leader effectiveness processes describe the group leaders' actual task performance in the leadership position (R. Hogan et al. 1994; Judge et al. 2002; Stogdill, 1950) at later stages of group processes when groups already identified their leader, who then provides indicators of more or less effective leadership (Ong et al., 2016). The present study solely focuses on narcissism's association with leadership emergence.

3.1.2.1.2 Behavioral Mediators of the Relationship Between Narcissism and Leadership Emergence. According to process models of personality and social relationships (Back et al., 2011, 2018; Grosz et al., 2020; Nestler & Back, 2013), narcissism might only have an effect on leadership emergence if (a) an individual's narcissism is expressed in observable behaviors (behavioral expression), (b) these expressed behaviors are detected by interaction partners and used to form impressions (interpersonal perception), and (c) these social impressions are evaluated with regard to leadership emergence (evaluation). Even though the full mediation process linking narcissism to leadership emergence is unclear (Brunell et al., 2008), there is some preliminary evidence. Ong et al. (2016) found that peer-rated transformational leadership mediated the relationship between narcissism and peer-rated leadership emergence in early stages of group processes. Therefore, narcissists' expressed behaviors that are linked to charismatic and visionary components of transformational leadership (e.g., inspirational speech, creating a vision; see Deluga, 1997; Khoo & Burch, 2008) might account for the link between narcissism and leadership emergence. Cheng et al. (2013) differentiated between two pathways that could be followed to exert influence in social groups. They were found to be associated with two distinct underlying behavioral strategies: prestige and dominance. Both behavioral strategies have been found to be associated with narcissism (Cheng et al., 2010; Zeigler-Hill et al., 2018). Prestige includes demonstrating competence and a willingness to share knowledge as well as behaving in a charismatic, charming, expressive, and confident manner. These expressed behaviors are expected to lead to interpersonal impressions of being respected and admired. Dominance involves the use of aggressive behavior, manipulative tactics, and threat. These expressed behaviors are expected to lead to interpersonal impressions of being feared (Cheng et al., 2010, 2013; Cheng & Tracy, 2014; Maner & Case, 2016; Witkower et al., 2020). Indeed, preliminary evidence has shown that distinct sets of nonverbal behaviors are related to group members' perceptions of being admired and respected or being feared as well as group members' and external observers' ratings of social influence (Witkower et al., 2020). Moreover, individuals who were perceived as engaging in prestige and dominance by group members and by external observers (video-based ratings of group members as "respected" and "bossy and pushy") were found to exert social influence (Cheng et al., 2013).

3.1.2.1.3 Evidence for Distinct Relations of Agentic and Antagonistic Narcissism With Leadership Emergence. Modern conceptualizations treat grandiose narcissism as a multidimensional construct that encompasses agentic (e.g., grandiosity, self-assuredness, charmingness, assertiveness) and antagonistic (e.g., hostility, aggressiveness, arrogance, exploitativeness) aspects (e.g., Back, 2018; Back et al., 2013; Brown et al., 2009; Krizan & Herlache, 2018; Miller et al., 2016; Tamborski et al., 2012; Wright & Edershile, 2018). This structure has been supported by several factor-analytic studies (e.g., Ackerman et al., 2011; Back et al., 2013; Crowe et al., 2019; Glover et al., 2012). Agentic and antagonistic narcissism have also shown distinct effects in adjacent social contexts, such as peer popularity (Küfner et al., 2013; Leckelt et al., 2015) and dating (Wurst et al., 2017; see Back, 2018, for an overview). By contrast, studies on narcissism and leadership emergence have yet to systematically differentiate between the effects of the agentic and antagonistic subdimensions of narcissism (Braun, 2017; Grijalva et al., 2015; Zeigler-Hill et al., 2018). Preliminary evidence of differentiated effects of agentic and antagonistic narcissism on leadership emergence has stemmed from studies that examined (a) facets of the Narcissistic Personality Inventory (NPI; i.e., Brunell et al., 2008; Carlson & DesJardins, 2015), (b) variables that are closely associated with agentic and antagonistic narcissism (i.e., Paunonen et al., 2006), and (c) personality traits that might (partly) account for the relationship between narcissism and leadership emergence (i.e., Brunell et al., 2008; Carlson & DesJardins, 2015; Grijalva et al., 2015).

3.1.2.2 A Dual-Pathway Approach Linking Narcissism to Leadership Emergence. The NARC (Back, 2018; Back et al., 2013) provides a framework that allows researchers to move beyond previous work on narcissism and leadership by (a) analyzing more complete process pathways including behavioral expression, interpersonal perception, and evaluation process stages and (b) disentangling the effects of the agentic and antagonistic aspects of narcissism (see also Back et al., 2018; Küfner et al., 2013). The NARC differentiates between two distinct interpersonal strategies that serve narcissists' overall goal of attaining and maintaining a grandiose self: narcissistic self-promotion and narcissistic self-defense. The tendency to engage in assertive self-promotion translates into agentic dynamics (narcissistic admiration; e.g., dominant/self-assured and expressive behavior) that tend to evoke indicators of social potency, particularly in short-term-acquaintance contexts. By contrast, the tendency to engage in antagonistic self-defense translates into antagonistic (narcissistic rivalry; e.g., arrogant and aggressive behavior, other-derogation) that tend to evoke indicators of social conflict.

3.1.2.2.1 Pathway From Agentic Narcissism to Leadership Emergence. On the basis of the NARC (Back et al., 2018), we expected that narcissistic admiration would have a positive effect via dominant-expressive behavior and being perceived as assertive by interaction partners on leadership emergence. As narcissistic admiration is the default strategy (Back, 2018; Grapsas et al., 2018; Wetzel et al., 2016), admiration should be expressed in

CHAPTER 3: MAPPING PERSONALITY-LEADERSHIP LINKS

dominant-expressive behaviors, particularly in a task-oriented getting-acquainted situation that provides narcissists with an opportunity to demonstrate their grandiosity (Back et al., 2018; Küfner et al., 2013; Leckelt et al., 2015). Dominant-expressive behaviors should then yield perceptions of assertiveness that should be evaluated positively with regard to leadership emergence, as both perceptions of assertiveness and perceptions of leadership emergence concern interpersonal agency (Abele et al., 2008; Abele & Wojciszke, 2007; R. Hogan, 1982; Wojciszke et al., 2009).

Regarding behavioral dynamics, this notion is supported by the conceptual resemblance of the agentic narcissism pathway with the prestige pathway as both encompass expressive, confident, and charming behaviors—all of which are assumed to foster social status (Cheng et al., 2010, 2013). Indeed, narcissistic admiration was found to be primarily associated with reports of engaging in prestige strategies but less so with reports of engaging in dominance strategies (Zeigler-Hill et al., 2018).

Regarding perceptual dynamics, our framework fits well with implicit leadership theories (ILTs) that suggest that leaders are selected on the basis of how well they are perceived to fit with an inner image of the prototypical leader (Foti et al., 1982; Lord et al., 1984, 1986; Shondrick et al., 2010). In particular, agentic narcissism corresponds with agentic leader attributes such as extraversion (e.g., Back et al., 2013; Bradlee & Emmons, 1992; K. Lee & Ashton, 2005), (sociable) dominance²¹ (e.g., Bradlee & Emmons, 1992; Raskin & Terry, 1988), confidence (e.g., Back et al., 2010; Campbell et al., 2004; Paulhus, 1998), and charisma (e.g., Back et al., 2010, 2013; Ong et al., 2016)—characteristics that have been found to predict leadership emergence (Ensari et al., 2011; Judge et al., 2002; Lord et al., 1986; Ong et al., 2016).

Finally, research on narcissism facets has provided additional indirect evidence for a positive effect of agentic narcissism on leadership emergence. Variables strongly associated with agentic narcissism (egotism, self-esteem) were found to predict peer ratings of which peers were seen as natural leaders in a sample of military cadets registered in the same training program (Paunonen et al., 2006). Also, the agentic NPI subfactors (Emmons, 1984)—leadership/authority (L/A) and self-absorption/self-admiration (S/S)—were found to predict

²¹ Dominance encompasses agentic and antagonistic aspects (Kalma et al., 1993; see also Mazur, 1985). Dominance as referred to in the current section refers to sociable dominance, encompassing agentic aspects of dominance, such as high self-esteem, confidence, and taking responsibility, rather than aggressive dominance, encompassing antagonistic aspects of dominance, such as acting aggressively to control others with threat (Kalma et al., 1993; see also Cheng et al., 2013; Ridgeway, 1987). Whereas sociable dominance is similar to the agentic narcissism pathway, aggressive dominance is similar to the antagonistic narcissism pathway.

initial peer ratings of high status in small groups of unacquainted undergraduates (Carlson & DesJardins, 2015).

3.1.2.2.2 Pathway From Antagonistic Narcissism to Leadership Emergence. On the basis of the NARC (Back et al., 2018), we expected that narcissistic rivalry would have a significantly smaller positive or even negative effect via arrogant-aggressive behavior and being perceived as untrustworthy by interaction partners on leadership emergence than narcissistic admiration. Particularly in getting-acquainted situations, narcissists might engage less often in arrogant-aggressive behaviors as social disapproval is unlikely to occur (Back, 2018; Grapsas et al., 2018; Küfner et al., 2013; Leckelt et al., 2015). Also, antagonistic behaviors might be difficult to detect such that they should only weakly yield impressions of untrustworthiness (e.g., Roulin et al., 2015). Finally, perceptions of untrustworthiness might be evaluated negatively with regard to leadership emergence because they have demonstrated a strong correspondence with social evaluations (e.g., N. H. Anderson, 1968; Dumas et al., 2002). However, given that perceptions of trustworthiness concern interpersonal communion, whereas perceptions of leadership emergence concern interpersonal agency, impressions of untrustworthiness might be less influential (Abele et al., 2008; Abele & Wojciszke, 2007; R. Hogan, 1982; Wojciszke et al., 2009).

On the other hand, regarding behavioral dynamics, because the antagonistic narcissism pathway conceptually resembles the dominance pathway (both encompass aggressive behaviors), which has been found to foster social status (Cheng et al., 2010, 2013), antagonistic narcissism should have a positive impact on leadership emergence. Indeed, narcissistic rivalry was found to be primarily associated with reports of engaging in dominance strategies but less so with reports of engaging in prestige strategies (Zeigler-Hill et al., 2018). However, this finding was not consistent with findings that aggressively behaving confederates did not exhibit much influence within small groups, were perceived less favorably, and elicited resistance behaviors (Ridgeway, 1987; Ridgeway & Diekema, 1989). On the other hand, the aggressive confederate was still perceived as having a higher status and leadership ability than a submissive confederate (Ridgeway, 1987).

Regarding perceptual dynamics, ILTs are in line with a negative impact of antagonistic narcissism on leadership emergence. Sensitivity (e.g., warm, helpful; Epitropaki & Martin, 2004; Offermann et al., 1994) represents a desired leader attribute and should be negatively associated with antagonistic narcissism. Tyranny (e.g., manipulative, conceited; Epitropaki & Martin, 2004; Offermann et al., 1994) represents an undesired leader attribute and should be positively associated with antagonistic narcissism. However, constructs related to sensitivity

(e.g., agreeableness) have been found to be unimportant for leadership emergence (e.g., C. Anderson et al., 2001, 2008; C. Anderson & Cowan, 2014; Ensari et al., 2011; Judge et al., 2002; Taggar et al., 1999). Constructs related to tyranny (e.g., aggressiveness, antagonism) have been found to (a) have a negative impact on (e.g., Ogunfowora & Bourdage, 2014), (b) be unrelated to (e.g., Limon & La France, 2005), and (c) have a positive impact on leadership emergence (Ensari et al., 2011; Lord et al., 1986).

Research on the facets of narcissism has contributed to the mixed results. On the one hand, antagonistic aspects of narcissism may have contributed to self- and peer ratings of leadership emergence in small leaderless group discussions (Brunell et al., 2008). On the other hand, emergent leaders in a sample of military cadets suppressed variables that were strongly associated with antagonistic narcissism (manipulativeness, impression management; Paunonen et al., 2006). Also, the antagonistic NPI subfactor entitlement/exploitativeness (E/E; Emmons, 1984) was a unique predictor of the lower status of undergraduate students who regularly participated in small group discussions (Carlson & DesJardins, 2015).

3.1.2.3 Contrasting Effects on Leadership Emergence With Those on Popularity. To allow for specific insights, it is important to test for whether effects of narcissism on leadership emergence can be explained by its effects on being liked (i.e., popularity) or whether there are distinct, leadership-specific effects. We expected differentiated effects given that leadership emergence and popularity are distinct social outcomes (Carlson & DesJardins, 2015; Hollander & Webb, 1955; Theodorson, 1957; Wherry & Fryer, 1949) located in different places in the interpersonal sphere (Bakan, 1966; R. Hogan, 1982; Hopwood, 2018; Kiesler, 1983; Wiggins, 1991; Wojciszke et al., 2009). Specifically, leadership emergence is an agentic quality that is related to "getting ahead," whereas popularity/being liked is more a communal quality that is related to "getting along." Also, leadership emergence is a hierarchical construct with zero-sum dynamics (i.e., not every group member can emerge as a leader), whereas likeability is not (i.e., every group member can be well-liked; C. Anderson et al., 2015; Dufner et al., 2016). Therefore, the agentic narcissism pathway might be more decisive for leadership emergence as assertiveness represents an agentic quality (Abele et al., 2008; Abele & Wojciszke, 2007; see also J. Hogan & Holland, 2003). By contrast, the antagonistic narcissism pathway might be less likely to obstruct leadership emergence as trustworthiness represents a communal quality (Abele et al., 2008; Abele & Wojciszke, 2007). Indeed, whereas preliminary evidence of the impact of antagonistic narcissism on leadership emergence has been ambiguous, studies have consistently found a negative impact of narcissistic rivalry on popularity (Küfner et al., 2013; Lange et al., 2016; Leckelt et al., 2015; Leckelt, Geukes, et al., 2019; see Back et al., 2018, for an overview). In line with this, the dominance pathway, which resembles the antagonistic narcissism pathway, was found to have a positive impact on social influence but a negative impact on liking (Cheng et al., 2013).

3.1.2.4 Additional Intelligence and Physical Attractiveness Pathways. Adding the intelligence and physical attractiveness pathways allowed us to analyze whether the effects of narcissism on leadership emergence would remain meaningful beyond additional attributes of prototypical leaders (Lord et al., 1984; Offermann et al., 1994) that have consistently been found to predict leadership emergence (Ensari et al., 2011; Hochschild Jr. & Borch, 2011; Judge et al., 2004; Lord et al., 1986; Poutvaara, 2014). Even though narcissism was found to be unrelated to intelligence (O'Boyle et al., 2013), narcissists tend to be seen as intelligent in group discussions (Paulhus, 1998), which may be due to agentic narcissism (Back et al., 2013) and which might to some extent explain why they emerge as leaders (see also Rubin et al., 2002). Narcissism was found to be positively related to observer-rated attractiveness (Holtzman & Strube, 2010), which may be due to agentic narcissism (Back et al., 2013; Dufner et al., 2013; Weber et al., 2019) and which might be another reason for why they emerge as leaders.

3.1.2.5 The Present Study. With this study, we aimed to shed light on how narcissists emerge as leaders in social groups. Building on the NARC (Back et al., 2013), we took a dual-pathway approach (Küfner et al., 2013) to address two main open issues in research on narcissism and leadership emergence. First, we conceptualized grandiose narcissism as a multidimensional construct, and we differentiated between agentic and antagonistic aspects. Second, we employed a multimethodological and process-oriented approach for understanding the social mechanisms underlying the narcissism-leadership emergence relation. Specifically, we went beyond previous research by integrating three groups of variables into the comprehensive behavioral pathway model depicted in Figure 3.1.1: stable personality traits, expressed behaviors (coded by six trained raters), and interpersonal perceptions (actual perceptions of interaction partners in a realistic interaction setting). For this purpose, we applied data from a large multimethodological data set, the Personality Interaction Laboratory Study (PILS; Geukes et al., 2019).²²

²² For a list of all publications based on the data set used in the current study, see the Overview of Previous PILS Publications at https://osf.io/4hpuf/. Similar process models were examined in (a) Leckelt et al. (2015), who investigated effects of narcissism on peer popularity over time, and (b) Rau et al. (2019), who investigated effects of seeing others as low on agency on being seen as high on agency. In comparison with Leckelt et al. (2015), we (a) focused on leadership emergence, which represents a social construct distinct from popularity and achieved by different means (Carlson & DesJardins, 2015; Hollander & Webb, 1955; Theodorson, 1957; Wherry & Fryer, 1949), and thus, we extended the results from general social contexts to business contexts. We also (b) examined the robustness of the narcissism pathways by considering additional pathways to leadership emergence. Finally, we (c) focused on the Lost on the Moon task (Bottger, 1984; Robins & Beer, 2001) as a typical representative of
Figure 3.1.1

A Comprehensive Behavioral Pathway Approach to Narcissistic Leadership Emergence in Social Groups



To clarify unique relations with leadership emergence, we contrasted the effects of the two narcissism pathways on leadership emergence with their effects on popularity. To explore the robustness and relative relevance of the narcissism pathways, we set the narcissism pathways in relation to intelligence and physical attractiveness pathways to leadership emergence. We expected the agentic narcissism pathway to exert a positive influence on leadership emergence; that is, we expected the indirect effect (IE) of admiration on being seen as a leader to be positive (Hypothesis 1). We expected the agentic narcissism pathway to exert a stronger influence on leadership emergence than the antagonistic narcissism pathway; that is, we expected the absolute value of the IE of admiration on being seen as a leader to be stronger than the absolute value of the IE of rivalry on being seen as a leader (Hypothesis 2). We expected the agentic narcissism pathway to exert a more positive influence on leadership emergence compared with its influence on popularity; that is, we expected the IE of admiration on being seen as a leader to be more positive than the IE of admiration on being liked (Hypothesis 3). We expected the antagonistic narcissism pathway to exert a less negative influence on leadership emergence compared with its influence on popularity; that is, we expected the IE of rivalry on being seen as a leader to be less negative than the IE of rivalry on

leaderless group discussions (Brunell et al., 2008; Cheng et al., 2013), that are commonly applied in real-life assessment centers. In comparison with Rau et al. (2019) our focus was considerably different as they did not examine narcissism.

being liked (Hypothesis 4). None of our hypotheses and exploratory questions were preregistered.

3.1.3 Method

3.1.3.1 Sample. The sample consisted of 311 university students from various majors mainly recruited via email lists, advertising posters, and lecture announcements at the Johannes Gutenberg University in Mainz, Germany. Participants were free to choose whether they would receive monetary compensation or course credit. Fourteen participants did not provide complete personality and demographic data, resulting in 297 participants (162 women) who filled out the online questionnaire and attended at least one laboratory session. The average age in this sample was 23.81 (SD = 3.92), ranging from 18 to 39. The first/second laboratory session was attended by 311/305 participants (171/169 women). The average level of participants' prior acquaintance was low (M = 1.33, SD = 0.95; on the item "I know this person" on a scale ranging from 1 = *does not apply at all* to 6 = *applies perfectly*). All participants provided written consent to participate in the study and to be recorded during the laboratory sessions.

Because the data was not specifically collected to test the present hypotheses, no power analysis prior to data collection was conducted. As the dataset has been successfully applied in studies computing similar models (Leckelt et al. 2015, Rau et al. 2019), it likely provides sufficient power to detect the effects we were interested in. Moreover, our sample was bigger than samples of most studies with real group interactions and behavioral measurements (e.g., Cheng et al., 2013; Küfner et al., 2013; Witkower et al., 2020). However, to gain a more precise understanding of the power in the present study, we used Schoemann et al.'s (2017) online tool to calculate the power for the IE of admiration on being seen as a leader via dominant-expressive behavior and being seen as assertive (Hypothesis 1). The tool computes Monte Carlo power analysis simulations and tests IEs with bootstrapped confidence intervals (CIs). We computed the model with two serial mediators, 5,000 replications, 20,000 Monte Carlo draws per replication, and a confidence level of 95% (random seed = 1234). We entered n = 283 conservatively considering only complete cases. We entered correlations drawn from previous studies ($r_{admiration, dominant-expressive behavior} = .41$, $r_{admiration, seen as assertive} = .34$, Back et al., 2013; $r_{admiration, leadership emergence} = .12$, Grijalva et al., 2015; $r_{dominant-expressive behavior, seen as assertive} =$.42, Leckelt, Geukes et al., 2019; $r_{\text{dominant-expressive behavior, leadership emergence} = .18$, Witkower et al., 2020; $r_{\text{seen as assertive, leadership emergence}} = .88$, Cheng et al., 2013). We assumed standardized variables. The computed power was 1.00.

3.1.3.2 Procedure. All procedures used in the PILS study were approved by the review board of the University of Mainz (title: "The longitudinal course of narcissists' reputations: A

developmental social interaction approach"; no protocol number) and were in line with the recommendations of the German research foundation (DFG) and the German psychological society (DGPs). First, participants were asked to complete an online questionnaire for collecting demographic information and self-reported personality traits. Thereafter, participants attended three laboratory sessions that each took place 1 week apart and lasted for about one hour. For the laboratory sessions, the sample was divided into 54 groups of four to six participants (M = 5.76) with 37 same-sex (21 female) and 17 mixed-sex groups. The laboratory sessions took place in a video laboratory. Participants were seated around an oval table in the middle of the room. At the beginning of the sessions and after each task, the group members provided self-ratings and round-robin ratings of each other via netbooks placed in front of them. In addition to individual cameras and microphones that recorded each participant separately, two dome cameras were installed to record the overall group setting.

The laboratory sessions were designed to investigate group interactions from zero to short-term acquaintance. Participants completed three tasks in the first session (Tasks A, B, and C) and two tasks each in Session 2 (Tasks D and E) and Session 3 (Tasks F and G). At the end of Session 1, participants completed cognitive ability measures and participated in a photo shoot under standardized conditions. For the present study, only Task A (Reading Aloud task) and Task D (Lost on the Moon task) were of direct interest. For the Reading Aloud task, each participant read a sheet with a different version of a composition of texts (e.g., a poem, a weather report) out loud. Thereafter, participants provided a brief self-introduction (Task B) followed by a detailed self-introduction (Task C). For the Lost on the Moon task (Bottger, 1984; Robins & Beer, 2001), group members were told to imagine that they were participants in a space race after experiencing a harsh landing on the moon that damaged their space shuttle and most of their equipment. Only 15 items that they thought would be most helpful for getting to the mother ship and then discussed their solutions in the group.²³ We focused on the Lost on the Moon task because (a) it has been successfully applied

²³ Participants were split into 28 competitive groups and 26 cooperative groups. After they individually selected and ranked 12 of the 15 items, depending on the task condition, participants were instructed either (a) to discuss the group members' individual solutions regarding their importance for the success of each individual and to trade items with the other group members to obtain the best selection of items for themselves (competitive condition) or (b) to discuss the importance of 12 of the 15 items for the group's success and to determine a joint rank order (cooperative condition). The variable group condition was included in the data set but not considered any further because it was not within the scope of the present article. However, we conducted exploratory multiple-group analyses to test whether the effect of admiration on leadership emergence and of rivalry on leadership emergence, respectively, differed between competitive and cooperative groups. Chi-square difference testing of the model with constraints versus the model without constraints showed no difference in the effect of admiration on

to investigate leadership emergence and status attainment in group settings (e.g., Cheng et al., 2010; DesJardins et al., 2015). (b) It was the first task in the second laboratory session and was thus located somewhere in the transition zone between zero-acquaintance and short-term acquaintance (see Leckelt et al., 2015). This should have ensured that individuals had only limited information about their group members' performance so that our findings would be related to leadership emergence and not to leadership effectiveness (see Judge et al., 2002; Marinova et al., 2013; Ong et al., 2016). (c) It requires group discussions, which are particularly suitable for investigating the narcissism pathways. This is the case because such discussions provide the opportunity to be admired by others so that the agentic narcissism pathway can be triggered but also to be criticized and outperformed by others so that the antagonistic narcissism pathway can be triggered (Küfner et al., 2013). For a detailed description of the procedure applied in the larger project the data stemmed from, see the Codebook at https://osf.io/4hpuf/.

3.1.3.3 Measures.

3.1.3.3.1 Narcissism. Narcissistic admiration (e.g., "I am great"; $\alpha = .82$) and rivalry (e.g., "Other people are worth nothing"; $\alpha = .78$) was measured with the 18-item Narcissistic Admiration and Rivalry Questionnaire (NARQ; Back et al., 2013) using 6-point scales ranging from 1 (*do not agree at all*) to 6 (*agree completely*).

3.1.3.3.2 Intelligence. A 15-item short version (Denissen et al., 2011) of Raven's Advanced Progressive Matrices (Raven et al., 1962) was used to measure participants' fluid intelligence $(\alpha = .71).$ The German multiple-choice vocabulary В test (Mehrfachwahl-Wortschatz-Test B, MWTB; Lehrl, 2005) was used to measure participants' crystallized intelligence ($\alpha = .63$).²⁴ A numeric computation span task (Oberauer et al., 2000) was used to assess participants' working memory capacity (WMC). Subscores for processing information ($\alpha = .70$) and storing information ($\alpha = .71$) were substantially correlated (r = .33, p < .001). Therefore, they were z-standardized and aggregated into an overall working memory capacity score. To obtain a comprehensive indicator of participants' intelligence, we aggregated the z-standardized scores from all three intelligence measures ($r_{\text{Raven, MWTB}} = .17$, p = .002; $r_{\text{Raven, WMC}} = .19, p < .001; r_{\text{MWTB, WMC}} = .16, p = .004).^{25}$

leadership emergence, $\chi^2(1) = 0.04$, p = .84, and of rivalry on leadership emergence, $\chi^2(1) = 2.76$, p = .10, respectively, between the competitive and cooperative groups.

²⁴ Due to a programming error, Item 36 was not implemented.

²⁵ The intercorrelations between the facets of intelligence were quite low. This might be due to (a) the relatively short measurements and (b) range restrictions because of a student sample. Future replications should use comprehensive measurements in heterogeneous samples.

CHAPTER 3: MAPPING PERSONALITY-LEADERSHIP LINKS

3.1.3.3.3 Physical Attractiveness. Full-body photographs (upright format) and portrait photographs (landscape format) of each participant were taken under standardized conditions and with a neutral facial expression. Six trained coders rated participants' overall physical attractiveness on the basis of the full-body photographs (ICC [2,k] = .82) and the physical attractiveness of participants' faces on the basis of the portrait photographs (ICC [2,k] = .82) and the physical attractiveness of participants' faces on the basis of the portrait photographs (ICC [2,k] = .81). Scales ranged from 1 (*not at all attractive*) to 10 (*very attractive*). Both indicators were substantially correlated (r = .91, p < .001) and aggregated into an overall physical attractiveness score.

3.1.3.3.4 Coded Behaviors. Behaviors were coded on the meso-level, which is positioned between global label ratings (macro-level) and the counting of micro-behaviors (micro-level) because the meso-level allows ratings to be reliable and psychologically meaningful at the same time (Funder et al., 2000). Ratings were made on 6-point scales ranging from 1 (not at all) to 6 (very strongly). Six trained coders²⁶ rated verbal fluency on the basis of the audio footage obtained in the Reading Aloud task ("speaks fluently: speaks fluently; pronunciation matches the content; makes reasonable breaks"; ICC [2,k] = .76). Another six trained coders rated dominant/self-assured behavior ("shows dominant behavior: dominates the social interactions; takes the leading role; exhibits dominant facial expressions and gestures; behaves self-confidently and convincingly"; ICC [2,k] = .92), expressive behavior ("shows expressive behavior: exhibits expressive facial expressions and gestures; is outgoing; shows positive emotions; speaks a lot"; ICC [2,k] = .90), arrogant behavior ("shows arrogant, pretentious behavior: exhibits arrogant facial expressions and gestures; overemphasizes his/her own performance/ability; behaves in an arrogant and conceited way"; ICC [2,k] = .84), and aggressive behavior ("shows aggressive behavior: affects the interaction in an aggressive way; makes aggressive, unsocial comments; shows angry, aggressive facial expressions and gestures; shows annoyed and irritated reactions"; ICC [2,k] = .83), based on the video footage obtained in the Lost on the Moon task. Dominant/self-assured and expressive behavior (r = .93, p < .001) as well as arrogant and aggressive behavior (r = .93, p < .001) were strongly related. Thus, we z-standardized and aggregated them into measures of dominant-expressive behavior and arrogant-aggressive behavior.

²⁶ All behavioral coders were blind to the purpose of the study and were given extensive training to develop a shared understanding and make use of the full range of the scale. Behavioral coding was based on rating sheets that were optimized for the specific interaction task participants were observed in. In addition to providing labels for the behaviors that needed to be coded, the rating sheets included explanations and examples of associated behaviors.

CHAPTER 3: MAPPING PERSONALITY-LEADERSHIP LINKS

3.1.3.3.5 Interpersonal Impressions. Interpersonal impressions stemmed from participants' round-robin ratings after the Lost on the Moon task. Items were answered on 6-point scales ranging from 1 (*does not apply at all*) to 6 (*applies perfectly*). Participants rated each other on perceived assertiveness ("This person is assertive"), trustworthiness ("This person is trustworthy"), intelligence ("This person is intelligent"), and physical attractiveness ("This person is physically attractive"). We computed target effects on the basis of the social relations model (Back & Kenny, 2010; Kenny, 1994) with the TripleR package (version 1.2.1; Schönbrodt et al., 2012) in R (version 3.5.2; R Core Team, 2018) to capture individual differences in being seen as assertive, trustworthy, intelligent, and attractive. Partner effect reliability was .74 for being seen as assertive, .22 for being seen as trustworthy, .54 for being seen as intelligent, and .74 for being seen as attractive.²⁷

3.1.3.3.6 Leadership and Popularity. Leadership emergence ("I can well imagine this person as a leader") and popularity ("I like this person") were measured in a round-robin design after the Lost on the Moon task on 6-point scales. We computed target effects. Partner effect reliability was .66 for leadership emergence and .40 for popularity. For a detailed description of all measures applied in the larger project the data stemmed from, see the Codebook at https://osf.io/4hpuf/.

3.1.3.4 Analytical Approach. First, we calculated bivariate correlations for all variables. To account for the nesting of participants in groups, we used group-mean-centered traits, behavioral ratings, and target effects. We used the correlations to derive (a) general associations between variables, (b) initial support for the predicted pathways, and (c) indications for cross-paths that should be considered in the following analyses.

Subsequently, we computed four multiple mediator models (MMMs; Preacher & Hayes, 2008) building on one another to test the proposed pathways in a stepwise manner: (a) beginning with the agentic and antagonistic narcissism pathways, (b) additionally entering popularity as a second interpersonal evaluation, (c) introducing the intelligence and physical attractiveness pathways, and (d) ending up with a comprehensive model integrating all pathways. To account for the nesting of participants within groups, we used

²⁷ Note that social relations model (Back & Kenny, 2010; Kenny, 1994) reliabilities (a) cannot be directly compared to standard internal consistency coefficients, (b) are typically very low for judgments with small amounts of target variance (although this variance can be meaningfully and replicably related to other variables), (c) are not used to justify that one can continue calculating with individual differences, but that a significant and at least small proportion of variance falls on the component, and (d) are often not reported at all (see Bonito & Kenny, 2010).

group-mean-centered variables. To attain standardized path coefficients and IEs, we *z*-standardized all group-mean-centered variables before we computed the MMMs.

We used the statistical program R and the interface RStudio (version 1.0.136; RStudio Team, 2016) for descriptive analyses, to compute bivariate correlations, and to prepare the data for Mplus. To test for differences between bivariate correlations, we computed Williams' (1959) t (see Hittner et al., 2003) and J. Cohen's (1988) q as corresponding effect size. We specified the MMMs with Mplus Version 8 (Muthén & Muthén, 2017). To test for differences between the path coefficients, we computed z-tests. We used a nonparametric bootstrapping approach implemented in Mplus to compute 95% CIs for the IEs. The number of bootstrap samples was 10,000. To test for differences between IEs, we used bootstrapping. As we formulated one-sided hypotheses for these comparisons, we computed 90% CIs.

We provide supplementary results for all reported models in which we used (a) alternative operationalizations of narcissism by applying the NPI (see Appendix 3.1.A)²⁸ and (b) an alternative analytical approach, namely, multilevel structural equation models (ML-SEMs; e.g., Preacher et al., 2010; Appendix 3.1.B)²⁹. Further, we provide results for the intermediate stages of the reported models (see Appendix 3.1.C). The data and statistical code for all main and supplementary analyses can be found at https://osf.io/4hpuf/.

²⁸ The NARQ is designed to differentiate between agentic and antagonistic narcissism and thus, was most suitable for examining distinct behavioral and perceptual pathways linking narcissism's subdimensions to leadership emergence building on the NARC. However, we also measured narcissism with the NPI (Raskin & Terry, 1988; Schütz et al., 2004) as it has long been the most commonly used measure of nonclinical narcissism (Tamborski & Brown, 2011). We computed each model with three alternative operationalizations of narcissism, that is, each model with (a) admiration and L/A ($\alpha = .70$; Ackerman et al., 2011) aggregated to agentic narcissism, and rivalry and E/E ($\alpha = .36$; Ackerman et al., 2011) aggregated to antagonistic narcissism, (b) the overall NPI-score ($\alpha = .80$) as operationalization of global narcissism, and (c) L/A as operationalization of agentic narcissism and E/E as operationalization of antagonistic narcissism can be traced back to alternatively operationalized narcissism being expressed differently in dominant-expressive and arrogant-aggressive behavior (see Appendix 3.1.A for the detailed results). The agentic and antagonistic narcissism dimension only distinctively triggered the agentic and antagonistic behavioral pathway when using the NARQ, which underlines the utility of the NARC as a recent multidimensional conceptualization of narcissism when examining narcissism's social consequences.

²⁹ Computing MMMs with group-mean-centered variables was appropriate as we were only interested in within-group individual differences and not in between-group differences (leadership emergence concerns differences within groups; see Judge et al., 2002). Also, group-mean-centering of variables prior to modeling is a standard approach that usually leads to the same results as the multilevel approach. Further, several of the variables included in our models had intraclass correlation coefficients (ICCs) below .05 which might cause problems with convergence and unstable or biased estimations of the IEs when using ML-SEMs. In such cases, group-mean-centering should be preferred to multilevel approaches (Preacher et al., 2010). Therefore, we chose to report the MMMs with group-mean-centered variables. However, to demonstrate the robustness of the present findings, we also run Model 1-4 as ML-SEMs. The path coefficients differed marginally when applying the alternative statistical approach (mean difference across all standardized path coefficients for Model 1-4: 0.016, *SD* = 0.014, range = 0.000-0.047). However, some IEs turned non-significant. Nevertheless, the ML-SEMs support the general pattern found in the MMMs. Thus, the inferences drawn do not alter when the alternative statistical approach is applied. For a detailed description of the computational implementation and results of the ML-SEMs see Appendix 3.1.B.

3.1.4 Results

3.1.4.1 Descriptive Statistics and Bivariate Correlations. Descriptive statistics and intercorrelations of the measures we used are displayed in Table 3.1.1 (see Appendix 3.1.D for a table with all measures on the different levels of aggregation). The bivariate correlations provided initial insights into the proposed pathways to leadership emergence. All component variables of the agentic narcissism pathway were positively correlated with each other and with leadership emergence. The same was true for the intelligence and physical attractiveness pathways. Results for the antagonistic narcissism pathway were more ambiguous. Rivalry was not correlated with being seen as untrustworthy or with being seen as a leader. Arrogant-aggressive behavior was positively correlated with being seen as leader, whereas being seen as untrustworthy was negatively correlated with being seen as a leader.

To gain initial insights into the importance of the narcissism pathways regarding leadership emergence and popularity, we compared the correlations of the corresponding interpersonal impressions with being seen as a leader and being liked. In line with our expectation that the agentic narcissism pathway would exert a more positive influence on leadership emergence compared with popularity, being seen as assertive was more strongly positively correlated with being seen as a leader than it was with being liked, $\Delta r = 0.56$, t(292) = 18.05, p < .001, q = 1.04. Conversely, in line with our expectation that the antagonistic narcissism pathway would exert a less negative influence on leadership emergence compared with popularity, being seen as a leader that the antagonistic narcissism pathway would exert a less negative influence on leadership emergence compared with popularity, being seen as untrustworthy had a smaller negative correlation with being seen as a leader than it did with being liked, $\Delta r = -0.38$, t(292) = -8.17, p < .001, q = 0.51.

Finally, the bivariate correlations provided indications for adding two cross-paths between the narcissism pathways (from admiration to arrogant-aggressive behavior and from arrogant-aggressive behavior to being seen as assertive) and one cross-path between the intelligence and attractiveness pathways (from verbal fluency to being seen as attractive) to the MMMs. Adding these cross-paths enabled us to explore more complex effects of narcissism on leadership emergence.

Table 3.1.1

179

Descriptive Statistics and Bivariate Correlations of the Measures Used in the Multiple Mediator Models

	п	М	SD	Min	Max	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13
1. Admiration	297	3.17	0.78	1.11	6.00	-	.29	.06	.10	.12	.12	.08	.22	.01	.12	.14	.14	.08
2. Rivalry	297	2.33	0.74	1.00	4.00		-	08	06	.05	.13	12	06	.10	05	09	08	11
3. Intelligence	311	0.00	0.65	-3.09	1.59			-	02	.26	.16	.43	.19	10	.21	01	.19	.10
4. Physical attractiveness	277	4.73	1.24	1.25	7.92				-	.00	.03	.07	.16	09	.06	.72	.22	.24
5. Dominant-expressive behavior	305	3.02	1.11	1.00	5.75					-	.79	.19	.70	.02	.36	.17	.61	.09
6. Arrogant-aggressive behavior	305	2.07	0.90	1.00	5.50						-	.12	.53	.23	.19	.10	.42	12
7. Verbal fluency	304	3.97	0.73	1.67	5.83							-	.21	03	.12	.17	.23	.13
8. Being seen as assertive	295	3.86	0.79	1.37	5.86								-	18	.58	.37	.88	.32
9. Being seen as untrustworthy	295	2.85	0.54	1.54	5.02									-	46	29	29	67
10. Being seen as intelligent	295	4.39	0.56	2.43	5.62										-	.31	.60	.44
11. Being seen as attractive	295	3.58	0.81	1.23	5.43											-	.44	.53
12. Being seen as a leader	295	3.71	0.77	1.58	5.75												-	.45
13. Being liked	294	4.36	0.57	2.43	5.88													-

Note. Means, standard deviations, and ranges were calculated on raw scores except for intelligence, which was aggregated using *z*-standardized data due to the use of different measurement units in the scales that needed to be summarized. Correlations were calculated on group-mean-centered scores to control for participants being nested in groups.

Correlations in bold were significant at the $p \leq .05$ level.

3.1.4.2 Model Results.

3.1.4.2.1 Model 1: Pathways From Narcissism to Leadership Emergence. The first model (Figure 3.1.2) contains the pathways from agentic and antagonistic narcissism to leadership emergence. As expected, the agentic narcissism pathway exerted a positive influence on leadership emergence: The IE of admiration on being seen as a leader was positive. The antagonistic narcissism pathway did not exert an influence on leadership emergence: The IE of rivalry on being seen as a leader was not significant.

Figure 3.1.2

Results for Model 1: Path Model From Narcissistic Admiration and Rivalry to Leadership Emergence in Social Groups



IE: -.003 [-.007; .000]

Note. Personality traits, expressed behaviors, and interpersonal impressions were allowed to covary among each other (paths are not displayed for the sake of clarity). Results are presented as standardized path coefficients. The 95% confidence intervals of the standardized indirect effects are displayed in brackets. DE = Direct effect. IE = Indirect effect.

Standardized path coefficients, IEs and DEs in bold were significant at the $p \le .05$ level.

As expected, the agentic narcissism pathway exerted a stronger influence on leadership emergence than the antagonistic narcissism pathway: The absolute value of the IE of admiration on being seen as a leader was stronger than the absolute value of the IE of rivalry on being seen as a leader ($\Delta\beta = .065$, 90% CI [.011, .124]). This can be retraced by comparing the corresponding coefficients for each pathway. Admiration was descriptively but not significantly more strongly expressed in dominant-expressive behavior than rivalry was expressed in arrogant-aggressive behavior ($\Delta\beta = .037, z = 0.52, p = .60$). Dominant-expressive behavior was more strongly reflected in being seen as assertive than arrogant-aggressive behavior was reflected in being seen as untrustworthy ($\Delta\beta = .423, z = 4.75, p < .001$). Finally, being seen as assertive was more strongly related to being seen as a leader than being seen as untrustworthy was ($\Delta\beta = .725, z = 15.22, p < .001$).

Even though the bivariate correlations indicated two cross-paths, one from admiration to arrogant-aggressive behavior and the other from arrogant-aggressive behavior to being seen as assertive, neither of the cross-paths was significant. Hence, neither the explored IE of admiration via arrogant-aggressive behavior and being seen as untrustworthy on being seen as a leader ($\beta = -.003,95\%$ CI [-.008, .001]) nor the IE of admiration via arrogant-aggressive behavior and being seen as a leader ($\beta = .001, 95\%$ CI [-.013, .019]) was significant.

3.1.4.2.2 Model 2: Pathways From Narcissism to Leadership Emergence and Popularity. The second model (Figure 3.1.3) also included popularity as an additional interpersonal evaluation. DEs and IEs from the agentic and antagonistic narcissism pathways to leadership emergence and popularity, respectively, are shown in Table 3.1.2. The agentic narcissism pathway still exerted a positive influence on leadership emergence: The IE of admiration on being seen as a leader was almost unchanged compared with Model 1. The path coefficient from being seen as assertive to being seen as a leader was barely affected by the inclusion of popularity. The antagonistic narcissism pathway did not exert an influence on leadership emergence. As expected, the agentic narcissism pathway exerted a stronger influence on leadership emergence than the antagonistic narcissism pathway: The absolute value of the IE of admiration on being seen as a leader was stronger than the absolute value of the IE of rivalry on being seen as a leader ($\Delta\beta = .065, 90\%$ CI [.012 .122]).

Figure 3.1.3

Results for Model 2: Path Model from Narcissistic Admiration and Rivalry to Leadership Emergence and Popularity in Social Groups



Note. Personality traits, expressed behaviors, and interpersonal impressions were allowed to covary among each other (paths are not displayed for the sake of clarity). Results are presented as standardized path coefficients. Standardized path coefficients in bold were significant at the $p \le .05$ level.

Table 3.1.2

Direct and Indirect Effects in Model 2

		Popularity									
				95%	6 CI	-				95%	6 CI
	DE	$p_{ m DE}$	IE	LLIE	ULIE		DE	p_{DE}	IE	LLIE	ULIE
Admiration	053	.080	.065	.004	.135		.063	.22	.015	.001	.037
Rivalry	.012	.65	001	003	.001		055	.25	012	030	.000

Note. DE = Direct effect. IE = Indirect effect. CI = Confidence interval. LL = Lower limit. UL = Upper limit. DEs and IEs in bold were significant at the $p \le .05$ level.

Including popularity allowed us to compare the effects of the pathways from agentic and antagonistic narcissism to leadership emergence and popularity. As expected, the agentic narcissism pathway exerted a more positive influence on leadership emergence than it did on popularity: The IE of admiration on being seen as a leader was more positive than on being liked ($\Delta\beta = 0.050$, 90% CI [0.010, 0.095]). Being seen as assertive influenced being seen as a leader more positively than it influenced being liked ($\Delta\beta = 0.640$, z = 10.19, p < .001). As expected, the antagonistic narcissism pathway exerted a less negative influence on leadership emergence than it did on popularity: The IE of rivalry on being seen as a leader was less negative than the IE of rivalry on being liked ($\Delta\beta = 0.011$, 90% CI [0.002, 0.025]). This difference was significant when testing one-sided but only marginally significant when testing two-sided (95% CI [0.000, 0.028]). Since we have not formally pre-registered our hypotheses, this finding should be interpreted with increased caution. Being seen as untrustworthy

CHAPTER 3: MAPPING PERSONALITY-LEADERSHIP LINKS

influenced being seen as a leader less negatively than it influenced being liked ($\Delta\beta = 0.592$, z = 8.07, p < .001).

3.1.4.2.3 Model 3: Pathways From Intelligence and Physical Attractiveness to Leadership Emergence and Popularity. The third model (Figure 3.1.4) introduced intelligence and physical attractiveness as pathways to leadership emergence. Intelligence and physical attractiveness showed significant IEs on leadership emergence (see Table 3.1.3) underlining the utility of adding these pathways to Model 2 to explore the robustness of the narcissism pathways.

Figure 3.1.4

Results for Model 3: Path Model for Intelligence and Physical Attractiveness as Additional Pathways to Leadership Emergence and Popularity in Social Groups



Note. Interpersonal impressions were allowed to covary among each other (paths are not displayed for the sake of clarity). Results are presented as standardized path coefficients. Standardized path coefficients in bold were significant at the $p \le .05$ level.

Table 3.1.3

Direct and Indirect Effects in Model 3

		Leader	ship eme	ergence			Popularity							
			95% CI						95%	6 CI				
	DE	p_{DE}	IE	LLIE	ULIE	_	DE	p_{DE}	IE	LLIE	ULIE			
Intelligence	.087	.078	.027	.006	.052	-	.046	.42	.016	.003	.032			
Physical	038	.61	.193	.069	.317		159	.015	.386	.289	.480			
attractiveness														

Note. DE = Direct effect. IE = Indirect effect. CI = Confidence interval. LL = Lower limit. UL = Upper limit. DEs and IEs in bold were significant at the $p \le .05$ level.

3.1.4.2.4 Model 4: Pathways From Narcissism, Intelligence, and Physical Attractiveness to Leadership Emergence and Popularity. The fourth model (Figure 3.1.5) contains the pathways from agentic and antagonistic narcissism to leadership emergence and popularity and presents them in relation to the pathways from intelligence and physical

attractiveness. The DEs and IEs of the pathways from agentic and antagonistic narcissism and the pathways from intelligence and physical attractiveness to leadership emergence and popularity, respectively, are shown in Table 3.1.4.

Figure 3.1.5

Results for Model 4: Comprehensive Path Model of Narcissistic Admiration and Rivalry and the Additional Pathways, Intelligence and Physical Attractiveness, to Leadership Emergence and Popularity in Social Groups



Note. Personality traits, expressed behaviors, and interpersonal impressions were allowed to covary among each other (paths are not displayed for the sake of clarity). Results are presented as standardized path coefficients. Standardized path coefficients in bold were significant at the $p \le .05$ level.

Table 3.1.4

Direct and Indirect Effects in Model 4

	_	Leader	ship eme	ergence			Popularity							
				95%	6 CI	-				95%	6 CI			
	DE	p_{DE}	IE	LLIE	ULIE		DE	p_{DE}	IE	LLIE	ULIE			
Admiration	060	.043	.046	.001	.097	-	.032	.52	.003	004	.013			
Rivalry	.016	.54	001	003	.002		030	.51	015	031	001			
Intelligence	.018	.55	.001	002	.005		.024	.62	.001	002	.006			
Physical	.026	.53	.037	026	.099		111	.058	.272	.188	.358			

Note. DE = Direct effect. IE = Indirect effect. CI = Confidence interval. LL = Lower limit. UL = Upper limit. DEs and IEs in bold were significant at the $p \le .05$ level.

The agentic narcissism pathway exerted a positive influence on leadership emergence. By contrast, the antagonistic narcissism pathway and the intelligence and physical attractiveness pathways did not have significant IEs on being seen as a leader. Corresponding to Models 1 and 2, the agentic narcissism pathway exerted a stronger influence on leadership emergence than the antagonistic narcissism pathway: The absolute value of the IE of admiration on being seen as a leader was stronger than the absolute value of the IE of rivalry on being seen as a leader ($\Delta\beta = .045$, 90% CI [.008 .087]). This difference was significant when testing one-sided but only marginally significant when testing two-sided (95% CI [.000, .096]). Since we have not formally pre-registered our hypotheses, this finding should be interpreted with increased caution. Next to being seen as assertive, being seen as intelligent was the only interpersonal impression predicting being seen as a leader. The impact of being seen as assertive was stronger than the impact of being seen as intelligent ($\Delta\beta = .697$, z = 10.51, p < .001).

We explored two alternative pathways from admiration to being seen as a leader to determine whether the narcissism pathways as specified in the NARC (Back et al., 2013) uniquely drive narcissism's effects on leadership emergence. We found positive correlations between dominant-expressive behavior and being seen as intelligent and between dominant-expressive behavior and being seen as attractive (see Table 3.1.1). Indeed, when we added the cross-paths from dominant-expressive behavior to being seen as intelligent ($\beta = .282$, p < .001) and from dominant-expressive behavior to being seen as attractive ($\beta = .130$, p = .003) to Model 4, both became significant. However, the IEs of admiration via dominant-expressive behavior and being seen as a leader ($\beta = .003$, 95% CI [.000 .007]) and of admiration via dominant-expressive behavior and being seen as a leader ($\beta = .001$, 95% CI [-.001 .004]) were not significant.

Comparing the strengths of the influences of the pathways from agentic and antagonistic narcissism, respectively, to leadership emergence and popularity, we found the same pattern as in Model 2. The agentic narcissism pathway exerted a stronger positive influence on leadership emergence than it did on popularity: The IE of admiration on being seen as a leader was more strongly positive than the IE of admiration on being liked ($\Delta\beta = 0.042, 90\%$ CI [0.008, 0.084]). The antagonistic narcissism pathway exerted a less negative influence on leadership emergence than it did on popularity: The IE of rivalry on being seen as a leader was less negative than the IE of rivalry on being liked ($\Delta\beta = 0.014, 90\%$ CI [0.003, 0.027]).

3.1.5 Discussion

We applied the NARC (Back et al., 2013) and the dual-pathway approach (Küfner et al., 2013) as a process-based framework to specify two distinct pathways that linked narcissism to leadership emergence. This allowed us, for the first time, to identify the underlying behavioral processes and interpersonal impressions that explain how narcissists emerge as

CHAPTER 3: MAPPING PERSONALITY-LEADERSHIP LINKS

leaders and to thereby differentiate between recent conceptualizations of agentic and antagonistic narcissism. We applied data from a large multimethodological data set encompassing personality traits, expressed behaviors in a realistic interaction setting, and interpersonal impressions measured as round-robin ratings and combined these variables in comprehensive, process-oriented models. This approach enabled us to demonstrate (a) how narcissists emerge as leaders in social groups, (b) how different aspects of narcissism have diverging impacts on leadership emergence and popularity, and (c) the robustness of the narcissism pathways.

3.1.5.1 How Do Narcissists Emerge as Leaders? As hypothesized, agentic narcissism (which encompasses the self-enhancing aspects of narcissism) was positively related to leadership emergence. This finding corresponds to previous findings of positive associations between the more agentic facets of narcissism and leadership emergence (Brunell et al., 2008; Carlson & DesJardins, 2015; Paunonen et al., 2006). Here, we zoomed in on the underlying interpersonal processes and provided an explanation: Participants high on narcissistic admiration behaved in a dominant-expressive manner; therefore, they were seen as assertive, which in turn predicted evaluations of being seen as a leader. Thus, this agentic narcissism pathway seems to encompass behaviors and interpersonal impressions that fit people's views about the prototypical leader (Foti et al., 1982; Lord et al., 1986, 1984; Offermann et al., 1994; Shondrick et al., 2010).

The antagonistic narcissism pathway (which encompasses the other-derogating aspects of narcissism), by contrast, did not exert a meaningful influence on leadership emergence, and the influence of the agentic narcissism pathway on leadership emergence was substantially stronger. Even though narcissistic rivalry was expressed in arrogant-aggressive behavior that predicted being seen as untrustworthy, which in turn was negatively related to leadership emergence, the separate effects were too weak for the entire pathway to be influential. This finding corresponds to the lack of clear evidence of effects of antagonistic narcissism on leadership emergence. Studies on the relations between the antagonistic facets of narcissism and leadership emergence have found diverging results (Brunell et al., 2008; Carlson & DesJardins, 2015; Paunonen et al., 2006). Constructs related to rivalry (e.g., disagreeableness) have been shown to be unrelated to leadership emergence (e.g., Ensari et al., 2011; Judge et al., 2002; Taggar et al., 1999). However, the lack of support for a positive effect of antagonistic narcissism is not in line with the dominance pathway (e.g., Cheng et al., 2013).

3.1.5.2 Contrasting Effects With Popularity. In line with interpersonal theory and agency and communion frameworks (Bakan, 1966; Dufner et al., 2016; R. Hogan, 1982;

Hopwood, 2018; Kiesler, 1983; Wiggins, 1991; Wojciszke et al., 2009), the agentic narcissism pathway exerted a more positive influence on leadership emergence than it did on popularity, and the antagonistic narcissism pathway exerted a less negative influence on leadership emergence than it did on popularity. This differentiated pattern of effects could be traced back to (a) assertiveness perceptions being more important for leadership and (b) trustworthiness perceptions being more important for popularity. Thus, leadership and popularity are distinct indicators of social value that are attained in different ways: Group members systematically value different characteristics (i.e., assertiveness vs. trustworthiness) when deciding who should become their leader versus who they like. This matches Carlson and Desjardins' (2015) finding that narcissists initially attain status in social groups despite not being pathways that are differently linked to emerging as a leader and being liked.

3.1.5.3 Robustness of the Narcissism Pathways. Considering other powerful predictors of leadership emergence (i.e., popularity, intelligence, and physical attractiveness), not only did the agentic narcissism pathway remain a meaningful predictor of leadership emergence, but it also appeared to be the most robust one. This finding is noteworthy in view of the substantial amount of literature emphasizing the importance of intelligence (e.g., Ensari et al., 2011; Judge et al., 2004; Lord et al., 1986) and physical attractiveness (e.g., Hochschild & Borch, 2011; Poutvaara, 2014) for leadership emergence, connections that were also suggested by ILTs (Offermann et al., 1994). Thus, the agentic narcissism pathway appears to be a robust and substantial path to leadership emergence (see also Grosz et al., 2020).

3.1.5.4 Implications for Understanding Grandiose Narcissism. Our findings go along with the emerging consensus on a multidimensional conceptualization of grandiose narcissism encompassing agentic and antagonistic aspects (Back, 2018; Back et al., 2013; Brown et al., 2009; Krizan & Herlache, 2018; Miller et al., 2016), which have been shown to have diverging effects on a broad spectrum of social outcomes, such as interpersonal liking (Küfner et al., 2013; Lange et al., 2016; Leckelt et al., 2015; Leckelt, Geukes, et al., 2019), dating outcomes (Wurst et al., 2017), and financial and occupational success (Leckelt, Richter, Schröder, et al., 2019; Leckelt, Richter, Wetzel, et al., 2019). Our results extend this research by showing that a detailed examination of the behavioral, interpersonal perception, and evaluation processes helps provide a better understanding of the relationship between narcissism and leadership emergence. Our results also provide further evidence for the validity of the NARC (Back et al., 2013). Admiration uniquely triggered the agentic narcissism pathway, whereas rivalry uniquely triggered the antagonistic narcissism pathway. None of the

alternative pathways we explored via cross-paths between the examined pathways were significant in determining leadership emergence. Thus, it was uniquely the agentic narcissism pathway as specified in the NARC that predicted leadership emergence.

3.1.5.5 Implications for Understanding Leadership Emergence in Social Groups. We also identified general processes for successful leadership emergence in social groups. Four interpersonal impressions predicted leadership emergence (i.e., being seen as assertive, untrustworthy, intelligent, or attractive) with being seen as assertive (and to a smaller extent being seen as intelligent) as the most important and robust precursor of leadership emergence. We do not claim that individuals need to be narcissistic in order to evoke such perceptions and emerge as leaders. There are other personality traits (e.g., extraversion) that elicit dominant-expressive behavior and thus foster impressions of assertiveness. Analogously, there are several traits and corresponding expressed behaviors that yield impressions of intelligence. Indeed, even though we found that being seen as intelligent was a unique predictor of leadership emergence, the intelligence pathway was not meaningful in the context of the other pathways. Consequently, it might be more important to appear intelligent than to actually be intelligent in order to emerge as leader (see Rubin et al., 2002).

These general findings are highly relevant as they allowed us to identify discrepancies between variables that facilitate the ability to emerge versus to perform effectively as a leader, which might be used to improve processes of leadership emergence by shifting the focus to variables that are crucial for leadership effectiveness. For instance, research has suggested a curvilinear relationship between assertiveness and leadership effectiveness (Ames & Flynn, 2007). Thus, whereas being seen as highly assertive was best for emerging as a leader, a moderate level of assertiveness might be best for performing effectively as a leader. Likewise, whereas we found that being seen as untrustworthy was not a good predictor of leadership emergence, research has suggested that trust is important for leadership effectiveness (Ferrin & Dirks, 2002).

3.1.5.6 Limitations and Future Directions. First, the role of the level of acquaintance in a given social context should be considered more closely when examining the effect of narcissism on leadership emergence jointly with its effect on leadership effectiveness (see Ong et al., 2016). According to the contextual reinforcement model (CRM; Campbell & Campbell, 2009), narcissism is often associated with positive social consequences in the short-term and with negative social consequences in the long-term. In the domains of peer popularity and romantic relationships, Leckelt et al. (2015) and Wurst et al. (2017), respectively, found that narcissistic admiration and rivalry explained this timely pattern (see also Back et al., 2018).

Admiration tends to dominate in social contexts that prevail in the early stages of social relationships (e.g., one-sided self-presentations), leading primarily to positive social consequences, such as being liked (Back et al., 2010; Küfner et al., 2013; Leckelt et al., 2015; Paulhus, 1998) and initial romantic attraction (Wurst et al., 2017). As time passes, however, rivalry becomes more important because it dominates in the social contexts that prevail in the later stages of social relationships (e.g., intimate interactions), leading to more negative social consequences, such as being disliked (Küfner et al., 2013; Leckelt et al., 2015; Paulhus, 1998) and problems in romantic relationships (Wurst et al., 2017). It would be interesting to investigate how exactly our pattern of findings might change in the advanced stages of group processes in which group members already provide behavioral indicators of more or less effective leadership, potentially affecting who is selected as a leader in the end. Indeed, research has provided initial indications that antagonistic narcissism might have a negative impact on leadership emergence in the later stages of group processes (see Carlson & DesJardins, 2015; Paunonen et al., 2006).

Second, operationalizing leadership emergence as being seen as a leader by group members ("I can well imagine this person as a leader") might be especially applicable to situations in which group members jointly decide who should become the leader of their group. Individuals may then vote for the group member who is perceived to possess characteristics that reflect those of the prototypical leader (Foti et al., 1982; Lord et al., 1984, 1986; Offermann et al., 1994; Shondrick et al., 2010). However, in situations in which leaders emerge less on the basis of group consensus but rather by exerting influence over the group, operationalizations of leadership emergence that focus on actually exerted influence (e.g., "This person led the group") might be more important. Here, it might even be the case that the antagonistic narcissism pathway contributes to leadership emergence in the same way that behaving in an arrogant-aggressive manner can lead to exhibiting influence in social groups (see Cheng & Tracy, 2014; Cheng et al., 2010, 2013; Maner & Case, 2016; Witkower et al., 2020). This might (partly) explain the diverging results in which the antagonistic narcissism pathway did not predict leadership emergence in the present study and the dominance pathway positively predicted leadership emergence (e.g., Cheng et al., 2013). Future studies might thus use peer ratings that assess (a) perceived suitability as a leader and (b) perceived exerted influence and complement these measures with more objective measures (e.g., visual attention; see Cheng et al., 2013; Maner et al., 2008).

Third, future research should compartmentalize and add behaviors and interpersonal impressions. Compartmentalizing behaviors using a bottom-up approach might reveal which

CHAPTER 3: MAPPING PERSONALITY-LEADERSHIP LINKS

specific verbal (e.g., commanding/combative comments), paraverbal (e.g., dominant/ aggressive tone), and nonverbal (e.g., dominant pointing gestures, staring others down) behavioral indicators are particularly important for the link between narcissism and leadership emergence. To address such questions, (a) more heterogenous samples might be recruited because certain behaviors have been suggested to be expressed more strongly in heterogenous groups (e.g., dominant behaviors; Chatman & Flynn, 2001), and (b) situations that trigger behavioral differences might be examined (Tett & Guterman, 2000; e.g., experimental manipulations that induce ego threat might enhance antagonistic behaviors; see Bushman & Baumeister, 2002; Heatherton & Vohs, 2000; Horton & Sedikides, 2009; Kernis & Sun, 1994). Compartmentalizing (e.g., trustworthiness into its subdimensions ability, benevolence, and integrity; see Mayer et al., 1995) and adding interpersonal impressions (e.g., fear; see Cheng et al., 2010, 2013; tough-mindedness, cold-heartedness) seems particularly promising for clarifying the influence of the antagonistic narcissism pathway by capturing additional variance.

Fourth, it would be interesting to examine whether the present results generalize to real-life groups across contexts (e.g., work and study groups, sports teams) in which there is a great deal at stake (e.g., financial bonuses, grades, athletic success). Group members might (a) express behaviors differently (e.g., employees might be highly motivated to contribute to their work group) and (b) evaluate interpersonal impressions differently (e.g., employees who often work together on important long-running projects might value trustworthiness; see Ferrin & Dirks, 2002). Also, group dynamics might vary with group size; for instance, in larger groups, interruptions might occur more often and increase the potential for conflict (Hare, 1981), thus triggering the antagonistic narcissism pathway. Complementing the detailed observation of specific interaction tasks (e.g., video-taped interactions) with more continuous assessments of interaction dynamics across time (e.g., experience-sampled interaction partner reports; Harari et al., 2016; see also Leckelt et al., 2019) would be another promising approach that could be applied to better understand narcissistic leadership emergence across social groups and contexts (see also Wrzus & Mehl, 2015).

Finally, future studies might investigate contextual moderators of the narcissism pathways to clarify the influence of the antagonistic narcissism pathway. Antagonistic narcissism might have a more positive effect on leadership emergence in contexts in which (a) competitiveness is emphasized³⁰, (b) antagonistic behaviors are instrumental for the group's

³⁰ In the present study participants were randomly assigned to competitive versus cooperative groups (see footnote 23). Even though an explorative multiple-group analysis showed no significant difference of the effect of

success, and (c) inducing fear is possible. According to ILTs, people may adapt their leader prototypes on the basis of the context (Lord et al., 2001). Thus, in competitive contexts that call for toughness and strength, leader attributes such as tyranny might be valued, whereas sensitivity might be less valued (DesJardins et al., 2015). According to functionalist theories and the micropolitics model (C. Anderson & Cowan, 2014; C. Anderson & Kennedy, 2012), individuals will attain status if they are perceived as contributing to the group (Willer, 2009). With regard to intragroup constellations, narcissists might direct their aggressiveness toward low contributors (Böckler et al., 2017), eradicate social loafing behavior, and in doing so contribute to the group (Boyd & Richerson, 1992). With regard to intergroup situations, in the presence of intergroup competition, dominant-aggressive leaders were found to prioritize their own group's success (Maner & Case, 2016), antagonistic behaviors were found to be used to defend ingroup interests (Laustsen & Petersen, 2017), and deviant-extreme leaders were found to be preferred (Chang et al., 2015). According to the dominance-prestige account (Henrich & Gil-White, 2001), aggressive behaviors might contribute to leadership emergence by inducing fear (Cheng et al., 2010, 2013; Cheng & Tracy, 2014), which should be effective in contexts in which the aggressor holds threat potential (e.g., withdrawal of resources).

3.1.5.7 Conclusion. In the present study, we zoomed in on the behavioral, perceptual, and evaluative processes underlying narcissistic leadership emergence. The present research provides clear evidence for differentiated effects of agentic and antagonistic narcissism. Whereas agentic narcissism positively predicted leadership emergence via dominant-expressive behaviors and being seen as assertive, antagonistic narcissism did not predict leadership emergence. These effects were distinct from effects on popularity and held when the intelligence and physical attractiveness pathways were also included. Applying a two-dimensional process-based understanding of grandiose narcissism seems to be a fruitful avenue for future research on leadership emergence.

rivalry on leadership emergence in competitive versus cooperative groups, the correlation between rivalry and leadership emergence was more positive in competitive groups (r = .02, p = .78) than in cooperative groups (r = .17, p = .049). This might be an initial indicator for a more positive effect of the antagonistic narcissism pathway when competitiveness is emphasized and should be followed up by future research that is specifically designed to unravel the enigmatic role antagonistic narcissism plays for leadership emergence.

CHAPTER 3: MAPPING PERSONALITY-LEADERHIPS LINKS

3.1.6 References

- Abele, A. E., Cuddy, A. J. C., Judd, C. M., & Yzerbyt, V. Y. (2008). Fundamental dimensions of social judgment. *European Journal of Social Psychology*, 38(7), 1063–1065. https://doi.org/10.1002/ejsp.574
- Abele, A. E., & Wojciszke, B. (2007). Agency and communion from the perspective of self versus others. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 93(5), 751–763. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.93.5.751

Ackerman, R. A., Witt, E. A., Donnellan, M. B., Trzesniewski, K. H., Robins, R. W., & Kashy, D. A. (2011). What does the Narcissistic Personality Inventory really measure? *Assessment*, 18(1), 67–87. https://doi.org/10.1177/1073191110382845

- Ahmetoglu, G., Dobbs, S., Furnham, A., Crump, J., Chamorro-Premuzic, T., & Bakhshalian, E. (2016). Dark side of personality, intelligence, creativity, and managerial level. *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, 31(2), 391–404. https://doi.org/10.1108/JMP-03-2013-0096
- Ames, D. R., & Flynn, F. J. (2007). What breaks a leader: The curvilinear relation between assertiveness and leadership. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 92(2), 307–324. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.92.2.307
- Anderson, C., & Cowan, J. (2014). Personality and status attainment: A micropolitics perspective. In J. T. Cheng, J. L. Tracy, & C. Anderson (Eds.), *The psychology of social status* (pp. 99–117). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4939-0867-7 5
- Anderson, C., Hildreth, J. A. D., & Howland, L. (2015). Is the desire for status a fundamental human motive? A review of the empirical literature. *Psychological Bulletin*, 141(3), 574–601. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0038781
- Anderson, C., John, O. P., Keltner, D., & Kring, A. M. (2001). Who attains social status? Effects of personality and physical attractiveness in social groups. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 81(1), 116–132. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.81.1.116
- Anderson, C., & Kennedy, J. A. (2012). Micropolitics: A new model of status hierarchies in teams. In M. A. Neale & E. A. Mannix (Eds.), *Research on managing groups and teams* (Vol. 15, pp. 49–80). Emerald Group Publishing Limited. https://doi.org/10.1108/S1534-0856(2012)0000015006
- Anderson, C., Spataro, S. E., & Flynn, F. J. (2008). Personality and organizational culture as determinants of influence. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 93(3), 702–710. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.93.3.70
- Anderson, N. H. (1968). Likableness ratings of 555 personality-trait words. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 9(3), 272–279. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0025907
- Back, M. D. (2018). The narcissistic admiration and rivalry concept. In A. D. Hermann, A. B. Brunell, & J. D. Foster (Eds.), *Handbook of trait narcissism: Key advances, research methods, and controversies* (pp. 57–67). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-92171-6_6.
- Back, M. D., Baumert, A., Denissen, J. J. A., Hartung, F.-M., Penke, L., Schmukle, S. C., Schönbrodt, F. D., Schröder-Abé, M., Vollmann, M., Wagner, J., & Wrzus, C. (2011).
 PERSOC: A unified framework for understanding the dynamic interplay of personality and social relationships. *European Journal of Personality*, 25(2), 90–107. https://doi.org/10.1002/per.811
- Back, M. D., & Kenny, D. A. (2010). The social relations model: How to understand dyadic processes. Social and Personality Psychology Compass, 4(10), 855–870. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1751-9004.2010.00303.x
- Back, M. D., Küfner, A. C. P., Dufner, M., Gerlach, T. M., Rauthmann, J. F., & Denissen, J. J. A. (2013). Narcissistic admiration and rivalry: Disentangling the bright and dark

sides of narcissism. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *105*(6), 1013–1037. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0034431

- Back, M. D., Küfner, A. C. P., & Leckelt, M. (2018). Early impressions of grandiose narcissists: A dual-pathway perspective. In Anthony D. Hermann, A. B. Brunell, & J. D. Foster (Eds.), *Handbook of trait narcissism: Key advances, research methods, and controversies* (pp. 309–316). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-92171-6_33
- Back, M. D., Schmukle, S. C., & Egloff, B. (2010). Why are narcissists so charming at first sight? Decoding the narcissism–popularity link at zero acquaintance. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 98(1), 132–145. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0016338
- Bakan, D. (1966). The duality of human existence: An essay on psychology and religion. Rand McNally. https://doi.org/10.1002/1520-6696(196801)4:1%3C88::AID-JHBS2300040115%3E3.0.CO;2-E
- Benson, A. J., Jordan, C. H., & Christie, A. M. (2016). Narcissistic reactions to subordinate role assignment: The case of the narcissistic follower. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 42(7), 985–999. https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167216649608
- Böckler, A., Sharifi, M., Kanske, P., Dziobek, I., & Singer, T. (2017). Social decision making in narcissism: Reduced generosity and increased retaliation are driven by alterations in perspective-taking and anger. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 104, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2016.07.020
- Bottger, P. C. (1984). Expertise and air time as bases of actual and perceived influence in problem-solving groups. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *69*(2), 214–221. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.69.2.214
- Boyd, R., & Richerson, P. J. (1992). Punishment allows the evolution of cooperation (or anything else) in sizable groups. *Ethology and Sociobiology*, *13*(3), 171–195. https://doi.org/10.1016/0162-3095(92)90032-Y
- Bradlee, P. M., & Emmons, R. A. (1992). Locating narcissism within the interpersonal circumplex and the five-factor model. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 13(7), 821–830. https://doi.org/10.1016/0191-8869(92)90056-U
- Braun, S. (2017). Leader narcissism and outcomes in organizations: A review at multiple levels of analysis and implications for future research. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 8(773), 1–22. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2017.00773
- Brown, R. P., Budzek, K., & Tamborski, M. (2009). On the meaning and measure of narcissism. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, *35*(7), 951–964. https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167209335461
- Brunell, A. B., Gentry, W. A., Campbell, W. K., Hoffman, B. J., Kuhnert, K. W., & DeMarree, K. G. (2008). Leader emergence: The case of the narcissistic leader. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 34(12), 1663–1676. https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167208324101
- Bushman, B. J., & Baumeister, R. F. (2002). Does self-love or self-hate lead to violence? Journal of Research in Personality, 36(6), 543–545. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-6566(02)00502-0
- Campbell, W. K., & Campbell, S. M. (2009). On the self-regulatory dynamics created by the peculiar benefits and costs of narcissism: A contextual reinforcement model and examination of leadership. *Self and Identity*, 8(2–3), 214–232. https://doi.org/10.1080/15298860802505129
- Campbell, W. K., Goodie, A. S., & Foster, J. D. (2004). Narcissism, confidence, and risk attitude. *Journal of Behavioral Decision Making*, *17*(4), 297–311. https://doi.org/10.1002/bdm.475
- Carlson, E. N., & DesJardins, N. M. L. (2015). Do mean guys always finish first or just say that they do? Narcissists' awareness of their social status and popularity over time.

CHAPTER 3: MAPPING PERSONALITY-LEADERSHIP LINKS

Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin, *41*(7), 901–917. https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167215581712

- Carroll, L. (1987). A study of narcissism, affiliation, intimacy, and power motives among students in business administration. *Psychological Reports*, *61*(2), 355–358. https://doi.org/10.2466/pr0.1987.61.2.355
- Chang, J. W., Turan, N., & Chow, R. M. (2015). A desire for deviance: The influence of leader normativeness and inter-group competition on group member support. *Journal* of Experimental Social Psychology, 56, 36–49. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jesp.2014.08.006
- Chatman, J. A., & Flynn, F. J. (2001). The influence of demographic heterogeneity on the emergence and consequences of cooperative norms in work teams. Academy of Management Journal, 44(5), 956–974. https://doi.org/10.5465/3069440
- Cheng, J. T., & Tracy, J. L. (2014). Toward a unified science of hierarchy: Dominance and prestige are two fundamental pathways to human social rank. In J. T. Cheng, J. L. Tracy, & C. Anderson (Eds.), *The psychology of social status* (pp. 3–27). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4939-0867-7_1.
- Cheng, J. T., Tracy, J. L., Foulsham, T., Kingstone, A., & Henrich, J. (2013). Two ways to the top: Evidence that dominance and prestige are distinct yet viable avenues to social rank and influence. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 104(1), 103–125. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0030398
- Cheng, J. T., Tracy, J. L., & Henrich, J. (2010). Pride, personality, and the evolutionary foundations of human social status. *Evolution and Human Behavior*, *31*(5), 334–347. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.evolhumbehav.2010.02.004
- Cohen, J. (1988). *Statistical power analysis for the behavioral sciences* (2nd ed.). Lawrence Erlbaum Associates Publishers.
- Cohen, S. (1993). New approaches to teams and teamwork. In J. Galbraith & E. E. Lawler III. (Eds.), *Organizing for the future: The new logic for managing complex organisations* (pp. 194–226). Jossey-Bass.
- Crowe, M. L., Lynam, D. R., Campbell, W. K., & Miller, J. D. (2019). Exploring the structure of narcissism: Toward an integrated solution. *Journal of Personality*, 87(6), 1151–1169. https://doi.org/10.1111/jopy.12464
- Deluga, R. J. (1997). Relationship among American presidential charismatic leadership, narcissism, and rated performance. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 8(1), 49–65. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1048-9843(97)90030-8
- Denissen, J. J. A., Schönbrodt, F. D., Van Zalk, M., Meeus, W. H. J., & Van Aken, M. A. G. (2011). Antecedents and consequences of peer-rated intelligence. *European Journal of Personality*, 25(2), 108–119. https://doi.org/10.1002/per.799
- DesJardins, N. M. L., Srivastava, S., Küfner, A. C. P., & Back, M. D. (2015). Who attains status? Similarities and differences across social contexts. *Social Psychological and Personality Science*, 6(6), 692–700. https://doi.org/10.1177/1948550615580171
- Dufner, M., Leising, D., & Gebauer, J. E. (2016). Which basic rules underlie social judgments? Agency follows a zero-sum principle and communion follows a non-zerosum principle. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 42(5), 677–687. https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167216640902
- Dufner, M., Rauthmann, J. F., Czarna, A. Z., & Denissen, J. J. A. (2013). Are narcissists sexy? Zeroing in on the effect of narcissism on short-term mate appeal. *Personality* and Social Psychology Bulletin, 39(7), 870–882. https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167213483580

- Dumas, J. E., Johnson, M., & Lynch, A. M. (2002). Likableness, familiarity, and frequency of 844 person-descriptive words. *Personality and Individual Differences*, *32*(3), 523–531. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0191-8869(01)00054-X
- Emmons, R. A. (1984). Factor analysis and construct validity of the Narcissistic Personality Inventory. *Journal of Personality Assessment*, 48(3), 291–300. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15327752jpa4803_11
- Ensari, N., Riggio, R. E., Christian, J., & Carslaw, G. (2011). Who emerges as a leader? Meta-analyses of individual differences as predictors of leadership emergence. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 51(4), 532–536. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2011.05.017
- Epitropaki, O., & Martin, R. (2004). Implicit leadership theories in applied settings: Factor structure, generalizability, and stability over time. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 89(2), 293–310. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.89.2.293
- Ferrin, D. L., & Dirks, K. T. (2002). Trust in leadership: Meta-analytic findings and implications for research and practice. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 87(4), 611– 628. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.87.4.611
- Foti, R. J., Fraser, S. L., & Lord, R. G. (1982). Effects of leadership labels and prototypes on perceptions of political leaders. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 67(3), 326–333. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.67.3.326
- Funder, D. C., Furr, R. M., & Colvin, C. R. (2000). The Riverside Behavioral Q-sort: A tool for the description of social behavior. *Journal of Personality*, 68(3), 451–489. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-6494.00103
- Gardner, J. W. (2007). The nature of leadership. In M. Fullan (Ed.), *The Jossey-Bass reader* on educational leadership (2nd ed., pp. 17–26). Jossey-Bass.
- Geukes, K., Breil, S. M., Hutteman, R., Nestler, S., Küfner, A., & Back, M. D. (2019). Explaining the longitudinal interplay of personality and social relationships in the laboratory and in the field: The PILS and the CONNECT study. *PLoS ONE*, *14*(1), e0210424. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0210424
- Glover, N., Miller, J. D., Lynam, D. R., Crego, C., & Widiger, T. A. (2012). The Five-Factor Narcissism Inventory: A five-factor measure of narcissistic personality traits. *Journal* of Personality Assessment, 94(5), 500–512. https://doi.org/10.1080/00223891.2012.670680
- Grapsas, E., Brummelman, E., Back, M. D., & Denissen, J. J. A. (2018). The "why" and "how" of narcissism: A process model of narcissistic status pursuit. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, 15(1), 150–172. https://doi.org/10.1177/1745691619873350
- Grijalva, E., Harms, P. D., Newman, D. A., Gaddis, B. H., & Fraley, R. C. (2015). Narcissism and leadership: A meta-analytic review of linear and nonlinear relationships. *Personnel Psychology*, 68(1), 1–47. https://doi.org/10.1111/peps.12072
- Grosz, M. P., Leckelt, M., & Back, M. D. (2020). Personality predictors of social status attainment. *Current Opinion in Psychology*, *33*, 52–56. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copsyc.2019.07.023
- Harari, G. M., Lane, N. D., Wang, R., Crosier, B. S., Campbell, A. T., & Gosling, S. D. (2016). Using smartphones to collect behavioral data in psychological science: Opportunities, practical considerations, and challenges. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, 11(6), 838–854. https://doi.org/10.1177/1745691616650285
- Hare, A. P. (1981). Group size. *American Behavioral Scientist*, 24(5), 695–708. https://doi.org/10.1177/000276428102400507
- Harms, P. D., Spain, S. M., & Hannah, S. T. (2011). Leader development and the dark side of personality. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 22(3), 495–509. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2011.04.007

- Heatherton, T. F., & Vohs, K. D. (2000). Interpersonal evaluations following threats to self: Role of self-esteem. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 78(4), 725–736. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.78.4.725
- Henrich, J., & Gil-White, F. J. (2001). The evolution of prestige: Freely conferred deference as a mechanism for enhancing the benefits of cultural transmission. *Evolution and Human Behavior*, 22(3), 165–196. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1090-5138(00)00071-4
- Hittner, J. B., May, K., & Silver, N. C. (2003). A Monte Carlo evaluation of tests for comparing dependent correlations. *The Journal of General Psychology*, 130(2), 149– 168. https://doi.org/10.1080/00221300309601282
- Hochschild Jr., T. R., & Borch, C. (2011). About face: The association between facial appearance and status attainment among military personnel. *Sociological Spectrum*, *31*(3), 369–395. https://doi.org/10.1080/02732173.2011.557132
- Hogan, J., & Holland, B. (2003). Using theory to evaluate personality and job-performance relations: A socioanalytic perspective. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 88(1), 100– 112. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.88.1.100
- Hogan, R. (1982). A socioanalytic theory of personality. In M. M. Page (Ed.), *1982 Nebraska symposium on motivation* (pp. 55–89). University of Nebraska Press.
- Hogan, R., Curphy, G. J., & Hogan, J. (1994). What we know about leadership: Effectiveness and personality. *American Psychologist*, 49(6), 493–504. https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.49.6.493
- Hollander, E. P., & Webb, W. B. (1955). Leadership, followership, and friendship: An analysis of peer nominations. *The Journal of Abnormal and Social Psychology*, 50(2), 163–167. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0044322
- Holtzman, N. S., & Strube, M. J. (2010). Narcissism and attractiveness. *Journal of Research in Personality*, 44(1), 133–136. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrp.2009.10.004
- Hopwood, C. J. (2018). Interpersonal dynamics in personality and personality disorders. *European Journal of Personality*, 32(5), 499–524. https://doi.org/10.1002/per.2155
- Horton, R. S., & Sedikides, C. (2009). Narcissistic responding to ego threat: When the status of the evaluator matters. *Journal of Personality*, 77(5), 1493–1526. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-6494.2009.00590.x
- Judge, T. A., Bono, J. E., Ilies, R., & Gerhardt, M. W. (2002). Personality and leadership: A qualitative and quantitative review. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 87(4), 765–780. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.87.4.765
- Judge, T. A., Colbert, A. E., & Ilies, R. (2004). Intelligence and leadership: A quantitative review and test of theoretical propositions. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 89(3), 542–552. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.89.3.542
- Kalma, A. P., Visser, L., & Peeters, A. (1993). Sociable and aggressive dominance: Personality differences in leadership style? *The Leadership Quarterly*, 4(1), 45–64. https://doi.org/10.1016/1048-9843(93)90003-C
- Kenny, D. A. (1994). Interpersonal perception: A social relations analysis. Guilford Press.
- Kernis, M. H., & Sun, C.-R. (1994). Narcissism and reactions to interpersonal feedback. *Journal of Research in Personality*, 28(1), 4–13. https://doi.org/10.1006/jrpe.1994.1002
- Khoo, H. S., & Burch, G. S. J. (2008). The 'dark side' of leadership personality and transformational leadership: An exploratory study. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 44(1), 86–97. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2007.07.018
- Kiesler, D. J. (1983). The 1982 interpersonal circle: A taxonomy for complementarity in human transactions. *Psychological Review*, 90(3), 185–214. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-295X.90.3.185

- Krizan, Z., & Herlache, A. D. (2018). The narcissism spectrum model: A synthetic view of narcissistic personality. *Personality and Social Psychology Review*, 22(1), 3–31. https://doi.org/10.1177/1088868316685018
- Kubarych, T. S., Deary, I. J., & Austin, E. J. (2004). The Narcissistic Personality Inventory: Factor structure in a non-clinical sample. *Personality and Individual Differences*, *36*(4), 857–872. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0191-8869(03)00158-2
- Küfner, A. C. P., Nestler, S., & Back, M. D. (2013). The two pathways to being an (un-)popular narcissist. *Journal of Personality*, 81(2), 184–195. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-6494.2012.00795.x
- Lange, J., Crusius, J., & Hagemeyer, B. (2016). The evil queen's dilemma: Linking narcissistic admiration and rivalry to benign and malicious envy. *European Journal of Personality*, 30(2), 168–188. https://doi.org/10.1002/per.2047
- Laustsen, L., & Petersen, M. B. (2017). Perceived conflict and leader dominance: Individual and contextual factors behind preferences for dominant leaders. *Political Psychology*, *38*(6), 1083–1101. https://doi.org/10.1111/pops.12403
- Lawler, E. E., III., Mohrman, S. A., & Ledford, G. E. (1995). Creating high performance organizations: Survey of practices and results of employee involvement and total quality management in Fortune 1000 companies (2nd ed.). Jossey-Bass.
- Leckelt, M., Geukes, K., Küfner, A. C. P., Niemeyer, L. M., Hutteman, R., Osterholz, S., Egloff, B., Nestler, S., & Back, M. D. (2019). A longitudinal field investigation of narcissism and popularity over time: How agentic and antagonistic aspects of narcissism shape the development of peer relationships. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin.* https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167219872477
- Leckelt, M., Küfner, A. C. P., Nestler, S., & Back, M. D. (2015). Behavioral processes underlying the decline of narcissists' popularity over time. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *109*(5), 856–871. https://doi.org/10.1037/pspp0000057
- Leckelt, M., Richter, D., Schröder, C., Küfner, A. C. P., Grabka, M. M., & Back, M. D. (2019). The rich are different: Unravelling the perceived and self-reported personality profiles of high-net-worth individuals. *British Journal of Psychology*, *110*(4), 769– 789. https://doi.org/10.1111/bjop.12360
- Leckelt, M., Richter, D., Wetzel, E., & Back, M. D. (2019). Longitudinal associations of narcissism with interpersonal, intrapersonal, and institutional outcomes: An investigation using a representative sample of the German population. *Collabra: Psychology*, 5(1), 26. https://doi.org/10.1525/collabra.248
- Lee, K., & Ashton, M. C. (2005). Psychopathy, machiavellianism, and narcissism in the fivefactor model and the HEXACO model of personality structure. *Personality and Individual Differences*, *38*(7), 1571–1582. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2004.09.016
- Lee, M. Y., & Edmondson, A. C. (2017). Self-managing organizations: Exploring the limits of less-hierarchical organizing. *Research in Organizational Behavior*, 37, 35–58. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.riob.2017.10.002
- Lehrl, S. (2005). MWT-B-Mehrfachwahl-Wortschatz-Intelligenztest. Hogrefe.
- Limon, M. S., & La France, B. H. (2005). Communication traits and leadership emergence: Examining the impact of argumentativeness, communication apprehension, and verbal aggressiveness in work groups. *Southern Communication Journal*, 70(2), 123–133. https://doi.org/10.1080/10417940509373318
- Lord, R. G., Brown, D. J., Harvey, J. L., & Hall, R. J. (2001). Contextual constraints on prototype generation and their multilevel consequences for leadership perceptions. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 12(3), 311–338. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1048-9843(01)00081-9

- Lord, R. G., De Vader, C. L., & Alliger, G. M. (1986). A meta-analysis of the relation between personality traits and leadership perceptions: An application of validity generalization procedures. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 71(3), 402–410. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.71.3.402
- Lord, R. G., Foti, R. J., & De Vader, C. L. (1984). A test of leadership categorization theory: Internal structure, information processing, and leadership perceptions. *Organizational Behavior and Human Performance*, 34(3), 343–378. https://doi.org/10.1016/0030-5073(84)90043-6
- Maccoby, M. (2000). Narcissistic leaders: The incredible pros, the inevitable cons. *Harvard Business Review*, 78(1), 68–78.
- Maner, J. K., & Case, C. R. (2016). Dominance and prestige: Dual strategies for navigating social hierarchies. In J. M. Olson & M. P. Zanna (Eds.), Advances in experimental social psychology (Vol. 54, pp. 129–180). Academic Press. https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.aesp.2016.02.001.
- Maner, J. K., DeWall, C. N., & Gailliot, M. T. (2008). Selective attention to signs of success: Social dominance and early stage interpersonal perception. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 34(4), 488–501. https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167207311910
- Manz, C. C., & Sims, H. P., Jr. (1993). Business without bosses: How superteams are managing and leading themselves. John Wiley & Sons.
- Marinova, S. V., Moon, H., & Kamdar, D. (2012). Getting ahead or getting along? The twofacet conceptualization of conscientiousness and leadership emergence. *Organization Science*, 24(4), 1257–1276. https://doi.org/10.1287/orsc.1120.0781
- Mayer, R. C., Davis, J. H., & Schoorman, F. D. (1995). An integrative model of organizational trust. Academy of Management Review, 20(3), 709–734. https://doi.org/10.5465/amr.1995.9508080335
- Mazur, A. (1985). A biosocial model of status in face-to-face primate groups. *Social Forces*, 64(2), 377–402. https://doi.org/10.1093/sf/64.2.377
- McCrae, R. R., & Costa, P. T. (1987). Validation of the five-factor model of personality across instruments and observers. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 52(1), 81–90. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.52.1.81
- Miller, J. D., Hoffman, B. J., Gaughan, E. T., Gentile, B., Maples, J., & Campbell, W. K. (2011). Grandiose and vulnerable narcissism: A nomological network analysis. *Journal of Personality*, 79(5), 1013–1042. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-6494.2010.00711.x
- Miller, J. D., Lynam, D. R., Hyatt, C. S., & Campbell, W. K. (2017). Controversies in narcissism. *Annual Review of Clinical Psychology*, 13(1), 291–315. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-clinpsy-032816-045244
- Miller, J. D., Lynam, D. R., McCain, J. L., Few, L. R., Crego, C., Widiger, T. A., & Campbell, W. K. (2016). Thinking structurally about narcissism: An examination of the Five-Factor Narcissism Inventory and its components. *Journal of Personality Disorders*, 30(1), 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1521/pedi_2015_29_177
- Morf, C. C., & Rhodewalt, F. (2001). Unraveling the paradoxes of narcissism: A dynamic self-regulatory processing model. *Psychological Inquiry*, *12*(4), 177–196. https://doi.org/10.1207/S15327965PLI1204_1
- Muthén, L. K., & Muthén, B. O. (2017). Mplus user's guide (8th ed.). Muthén & Muthén.
- Nestler, S., & Back, M. D. (2013). Applications and extensions of the lens model to understand interpersonal judgments at zero acquaintance. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, *22*(5), 374–379. https://doi.org/10.1177/0963721413486148
- Nevicka, B., De Hoogh, A. H. B., Van Vianen, A. E. M., Beersma, B., & McIlwain, D. (2011). All I need is a stage to shine: Narcissists' leader emergence and performance.

The Leadership Quarterly, *22*(5), 910–925. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2011.07.011

- Nevicka, B., Ten Velden, F. S., De Hoogh, A. H. B., & Van Vianen, A. E. M. (2011). Reality at odds with perceptions: Narcissistic leaders and group performance. *Psychological Science*, 22(10), 1259–1264. https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797611417259
- Oberauer, K., Süß, H.-M., Schulze, R., Wilhelm, O., & Wittmann, W. W. (2000). Working memory capacity—Facets of a cognitive ability construct. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 29(6), 1017–1045. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0191-8869(99)00251-2
- O'Boyle, E. H., Forsyth, D., Banks, G. C., & Story, P. A. (2013). A meta-analytic review of the Dark Triad–intelligence connection. *Journal of Research in Personality*, 47(6), 789–794. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrp.2013.08.001

Offermann, L. R., Kennedy, J. K., & Wirtz, P. W. (1994). Implicit leadership theories: Content, structure, and generalizability. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 5(1), 43–58. https://doi.org/10.1016/1048-9843(94)90005-1

Ogunfowora, B., & Bourdage, J. S. (2014). Does Honesty–Humility influence evaluations of leadership emergence? The mediating role of moral disengagement. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 56, 95–99. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2013.08.026

Ong, C. W., Roberts, R., Arthur, C. A., Woodman, T., & Akehurst, S. (2016). The leader ship is sinking: A temporal investigation of narcissistic leadership. *Journal of Personality*, 84(2), 237–247. https://doi.org/10.1111/jopy.12155

Paulhus, D. L. (1998). Interpersonal and intrapsychic adaptiveness of trait self-enhancement: A mixed blessing? *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 74(5), 1197–1208. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.74.5.1197

Paunonen, S. V., Lönnqvist, J.-E., Verkasalo, M., Leikas, S., & Nissinen, V. (2006). Narcissism and emergent leadership in military cadets. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 17(5), 475–486. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2006.06.003

Pescosolido, A. T. (2001). Informal leaders and the development of group efficacy. *Small Group Research*, *32*(1), 74–93. https://doi.org/10.1177/104649640103200104

Pescosolido, A. T. (2002). Emergent leaders as managers of group emotion. *The Leadership Quarterly*, *13*(5), 583–599. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1048-9843(02)00145-5

Poutvaara, P. (2014). Facial appearance and leadership: An overview and challenges for new research. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 25(5), 801–804. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2014.08.003

Preacher, K. J., & Hayes, A. F. (2008). Asymptotic and resampling strategies for assessing and comparing indirect effects in multiple mediator models. *Behavior Research Methods*, 40(3), 879–891. https://doi.org/10.3758/BRM.40.3.879

Preacher, K. J., Zyphur, M. J., & Zhang, Z. (2010). A general multilevel SEM framework for assessing multilevel mediation. *Psychological Methods*, *15*(3), 209–233. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0020141

R Core Team (2018). R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. http://www.R-project.org/

Raskin, R. N., & Novacek, J. (1991). Narcissism and the use of fantasy. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 47(4), 490–499. https://doi.org/10.1002/1097-4679(199107)47:4<490::AID-JCLP2270470404>3.0.CO;2-J

Raskin, R. N., & Terry, H. (1988). A principal-components analysis of the Narcissistic Personality Inventory and further evidence of its construct validity. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 54(5), 890–902. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.54.5.890

Rau, R., Nestler, S., Geukes, K., Back, M. D., & Dufner, M. (2019). Can other-derogation be beneficial? Seeing others as low in agency can lead to an agentic reputation in newly

formed face-to-face groups. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *117*(1), 201–227. https://doi.org/10.1037/pspp0000250

- Raven, J. C., Raven, J., & Court, J. H. (1962). *Advanced progressive matrices set II*. Oxford Psychologists Press.
- Ridgeway, C. L. (1987). Nonverbal behavior, dominance, and the basis of status in task groups. *American Sociological Review*, *52*(5), 683–694. https://doi.org/10.2307/2095603
- Ridgeway, C. L., & Diekema, D. (1989). Dominance and collective hierarchy formation in male and female task groups. *American Sociological Review*, 54(1), 79–93. https://doi.org/10.2307/2095663
- Robins, R. W., & Beer, J. S. (2001). Positive illusions about the self: Short-term benefits and long-term costs. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 80(2), 340–352. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.80.2.340
- Rogoza, R., Wyszyńska, P., Maćkiewicz, M., & Cieciuch, J. (2016). Differentiation of the two narcissistic faces in their relations to personality traits and basic values. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 95, 85–88. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2016.02.038
- Rosenthal, S. A., & Pittinsky, T. L. (2006). Narcissistic leadership. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 17(6), 617–633. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2006.10.005
- Roulin, N., Bangerter, A., & Levashina, J. (2015). Honest and deceptive impression management in the employment interview: Can it be detected and how does it impact evaluations? *Personnel Psychology*, 68(2), 395–444. https://doi.org/10.1111/peps.12079
- RStudio Team (2016). *RStudio: Integrated development for R. RStudio, Inc., Boston, MA.* https://www.Rproject.org/
- Rubin, R. S., Bartels, L. K., & Bommer, W. H. (2002). Are leaders smarter or do they just seem that way? Exploring perceived intellectual competence and leadership emergence. *Social Behavior and Personality*, 30(2), 105–118. https://doi.org/10.2224/sbp.2002.30.2.105
- Schoemann, A. M., Boulton, A. J., & Short, S. D. (2017). Determining power and sample size for simple and complex mediation models. *Social Psychological and Personality Science*, 8(4), 379–386. https://doi.org/10.1177/1948550617715068
- Schönbrodt, F. D., Back, M. D., & Schmukle, S. C. (2012). TripleR: An R package for social relations analyses based on round-robin designs. *Behavior Research Methods*, 44(2), 455–470. https://doi.org/10.3758/s13428-011-0150-4
- Schütz, A., Marcus, B., & Sellin, I. (2004). Die Messung von Narzissmus als Persönlichkeitskonstrukt. *Diagnostica*, 50(4), 202–218. https://doi.org/10.1026/0012-1924.50.4.202
- Shondrick, S. J., Dinh, J. E., & Lord, R. G. (2010). Developments in implicit leadership theory and cognitive science: Applications to improving measurement and understanding alternatives to hierarchical leadership. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 21(6), 959–978. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2010.10.004
- Stogdill, R. M. (1950). Leadership, membership and organization. *Psychological Bulletin*, 47(1), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0053857
- Taggar, S., Hackett, R., & Saha, S. (1999). Leadership emergence in autonomous work teams: Antecedents and outcomes. *Personnel Psychology*, *52*(4), 899–926. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-6570.1999.tb00184.x
- Tamborski, M., & Brown, R. P. (2011). The measurement of trait narcissism in socialpersonality research. In W. K. Campbell & J. D. Miller (Eds.), *The handbook of narcissism and narcissistic personality disorder: Theoretical approaches, empirical*

findings, and treatments (pp. 133–140). John Wiley & Sons. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118093108.ch11

- Tamborski, M., Brown, R. P., & Chowning, K. (2012). Self-serving bias or simply serving the self? Evidence for a dimensional approach to narcissism. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 52(8), 942–946. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2012.01.030
- Tett, R. P., & Guterman, H. A. (2000). Situation trait relevance, trait expression, and crosssituational consistency: Testing a principle of trait activation. *Journal of Research in Personality*, 34(4), 397–423. https://doi.org/10.1006/jrpe.2000.2292
- Theodorson, G. A. (1957). The relationship between leadership and popularity roles in small groups. *American Sociological Review*, 22(1), 58–67. https://doi.org/10.2307/2088766
- Wallace, H. M., & Baumeister, R. F. (2002). The performance of narcissists rises and falls with perceived opportunity for glory. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 82(5), 819–834. https://doi.org/10.1037//0022-3514.82.5.819
- Watts, A. L., Lilienfeld, S. O., Smith, S. F., Miller, J. D., Campbell, W. K., Waldman, I. D., Rubenzer, S. J., & Faschingbauer, T. J. (2013). The double-edged sword of grandiose narcissism: Implications for successful and unsuccessful leadership among U.S. presidents. *Psychological Science*, 24(12), 2379–2389. https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797613491970
- Weber, S., Geukes, K., Leckelt, M., & Back, M. D. (2019). The attractiveness of narcissists: Hard work or natural beauty? *Self and Identity*. https://doi.org/10.1080/15298868.2019.1575899
- Wetzel, E., Leckelt, M., Gerlach, T. M., & Back, M. D. (2016). Distinguishing subgroups of narcissists with latent class analysis. *European Journal of Personality*, 30(4), 374– 389. https://doi.org/10.1002/per.2062
- Wherry, R. J., & Fryer, D. H. (1949). Buddy ratings: Popularity: Contest or leadership criteria? *Personnel Psychology*, 2(2), 147–159. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-6570.1949.tb01395.x
- Wiggins, J. S. (1991). Agency and communion as conceptual coordinates for the understanding and measurement of interpersonal behavior. In W. M. Grove & D. Ciccetti (Eds.), *Thinking clearly about psychology: Vol. 2. Personality and psychopathology* (pp. 89–113). University of Minnesota Press.
- Wille, B., Fruyt, F. D., & Clercq, B. D. (2013). Expanding and reconceptualizing aberrant personality at work: Validity of five-factor model aberrant personality tendencies to predict career outcomes. *Personnel Psychology*, 66(1), 173–223. https://doi.org/10.1111/peps.12016
- Wille, B., Hofmans, J., Lievens, F., Back, M. D., & De Fruyt, F. (2019). Climbing the corporate ladder and within-person changes in narcissism: Reciprocal relationships over two decades. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 115, 103341. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2019.103341
- Willer, R. (2009). Groups reward individual sacrifice: The status solution to the collective action problem. *American Sociological Review*, 74(1), 23–43. https://doi.org/10.1177/000312240907400102
- Williams, E. J. (1959). The comparison of regression variables. *Journal of the Royal Statistical Society: Series B (Methodological)*, 21(2), 396–399. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2517-6161.1959.tb00346.x
- Witkower, Z., Tracy, J. L., Cheng, J. T., & Henrich, J. (2020). Two signals of social rank: Prestige and dominance are associated with distinct nonverbal displays. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *118*(1), 89–120. https://doi.org/10.1037/pspi0000181

- Wojciszke, B., Abele, A. E., & Baryla, W. (2009). Two dimensions of interpersonal attitudes: Liking depends on communion, respect depends on agency. *European Journal of Social Psychology*, 39(6), 973–990. https://doi.org/10.1002/ejsp.595
- Wright, A. G., & Edershile, E. A. (2018). Issues resolved and unresolved in pathological narcissism. *Current Opinion in Psychology*, 21, 74–79. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copsyc.2017.10.001
- Wrzus, C., & Mehl, M. R. (2015). Lab and/or field? Measuring personality processes and their social consequences. *European Journal of Personality*, 29(2), 250–271. https://doi.org/10.1002/per.1986
- Wurst, S. N., Gerlach, T. M., Dufner, M., Rauthmann, J. F., Grosz, M. P., Küfner, A. C. P., Denissen, J. J. A., & Back, M. D. (2017). Narcissism and romantic relationships: The differential impact of narcissistic admiration and rivalry. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 112(2), 280–306. https://doi.org/10.1037/pspp0000113
- Zeigler-Hill, V., Vrabel, J. K., McCabe, G. A., Cosby, C. A., Traeder, C. K., Hobbs, K. A., & Southard, A. C. (2018). Narcissism and the pursuit of status. *Journal of Personality*, 87(2). https://doi.org/10.1111/jopy.12392

Appendix 3.1.A

In addition to the models reported in the Results of the manuscript, we computed each model with three alternative operationalizations of narcissism, that is, each model with (a) admiration and L/A aggregated to agentic narcissism, and rivalry and E/E aggregated to antagonistic narcissism (Figure 3.1.A1, 3.1.A4, 3.1.A7; Table 3.1.A1, 3.1.A4), (b) the overall NPI-score as operationalization of global narcissism (Figure 3.1.A2, 3.1.A5, 3.1.A8; Table 3.1.A2, 3.1.A5), and (c) L/A as operationalization of agentic narcissism and E/E as operationalization of antagonistic narcissism (Figure 3.1.A3, 3.1.A6, 3.1.A9; Table 3.1.A3, 3.1.A6). In the aggregated models, aggregated agentic narcissism was expressed in dominantexpressive behavior as well as arrogant-aggressive behavior, whereas admiration was uniquely expressed in dominant-expressive behavior. Aggregated antagonistic narcissism was not expressed in arrogant-aggressive behavior, whereas rivalry was uniquely expressed in arrogantaggressive behavior. We found the same pattern when comparing L/A and E/E as operationalizations of agentic and antagonistic narcissism with the reported models in the Results of the manuscript using admiration and rivalry. Regarding the models using the NPI as operationalization of global narcissism, global narcissism was expressed in dominantexpressive as well as arrogant-aggressive behavior. Differences in significances of the IEs of the models using alternative operationalizations of narcissism compared to the models in the Results can be traced back to the outlined differences of alternatively operationalized narcissism being expressed differently in dominant-expressive and arrogant-aggressive behavior.

Behaviors

Figure 3.1.A1

Traits

Results for Model 1 With Agentic Narcissism (Aggregation of Admiration and Leadership/Authority) and Antagonistic Narcissism (Aggregation of Rivalry and Entitlement/Exploitativeness) as Traits Instead of Admiration and Rivalry

Impressions

Evaluation



IE: -.002 [-.006; .000]

Note. Personality traits, expressed behaviors, and interpersonal impressions were allowed to covary among each other (paths are not displayed for the sake of clarity). Results are presented as standardized path coefficients. The 95% confidence intervals of the standardized indirect effects are displayed in brackets. DE = Direct effect. IE = Indirect effect.

Standardized path coefficients, IEs and DEs in bold were significant at the $p \le .05$ level.

Figure 3.1.A2

Results for Model 1 With Global Narcissism Measured With the Narcissistic Personality Inventory (NPI) as Trait Instead of Admiration and Rivalry



Note. Expressed behaviors and interpersonal impressions were allowed to covary among each other (paths are not displayed for the sake of clarity). Results are presented as standardized path coefficients. The 95% confidence intervals of the standardized indirect effects are displayed in brackets. DE = Direct effect. IE = Indirect effect. Standardized path coefficients, IEs and DEs in bold were significant at the $p \le .05$ level.

Figure 3.1.A3

Results for Model 1 With Leadership/Authority and Entitlement/Exploitativeness as Traits Instead of Admiration and Rivalry



IE: -.001 [-.004; .001]

Note. Personality traits, expressed behaviors, and interpersonal impressions were allowed to covary among each other (paths are not displayed for the sake of clarity). Results are presented as standardized path coefficients. The 95% confidence intervals of the standardized indirect effects are displayed in brackets. DE = Direct effect. IE = Indirect effect.

Standardized path coefficients, IEs and DEs in bold were significant at the $p \le .05$ level.
Results for Model 2 With Agentic Narcissism (Aggregation of Admiration and Leadership/Authority) and Antagonistic Narcissism (Aggregation of Rivalry and Entitlement/Exploitativeness) as Traits Instead of Admiration and Rivalry



Note. Personality traits, expressed behaviors, and interpersonal impressions were allowed to covary among each other (paths are not displayed for the sake of clarity). Results are presented as standardized path coefficients. Standardized path coefficients in bold were significant at the $p \le .05$ level.

Table 3.1.A1

Direct and Indirect Effects in Model 2 With Agentic Narcissism (Aggregation of Admiration and Leadership/Authority) and Antagonistic Narcissism (Aggregation of Rivalry and Entitlement/Exploitativeness) as Traits Instead of Admiration and Rivalry

		Leader	rship eme	ergence]	Popularity	y	
				95%	6 CI	-				95%	6 CI
	DE	$p_{ m DE}$	IE	LLIE	ULIE		DE	$p_{ m DE}$	IE	LLIE	ULIE
Agentic narcissism	011	.72	.096	.031	.168	-	.046	.32	.023	.006	.048
Antagonistic	023	.37	001	003	.001		076	.12	009	026	.001
narcissism											

Results for Model 2 With Global Narcissism Measured With the Narcissistic Personality Inventory (NPI) as Trait Instead of Admiration and Rivalry



Note. Expressed behaviors and interpersonal impressions were allowed to covary among each other (paths are not displayed for the sake of clarity). Results are presented as standardized path coefficients. Standardized path coefficients in bold were significant at the $p \le .05$ level.

Table 3.1.A2

Direct and Indirect Effects in Model 2 With Global Narcissism Measured With the Narcissistic Personality Inventory (NPI) as Trait Instead of Admiration and Rivalry

	_	Leade	rship eme	ergence		_]	Popularity	y	
				95%	6 CI	_				95%	6 CI
	DE	$p_{ m DE}$	IE	LLIE	ULIE		DE	p_{DE}	IE	LLIE	ULIE
NPI	.019	.55	-	-	-		.015	.75	-	-	-
Agentic pathway	-		.124	.059	.194		-		.031	.011	.058
Antagonistic	-		003	009	.002		-		036	066	012
pathway											

Results for Model 2 With Leadership/Authority and Entitlement/Exploitativeness as Traits Instead of Admiration and Rivalry



Note. Personality traits, expressed behaviors, and interpersonal impressions were allowed to covary among each other (paths are not displayed for the sake of clarity). Results are presented as standardized path coefficients. Standardized path coefficients in bold were significant at the $p \le .05$ level.

Table 3.1.A3

Direct and Indirect Effects in Model 2 With Leadership/Authority and Entitlement/

Exploitativeness as Traits Instead of Admiration and Rivalry

		Leader	ship eme	rgence]	Popularity	/	
				95%	6 CI	-				95%	6 CI
	DE	p_{DE}	IE	LLIE	ULIE		DE	p_{DE}	IE	LLIE	ULIE
Leadership/ authority	.029	.33	.097	.030	.171		.005	.92	.025	.007	.051
Entitlement/ exploitativeness	046	.11	.000	002	.001		068	.15	005	018	.004

Results for Model 4 With Agentic Narcissism (Aggregation of Admiration and Leadership/Authority) and Antagonistic Narcissism (Aggregation of Rivalry and Entitlement/Exploitativeness) as Traits Instead of Admiration and Rivalry



Note. Personality traits, expressed behaviors, and interpersonal impressions were allowed to covary among each other (paths are not displayed for the sake of clarity). Results are presented as standardized path coefficients. Standardized path coefficients in bold were significant at the $p \leq .05$ level.

Table 3.1.A4

Direct and Indirect Effects in Model 4 With Agentic Narcissism (Aggregation of Admiration and Leadership/Authority) and Antagonistic Narcissism (Aggregation of Rivalry and Entitlement/Exploitativeness) as Traits Instead of Admiration and Rivalry

	_	Leader	ship eme	ergence	-	_	I	Popularit	у	
				95%	6 CI				95%	6 CI
	DE	p_{DE}	IE	LLIE	ULIE	DE	$p_{\rm DE}$	IE	LLIE	ULIE
Agentic narcissism	012	.69	.068	.021	.123	.039	.39	.005	006	.018
Antagonistic	016	.55	.000	003	.001	041	.38	011	027	.002
narcissism										
Intelligence	.014	.64	.001	002	.005	.028	.56	.001	002	.006
Physical	.025	.57	.034	031	.096	110	.060	.272	.190	.359
attractiveness										

Results for Model 4 With Global Narcissism Measured With the Narcissistic Personality Inventory (NPI) as Trait Instead of Admiration and Rivalry



Note. Expressed behaviors and interpersonal impressions were allowed to covary among each other (paths are not displayed for the sake of clarity). Results are presented as standardized path coefficients. Standardized path coefficients in bold were significant at the $p \le .05$ level.

Table 3.1.A5

Direct and Indirect Effects in Model 4 With Global Narcissism Measured With the Narcissistic Personality Inventory (NPI) as Trait Instead of Admiration and Rivalry

		Leader	rship eme	ergence				I	Popularit	у	
				95%	6 CI	-				95%	ω CI
	DE	$p_{ m DE}$	IE	LLIE	ULIE		DE	$p_{ m DE}$	IE	LLIE	ULIE
NPI	.020	.52	-	-	-	-	.001	.98	-	-	-
Agentic pathway	-	-	.087	.039	.141		-	-	.007	008	.022
Antagonistic	-	-	003	010	.003		-	-	042	069	019
pathway											
Intelligence	.028	.37	.002	002	.006		.030	.55	.001	002	.006
Physical	.020	.65	.036	029	.099		112	.056	.281	.194	.367
attractiveness											

Results for Model 4 With Leadership/Authority and Entitlement/Exploitativeness as Traits Instead of Admiration and Rivalry



Note. Personality traits, expressed behaviors, and interpersonal impressions were allowed to covary among each other (paths are not displayed for the sake of clarity). Results are presented as standardized path coefficients. Standardized path coefficients in bold were significant at the $p \le .05$ level.

Table 3.1.A6

Direct and Indirect Effects in Model 4 With Leadership/Authority and Entitlement/

Exploitativeness as Traits Instead of Admiration and Rivalry

		Leader	rship eme	ergence			Ι	opularity	У	
				95%	6 CI				95%	6 CI
	DE	p_{DE}	IE	LLIE	ULIE	DE	$p_{ m DE}$	IE	LLIE	ULIE
Leadership/ authority	.036	.22	.069	.020	.125	.028	.51	.006	005	.020
Entitlement/ exploitativeness	036	.20	.000	002	.001	035	.42	006	020	.006
Intelligence	.020	.51	.001	002	.005	.031	.51	.001	002	.006
Physical attractiveness	.021	.63	.037	027	.099	107	.063	.273	.190	.359

Appendix 3.1.B

Because ML-SEMs explicitly address the nesting of participants in groups, we used raw scores of all variables. We specified ML-SEMs with random intercepts and fixed slopes in Mplus. We used a nonparametric bootstrapping approach taking the nested data structure into account (Goldstein, 2011) to determine the significance of the IEs. For this purpose, we used R to determine 1,000 bootstrap samples of group members with replacement from any group. We used the package MplusAutomation (version 0.7-3; Hallquist & Wiley, 2018) to enable Mplus to estimate the model parameters for each sample. We then used the distributions of the estimates to compute 95% CIs for the IEs in R. Comparing the results of the MMMs reported in the Results of the manuscript and the ML-SEMs, for Model 1 (Figure 3.1.B1) we found the biggest absolute difference in the path coefficients for the cross-path from arrogant-aggressive behavior to being seen as assertive ($\Delta\beta = 0.047$). All path coefficients of the agentic narcissism pathway differed marginally, however, the IE of admiration on being seen a leader became nonsignificant (.060 [-.017; .137]). For Model 2 (Figure 3.1.B2, Table 3.1.B1) we found the biggest absolute difference in the path coefficients for the path from being seen as untrustworthy to being liked ($\Delta\beta = 0.047$). All path coefficients of the agentic narcissism pathway differed marginally, however, the IE of admiration on being seen as a leader (.057 [-.014: .127]) and the IE of admiration on being liked (.012 [-.006; .030]) became non-significant. For Model 3 (Figure 3.1.B3, Table 3.1.B2) we found the biggest absolute difference in the path coefficients for the path from verbal fluency to being seen as intelligent ($\Delta\beta = 0.040$). All path coefficients of the intelligence pathway differed marginally, however, the IE of intelligence on being seen as a leader (.017 [-.008; .042]) and the IE of intelligence on being liked (.010 [-.003; .024]) became non-significant. For Model 4 (Figure 3.1.B4, Table 3.1.B3) we found the biggest absolute difference in the path coefficients for the path from being seen as untrustworthy to being liked ($\Delta\beta = 0.045$). The path coefficients from admiration to dominant-expressive behavior, from verbal fluency to being seen as attractive, and from being seen as intelligent to being seen as a leader turned non-significant. All path coefficients of the agentic narcissism pathway differed marginally, however, the IE of admiration on being seen as a leader became non-significant (.041 [-.009; .091]). Likewise, the IE of rivalry on being liked became nonsignificant (-.014 [-.028; .000]).

Figure 3.1.B1

Results for Model 1 Computed as Multilevel Structural Equation Model



IE: -.003 [-.007; .001]

Note. Personality traits, expressed behaviors, and interpersonal impressions were allowed to covary among each other (paths are not displayed for the sake of clarity). Results are presented as standardized path coefficients. The 95% confidence intervals of the standardized indirect effects are displayed in brackets. DE = Direct effect. IE = Indirect effect.

Standardized path coefficients, IEs and DEs in bold were significant at the $p \le .05$ level.



Results for Model 2 Computed as Multilevel Structural Equation Model

Note. Personality traits, expressed behaviors, and interpersonal impressions were allowed to covary among each other (paths are not displayed for the sake of clarity). Results are presented as standardized path coefficients. Standardized path coefficients in bold were significant at the $p \le .05$ level.

Table 3.1.B1

Direct and Indirect Effects in Model 2 Computed as Multilevel Structural Equation Model

		Leader	ship eme	ergence]	Popularit	У	
				95%	6 CI				95%	6 CI
	DE	p_{DE}	IE	LLIE	ULIE	DE	p_{DE}	IE	LLIE	ULIE
Admiration	062	.038	.057	014	.127	.039	.51	.012	006	.030
Rivalry	.015	.60	001	003	.001	047	.37	013	028	.002



Results for Model 3 Computed as Multilevel Structural Equation Model

Note. Interpersonal impressions were allowed to covary among each other (paths are not displayed for the sake of clarity). Results are presented as standardized path coefficients. Standardized path coefficients in bold were significant at the $p \le .05$ level.

Table 3.1.B2

Direct and Indirect Effects in Model 3 Computed as Multilevel Structural Equation Model

		Leader	rship eme	ergence			F	opularit	у	
				95%	6 CI				95%	6 CI
	DE	$p_{ m DE}$	IE	LLIE	ULIE	DE	$p_{ m DE}$	IE	LLIE	ULIE
Intelligence	.059	.54	.017	008	.042	.027	.69	.010	003	.024
Physical attractiveness	022	.81	.208	.069	.346	157	.021	.351	.261	.440



Results for Model 4 Computed as Multilevel Structural Equation Model

Note. Personality traits, expressed behaviors, and interpersonal impressions were allowed to covary among each other (paths are not displayed for the sake of clarity). Results are presented as standardized path coefficients. Standardized path coefficients in bold were significant at the $p \le .05$ level.

Table 3.1.B3

Direct and Indirect Effects in Model 4 Computed as Multilevel Structural Equation Model

		Leader	ship eme	ergence]	Popularit	у	
				95%	6 CI				95%	6 CI
	DE	p_{DE}	IE	LLIE	ULIE	DE	p_{DE}	IE	LLIE	ULIE
Admiration	071	.021	.041	009	.091	.014	.78	.003	005	.011
Rivalry	.021	.45	.000	003	.003	024	.58	014	028	.000
Intelligence	.006	.87	.001	002	.004	.006	.89	.001	002	.005
Physical	.044	.36	.035	036	.107	097	.14	.227	.149	.306

Appendix 3.1.C

Figure 3.1.C1

Results for Model 5: Path Model for Intelligence and Physical Attractiveness as Additional Pathways to Leadership Emergence in Social Groups



IE: .233 [.123; .345]

Note. Interpersonal impressions were allowed to covary among each other (paths are not displayed for the sake of clarity). Results are presented as standardized path coefficients. The 95% confidence intervals of the standardized indirect effects are displayed in brackets. DE = Direct effect. IE = Indirect effect.

Standardized path coefficients, IEs and DEs in bold were significant at the $p \le .05$ level.

Results for Model 6: Path Model of Narcissistic Admiration and Rivalry and the AdditionalPathways, Intelligence and Physical Attractiveness, to Leadership Emergence in Social GroupsTraitsBehaviorsImpressionsEvaluation



Note. Personality traits, expressed behaviors, and interpersonal impressions were allowed to covary among each other (paths are not displayed for the sake of clarity). Results are presented as standardized path coefficients. Standardized path coefficients, IEs and DEs in bold were significant at the $p \le .05$ level.

Table 3.1.C

Direct and Indirect Effects in Model 6

		Le	adership emerger	nce	
				95%	% CI
	DE	$p_{ m DE}$	IE	LL _{IE}	ULIE
Admiration	056	.068	.046	.001	.098
Rivalry	.012	.64	002	005	.000
Intelligence	.021	.48	.002	002	.005
Physical attractiveness	.011	.80	.070	.007	.129

Appendix 3.1.D

Table 3.1.D

Descriptive Statistics and Bivariate Correlations of All Measures Used

-			n	М	SD	Min	Max	1.	2.	3.	4.	5.	6.	7.	8.	9.	10.	11.	12.	13.	14.
-	1.	Admiration	297	3.17	0.78	1.11	6.00	-	.29	.85	.28	.62	.43	.18	.06	.11	06	.12	.15	.05	.10
	2.	Rivalry	297	2.33	0.74	1.00	4.00		-	.26	.83	.32	.15	.39	08	04	10	03	.02	06	06
	3.	Agentic narcissism	297	0.00	0.86	-2.13	3.01			-	.29	.82	.85	.22	.04	.11	11	.07	.09	.04	.08
	4.	Antagonistic narcissism	297	0.00	0.85	-1.52	2.29				-	.43	.21	.84	02	02	.00	02	.02	05	07
	5.	NPI	297	14.33	6.03	0	36					-	.76	.40	.03	.11	10	.03	.04	.02	.17
	6.	Leadership/authority	297	4.04	2.48	0	11						-	.20	.00	.08	11	.00	.01	.02	.04
	7.	Entitlement/	297	1.33	1.08	0	4							-	.04	.00	.10	02	.01	03	05
		exploitativeness																			
	8.	Intelligence	311	0.00	0.65	-3.09	1.59								-	.69	.70	.64	.51	.56	02
	9.	Raven	309	8.14	3.09	0	15									-	.17	.19	.14	.19	.14
	10	. MWTB	310	29.74	2.78	19	36										-	.16	.10	.18	16
	11	. WMC	310	0.01	0.80	-3.09	1.28											-	.81	.82	.01
2	12	. WMC solved	302	51.17	5.93	23	60												-	.33	06
20	13	. WMC span	310	5.19	2.27	0	8													-	.07
	14	. Physical attractiveness	277	4.73	1.24	1.25	7.92														-
	15	. Overall attractiveness	277	5.11	1.30	1.50	8.33	.11	03	.09	05	.18	.04	05	03	.12	17	.03	01	.05	.91
	16	. Attractiveness face	277	4.35	1.43	1.00	8.00	.07	08	.06	08	.12	.03	05	.00	.14	12	02	09	.07	.91
	17	. Dominant-expressive	305	3.02	1.11	1.00	5.75	.12	.05	.18	.09	.24	.18	.09	.26	.19	.18	.14	.07	.16	.00
		behavior																			
	18	. Dominant behavior	305	2.87	1.13	1.00	6.00	.13	.06	.19	.09	.23	.20	.08	.26	.20	.17	.15	.09	.17	02
	19	. Expressive behavior	305	3.16	1.13	1.00	6.00	.11	.04	.16	.08	.23	.16	.09	.24	.17	.18	.12	.05	.15	.01
	20	. Arrogant-aggressive	305	2.07	0.90	1.00	5.50	.12	.13	.23	.15	.25	.27	.13	.16	.15	.09	.08	.05	.09	.03
		behavior																			
	21	. Arrogant behavior	305	2.22	0.99	1.00	5.67	.14	.13	.24	.15	.25	.26	.12	.16	.15	.10	.08	.05	.10	.04
	22	. Aggressive behavior	305	1.92	0.85	1.00	5.33	.10	.11	.21	.15	.24	.26	.13	.14	.14	.08	.07	.06	.07	.02
	23	. Verbal fluency	304	3.97	0.73	1.67	5.83	.08	12	.06	03	.07	.02	.07	.43	.17	.46	.21	.10	.01	.07
	24	. Being seen as assertive	295	3.86	0.79	1.37	5.86	.22	06	.27	03	.30	.24	.00	.19	.17	.11	.10	.05	.13	.16
	25	. Being seen as	295	2.85	0.54	1.54	5.02	.01	.10	.02	.17	.05	.02	.19	10	09	09	.01	.00	03	09
		untrustworthy																			
	26	. Being seen as intelligent	295	4.39	0.56	2.43	5.62	.12	05	.12	13	.06	.08	16	.21	.17	.12	.14	.11	.12	.06
	27	. Being seen as attractive	295	3.58	0.81	1.23	5.43	.14	09	.09	14	.17	.01	14	01	.12	07	07	11	01	.72
	28	. Being seen as a leader	295	3.71	0.77	1.58	5.75	.14	08	.22	09	.27	.22	07	.19	.18	.13	.06	02	.12	.22
	29	. Being liked	294	4.36	0.57	2.43	5.88	.08	11	.07	18	.05	.03	18	.10	.13	.05	.01	01	.03	.24

	15.	16.	17.	18.	19.	20.	21.	22.	23.	24.	25.	26.	27.	28.	29.
15. Overall attractiveness	-	.66	02	03	01	.01	.02	.01	.03	.15	07	.03	.66	.20	.17
16. Attractiveness face		-	.01	.00	.02	.04	.05	.02	.11	.14	09	.08	.65	.20	.27
17. Dominant-expressive			-	.98	.98	.79	.79	.77	.19	.70	.02	.36	.17	.61	.09
behavior															
18. Dominant behavior				-	.93	.83	.82	.80	.18	.69	.06	.36	.14	.60	.05
19. Expressive behavior					-	.73	.73	.71	.19	.68	03	.34	.19	.59	.13
20. Arrogant-aggressive						-	.99	.98	.12	.53	.23	.19	.10	.42	12
behavior															
21. Arrogant behavior							-	.93	.12	.54	.22	.20	.11	.43	11
22. Aggressive behavior								-	.11	.50	.24	.17	.08	.40	12
23. Verbal fluency									-	.21	03	.12	.17	.23	.13
24. Being seen as assertive										-	18	.58	.37	.88	.32
25. Being seen as											-	46	29	29	67
untrustworthy															
26. Being seen as intelligent												-	.31	.60	.44
27. Being seen as attractive													-	.44	.53
28. Being seen as a leader														-	.45
29. Being liked															-

Note. Means, standard deviations, and ranges were calculated on raw scores except for agentic narcissism, antagonistic narcissism, intelligence, and WMC which were aggregated using z-standardized data due to the use of different measurement units in the scales that needed to be summarized. Correlations were calculated on group-mean-centered scores to control for participants being nested in groups. Agentic narcissism = aggregation of admiration and leadership/authority. Antagonistic narcissism = aggregation of rivalry and entitlement/exploitativeness. NPI = Narcissistic Personality Inventory. MWTB = Mehrfachwahl-Wortschatz-Test B. WMC = Working Memory Capacity.

Correlations in bold were significant at the $p \le .05$ level.

Appendix 3.1 References

Goldstein, H. (2011). Bootstrapping in multilevel models. In J. J. Hox & J. K. Roberts (Eds.), *Handbook of advanced multilevel analysis* (pp. 163–171). Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203848852.ch9

Hallquist, M., & Wiley, J. (2018). MplusAutomation: An R package for facilitating large-scale latent variable analyses in Mplus. *Structural Equation Modeling: A Multidisciplinary Journal*, 25(4), 621–638. https://doi.org/10.1080/10705511.2017.1402334

3.2 Differential Impacts of Behavioral Pathways Linking Personality to Leadership Outcomes

Publication Status. Härtel, T. M., Hoch, F., & Back, M. D. (2023). Differential impacts of behavioral pathways linking personality to leadership outcomes. Accepted at *The 23rd* Annual Meeting of the European Academy of Management and submitted to *The 83rd* Annual Meeting of the Academy of Management.

Abstract. This study uses process models of personality to examine the behavioral pathways that explain personality traits' divergent relation to leadership outcomes in social groups. We applied data from an online group interaction study (N = 364) alternately assigning participants as leaders conducting brief group tasks. We used 4 types of variables to build the behavioral pathways in multiple mediator models: (a) Self-reported personality traits (extraversion, agreeableness, emotional stability), (b) video and audio recordings of expressed behaviors coded by 6 trained raters (task-focus, member-focus, resilient), (c) mutual interpersonal impressions (assertive, trustworthy, calm), and (d) mutual evaluations of leadership emergence and leadership effectiveness. We find that the examined personality traits differently relate to the 2 leadership outcomes via the behavioral pathways: Extraversion was more important to leadership emergence due to impressions of assertiveness evoked by task-focused behavior being stronger valued. Agreeableness/emotional stability were more important to leadership effectiveness due to impressions of trustworthiness/calmness evoked by member-focused/resilient behavior being stronger valued. The findings highlight the benefits of a behavioral pathway approach to comprehend the effects of personality traits on distinct leadership outcomes so that leaders are not selected based on who takes the lead, but who leads effectively.

Keywords. Personality, leadership, behavioral processes.

3.2.1 Introduction

The performance and satisfaction of (work) groups crucially depend on the person who raises as a group leader and how effectively they lead the group (e.g., Pescosolido, 2001). Thereby, an individual's personality is a decisive predictor of both leadership emergence and leadership effectiveness in social groups. Furthermore, previous research has shown that personality traits often relate differently to leadership emergence versus leadership effectiveness. For example, extraversion has been found to be more decisive for leadership effectiveness (Judge et al., 2002). This means that the person who naturally arises as a group leader due to their personality might in fact not be the most suitable person to lead the group in an effective manner.

Whereas an extensive body of research demonstrates that personality traits affect leadership emergence and effectiveness and that these effects can be distinct, we do not yet understand the processes that might explain the (divergent) link between personality traits and leadership outcomes in social groups (Antonakis et al., 2012; Zaccaro et al., 2018). We open this black box between personality traits and leadership outcomes to explain the underlying causal mechanism by marrying leadership process models with process models of personality. Following process models of personality (e.g., Back et al., 2011; Grosz et al., 2020; Nestler & Back, 2013) expressed behaviors take the key role to explain the link between latent personality traits and social outcomes such as leadership emergence and effectiveness: Distal, non-directly observable personality traits must be expressed in more proximal, directly observable behaviors (behavioral expression). The expressed behaviors must then be perceived and formed to impressions by group members (interpersonal perception), which finally may be evaluated regarding leadership criteria (evaluation). In this study, we focus on three clearly distinguishable key behavioral factors (task-focus, member-focus, resilient) identified in behavioral personality science and the leadership literature that may evoke leadership-relevant interpersonal impressions (assertive, trustworthy, calm) that in turn might be differently evaluated with regard to leadership emergence versus leadership effectiveness. This way, we aim to provide a behavioral-perceptual explanatory model unraveling the divergent main effects of matching personality traits (extraversion, agreeableness, emotional stability) on leadership emergence and effectiveness (see Figure 3.2.1). For this purpose, we apply multimethodological data of four types of variables (self-reported personality traits, video recorded and coded expressed behaviors, target effects of interpersonal impressions, target effects of leadership evaluations) from an online group interaction study (N = 364) alternately assigning participants as leaders of small groups solving a problem.

Figure 3.2.1

A Behavioral Pathway Approach Linking Personality to Leadership Outcomes



The present study contributes to the leadership literature by addressing repeated calls for leadership research taking a process-driven approach to explain the "why" and "how" of the link between personality traits and leadership outcomes (e.g., Antonakis et al., 2012; A. B. Blake et al., 2022; DeRue et al., 2011; J. Hu et al., 2019; Judge et al., 2002; Zaccaro et al., 2018). In particular, we draw on process models of personality (e.g., Back et al., 2011; Grosz et al., 2020; Nestler & Back, 2013) and offer a behavioral pathway approach comprising expressed behaviors and evoked interpersonal impressions as a central explaining mechanism behind personality-leadership links. Thereby, we demonstrate that the effect of personality traits on leadership outcomes operates indirectly via expressed behaviors and interpersonal impressions. Further, we show that these behavioral pathways offer an explanation to why personality traits affect leadership emergence and effectiveness distinctively as the interpersonal impressions can be evaluated differently regarding the two leadership outcomes. Thus, taking a behavioral pathway approach appears to be a fruitful avenue to unravel the divergent main effects of personality traits on different leadership criteria by comparing the critical behavioral-perceptual processes preceding evaluations of leadership emergence and effectiveness (Marinova et al., 2012).

The present study also comes with practical implications concerning real-life organizations' leader selection and development procedures (e.g., leaderless group discussions in assessment centers; informal leadership emergence processes in leaderless work teams). A detailed understanding of the behavioral-perceptual processes explaining the divergent links between personality traits and leadership emergence versus effectiveness facilitates to focus on the specific proximal behaviors and impressions predicting leadership effectiveness rather than leadership emergence. This may help to reduce biases of selecting and developing leaders based on their apparent leaderlike personality and corresponding behaviors and evoked impressions (e.g., a strong focus on assertiveness), and rather focus on the personality traits, behaviors, and impressions that truly foster effective group leadership (e.g., also considering interpersonal warmth and calmness). Furthermore, a detailed understanding of the involved processes in personality-leadership links enhances the potential for practical applications by improving the generalizability of such findings and the identification of moderating contextual factors (e.g., Fischer et al., 2017).

3.2.2 Theoretical Background

3.2.2.1 Main Effects of Personality Traits on Leadership Outcomes. The main effects of personality traits on leadership criteria have been studied for a long time (e.g., Bass, 1990; Lord et al., 1984). A crucial advancement of research on the relationship between personality and leadership has been the differentiation between two broad categorizations of leadership criteria that represent conceptually distinct constructs: Perceptions of leadership emergence and perceptions of leadership effectiveness (e.g., Judge et al., 2002; Lord et al., 1986). Leadership emergence refers to perceptions of an individual becoming influential in a group, and thus, refers to processes of individuals appearing leaderlike, assuming responsibility, and taking the leadership role in groups (Badura et al., 2022; Hanna et al., 2021). In comparison, leadership effectiveness refers to an individual's actual performance in the leadership role, and thus, refers to processes of individuals effectively directing their group towards achieving their goals and satisfaction (e.g., DeRue et al., 2011; Judge et al., 2002). This conceptual distinction is also of practical importance because whereas organizations and teams should be most interested in identifying the person who leads effectively, this might interfere with the person who actually takes the lead.

Indeed, an extant body of research found personality traits to be differently related to perceptions of leadership emergence versus leadership effectiveness. More specifically, extraversion (characterized by attributes such as gregariousness, assertiveness, dominance, and activity) has been shown to be the personality trait that is most consistently associated with leadership emergence (Ensari et al., 2011) and related constructs such as status attainment (e.g., Anderson et al., 2001; DesJardins et al., 2015; Grosz et al., 2020). Whereas extraversion has also been shown to predict leadership effectiveness (DeRue et al., 2011), extraversion seems to be even more important to leadership emergence compared to leadership effectiveness (Judge et al., 2002). In contrast, whereas agreeableness (characterized by attributes such as trust, altruism, compliance, and modesty) has been shown to be relatively unimportant to leadership emergence (Badura et al., 2022; Ensari et al., 2011; Judge et al., 2002) and status attainment (e.g., Anderson et al., 2001), agreeableness has been shown to be decisive for leadership effectiveness (DeRue et al., 2011; Judge et al., 2002; see also Hoffman et al., 2011, for meta-analytical evidence of a positive association between the related construct honesty/integrity and leadership effectiveness). In a similar vein, emotional stability (the opposite pole of neuroticism; characterized by attributes such as calmness, resilience, positive emotionality, and relaxedness) showed rather inconsistent and low associations with leadership emergence (Badura et al., 2022; Ensari et al., 2011; cf. Judge et al., 2002) and status attainment (e.g., Anderson et al., 2001), but was consistently found to be important for leadership effectiveness (DeRue et al., 2011; Hoffman et al., 2011; Judge et al., 2002).

3.2.2.2 A Behavioral Pathway Approach Linking Personality to Leadership Outcomes. According to process models of personality (e.g., Back et al., 2011; Grosz et al., 2020; Nestler & Back, 2013), expressed behaviors that evoke interpersonal impressions take the key role to explain the mechanisms linking personality traits to social outcomes, such as leadership emergence and effectiveness. More specifically, personality traits are distinct, latent constructs that are not directly observable in interpersonal interactions. Thus, personality traits cannot affect social outcomes directly but only indirectly. Thereby, the necessary prerequisite for an impact on social outcomes is that personality traits must be expressed in more proximal observable behavior (behavioral expression). Further, the sufficient prerequisite is that these expressed behaviors are then observed and formed to even more proximal impressions by interaction partners (interpersonal perception), which, in turn, are evaluated regarding social outcomes, such as leadership emergence and effectiveness (evaluation). For example, Härtel et al. (2021) recently utilized a behavioral pathway approach to investigate how the personality trait narcissism (entitled self-importance) is linked with leadership emergence in social groups. Here. narcissists' extraverted. agentic components were expressed through dominant-expressive behaviors, yielding impressions of being seen as assertive, positively impacting narcissists' leadership emergence. Taking such a behavioral pathway approach also seems to be a promising approach to explain the effect of big five personality traits

(extraversion, agreeableness, emotional stability) on leadership emergence and effectiveness. Here, process models of personality can serve as leadership process models examining behaviors and impressions as the causal chain between distal determinants (i.e., personality traits) and leadership outcomes of leadership emergence and effectiveness.

There is vast consensus throughout behavioral personality science (R. Hogan, 1996; Wiggins, 1979) that there are two fundamental behavioral dimensions that form the basis for describing behaviors in interpersonal situations (i.e., interpersonal behaviors can be seen as a specific combination of these two dimensions): Agency (getting ahead, dominance, competence, assertiveness) referring to task functioning and goal achievement versus communion (getting along, warmth, trustworthiness) referring to functioning in social relations (e.g., Bakan, 1966; J. Hogan & Holland, 2003; Hopwood, 2018; Kiesler, 1983; Wiggins, 1991; Wojciszke et al., 2009). These behavioral dimensions have also emerged as fundamental behavioral dimensions in the leadership literature labeled as task-focus (task-orientation, initiating structure, production-centered) corresponding with agency and member-focus (member-orientation, consideration, employee-centered) corresponding with communion (Bass, 1990; R. R. Blake et al., 1962; Fleishman, 1953; Stogdill & Coons, 1957; Yukl, 2012). Task- and member-focus have been shown to be key proximal behavioral dimensions predicting leadership outcomes (e.g., Burke et al., 2006; DeRue et al., 2011; Fisher & Edwards, 1988) and repeatedly suggested as promising mediators between personality traits and leadership outcomes (e.g., Judge et al., 2004, 2009). Thereby, task-focus has been shown to match the personality trait of extraversion and member-focus has been shown to match the personality trait of agreeableness (e.g., Barford et al., 2015; Barrick et al., 2002; Leising & Bleidorn, 2011). More recently, behavioral personality science has identified a third distinct observable (especially in social stressful situations) domain of interpersonal behaviors that corresponds with the personality trait of emotional stability. This domain encompasses resilient behaviors such as coping well with stress, handling emotions, and responding in a relaxed way (Leising & Bleidorn, 2011) that should also be relevant in organizational contexts (Breil et al., 2021, 2022).

Expressed behaviors evoke interpersonal impressions that are evaluated with regard to leadership outcomes. Being seen as assertive, trustworthy, and calm should function as essential perceptual mediators that explain the link between expressed interpersonal behaviors, that is, task-focus, member-focus, and resilient behavior, respectively, and leadership outcomes. Being seen as assertive represents an interpersonal impression at the core of agency (Abele et al., 2008; Abele & Wojciszke, 2007), that should be central for leadership outcomes (e.g., Ames &

Flynn, 2007; Lord et al., 1984). Assertiveness has already been considered in previous research examining agentic pathways linking personality traits with leadership outcomes (e.g., Härtel et al., 2021; J. Hu et al., 2019). Being seen as trustworthy represents an interpersonal impression at the core of communion (Abele & Wojciszke, 2007), that should be central for leadership outcomes (e.g., Ferrin & Dirks, 2002; R. Hogan & Kaiser, 2005; Lord et al., 1984; Wolff et al., 2002). Trust has already been considered in previous research examining communal pathways linking personality traits with leadership outcomes (Härtel et al., 2021; Marinova et al., 2012). Being seen as calm might be construed as the central interpersonal impression evoked by resilient interpersonal behaviors (Breil et al., 2022; Leising & Bleidorn, 2011). Whereas calmness is not yet well embedded in the leadership literature, there are initial hints that calmness might be important to leadership outcomes, especially in crisis-driven and virtual contexts (Klus & Müller, 2021).

- Hypothesis 1a: Extraversion has an indirect effect on leadership outcomes that is mediated by task-focused behavior and interpersonal impressions of being seen as assertive.
- Hypothesis 1b: Agreeableness has an indirect effect on leadership outcomes that is mediated by member-focused behavior and interpersonal impressions of being seen as trustworthy.
- Hypothesis 1c: Emotional stability has an indirect effect on leadership outcomes that is mediated by resilient behavior and interpersonal impressions of being seen as calm.

3.2.2.3 Distinct Effects of Behavioral Pathways Linking Personality With Leadership Emergence and Effectiveness. Behavioral pathways might be the key to understanding why personality traits show distinct effects on leadership emergence and leadership effectiveness as demonstrated by previous research. Namely, extraversion is connected to both leadership outcomes (e.g., DeRue et al., 2011; Ensari et al., 2011) but seems to be even more important for leadership emergence (Judge et al., 2002). On the other hand, agreeableness and emotional stability have a strong positive association with leadership effectiveness (DeRue et al., 2011), whereas being less important for leadership emergence (Badura et al., 2022; Ensari et al., 2011; Judge et al., 2002). Behavioral pathways linking personality and leadership outcomes through expressed behaviors and evoked impressions can help to unravel these divergent main effects. For instance, the behavioral pathways proposed by Härtel et al. (2021) helped explaining the distinct main effects of narcissism on leadership emergence and popularity. Whereas narcissists' agentic side has a positive impact on leadership

emergence via dominant-expressive behaviors yielding impressions of being seen as assertive, narcissists' antagonistic side negatively affects their popularity via arrogant-aggressive behaviors yielding impressions of being seen as untrustworthy.

Within the behavioral pathways proposed above, the interpersonal impressions are particularly important to shed light on the perceptual processes distinctively linking behaviors to leadership outcomes because they represent the final link of the causal mediation chain between personality traits and leadership outcomes. Thus, interpersonal impressions may ultimately explain why personality traits exhibit different main effects on distinct leadership outcomes: The same evoked interpersonal impressions may be differently evaluated by interaction partners regarding perceptions of leadership emergence versus effectiveness. Hence, we combine previous findings of distinct main effects of personality traits on leadership emergence versus effectiveness with the behavioral pathways developed above to formulate the following three hypotheses:

- Hypothesis 2a: The indirect behavioral pathway of extraversion, task-focused behavior, and being seen as assertive is more positively related to evaluations of leadership emergence than to evaluations of leadership effectiveness.
- Hypothesis 2b: The indirect behavioral pathway of agreeableness, member-focused behavior, and being seen as trustworthy is more positively related to evaluations of leadership effectiveness than to evaluations of leadership emergence.
- Hypothesis 2c: The indirect behavioral pathway of emotional stability, resilient behavior, and being seen as calm is more positively related to evaluations of leadership effectiveness than to evaluations of leadership emergence.

3.2.3 Method

3.2.3.1 Sample. The sample consisted of 364 participants mainly recruited via social media postings, e-mail newsletters, advertising posters, and lecture announcements at two German Universities. Participants received monetary compensation composed of a fixed share of 21 and a variable share of up to 9€. University students could choose to replace the fixed share of the monetary compensation with course credit. In addition, all participants could choose to receive feedback on how well they adopted the leader instructions during the experiment.

The average age in our sample was 24.03 (SD = 4.00) with most participants (86.81%) being students from various subjects. All 364 participants (215 women) of the final sample provided complete self-reported personality traits and attended the online Zoom meeting. This sample is larger than usual samples of similar studies investigating group interactions by

computing mediation models between personality traits, behavioral measures, and social consequences (e.g., Cheng et al., 2013; Härtel et al., 2021; Küfner et al., 2013; Leckelt et al., 2015; Witkower et al., 2020).

3.2.3.2 Procedure. All procedures used in this study were in line with the recommendations of the German Research Foundation (DFG) and the German Psychological Society (DGPs). The study consisted of two parts. First, participants completed an online questionnaire collecting demographic information and self-reported personality traits. Then, participants attended an online Zoom meeting lasting 2-3 hours. For the online Zoom meetings, the sample was divided into 79 groups of four to five participants (M = 4.61). A group size of four to five is desirable because it is consistent with the size of effective working groups (Stangor, 2015), facilitates the identification of leaders (Hare, 1976), and enables all group members to participate in the discussion (Hare, 1981). Participants used their own technical equipment, namely a computer with a webcam and microphone. In each session, we assessed two groups simultaneously.

The online Zoom meetings started with all participants of the two respective groups. Participants were assigned gender-neutral code names (Van Fleet & Atwater, 1997). At the beginning of the meeting, we standardized the Zoom settings and ensured that all participants could see each other. Participants were then asked to introduce themselves in two to three sentences. Next, participants were randomly assigned to their respective groups, and the two groups were transferred to separate break-out sessions, each with its own experimenter. During the Zoom meeting, participants simultaneously filled out an online questionnaire that provided instructions³¹ and assessed perception ratings on interpersonal impressions and leadership evaluations after each round.

Corresponding to the number of group members participants completed four or five rounds of variations of the Lost on the Moon task (Hall & Watson, 1970; see also Bottger, 1984; Robins & Beer, 2001), so that each participant took over the role of the group leader once, whereby the task order was randomized. While leadership emergence has often been investigated in leaderless groups, it can also occur and has been researched in contexts with

³¹ The instructions differed slightly between four conditions, namely "competitive" versus "non-competitive" and "authoritarian" versus "participative". In the competitive condition, the variable payoff depended on the group's performance (i.e., solution quality and decision speed) relative to the other group in the same session, whereas the payoff in the non-competitive condition depended solely on the group's own performance. In the authoritarian condition, leaders were instructed to utilize an authoritarian-directive leadership style and to establish a steep hierarchy, while leaders in the participative condition were instructed to utilize a participative-inclusive leadership style and to establish a flat hierarchy. The different conditions are not further considered as they are not within the scope of the present article.

formal leadership roles (Badura et al., 2022). In the Lost on the Moon task, group members are instructed to imagine that they were crash-landed on the moon and asked to rank 15 items according to their importance for the survival of the group. The other variations of the task create similar settings, where the group members imagine themselves as survivors of plane crashes in the desert or an arctic environment, lost at sea after a maritime accident on the Atlantic Ocean, or colonists in the 18th century plagued by drought and disease. In each round, participants first had 5 minutes to rank the 15 items individually, and then up to 15 minutes to discuss their solutions in the group. The group member who was assigned the role of the group leader was made responsible for guiding the group discussion and submitting the final group ranking. Thereby, group leaders were instructed to share their screen displaying a template to rank the items. At the beginning of each group discussion, the experimenter ensured that all group members could see both the leader's shared screen and video, as well as the videos of all other group members. After the leader submitted the group ranking at the end of the group discussion, all group members evaluated the leader for this round, whereby the leader responded to the same items as self-evaluations.

3.2.3.3 Measures

3.2.3.3.1 Personality. We measured extraversion (e.g., "I am someone who is outgoing, sociable."; $\alpha = .87$), agreeableness (e.g., "I am someone who is polite, courteous to others."; $\alpha = .82$), and emotional stability (e.g., "I am someone who is relaxed, handles stress well."; $\alpha = .89$) as self-reports based on the Big Five Inventory-2 (BFI-2, Soto & John, 2017) in its German translation by Danner et al. (2019). All three personality traits were assessed with twelve items each using 5-point scales ranging from 1 (*do not agree at all*) to 6 (*agree completely*).

3.2.3.3.2 Behavioral Ratings. The behavioral ratings of task-focus, member-focus, and resilient behavior were based on the video and audio recordings during the group discussions in the Zoom meeting. The video footage included (a) the self-directed webcam recording of the leader, who was the target person of the ratings, (b) the shared screen of the leader displaying the template for the group ranking, and (c) the self-directed webcam recordings of the other group members. Six³² raters (four women), blind to the purpose of the study, independently watched the recordings³³ in individually randomized orders and made their ratings after

³² For two groups, one rater did not rate the respective group because of a personal connection to one of the participants. Hence, two groups (nine leaders) were rated by five instead of six raters.

³³ Three recordings included only the audio track of the leader without visual material because two participants had technical issues with their webcam and one participant withdraw their consent to analyze the visual material.

watching each recording. The behavioral ratings were conducted on 6-point scales ranging from 1 (*not at all*) to 6 (*very strongly*).

All raters received comprehensive training to establish a shared understanding of the behaviors to be rated and to make use of the full scale range ensuring reliable and valid assessments. The training was based on the recommendations of Grünberg et al. (2018) comprising four steps. First, the authors analyzed the recordings and identified five leaders scoring low, neutral, and high on the behavioral rating scales. Second, raters attended an initial training session comprising a lecture on the behaviors to be rated and rater biases. After this first training session, participants independently watched the five sample recordings and rated the behaviors. Third, these behavioral ratings were compared with the behavioral ratings of the authors and (dis)agreement was discussed in a second training session. Fourth, sample recordings were watched together as a team to align the behavioral ratings.

Behaviors were rated on the meso-level (circumscribed behavioral expressions), which is positioned between global label ratings (macro-level) and the counting of micro-behaviors (micro-level), because the meso-level allows ratings to be reliable and psychologically meaningful (Funder et al., 2000). Raters received rating sheets with the behavioral labels of the behavioral dimensions to be rated. To ensure that raters gained a comprehensive understanding of the behavioral dimensions, we additionally listed explanations and examples of associated behaviors for each dimension that were tailored to the specific interaction task. In particular, we listed a set of exemplary behaviors illustrating the typical behavior of low scorers (i.e., behavior to be rated with "1") and high scorers (i.e., behavior to be rated with "6"). Here, we also incorporated behaviors at the micro-level (e.g., "smiles"; "makes responsive sounds while others talk such as 'mhm'") to combine the advantages of holistically processed behavioral information and the perception of specific behavioral acts (Funder et al., 2000; Furr & Funder, 2009; Grünberg et al., 2018). For the formulation of the rating items, we leaned on examples of *The Münster Behavior Coding-System* (M-BeCoSy; Grünberg et al., 2018).

We divided task- and member-focus into three behavioral subdimensions covering more specific behaviors that recurrently have been identified as core elements of the superordinate behavioral constructs of task- and member-focus (i.e., Bass, 1990; Burke et al., 2006; Stogdill, 1963; Stogdill & Coons, 1957; Yukl, 2008, 2012a; Yukl et al., 2002, 2009).³⁴ The three

³⁴ We excluded behavioral components irrelevant to our specific social interaction task. For instance, behavioral components such as determining resource and staffing requirements for task-focus and developing/coaching (e.g., offering advice and opportunities for skill development) for member-focus were omitted, as these aspects are irrelevant in our setting of a brief group discussion.

subdimensions of task-focus were (1) "directs the group to its goals" (ICC [2,k] = .83), (2) "establishes structure" (ICC [2,k] = .78), and (3) "enforces efficiency" (ICC [2,k] = .91). The three subdimensions of member-focus were (1) "supports/acts considerately" (ICC [2,k] = .88), (2) "recognizes" (ICC [2,k] = .84), and (3) "empowers" (ICC [2,k] = .91). The ratings of the six behavioral subdimensions were ex-post aggregated to more global ratings of task-focus ($\alpha = .87$) and member-focus ($\alpha = .93$). In contrast to task- and member-focus, we did not derive distinct behavioral subdimensions for resilient behavior, as it was only relatively recently suggested as an additional fundamental dimension of interpersonal behavior (Leising & Bleidorn, 2011) and less is known about its internal dimensional structure. Instead, we rated it more holistically as a broader behavioral construct (ICC [2,k] = .63) comprising behaviors such as "taking a relaxed position", "showing calm facial expression", and "controlling one's emotions" (Breil et al., 2021).

3.2.3.3.3 Interpersonal Impressions. After each round, the other group members reported their interpersonal impressions on the respective group leader. Perceived assertiveness ("This person is assertive."), trustworthiness ("This person is trustworthy.") and calmness ("This person is calm.") were rated on 6-point scales ranging from 1 (*does not apply at all*) to 6 (*applies perfectly*). We computed target effects on the basis of the social relations model (Back & Kenny, 2010; Kenny, 1994) to capture individual differences in being seen as assertive, trustworthy and calm. Target effects were computed in *R* using the *TripleR* package (Schönbrodt et al., 2012). Partner effect reliability (Bonito & Kenny, 2010) was .68 for impressions of assertiveness, .47 for impressions of trustworthiness, and .49 for impressions of calmness.

3.2.3.3.4 Leadership Evaluations. Along with the interpersonal impression ratings, the other group members reported their leadership evaluations on the respective group leader after each round. Leadership emergence and leadership effectiveness were measured with eight items each on 6-point scales ranging from 1 (*does not apply at all*) to 6 (*applies perfectly*). For leadership emergence, the items captured the key aspects of appearing leaderlike (e.g., "I can well imagine this person as a leader."), assuming responsibility (e.g., "This person takes on responsibility."), and taking the leadership role (e.g., "This person assumes leadership duties in the group."). For leadership effectiveness, the items captured the process of effectively directing the group towards achieving their goals (e.g., "This person fosters the achievement of group goals through their leadership behavior.") and satisfaction with the leadership (e.g., "This person provides satisfaction through their leadership behavior.") as the decisive aspects of an individual's performance as a leader, as well as more direct assessments of this performance

(e.g., "This person is an effective leader."). We computed target effects for these leadership evaluations. The partner effect reliabilities of the eight items for leadership emergence lay between .58 and .71. The partner effect reliabilities for the eight items for leadership effectiveness lay between .52 and .65. Then, we aggregated the target effects for evaluations of leadership emergence ($\alpha = .96$) and evaluations of leadership effectiveness ($\alpha = .97$), respectively.

3.2.3.4 Analytical Approach. In a first step, we calculated bivariate correlations between all variables to derive general associations between variables, initial support for the predicted pathways, and indications for cross-paths. We used group-mean-centered values of personality traits, behavioral ratings, and target effects of interpersonal impressions and leader evaluations to account for the hierarchical structure of our data with participants nested in groups. Subsequently, we tested the proposed pathways (see Figure 3.2.1) and the proposed hypotheses by computing a multiple mediator model (MMM; Preacher & Hayes, 2008) based on the group-mean-centered data, while also considering cross-paths indicated by the correlation analysis. We conducted the data preparation, as well as the descriptive analysis and the correlation analysis, in R, whereas we used Mplus to specify the MMM. We used a nonparametric bootstrapping approach implemented in Mplus to compute 95% confidence intervals (CIs) for the indirect effects (IEs) to check whether the 95% CIs of the behavioral pathways linking personality with leadership outcomes preclude zero. To test for differences between IEs and specific path coefficients, we also used bootstrapping to check whether the corresponding 95% CIs of these differences preclude zero. The number of bootstrap samples was 10,000.

3.2.4 Results

3.2.4.1 Descriptive Statistics and Bivariate Correlations. Table 3.2.1 provides descriptive statistics and intercorrelations of all measures used in our analysis. The bivariate correlations provided initial insights into the proposed pathways between personality traits and leadership outcomes. For the extraversion pathway, all component variables (i.e., extraversion, task-focused behavior, and being seen as assertive) were positively correlated with each other and with both leadership emergence and leadership effectiveness. Hence, the bivariate correlations support the expected effect of the extraversion pathway as well as the individual connections between its component variables as proposed in Hypothesis 1a. For the agreeableness pathway, the correlations between all component variables (i.e., agreeableness, member-focused behavior, and being seen as trustworthy) were positive. Being seen as trustworthy was positively correlated with leadership emergence and effectiveness, which

provides initial evidence in favor of Hypothesis 1b. For the emotional stability pathway, whereas not all component variables (i.e., emotional stability, resilient behavior, and being seen as calm) were significantly correlated with each other, the postulated connections as proposed in the pathway all showed significant correlations. Namely, emotional stability was correlated with resilient behavior, which was correlated with being seen as calm. Further, regarding the final link to leadership outcomes, being seen as calm was positively correlated with leadership effectiveness. Taken together, these correlations provide initial support for the pathway from emotional stability to leadership outcomes as proposed in Hypothesis 1c.

Table 3.2.1

Descriptive Statistics and Bivariate Correlations

		n ^a	M	SD	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11
1.	Extraversion	364	3.38	0.64	-	.05	.35	.22	02	02	.20	02	.00	.23	.21
2.	Agreeableness	364	3.81	0.53		-	.27	04	.15	.04	05	.11	.00	.01	.04
3.	Emotional stability	364	3.28	0.69			-	.15	05	.12	.13	05	02	.16	.12
4.	Task-focused behavior	363	3.46	1.09				-	01	.14	.55	.15	15	.58	.51
5.	Member-focused behavior	363	3.57	1.20					-	.46	04	.36	.26	.09	.26
6.	Resilient behavior	363	3.61	0.94						-	.04	.18	.23	.07	.19
7.	Being seen as assertive	360	4.10	0.80							-	.31	01	.87	.70
8.	Being seen as trustworthy	360	4.48	0.68								-	.49	.42	.62
9.	Being seen as calm	360	4.57	0.69									-	.08	.31
10.	Leadership emergence	360	4.02	0.71										-	.86
11. Leadership effectiveness		360	4.06	0.74											-

Note. Means and standard deviations were calculated on raw scores. Correlations were calculated on group-mean-centered scores to account for nesting in groups.

^a Few participants dropped out due to technical difficulties during the online Zoom meeting resulting in some missing observations of behaviors, interpersonal impressions, and leadership evaluations.

Correlations printed in bold were significant at the p < .05 level.

Furthermore, the bivariate correlations provided indications for additional cross-paths between the three pathways that should be considered in the MMM. Specifically, we added cross-paths to the MMM between emotional stability and task-focused behavior, between task-focused behavior and being seen as trustworthy/being seen as calm, between member-focused behavior and being seen as calm, and between resilient behavior and being seen as trustworthy.

3.2.4.2 Model Results. Figure 3.2.2 presents the results of our MMM including the three postulated pathways linking personality traits with leadership outcomes as well as the cross-paths identified in the correlation analysis. The model-fit indices (RMSEA = .090; SRMR = .035; CFI = .963; TLI = .913) suggested a good fit to the data (Bentler, 1990; L. T. Hu & Bentler, 1998).

As theorized, the effect of personality traits on leadership emergence and effectiveness was mediated by behaviors and impressions. In line with Hypothesis 1a, extraversion was expressed in task-focused behavior ($\beta = .199$; p < .001), which was reflected in being seen as assertive ($\beta = .555$, p < .001), which, in turn, was related to perceived leadership emergence ($\beta = .799$, p < .001) and effectiveness ($\beta = .564$, p < .001). In line with Hypothesis 1b, agreeableness was expressed in member-focused behavior ($\beta = .155$, p = .002), which was associated with being seen as trustworthy ($\beta = .371$, p < .001), which then was related to leadership emergence ($\beta = .181$, p < .001) and effectiveness ($\beta = .384$, p < .001). Finally, in line with Hypothesis 1c, emotional stability was expressed in resilient behavior ($\beta = .164$, p = .001) leading to impressions of being seen as calm ($\beta = .173$, p = .007). Impressions of being seen as calm were not significantly linked with leadership emergence ($\beta = -.003$, p = .91) but were positively related to leadership effectiveness ($\beta = .128$, p = .02).

Figure 3.2.2

Model Results of the Behavioral Pathways Linking Personality to Leadership Outcomes



Table 3.2.2 provides the direct effects and IEs for all three pathways, as well as a comparison between the IEs on leadership emergence versus leadership effectiveness for each pathway. As expected, the extraversion pathway exerted a positive IE on both leadership emergence ($\beta = .088$, 95% CI [.041, .142]) and leadership effectiveness ($\beta = .062$, 95% CI [.029, .102]). This result supports Hypothesis 1a, although it is noteworthy that extraversion is the only personality trait in our model with significant direct effects on leadership emergence and leadership effectiveness beyond the IEs. Likewise, the agreeableness pathway had positive and significant IEs on both leadership emergence ($\beta = .010$,

95% CI [.003, .021]) and leadership effectiveness ($\beta = .022, 95\%$ CI [.007, .042]) supporting Hypothesis 1b. The emotional stability pathway, however, did not exert a significant IE on leadership emergence ($\beta = .000, 95\%$ CI [-.002, .002]), but only on leadership effectiveness ($\beta = .004, 95\%$ CI [.000 .009]). Nevertheless, the IE of emotional stability on leadership effectiveness provides support for Hypothesis 1c.

Table 3.2.2

Direct und maineet Effects of I ersonally Traits on Leadership Outcomes	Direct and	l Indirect	Effects	of Perso	nality Ti	raits on	Leadership	Outcomes
---	------------	------------	---------	----------	-----------	----------	------------	-----------------

		Leadership emergence					Le	eadersh	ip effe	ΔΙΕ				
					95%	6 CI				95% CI			95% CI	
		DE	p_{DE}	IE	LLIE	ULIE	DE	p_{DE}	IE	LLIE	ULIE	IE	LLIE	ULIE
1.	Extraversion	.055	.030	.088	.041	.142	.091	.004	.062	.029	.102	026	044	011
2.	Agreeableness	.014	.61	.010	.003	.021	.009	.79	.022	.007	.042	.012	.003	.022
3.	Emotional stability	.041	.14	.000	002	.002	.036	.30	.004	.000	.009	.004	.001	.009
3.	Emotional stability	.041	.14	.000	002	.002	.036	.30	.004	.000	.009	.004	.001	_

Note. DE = direct effect, IE = indirect effect, CI = confidence interval, LL = lower limit, UL = upper limit. DEs and IEs printed in bold are significant at the p < .05 level.

Regarding Hypotheses 2a-c, the comparison of IEs revealed that the effects of all three pathways differed significantly between the two leadership outcomes, leadership emergence and effectiveness. In addition, we also compared the final paths between interpersonal impressions and leadership outcomes as the decisive link for these divergent effects. The results for the extraversion pathway support Hypothesis 2a. The IE of extraversion on leadership effectiveness was significantly smaller than the IE on leadership emergence ($\Delta\beta = -.026$, 95% CI [-.044, -.011]) because being seen as assertive had a weaker impact on leadership effectiveness than on leadership emergence ($\Delta\beta = -.236, 95\%$ CI [-.284, -.184]). The other way around, and in line with Hypothesis 2b, the agreeableness pathway had a significantly stronger IE on leadership effectiveness compared to leadership emergence ($\Delta\beta = .012$, 95% CI [.003, .022]) because being seen as trustworthy had a stronger impact on leadership effectiveness than on leadership emergence ($\Delta\beta = .203$, 95% CI [.152, .255]). Finally, the emotional stability pathway provided evidence in favor of Hypothesis 2c. Emotional stability showed a stronger IE on leadership effectiveness compared to leadership emergence ($\Delta\beta = .004$, 95% CI [.001, .009]) because being seen as calm had a stronger impact on leadership effectiveness than on leadership emergence ($\Delta\beta = .131, 95\%$ CI [.085, .180]).

3.2.5 Discussion

In the present study, we explore behavioral pathways to shed light on the enigmatic and divergent effects of personality traits on leadership effectiveness and emergence. To this end,

we first showed that personality traits affect leadership outcomes indirectly via expressed behaviors and interpersonal impressions. For extraversion, we found an indirect effect on leadership emergence and effectiveness via task-focused behavior and interpersonal impressions of being seen as assertive (Hypothesis 1a). In a similar manner, we found an indirect effect of agreeableness on both leadership outcomes via member-focused behavior and interpersonal impressions of being seen as trustworthy (Hypothesis 1b). Finally, we found that emotional stability indirectly affects leadership effectiveness via resilient behavior and interpersonal impressions of being seen as calm (Hypothesis 1c). After establishing the behavioral pathways, we utilized them to unravel the divergent main effects between personality traits and leadership emergence versus effectiveness. In line with research suggesting that extraversion should be more decisive for emerging as a leader than for actually effectively leading a group (e.g., Ensari et al., 2011; Judge et al., 2002), we found the agentic extraversion pathway to be more important for leadership emergence compared to leadership effectiveness (Hypothesis 2a). More specifically, we found extraverts to behave in a task-focused manner evoking impressions of being seen as assertive that were positively evaluated with regard to leadership emergence and effectiveness. The behavioral pathway enables to track down why exactly extraversion might be more decisive for leadership emergence compared to effectiveness: Being seen as assertive was even more positively evaluated by group members with regard to leadership emergence than with regard to leadership effectiveness. In comparison, in line with research suggesting that agreeableness should be more decisive for effectively leading a group than for emerging as a group leader (e.g., DeRue et al., 2011; Ensari et al., 2011; Judge et al., 2002), we found the communal agreeableness pathway to be more important for leadership effectiveness compared to leadership emergence (Hypothesis 2b). Specifically, we found agreeable individuals to behave in a member-focused manner evoking impressions of being seen as trustworthy, which were more positively evaluated by group members with regard to leadership effectiveness compared to leadership emergence. In a similar vein, in line with research suggesting that emotional stability should be more decisive for effectively leading a group than for emerging as a group leader (Badura et al., 2022; DeRue et al., 2011; Ensari et al., 2011; Hoffman et al., 2011; cf. Judge et al., 2002), we found the resilient emotional stability pathway to be more important for leadership effectiveness compared to leadership emergence (Hypothesis 2c). In particular, we found emotionally stable individuals to behave in a resilient manner evoking impressions of being seen as calm, which were more positively evaluated by group members with regard to leadership effectiveness compared to leadership emergence.

3.2.5.1 Theoretical Implications. With this study, we follow multiple calls in the leadership literature (e.g., Antonakis et al., 2012; DeRue et al., 2011; Judge et al., 2002; Zaccaro et al., 2018) to open the "black box" (i.e., the unknown proximal mechanisms) to explain the enigmatic divergent links between distal personality traits and leadership outcomes. Thereby, we address more specific calls (e.g., Banks et al., 2021; A. B. Blake et al., 2022; J. Hu et al., 2019; Judge et al., 2004, 2009) to focus on truly behavioral constructs, which represent the key linking mechanism between personality traits and social outcomes in process models of personality (e.g., Back et al., 2011; Grosz et al., 2020; Nestler & Back, 2013). For this purpose, we drew on behavioral personality science (e.g., R. Hogan, 1996; Wiggins, 1979; Wojciszke et al., 2009) and focused on three conceptually distinct interpersonal behaviors (task-focus, member-focus, resilient) that represent the fundamental behavioral building blocks across a wide range of social situations including organizational and leadership contexts (Breil et al., 2022; Leising & Bleidorn, 2011). These behaviors can be matched with leadership-relevant big five personality traits (extraversion, agreeableness, emotional stability) and fundamentally evoked interpersonal impressions (assertive, trustworthy, calm) to understand the why and how of the puzzling links between personality traits and leadership outcomes in social groups.

The key links of the causal mediation chain to explain personality trait's divergent relation with leadership outcomes are the personality-evoked interpersonal impressions that were differently weighted by interaction partners in terms of leadership emergence and effectiveness: Extraversion-evoked impressions of assertiveness were more strongly evaluated in terms of leadership emergence, whereas agreeableness-/emotional stability-evoked impressions of trustworthiness/calmness were more strongly evaluated in terms of leadership effectiveness. However, the theoretical basis for the different evaluation of these interpersonal impressions remains unsolved. A promising approach may be to lay out these findings in the agency/communion-framework (e.g., Bakan, 1966; R. Hogan, 1982; Kiesler, 1983; Wiggins, 1991). In the case of leadership emergence, the agency component may be more influential because it pertains to the pursuit of individual goals such as self-oriented status and leadership attainment. As a result, the core agentic impression of assertiveness (e.g., Abele et al., 2008; Abele & Wojciszke, 2007) may be given greater weight. In contrast, for leadership effectiveness, the communal component may become more salient, when other-oriented action gains importance such as managing group members and aligning group processes to effectively achieve shared goals. Under these circumstances, the core communal impression of trustworthiness (e.g., Abele & Wojciszke, 2007) may receive greater weight. Another explanatory approach could be the application of prototypical leadership theories (e.g., Foti et al., 1982; Lord et al., 1984; Offermann et al., 1994; Shondrick et al., 2010), which describe typical leader characteristics that should be particularly conducive to rising to a leadership position. When visualizing a typical leader, people may intuitively think of someone who is assertive rather than trustworthy or calm. This could provide a supplementary piece of the puzzle as to why being perceived as assertive may be more valued in terms of leadership emergence, whereas being seen as trustworthy/calm may be rather valued in terms of leadership effectiveness. In line with this notion, Offermann et al. (1994) found prototypical leaders to be more characterized by dominant-assertive attributes compared to prototypical effective leaders, whereas sensitive-trustworthy attributes were slightly more pronounced in prototypical effective leaders. However, prototypical leadership theories typically feature agentic, communal, and occasionally resilient characteristics, making it challenging to discern a clear pattern. Following a more top-down approach on the behavioral pathways linking personality traits with leadership outcomes will help to further embed the present findings in existing theory and contribute to a deeper understanding of the behavioral-perceptual mechanisms linking personality traits with leadership outcomes.

Overall, the comparative behavioral pathway approach adopted in the present study enabled us to reveal important differences and similarities in the behavioral and perceptual processes that make a person raise as the leader of a group versus that make a person an effective group leader. Thereby, the present study contributes to the nascent literature on leadership process models (e.g., Antonakis et al., 2012; Zaccaro et al., 2018) by marrying it with the literature streams of process models of personality (e.g., Back et al., 2011; Grosz et al., 2020; Nestler & Back, 2013) and behavioral personality science (e.g., Leising & Bleidorn, 2011), which creates a powerful framework to unravel personality traits' enigmatic and divergent impacts on conceptually distinct leadership outcomes (see also Marinova et al., 2012). Adopting such a comparative behavioral pathway approach may not be restricted to leadership contexts, but also opens up a promising avenue to shed light on similarly enigmatic and divergent main effects of personality traits on a broad range of social outcomes such as popularity, status, and interpersonal attraction (see also Härtel et al., 2021).

3.2.5.2 Practical Implications. The present study also has practical implications on how organizations may design their leader selection and development procedures. Research suggests that the person who naturally raises as a leader may not necessarily be the person that leads most effectively (e.g., Judge et al., 2002). The present results complement these findings by suggesting that this may be due to personality-evoked interpersonal behaviors and impressions being differently evaluated regarding perceptions of leadership emergence versus

effectiveness. This finding is of practical importance as interpersonal behaviors and impressions represent more easily observable and concrete proximal indicators of effective leadership than less visible and more abstract distal personality traits. Thus, interpersonal behaviors and impressions have a more direct and powerful impact on leadership outcomes (see Hoffman et al., 2011). Organizations may therefore be advised to align their leader selection and development procedures to valuing the interpersonal behaviors and impressions that foster leadership effectiveness rather than emergence. The present study uncovers such undervalued behaviors and impressions, that is, member-focus and resilient behavior, along with the accompanying impressions of trustworthiness and calmness. Task-focused behavior and impressions of assertiveness also seem to be important for leadership effectiveness, but, in comparison, they seem to be somewhat overvalued when it comes to the question of who raises as a leader.

When designing specific leader selection procedures, following trait activation theory (Tett & Guterman, 2000), organizations should aim to create scenarios that make the expression of leadership relevant personality traits and the corresponding behavioral differences and impressions clearly visible. For example, in the context of an assessment center, a role play task could be conducted for which the candidate needs to prepare under intense time pressure, triggering the expression of interindividual differences in emotional stability, resilient behavior and impressions of calmness. The candidate might then be required to comfort an upset role player with emphatic, sensitive handling, triggering the expression of interindividual differences in agreeableness, member-focused behavior and impressions of trustworthiness (see also Breil et al., 2021, 2022). The formal candidate evaluation should then be geared towards the positive evaluation of such expressed behaviors and evoked impressions. Insights on the specific behaviors and impressions that foster effective leadership are also critical for designing effective leader development procedures. Whereas personality traits represent stable interindividual differences that can hardly be altered, leaders can learn to adapt their behavior and thus, the impressions they convey. Leader trainings aligned to teaching member-focused and resilient behavior therefore seems a promising leader development approach (see Lacerenza et al., 2017). Organizations may complement such trainings with feedback instruments. For instance, organizations could imply regular follower feedback or more comprehensive 360-degree feedback measures that report the extent to which the outlined effective leadership behaviors are being implemented and how well leaders evoke the associated desired impressions.
3.2.5.3 Limitations and Future Research. First, we focused on higher-order variables to gain a basic understanding of the behavioral-perceptual mechanisms that connect personality traits to leadership outcomes. Future research may delve deeper into these mechanisms by examining each of the four variable types (traits, behaviors, impressions, leadership evaluations) on a higher-resolved level. For example, future research might explore more specific behavioral pathways that focus on facets of personality traits (e.g., dominance, sociability, and gregariousness for extraversion; A. B. Blake et al., 2022; J. Hu et al., 2019; see also Judge et al., 2013). Likewise, task- and member-focus represent multidimensional behavioral constructs that can be broken down into more fine-grained components (Yukl, 2012; Yukl et al., 2002). Future research might even zoom into behaviors at the micro-level such as counting specific verbal statements (e.g., allowing someone to speak) and non-verbal gestures (e.g., dominant pointing gestures; see Grünberg et al., 2018). This would contribute to a more nuanced understanding of the enigmatic personality consequences in leadership contexts.

Second, in a similar vein, future research may explore additional pathways through which personality traits could impact leadership outcomes. For example, we found significant direct effects of extraversion on leadership emergence and effectiveness, which suggests that the agentic extraversion pathway as formulated in this study only represents a part of extraversion's total effect on these leadership outcomes. The direct effect was particularly pronounced for extraversion and leadership effectiveness. It is possible, for instance, that extraversion's warmth components (e.g., Costa & McCrae, 1995), apart from impressions of assertiveness, extraversion-evoked may have contributed to extraversion-evoked impressions of trustworthiness, both of which being important for effective leadership. We also still lack understanding of the behavioral-perceptual links of the remaining big five personality traits conscientiousness (cf. Marinova et al., 2012) and openness with leadership outcomes. Future research could develop further behavioral process models and examine behavioral dimensions like competent behavior (e.g., Breil et al., 2022) for conscientiousness or change-oriented behavior (e.g., DeRue et al., 2011) for openness.

Third, in the present study, we distinguished between leadership emergence and effectiveness at the perceptual level, that is, we explicitly asked group members about their perceptions of these conceptually distinct leadership outcomes after they interacted in short group tasks. Even within such a brief time frame, clear differences in perceptions of leadership emergence versus effectiveness became evident. Also, personality traits showed diverging leadership impacts with personality-evoked impressions being evaluated differently regarding the two leadership outcomes. However, in naturally emerging social groups, questions about

becoming a leader and the group leader's effectiveness typically arise at different stages of the group processes (Ong et al., 2016): Leadership emergence processes are characterized by lack of information (R. Hogan et al., 1994; Judge et al., 2002) and uncertainty (Marinova et al., 2012) at the beginning of group processes, whereas leadership effectiveness processes usually occur at later stages when the group leader has already been selected and is providing signals of effective leadership (Ong et al., 2016). Future research should validate whether the behavioral-perceptual pathways distinctively linking personality traits to leadership emergence and effectiveness can be replicated in naturally developing groups over time. This could be achieved through multi-method laboratory studies that videotape group interactions at multiple measurement points over several weeks (e.g., Leckelt et al., 2015). Thereby, more objective measures of leadership emergence, such as quantifying omitted influence (e.g., speaking time, correspondence between individual and group solution), and of leadership effectiveness, such as objective criteria of group performance (e.g., decision-making speed, quality of the group solution), may be included. Future research may also complement continuous assessments in real-life teams operating in natural environments (e.g., educational, sport, and business contexts; Wrzus & Mehl, 2015). To this end, ambulatory assessment methods such as daily-diary methods or interaction-based experience sampling may be appropriate (Harari et al., 2016; Larson & Csikszentmihalyi, 2014; see also Leckelt et al., 2019). This would help to demonstrate the robustness of the present findings across extended time periods, natural settings, and objective measures of leadership emergence and effectiveness.

Fourth, whereas a pattern of divergent main effects between personality traits and leadership outcomes emerged in the leadership literature, there are also some contradictory findings to this pattern (e.g., Badura et al., 2022; A. B. Blake et al., 2022; Ensari et al., 2011; Judge et al., 2002), which suggests that there may be moderators at play affecting these personality-leadership relationships. The present study contributes to our understanding of the processes by which personality is related to leadership outcomes, facilitating to identify such moderators. These moderators can intervene at any stage of the mediation process and strengthen or weaken specific links in personality-leadership pathways (e.g., Grosz et al., 2020; see also Tett & Burnett, 2003). For example, the present study was conducted in virtual groups due to restrictions of the COVID-19 pandemic. This online context may have influenced the expression of personality traits in behaviors. For instance, the expression of low emotional stability in nervous behaviors may be reduced when there is less confrontative face-to-face interaction. In terms of the link between behaviors and impressions, some information may be lost due to limitations in video and audio quality. Also, the evaluation of evoked impressions

may have been impacted. For example, impressions of trustworthiness may be more positively evaluated in virtual groups, in which a strong foundation of trust becomes crucial to facilitate effective group processes (Breuer et al., 2016). Future research may thus examine the replicability of the present findings in face-to-face groups and move on to other promising contextual moderators. For example, considering the trend of increasingly volatile, uncertain, complex, and ambiguous organizational environments (Bennett & Lemoine, 2014), it seems fruitful to investigate how such dynamic and crisis-driven contexts may affect the behavioral-perceptual pathways linking personality traits with leadership outcomes (see also De Hoogh et al., 2005). Here, task-focus and assertiveness as well as resilient behavior and calmness could become more important due to the need for quick and decisive actions while maintaining a level head in stressful situations. In comparison, member-focus and trustworthiness may be pushed to the background (e.g., Stoker et al., 2019). Understanding how contextual moderators influence the behavioral-perceptual pathways is also important for tailoring leader selection and development procedures to a team's and organization's surrounding factors.

3.2.5.4 Conclusion. The present study underlines the potential of integrating leadership process models with process models of personality and behavioral personality science to unravel the puzzling impacts of personality traits on leadership outcomes.

3.2.6 References

- Abele, A. E., Cuddy, A. J. C., Judd, C. M., & Yzerbyt, V. Y. (2008). Fundamental dimensions of social judgment. *European Journal of Social Psychology*, 38(7), 1063–1065. https://doi.org/10.1002/ejsp.574
- Abele, A. E., & Wojciszke, B. (2007). Agency and communion from the perspective of self versus others. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 93(5), 751–763. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.93.5.751
- Ames, D. R., & Flynn, F. J. (2007). What breaks a leader: The curvilinear relation between assertiveness and leadership. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 92(2), 307–324. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.92.2.307
- Anderson, C., John, O. P., Keltner, D., & Kring, A. M. (2001). Who attains social status? Effects of personality and physical attractiveness in social groups. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 81(1), 116–132. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.81.1.116
- Antonakis, J., Bastardoz, N., & Rönkkö, M. (2021). On ignoring the random effects assumption in multilevel models: Review, critique, and recommendations. *Organizational Research Methods*, 24(2), 443–483. https://doi.org/10.1177/1094428119877457
- Antonakis, J., Day, D. v, & Schyns, B. (2012). Leadership and individual differences: At the cusp of a renaissance. *The Leadership Quarterly*, *23*(4), 643–650. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2012.05.002
- Back, M. D., Baumert, A., Denissen, J. J. A., Hartung, F.-M., Penke, L., Schmukle, S. C., Schönbrodt, F. D., Schröder-Abé, M., Vollmann, M., Wagner, J., & Wrzus, C. (2011).
 PERSOC: A unified framework for understanding the dynamic interplay of personality and social relationships. *European Journal of Personality*, 25(2), 90–107. https://doi.org/10.1002/per.811
- Back, M. D., & Kenny, D. A. (2010). The social relations model: How to understand dyadic processes. Social and Personality Psychology Compass, 4(10), 855–870. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1751-9004.2010.00303.x
- Badura, K. L., Galvin, B. M., & Lee, M. Y. (2022). Leadership emergence: An integrative review. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 107(11), 2069–2100. https://doi.org/10.1037/ap10000997
- Bakan, D. (1966). *The duality of human existence: An essay on psychology and religion*. Rand Mcnally. https://doi.org/10.1002/1520-6696(196801)4:1%3C88::AID-JHBS2300040115%3E3.0.CO;2-E.
- Banks, G. C., Woznyj, H. M., & Mansfield, C. A. (2021). Where is "behavior" in organizational behavior? A call for a revolution in leadership research and beyond. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 101581. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2021.101581
- Barford, K. A., Zhao, K., & Smillie, L. D. (2015). Mapping the interpersonal domain: Translating between the big five, HEXACO, and interpersonal circumplex. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 86, 232–237. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2015.05.038
- Barrick, M. R., Stewart, G. L., & Piotrowski, M. (2002). Personality and job performance: Test of the mediating effects of motivation among sales representatives. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 87, 43–51. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.87.1.43
- Bass, B. M. (1990). Bass & Stogdill's handbook of leadership: Theory, research, and managerial applications (3rd ed.). Free Press.
- Bennett, N., & Lemoine, G. J. (2014). What a difference a word makes: Understanding threats to performance in a VUCA world. *Business Horizons*, *57*(3), 311–317. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bushor.2014.01.001

- Bentler, P. M. (1990). Comparative fit indexes in structural models. *Psychological Bulletin*, 107(2), 238–246. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.107.2.238
- Blake, A. B., Luu, V. H., Petrenko, O. v., Gardner, W. L., Moergen, K. J. N., & Ezerins, M. E. (2022). Let's agree about nice leaders: A literature review and meta-analysis of agreeableness and its relationship with leadership outcomes. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 33(1), 101593. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.LEAQUA.2021.101593
- Blake, R. R., Mouton, J. S., & Bidwell, A. C. (1962). Managerial grid. Advanced Management - Office Executive, 1(9), 12–15.
- Bonito, J. A., & Kenny, D. A. (2010). The measurement of reliability of social relations components from round-robin designs. *Personal Relationships*, *17*(2), 235–251. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1475-6811.2010.01274.x
- Bottger, P. C. (1984). Expertise and air time as bases of actual and perceived influence in problem-solving groups. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *69*(2), 214–221. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.69.2.214
- Breil, S. M., Forthmann, B., & Back, M. D. (2021). Measuring distinct social skills via multiple speed assessments. *European Journal of Psychological Assessment*, 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1027/1015-5759/a000657
- Breil, S. M., Lievens, F., Forthmann, B., & Back, M. D. (2022). Interpersonal behavior in assessment center role-play exercises: Investigating structure, consistency, and effectiveness. *Personnel Psychology*. https://doi.org/10.1111/peps.12507
- Breuer, C., Hüffmeier, J., & Hertel, G. (2016). Does trust matter more in virtual teams? A meta-analysis of trust and team effectiveness considering virtuality and documentation as moderators. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 101(8), 1151–1177. https://doi.org/10.1037/ap10000113
- Burke, C. S., Stagl, K. C., Klein, C., Goodwin, G. F., Salas, E., & Halpin, S. M. (2006). What type of leadership behaviors are functional in teams? A meta-analysis. *The Leadership Quarterly*, *17*(3), 288–307. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2006.02.007
- Cheng, J. T., Tracy, J. L., Foulsham, T., Kingstone, A., & Henrich, J. (2013). Two ways to the top: Evidence that dominance and prestige are distinct yet viable avenues to social rank and influence. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 104(1), 103–125. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0030398
- Costa, P. T., & McCrae, R. R. (1995). Domains and facets: Hierarchical personality assessment using the revised NEO Personality Inventory. *Journal of Personality Assessment*, 64(1), 21–50. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15327752jpa6401_2
- Danner, D., Rammstedt, B., Bluemke, M., Lechner, C., Berres, S., Knopf, T., Soto, C. J., & John, O. P. (2019). Das Big Five Inventar 2: Validierung eines
 Persönlichkeitsinventars zur Erfassung von 5 Persönlichkeitsdomänen und 15
 Facetten. *Diagnostica*, 65(3), 121–132. https://doi.org/10.1026/0012-1924/a000218
- De Hoogh, A. H. B., den Hartog, D. N., & Koopman, P. L. (2005). Linking the big fivefactors of personality to charismatic and transactional leadership; perceived dynamic work environment as a moderator. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 26(7), 839– 865. https://doi.org/10.1002/JOB.344
- DeRue, D. S., Nahrgang, J. D., Wellman, N., & Humphrey, S. E. (2011). Trait and behavioral theories of leadership: An integration and meta-analytic test of their relative validity. *Personnel Psychology*, *64*(1), 7–52. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-6570.2010.01201.x
- DesJardins, N. M. L., Srivastava, S., Küfner, A. C. P., & Back, M. D. (2015). Who attains status? Similarities and differences across social contexts. *Social Psychological and Personality Science*, 6(6), 692–700. https://doi.org/10.1177/1948550615580171
- Ensari, N., Riggio, R. E., Christian, J., & Carslaw, G. (2011). Who emerges as a leader? Meta-analyses of individual differences as predictors of leadership emergence.

Personality and Individual Differences, *51*(4), 532–536. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2011.05.017

- Ferrin, D. L., & Dirks, K. T. (2002). Trust in leadership: Meta-analytic findings and implications for research and practice. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 87(4), 611–628. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.87.4.611
- Fischer, T., Dietz, J., & Antonakis, J. (2017). Leadership process models: A review and synthesis. *Journal of Management*, 43(6), 1726–1753. https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206316682830
- Fisher, B. M., & Edwards, J. E. (1988). Consideration and initiating structure and their relationships with leader effectiveness: A meta-analysis. *Academy of Management Proceedings*, 1988(1), 201–205. https://doi.org/10.5465/ambpp.1988.4980535
- Fleishman, E. A. (1953). The description of supervisory behavior. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *37*(1), 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0056314
- Foti, R. J., Fraser, S. L., & Lord, R. G. (1982). Effects of leadership labels and prototypes on perceptions of political leaders. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 67(3), 326–333. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.67.3.326
- Funder, D. C., Furr, R. M., & Colvin, C. R. (2000). The Riverside Behavioral Q-sort: A tool for the description of social behavior. *Journal of Personality*, 68(3), 451–489. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-6494.00103
- Furr, R. M., & Funder, D. C. (2009). Behavioral observation. In R. W. Robins, C. Fraley, & R. F. Krueger (Eds.), *Handbook of research methods in personality psychology* (pp. 273–291). Guilford Press.
- Grosz, M. P., Leckelt, M., & Back, M. D. (2020). Personality predictors of social status attainment. *Current Opinion in Psychology*, *33*, 52–56. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copsyc.2019.07.023
- Grünberg, M., Mattern, J., Geukes, K., Küfner, A. C. P., & Back, M. D. (2018). Assessing group interactions in personality psychology: The Münster Behavior Coding-System (M-BeCoSy). In E. Brauner, M. Boos, & M. Kolbe (Eds.), *Cambridge handbooks in psychology. The Cambridge handbook of group interaction analysis* (pp. 602–611). Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/9781316286302.042
- Hall, J., & Watson, W. H. (1970). The effects of a normative intervention on group decisionmaking performance. *Human Relations*, 23(4), 299–317. https://doi.org/10.1177/001872677002300404
- Hanna, A. A., Smith, T. A., Kirkman, B. L., & Griffin, R. W. (2021). The emergence of emergent leadership: A comprehensive framework and directions for future research. *Journal of Management*, 47(1), 76–104. https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206320965683
- Harari, G. M., Lane, N. D., Wang, R., Crosier, B. S., Campbell, A. T., & Gosling, S. D. (2016). Using smartphones to collect behavioral data in psychological science: Opportunities, practical considerations, and challenges. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, 11(6), 838–854. https://doi.org/10.1177/1745691616650285
- Hare, A. P. (1976). Handbook of small group research (2nd ed.). Free Press.
- Hare, A. P. (1981). Group size. *American Behavioral Scientist*, 24(5), 695–708. https://doi.org/10.1177/000276428102400507
- Härtel, T. M., Leckelt, M., Grosz, M. P., Küfner, A. C. P., Geukes, K., & Back, M. D. (2021). Pathways from narcissism to leadership emergence in social groups. *European Journal of Personality*, 35(5), 1–23. https://doi.org/10.1177/08902070211046266
- Hoffman, B. J., Woehr, D. J., Maldagen-Youngjohn, R., & Lyons, B. D. (2011). Great man or great myth? A quantitative review of the relationship between individual differences and leader effectiveness. *Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology*, 84(2), 347–381. https://doi.org/10.1348/096317909X485207

- Hogan, J., & Holland, B. (2003). Using theory to evaluate personality and job-performance relations: A socioanalytic perspective. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 88(1), 100–112. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.88.1.100
- Hogan, R. (1982). A socioanalytic theory of personality. In M. M. Page (Ed.), *1982 Nebraska symposium on motivation* (pp. 55–89). University of Nebraska Press.
- Hogan, R. (1996). A socioanalytic perpective on the five-factor model. In J. S. Wiggins (Ed.), *The five-factor model of personality: Theoretical perspectives* (pp. 163–179). Guilford Press.
- Hogan, R., Curphy, G. J., & Hogan, J. (1994). What we know about leadership: Effectiveness and personality. *American Psychologist*, *49*(6), 493–504. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.49.6.493
- Hogan, R., & Kaiser, R. B. (2005). What we know about leadership. *Review of General Psychology*, 9(2), 169–180. https://doi.org/10.1037/1089-2680.9.2.169
- Hopwood, C. J. (2018). Interpersonal dynamics in personality and personality disorders. *European Journal of Personality*, 32(5), 499–524. https://doi.org/10.1002/per.2155
- Hu, J., Zhang, Z., Jiang, K., & Chen, W. (2019). Getting ahead, getting along, and getting prosocial: Examining extraversion facets, peer reactions, and leadership emergence. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 104(11), 1369–1386. https://doi.org/10.1037/apl0000413
- Hu, L. T., & Bentler, P. M. (1998). Fit indices in covariance structure modeling: Sensitivity to underparameterized model misspecification. *Psychological Methods*, 3(4), 424–453. https://doi.org/10.1037/1082-989X.3.4.424
- Judge, T. A., Bono, J. E., Ilies, R., & Gerhardt, M. W. (2002). Personality and leadership: A qualitative and quantitative review. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 87(4), 765–780. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.87.4.765
- Judge, T. A., Piccolo, R. F., & Ilies, R. (2004). The forgotten ones? The validity of consideration and initiating structure in leadership research. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 89(1), 36–51. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.89.1.36
- Judge, T. A., Piccolo, R. F., & Kosalka, T. (2009). The bright and dark sides of leader traits: A review and theoretical extension of the leader trait paradigm. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 20(6), 855–875. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2009.09.004
- Judge, T. A., Rodell, J. B., Klinger, R. L., Simon, L. S., & Crawford, E. R. (2013). Hierarchical representations of the five-factor model of personality in predicting job performance: Integrating three organizing frameworks with two theoretical perspectives. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 98(6), 875–925. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0033901
- Kenny, D. A. (1994). Interpersonal perception: A social relations analysis. Guilford Press.
- Kiesler, D. J. (1983). The 1982 interpersonal circle: A taxonomy for complementarity in human transactions. *Psychological Review*, 90(3), 185–214. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-295X.90.3.185
- Klus, M. F., & Müller, J. (2021). The digital leader: What one needs to master today's organisational challenges. *Journal of Business Economics*, 91(8), 1189–1223. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11573-021-01040-1
- Küfner, A. C. P., Nestler, S., & Back, M. D. (2013). The two pathways to being an (un-)popular narcissist. *Journal of Personality*, 81(2), 184–195. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-6494.2012.00795.x
- Lacerenza, C. N., Reyes, D. L., Marlow, S. L., Joseph, D. L., & Salas, E. (2017). Leadership training design, delivery, and implementation: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 102(12), 1686–1718. https://doi.org/10.1037/apl0000241

- Larson, R., & Csikszentmihalyi, M. (2014). The experience sampling method. In M. Csikszentmihalyi (Ed.), *Flow and the foundations of positive psychology: The collected works of Mihaly Csikszentmihalyi* (pp. 21–34). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-017-9088-8 2
- Leckelt, M., Geukes, K., Küfner, A. C. P., Niemeyer, L. M., Hutteman, R., Osterholz, S., Egloff, B., Nestler, S., & Back, M. D. (2019). A longitudinal field investigation of narcissism and popularity over time: How agentic and antagonistic aspects of narcissism shape the development of peer relationships. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 46(4), 643–659. https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167219872477
- Leckelt, M., Küfner, A. C. P., Nestler, S., & Back, M. D. (2015). Behavioral processes underlying the decline of narcissists' popularity over time. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 109(5), 856–871. https://doi.org/10.1037/pspp0000057
- Leising, D., & Bleidorn, W. (2011). Which are the basic meaning dimensions of observable interpersonal behavior? *Personality and Individual Differences*, *51*(8), 986–990. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2011.08.003
- Lord, R. G., De Vader, C. L., & Alliger, G. M. (1986). A meta-analysis of the relation between personality traits and leadership perceptions: An application of validity generalization procedures. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 71(3), 402–410. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.71.3.402
- Lord, R. G., Foti, R. J., & De Vader, C. L. (1984). A test of leadership categorization theory: Internal structure, information processing, and leadership perceptions. *Organizational Behavior and Human Performance*, 34(3), 343–378. https://doi.org/10.1016/0030-5073(84)90043-6
- Marinova, S. v, Moon, H., & Kamdar, D. (2012). Getting ahead or getting along? The twofacet conceptualization of conscientiousness and leadership emergence. *Organization Science*, 24(4), 1257–1276. https://doi.org/10.1287/orsc.1120.0781
- Nestler, S., & Back, M. D. (2013). Applications and extensions of the lens model to understand interpersonal judgments at zero acquaintance. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, *22*(5), 374–379. https://doi.org/10.1177/0963721413486148
- Offermann, L. R., Kennedy, J. K., & Wirtz, P. W. (1994). Implicit leadership theories: Content, structure, and generalizability. *The Leadership Quarterly*, *5*(1), 43–58. https://doi.org/10.1016/1048-9843(94)90005-1
- Ong, C. W., Roberts, R., Arthur, C. A., Woodman, T., & Akehurst, S. (2016). The leader ship is sinking: A temporal investigation of narcissistic leadership. *Journal of Personality*, 84(2), 237–247. https://doi.org/10.1111/jopy.12155
- Pescosolido, A. T. (2001). Informal leaders and the development of group efficacy. *Small Group Research*, *32*(1), 74–93. https://doi.org/10.1177/104649640103200104
- Preacher, K. J., & Hayes, A. F. (2008). Asymptotic and resampling strategies for assessing and comparing indirect effects in multiple mediator models. *Behavior Research Methods*, 40(3), 879–891. https://doi.org/10.3758/BRM.40.3.879
- Robins, R. W., & Beer, J. S. (2001). Positive illusions about the self: Short-term benefits and long-term costs. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 80(2), 340–352. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.80.2.340
- Schönbrodt, F. D., Back, M. D., & Schmukle, S. C. (2012). TripleR: An R package for social relations analyses based on round-robin designs. *Behavior Research Methods*, 44(2), 455–470. https://doi.org/10.3758/s13428-011-0150-4
- Shondrick, S. J., Dinh, J. E., & Lord, R. G. (2010). Developments in implicit leadership theory and cognitive science: Applications to improving measurement and understanding alternatives to hierarchical leadership. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 21(6), 959–978. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2010.10.004

Soto, C. J., & John, O. P. (2017). The next Big Five Inventory (BFI-2): Developing and assessing a hierarchical model with 15 facets to enhance bandwidth, fidelity, and predictive power. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *113*(1), 117–143. https://doi.org/10.1037/pspp0000096

Stangor, C. (2015). *Social groups in action and interaction* (2nd ed.). Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203338667.

Stogdill, R. M. (1963). *Manual for the leader behavior description questionnaire-Form XII: An experimental revision*. Ohio State University.

- Stogdill, R. M., & Coons, A. E. (1957). *Leader behavior: Its description and measurement*. Ohio State University.
- Stoker, J. I., Garretsen, H., & Soudis, D. (2019). Tightening the leash after a threat: A multilevel event study on leadership behavior following the financial crisis. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 30(2), 199–214. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2018.08.004
- Tett, R. P., & Burnett, D. D. (2003). A personality trait-based interactionist model of job performance. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 88(3), 500–517. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.88.3.500
- Tett, R. P., & Guterman, H. A. (2000). Situation trait relevance, trait expression, and crosssituational consistency: Testing a principle of trait activation. *Journal of Research in Personality*, 34(4), 397–423. https://doi.org/10.1006/jrpe.2000.2292
- Van Fleet, D. D., & Atwater, L. (1997). Gender neutral names: Don't be so sure! *Sex Roles*, 37(1–2), 111–123. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1025696905342/METRICS
- Wiggins, J. S. (1979). A psychological taxonomy of trait-descriptive terms: The interpersonal domain. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 37(3), 395–412. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.37.3.395
- Wiggins, J. S. (1991). Agency and communion as conceptual coordinates for the understanding and measurement of interpersonal behavior. In W. M. Grove & D. Ciccetti (Eds.), *Thinking clearly about psychology: Vol. 2. Personality and psychopathology* (pp. 89–113). University of Minnesota Press.
- Witkower, Z., Tracy, J. L., Cheng, J. T., & Henrich, J. (2020). Two signals of social rank: Prestige and dominance are associated with distinct nonverbal displays. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *118*(1), 89–120. https://doi.org/10.1037/pspi0000181
- Wojciszke, B., Abele, A. E., & Baryla, W. (2009). Two dimensions of interpersonal attitudes: Liking depends on communion, respect depends on agency. *European Journal of Social Psychology*, 39(6), 973–990. https://doi.org/10.1002/ejsp.595
- Wolff, S. B., Pescosolido, A. T., & Druskat, V. U. (2002). Emotional intelligence as the basis of leadership emergence in self-managing teams. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 13(5), 505–522. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1048-9843(02)00141-8
- Wrzus, C., & Mehl, M. R. (2015). Lab and/or field? Measuring personality processes and their social consequences. *European Journal of Personality*, 29(2), 250–271. https://doi.org/10.1002/per.1986
- Yukl, G. (2008). How leaders influence organizational effectiveness. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 19(6), 708–722. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2008.09.008
- Yukl, G. (2012). Effective leadership behavior: What we know and what questions need more attention. Academy of Management Perspectives, 26(4), 66–85. https://doi.org/10.5465/amp.2012.0088
- Yukl, G., Gordon, A., & Taber, T. (2002). A hierarchical taxonomy of leadership behavior: Integrating a half century of behavior research. *Journal of Leadership & Organizational Studies*, 9(1), 15–32. https://doi.org/10.1177/107179190200900102

- Yukl, G., O'Donnell, M., & Taber, T. (2009). Influence of leader behaviors on the leadermember exchange relationship. *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, 24(4), 289–299. https://doi.org/10.1108/02683940910952697
- Zaccaro, S. J., Green, J. P., Dubrow, S., & Kolze, M. (2018). Leader individual differences, situational parameters, and leadership outcomes: A comprehensive review and integration. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 29(1), 2–43. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2017.10.003

4. Zooming-in on Effective Vocational Behaviors in Rapidly Changing Business Environments

4.1 Associations Between the Implementation of Telework Strategies and Job Performance: Moderating Influences of Boundary Management Preferences and Telework Experience

Publication Status. Published as **Härtel, T. M.**, Hüttemann, D., & Müller, J. (2023). Associations between the implementation of telework strategies and job performance: Moderating influences of boundary management preferences and telework experience. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *14*, 1099138. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2023.1099138.

Abstract. Boosted by the COVID-19 pandemic, more than ever, an organization's success depends on its teleworkers' performance. However, little attention has been paid to the individual strategies implemented by teleworkers to achieve goals such as drawing boundaries between work- and private-life, working task-oriented and productively, and keeping social contact. We collected quantitative survey data of 548 teleworkers indicating their implementation of 85 telework strategies derived from scientific literature and popular media (e.g., working in a separate room, wearing work clothes at home), self-reported job performance, boundary management preferences, and telework experience. We identified (a) the implementation of telework strategies, (b) associations with job performance, (c) divergences between the implementation and the performance association, and (d) moderating influences of boundary management preferences and telework experience. The results suggest that the most implemented telework strategies tend to be the ones most positively associated with job performance. These telework strategies serve goals related to working task-oriented and productively by adopting a conducive work attitude as well as keeping social contact by using modern communication technology rather than goals related to drawing boundaries between work- and private-life. The findings underscore the benefits of expanding a narrow focus on telework strategies stemming from boundary theory to unravel telework strategies' puzzling impacts on (tele-) work outcomes. Also, taking a person-environment fit perspective appeared to be a promising approach to tailor evidence-based best practice telework strategies to teleworkers' individual preferences and needs (boundary management preferences and telework experience).

Keywords. Telework, telework strategies, job performance, boundary theory, boundary management preferences, telework experience, person-environment fit.

Open Science Statement. The data, codebook, R-script, and supplementary results are made transparent on the open science framework: https://osf.io/gqpdf/.

4.1.1 Introduction

Teleworking has become a popular work mode (Allen et al., 2015) and its prevalence has recently been further boosted by the COVID-19 pandemic (Kniffin et al., 2021; Kramer & Kramer, 2020; Milasi et al., 2021; Rudolph et al., 2021). Thus, more than ever before, an organization's success depends on its teleworkers' performance and this trend is likely to continue due to demographic workforce changes, widespread distribution of information communication technology, as well as sustainability and work-life balance considerations (Athanasiadou & Theriou, 2021).

Some exploratory qualitative research (e.g., Basile & Beauregard, 2016; Fonner & Stache, 2012) has identified telework strategies, that is, individual strategies teleworkers implement when organizing their telework, that might impact work outcomes such as job performance. Also, the popular media is full of telework strategies (often referred to as "tips and tricks for working from home") that are suggested to enhance job performance. Examples of such telework strategies are using a separate room for teleworking or wearing work clothes at home. With this study, we respond to multiple calls for research on the differential impacts of the implementation of telework strategies on (tele-) work outcomes and potentially moderating factors (Allen et al., 2021; Rudolph et al., 2021; see also Binnewies et al., 2020). More specifically, we address blank spots of previous research on telework strategies by providing empirical evidence on (a) how much telework strategies are implemented, (b) how the implementation of telework strategies is associated with job performance, (c) divergences between the telework strategies' implementation and association with job performance, and (d) how the association between the implementation of telework strategies and job performance is moderated by teleworker characteristics such as boundary management preferences and telework experience.

Overall, this study advances the young literature on telework strategies by demonstrating that extending a narrow focus on telework strategies stemming from boundary theory (Ashforth et al., 2000; Nippert-Eng, 1996) with telework strategies focusing on goals such as working productively (e.g., Greer & Payne, 2014) by adopting a conducive work attitude and keeping social contact (e.g., Kowalski & Swanson, 2005) by using modern communication technology might be a fruitful avenue for research illuminating impacts of telework strategies on work outcomes. Also, taking a person-environment fit perspective (Edwards, 2008; Kristof, 1996), particularly boundary congruence/fit (Ammons, 2013; Kreiner, 2006), appeared to be a promising approach to identifying evidence-based best practice

telework strategies taking individual teleworker characteristics (boundary management preferences and telework experience) into account.

4.1.2 Theoretical Background

4.1.2.1 Implementation of Telework Strategies. *Telework* is a work practice enabling employees (*teleworkers*) to conduct all or a share of their work away from their on-site workplace, typically from home (Allen et al., 2015). Whereas numerous studies examined the impacts of teleworking (Gajendran & Harrison, 2007), such as reduced work-family conflict (e.g., Allen et al., 2013; Golden et al., 2006; Raghuram & Wiesenfeld, 2004), enhanced job performance (e.g., Bailey & Kurland, 2002; Bloom et al., 2015; Gajendran et al., 2015), and professional isolation (e.g., Baruch & Nicholson, 1997; Gainey & Kelley, 1999; Kurland & Cooper, 2002), little attention has been paid to the individual strategies teleworkers implement (*telework strategies*) when organizing their telework. These telework strategies may serve different goals such as drawing boundaries between work- and private-life (e.g., Basile & Beauregard, 2016; Fonner & Stache, 2012; Golden, 2021, see also Allen et al., 2021, calling for research), working task-oriented and productively (e.g., Greer & Payne, 2014; Troll et al., 2022), and keeping social contact (e.g., Ilozor et al., 2001; Turetken et al., 2011).

Most research on telework strategies stems from *boundary theory* (Ashforth et al., 2000; Nippert-Eng, 1996) proposing that individuals follow idiosyncratic approaches (boundary management strategies) to establish or dismantle boundaries in order to organize transitions between their work- and private-life. In an interview-based landmark study, Kreiner et al. (2009) distinguished four categories of boundary management strategies implemented by priests: Physical (manipulating physical space/items, e.g., setting up a separate workstation), temporal (manipulating time, e.g., setting work/non-work times), behavioral (inter alia establishing technological routines, e.g., not taking work-related calls after hours), and communicative (setting expectations and making arrangements, e.g., confronting boundary violators) boundary management strategies. Basile and Beauregard (2016) applied boundary management strategies to the telework context, in which boundaries between work- and private-life are particularly prone to blur. They found qualitative evidence for the implementation of physical (e.g., mimicking the physical boundary of an on-site office at home), temporal (e.g., establishing set times to finish the workday at home), behavioral (e.g., recreating technological routines of stationary work to ending up the workday at home), and communicative (e.g., making arrangements with household members facilitating undisturbed work at home) telework strategies. Other qualitative studies found similar telework strategies to be implemented (Allen et al., 2021; Fonner & Stache, 2012; Mustafa, 2010; Mustafa & Gold,

2013; Myrie & Daly, 2009; Nansen et al., 2010; Tietze, 2002; Tietze & Musson, 2003). First quantitative studies provide initial evidence on boundary related (telework) strategies' global (Kossek et al., 2006; Wepfer et al., 2018) and differentiated level of implementation (differentiating between the aforementioned categories; Binnewies et al., 2020; Haun et al., 2022; Park et al., 2020) along with impacts on outcomes such as family-to-work conflict, recovery experiences, and well-being.

Whereas most studies embedded telework strategies in the framework of boundary theory, Greer and Payne (2014) identified complementing telework strategies by asking 86 high-performing teleworkers to freely recall telework strategies facilitating task-oriented and productive telework. Keeping connected with colleagues, supervisors, and customers (e.g., being accessible via various communication channels), using modern technologies (e.g., using a technological setup at home close to the on-site setup), and showing a conducive work attitude (e.g., adopting a work-oriented mindset) were frequently mentioned. Taking a quantitative approach, Troll et al. (2022) recently found telework strategies related to self-control (Duckworth et al., 2014), in particular, altering somatic conditions (optimizing the physical state to work productively, e.g., sleeping sufficiently) and autonomous motivation (motivating oneself to start and endure work tasks), to be frequently implemented and associated with working productively among 106 teleworkers.

Furthermore, some research has found telework strategies related to keeping social contact (e.g., seeking social interaction; Kowalski & Swanson, 2005) to be associated with job satisfaction (Ilozor et al., 2001), knowledge sharing (Golden & Raghuram, 2010), and the reduction of social isolation (Mann et al., 2000). In a similar vein, building on media richness theory (MRT; Daft & Lengel, 1986), Turetken et al. (2011) examined the impacts of telework strategies related to communication media richness (i.e., the extent to which a medium approximates face-to-face communication).

Overall, mainly qualitative approaches were used to identify telework strategies stemming from different theoretical frameworks and pursuing different goals, particularly establishing boundaries between work- and private-life (Basile & Beauregard, 2016; Binnewies et al., 2020; Fonner & Stache, 2012; Golden, 2021; Haun et al., 2022; Kossek et al., 2006; Kreiner et al., 2009; Myrie & Daly, 2009; Nansen et al., 2010; Nippert-Eng, 1996; Park et al., 2020; Tietze, 2002; Tietze & Musson, 2003; Wepfer et al., 2018), but also working task-oriented and productively (Greer & Payne, 2014; Troll et al., 2021), and keeping social contact (Golden & Raghuram, 2010; Ilozor et al., 2001; Kowalski & Swanson, 2005; Mann et al., 2000; Turetken et al., 2011). Whereas qualitative approaches are suited to exploratively

identify telework strategies, they come with limitations that can be targeted by quantitative approaches: First, participants might forget to mention implemented telework strategies. Second, the binary classification of (not) implementing a telework strategy does not display gradual differences. Both aspects impede the identification of the impacts of implementing telework strategies. Quantitative research, however, is scarce and has either been conducted outside the telework context (Binnewies et al., 2020; Wepfer et al., 2018), or has placed a narrow focus on a specific facet of telework strategies, namely, telework strategies related to boundary management (Haun et al., 2022), to self-control (Troll et al., 2022), or to keeping social contact (Golden & Raghuram, 2010; Ilozor et al., 2001; Kowalski & Swanson, 2005; Mann et al., 2000; Turetken et al., 2011). Also, previous research reported results solely on an aggregated level differentiating between broad telework strategy categories.

With this study, we advance the young literature on telework strategies by (a) quantitatively examining a comprehensive set of 85 telework strategies stemming from different theoretical streams and pursuing different goals, and (b) thereby conducting analyses on both an aggregated category level to identify overarching patterns (Binnewies et al., 2020; Haun et al., 2022; Troll et al., 2022), and on an individual telework strategy level to draw highly resolved, zoomed-in inferences. To paint a comprehensive picture, we complement telework strategies derived from the scientific literature with telework strategies from popular media (see Figure 4.1.1). Online practical guides on telework strategies have flourished during the COVID-19 pandemic and many teleworkers have presumably been searching for advice.

4.1.2.2 Associations Between Telework Strategies and Job Performance. There is initial evidence that the implementation of telework strategies is associated with outcomes such as well-being, recovery, satisfaction, knowledge sharing, and reduced isolation (Binnewies et al., 2020; Golden & Raghuram, 2010; Haun et al., 2022; Ilozor et al., 2001; Mann et al., 2000; Park et al., 2020; Wepfer et al., 2018). However, we know little about how the implementation of telework strategies is related to job performance. For instance, Binnewies et al. (2020) call for research on the consequences of boundary management strategies for job performance. Rudolph et al. (2021, p. 13) call for research on telework strategies and state that "it would be useful to have empirical information on the efficacy". Allen et al. (2021, p. 81) conclude that "additional work is needed that provides guidance concerning the effectiveness of various strategies".

Figure 4.1.1

Overview of Telework Strategies

workstation.4, 5, 8, 10, c, d • I try to reduce distraction factors.9, c

PHYSICAL

Physical Separation of Work and Leisure: *I regularly work outside my home*.^{1, a, b, c} • I use technology facilitating to separate work and leisure.^{1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, c} • *I occasionally change my workstation*.^c • I exclusively work in a designated place.^{1, 2, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, d, e, f • I keep work materials in a separate, dedicated place.^{2, 4, 8} • I arrange my workstation visually like a typical office. ^{4, 5, 6, 8, a} • I physically separate my workstation from the rest of my living environment.^{2, 6, 9} • I do not conduct leisure activities at my workstation.^{4, 5, 6, 8, a} • I physically separate my workstation from the rest of my living environment.^{2, 6, 9} • I do not conduct leisure activities at my workstation.^{4, 5, 6, 8, 10, a} • I use physical barriers as boundaries between work and leisure.^{1, 2, 4, 5, 9, 11, a, d, g, h} • I use a separate, dedicated room for working.^{2, 4, 8, 9, 12, a, d, g} • I establish an atmosphere at my workstation that differs from the rest of my home.^{4, 8, 12, e} • I wear work clothes.^{1, 5, 12, a, d, e, g, h} **Conducive Work Environment**: I make sure there is sufficient light at my workstation.^{a, d, h} • I wear comfortable clothes.^{d, i} • I regularly air the room.^g • I use a setup that is technically close to the setup at my on-site workstation.^{7, 9, 12, e} • I set up a conducive work environment.^{9, c, e} *I listen to music that helps me concentrate*.^g • I configure my workstation ergonomically.^{7, e, d, g, h, i, i e personalize my}}

TEMPORAL

Temporal Structure: I have a set time routine to start the workday in the morning.^{4,5,6,7,8,9,12,b,i} • I schedule in advance when I will work in my home office and when I will work on-site.^{9,12} • I structure my workday temporarily.^{1,4,6,8,12,a,c,e,g,j} • I log my working hours.^{a,e} • I strictly separate my work time from my leisure time.^{5,6,9,13,f} • I have set days for working from home.^{9,i} • I take a regular lunch break at set times.^{1,6,a,d,g,i,j} • I have a set time routine for the transition from work to leisure.^{1,2,4,5,c} • I do not work beyond my working hours agreed with the employer.^{1,2,4,5,10} • I align my break schedule with the official break times of my organization.^f • I strictly adhere to set working hours.^{1,4,5,13,a,c,d,e,f,h} • I schedule regular breaks.^{6,a,c,e,f,g}

Temporal Flexibility: I am temporally flexible in handling urgent work requests.^{1,4,5,13} • I schedule my work time in order to get the most of my leisure time.^{3,6,12} • If my work is short on time, I'll "save it up" to make up for it in the next days.³ • I schedule my leisure time in order to get the most of my work time.³ • I flexibly transfer personal matters to times when I typically work.^{3,5,6,10,13} • If my leisure is short on time, I'll "save it up" to make up for it in the next days.³ • I flexibly transfer my work to times when I typically attend to personal matters.^{1,2,3,6,10}

BEHAVIORAL

Behavioral Separation of Work and Leisure: I have a technological routine for the transition into work at the start of the work day.¹ • I have a set technological routine facilitating the transition from work to leisure.^{1,2,5,i,j} • I maintain the same routines of my on-site work.⁹ • I avoid reading non-work related materials at work.^{10,11} • I attend to personal matters at work only when taking a break or during lunch hour.¹¹ • I do not take work-related calls after hours.^{2,4,5,6,8,9,11,a} • I do not respond to work-related messages after hours.^{2,11} • I have a rule which leisure aspects are allowed to spill over into work and which not.³ • I have a rule which work aspects are allowed to spill over into leisure and which not.³ • I do not go back to work after hours.^{2,a} • I use breaks to strictly separate work time from leisure time.¹ • I do not read work-related messages after hours.^{2,4,10,11,14} • I have a rule which work aspects are allowed to spill over into leisure about work-related messages after hours.^{2,4,10,11,14} • I have set rituals facilitating the transition from work to leisure.^{1,2,9} • I avoid talking about work-related matters in leisure contexts.^{4,8,10,11} • I avoid talking about personal matters in work contexts.^{4,8,10,11} **Conducive Work Attitude:** I value the benefits of working from home.^{6,7,a,c} • I get organized at work.^{3,9,a,b,c,c,g} • I show a particularly high level of dedication.⁹ • I try to strengthen my supervisor's confidence in the quality of my work.⁶ • I adjust my attitude and behavior to optimally focus and concentrate at work.^{9,a} • I schedule tasks that can be done particularly well at home.⁹ • I set personal daily goals at work.^{9,a,g} • I take a short lunch break and quickly continue working to get done as much as possible.^{4,9} • I practice self-praise.^{a,c} • I integrate exercise into my work day.^{a,f,g,i,j} • I integrate exercise into my work day.^{a,f,g,i,j} • I integrate exercise into my work day.^{a,f,g,i,j} • I integrate exercise into

COMMUNICATIVE

Make Arrangements: I make arrangements with household members facilitating undisturbed work. ^{1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 7, 9, 12, 13, c, d, e, f, g, i • I make arrangements with colleagues/supervisors/my employer about when I can(not) be reached regarding work. ^{1, 2, 3, 9, a, c, g} • I'll confront household members if agreements about work and leisure are violated.⁵ • I make arrangements with customers/clients about when I can(not) be reached regarding work. ^{2, 3, 5, 14, a, c} • I'll confront colleagues/supervisors/my employer if agreements about work and leisure are violated.³ • Household members make arrangements with me in order to limit my workload.² • I'll confront clients/customers if agreements about work and leisure matters are violated.³}

Keep Connection: I use various communication channels. 6.9. 16, 17, c, e • I keep connected via technology to respond to

colleagues/supervisors/my employer/customers/clients quickly.^{9, 13, c, g} • I make small talk with my colleagues/supervisors/my employer.^{9, g, i} • I communicate expectations and work progress with colleagues/supervisors/my employer.^{9, 15, c} • I use modern communication technology with colleagues/supervisors/my employer.^{9, 15, c} • I use modern communication technology to stay in personal contact with colleagues.^{10, 16, d, g, j}

Note. Telework strategies in italics were recoded. Telework strategies extracted from scientific literature (popular media) were indicated with numbers (letters). ¹Fonner & Stache (2012); ²Basile & Beauregard (2016); ³Kreiner et al. (2009); ⁴Mustafa & Gold (2013); ⁵Myrie & Daly (2009); ⁶Nansen et al. (2010); ⁷Kowalski & Swanson (2005); ⁸Mustafa (2010); ⁹Greer & Payne (2014); ¹⁰Wepfer et al. (2018); ¹¹Kossek et al. (2006); ¹²Tietze (2002); ¹³Tietze & Musson (2003); ¹⁴Park et al. (2020); ¹⁵Ilozor et al. (2001); ¹⁶Golden & Raghuram (2010); ¹⁷Turetken et al. (2011); ¹⁸Mann et al. (2000). ^aMai (n.d.); ^bProphet (2017); ^cSchulz (2020); ^dCobler (n.d.); ^cStross (n.d.); ^fWestdeutsche Zeitung (2020); ^gFlatley (2020); ^hVollmer (2018); ⁱUnger (2020); ^jRewe (n.d.).





Kossek et al. (2006) provide initial evidence that boundary related telework strategies' global implementation might not be associated with job performance. Greer and Payne (2014) provide first hints on telework strategies freely-recalled by high performers (in particular keeping connected, using modern technology, showing a conducive work attitude) that might be positively associated with job performance. However, to reliably identify telework strategies associated with job performance, the inclusion of low performers is needed to (a) rule out that low performers use the same telework strategies as high performers, (b) identify telework strategies that might deteriorate job performance, and (c) make use of the full job performance range facilitating to detect significant associations by mitigating range restrictions. Troll et al. (2022) found self-control telework strategies related to autonomous motivation and somatic condition to be unique positive predictors of job performance. Turetken et al. (2011) found a positive association between telework strategies related to communication media richness and self-reported job performance.

In this study, we examine associations of a broad set of highly resolved telework strategies with job performance to paint a comprehensive, fine-grained picture. As we examine both the implementation of telework strategies and their association with job performance, this also offers the possibility to examine whether teleworkers have an intuitive understanding of telework strategies' relation to job performance, that is, whether telework strategies that are more (less) associated with job performance are implemented more (less). In particular, telework strategies can then be identified that are "under (over) implemented", that is, that are implemented less (more) frequently than they actually should be according to their high (low) association with job performance.

4.1.2.3 Moderating Influences of Boundary Management Preferences and Telework Experience. It is crucial to understand which telework strategies might be more or less strongly related to job performance for specific groups of employees sharing common characteristics (see also Binnewies et al., 2020, calling for research on moderators of boundary management strategies) to provide advice or training interventions tailored to employees' individual preferences and needs (see also Kossek, 2016). Following *person-environment fit approaches* (P-E fit; Edwards, 2008; Kristof, 1996; see also Arthur Jr. et al., 2006), a (mis-) match between person and environment induces additional effects beyond the respective separate main effects. More specifically, the preferences/needs-supplies fit considers individual preferences and needs (here related to boundary management preferences and telework experience) and environmental supplies (here related to telework strategies) interacting to predict work outcomes (here job performance).

Boundary management preferences represent the degree to which employees prefer to separate (versus integrate) work- and private-life (Ashforth et al., 2000; Kreiner, 2006): Whereas employees leaning toward separation ("separators") aim to draw rigorous boundaries, employees leaning toward integration ("integrators") aim to remove boundaries. Individual boundary management preferences are crucial in telework contexts (Allen et al., 2021; Kerman et al., 2021; Kossek et al., 2006) because borders between work- and private-life are particularly prone to blur. Following P-E fit approaches, telework strategies congruent with individual boundary management preferences may be particularly beneficial to job performance because a fit between individual preferences and needs, and the environment is achieved. Thus, telework strategies aligned to separating work- and private-life (e.g., not working beyond agreed hours) might be more beneficial for separators, whereas telework strategies aligned to integrating work- and private-life (e.g., being flexible in handling work requests) might be more beneficial for integrators. This reasoning is supported by the boundary congruence approach (Kreiner, 2006) combining the P-E fit approach (Edwards, 2008; Kristof, 1996) with boundary theory (Ashforth et al., 2000; Nippert-Eng, 1996). Following the boundary congruence approach, a (mis-)fit (boundary congruence versus boundary incongruence) between individual boundary management preferences and environmental boundary influences such as workplace policies and conditions induces additional effects beyond the respective separate main effects (see Chen et al., 2009, Kreiner, 2006, Rothbard et al., 2005, for initial evidence on positive impacts of boundary congruence on outcomes such as reduced work-family conflict, higher job satisfaction, and commitment). In a similar vein, the boundary fit approach (Ammons, 2013) proposes that a (mis-) match (boundary fit versus boundary misfit) between individual boundary management preferences and boundary enactments (actual borders that individuals establish to separate work- and private-life) induces additional effects beyond the respective separate main effects (see Haun et al., 2022). In this study, we, for the first time, explore interaction effects related to boundary congruence/fit predicting job performance, whereby telework strategies might be either seen as environmental boundary influences or actual boundary enactments. During the COVID-19 pandemic, many employees were sent to the home office without choice (Kniffin et al., 2021) providing a unique opportunity to investigate moderating influences of boundary management preferences by mitigating self-selection effects: Typically, separators tend to prefer stationary on-site work over telework because telework is to some extent inherently incongruent with the preference to separate work- and private-life (Shockley & Allen, 2010).

The COVID-19 pandemic also provides the opportunity to examine moderating influences of the individual level of telework experience as many employees who have had little experience with telework migrated to the home office (Kramer & Kramer, 2020; Milasi et al., 2021). The wide range of experience levels allows us to examine moderating influences without self-selection biases and range restrictions. Following the P-E fit approach, teleworkers with low experience might have different needs than teleworkers with high experience so telework strategies might be differently beneficial for job performance. For instance, telework strategies providing structure (e.g., maintaining routines of the on-site stationary work) might be more beneficial for unexperienced teleworkers, whereas telework strategies demanding adaptivity (e.g., flexibly transferring work to times designated for personal matters) might be more beneficial for experienced teleworkers.

4.1.2.4 Present Study. With this study, we shed light on the individual ways teleworkers organize their work processes to achieve different goals, in particular, drawing boundaries between work- and private-life, working task-oriented and productively, and keeping social contact. We aim to better understand (research question 1; RQ 1) the implementation of telework strategies, (RQ 2) associations with job performance, (RQ 3.1, 3.2) divergences between the implementation and association with job performance, and (RQ 4.1, 4.2) moderating influences of boundary management preferences and telework experience building on P-E fit theory. For this purpose, we collected survey data from 548 teleworkers assessing the implementation of 85 highly resolved telework strategies (see Figure 4.1.1), self-reported job performance, boundary management preferences, and telework experience. Due to the novelty and explorative nature of this research topic, and because this study was not preregistered, we do not formulate hypotheses but more open research questions:

- RQ 1: How much are telework strategies implemented?
- RQ 2: How is the individual implementation of telework strategies associated with job performance?
- RQ 3.1/3.2: How is the telework strategies' average implementation associated with the telework strategies' association with job performance?/How does the telework strategies' relative average implementation diverge from their relative association with job performance?
- RQ 4.1/4.2: How is the association between the individual implementation of telework strategies and job performance moderated by boundary management preferences/telework experience?

4.1.3 Method

4.1.3.1 Sample. Our final sample consists of 548 German-speaking teleworkers³⁵ (336 women) from various sectors (the most represented are 16.61% IT, telecommunication, media; 11.13% health and social services; 9.85% research and development) and professions (the most represented are 48.18% highly skilled and 29.38% skilled employees). We recruited participants via posting the online survey in online professional (LinkedIn, Xing) and social (Facebook) network groups without offering compensation. Participants on average spend most of their weekly working days teleworking (M = 3.85, SD = 1.33). The average age is 39.91 (SD = 11.63). Most participants (339, 71.72%) hold a bachelor's degree or higher. Participants have extensive years of work experience (M = 15.52, SD = 11.92) and their weekly contractual working hours (M = 35.77, SD = 7.42) are similar to the weekly working hours of German full-time employees. Data collection took place between July and December 2020 and thus, started five months after the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic declared by the World Health Organization. This should ensure that teleworkers who had been teleworking for the first time due to the pandemic have had the opportunity to develop telework strategies (Lally et al., 2010). For an overview of the survey structure and assessed variables see the Codebook at https://osf.io/gqpdf/.

4.1.3.2 Measures.

4.1.3.2.1 Telework Strategies. We originally extracted 157 telework strategies from scientific literature (Basile & Beauregard, 2016; Fonner & Stache, 2012; Golden & Raghuram, 2010; Greer & Payne, 2014; Ilozor et al., 2001; Kossek et al., 2006; Kowalski & Swanson, 2005; Kreiner et al., 2009; Mann et al., 2000; Mustafa, 2010; Mustafa & Gold, 2013; Myrie & Daly, 2009; Nansen et al., 2010; Park et al., 2020; Tietze, 2002; Tietze & Musson, 2003; Turetken et al., 2011; Wepfer et al., 2018)³⁶ and added 179 telework strategies from popular media (Cobler, n.d.; Flatley, 2020; Mai, n.d.; Prophet, 2017; Rewe, n.d.; Schulz, 2020; Stross, n.d.; Unger, 2020; Vollmer, 2018; Westdeutsche Zeitung, 2020) to get a comprehensive selection of highly resolved telework strategies. We extracted telework strategies from popular media by reviewing the ten first listed websites of a Google search using the keyword "home office tips" (in German). After eliminating redundant telework strategies and exotic telework strategies from popular media (e.g., playing online casino to revive attention; Westdeutsche

³⁵ From 1406 participants who started the online survey, we excluded 812 participants without sufficient responses, 22 participants without sufficient German skills, 18 participants without telework experience, three participants who did not respond seriously, and three students as we aimed for a permanently employed working sample.

³⁶ As Troll et al. (2022), Golden (2021), and Haun et al. (2022) were published after our data collection, we could not derive telework strategies from these sources.

Zeitung, 2020), we finally included 85 distinct telework strategies in our online survey (see Figure 4.1.1). Whenever necessary, we translated the telework strategies into German and reformulated them into questionnaire items (e.g., the physical telework strategy "recreating the physical boundary of an office environment by designating areas for work activities" reported in Basile & Beauregard, 2016, p. 106, was transformed into the item "I physically separate my workstation from the rest of my living environment."). Participants indicated the extent to which they implement telework strategies on a 6-point Likert scale ranging from 1 (*not at all*) to 6 (*completely*). Participants could also indicate not being aware of a particular telework strategies was answered by most participants for each telework strategy (M = 534.49, SD = 23.25, Min = 420, Max = 548).

To enhance the comparability of our results with previous research and to identify overarching patterns on a higher aggregated level, we categorized the 85 telework strategies into physical, temporal, behavioral, and communicative superordinate categories (see Basile & Beauregard, 2016; Kreiner et al., 2009). Because telework strategies within the respective assigned superordinate categories were still heterogeneous, we simultaneously distinguished nine subordinate categories (e.g., "physical separation of work and leisure" and "conducive work environment" within the superordinate physical category; see Figure 4.1.1). Following guidelines for exploratory analyses (Miller, 1995) Cronbach's alpha was acceptable for all superordinate ($.66 \le \alpha \le .84$) and subordinate categories ($.56 \le \alpha \le .84$), except for temporal flexibility ($\alpha = .56$; see Table 4.1.1). Three telework strategies ("I regularly work outside my home.", "I occasionally change my workstation." within physical separation of work and leisure; "I listen to music that helps me concentrate." within conducive work environment) needed to be recoded as they were negatively correlated with the respective subordinate categories' overall score.

4.1.3.2.2 Job Performance. Participants were instructed that the assessment of job performance refers to their job performance when teleworking. Self-reported job performance ($\alpha = .70$, M = 4.13, SD = 0.52) was assessed using three items translated into German ("How would you rate your job performance as an individual employee?", "Think about your most recent assessment of your job performance or the most recent time you received feedback from your supervisor. How do you think your supervisor would rate your performance?", "How would you rate your performance as a work team member?"; Bal & De Lange, 2015). Participants responded on a 5-point Likert scale ranging from 1 (*very poor*) to 5 (*excellent*). Participants could indicate "not applicable" on the item referring to their team performance.

Nineteen participants aborted the survey before reporting their job performance leading to missing values. Even though self-reported job performance measures have limitations they substantially overlap with supervisor ratings (e.g., Heidemeier & Moser, 2009).

4.1.3.2.3 Boundary Management Preferences. Inspired by Kossek et al. (2006), we presented participants the following prompt translated into German: "With the increasing demands of work and home, employees may work in different ways to handle these demands." We then measured gradual interindividual differences in boundary management preferences with the item: "All in all, do you currently see yourself as someone who tries to keep work and personal roles separated most of the time or someone who tries to keep them integrated?" Participants responded on a 6-point Likert scale ranging from 1 (*I prefer to separate the roles*) to 6 (*I prefer to integrate the roles*). We recoded responses so that higher scores indicate preferences for separation (M = 3.76, SD = 1.67). Sixteen participants aborted the online survey before reporting their boundary management preferences leading to missing values. In the following, we use the terms *integrators/separators* to refer to individuals relatively lower/higher on the continuous dimension of boundary management preferences.

4.1.3.2.4 Telework Experience. Gradual interindividual differences in telework experience (M = 4.08, SD = 1.67) were assessed with the item "How experienced are you with teleworking?" translated into German. Participants responded on a 6-point Likert scale ranging from 1 (*completely unexperienced*) to 6 (*completely experienced*). Twenty-four participants aborted the online survey before reporting their telework experience leading to missing values. In the following, we use the terms *unexperienced/experienced* teleworkers to refer to individuals relatively lower/higher on the continuous dimension of telework experience.

4.1.3.3 Analytical Approach. We used the statistical program R (version 4.1.0; R Core Team, 2018) and the interface RStudio (version 1.2.5042; RStudio Team, 2016) for all analyses. The data and statistical code can be found in the Online Supplement at https://osf.io/gqpdf/. To identify broader patterns of results on a higher aggregated level, we summarized all appropriate results for super- and subordinate categories of telework strategies by computing (weighted) means.

To answer the question of how much telework strategies are implemented, we computed the means of the individual implementation of each of the 85 telework strategies. We then computed 85 multiple linear regressions of the individual implementation of each telework strategy on job performance. We included boundary management preferences and telework experience as additional predictors in each multiple linear regression to examine their interaction effects with telework strategies on job performance. We also included control variables (e.g., Binnewies et al., 2020; Troll et al., 2021), that is, basic demographic (age, gender) and situational aspects (living space in m², M = 109.87, SD = 50.16; living with children, M = .25, SD = .43). Job performance and all predictor variables were z-scaled, except for the dummy-coded variables gender (0/1 = female/male) and living with children (0/1 = no/yes). We answer the question of how the individual implementation of telework strategies is associated with job performance based on the β -coefficients of the telework strategies on job performance. We answer the questions of the moderation effects of boundary management preferences and telework experience, respectively, on the association between telework strategies and job performance based on the β -coefficients corresponding to these interaction effects in the multiple linear regressions.

To examine how the telework strategies' average implementation is associated with the telework strategies' association with job performance, we correlated the 85 means of the implementation of the telework strategies with the 85 β -coefficients of the telework strategies on job performance in the outlined multiple linear regressions. To answer the question of how the telework strategies' relative implementation diverges from their relative association with job performance, we computed differences between a telework strategy's *z*-scaled implementation and a telework strategy's *z*-scaled β -coefficient on job performance in the outlined multiple linear strategy's *z*-scaled outlined multiple linear regressions.

4.1.4 Results

The results of all research questions except RQ 3.1 are summarized in Table 4.1.1 (see Appendix 4.1.A for a corresponding table including information on standard deviations of the implementation of telework strategies, bivariate correlations between telework strategies and job performance, further regression coefficients (intercept, boundary management preferences, telework experience, and control variables), R^2 , $R^2_{Adjusted}$, and results of the *F*-test).

Table 4.1.1

Telework Strategies' Implementation, Multiple Linear Regression Results of Telework Strategies and Interaction Effects with Boundary Management Preferences and Telework Experience Predicting Job Performance, and Divergences Between Telework Strategies' Implementation and Association With Job Performance

	Telework strategy	М	βτ	βт _х вмр	β τ x τε	$\Delta M, \beta_{\rm T}$
	Physical ($\alpha = .84$)	3.95 [3.80, 4.10]	0.07 [-0.02, 0.16]	-0.01 [-0.10, 0.07]	-0.02 [-0.11, 0.07]]-0.22
	Physical separation of work and leisure ($\alpha = .83$)	3.81 [3.64, 3.97]	0.07 [-0.03, 0.16]	0.00 [-0.08, 0.09]	-0.03 [-0.12, 0.05]	-0.09
	I regularly work outside my home.	5.39 [5.30, 5.49]	0.09 [-0.01, 0.19]	0.08 [-0.01, 0.17]	-0.12 [-0.22, -0.02]	-1.75
	I use technology facilitating to separate work and leisure.	4.65 [4.51, 4.80]	0.11 0.01, 0.20	0.02 [-0.07, 0.11]	0.02 [-0.07, 0.10]] -0.65
	I occasionally change my workstation.	4.57 [4.43, 4.71]	0.10 [0.01, 0.19]	0.05 [-0.04, 0.13]	0.00 [-0.09, 0.08]] -0.67
	I exclusively work in a designated place.	4.51 [4.37, 4.64]	0.14 [0.05, 0.23]	0.01 [-0.08, 0.09]	0.01 [-0.07, 0.09]] -0.07
	I keep work materials in a separate, dedicated place.	4.46 [4.32, 4.60]	0.07 [-0.02, 0.17]	0.00 [-0.09, 0.08]	-0.06 [-0.15, 0.02]] -0.79
	I arrange my workstation visually like a typical office.	3.68 [3.52, 3.83]	0.06 [-0.03, 0.15]	-0.03 [-0.11, 0.05]	-0.09 [-0.18, 0.00]] 0.02
	I physically separate my workstation from the rest of my living environment.	3.57 [3.40, 3.74]	0.03 [-0.07, 0.12]	-0.02 [-0.11, 0.06]	0.03 [-0.06, 0.12]] -0.24
	I do not conduct leisure activities at my workstation.	3.39 [3.24, 3.53]	0.12 [0.02, 0.21]	-0.04 [-0.13, 0.04]	-0.04 [-0.12, 0.04]] 0.95
2	I use physical barriers as boundaries between work and leisure.	3.27 [3.10, 3.44]	0.00 [-0.10, 0.10]	-0.03 [-0.11, 0.06]	-0.01 [-0.10, 0.08]] -0.19
96	I use a separate, dedicated room for working.	3.21 [3.03, 3.40]	0.01 [-0.09, 0.10]	-0.03 [-0.12, 0.06]	-0.01 [-0.09, 0.08]] -0.05
	I establish an atmosphere at my workstation that differs from the rest of my home.	2.58 [2.44, 2.73]	0.05 [-0.04, 0.15]	0.00 [-0.09, 0.09]	-0.05 [-0.14, 0.03]] 1.23
	I wear work clothes.	2.37 [2.23, 2.50]	0.02 [-0.07, 0.11]	0.06 [-0.03, 0.15]	-0.06 [-0.15, 0.03]] 1.10
	Conducive work environment ($\alpha = .62$)	4.11 [3.97, 4.24]	0.07 [-0.02, 0.16]	-0.03 [-0.11, 0.06]	0.00 [-0.09, 0.08]] -0.36
	I make sure there is sufficient light at my workstation.	5.40 [5.32, 5.48]	0.06 [-0.03, 0.15]	-0.07 [-0.15, 0.01]	-0.06 [-0.15, 0.03]] -2.02
	I wear comfortable clothes.	5.37 [5.29, 5.45]	0.14 [0.05, 0.22]	-0.06 [-0.15, 0.02]	-0.10 [-0.19, -0.01]] -1.19
	I regularly air the room.	4.98 [4.88, 5.09]	0.03 [-0.06, 0.11]	-0.05 [-0.13, 0.03]	0.00 [-0.09, 0.10]] -1.94
	I use a setup that is technically close to the setup at my on-site workstation.	4.84 [4.72, 4.96]	0.15 [0.06, 0.25]	-0.07 [-0.16, 0.02]	0.06 [-0.02, 0.14]] -0.36
	I set up a conducive work environment.	4.33 [4.21, 4.45]	0.16 [0.07, 0.25]	-0.07 [-0.15, 0.01]	0.06 [-0.02, 0.15]] 0.30
	I listen to music that helps me concentrate.	4.22 [4.06, 4.37]	0.05 [-0.04, 0.14]	0.10 [0.01, 0.18]	-0.04 [-0.12, 0.05]] -0.74
	I configure my workstation ergonomically.	4.08 [3.93, 4.23]	0.02 [-0.07, 0.12]	-0.04 [-0.12, 0.04]	-0.01 [-0.09, 0.08]] -0.89
	I set up a pleasant room climate.	3.82 [3.68, 3.95]	0.06 [-0.03, 0.15]	0.03 [-0.05, 0.12]	-0.02 [-0.10, 0.07]] -0.18
	I reduce potential sources of distraction by placing them out of reach of my workstation.	2.88 [2.75, 3.02]	0.06 [-0.03, 0.15]	-0.02 [-0.11, 0.06]	0.00 [-0.09, 0.08]] 0.91
	I personalize my workstation.	2.71 [2.56, 2.86]	-0.03 [-0.12, 0.05]	-0.02 [-0.11, 0.07]	0.07 [-0.02, 0.15]] 0.11
	I try to reduce distraction factors.	2.57 [2.45, 2.70]	0.12 [0.03, 0.21]	-0.01 [-0.09, 0.08]	0.00 [-0.09, 0.08]] 2.00
	Temporal ($\alpha = .66$)	3.61 [3.46, 3.76]	0.03 [-0.06, 0.12]	-0.01 [-0.09, 0.08]	-0.03 [-0.12, 0.06]] -0.23
	Temporal structure ($\alpha = .80$)	3.65 [3.50, 3.81]	0.05 [-0.04, 0.15]	0.01 [-0.07, 0.10]	-0.05 [-0.13, 0.04]] -0.03
	I have a set time routine to start the workday in the morning.	4.80 [4.68, 4.92]	0.02 [-0.07, 0.10]	-0.05 [-0.13, 0.03]	-0.09 [-0.17, 0.00]] -1.82
	I structure my workday temporarily.	4.51 [4.39, 4.63]	0.18 [0.08, 0.27]	-0.07 [-0.16, 0.01]	-0.07 [-0.16, 0.01]	0.26

	Telework strategy	M	βτ	β _{T x BMP}	$\beta_{T x TE}$ $\Delta M, \beta_{T}$
	I schedule in advance when I will work in my home office and when I will work on-site.	4.36 [4.22, 4.51]	0.09 [-0.01, 0.18]	0.00 [-0.09, 0.09]	0.02 [-0.06, 0.11] -0.54
	I log my working hours.	4.30 [4.13, 4.48]	0.15 [0.06, 0.24]	0.08 [-0.01, 0.17]	-0.05 [-0.14, 0.04] 0.24
	I strictly separate my work time from my leisure time.	4.07 [3.94, 4.20]	0.22 [0.12, 0.31]	0.00 [-0.08, 0.09]	-0.14 [-0.22, -0.05] 1.23
	I have set days for working from home.	3.75 [3.58, 3.93]	0.02 [-0.07, 0.11]	-0.02 [-0.11, 0.06]	0.01 [-0.07, 0.10] -0.52
	I take a regular lunch break at set times.	3.70 [3.56, 3.85]	-0.03 [-0.12, 0.06]	-0.03 [-0.12, 0.05]	-0.03 [-0.11, 0.06] -1.03
	I have a set time routine for the transition from work to leisure.	3.38 [3.23, 3.53]	0.02 [-0.07, 0.11]	0.01 [-0.08, 0.09]	-0.10 [-0.19, -0.02] -0.13
	I do not work beyond my working hours agreed with the employer.	3.15 [3.00, 3.29]	-0.02 [-0.11, 0.07]	0.13 [0.05, 0.22]	-0.02 [-0.10, 0.07] -0.20
	I align my break schedule with the official break times of my organization.	2.82 [2.65, 2.99]	0.07 [-0.03, 0.16]	0.01 [-0.08, 0.10]	-0.04 [-0.13, 0.05] 1.07
	I strictly adhere to set working hours.	2.64 [2.50, 2.78]	-0.01 [-0.10, 0.09]	0.05 [-0.04, 0.14]	-0.08 [-0.16, 0.01] 0.50
	I schedule regular breaks.	2.29 [2.17, 2.41]	-0.04 [-0.13, 0.05]	0.03 [-0.06, 0.11]	0.02 [-0.07, 0.10] 0.56
	Temporal flexibility ($\alpha = .56$)	3.54 [3.40, 3.68]	-0.01 [-0.10, 0.08]	-0.03 [-0.12, 0.05]	0.00 [-0.08, 0.09] -0.57
	I am temporally flexible in handling urgent work requests.	4.79 [4.68, 4.90]	0.08 [-0.01, 0.18]	-0.10 [-0.19, -0.01]	0.04 [-0.05, 0.12] -1.10
	I schedule my work time in order to get the most of my leisure time.	3.97 [3.85, 4.10]	-0.02 [-0.11, 0.06]	0.01 [-0.07, 0.10]	-0.01 [-0.10, 0.07] -1.27
	If my work is short on time, I'll "save it up" to make up for it in the next days.	3.65 [3.50, 3.79]	-0.05 [-0.14, 0.04]	-0.04 [-0.12, 0.05]	-0.10 [-0.18, -0.01] -1.20
	I schedule my leisure time in order to get the most of my work time.	3.49 [3.36, 3.62]	0.16 [0.08, 0.25]	-0.08 [-0.16, 0.00]	0.00 [-0.08, 0.08] 1.33
	I flexibly transfer personal matters to times when I typically work.	3.17 [3.04, 3.30]	-0.15 [-0.24, -0.06]	-0.01 [-0.10, 0.07]	0.01 [-0.07, 0.10] -1.74
	If my leisure is short on time, I'll "save it up" to make up for it in the next days.	3.00 [2.87, 3.13]	0.00 [-0.08, 0.09]	0.02 [-0.06, 0.11]	-0.03 [-0.12, 0.06] 0.18
Ν	I flexibly transfer my work to times when I typically attend to personal matters.	2.68 [2.55, 2.81]	-0.07 [-0.17, 0.04]	-0.04 [-0.14, 0.05]	0.09 [0.00, 0.18] -0.19
67	Behavioral ($\alpha = .83$)	3.87 [3.73, 4.01]	0.10 [0.01, 0.19]	0.00 [-0.09, 0.08]	-0.03 [-0.11, 0.06] 0.19
	Behavioral separation of work and leisure ($\alpha = .84$)	3.69 [3.54, 3.85]	0.08 [-0.02, 0.17]	0.02 [-0.07, 0.10]	-0.06 [-0.14, 0.03] 0.15
	I have a technological routine for the transition into work at the start of the work day.	5.11 [5.00, 5.22]	0.15 [0.05, 0.24]	0.03 [-0.05, 0.12]	-0.08 [-0.16, 0.00] -0.74
	I have a set technological routine facilitating the transition from work to leisure.	4.89 [4.76, 5.02]	0.14 [0.04, 0.25]	0.06 [-0.04, 0.15]	-0.03 [-0.12, 0.06] -0.56
	I maintain the same routines of my on-site work.	4.21 [4.09, 4.34]	0.24 [0.15, 0.33]	0.02 [-0.06, 0.10]	-0.22 [-0.30, -0.13] 1.32
	I avoid reading non-work related materials at work.	3.88 [3.75, 4.01]	0.15 [0.06, 0.25]	-0.01 [-0.09, 0.07]	-0.02 [-0.10, 0.06] 0.76
	I attend to personal matters at work only when taking a break or during lunch hour.	3.82 [3.69, 3.96]	0.17 [0.08, 0.26]	0.03 [-0.05, 0.12]	-0.06 [-0.15, 0.02] 1.00
	I do not take work-related calls after hours.	3.73 [3.57, 3.89]	-0.01 [-0.10, 0.09]	0.03 [-0.06, 0.12]	-0.06 [-0.14, 0.03] -0.80
	I do not respond to work-related messages after hours.	3.62 [3.46, 3.78]	0.01 [-0.09, 0.11]	0.01 [-0.08, 0.10]	-0.14 [-0.23, -0.05] -0.48
	I have a rule which leisure aspects are allowed to spill over into work and which not.	3.48 [3.33, 3.63]	0.13 [0.04, 0.22]	0.02 [-0.06, 0.11]	0.09 [0.00, 0.17] 1.02
	I have a rule which work aspects are allowed to spill over into leisure and which not.	3.47 [3.32, 3.62]	0.08 [-0.01, 0.17]	-0.02 [-0.11, 0.06]	-0.02 [-0.11, 0.07] 0.47
	I do not go back to work after hours.	3.45 [3.31, 3.60]	0.03 [-0.06, 0.12]	0.04 [-0.05, 0.12]	-0.09 [-0.17, 0.00] -0.07
	I use breaks to strictly separate work time from leisure time.	3.32 [3.19, 3.46]	-0.03 [-0.12, 0.06]	-0.02 [-0.11, 0.06]	-0.02 [-0.11, 0.06] -0.59
	I do not read work-related messages after hours.	3.27 [3.11, 3.43]	0.03 [-0.07, 0.12]	0.00 [-0.09, 0.09]	-0.14 [-0.23, -0.05] 0.10
	I have set rituals facilitating the transition from work to leisure.	3.25 [3.10, 3.39]	0.04 [-0.05, 0.13]	0.03 [-0.05, 0.12]	-0.05 [-0.14, 0.03] 0.26
	I avoid talking about work-related matters in leisure contexts.	2.98 [2.85, 3.10]	0.01 [-0.08, 0.11]	-0.02 [-0.11, 0.07]	-0.05 [-0.14, 0.04] 0.33
	I avoid talking about personal matters in work contexts.	2.89 [2.77, 3.01]	0.00 [-0.09, 0.09]	0.02 [-0.06, 0.11]	0.03 [-0.05, 0.12] 0.29
	Conducive work attitude ($\alpha = .65$)	4.44 [4.32, 4,56]	0.19 [0.10, 0.27]	-0.03 [-0.11, 0.05]	-0.02 [-0.10, 0.07] 0.46
	I value the benefits of working from home	5 28 [5 18 5 38]	0.13[0.04 0.22]	-0.08 [-0.17 0.00]	0.00[-0.08, 0.08]-1.15

	Telework strategy	М	βτ	$\beta_{T x BMP}$	$\beta_{T x TE}$ $\Delta M, \beta_T$
	I get organized at work.	4.98 [4.88, 5.09]	0.15 [0.06, 0.24]	-0.04 [-0.12, 0.04]	0.02 [-0.06, 0.10] -0.58
	I show a particularly high level of dedication.	4.78 [4.69, 4.88]	0.43 [0.35, 0.51]	-0.05 [-0.12, 0.03]	-0.01 [-0.09, 0.07] 2.69
	I try to strengthen my supervisor's confidence in the quality of my work.	4.78 [4.67, 4.88]	0.26 [0.17, 0.35]	0.03 [-0.06, 0.11]	0.02 [-0.06, 0.11] 0.86
	I adjust my attitude and behavior to optimally focus and concentrate at work.	4.70 [4.61, 4.80]	0.31 [0.22, 0.39]	-0.05 [-0.12, 0.03]	-0.06 [-0.14, 0.02] 1.48
	I schedule tasks that can be done particularly well at home.	4.61 [4.47, 4.74]	0.05 [-0.04, 0.14]	0.01 [-0.08, 0.10]	-0.06 [-0.15, 0.02] -1.25
	I set personal daily goals at work.	4.44 [4.32, 4.56]	0.15 [0.06, 0.24]	-0.04 [-0.13, 0.04]	-0.09 [-0.18, -0.01] 0.06
	I take a short lunch break and quickly continue working to get done as much as possible.	3.31 [3.17, 3.44]	0.06 [-0.03, 0.14]	-0.02 [-0.10, 0.07]	-0.04 [-0.13, 0.04] 0.39
	I practice self-praise.	3.06 [2.92, 3.20]	0.14 [0.05, 0.23]	-0.03 [-0.11, 0.06]	0.07 [-0.02, 0.16] 1.63
	Health-promoting measures ($\alpha = .61$)	3.39 [3.25, 3.53]	0.01 [-0.08, 0.10]	-0.02 [-0.10, 0.06]	0.03 [-0.05, 0.12] -0.22
	I pay attention to healthy eating.	4.27 [4.15, 4.39]	0.13 [0.04, 0.21]	0.00 [-0.08, 0.08]	0.00 [-0.08, 0.09] 0.03
	I adapt my work day to my bio-rhythm.	3.74 [3.61, 3.87]	0.03 [-0.06, 0.12]	-0.01 [-0.09, 0.08]	0.03 [-0.05, 0.12] -0.38
	I integrate exercise into my work day.	3.51 [3.38, 3.64]	0.02 [-0.07, 0.11]	0.00 [-0.08, 0.08]	0.02 [-0.06, 0.11] -0.24
	I integrate outdoor activities into my work day.	3.44 [3.30, 3.58]	-0.01 [-0.10, 0.07]	-0.01 [-0.09, 0.07]	0.09 [0.01, 0.18] -0.51
	I regularly take a "power nap".	1.96 [1.83, 2.08]	-0.13 [-0.21, -0.04]	-0.08 [-0.17, 0.00]	0.01 [-0.07, 0.10] 0.01
	Communicative ($\alpha = .78$)	4.03 [3.89, 4.17]	0.12 [0.03, 0.21]	-0.03 [-0.12, 0.06]	-0.01 [-0.09, 0.08] 0.29
	Make arrangements ($\alpha = .82$)	3.54 [3.39, 3.70]	0.09 [0.00, 0.18]	-0.03 [-0.12, 0.06]	-0.01 [-0.10, 0.08] 0.52
	I make arrangements with household members facilitating undisturbed work.	4.51 [4.38, 4.64]	0.17 [0.08, 0.26]	0.04 [-0.05, 0.12]	0.01 [-0.08, 0.10] 0.22
2	I make arrangements with colleagues/supervisors/my employer about when I can(not)	4.18 [4.04, 4.33]	0.08 [-0.01, 0.17]	-0.07 [-0.16, 0.01]	-0.10 [-0.18, -0.01] -0.35
89	be reached regarding work.				
	I'll confront household members if agreements about work and leisure are violated.	3.79 [3.64, 3.95]	0.07 [-0.03, 0.16]	0.00 [-0.09, 0.09]	0.05 [-0.04, 0.14] -0.09
	I make arrangements with customers/clients about when I can(not) be reached regarding	3.66 [3.50, 3.82]	0.05 [-0.04, 0.14]	-0.04 [-0.13, 0.05]	-0.01 [-0.10, 0.07] -0.07
	work.				
	I'll confront colleagues/supervisors/my employer if agreements about work and leisure	3.04 [2.89, 3.19]	0.15 [0.06, 0.24]	-0.03 [-0.12, 0.06]	0.00 [-0.10, 0.09] 1.75
	are violated.				
	Household members make arrangements with me in order to limit my workload.	2.79 [2.64, 2.93]	0.04 [-0.05, 0.13]	-0.04 [-0.13, 0.05]	0.00 [-0.09, 0.09] 0.85
	I'll confront clients/customers if agreements about work and leisure matters are violated.	2.61 [2.45, 2.77]	0.07 [-0.03, 0.17]	-0.03 [-0.13, 0.06]	0.03 [-0.06, 0.13] 1.35
	Keep connection ($\alpha = .60$)	4.46 [4.32, 4.59]	0.15 [0.06, 0.24]	-0.03 [-0.12, 0.05]	0.00 [-0.09, 0.08] 0.05
	I use various communication channels.	5.54 [5.47, 5.62]	0.17 [0.08, 0.27]	0.03 [-0.06, 0.11]	-0.04 [-0.12, 0.04] -0.97
	I keep connected via technology to respond to colleagues/supervisors/my	5 42 [5 34 5 50]	0 20 [0 11 0 20]		0.04[0.05_0.12]0.57
	employer/customers/clients quickly.	5.42 [5.54, 5.50]	0.20 [0.11, 0.29]	-0.01 [-0.09, 0.08]	0.04 [-0.05, 0.12] -0.57
	I make small talk with my colleagues/supervisors/my employer.	4.63 [4.52, 4.74]	0.09 [0.00, 0.17]	-0.07 [-0.16, 0.02]	-0.03 [-0.11, 0.05] -0.84
	I communicate expectations and work progress with colleagues/supervisors/my	4.20 [4.08, 4.33]	0.21 [0.12, 0.29]	-0.05 [-0.14, 0.03]	0.03 [-0.05, 0.11] 0.96
	employer.				
	I use modern communication technology with colleagues/supervisors/my employer such	4.14 [3.97, 4.30]	0.14 [0.05, 0.23]	-0.10 [-0.19, -0.02]	0.03 [-0.05, 0.11] 0.32
	as instant messaging.				
	I seek social interaction after work.	3.70 [3.58, 3.83]	0.14 [0.05, 0.23]	0.05 [-0.04, 0.13]	-0.05 [-0.13, 0.03] 0.86
	I use technology to stay in personal contact with colleagues.	3.54 [3.38, 3.69]	0.10 [0.01, 0.19]	-0.05 [-0.14, 0.03]	-0.01 [-0.09, 0.08] 0.59

Note. T = telework strategy; BMP = boundary management preferences; TE = telework experience. β_T represents the main effect of the telework strategy on job performance. $\beta_{T \times BMP}$ represents the interaction effect between the telework strategy and boundary management preferences on job performance. $\beta_{T \times TE}$ represents the interaction effect between the telework strategy and telework experience on job performance. ΔM , β_T is based on the difference between the *z*-scaled mean implementation (*M*) and the *z*-scaled beta-coefficient on job performance (β_T) of the telework strategy. *M*, β_T , $\beta_T \times BMP$, and $\beta_T \times TE$ are reported with 95%-confidence intervals. Telework strategies in italics were recoded. Multiple regression results were controlled for age, gender, living space, and living with children. Results in bold are significant at the $p \le .05$ level. Concerning the implementation of telework strategies (RQ 1), we found communicative telework strategies on average to be the most implemented ($\overline{M} = 4.03$ [3.89, 4.17]), followed by physical ($\overline{M} = 3.95$ [3.80, 4.10]), behavioral ($\overline{M} = 3.87$ [3.73, 4.01]), and temporal ($\overline{M} = 3.61$ [3.46, 3.76]) telework strategies. Zooming-in on the level of subcategories, telework strategies related to keep connection ($\overline{M} = 4.46$ [4.32, 4.59]) and to conducive work attitude ($\overline{M} = 4.44$, [4.32, 4.56]) were on average most implemented and more implemented than the telework strategies related to all remaining subcategories. To facilitate quickly grasping which specific telework strategies drive these effects, we ordered the telework strategies in Table 4.1.1 by the mean of implementation (from high to low) in their respective subcategory.

Concerning associations between the individual implementation of telework strategies and job performance (RQ 2), we found communicative ($\overline{\beta} = 0.12$ [0.03, 0.21]) and behavioral ($\overline{\beta} = 0.10$ [0.01, 0.19]) telework strategies on average to be positively associated. The average performance associations of telework strategies of the respective subcategories allow us to paint a more differentiated picture: Telework strategies related to keep connection ($\overline{\beta} = 0.15$ [0.06, 0.24]; 7 of 7 composing telework strategies had significant β s) and to conducive work attitude ($\overline{\beta} = 0.19$ [0.10, 0.27]; 7 of 9 composing telework strategies had significant β s) were on average positively associated with job performance driving the positive performance association of communicative and behavioral telework strategies, respectively. This pattern of results remained robust when applying alternative analytical approaches, that is, computing (factor analytically identified) scales for telework strategies per participant and simultaneously entering these scales into multiple linear regressions predicting job performance (see Appendix 4.1.B and Appendix 4.1.C).

Concerning the association between the telework strategies' average implementation and association with job performance (RQ 3.1), we found a positive correlation between the 85 means of the implementation of the telework strategies and the 85 β -coefficients of the telework strategies on job performance (r = .55 [.39, .69], t(83) = 6.06, p < .001). Concerning the divergence between the telework strategies' relative implementation from their relative association with job performance (RQ 3.2), we found positive averaged differences between a telework strategy's *z*-scaled implementation and a telework strategy's *z*-scaled β -coefficient on job performance for communicative ($\overline{\Delta} = 0.29$) and behavioral ($\overline{\Delta} = 0.19$) telework strategies, indicating that these categories' telework strategies in average had relative associations with job performance exceeding their relative implementations. As communicative and behavioral telework strategies were on average positively associated with job performance, the related telework strategies might be on average considered under implemented. The higher resolved level of subcategories allows us to draw more nuanced inferences: Telework strategies related to keep connection and to conducive work attitude were the only subcategories on average positively associated with job performance, and thus, of most interest when identifying under implemented telework strategies. Here, we found telework strategies related to conducive work attitude showing on average large positive differences ($\overline{\Delta} = 0.46$), indicating that particularly these telework strategies might be seen as under implemented, whereas telework strategies related to keep connection had on average substantially less positive differences ($\overline{\Delta} = 0.05$). In comparison, we found the most negative averaged differences for temporal telework strategies ($\overline{\Delta} = -0.23$), driven by telework strategies related to temporal flexibility ($\overline{\Delta} = -0.57$), indicating that the related telework strategies on average had relative associations with job performance subceeding their relative implementations and might thus be considered over implemented.

Concerning the moderation effects of boundary management preferences (RQ 4.1) on the association between telework strategies and job performance, we found a positive interaction effect for a telework strategy related to temporal structure ("I do not work beyond my working hours agreed with the employer.", $\beta = 0.13$ [0.05, 0.22], p = .002), indicating that this telework strategy might be more suitable for separators. We found negative interaction effects for specific telework strategies related to temporal flexibility ("I am temporarily flexible in handling urgent work requests.", $\beta = -0.10$ [-0.19, -0.01], p = .025; "I schedule my leisure time in order to get the most of my work time.", $\beta = -0.08$ [-0.16, 0.00], p = .050), keep connection ("I use modern communication technology with colleagues/supervisors/my employer such as instant messaging.", $\beta = -0.10$ [-0.19, -0.02], p = .014), conducive work environment ("I listen to music that helps me concentrate.", $\beta = 0.10$ [0.01, 0.18], p = .028, this telework strategy was recoded so that the interaction effect needs to be reversed), and conducive work attitude ("I value the benefits of working from home.", $\beta = -0.08$ [-0.17, 0.00], p = .050), indicating that these telework strategies might be more suitable for integrators.

Concerning the moderation effects of telework experience (RQ 4.2) on the association between telework strategies and job performance, we found positive interaction effects for specific telework strategies related to physical separation of work and leisure ("I regularly work outside my home.", $\beta = -0.12$ [-0.22, -0.02], p = .015, this telework strategy was recoded so that the interaction effect needs to be reversed), health-promoting measures ("I integrate outdoor activities into my work day.", $\beta = 0.09$ [0.01, 0.18], p = .031), and temporal flexibility ("I flexibly transfer my work to times when I typically attend to personal matters.", $\beta = 0.09$ [0.00, (0.18], p = .044), indicating that these telework strategies might be more suitable for experienced teleworkers. We found negative interaction effects for specific telework strategies related to behavioral separation of work and leisure ("I maintain the same routines of my on-site work.", $\beta = -0.22$ [-0.30, -0.13], p < .001; "I do not read work-related messages after hours.", $\beta = -0.14$ [-0.23, -0.05], p = .002; "I do not respond to work-related messages after hours.", $\beta = -0.14$ [-0.23, -0.05], p = .002), temporal structure ("I strictly separate my work time from my leisure time.", $\beta = -0.14$ [-0.22, -0.05], p = .001; "I have a set time routine for the transition from work to leisure.", $\beta = -0.10$ [-0.19, -0.02], p = .016; "I have a set time routine to start the workday in the morning.", $\beta = -0.09$ [-0.17, 0.00], p = .043), conducive work environment ("I wear comfortable clothes.", $\beta = -0.10$ [-0.19, -0.01], p = .031), make arrangements ("I make arrangements with colleagues/supervisors/my employer about when I can(not) be reached regarding work.", $\beta = -0.10$ [-0.18, -0.01], p = .028), temporal flexibility ("If my work is short on time, I'll 'save it up' to make up for it in the next days.", $\beta = -0.10$ [-0.18, -0.01], p = .035), conducive work attitude ("I set personal daily goals at work.", $\beta = -0.09$ [-0.18, -0.01], p = .027), and physical separation of work and leisure ("I arrange my workstation visually like a typical office.", $\beta = -0.09$ [-0.18, 0.00], p = .041), indicating that these telework strategies might be more suitable for unexperienced teleworkers.

Following up on this, we explored whether the telework strategies with significant interaction effects on job performance were implemented more by the group of teleworkers the interaction effect was in favor of (see Table 4.1.2). We therefore divided the sample into separators versus integrators and experienced versus unexperienced teleworkers, respectively, and computed two-sample *t*-tests concerning the implementation of the telework strategies with significant interaction effects. We divided the sample using the respective scale centers (3.50) as cut-off values. This led to a group of separators (n = 288, 54%) ranking themselves closer to the scale anchor indicating a preference for separation (> 3.50) versus a group of integrators (n = 244, 46%) ranking themselves closer to the scale anchor indicating a preference for integration (< 3.50). Likewise, we divided the sample into a group of experienced teleworkers (n = 348, 66%) ranking themselves closer to the scale anchor indicating high telework experience (> 3.50) versus a group of unexperienced teleworkers (n = 176, 34%) ranking themselves closer to the scale anchor indicating low telework experience (< 3.50). Of the 20 significant interaction effects, we found higher implementations by the group of teleworkers the respective interaction effect was in favor of for six interaction effects, whereas we found significant lower implementations by the group of teleworkers the respective interaction effect was in favor of for two interaction effects.

Table 4.1.2

Mean Value Differences of the Implementation of Telework Strategies With Significant Interaction Effects on Job Performance for Boundary

		Sepa	Separators		Integrators				
	Telework strategies for boundary management preferences	M	SD	М	SD	ΔM	t	df	р
	I do not work beyond my working hours agreed with the employer.	3.47	1.69	2.76	1.65	0.70	4.80	521	<.001
	I value the benefits of working from home.	5.34	1.17	5.22	1.21	0.12	1.16	525	.25
	I use modern communication technology with colleagues/supervisors/my employer such as	4.17	1.93	4.08	1.93	0.10	0.56	512	.58
	instant messaging.								
	<i>I listen to music that helps me concentrate.</i>	4.19	1.87	4.23	1.86	-0.04	-0.25	525	.80
	I schedule my leisure time in order to get the most of my work time.	3.36	1.56	3.66	1.43	-0.30	-2.29	521	.022
	I am temporally flexible in handling urgent work requests.	4.60	1.34	5.06	1.06	-0.46	-4.37	523	<.001
		Exper	ienced	Unexperienced					
	Telework strategies for telework experience	М	SD	М	SD	ΔM	t	df	р
	I arrange my workstation visually like a typical office.	3.91	1.82	3.24	1.81	0.67	3.95	521	<.001
	I flexibly transfer my work to times when I typically attend to personal matters.	2.82	1.55	2.38	1.40	0.44	3.16	517	.002
2	I set personal daily goals at work.	4.54	1.35	4.27	1.51	0.27	2.10	516	.037
3	I integrate outdoor activities into my work day.	3.52	1.66	3.28	1.69	0.23	1.51	522	.13
	If my work is short on time, I'll "save it up" to make up for it in the next days.	3.70	1.63	3.55	1.76	0.15	0.92	471	.36
	I make arrangements with colleagues/supervisors/my employer about when I can and cannot	4.22	1.69	4.13	1.71	0.09	0.58	511	.56
	be reached regarding work matters.								
	I wear comfortable clothes.	5.37	0.92	5.35	1.00	0.02	0.23	515	.82
	I maintain the same routines of my on-site work.	4.24	1.50	4.23	1.45	0.01	0.09	509	.93
	I have a set time routine to start the workday in the morning.	4.78	1.46	4.84	1.39	-0.05	-0.40	522	.69
	I strictly separate my work time from my leisure time.	4.04	1.53	4.19	1.56	-0.15	-1.08	522	.28
	I have a set time routine for the transition from work to leisure.	3.33	1.77	3.47	1.78	-0.15	-0.90	519	.37
	I regularly work outside my home.	5.32	1.17	5.58	0.96	-0.26	-2.72	415	.007
	I do not read work-related messages after hours.	3.17	1.90	3.49	1.96	-0.32	-1.80	521	.073
	I do not respond to work-related messages after hours.	3.46	1.91	3.94	1.84	-0.48	-2.76	521	.006

Management Preferences and Telework Experience

Note. ΔM = mean value difference of the implementation of the telework strategy between separators and integrators/experienced and unexperienced teleworkers. The sample was divided into separators (n = 288, 54%) versus integrators (n = 244, 46%) using the scale center (3.50) of the variable boundary management preferences as cut-off value. The sample was divided into experienced (n = 348, 66%) versus unexperienced (n = 176, 34%) teleworkers using the scale center (3.50) of the variable telework experience as cut-off value. Telework strategies in italics were recoded. Telework strategies sorted by ΔM in descending order. ΔM and *t*-values in bold are significant at the $p \le .05$ level.

4.1.5 Discussion

Drawing from previous research and the popular media, we examined a comprehensive set of 85 highly resolved telework strategies in a sample of 548 teleworkers. We found that the most implemented telework strategies tend to be the ones most positively associated with job performance (RQ 3.1). These serve less the purpose of drawing boundaries between work- and private-life (e.g., Basile & Beauregard, 2016; Fonner & Stache, 2012) but rather purposes of working task-oriented and productively (e.g., Greer & Payne, 2014) by adopting a conducive work attitude and of keeping social contact (e.g., Kowalski & Swanson, 2005; Turetken et al., 2011) by using modern communication technology (RQ 1, 2). Taking the level of implementation into account, teleworkers might be particularly advised to implement telework strategies related to conducive work attitude (RQ 3.2). In alignment with P-E fit (Edwards, 2008; Kristof, 1996) and boundary congruence/fit approaches (Ammons, 2013; Kreiner, 2006), we found that separators tend to benefit from telework strategies establishing boundaries between work- and private-life, whereas integrators tend to benefit from telework strategies dismantling boundaries between work- and private-life (RQ 4.1). Likewise, experienced teleworkers tend to benefit from telework strategies providing flexibility, whereas unexperienced teleworkers tend to benefit from telework strategies providing structure (RQ 4.2).

4.1.5.1 Implementation of Telework Strategies. We found telework strategies related to keep connection and to conducive work attitude to be most implemented. Aligning this result with previous research, Greer and Payne (2014) and Troll et al. (2022) observed similar patterns. Greer and Pavne (2014) found telework strategies related to "be accessible" and to "communicate with coworkers/supervisor" to be among high performing teleworkers' most frequently mentioned telework strategies, matching our finding of telework strategies related to keep connection. They also found telework strategies related to "adopt a work-oriented mindset", "be extra productive", "plan tasks", and "set goals and prioritize" to be commonly mentioned, matching our finding of telework strategies related to conducive work attitude. Troll et al. (2022) found telework strategies related to modifying social conditions to be frequently implemented, but they laid a specific focus on getting motivated by friends/colleagues to work productively not matching the core of our telework strategies related to keep connection. However, Troll et al. (2022) also found telework strategies related to autonomous motivation (motivating oneself to start and endure work tasks) being frequently implemented that overlap with telework strategies related to conducive work attitude (e.g., practicing self-praise, showing dedication, reducing breaks to make progress).

It catches the eye that we found boundary related telework strategies to be less implemented than telework strategies related to keep connection and to conducive work attitude. This is remarkable because the largest proportion of research on telework strategies stems from boundary theory (Ashforth et al., 2000; Nippert-Eng, 1996) transferring boundary management strategies to the telework context (Allen et al., 2021; Basile & Beauregard, 2016; Fonner & Stache, 2012; Haun et al., 2022; Kossek, 2016; Mustafa, 2010; Mustafa & Gold, 2013; Myrie & Daly, 2009; Nansen et al., 2010; Tietze, 2002; Tietze & Musson, 2003). Also in the popular media (e.g., Cobler, n.d.; Stross, n.d.; Westdeutsche Zeitung, 2020) boundary related telework strategies receive much attention. Due to boundary related telework strategies being in the spotlight, one might be tempted to conclude that these are the most implemented. In contrast, the present study suggests that it is valuable to complement telework strategies serving other goals such as keeping social contact (Golden & Raghuram, 2010; Ilozor et al., 2001; Kowalski & Swanson, 2005; Mann et al., 2000; Turetken et al., 2011), and working task-oriented and productively (Greer & Payne, 2014; Troll et al., 2021) to paint a comprehensive picture of telework strategies' implementation.

4.1.5.2 Associations Between Telework Strategies and Job Performance. Responding to multiple calls for research on the effectiveness of boundary management strategies (Binnewies et al., 2020) and telework strategies (Allen et al., 2021; Rudolph et al., 2021), we found telework strategies related to conducive work attitude (driven by showing dedication, adjusting behavior and attitude to focus, strengthening the supervisor's confidence in the own work quality, getting organized, setting goals, practicing self-praise, and valuing telework benefits) and to keep connection (driven by communicating expectations and work progress, keeping connected via technology, using various communication channels, seeking social interaction after work, using modern communication technology, and using technology to stay in personal contact with colleagues) being positively associated with job performance. These results fit with high performers' implemented telework strategies: Greer and Payne (2014) found "adopt a work-oriented mindset", "be extra productive", "plan tasks", and "set goals and prioritize" as well as "be accessible" and "communicate with coworkers/supervisor" to be commonly mentioned.³⁷ Troll et al. (2021) found telework strategies related to autonomous motivation to predict job performance, matching our finding of a positive

³⁷ Greer and Payne (2014) also found telework strategies related to "use advanced technologies" (i.e., establishing a technological setup at home close to the on-site setup) being frequently mentioned by high performing teleworkers for which no separate subcategory emerged in the present study. However, we found the single related telework strategy "I use a setup that is technically close to the setup at my on-site workstation." to be positively associated with job performance in the present study matching Greer and Payne's (2014) initial findings.

association between telework strategies related to conducive work attitude and job performance.^{38, 39} Finally, our finding of telework strategies related to keep connection being positively associated with job performance might be aligned with MRT (Daft & Lengel, 1986) and goes well with Turetken et al.'s (2011) finding of communication media richness predicting teleworkers' job performance.

We found telework strategies related to conducive work attitude and to keep connection to be positively associated with job performance, whereas boundary related telework strategies were less associated with job performance. On the one hand, this is in line with Kossek et al. (2006), who found the global implementation of boundary related telework strategies not being associated with job performance. On the other hand, this is striking because boundary related telework strategies are regularly referred to as "best-practice" (Golden, 2021) and proposed to foster productive teleworking in the popular media (e.g., Prophet, 2017; Schulz, 2020). The young literature on telework strategies might profit from complementing telework strategies serving goals of working task-oriented and productively, and keeping social contact when examining telework strategies' impacts on work outcomes and deriving practical recommendations.

4.1.5.3 Divergences Between Telework Strategies' Implementation and Association With Job Performance. The present study is the first to quantitatively examine a large number of telework strategies on a highly resolved level, which enabled us to suggest that telework strategies more positively associated with job performance tend to be implemented more often. Thus, it seems that teleworkers have an intuitive understanding of the telework strategies important to job performance and tend to implement them accordingly. However, there were

³⁸ However, whereas Troll et al. (2021) did not find goal-setting related self-control strategies (i.e., setting goals and deadlines, making to-do-lists) to be a unique predictor of job performance, goal-setting related telework strategies (e.g., setting goals, getting organized) were part of the subcategory conducive work attitude associated with job performance in the present study. A reason for the divergent findings might be controlling for other sets of self-control strategies in Troll et al. (2021). We also controlled for other subcategories of telework strategies in our supplemental analyses (see Appendix 4.1.B and Appendix 4.1.C) and found the same pattern of results reported in the main paper. However, in the present study, goal-setting related telework strategies were integrated into the subcategory conducive work attitude. Thus, in the present study, goal-setting related telework strategies were not controlled for telework strategies related to conducive work attitude, whereas in Troll et al. (2021) goal-setting related self-control strategies were controlled for self-control strategies related to autonomous motivation. Indeed, Troll et al. (2021) found positive bivariate correlations between goal-setting related self-control strategies and job performance.

³⁹ The second set of self-control strategies identified as unique predictor of job performance in Troll et al. (2021) were strategies related to somatic condition (i.e., optimizing the physical state to work productively, for instance, through sufficient sleep, coffee consumption, wearing fresh clothes). Self-control strategies related to somatic condition were most similar to the present study's telework strategies related to health-promoting measures (e.g., adapting work-day to bio-rhythm, eating healthy) for which we did not find a positive association with job performance. Future research might pick up on these divergent results and more closely examine impacts of telework strategies related to altering the somatic condition/health-promoting measures on job performance.

also telework strategies with substantial divergences in terms of their relative association with job performance and their relative implementation enabling us to derive initial fine-grained practical recommendations. We identified telework strategies related to conducive work attitude (driven by showing dedication, practicing self-praise, and adjusting attitude and behavior to focus) to be under implemented. In comparison, telework strategies related to keep connection were more implemented and less associated with job performance, leading to a smaller divergence. Thus, taking the current level of implementation into account, teleworkers might be advised to pay particular attention to implementing telework strategies related to conducive work attitude. Concerning telework strategies for which their relative association with job performance subceeded their relative implementation, we particularly found telework strategies related to temporal flexibility being over implemented (driven by transferring personal matters to work times, scheduling work time to get the most of leisure time, banking work times), so that teleworkers might be advised to reduce their implementation.

4.1.5.4 Moderating Influences of Boundary Management Preferences and Telework Experience. Following P-E fit approaches (preferences/needs-supply fit; Edwards, 2008; Kristof, 1996) and specific approaches related to boundary theory (Ashforth et al., 2000; Nippert-Eng, 1996), that is, the boundary congruence approach (Kreiner, 2006) and the boundary fit approach (Ammons, 2013), telework strategies congruent with individual boundary management preferences might be particularly beneficial to job performance as a fit between individual preferences and needs (boundary management preferences) and environmental boundary influences/boundary enactments (telework strategies) is achieved. Indeed, we found a telework strategy aligned to separating work- and private-life (i.e., not working beyond agreed hours) being more beneficial to job performance for separators. In comparison, we found telework strategies aligned to integrating work- and private-life (i.e., flexibly handling urgent work requests and scheduling leisure time to get the most of the work time) being more beneficial to job performance for integrators. We also identified three further telework strategies particularly beneficial to integrators that might align with a preference for integrating work- and private-life. First, using modern communication technology such as instant messaging might blur the borders between work- and private-life due to being continuously accessible for work matters. Second, listening to music that helps to concentrate might be seen as mingling a typical leisure activity with work. Third, valuing the benefits of telework might be particularly beneficial to integrators as many benefits of teleworking are aligned to a better integration of work- and private-life due to enhanced flexibility.

Concerning moderating influences of telework experience, we found two telework strategies related to spatial flexibility (i.e., working outside from home, for instance, in a café, and integrating outdoor activities into the workday) and one telework strategy related to temporal flexibility (i.e., flexibly transferring work to times when typically attending personal matters) being more beneficial to job performance for experienced teleworkers. In comparison, we found mainly telework strategies related to establishing routines (i.e., maintaining the routines of the on-site work, establishing routines to start and to end the work day, setting daily goals) and to adhering to work/non-work rules (i.e., strictly separating work and leisure time, not reading/responding to work messages after hours, making arrangements about when (not) to be reached regarding work) being more beneficial to job performance for unexperienced teleworkers. Thus, following the P-E fit approach (Edwards, 2008; Kristof, 1996), it seems that telework strategies related to flexibility might rather meet the preferences and needs of experienced teleworkers that might desire and be able to handle alternation resulting in a more positive association with job performance. In comparison, telework strategies related to establishing routines and work/non-work rules might rather meet the preferences and needs of unexperienced teleworkers that might desire and need structure resulting in a more positive association with job performance.

Overall, in the present study, we identified the effects of P-E fit on job performance, whereas previous research in the context of boundary congruence/fit (Ammons, 2013; Kreiner, 2006) rather focused on outcomes such as work-family-conflict, job satisfaction, commitment, and recovery (see Chen et al., 2009; Haun et al., 2022; Kreiner, 2006; Rothbard et al., 2005). The pattern of results underlined the utility of transferring P-E fit, in particular, boundary congruence/fit, to telework contexts to paint a differentiated picture of telework strategies' effectiveness depending on teleworkers' individual preferences and needs.

4.1.5.5 Theoretical Implications. The present study sheds light on the puzzling impacts of individual telework strategies, an under-explored field of research that is not yet well-anchored in the scientific literature. Whereas most previous studies have focused on telework strategies aligned to establishing/dismantling boundaries between work- and private-life in the tradition of boundary theory (Ashforth et al., 2000; Nippert-Eng, 1996), the present results suggest that the young field of research on telework strategies might profit from expanding this narrow focus. In particular, we demonstrate that teleworkers rather tend to implement telework strategies serving goals such as working task-oriented and productively (e.g., Greer & Payne, 2014) as well as keeping social contact (e.g., Kowalski & Swanson, 2005). Even more so, these telework strategies were most decisive for job performance. Thus, future
research on telework strategies could progress by adopting a broader focus on telework strategies serving divergent goals to understand more comprehensively telework strategies' enigmatic impacts on various (tele-) work outcomes. The present study also contributes to the literature by demonstrating that applying the P-E fit framework (Edwards, 2008; Kristof, 1996) to the telework context helps to unravel the differential impacts of telework strategies when considering teleworkers' individual preferences and needs. We did not find a one-fits-all solution to effective telework strategies uniformly applying to all teleworkers. The present findings rather suggest that the effectiveness of many telework strategies depends on teleworkers' individual boundary management preferences and experience with working from home. Thus, marrying the literature streams of P-E fit, in particular boundary congruence/fit (Ammons, 2013; Kreiner, 2006), and telework strategies seems to be another promising avenue for future research to advance progress in this nascent research field.

4.1.5.6 Organizational Implications. Whereas there are plenty of recommendations for implementing individual telework strategies spread throughout the popular media, the scientific literature still lags behind in providing empirical evidence on telework strategies' effectiveness (Allen et al., 2021; Rudolph et al., 2021; see also Binnewies et al., 2020). The present study aims to fill this gap and delivers reassuring results on the implementation of commonly circulating telework strategies: In general, teleworkers seem to have an intuitive understanding of which telework strategies are effective. That is, teleworkers tend to implement telework strategies more often that are more positively associated with job performance. However, we still found telework strategies related to adopting a conducive work attitude (e.g., practicing self-praise) to be less implemented than they probably should be according to their strong association with job performance. If verified in future confirmatory research, organizations might pick up on these findings by taking measures to educate teleworkers about effective telework strategies, especially those that are yet poorly implemented. On the other side, we also identified telework strategies for which organizations might be advised to take measures to educate their teleworkers to implement them less. In particular, we found telework strategies related to temporal flexibility (e.g., transferring personal matters to work times) to be implemented more often than they probably should be based on their low or even negative association with job performance. However, organizations need to consider that the implementation of telework strategies may not always be a matter of choice. Real-life circumstances can occasionally hinder teleworkers from implementing effective strategies and from avoiding ineffective strategies. For instance, during the COVID-19 pandemic, many teleworkers have been affected by sudden school and daycare closures due to lockdown

measures to limit the spread of the pandemic. Thus, many teleworkers might have had to switch flexibly between work requests and demands spilling over from their private-life (e.g., taking care of the children). Organizations might therefore also try to anticipate potential reasons (e.g., lack of childcare) for implementing less conducive telework strategies (e.g., transferring personal matters to work times) and to take action to mitigate these reasons (e.g., organizations might offer (virtual) childcare programs). Finally, organizations may adopt measures to identify groups of employees sharing common characteristics critical to the effectiveness of telework strategies and tailor advice (e.g., via organizational e-mail newsletters) or trainings educating about effective telework strategies to employees' individual preferences and needs. This is particularly intriguing in situations such as the COVID-19 pandemic in which employees may be urged to telework considering themselves not prepared to do so (e.g., separators and unexperienced teleworkers).

4.1.5.7 Limitations and Directions for Future Research. First, due to the cross-sectional design, we cannot draw causal inferences, that is, we can only demonstrate which telework strategies are associated with job performance, but this does not imply that the telework strategies cause between person differences in job performance. We thus suggest future research to apply longitudinal research designs (e.g., experience sampling/daily diary methods, Larson & Csikszentmihalyi, 2014; structural equation modeling approaches to cross-lagged panel models, Hamaker et al., 2015) to examine the directional impacts telework strategies and job performance have on one another over time. We also encourage future research to adopt (quasi-) experimental designs, for instance, to examine a training intervention in a pre-post control group design monitoring the implementation of telework strategies and job performance after the training (see also Binnewies et al., 2020; Rexroth et al., 2016). This could also demonstrate telework strategies' trainability with practical implications for teleworkers, who might be able to learn to telework productively by applying effective telework strategies. Against the background of ongoing change processes of work in the digital age, such as technological advances and increasing flexibility of working time and space, particularly online training interventions might be a promising starting point to do so (see Rexroth et al., 2017).

Second, our data is based on self-reports assessed at one measurement time point, which may have introduced common-method bias (CMB; Podsakoff et al., 2012). However, CMB does not always compromise results. For instance, in the present study, despite the large sample size, the majority of telework strategies did not show significant associations with job performance, which should have been the case, if CMB was a severe problem (Spector, 2006). Also CMB is less of a problem in regression models with multiple predictors and when testing

interaction effects (Siemsen et al., 2010). Nevertheless, we suggest future research to assess telework outcomes such as job performance with multiple independent, objective indicators (e.g., supervisor/coworker ratings, customer satisfaction, objective records such as the number of claims processed). Also, telework strategies might be assessed through acquaintance reports (e.g., household members, coworkers). Measuring the implementation of telework strategies and telework outcomes at different time points would be a further approach to mitigate CMB.

Third, the directionality of boundary related telework strategies (see Allen et al., 2014; Hecht & Allen, 2009; Wepfer et al., 2018) might be considered, that is, telework strategies can either be geared toward keeping private matters out of work (versus integrating) or toward keeping work out of private matters (versus integrating). In our study, we summarized findings of telework strategies related to both boundary management directions as both indicate a separation/integration of work- and private-life. However, telework strategies with a different directionality might differentially impact work outcomes. Such a differentiated pattern might be masked because divergent effects might cancel each other out. Indeed, for some telework strategies, we observed a pattern that might provide initial support for this notion (however, this pattern does not apply uniformly to all concerned telework strategies requiring to draw conclusions with caution): We found rather positive performance associations for telework strategies geared to keeping private matters out of work (e.g., avoiding to read non-work related material at work, attending to personal matters only during breaks), whereas we found rather zero performance associations for telework strategies geared to keeping work out of private matters (e.g., not going back to work after hours, not reading/responding to work-related messages/calls after hours). Future research should consider telework strategies' boundary management directionality to examine potential divergent effects on telework outcomes.

Fourth, the lack of associations of boundary related telework strategies with job performance does not imply that they do not have other positive effects. Quite the opposite, these telework strategies are likely to have various positive effects, particularly when it comes to outcomes such as reduced stress, well-being, and satisfaction (Binnewies et al., 2020; Haun et al., 2022). It should also be considered that telework strategies that have been found to be positively associated with job performance in the present study (e.g., scheduling leisure time to get the most out of work time) could have detrimental effects on other outcomes such as stress and well-being. Future research will profit from examining the effects of telework strategies on a broad set of telework outcomes to draw a differentiated picture of telework strategies' various impacts.

Fifth, in the present study, we focused on boundary management preferences and telework experience as two important individual characteristics of teleworkers that had a moderating influence on the relationship between telework strategies and job performance. Future research could examine other individual characteristics that might affect the effectiveness of telework strategies. This would contribute to a more nuanced understanding of the puzzling effects of telework strategies on (tele-) work outcomes. For instance, whereas teleworkers' personality traits such as extraversion and conscientiousness have already been shown to directly affect telework outcomes (O'Neill et al., 2009), little is known about their moderating effects. For example, it may be that extraverted teleworkers suffer particularly from social isolation (especially during times of pandemic), so they could benefit from implementing communicative telework strategies related to keep connection, such as engaging in virtual small talk with colleagues. Similarly, teleworkers with low conscientiousness might particularly benefit from telework strategies that help to maintain a clear daily structure, such as adhering to fixed work/non-work hours. However, these moderating factors are not limited to the individual characteristics of the teleworker but may also represent broader situational factors. For example, whereas we found that most boundary related telework strategies do not positively impact job performance, this could change when children are at home. In light of the lockdown measures during the COVID-19 pandemic, many teleworkers may have faced this situation. In these cases, for example, physical telework strategies related to physical separation of work and leisure, such as working in a separate room, could be beneficial because they may facilitate undisturbed work. A better understanding of the moderating factors that influence the relationship between telework strategies and (tele-) work outcomes could have immediate practical implications for organizations to tailor advice on telework strategies to employees' individual characteristics and situational circumstances.

Sixth, in the present study, we applied a P-E fit approach (Edwards, 2008; Kristof, 1996) to a teleworker sample, which stands out due to teleworkers having great latitude to self-adjust various work environmental aspects (in contrast to stationary on-site workers). It might be an exciting future research topic to examine whether performance differences between teleworker and non-teleworker samples (Gajendran & Harrison, 2007) might (to some extent) be driven by enhanced P-E fit in telework contexts, in which teleworkers are empowered to self-adjust their working environment in a way that corresponds to their individual preferences and needs. Indeed, we found initial indications that teleworkers to some extent successfully customize their telework environment. For example, whereas we found separators to profit more from not working beyond their agreed working hours, we also found separators to implement this

telework strategy more. Likewise, whereas we found integrators to profit more from being temporally flexible in handling urgent work requests and from scheduling their leisure time to get the most out of their work time, we also found integrators to implement these telework strategies more. Future confirmatory research could build on these exploratory findings.

Seventh, future research would profit from establishing a mutually accepted taxonomy of telework strategies by deriving theoretically sound dimensions of telework strategies and testing these with factor analytical or structural equation modeling procedures. A self-report questionnaire might be developed to measure the implementation of telework strategies meeting psychometric test properties. In particular, future research in this vein should make efforts to demonstrate that such a test actually measures the dimensions of telework strategies that it is claimed to measure, that is demonstrating construct validity (Badenes-Ribera et al., 2020). This would ensure that researchers use terms consistently and increase the comparability of research findings streamlining progress in this nascent research field.

Finally, we would like to emphasize the Northern European cultural context of our study, which is likely to have affected the individual ways in which participants organized their work processes from home. The cultural context has a strong influence on work-related values and norms (e.g., Hofstede, 1984; Schwartz, 1999), which also affect telework constellations (e.g., Adamovic, 2022; Peters & den Dulk, 2003). In addition, there have been cross-cultural differences in pandemic related measures to limit the spreading of the COVID-19 virus (e.g., imposing lockdowns; Bajaj et al., 2021) and in individuals' psychological responses to the COVID-19 pandemic (Yap et al., 2021), which may have caused further cross-cultural differences in the adoption of telework strategies. We therefore suggest future research to address cross-cultural similarities and differences in the way teleworkers organize their work processes.

4.1.5.8 Conclusion. This study contributes to the young literature on telework strategies by demonstrating that extending a narrow focus on telework strategies stemming from boundary theory seems to be a fruitful avenue for research illuminating the puzzling impacts of the individual ways in which teleworkers organize their work processes. In particular, future research would profit from complementing telework strategies aligned to working task-oriented and productively by adopting a conducive work attitude and to keeping social contact by using modern communication technology. Also, taking a P-E fit perspective appears to be a promising approach to paint a more fine-grained picture of telework strategies' differential impacts on work outcomes by taking teleworkers' individual preferences and needs into account.

4.1.6 References

- Adamovic, M. (2022). How does employee cultural background influence the effects of telework on job stress? The roles of power distance, individualism, and beliefs about telework. *International Journal of Information Management*, 62, 102437. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2021.102437
- Allen, T. D., Cho, E., & Meier, L. L. (2014). Work–family boundary dynamics. Annual Review of Organizational Psychology and Organizational Behavior, 1(1), 99–121. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-orgpsych-031413-091330
- Allen, T. D., Golden, T. D., & Shockley, K. M. (2015). How effective is telecommuting? Assessing the status of our scientific findings. *Psychological Science in the Public Interest*, 16(2), 40–68. https://doi.org/10.1177/1529100615593273
- Allen, T. D., Johnson, R. C., Kiburz, K. M., & Shockley, K. M. (2013). Work-family conflict and flexible work arrangements: Deconstructing flexibility. *Personnel Psychology*, 66(2), 345–376. https://doi.org/10.1111/peps.12012
- Allen, T. D., Merlo, K., Lawrence, R. C., Slutsky, J., & Gray, C. E. (2021). Boundary management and work-nonwork balance while working from home. *Applied Psychology*, 70(1), 60–84. https://doi.org/10.1111/apps.12300
- Ammons, S. K. (2013). Work-family boundary strategies: Stability and alignment between preferred and enacted boundaries. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 82(1), 49–58. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2012.11.002
- Arthur Jr., W., Bell, S. T., Villado, A. J., & Doverspike, D. (2006). The use of personorganization fit in employment decision making: An assessment of its criterion-related validity. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 91(4), 786–801. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.91.4.786
- Ashforth, B. E., Kreiner, G. E., & Fugate, M. (2000). All in a day's work: Boundaries and micro role transitions. *Academy of Management Review*, 25(3), 472–491. https://doi.org/10.5465/amr.2000.3363315
- Athanasiadou, C., & Theriou, G. (2021). Telework: Systematic literature review and future research agenda. *Heliyon*, 7(10). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2021.e08165
- Badenes-Ribera, L., Silver, N. C., & Pedroli, E. (2020). Editorial: Scale development and score validation. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 11(799), 1–4. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2020.00799
- Bailey, D. E., & Kurland, N. B. (2002). A review of telework research: Findings, new directions, and lessons for the study of modern work. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 23(4), 383–400. https://doi.org/10.1002/job.144
- Bajaj, G., Khandelwal, S., & Budhwar, P. (2021). COVID-19 pandemic and the impact of cross-cultural differences on crisis management: A conceptual model of transcultural crisis management. *International Journal of Cross Cultural Management*, 21(3), 569– 601. https://doi.org/10.1177/14705958211060189
- Bal, P. M., & De Lange, A. H. (2015). From flexibility human resource management to employee engagement and perceived job performance across the lifespan: A multisample study. *Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology*, 88(1), 126–154. https://doi.org/10.1111/joop.12082
- Baruch, Y., & Nicholson, N. (1997). Home, sweet work: Requirements for effective home working. *Journal of General Management*, 23(2), 15–30. https://doi.org/10.1177/030630709702300202
- Basile, K. A., & Beauregard, T. A. (2016). Strategies for successful telework: How effective employees manage work/home boundaries. *Strategic HR Review*, *15*(3), 106–111. https://doi.org/10.1108/SHR-03-2016-0024

- Binnewies, C., Haun, V. C., Törk, J., Brauner, C., & Haun, S. (2020). The effects of boundary management strategies on employees' recovery and well-being. *Academy of Management Proceedings*, 2020(1). https://doi.org/10.5465/AMBPP.2020.17134abstract
- Bloom, N., Liang, J., Roberts, J., & Ying, Z. J. (2015). Does working from home work? Evidence from a Chinese experiment. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 130(1), 165–218. https://doi.org/10.1093/qje/qju032
- Chen, Z., Powell, G. N., & Greenhaus, J. H. (2009). Work-to-family conflict, positive spillover, and boundary management: A person-environment fit approach. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 74(1), 82–93. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2008.10.009
- Cobler, A. (n.d.). *Homeoffice einrichten: 11 Tipps für das Arbeiten von zu Hause*. Hallo Karriere. https://www.hallokarriere.com/homeoffice-einrichten-tipps/
- Daft, R. L., & Lengel, R. H. (1986). Organizational information requirements, media richness and structural design. *Management Science*, *32*(5), 554–571. https://doi.org/10.1287/mnsc.32.5.554
- Duckworth, A. L., Gendler, T. S., & Gross, J. J. (2014). Self-control in school-age children. *Educational Psychologist*, 49(3), 199–217. https://doi.org/10.1080/00461520.2014.926225
- Edwards, J. R. (2008). Person–environment fit in organizations: An assessment of theoretical progress. *Academy of Management Annals*, 2(1), 167–230. https://doi.org/10.5465/19416520802211503
- Flatley, A. (2020, March 22). *Home Office: Tipps, wie du jetzt effizient von Zuhause aus arbeitest.* Utopia. https://utopia.de/ratgeber/home-office-tipps/
- Fonner, K. L., & Stache, L. C. (2012). All in a day's work, at home: Teleworkers' management of micro role transitions and the work-home boundary. *New Technology, Work and Employment*, 27(3), 242–257. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-005X.2012.00290.x
- Gainey, T. W., & Kelley, D. E. (1999). Telecommuting's impact on corporate culture and individual workers: Examining the effect of employee isolation. *SAM Advanced Management Journal*, 64(4), 4–10.
- Gajendran, R. S., & Harrison, D. A. (2007). The good, the bad, and the unknown about telecommuting: Meta-analysis of psychological mediators and individual consequences. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 92(6), 1524–1541. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.92.6.1524
- Gajendran, R. S., Harrison, D. A., & Delaney-Klinger, K. (2015). Are telecommuters remotely good citizens? Unpacking telecommuting's effects on performance via ideals and job resources. *Personnel Psychology*, 68(2), 353–393. https://doi.org/10.1111/peps.12082
- Golden, T. D. (2021). Telework and the navigation of work-home boundaries. *Organizational Dynamics*, *50*(1), 100822. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.orgdyn.2020.100822
- Golden, T. D., & Raghuram, S. (2010). Teleworker knowledge sharing and the role of altered relational and technological interactions. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, *31*(8), 1061–1085. https://doi.org/10.1002/job.652
- Golden, T. D., Veiga, J. F., & Simsek, Z. (2006). Telecommuting's differential impact on work-family conflict: Is there no place like home? *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 91(6), 1340–1350. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.91.6.1340
- Greer, T. W., & Payne, S. C. (2014). Overcoming telework challenges: Outcomes of successful telework strategies. *The Psychologist-Manager Journal*, 17(2), 87–111. https://doi.org/10.1037/mgr0000014

- Hamaker, E. L., Kuiper, R. M., & Grasman, R. P. P. P. (2015). A critique of the cross-lagged panel model. *Psychological Methods*, 20(1), 102–116. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0038889
- Haun, V. C., Remmel, C., & Haun, S. (2022). Boundary management and recovery when working from home: The moderating roles of segmentation preference and availability demands. *German Journal of Human Resource Management*, 36(3), 270–299. https://doi.org/10.1177/23970022221079048
- Hecht, T. D., & Allen, N. J. (2009). A longitudinal examination of the work–nonwork boundary strength construct. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, *30*(7), 839–862. https://doi.org/10.1002/job.579
- Heidemeier, H., & Moser, K. (2009). Self-other agreement in job performance ratings: A meta-analytic test of a process model. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 94(2), 353–370. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.94.2.353
- Hofstede, G. (1984). *Culture's consequences: International differences in work-related values* (5th ed.). Sage.
- Ilozor, D. B., Ilozor, B. D., & Carr, J. (2001). Management communication strategies determine job satisfaction in telecommuting. *Journal of Management Development*, 20(6), 495–507. https://doi.org/10.1108/02621710110399783
- Kerman, K., Korunka, C., & Tement, S. (2022). Work and home boundary violations during the COVID-19 pandemic: The role of segmentation preferences and unfinished tasks. *Applied Psychology*, 71(3), 784–806. https://doi.org/10.1111/apps.12335
- Kniffin, K. M., Narayanan, J., Anseel, F., Antonakis, J., Ashford, S. P., Bakker, A. B.,
 Bamberger, P., Bapuji, H., Bhave, D. P., Choi, V. K., Creary, S. J., Demerouti, E.,
 Flynn, F. J., Gelfand, M. J., Greer, L. L., Johns, G., Kesebir, S., Klein, P. G., Lee, S.
 Y., ... Vugt, M. van. (2021). COVID-19 and the workplace: Implications, issues, and
 insights for future research and action. *American Psychologist*, *76*(1), 63–77.
 https://doi.org/10.1037/amp0000716
- Kossek, E. E. (2016). Implementing organizational work–life interventions: Toward a triple bottom line. *Community, Work & Family*, 19(2), 242–256. https://doi.org/10.1080/13668803.2016.1135540
- Kossek, E. E., Lautsch, B. A., & Eaton, S. C. (2006). Telecommuting, control, and boundary management: Correlates of policy use and practice, job control, and work–family effectiveness. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 68(2), 347–367. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2005.07.002
- Kowalski, K. B., & Swanson, J. A. (2005). Critical success factors in developing teleworking programs. *Benchmarking: An International Journal*, 12(3), 236–249. https://doi.org/10.1108/14635770510600357
- Kramer, A., & Kramer, K. Z. (2020). The potential impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on occupational status, work from home, and occupational mobility. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, *119*, 103442. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2020.103442
- Kreiner, G. E. (2006). Consequences of work-home segmentation or integration: A personenvironment fit perspective. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 27(4), 485–507. https://doi.org/10.1002/job.386
- Kreiner, G. E., Hollensbe, E. C., & Sheep, M. L. (2009). Balancing borders and bridges: Negotiating the work-home interface via boundary work tactics. *Academy of Management Journal*, 52(4), 704–730. https://doi.org/10.5465/amj.2009.43669916
- Kristof, A. L. (1996). Person-organization fit: An integrative review of its conceptualizations, measurement, and implications. *Personnel Psychology*, 49(1), 1–49. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-6570.1996.tb01790.xunu

- Kurland, N. B., & Cooper, C. D. (2002). Manager control and employee isolation in telecommuting environments. *The Journal of High Technology Management Research*, 13(1), 107–126. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1047-8310(01)00051-7
- Lally, P., Van Jaarsveld, C. H. M., Potts, H. W. W., & Wardle, J. (2010). How are habits formed: Modelling habit formation in the real world. *European Journal of Social Psychology*, 40(6), 998–1009. https://doi.org/10.1002/ejsp.674
- Larson, R., & Csikszentmihalyi, M. (2014). The experience sampling method. In M. Csikszentmihalyi (Ed.), Flow and the foundations of positive psychology: The collected works of Mihaly Csikszentmihalyi (pp. 21–34). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-017-9088-8 2
- Mai, J. (n.d.). *Homeoffice: Pflicht oder Recht? Pauschale* + *Regeln*. Karrierebibel. https://karrierebibel.de/homeoffice/
- Mann, S., Varey, R., & Button, W. (2000). An exploration of the emotional impact of teleworking via computer-mediated communication. *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, 15(7), 668–690. https://doi.org/10.1108/02683940010378054
- McCloskey, D. W. (2001). Telecommuting experiences and outcomes: Myths and realities. In N. J. Johnson (Ed.), *Telecommuting and virtual offices: Issues and opportunities* (pp. 231–246). Idea Group. https://doi.org/10.4018/978-1-878289-79-7.ch013
- Milasi, S., González-Vázquez, I., & Fernández-Macías, E. (2021). *Telework before the COVID-19 pandemic: Trends and drivers of differences across the EU*. OECD Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1787/d5e42dd1-en
- Miller, M. B. (1995). Coefficient alpha: A basic introduction from the perspectives of classical test theory and structural equation modeling. *Structural Equation Modeling: A Multidisciplinary Journal*, 2(3), 255–273. https://doi.org/10.1080/10705519509540013
- Mustafa, M. (2010). Managing boundaries: The case of home-based self-employed teleworkers. *International Journal of Business and Management Research*, 3(1), 55–64. https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.5527004
- Mustafa, M., & Gold, M. (2013). 'Chained to my work'? Strategies to manage temporal and physical boundaries among self-employed teleworkers: Teleworker strategies to manage boundaries. *Human Resource Management Journal*, *23*(4), 413–429. https://doi.org/10.1111/1748-8583.12009
- Myrie, J., & Daly, K. (2009). The use of boundaries by self-employed, home-based workers to manage work and family: A qualitative study in Canada. *Journal of Family and Economic Issues*, *30*(4), 386–398. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10834-009-9166-7
- Nansen, B., Arnold, M., Gibbs, M., & Davis, H. (2010). Time, space and technology in the working-home: An unsettled nexus. *New Technology, Work and Employment*, 25(2), 136–153. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-005X.2010.00244.x
- Nippert-Eng, C. (1996). Calendars and keys: The classification of "home" and "work." Sociological Forum, 11(3), 563–582. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02408393
- O'Neill, T. A., Hambley, L. A., Greidanus, N. S., MacDonnell, R., & Kline, T. J. B. (2009). Predicting teleworker success: An exploration of personality, motivational, situational, and job characteristics. *New Technology, Work and Employment*, 24(2), 144–162. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-005X.2009.00225.x
- Park, Y., Liu, Y., & Headrick, L. (2020). When work is wanted after hours: Testing weekly stress of information communication technology demands using boundary theory. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 41(6), 518–534. https://doi.org/10.1002/job.2461
- Peters, P., & den Dulk, L. (2003). Cross cultural differences in managers' support for homebased telework: A theoretical elaboration. *International Journal of Cross Cultural Management*, 3(3), 329–346. https://doi.org/10.1177/1470595803003003005

- Podsakoff, P. M., MacKenzie, S. B., & Podsakoff, N. P. (2012). Sources of method bias in social science research and recommendations on how to control it. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 63(1), 539–569. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-psych-120710-100452
- Prophet, I. (2017, May 26). *Homeoffice: 8 Tipps für mehr Produktivität*. t3n Magazin. https://t3n.de/news/homeoffice-8-tipps-produktivitaet-824442/
- R Core Team. (2018). R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. http://www.R-project.org/
- Raghuram, S., & Wiesenfeld, B. (2004). Work-nonwork conflict and job stress among virtual workers. *Human Resource Management*, 43(2–3), 259–277. https://doi.org/10.1002/hrm.20019
- Rewe. (n.d.). Tipps fürs Homeoffice. https://www.rewe.de/service/homeoffice-tipps/
- Rexroth, M., Feldmann, E., Peters, A., & Sonntag, K. (2016). Learning how to manage the boundaries between life domains. *Zeitschrift für Arbeits- und Organisationspsychologie A&O*, 60(3), 117–129. https://doi.org/10.1026/0932-4089/a000197
- Rexroth, M., Michel, A., & Bosch, C. (2017). Promoting well-being by teaching employees how to segment their life domains. *Zeitschrift für Arbeits- und Organisationspsychologie A&O*, 61(4), 197–212. https://doi.org/10.1026/0932-4089/a000253
- Rothbard, N. P., Phillips, K. W., & Dumas, T. L. (2005). Managing multiple roles: Workfamily policies and individuals' desires for segmentation. *Organization Science*, 16(3), 243–258. https://doi.org/10.1287/orsc.1050.0124
- RStudio Team. (2016). *RStudio: Integrated development for R. RStudio, Inc., Boston, MA.* https://www.Rproject.org/
- Rudolph, C. W., Allan, B., Clark, M., Hertel, G., Hirschi, A., Kunze, F., Shockley, K., Shoss, M., Sonnentag, S., & Zacher, H. (2021). Pandemics: Implications for research and practice in industrial and organizational psychology. *Industrial and Organizational Psychology*, 14(1–2), 1–35. https://doi.org/10.1017/iop.2020.48
- Schulz, C. (2020, March 16). *Home Office Total—33 Tipps für die optimale Telearbeit*. Consulting-Life. https://www.consulting-life.de/home-office-tipps/
- Schwartz, S. H. (1999). A theory of cultural values and some implications for work. *Applied Psychology: An International Review*, 48(1), 23–47. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1464-0597.1999.tb00047.x
- Shockley, K. M., & Allen, T. D. (2010). Investigating the missing link in flexible work arrangement utilization: An individual difference perspective. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 76(1), 131–142. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2009.07.002
- Siemsen, E., Roth, A., & Oliveira, P. (2010). Common method bias in regression models with linear, quadratic, and interaction effects. *Organizational Research Methods*, 13(3), 456–476. https://doi.org/10.1177/1094428109351241
- Spector, P. E. (2006). Method variance in organizational research: Truth or urban legend? *Organizational Research Methods*, 9(2), 221–232. https://doi.org/10.1177/1094428105284955
- Stross, J. (n.d.). 7 *Tipps für effektives Arbeiten im Home Office*. StartingUp. https://www.starting-up.de/praxis/organisation/7-tipps-fuer-effektives-arbeiten-im-home-office.html
- Tietze, S. (2002). When "work" comes "home": Coping strategies of teleworkers and their families. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *41*(4), 385–396. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1021236426657
- Tietze, S., & Musson, G. (2003). The times and temporalities of home-based telework. *Personnel Review*, 32(4), 438–455. https://doi.org/10.1108/00483480310477524

- Troll, E. S., Venz, L., Weitzenegger, F., & Loschelder, D. D. (2022). Working from home during the COVID-19 crisis: How self-control strategies elucidate employees' job performance. *Applied Psychology*, 71(3), 853–880. https://doi.org/10.1111/apps.12352
- Turetken, O., Jain, A., Quesenberry, B., & Ngwenyama, O. (2011). An empirical investigation of the impact of individual and work characteristics on telecommuting success. *IEEE Transactions on Professional Communication*, 54(1), 56–67. https://doi.org/10.1109/TPC.2010.2041387
- Unger, A. (2020, March 25). *10 Überlebenstipps einer Homeoffice-Veteranin*. Impulse. https://www.impulse.de/management/selbstmanagement-erfolg/arbeiten-imhomeoffice/7484133.html
- Vollmer, A. (2018, February 5). Mit diesen zehn Tipps sind Sie im Homeoffice produktiv. Welt. https://www.welt.de/wirtschaft/webwelt/article173201436/Homeoffice-Mitdiesen-zehn-Tipps-sind-Sie-zu-Hause-produktiv.html
- Wepfer, A. G., Allen, T. D., Brauchli, R., Jenny, G. J., & Bauer, G. F. (2018). Work-life boundaries and well-being: Does work-to-life integration impair well-being through lack of recovery? *Journal of Business and Psychology*, 33(6), 727–740. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10869-017-9520-y
- Westdeutsche Zeitung. (2020, April 3). *Tipps zur Heimarbeit: So überstehen Arbeitnehmer das Home-Office*. https://www.wz.de/ratgeber/beruf-und-bildung/tipps-zur-heimarbeit-so-ueberstehen-arbeitnehmer-das-home-office_aid-49901845
- Yap, S., Lee, A., Ji, L.-J., Li, Y., & Dong, Y. (2021). Cultural differences in people's psychological response to COVID-19. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 12, 636062. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.636062

Appendix 4.1.A

Table 4.1.A

Standard Deviations of the Implementation of Telework Strategies, Bivariate Correlations Between Telework Strategies and Job Performance, and Supplemental Results to the Multiple Linear Regressions Predicting Job Performance in the Main Paper

-	Encoding	<i>SD</i> _{Imp}	<i>P</i> Imp, JP	р	βο	р	βвмр	р	βτε	р	β_{Age}	р	β _{Gender}	р	βspace	р	βChildren	р	R^2	$R^2_{\rm Adj.}$	F	р
]	Р	1.62	.07		-0.03		0.00		0.20		0.02		0.01		-0.02		0.09					
Ī	P PSWL	1.75	.06		-0.03		-0.01		0.20		0.02		0.01		-0.02		0.09					
]	P PSWL 1 r	1.14	.02	.63	-0.05	.41	-0.01	.80	0.23	<.001	0.02	.72	0.01	.95	-0.02	.71	0.09	.42	.06	.04	3.63	<.001
]	P PSWL 2	1.73	.11	.009	-0.01	.89	-0.02	.62	0.19	<.001	0.02	.68	0.01	.87	-0.02	.75	0.05	.66	.06	.04	3.27	<.001
]	P ^{PSWL3} r	1.66	.06	.17	-0.03	.63	-0.01	.82	0.22	<.001	0.02	.72	-0.02	.85	-0.02	.67	0.12	.30	.05	.04	3.16	<.001
]	P PSWL 4	1.63	.13	.002	-0.04	.50	-0.02	.73	0.20	<.001	0.00	.97	0.02	.84	-0.03	.61	0.13	.24	.06	.05	3.76	<.001
]	P ^{PSWL} 5	1.71	.07	.093	-0.03	.63	-0.01	.83	0.20	<.001	0.02	.69	0.03	.75	-0.03	.52	0.10	.36	.05	.04	3.15	.001
]	P ^{PSWL} 6	1.84	.07	.085	0.00	.95	0.00	.99	0.19	<.001	0.03	.60	0.00	.99	-0.03	.59	0.09	.44	.06	.04	3.35	<.001
]	P ^{PSWL} 7	2.02	.05	.23	-0.03	.65	0.00	.92	0.20	<.001	0.02	.63	0.01	.92	-0.02	.67	0.09	.41	.05	.03	2.70	.004
]	P ^{PSWL} 8	1.74	.11	.013	-0.01	.82	-0.03	.57	0.20	<.001	0.01	.91	0.01	.89	-0.03	.53	0.09	.41	.06	.04	3.49	<.001
\mathbf{c}	P ^{PSWL} 9	2.01	.02	.69	-0.02	.77	0.01	.90	0.20	<.001	0.03	.53	0.01	.95	-0.01	.82	0.08	.48	.04	.03	2.61	.006
90 I	P PSWL 10	2.18	.04	.37	-0.03	.67	0.01	.90	0.20	<.001	0.02	.66	0.01	.91	-0.01	.79	0.09	.42	.05	.03	2.68	.005
]	PPSWL11	1.71	.05	.30	-0.01	.83	0.01	.89	0.20	<.001	0.01	.82	0.01	.94	-0.01	.81	0.09	.42	.05	.03	2.91	.002
]	P ^{PSWL} 12	1.62	.04	.38	-0.04	.57	0.01	.88	0.20	<.001	0.02	.72	0.02	.85	-0.01	.84	0.10	.35	.05	.04	3.08	.001
]	P_CWE	1.48	.08		-0.03		0.00		0.20		0.02		0.01		-0.02		0.09					
]	P_CWE_1	0.95	.11	.01	-0.01	.89	0.00	.95	0.19	<.001	0.02	.75	0.01	.95	-0.01	.81	0.07	.51	.06	.04	3.38	<.001
]	P_CWE_2	0.94	.15	<.001	-0.02	.70	0.01	.77	0.21	<.001	0.00	.94	0.01	.87	-0.01	.89	0.10	.36	.07	.06	4.37	<.001
]	P_CWE_3	1.25	.04	.40	-0.02	.79	0.00	.96	0.20	<.001	0.03	.59	0.01	.93	-0.01	.81	0.10	.39	.05	.03	2.78	.003
]	P_CWE_4	1.46	.16	<.001	-0.03	.68	0.00	.97	0.17	<.001	0.00	.99	-0.02	.80	-0.03	.56	0.08	.46	.07	.05	4.14	<.001
]	P_CWE_5	1.42	.17	<.001	-0.04	.48	-0.01	.82	0.17	<.001	0.02	.74	0.01	.95	-0.04	.42	0.11	.32	.08	.06	4.47	<.001
]	P_CWE_6_r	1.85	.05	.23	-0.03	.59	0.01	.88	0.22	<.001	0.02	.74	0.03	.79	-0.01	.87	0.10	.38	.06	.04	3.47	<.001
]	P_CWE_7	1.79	.05	.23	-0.01	.83	0.01	.88	0.20	<.001	0.02	.65	0.00	.96	-0.02	.76	0.08	.47	.05	.03	2.63	.006
]	P_CWE_8	1.61	.05	.24	-0.05	.43	0.00	.98	0.20	<.001	0.02	.62	0.05	.63	-0.02	.71	0.11	.34	.05	.03	2.93	.002
]	P_CWE_9	1.64	.04	.33	-0.03	.68	0.00	.97	0.20	<.001	0.02	.65	0.02	.83	-0.02	.76	0.10	.39	.05	.03	2.80	.003
]	P_CWE_10	1.83	02	.62	-0.03	.59	0.00	.93	0.20	<.001	0.03	.53	0.02	.84	-0.02	.73	0.10	.38	.05	.03	2.98	.002
]	P_CWE_11	1.48	.10	.018	-0.04	.48	-0.02	.72	0.20	<.001	0.00	.98	0.04	.67	-0.01	.86	0.10	.37	.06	.04	3.47	<.001
,	Γ	1.62	.03		-0.04		-0.01		0.20		0.02		0.02		-0.01		0.09					
,	T_TS	1.70	.04		-0.04		-0.02		0.20		0.02		0.02		-0.01		0.09					
,	T_TS_1	1.42	.03	.53	-0.02	.76	0.00	.99	0.20	<.001	0.02	.63	0.03	.75	-0.01	.84	0.08	.48	.05	.04	3.21	<.001
,	T_TS_2	1.38	.17	<.001	-0.01	.82	-0.04	.36	0.20	<.001	0.00	.94	0.02	.81	-0.01	.80	0.09	.42	.08	.07	5.03	<.001

_	Encoding	SD_{Imp}	₿µ Гmp, JP	р	β0	р	βвмр	р	β_{TE}	р	β_{Age}	р	β_{Gender}	р	β_{Space}	р	$\beta_{Children}$	р	R^2	$R^2_{ m Adj.}$	F	р
,	T_TS_3	1.70	.12	.007	-0.04	.56	-0.02	.61	0.18	<.001	0.02	.71	0.03	.79	0.00	.96	0.07	.54	.05	.03	2.76	.004
,	T_TS_4	2.09	.10	.022	-0.07	.28	-0.03	.51	0.20	<.001	0.01	.89	0.05	.58	-0.01	.89	0.10	.38	.07	.05	3.95	<.001
,	T_TS_5	1.54	.15	<.001	-0.04	.55	-0.09	.064	0.22	<.001	-0.03	.53	0.01	.88	-0.01	.83	0.09	.38	.10	.08	6.03	<.001
,	T_TS_6	2.06	.03	.56	-0.03	.64	-0.01	.91	0.19	<.001	0.04	.41	0.02	.85	0.00	.94	0.08	.48	.05	.03	2.68	.005
,	T_TS_7	1.76	04	.39	-0.02	.75	0.02	.74	0.20	<.001	0.03	.52	0.02	.85	-0.01	.81	0.08	.45	.05	.03	2.73	.004
,	T_TS_8	1.78	.01	.78	-0.03	.62	0.00	.98	0.21	<.001	0.03	.60	0.02	.86	-0.03	.63	0.10	.35	.06	.04	3.39	<.001
,	T_TS_9	1.71	04	.41	-0.05	.41	-0.01	.82	0.20	<.001	0.03	.52	-0.01	.91	-0.03	.56	0.13	.24	.07	.05	4.04	<.001
,	T_TS_10	1.90	.02	.74	-0.05	.44	-0.01	.76	0.19	<.001	0.04	.47	0.04	.68	-0.02	.71	0.12	.30	.04	.03	2.37	.013
,	T_TS_11	1.62	02	.61	-0.05	.39	0.01	.91	0.20	<.001	0.03	.58	0.00	.97	-0.01	.81	0.09	.40	.05	.04	3.05	.001
-	T_TS_12	1.44	04	.41	-0.04	.56	0.01	.76	0.21	<.001	0.03	.56	0.02	.80	-0.03	.60	0.10	.37	.05	.03	2.76	.004
-	T_TF	1.50	.00		-0.04		0.01		0.21		0.01		0.01		-0.01		0.09					
,	T_TF_1	1.26	.07	.10	-0.03	.60	0.03	.52	0.20	<.001	0.02	.67	-0.01	.90	-0.01	.83	0.08	.49	.06	.04	3.35	<.001
,	T_TF_2	1.46	03	.57	-0.02	.72	0.02	.73	0.20	<.001	0.02	.74	0.01	.92	-0.02	.77	0.10	.39	.05	.03	2.65	.005
,	T_TF_3	1.67	04	.36	-0.04	.59	0.01	.87	0.22	<.001	0.00	.98	0.01	.95	0.00	.96	0.12	.31	.06	.04	3.37	<.001
,	T_TF_4	1.50	.15	<.001	-0.05	.41	0.04	.34	0.20	<.001	0.02	.64	0.04	.71	-0.02	.76	0.12	.29	.08	.06	4.44	<.001
,	T_TF_5	1.57	13	.004	-0.03	.62	-0.02	.60	0.22	<.001	-0.01	.90	0.03	.75	-0.01	.86	0.07	.53	.06	.05	3.78	<.001
,	T_TF_6	1.52	01	.89	-0.02	.81	0.02	.71	0.23	<.001	-0.01	.89	0.01	.90	0.00	.99	0.07	.53	.06	.04	3.09	.001
2	T_TF_7	1.52	02	.63	-0.07	.30	-0.02	.75	0.21	<.001	0.01	.88	0.00	.99	0.00	.95	0.11	.31	.05	.04	3.15	.001
91	B	1.53	.10		-0.04		-0.01		0.20		0.02		0.03		-0.01		0.08					
	B BSWL	1.65	.06		-0.04		-0.02		0.21		0.01		0.02		-0.01		0.07					
-			1/	.001	-0.02	.79	-0.03	.55	0.20	<.001	-0.01	.86	0.03	.74	0.00	.97	0.04	69	.07	.06	4.28	<.001
	B_BSWL_1	1.30	.14															.07				
- - -	B_BSWL_1 B_BSWL_2	1.30 1.52	.14	.012	-0.05	.47	-0.04	.36	0.20	<.001	0.01	.85	0.03	.74	-0.01	.86	0.08	.49	.06	.04	3.61	<.001
-	B_BSWL_1 B_BSWL_2 B_BSWL_3	1.30 1.52 1.48	.14 .11 .19	.012 <.001	-0.05 -0.05	.47 .37	-0.04 -0.08	.36 .078	0.20 0.21	<.001 <.001	0.01 -0.03	.85 .48	0.03 0.11	.74 .24	-0.01 -0.03	.86 .53	0.08 0.10	.49 .36	.06 .13	.04 .11	3.61 8.04	<.001 <.001
-	B_BSWL_1 B_BSWL_2 B_BSWL_3 B_BSWL_4	1.30 1.52 1.48 1.56	.14 .11 .19 .16	.012 <.001 <.001	-0.05 -0.05 -0.04	.47 .37 .54	-0.04 -0.08 -0.02	.36 .078 .61	0.20 0.21 0.19	<.001 <.001 <.001	0.01 -0.03 -0.01	.85 .48 .89	0.03 0.11 0.07	.74 .24 .44	-0.01 -0.03 -0.02	.86 .53 .65	$0.08 \\ 0.10 \\ 0.05$.49 .36 .63	.06 .13 .07	.04 .11 .05	3.61 8.04 3.97	<.001 <.001 <.001
-	B_BSWL_1 B_BSWL_2 B_BSWL_3 B_BSWL_4 B_BSWL_5	1.30 1.52 1.48 1.56 1.60	.14 .11 .19 .16 .15	.012 <.001 <.001 <.001	-0.05 -0.05 -0.04 -0.07	.47 .37 .54 .29	-0.04 -0.08 -0.02 -0.02	.36 .078 .61 .58	0.20 0.21 0.19 0.21	<.001 <.001 <.001 <.001	0.01 -0.03 -0.01 -0.02	.85 .48 .89 .64	0.03 0.11 0.07 0.06	.74 .24 .44 .51	-0.01 -0.03 -0.02 -0.04	.86 .53 .65 .47	$0.08 \\ 0.10 \\ 0.05 \\ 0.11$.49 .36 .63 .30	.06 .13 .07 .08	.04 .11 .05 .06	3.61 8.04 3.97 4.60	<.001 <.001 <.001 <.001
-	B_BSWL_1 B_BSWL_2 B_BSWL_3 B_BSWL_4 B_BSWL_5 B_BSWL_6	1.30 1.52 1.48 1.56 1.60 1.93	.14 .11 .19 .16 .15 03	.012 <.001 <.001 <.001 .53	-0.05 -0.05 -0.04 -0.07 -0.03	.47 .37 .54 .29 .60	-0.04 -0.08 -0.02 -0.02 0.01	.36 .078 .61 .58 .78	0.20 0.21 0.19 0.21 0.20	<.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001	0.01 -0.03 -0.01 -0.02 0.02	.85 .48 .89 .64 .66	$\begin{array}{c} 0.03 \\ 0.11 \\ 0.07 \\ 0.06 \\ 0.00 \end{array}$.74 .24 .44 .51 .97	-0.01 -0.03 -0.02 -0.04 -0.01	.86 .53 .65 .47 .81	$\begin{array}{c} 0.08 \\ 0.10 \\ 0.05 \\ 0.11 \\ 0.09 \end{array}$.49 .36 .63 .30 .40	.06 .13 .07 .08 .05	.04 .11 .05 .06 .03	3.61 8.04 3.97 4.60 2.84	<.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 .003
-	B_BSWL_1 B_BSWL_2 B_BSWL_3 B_BSWL_4 B_BSWL_5 B_BSWL_6 B_BSWL_7	1.30 1.52 1.48 1.56 1.60 1.93 1.90	.14 .11 .19 .16 .15 03 02	.012 <.001 <.001 <.001 .53 .67	-0.05 -0.05 -0.04 -0.07 -0.03 -0.04	.47 .37 .54 .29 .60 .54	-0.04 -0.08 -0.02 -0.02 0.01 0.01	.36 .078 .61 .58 .78 .85	0.20 0.21 0.19 0.21 0.20 0.21	<.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001	0.01 -0.03 -0.01 -0.02 0.02 0.02	.85 .48 .89 .64 .66 .65	$\begin{array}{c} 0.03 \\ 0.11 \\ 0.07 \\ 0.06 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \end{array}$.74 .24 .44 .51 .97 .96	-0.01 -0.03 -0.02 -0.04 -0.01 0.00	.86 .53 .65 .47 .81 .93	$\begin{array}{c} 0.08 \\ 0.10 \\ 0.05 \\ 0.11 \\ 0.09 \\ 0.07 \end{array}$.49 .36 .63 .30 .40 .54	.06 .13 .07 .08 .05 .06	.04 .11 .05 .06 .03 .05	3.61 8.04 3.97 4.60 2.84 3.72	<.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 .003 <.001
-	B_BSWL_1 B_BSWL_2 B_BSWL_3 B_BSWL_4 B_BSWL_5 B_BSWL_6 B_BSWL_7 B_BSWL_8	1.30 1.52 1.48 1.56 1.60 1.93 1.90 1.73	.14 .11 .19 .16 .15 03 02 .16	.012 <.001 <.001 <.001 .53 .67 <.001	-0.05 -0.05 -0.04 -0.07 -0.03 -0.04 -0.04	.47 .37 .54 .29 .60 .54 .52	-0.04 -0.08 -0.02 -0.02 0.01 0.01 -0.04	.36 .078 .61 .58 .78 .85 .41	0.20 0.21 0.19 0.21 0.20 0.21 0.21	<.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001	0.01 -0.03 -0.01 -0.02 0.02 0.02 0.02	.85 .48 .89 .64 .66 .65 .77	0.03 0.11 0.07 0.06 0.00 0.00 -0.02	.74 .24 .44 .51 .97 .96 .83	-0.01 -0.03 -0.02 -0.04 -0.01 0.00 0.00	.86 .53 .65 .47 .81 .93 .95	$\begin{array}{c} 0.08 \\ 0.10 \\ 0.05 \\ 0.11 \\ 0.09 \\ 0.07 \\ 0.03 \end{array}$.49 .36 .63 .30 .40 .54 .75	.06 .13 .07 .08 .05 .06 .08	.04 .11 .05 .06 .03 .05 .06	3.61 8.04 3.97 4.60 2.84 3.72 4.50	<.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 .003 <.001 <.001
-	B_BSWL_1 B_BSWL_2 B_BSWL_3 B_BSWL_4 B_BSWL_5 B_BSWL_6 B_BSWL_7 B_BSWL_8 B_BSWL_9	1.30 1.52 1.48 1.56 1.60 1.93 1.90 1.73 1.76	.14 .11 .19 .16 .15 03 02 .16 .11	.012 <.001 <.001 <.001 .53 .67 <.001 .012	-0.05 -0.05 -0.04 -0.07 -0.03 -0.04 -0.04 -0.01	.47 .37 .54 .29 .60 .54 .52 .82	-0.04 -0.08 -0.02 -0.02 0.01 0.01 -0.04 -0.02	.36 .078 .61 .58 .78 .85 .41 .64	0.20 0.21 0.19 0.21 0.20 0.21 0.21 0.21 0.20	<.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001	0.01 -0.03 -0.01 -0.02 0.02 0.02 0.01 0.03	.85 .48 .89 .64 .66 .65 .77 .60	0.03 0.11 0.07 0.06 0.00 0.00 -0.02 -0.01	.74 .24 .44 .51 .97 .96 .83 .88	-0.01 -0.03 -0.02 -0.04 -0.01 0.00 0.00 0.00	.86 .53 .65 .47 .81 .93 .95 .99	$\begin{array}{c} 0.08 \\ 0.10 \\ 0.05 \\ 0.11 \\ 0.09 \\ 0.07 \\ 0.03 \\ 0.05 \end{array}$.49 .36 .63 .30 .40 .54 .75 .67	.06 .13 .07 .08 .05 .06 .08 .06	.04 .11 .05 .06 .03 .05 .06 .04	3.61 8.04 3.97 4.60 2.84 3.72 4.50 3.11	<.001 <.001 <.001 .003 <.001 <.001 .001
	B_BSWL_1 B_BSWL_2 B_BSWL_3 B_BSWL_4 B_BSWL_5 B_BSWL_6 B_BSWL_7 B_BSWL_7 B_BSWL_8 B_BSWL_9 B_BSWL_10	1.30 1.52 1.48 1.56 1.60 1.93 1.90 1.73 1.76 1.74	.14 .11 .19 .16 .15 03 02 .16 .11 .01	$\begin{array}{c} .012 \\ <.001 \\ <.001 \\ <.001 \\ .53 \\ .67 \\ <.001 \\ .012 \\ .74 \end{array}$	-0.05 -0.05 -0.04 -0.07 -0.03 -0.04 -0.04 -0.04 -0.04	.47 .37 .54 .29 .60 .54 .52 .82 .49	-0.04 -0.08 -0.02 -0.02 0.01 0.01 -0.04 -0.02 -0.01	.36 .078 .61 .58 .78 .85 .41 .64 .87	0.20 0.21 0.19 0.21 0.20 0.21 0.21 0.20 0.21	<.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001	$\begin{array}{c} 0.01 \\ -0.03 \\ -0.01 \\ -0.02 \\ 0.02 \\ 0.02 \\ 0.01 \\ 0.03 \\ 0.02 \\ 0.02 \end{array}$.85 .48 .89 .64 .66 .65 .77 .60 .66	0.03 0.11 0.07 0.06 0.00 0.00 -0.02 -0.01 -0.01	.74 .24 .44 .51 .97 .96 .83 .88 .93	-0.01 -0.03 -0.02 -0.04 -0.01 0.00 0.00 0.00 -0.01	.86 .53 .65 .47 .81 .93 .95 .99 .86	$\begin{array}{c} 0.08 \\ 0.10 \\ 0.05 \\ 0.11 \\ 0.09 \\ 0.07 \\ 0.03 \\ 0.05 \\ 0.08 \end{array}$.49 .36 .63 .30 .40 .54 .75 .67 .47	.06 .13 .07 .08 .05 .06 .08 .06 .05	.04 .11 .05 .06 .03 .05 .06 .04 .04	3.61 8.04 3.97 4.60 2.84 3.72 4.50 3.11 3.13	<.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 .003 <.001 .001 .001
-	B_BSWL_1 B_BSWL_2 B_BSWL_3 B_BSWL_4 B_BSWL_5 B_BSWL_6 B_BSWL_7 B_BSWL_7 B_BSWL_8 B_BSWL_9 B_BSWL_10 B_BSWL_11	1.30 1.52 1.48 1.56 1.60 1.93 1.90 1.73 1.76 1.74 1.62	.14 .11 .19 .16 .15 03 02 .16 .11 .01 04	$\begin{array}{c} .012 \\ <.001 \\ <.001 \\ <.001 \\ .53 \\ .67 \\ <.001 \\ .012 \\ .74 \\ .40 \end{array}$	-0.05 -0.04 -0.07 -0.03 -0.04 -0.04 -0.04 -0.01 -0.04 -0.01	.47 .37 .54 .29 .60 .54 .52 .82 .49 .91	-0.04 -0.08 -0.02 -0.02 0.01 0.01 -0.04 -0.02 -0.01 0.01	.36 .078 .61 .58 .78 .85 .41 .64 .87 .90	0.20 0.21 0.19 0.21 0.20 0.21 0.21 0.20 0.21 0.20 0.21	<.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001	$\begin{array}{c} 0.01 \\ -0.03 \\ -0.01 \\ -0.02 \\ 0.02 \\ 0.02 \\ 0.01 \\ 0.03 \\ 0.02 \\ 0.04 \end{array}$.85 .48 .89 .64 .66 .65 .77 .60 .66 .45	0.03 0.11 0.07 0.06 0.00 -0.00 -0.02 -0.01 -0.01 0.00	.74 .24 .44 .51 .97 .96 .83 .88 .93 .98	-0.01 -0.03 -0.02 -0.04 -0.01 0.00 0.00 0.00 -0.01 -0.01	.86 .53 .65 .47 .81 .93 .95 .99 .86 .87	$\begin{array}{c} 0.08 \\ 0.10 \\ 0.05 \\ 0.11 \\ 0.09 \\ 0.07 \\ 0.03 \\ 0.05 \\ 0.08 \\ 0.07 \end{array}$.49 .36 .63 .30 .40 .54 .75 .67 .47 .54	.06 .13 .07 .08 .05 .06 .08 .06 .05 .05	.04 .11 .05 .06 .03 .05 .06 .04 .04 .03	3.61 8.04 3.97 4.60 2.84 3.72 4.50 3.11 3.13 2.60	<.001 <.001 <.001 .003 <.001 .001 .001 .001
	B_BSWL_1 B_BSWL_2 B_BSWL_3 B_BSWL_4 B_BSWL_5 B_BSWL_6 B_BSWL_7 B_BSWL_7 B_BSWL_8 B_BSWL_9 B_BSWL_10 B_BSWL_11 B_BSWL_12	1.30 1.52 1.48 1.56 1.60 1.93 1.90 1.73 1.76 1.74 1.62 1.92	.14 .11 .19 .16 .15 03 02 .16 .11 .01 04 .01	$\begin{array}{c} .012\\ <.001\\ <.001\\ <.001\\ .53\\ .67\\ <.001\\ .012\\ .74\\ .40\\ .90\end{array}$	-0.05 -0.04 -0.07 -0.03 -0.04 -0.04 -0.01 -0.04 -0.01 -0.03	.47 .37 .54 .29 .60 .54 .52 .82 .49 .91 .60	-0.04 -0.08 -0.02 -0.02 0.01 0.01 -0.04 -0.02 -0.01 0.01 0.00	.36 .078 .61 .58 .78 .85 .41 .64 .87 .90 .96	0.20 0.21 0.19 0.21 0.20 0.21 0.21 0.20 0.21 0.19 0.22	<.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001	$\begin{array}{c} 0.01 \\ -0.03 \\ -0.01 \\ -0.02 \\ 0.02 \\ 0.02 \\ 0.01 \\ 0.03 \\ 0.02 \\ 0.04 \\ 0.02 \end{array}$.85 .48 .89 .64 .66 .65 .77 .60 .66 .45 .69	$\begin{array}{c} 0.03\\ 0.11\\ 0.07\\ 0.06\\ 0.00\\ 0.00\\ -0.02\\ -0.01\\ -0.01\\ 0.00\\ 0.00\\ \end{array}$.74 .24 .44 .51 .97 .96 .83 .88 .93 .98 .98	-0.01 -0.03 -0.02 -0.04 -0.01 0.00 0.00 0.00 -0.01 -0.01 -0.02	.86 .53 .65 .47 .81 .93 .95 .99 .86 .87 .71	$\begin{array}{c} 0.08 \\ 0.10 \\ 0.05 \\ 0.11 \\ 0.09 \\ 0.07 \\ 0.03 \\ 0.05 \\ 0.08 \\ 0.07 \\ 0.07 \\ 0.07 \end{array}$.49 .36 .63 .30 .40 .54 .75 .67 .47 .54 .52	.06 .13 .07 .08 .05 .06 .08 .06 .05 .05 .06	.04 .11 .05 .06 .03 .05 .06 .04 .04 .04 .03 .05	3.61 8.04 3.97 4.60 2.84 3.72 4.50 3.11 3.13 2.60 3.82	<.001 <.001 <.001 .003 <.001 .001 .001 .001 .006 <.001
	B_BSWL_1 B_BSWL_2 B_BSWL_3 B_BSWL_4 B_BSWL_5 B_BSWL_6 B_BSWL_7 B_BSWL_7 B_BSWL_8 B_BSWL_9 B_BSWL_10 B_BSWL_11 B_BSWL_12 B_BSWL_13	1.30 1.52 1.48 1.56 1.60 1.93 1.90 1.73 1.76 1.74 1.62 1.92 1.70	.14 .11 .19 .16 .15 03 02 .16 .11 .01 04 .01 .03	$\begin{array}{c} .012\\ <.001\\ <.001\\ <.001\\ .53\\ .67\\ <.001\\ .012\\ .74\\ .40\\ .90\\ .45\end{array}$	-0.05 -0.05 -0.04 -0.07 -0.03 -0.04 -0.04 -0.01 -0.04 -0.01 -0.03 -0.04	.47 .37 .54 .29 .60 .54 .52 .82 .49 .91 .60 .53	-0.04 -0.08 -0.02 -0.02 0.01 0.01 -0.04 -0.02 -0.01 0.01 0.00 0.00	.36 .078 .61 .58 .78 .85 .41 .64 .87 .90 .96 .93	0.20 0.21 0.19 0.21 0.20 0.21 0.21 0.20 0.21 0.19 0.22 0.20	<.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001	$\begin{array}{c} 0.01 \\ -0.03 \\ -0.01 \\ -0.02 \\ 0.02 \\ 0.02 \\ 0.01 \\ 0.03 \\ 0.02 \\ 0.04 \\ 0.02 \\ 0.03 \end{array}$.85 .48 .89 .64 .66 .65 .77 .60 .66 .45 .69 .51	$\begin{array}{c} 0.03\\ 0.11\\ 0.07\\ 0.06\\ 0.00\\ 0.00\\ -0.02\\ -0.01\\ -0.01\\ 0.00\\ 0.00\\ 0.02\\ \end{array}$.74 .24 .44 .51 .97 .96 .83 .88 .93 .98 .93 .98 .96 .85	$\begin{array}{c} -0.01 \\ -0.03 \\ -0.02 \\ -0.04 \\ -0.01 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ -0.01 \\ -0.01 \\ -0.02 \\ -0.02 \\ -0.02 \end{array}$.86 .53 .65 .47 .81 .93 .95 .99 .86 .87 .71 .72	$\begin{array}{c} 0.08\\ 0.10\\ 0.05\\ 0.11\\ 0.09\\ 0.07\\ 0.03\\ 0.05\\ 0.08\\ 0.07\\ 0.07\\ 0.07\\ 0.07\\ 0.07\\ 0.07\\ \end{array}$.49 .36 .63 .30 .40 .54 .75 .67 .47 .54 .52 .50	.06 .13 .07 .08 .05 .06 .08 .06 .05 .05 .06 .05	.04 .11 .05 .06 .03 .05 .06 .04 .04 .03 .05 .03	3.61 8.04 3.97 4.60 2.84 3.72 4.50 3.11 3.13 2.60 3.82 2.98	<.001 <.001 <.001 .003 <.001 .001 .001 .006 <.001 .002
	B_BSWL_1 B_BSWL_2 B_BSWL_3 B_BSWL_4 B_BSWL_5 B_BSWL_6 B_BSWL_7 B_BSWL_7 B_BSWL_8 B_BSWL_9 B_BSWL_10 B_BSWL_10 B_BSWL_11 B_BSWL_12 B_BSWL_13 B_BSWL_14	1.30 1.52 1.48 1.56 1.60 1.93 1.90 1.73 1.76 1.74 1.62 1.92 1.70 1.53	.14 .11 .19 .16 .15 03 02 .16 .11 .01 04 .01 .03 .01	$\begin{array}{c} .012\\ <.001\\ <.001\\ <.001\\ .53\\ .67\\ <.001\\ .012\\ .74\\ .40\\ .90\\ .45\\ .90\\ .45\\ .90\\ .91\end{array}$	-0.05 -0.05 -0.04 -0.07 -0.03 -0.04 -0.04 -0.01 -0.04 -0.01 -0.03 -0.04 -0.03	.47 .37 .54 .29 .60 .54 .52 .82 .49 .91 .60 .53 .64	-0.04 -0.08 -0.02 -0.02 0.01 0.01 -0.04 -0.02 -0.01 0.01 0.00 0.00 0.00	.36 .078 .61 .58 .78 .85 .41 .64 .87 .90 .96 .93 .96	0.20 0.21 0.19 0.21 0.20 0.21 0.21 0.20 0.21 0.19 0.22 0.20 0.21	<.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001	$\begin{array}{c} 0.01 \\ -0.03 \\ -0.01 \\ -0.02 \\ 0.02 \\ 0.02 \\ 0.01 \\ 0.03 \\ 0.02 \\ 0.04 \\ 0.02 \\ 0.03 \\ 0.01 \\ 0.01 \end{array}$.85 .48 .89 .64 .66 .65 .77 .60 .66 .45 .69 .51 .76	$\begin{array}{c} 0.03\\ 0.11\\ 0.07\\ 0.06\\ 0.00\\ 0.00\\ -0.02\\ -0.01\\ -0.01\\ 0.00\\ 0.00\\ 0.02\\ 0.$.74 .24 .44 .51 .97 .96 .83 .88 .93 .98 .96 .85 .85	$\begin{array}{c} -0.01 \\ -0.03 \\ -0.02 \\ -0.04 \\ -0.01 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ -0.01 \\ -0.01 \\ -0.02 \\ -0.02 \\ -0.02 \\ -0.01 \end{array}$.86 .53 .65 .47 .81 .93 .95 .99 .86 .87 .71 .72 .87	$\begin{array}{c} 0.08\\ 0.10\\ 0.05\\ 0.11\\ 0.09\\ 0.07\\ 0.03\\ 0.05\\ 0.08\\ 0.07\\ 0.07\\ 0.07\\ 0.07\\ 0.08\\ \end{array}$.49 .36 .63 .30 .40 .54 .75 .67 .47 .54 .52 .50 .45	.06 .13 .07 .08 .05 .06 .08 .06 .05 .05 .05 .05 .05	.04 .11 .05 .06 .03 .05 .06 .04 .04 .03 .05 .03 .03	3.61 8.04 3.97 4.60 2.84 3.72 4.50 3.11 3.13 2.60 3.82 2.98 2.84	<.001 <.001 <.001 .003 <.001 .001 .001 .001 .006 <.001 .002 .003
	B_BSWL_1 B_BSWL_2 B_BSWL_3 B_BSWL_4 B_BSWL_5 B_BSWL_6 B_BSWL_7 B_BSWL_7 B_BSWL_8 B_BSWL_9 B_BSWL_10 B_BSWL_10 B_BSWL_11 B_BSWL_12 B_BSWL_13 B_BSWL_14 B_BSWL_15	$\begin{array}{c} 1.30\\ 1.52\\ 1.48\\ 1.56\\ 1.60\\ 1.93\\ 1.90\\ 1.73\\ 1.76\\ 1.74\\ 1.62\\ 1.92\\ 1.70\\ 1.53\\ 1.44 \end{array}$.14 .11 .19 .16 .15 03 02 .16 .11 .01 04 .01 .03 .01 01	$\begin{array}{c} .012\\ <.001\\ <.001\\ <.001\\ .53\\ .67\\ <.001\\ .012\\ .74\\ .40\\ .90\\ .45\\ .90\\ .74\\ \end{array}$	-0.05 -0.05 -0.04 -0.07 -0.03 -0.04 -0.04 -0.01 -0.04 -0.01 -0.03 -0.04 -0.03 -0.04 -0.03 -0.02	.47 .37 .54 .29 .60 .54 .52 .82 .49 .91 .60 .53 .64 .69	-0.04 -0.08 -0.02 -0.02 0.01 0.01 -0.04 -0.02 -0.01 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00	.36 .078 .61 .58 .78 .85 .41 .64 .87 .90 .96 .93 .96 .88	0.20 0.21 0.19 0.21 0.20 0.21 0.20 0.21 0.20 0.21 0.20 0.22 0.20 0.21 0.21	<.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001	$\begin{array}{c} 0.01 \\ -0.03 \\ -0.01 \\ -0.02 \\ 0.02 \\ 0.02 \\ 0.01 \\ 0.03 \\ 0.02 \\ 0.04 \\ 0.02 \\ 0.03 \\ 0.01 \\ 0.04 \\ \end{array}$.85 .48 .89 .64 .66 .65 .77 .60 .66 .45 .69 .51 .76 .45	$\begin{array}{c} 0.03\\ 0.11\\ 0.07\\ 0.06\\ 0.00\\ 0.00\\ -0.02\\ -0.01\\ -0.01\\ 0.00\\ 0.00\\ 0.02\\ 0.$.74 .24 .44 .51 .97 .96 .83 .98 .93 .98 .98 .98 .98 .85 .85 .85	$\begin{array}{c} -0.01 \\ -0.03 \\ -0.02 \\ -0.04 \\ -0.01 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ 0.00 \\ -0.01 \\ -0.01 \\ -0.02 \\ -0.02 \\ -0.01 \\ -0.02 \\ -0$.86 .53 .65 .47 .81 .93 .95 .99 .86 .87 .71 .72 .87 .70	$\begin{array}{c} 0.08\\ 0.10\\ 0.05\\ 0.11\\ 0.09\\ 0.07\\ 0.03\\ 0.05\\ 0.08\\ 0.07\\ 0.07\\ 0.07\\ 0.07\\ 0.07\\ 0.08\\ 0.06\\ \hline \end{array}$.49 .36 .63 .30 .40 .54 .75 .67 .47 .54 .52 .50 .45 .60	.06 .13 .07 .08 .05 .06 .08 .06 .05 .05 .05 .05 .05 .05	.04 .11 .05 .06 .03 .05 .06 .04 .04 .04 .03 .05 .03 .03 .03	3.61 8.04 3.97 4.60 2.84 3.72 4.50 3.11 3.13 2.60 3.82 2.98 2.84 2.85	<.001 <.001 <.001 .003 <.001 .001 .001 .001 .006 <.001 .002 .003 .003
	B_BSWL_1 B_BSWL_2 B_BSWL_3 B_BSWL_4 B_BSWL_5 B_BSWL_6 B_BSWL_7 B_BSWL_7 B_BSWL_8 B_BSWL_8 B_BSWL_9 B_BSWL_10 B_BSWL_10 B_BSWL_11 B_BSWL_12 B_BSWL_13 B_BSWL_15 B_SWL_15 B_CWA	$\begin{array}{c} 1.30\\ 1.52\\ 1.48\\ 1.56\\ 1.60\\ 1.93\\ 1.90\\ 1.73\\ 1.76\\ 1.74\\ 1.62\\ 1.92\\ 1.70\\ 1.53\\ 1.44\\ 1.35\\ \end{array}$.14 .11 .19 .16 .15 03 02 .16 .11 .01 04 .01 .03 .01 01 .20	$\begin{array}{c} .012\\ <.001\\ <.001\\ <.001\\ .53\\ .67\\ <.001\\ .012\\ .74\\ .40\\ .90\\ .45\\ .90\\ .74\\ \end{array}$	-0.05 -0.05 -0.04 -0.07 -0.03 -0.04 -0.04 -0.01 -0.04 -0.01 -0.03 -0.04 -0.03 -0.02 -0.04	.47 .37 .54 .29 .60 .54 .52 .82 .49 .91 .60 .53 .64 .69	$\begin{array}{r} -0.04\\ -0.08\\ -0.02\\ -0.02\\ 0.01\\ 0.01\\ -0.04\\ -0.02\\ -0.01\\ 0.01\\ 0.00\\ 0.00\\ 0.00\\ 0.01\\ \hline 0.00\\ \hline 0.$.36 .078 .61 .58 .78 .85 .41 .64 .87 .90 .96 .93 .96 .88	0.20 0.21 0.19 0.21 0.20 0.21 0.20 0.21 0.20 0.21 0.22 0.20 0.21 0.21	<.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001 <.001	$\begin{array}{c} 0.01 \\ -0.03 \\ -0.01 \\ -0.02 \\ 0.02 \\ 0.02 \\ 0.01 \\ 0.03 \\ 0.02 \\ 0.04 \\ 0.02 \\ 0.03 \\ 0.01 \\ 0.04 \\ \hline \end{array}$.85 .48 .89 .64 .66 .65 .77 .60 .66 .45 .69 .51 .76 .45	$\begin{array}{c} 0.03\\ 0.11\\ 0.07\\ 0.06\\ 0.00\\ 0.00\\ -0.02\\ -0.01\\ -0.01\\ 0.00\\ 0.00\\ 0.02\\ 0.02\\ 0.02\\ 0.02\\ 0.05\\ \end{array}$.74 .24 .44 .51 .97 .96 .83 .98 .93 .98 .93 .98 .98 .95 .85 .82	$\begin{array}{r} -0.01\\ -0.03\\ -0.02\\ -0.04\\ -0.01\\ 0.00\\ 0.00\\ 0.00\\ -0.01\\ -0.01\\ -0.02\\ -0.02\\ -0.02\\ -0.02\\ -0.02\\ -0.02\\ \end{array}$.86 .53 .65 .47 .81 .93 .95 .99 .86 .87 .71 .72 .87 .70	$\begin{array}{c} 0.08\\ 0.10\\ 0.05\\ 0.11\\ 0.09\\ 0.07\\ 0.03\\ 0.05\\ 0.08\\ 0.07\\ 0.07\\ 0.07\\ 0.07\\ 0.07\\ 0.08\\ 0.06\\ \hline 0.08\\ \hline 0.08\\ \hline \end{array}$.49 .36 .63 .30 .40 .54 .75 .67 .47 .54 .52 .50 .45 .60	.06 .13 .07 .08 .05 .06 .08 .06 .05 .05 .05 .05 .05	.04 .11 .05 .06 .03 .05 .06 .04 .04 .04 .03 .05 .03 .03 .03	3.61 8.04 3.97 4.60 2.84 3.72 4.50 3.11 3.13 2.60 3.82 2.98 2.84 2.85	<.001 <.001 <.001 .003 <.001 .001 .001 .001 .001 .006 <.001 .002 .003 .003

Encoding	SD _{Imp}	₿µ 17 mp, JP	р	β0	р	β_{BMP}	р	βτε	р	β_{Age}	р	β _{Gender}	р	β_{Space}	р	$\beta_{Children}$	р	R^2	$R^2_{ m Adj.}$	F	р
B_CWA_2	1.22	.16	<.001	-0.06	.37	0.02	.63	0.19	<.001	0.01	.84	0.07	.44	-0.01	.89	0.10	.37	.07	.05	3.89	<.001
B_CWA_3	1.15	.44	<.001	-0.08	.16	0.00	.93	0.14	<.001	-0.02	.65	0.16	.063	-0.06	.27	0.08	.42	.22	.20	15.44	<.001
B_CWA_4	1.21	.26	<.001	-0.03	.57	-0.02	.58	0.18	<.001	0.07	.16	0.06	.49	-0.01	.87	0.01	.93	.12	.10	7.00	<.001
B_CWA_5	1.13	.31	<.001	-0.06	.34	-0.03	.50	0.17	<.001	-0.06	.24	0.11	.24	-0.03	.52	0.09	.39	.14	.12	9.05	<.001
B_CWA_6	1.55	.06	.15	-0.02	.78	0.00	.95	0.22	<.001	0.02	.72	0.01	.93	-0.01	.91	0.08	.47	.06	.04	3.22	<.001
B_CWA_7	1.42	.16	<.001	-0.03	.57	0.01	.86	0.19	<.001	0.00	.97	0.03	.72	-0.02	.76	0.11	.32	.08	.06	4.72	<.001
B_CWA_8	1.61	.06	.15	-0.02	.71	0.01	.87	0.19	<.001	0.04	.40	0.00	.97	-0.02	.64	0.10	.36	.05	.03	2.81	.003
B_CWA_9	1.63	.16	<.001	-0.05	.44	0.02	.67	0.19	<.001	0.02	.69	-0.01	.89	-0.01	.77	0.09	.39	.07	.06	4.20	<.001
B_HPM	1.52	.02		-0.03		0.01		0.20		0.03		0.02		-0.01		0.09					
B_HPM_1	1.38	.11	.008	-0.04	.47	0.00	.96	0.19	<.001	0.03	.55	0.05	.61	-0.01	.80	0.12	.26	.06	.04	3.57	<.001
B_HPM_2	1.55	.05	.22	-0.03	.61	0.01	.87	0.20	<.001	0.03	.50	0.00	.99	-0.01	.89	0.09	.41	.05	.03	2.78	.004
B_HPM_3	1.55	.02	.58	-0.03	.68	0.00	.99	0.20	<.001	0.03	.50	0.00	.97	-0.01	.78	0.10	.39	.05	.03	2.71	.004
B_HPM_4	1.66	.00	.93	-0.03	.66	0.00	.92	0.21	<.001	0.03	.57	0.01	.91	-0.01	.80	0.07	.52	.05	.04	3.16	.001
<u>B_HPM_5</u>	1.43	10	.019	-0.04	.51	0.02	.72	0.21	<.001	0.03	.49	0.04	.70	-0.01	.83	0.07	.51	.07	.05	3.93	<.001
<u>C_</u>	1.54	.13		-0.01		-0.01		0.19		0.02		0.01		-0.02		0.07					
C_MA	1.66	.09		0.00		-0.02		0.20		0.02		-0.01		-0.03		0.06					
C_MA_1	1.47	.17	<.001	0.03	.59	-0.01	.83	0.22	<.001	-0.01	.78	-0.04	.64	-0.04	.48	0.02	.82	.08	.06	4.14	<.001
C_MA_2	1.69	.08	.064	-0.02	.80	-0.01	.76	0.20	<.001	0.03	.56	0.06	.51	-0.01	.89	0.05	.62	.07	.05	3.94	<.001
$\sim C_MA_3$	1.66	.08	.10	0.00	.99	0.00	.93	0.22	<.001	0.02	.65	-0.01	.91	-0.05	.40	0.07	.52	.06	.04	2.99	.002
C_MA_4	1.81	.06	.19	-0.01	.92	-0.04	.45	0.19	<.001	0.02	.73	-0.04	.70	-0.01	.92	0.08	.48	.05	.03	2.57	.007
C_MA_5	1.68	.16	<.001	0.00	.94	-0.05	.29	0.18	<.001	0.02	.70	0.05	.64	-0.03	.66	0.06	.63	.07	.05	3.39	<.001
C_MA_6	1.62	.05	.32	0.03	.66	0.00	.93	0.22	<.001	0.02	.63	-0.07	.50	-0.05	.36	0.07	.51	.06	.04	2.81	.003
$\frac{C_{MA}}{C_{KO}}$	1.68	.06	.23	-0.02	./9	-0.0/	.16	0.19	<.001	0.02	.12	0.01	.96	-0.02	./3	0.10	.37	.06	.03	2.54	.007
$\frac{C_KC}{C_KC}$	1.43	.10	1	-0.02	0.0	0.00	0.5	0.19	0.01	0.03	0.0	0.02	0.6	-0.02	(0)	0.08	4.5		0.6	1.71	. 0.01
C_KC_1	0.92	.22	<.001	-0.01	.83	0.00	.95	0.17	<.001	0.01	.80	0.00	.96	-0.03	.60	0.08	.45	.08	.06	4.61	<.001
C_KC_2	0.98	.21	<.001	-0.04	.56	0.01	.85	0.17	<.001	-0.01	.87	0.03	.72	-0.02	.75	0.08	.44	.08	.06	4.81	<.001
C_KC_3	1.55	.11	.016	-0.02	./0	0.02	.65	0.19	<.001	0.04	.30	0.02	.8/	-0.01	.83	0.07	.50	.06	.04	3.42 5.((<.001
C_KC_4	1.49	.21	<.001	-0.03	.04	-0.02	.00	0.19	<.001	0.04	.42	0.04	.69	-0.02	.69	0.07	.54	.09	.08	5.66	<.001
C_KC_S	1.93	.15	001 000	-0.01	.89	0.01	.84 72	0.19	<.001	0.04	.40 41	0.01	.93 72	-0.02	.03 97	0.05	.04 27	.08	.00	4.01	<.001
C_KC_0	1.49	.12	.008	-0.03	.43 77	-0.02	.75	0.21	<.001	0.04	.41	0.03	./5	-0.01	.07	0.10	.57	.07	.03	4.19	<.001
U KU /	1.0/	•14	.000	-0.02	• / /	0.03		0.19	~.001	0.05	.57	0.01	.71	-0.01	.00	0.00	.47	.00	.04	5.53	~.001

Note. Gender was dummy-coded (0/1 = female/male). Children was dummy-coded (0/1 = no/yes). Imp = implementation of telework strategy; JP = self-reported job performance; BMP = boundary management preferences; TE = telework experience; P_{-} = physical; T_{-} = temporal; B_{-} = behavioral; C_{-} = communicative; PSWL = physical separation of work and leisure; CWE = conducive work environment; TF = temporal flexibility; TS = temporal structure; BSWL = behavioral separation of work and leisure; CWA = conducive work attitude; HPM = health-promoting measures; MA = make arrangements; KC = keep connection; $P_{-}PSWL_1 = I$ regularly work outside my home.; $P_{-}PSWL_2 = I$ use technology facilitating to separate work and leisure; $P_{-}PSWL_3 = I$ occasionally change my workstation.; $P_{-}PSWL_4 = I$ exclusively work in a designated place.; $P_{-}PSWL_5 = I$ keep work materials in a separate, dedicated place.; $P_{-}PSWL_6 = I$ arrange my workstation visually like a typical office.; $P_{-}PSWL_7 = I$ physically

separate my workstation from the rest of my living environment.; P PSWL 8 = I do not conduct leisure activities at my workstation.; P PSWL 9 = I use physical barriers as boundaries between work and leisure.; P PSWL 10 = I use a separate, dedicated room for working.; P PSWL 11 = I establish an atmosphere at my workstation that differs from the rest of my home.; P PSWL 12 = I wear work clothes.; P CWE 1 = I make sure there is sufficient light at my workstation.; P CWE 2 = I wear comfortable clothes.; P CWE 3 = I regularly air the room.; P CWE 4 = I use a setup that is technically close to the setup at my on-site workstation.; P CWE 5 = I set up a conducive work environment.; P CWE 6 = I listen to music that helps me concentrate.; P CWE 7 = I configure my workstation ergonomically.; P CWE 8 = I set up a pleasant room climate.; P CWE 9 = I reduce potential sources of distraction by placing them out of reach of my workstation.; P CWE 10 = I personalize my workstation.; P CWE 11 = I try to reduce distraction factors.; T TS 1 = I have a set time routine to start the workday in the morning.; T TS 2 = I structure my workday temporarily.; T TS 3 = I schedule in advance when I will work in my home office and when I will work on-site.; T TS $4 = I \log my$ working hours.; T TS 5 = I strictly separate my work time from my leisure time.; T TS 6 = I have set days for working from home.; T TS 7 = I take a regular lunch break at set times.; T TS 8 = I have a set time routine for the transition from work to leisure.; T TS 9 = I do not work beyond my working hours agreed with the employer.; T TS 10 = I align my break schedule with the official break times of my organization.; T TS 11 = I strictly adhere to set working hours.; T TS 12 = I schedule regular breaks.; T TF 1 = I am temporally flexible in handling urgent work requests.; T TF 2 = I schedule my work time in order to get the most of my leisure time.; T TF 3 = If my work is short on time. I'll "save it up" to make up for it in the next days.; T TF 4 = Ischedule my leisure time in order to get the most of my work time.; T TF 5 = I flexibly transfer personal matters to times when I typically work.; T TF 6 = If my leisure is short on time, I'll "save it up" to make up for it in the next days.; T TF 7 = I flexibly transfer my work to times when I typically attend to personal matters.; B BSWL 1 = I have a technological routine for the transition into work at the start of the work day.; B BSWL 2 = I have a set technological routine facilitating the transition from work to leisure.; B BSWL 3 = I maintain the same routines of my on-site work.; B BSWL 4 = I avoid reading non-work related materials at work.; B BSWL 5 = I attend to personal matters at work only when taking a break or during lunch hour.; B BSWL 6 = I do not take work-related calls after hours.; B BSWL 7 = I do not respond to work-related messages after hours.; B BSWL 8 = I have a rule which leisure aspects are allowed to spill over into work and which not.; B BSWL 9 = I have a rule which work aspects are talking about work-related matters in leisure contexts.; B BSWL 15 = I avoid talking about personal matters in work contexts.; B CWA 1 = I value the benefits of working from home.; B CWA 2 = I get organized at work.; B CWA 3 = I show a particularly high level of dedication.; B CWA 4 = I try to strengthen my supervisor's confidence in the quality of my work.; B CWA 5 = I adjust my attitude and behavior to optimally focus and concentrate at work.; B CWA 6 = I schedule tasks that can be done particularly well at home.; B CWA 7=I set personal daily goals at work.; B CWA 8=I take a short lunch break and quickly continue working to get done as much as possible.; B CWA 9 = I practice self-praise.; B HPM 1 = I pay attention to healthy eating.; B HPM 2 = I adapt my work day to my bio-rhythm.; B HPM 3 = I integrate exercise into my work day.; B HPM 4 = I integrate outdoor activities into my work day.; B HPM 5 = I regularly take a "power nap".; C MA 1 = I make arrangements with household members facilitating undisturbed work.: C MA 2 = I make arrangements with colleagues/supervisors/my employer about when I can(not) be reached regarding work.: C MA 3 = I'll confront household members if agreements about work and leisure are violated.; C MA 4 = I make arrangements with customers/clients about when I can(not) be reached regarding work.; C MA 5 = I'll confront colleagues/supervisors/my employer if agreements about work and leisure are violated.; C MA 6 = Household members make arrangements with me in order to limit my workload.; C MA 7 = I'll confront clients/customers if agreements about work and leisure matters are violated.; C KC 1 = I use various communication channels.; C KC 2 = I keep connected via technology to respond to colleagues/supervisors/my employer/customers/clients quickly.; C KC 3 = I make small talk with my colleagues/supervisors/employer.; C KC 4 = I communicate expectations and progress with colleagues/supervisors/my employer.; C KC 5 = I use modern communication technology with colleagues/supervisors/my employer such as instant messaging.; C KC 6 = I seek social interaction after work.; C KC 7 = I use technology to stay in personal contact with colleagues; r = recoded. Results in bold are significant at the $p \leq .05$ level.

Appendix 4.1.B

The pattern of results of the for each telework subcategory aggregated β -coefficients predicting job performance reported in the main paper remained robust when computing scales for telework strategy subcategories averaging the implementation of the respective composing telework strategies per participant and simultaneously entering these scales into a multiple linear regression predicting job performance (using z-scaled variables and including control variables), and thus, remained robust when controlling for the overlap among telework strategies from different subcategories (see Table 4.1.B). More specifically, the subcategories conducive work attitude ($\beta = 0.34$ [0.24, 0.43], p < .001) and keep connection ($\beta = 0.21$ [0.12, (0.30], p < .001) were the most important positive predictors of job performance. These were followed by conducive work environment ($\beta = 0.04$ [-0.07, 0.16], p = .45), temporal structure $(\beta = 0.01 [-0.10, 0.13], p = .81)$, physical separation of work and leisure ($\beta = 0.01 [-0.10, 0.13]$, p = .81), make arrangements ($\beta = 0.00$ [-0.10, 0.10], p = .97), behavioral separation of work and leisure ($\beta = -0.03$ [-0.16, 0.09], p = .59), temporal flexibility ($\beta = -0.03$ [-0.12, 0.05], p = .44), and health-promoting measures ($\beta = -0.12$ [-0.22, -0.03], p = .011). Thus, in accordance with the results reported in the main paper, telework strategies from the subcategories conducive work attitude and keep connection appeared to be the most important positive predictors of job performance, whereas boundary related telework strategies appeared to be less important. We decided to not base our main results on the multiple linear regression based on scales of telework strategy subcategories, as the Cronbach's alphas for the subcategories were in some instances quite low ($\alpha_{\text{Temporal flexibility}} = .56$) indicating that telework strategies within subcategories were still heterogeneous. Thus, we report the results in the main paper on the level of the individual telework strategies and descriptively summarize results for the subcategories making this heterogeneity transparent.

Table 4.1.B

Multiple Linear Regression of Telework Strategy Scales Following the Categorization in the Main Paper Predicting Job Performance

	β	95%-CI	р
Intercept	-0.09	[-0.20, 0.02]	.12
Age	0.00	[-0.09, 0.09]	.97
Gender	0.18	[0.01, 0.35]	.043
Space	-0.04	[-0.13, 0.06]	.46
Children	0.06	[-0.14, 0.27]	.54
Physical separation of work and leisure	0.01	[-0.10, 0.13]	.81
Conducive work environment	0.04	[-0.07, 0.16]	.45
Temporal structure	0.01	[-0.10, 0.13]	.81
Temporal flexibility	-0.03	[-0.12, 0.05]	.44
Behavioral separation of work and leisure	-0.03	[-0.16, 0.09]	.59
Conducive work attitude	0.34	[0.24, 0.43]	<.001
Health-promoting measures	-0.12	[-0.22, -0.03]	.011
Make arrangements	0.00	[-0.10, 0.10]	.97
Keep connection	0.21	[0.12, 0.30]	<.001
<i>F</i> (13, 495)	8.72		<.001
R^2	.19		
$R^2_{ m Adj.}$.16		

Note. n = 509. Gender was dummy-coded (0/1 = female/male). Children was dummy-coded (0/1 = no/yes). CI = confidence interval.

Results in bold are significant at the $p \leq .05$ level.

Appendix 4.1.C

The pattern of results of the for each telework subcategory aggregated β -coefficients predicting job performance reported in the main paper remained robust when simultaneously entering factor analytically identified scales averaging the implementation of the respective composing telework strategies per participant as predictors into a multiple linear regression predicting job performance (using z-scaled variables and including control variables), and thus, remained robust when controlling for the overlap among telework strategies from different factor analytically identified subcategories. To conduct this supplemental analysis, we first randomly split the data and computed an exploratory factor analysis (principal component analysis with varimax rotation computed with the psych package in R; Revelle, 2021; see Table 4.1.C1) with one half of the data. Based on the scree-plot, we identified eight factors. We labeled these factors based on the rule that a factor received the same label as the majority of the composing telework strategies in the taxonomy of the main paper (three telework strategies were assigned to a different factor than proposed by the taxonomy of the main paper). The eight factors identified were physical separation of work and leisure (seven telework strategies, $\alpha = .89$), temporal structure (four telework strategies, $\alpha = .71$), temporal flexibility (three telework strategies, $\alpha = .53$), behavioral separation of work and leisure (four telework strategies, $\alpha = .90$), conducive work attitude (three telework strategies, $\alpha = .70$), health-promoting measures (three telework strategies, $\alpha = .66$), make arrangements (five telework strategies, $\alpha = .79$), and keep connection (two telework strategies, $\alpha = .65$). Based on the other half of the data set, we computed a confirmatory factor analysis using maximum likelihood estimation (computed with the lavaan package in R; Rosseel, 2012; $\gamma^{2}(406) = 614.68$, p < .001; CFI = .88; TLI = .87; SRMR = .075; RMSEA = .057). We then computed scales averaging the implementation of telework strategies per participant for each factor and entered these scales simultaneously in a multiple linear regression predicting job performance (see Table 4.1.C2). The pattern of results was similar to the results of the for each telework strategy subcategory aggregated β-coefficients predicting job performance reported in the main paper. The factors conducive work attitude ($\beta = 0.25$ [0.16, 0.34], p < .001) and keep connection ($\beta = 0.21$ [0.13, 0.30], p < .001) were the most important positive predictors of job performance. These were followed by make arrangements ($\beta = 0.05$ [-0.04, 0.15], p = .26), physical separation of work and leisure ($\beta = 0.04$ [-0.05, 0.14], p = .37), behavioral separation of work and leisure ($\beta = 0.02$ [-0.07, 0.11], p = .65), health promoting measures ($\beta = -0.04$ [-0.13, 0.05], p = .38), temporal structure ($\beta = -0.05$ [-0.14, 0.04], p = .30), and temporal flexibility ($\beta = -0.06$ [-0.15, 0.03], p = .18). We decided to not base our main results on factor

analytically identified telework strategy scales because the data generation process was not tailored to do so, leading to a somewhat arbitrary factor analytically identification of telework strategy categories (if previous research and popular media described similar telework strategies in detail factors would emerge, whereas if previous research and popular media described standalone, definite telework strategies no factors would emerge) and to a removal of a large proportion of telework strategies (potentially leading to overseeing relevant telework strategies for job performance). Considering that research on telework strategies is still in its' infancy, the focus of the present study was to assess the broad range of heterogeneous telework strategies present in the scientific literature and popular media to paint a comprehensive, highly resolved picture.

Table 4.1.C1

Principal Component Analysis of the 85 Telework Strategies With Varimax Rotation

	Factor loadings										
Telework strategy	PC2:	PC7:	PC1:	PC3:	PC4:	PC6:	PC5:	PC8:	munali-		
	P PSWL	B BSWL	T TS	C MA	B CWA	B HPM	C KC	T TF	ties		
I regularly work outside my home. (recoded)		.27	.14	13			.13		.14		
I use technology facilitating to separate work and leisure.	.28	.36	.21	.22			.24	.11	.37		
I occasionally change my workstation. (recoded)	.28	.27	.32	11	11	20		16	.34		
I exclusively work in a designated place.	.45	.18	.39	15					.43		
I keep work materials in a separate, dedicated place.	.57	.16	.12		.29		.10		.46		
I arrange my workstation visually like a typical office.	.74				.17	.18	.10		.63		
I physically separate my workstation from the rest of my living environment.	.86								.74		
I do not conduct leisure activities at my workstation.	.52	.23	.17		.18			20	.44		
I use physical barriers as boundaries between work and leisure.	.77								.61		
I use a separate, dedicated room for working.	.81								.68		
I establish an atmosphere at my workstation that differs from the rest	.66		.15	.14	.11	.18			.52		
of my home.											
[×] I wear work clothes.	.29			.19	.15	.12		12	.18		
I make sure there is sufficient light at my workstation.	.21	.16			.17	.48	.17		.36		
I wear comfortable clothes.		.28		13	.14	.16	.15		.17		
I regularly air the room.	.22				.12	.62			.47		
I use a setup that is technically close to the setup at my on-site workstation	.48		.13				.37		.39		
I set up a conducive work environment	.62				22	19	19		52		
I listen to music that helps me concentrate (recoded)				- 21	16	.17	.17	- 20	13		
I configure my workstation ergonomically	.66		13			25			52		
I set un a pleasant room climate.	.18			.19	.20	.37			.26		
I reduce potential sources of distraction by placing them out of reach	.30			.16	.40	.19	18	14	.37		
of my workstation.											
I personalize my workstation.	.28			.24		.11	.15		.20		
I try to reduce distraction factors.	.31	.19	.12	.29	.34		19	26	.46		
I have a set time routine to start the workday in the morning.	.13	-	.65		.14	.13	.12	17	.53		

Telework strategy	Factor loadings										
	PC2:	PC7:	PC1:	PC3:	PC4:	PC6:	PC5:	PC8:	munali		
	P_PSWL	B_BSWL	T_TS	C_MA	B_CWA	B_HPM	C_KC	T_TF	ties		
I schedule in advance when I will work in my home office and when I			.42		.21			.32	.34		
will work on-site.											
I structure my workday temporarily.	.21	.28	.36			.38	.16		.43		
I log my working hours.		.45			.11		.27		.31		
I strictly separate my work time from my leisure time.	.23	.52	.46	.14	.20	.12		14	.62		
I have set days for working from home.	.20	.19	.40					.24	.30		
I take a regular lunch break at set times.		.19	.60	.11	16	.26			.51		
I have a set time routine for the transition from work to leisure.		.20	.61	.24	.11				.49		
I do not work beyond my working hours agreed with the employer.	.11	.43	.35				10	.21	.38		
I align my break schedule with the official break times of my	.16	.24	.52			.15			.39		
organization.											
I strictly adhere to set working hours.		.31	.64	.15				12	.55		
I schedule regular breaks.	.12		.17	.28		.43	14	.20	.38		
I am temporally flexible in handling urgent work requests.	.23		48	15		.10			.35		
I schedule my work time in order to get the most of my leisure time.						.11		.65	.45		
If my work is short on time, I'll "save it up" to make up for it in the	.12	14						.51	.30		
next days.											
I schedule my leisure time in order to get the most of my work time.	.16				.35	.14		.11	.19		
I flexibly transfer personal matters to times when I typically work.		21	30		20			.62	.57		
If my leisure is short on time, I'll "save it up" to make up for it in the				.21				.58	.40		
next days.											
I flexibly transfer my work to times when I typically attend to personal		58	32			.10		.20	.50		
matters.											
I have a technological routine for the transition into work at the start of	.18	.37	.21				.51		.49		
the work day.											
I have a set technological routine facilitating the transition from work	.13	.49	.25			.14	.40		.50		
to leisure.											
I maintain the same routines of my on-site work.	.19	.14	.52		.43		.13	14	.55		
I avoid reading non-work related materials at work.	.27	.18	.15		.56			22	.50		
I attend to personal matters at work only when taking a break or during	.16	.12	.37		.39	.13		24	.40		
lunch hour.											
I do not take work-related calls after hours.		.76	.12	.22			10		.65		
I do not respond to work-related messages after hours.		.85	.17	.13			10		.78		
I have a rule which leisure aspects are allowed to spill over into work		.18	.30	.49	.16			11	.41		
and which not.											

Telework strategy	Factor loadings										
	PC2:	PC7:	PC1:	PC3:	PC4:	PC6:	PC5:	PC8:	munali		
	P_PSWL	B_BSWL	T_TS	C_MA	B_CWA	B_HPM	C_KC	T_TF	ties		
I have a rule which work aspects are allowed to spill over into leisure		.28	.37	.47		.10			.44		
and which not.											
I do not go back to work after hours.		.77	.12				11		.63		
I use breaks to strictly separate work time from leisure time.	.15	.19	.41	.30		.42		.20	.53		
I do not read work-related messages after hours.		.83	.19	.16					.75		
I have set rituals facilitating the transition from work to leisure.		.19	.34	.32		.39			.42		
I avoid talking about work-related matters in leisure contexts.	.23	.21	.28	.22	.10	10		.22	.29		
I avoid talking about personal matters in work contexts.	.14	.25		.19	.19		19		.19		
I value the benefits of working from home.		.22				.13	.33	.26	.25		
I get organized at work.				.15	.64			.11	.46		
I show a particularly high level of dedication.	.16				.57		.30		.47		
I try to strengthen my supervisor's confidence in the quality of my				.11	.41		.34		.31		
work.											
I adjust my attitude and behavior to optimally focus and concentrate at	.23	.11	.20		.61	.13			.50		
work.											
I schedule tasks that can be done particularly well at home.			.23	.15	.45		13	.20	.35		
I set personal daily goals at work.					.64	.18			.47		
I take a short lunch break and quickly continue working to get done as		21	20		.21	21	.21		.23		
much as possible.											
I practice self-praise.				.28	.11	.24	.34	.16	.30		
I pay attention to healthy eating.			.20	.15	.26	.50			.39		
I adapt my work day to my bio-rhythm.			14	.11	.15	.25		.52	.38		
I integrate exercise into my work day.				.16	.19	.60			.43		
I integrate outdoor activities into my work day.		11		.15		.61			.43		
I regularly take a "power nap".		19	.15	.10	13	.39		.27	.31		
I make arrangements with household members facilitating undisturbed	.24	.15	.13	.44	.37				.44		
work.											
I make arrangements with colleagues/supervisors/my employer about		.20	.31	.49	.25		.10	.20	.50		
when I can(not) be reached regarding work.											
I'll confront household members if agreements about work and leisure				.68	.12	.19			.53		
are violated.											
I make arrangements with customers/clients about when I can(not) be			.12	.56	.15		.14	.24	.44		
reached regarding work.											
I'll confront colleagues/supervisors/my employer if agreements about		.21		.77		.16			.67		
work and leisure are violated						-			- /		

	Factor loadings									
Telework strategy	PC2:	PC7:	PC1:	PC3:	PC4:	PC6:	PC5:	PC8:	munali-	
	P_PSWL	B_BSWL	T_TS	C_MA	B_CWA	B_HPM	C_KC	T_TF	ties	
Household members make arrangements with me in order to limit my workload.	.15	16		.53	.11	.17		.11	.39	
I'll confront clients/customers if agreements about work and leisure		.16		.79		.18		.12	.69	
matters are violated.										
I use various communication channels.							.64		.43	
I keep connected via technology to respond to					.21		.61		.42	
colleagues/supervisors/my employer/customers/clients quickly.										
I make small talk with my colleagues/supervisors/employer.			.11		27		.35		.22	
I communicate expectations and progress with			.23	.37	.19		.36	.10	.37	
colleagues/supervisors/my employer.										
I use modern communication technology with		24		.21	14		.44		.33	
colleagues/supervisors/my employer such as instant messaging.										
I seek social interaction after work.	10	.14		.11		.38	.23		.26	
I use technology to stay in personal contact with colleagues.		14	25	.24		.19	.46		.40	
Eigenvalue	5.72	2.29	13.19	4.87	3.16	2.32	2.78	1.94		
Sum of squared loadings	6.31	5.73	5.28	4.77	4.29	3.75	3.19	2.96		
Proportion of variance (in %)	7.40%	6.70%	6.20%	5.60%	5.00%	4.40%	3.80%	3.50%		
Cumulative proportion of variance (in %)	7.40%	14.10%	20.30%	25.90%	30.90%	35.30%	39.20%	42.70%		

Note. n = 274. Factor loadings < |.10| are not displayed. Telework strategies in italics represent strategies being assigned to a different factor than in the categorization of the main paper. PC = principal component; P_ = physical; B_ = behavioral; T_ = temporal; C_ = communicative; PSWL = physical separation of work and leisure; BSWL = behavioral separation of work and leisure; TS = temporal structure; MA = make arrangements; CWA = conducive work attitude; HPM = health-promoting measures; KC = keep connection; TF = temporal flexibility.

Factor loadings > |.30| and loading > |.30| on the respective factor than on any other factor are bold.

Table 4.1.C2

Multiple Linear Regression of Factor Analytically Identified Telework Strategy Scales Predicting Job Performance

	β	95%-CI	р
Intercept	-0.07	[-0.19, 0.05]	.24
Age	-0.05	[-0.14, 0.05]	.33
Gender	0.12	[-0.06, 0.30]	.19
Space	-0.01	[-0.12, 0.10]	.85
Children	0.10	[-0.11, 0.31]	.35
Physical separation of work and leisure	0.04	[-0.05, 0.14]	.37
Temporal structure	-0.05	[-0.14, 0.04]	.30
Temporal flexibility	-0.06	[-0.15, 0.03]	.18
Behavioral separation of work and leisure	0.02	[-0.07, 0.11]	.65
Conducive work attitude	0.25	[0.16, 0.34]	<.001
Health-promoting measures	-0.04	[-0.13, 0.05]	.38
Make arrangements	0.05	[-0.04, 0.15]	.26
Keep connection	0.21	[0.13, 0.30]	<.001
F(12, 489)	6.18		<.001
R^2	.13		
$R^2_{ m Adj.}$.11		

Note. n = 502. Gender was dummy-coded (0/1 = female/male). Children was dummy-coded (0/1 = no/yes). CI = confidence interval.

Results in bold are significant at the $p \leq .05$ level.

Appendix 4.1 References

Revelle, W. (2021). *Psych: Procedures for psychological, psychometric, and personality research*. Northwestern University, Evanston, Illinois. R package version 2.1.9. https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=psych.

Rosseel, Y. (2012). Lavaan: An R package for structural equation modeling and more. Version 0.5–12 (BETA). *Journal of Statistical Software*, 48(2), 1–36. https://www.jstatsoft.org/v48/i02/

4.2 Examining the Extended Full-Range Leadership Model and Leadership Effectiveness in Remote Work Contexts: The Moderating Role of VUCA Environments

Publication Status. Hüttemann, D., **Härtel, T. M.**, & Müller, J. (2023). Examining the extended full-range leadership model and leadership effectiveness in remote work contexts: The moderating role of VUCA environments. Submitted to *European Management Review*.

Abstract. The COVID-19 pandemic has amplified the importance of effectively leading a remote workforce in volatile, uncertain, complex, and ambiguous (VUCA) environments. This study examines the effectiveness of transformational-transactional leadership (Full-Range Leadership Model, FRLM) and its recent extension of instrumental leadership (eFRLM) in remote work contexts. We surveyed 529 remote working followers providing perceptions on (a) their leaders' manifestation of eFRLM dimensions and factors, (b) their leaders' leadership effectiveness, and (c) their organizational environment as VUCA. Results show that instrumental leadership represents a strongly effective leadership dimension in remote work contexts explaining unique variance beyond transformational-transactional leadership. Moreover, VUCA environments moderated the association between eFRLM leadership behaviors and leadership effectiveness, with instrumental leadership being particularly effective in more pronounced VUCA environments, and transformational-transactional leadership being less effective. Overall, instrumental leadership appears crucial to consider when predicting leadership effectiveness in virtual and uncertain contexts.

Keywords. Remote leadership, instrumental leadership, transformational-transactional leadership, (extended) Full-Range Leadership Model, leadership effectiveness, VUCA.

Open Science Statement. The data, codebook, R-script, and supplementary results are made transparent on the open science framework: https://bit.ly/3EzKmou.

4.2.1 Introduction

The COVID-19 pandemic has induced various substantial changes in daily working life. In particular, effective leadership of a geographically dispersed, remote workforce in volatile, uncertain, complex, and ambiguous (VUCA) contexts has grown in significance (Krehl & Büttgen, 2022; Rudolph et al., 2021; Stoker et al., 2022). Effective remote leadership was especially challenging during the COVID-19 pandemic due to (a) employees' relative lack of remote work experience, (b) employees' lacking technological infrastructure, (c) pandemic-induced mental strain, and (d) economic pressure (Contreras et al., 2020; Dasborough & Scandura, 2022; Kniffin et al., 2021; Stoker et al., 2022).

The Full-Range Leadership Model (FRLM) is a well-established framework to understand leadership effectiveness in traditional on-site work settings (e.g., DeGroot et al., 2000; Dumdum et al., 2013; Judge & Piccolo, 2004; Lowe et al., 1996), yet little is known about its applicability to remote work settings. In addition, instrumental leadership in a more recent extension of the FRLM—the eFRLM—has been shown to explain incremental variance in predicting leadership effectiveness (Antonakis & House, 2014), but it has not been examined in remote work contexts. This is striking because flexible work arrangements, such as remote work, are prone to persist in the post-COVID-19 era (Athanasiadou & Theriou, 2021). Moreover, organizations will likely face pronounced VUCA environments in the future (Luthans & Broad, 2022). Therefore, remote work and VUCA environments represent highly relevant contextual factors that require further investigation to elucidate their impact on the effectiveness of eFRLM leadership (Antonakis & House, 2014).

To address these gaps in the literature, we collected survey data from 529 remote workers, gathering follower perceptions on (a) their respective leader's manifestation of eFRLM dimensions (i.e., transformational, transactional, and instrumental leadership) and factors (e.g., "articulating a vision," "contingent reward," and "outcome monitoring"), (b) their respective leader's leadership effectiveness, and (c) evaluations of their respective organization's environment as VUCA. We captured the follower perspective on effective leadership, which is particularly informative in remote work contexts (e.g., Kelloway et al., 2003; Purvanova & Bono, 2009). Specifically, we examined associations between the eFRLM and perceived leadership effectiveness in remote work contexts at dimensional and factor levels. This way, we could draw higher-level conclusions on the perceived effectiveness of the eFRLM dimensions and, at the same time, delve deeper into the specific eFRLM factors driving these effects. Thereby, we examine instrumental leadership's incremental predictive validity of leadership effectiveness beyond the original FRLM in remote work contexts. Also, the present

study is the first to explore the moderation effect of VUCA environments on the association between the eFRLM and leadership effectiveness at dimensional and factor levels.

Results showed that the instrumental leadership dimension was perceived as the most effective leadership dimension in remote work contexts, closely followed by transformational and then transactional leadership dimensions. At the factor level, the significant predictors of perceived leadership effectiveness were, for instrumental leadership, "environmental monitoring," "path-goal facilitation," and "outcome monitoring"; for transformational leadership, "articulating a vision," "providing an appropriate model," "fostering the acceptance of group goals," and "individualized support"; and for transactional leadership "contingent reward." We thereby found instrumental leadership to explain unique variance beyond the original FRLM at dimensional and factor levels, indicating that omitted variable bias may occur when not considering instrumental leadership to predict leadership effectiveness. Also, we found that perceived effectiveness of the eFRLM dimensions and factors were moderated by VUCA environments: Whereas transformational-transactional leadership dimensions appeared to be less effective in more-pronounced VUCA environments, instrumental leadership appeared to be particularly effective. Leaders in VUCA environments may therefore focus on strategic and work-facilitating (instrumental) leadership rather than charismatic and visionary (transformational) or quid pro quo (transactional) leadership. Zooming-in on the factor level, these moderation effects might be especially traced back to the transactional leadership factor "contingent reward" being less effective in more-pronounced VUCA environments and the instrumental leadership factor "outcome monitoring" being particularly effective in morepronounced VUCA environments. Thus, leaders in remote work and VUCA environments might be advised to focus less on value exchange (e.g., rewarding/punishing followers contingent on their performance) and more on facilitating followers' work (e.g., monitoring outcomes, anticipating goal deviations, providing corrective feedback) instead.

The present study extends the leadership literature by shedding light on the merits of established (transformational-transactional leadership, FRLM) and aspiring (instrumental leadership, eFRLM) leadership theories in unaddressed remote work and VUCA contexts through the follower lens. We heeded a call to examine how contextual factors affect instrumental leadership's effectiveness (Antonakis & House, 2014) and thereby advanced the young eFRLM literature in several ways: We determined the extent to which instrumental leadership incrementally explained variance in perceived leadership effectiveness beyond the FRLM in remote work contexts at dimensional and factor levels. Furthermore, we explored the moderation effect of VUCA environments on the association of eFRLM dimensions and their

factors with perceived leadership effectiveness. Examining the perceived eFRLM effectiveness at the dimensional and more nuanced factor levels allowed us to derive tangible implications for real-life organizations, such as an apparent need for training interventions or 360°-feedback informing about the specific eFRLM behaviors that foster effective leadership in virtual and crisis-ridden organizational contexts.

4.2.2 Theoretical Background

4.2.2.1 The Extended Full-Range Leadership Model. The FRLM (Bass, 1985) comprises the transformational, transactional, and laissez-faire dimensions of leadership. These dimensions are typically further divided into transformational leadership factors, transactional leadership factors, and a non-leadership, laissez-faire factor (Avolio & Bass, 1988; Bass, 1999; Podsakoff et al., 1990). Transformational leaders strive to (a) identify new opportunities and inspire through a shared vision (*articulating a vision*), (b) embody and model the values they espouse (*providing an appropriate model*), (c) foster collaboration to achieve a shared goal (*fostering the acceptance of group goals*), (d) set high quality and performance standards (*high performance expectations*), (e) show respect and prioritize followers' personal feelings and needs (*individualized support*), and (f) challenge followers to re-evaluate their work and find new, innovative ways of working (*intellectual stimulation*). Transactional leaders reward their followers with tangible commodities (e.g., salary increases) or intangible commodities (e.g., recognition) when followers meet expectations (*contingent reward*). Laissez-faire leaders do not lead in an obvious sense, rather they avoid taking a position or making decisions.

However, prior research questioned whether the FRLM covers the full range of leadership factors critical to effective leadership (Antonakis & House, 2013, 2014; Hunt, 2004; Judge & Piccolo, 2004; Yukl, 1999, 2008). In particular, the FRLM has been challenged for lacking (a) strategic factors (i.e., scanning the external environment, implementing strategic goals) and (b) work-facilitating factors (i.e., facilitating follower work by providing resources and corrective, performance-enhancing feedback) rooted in task-oriented leadership (Antonakis & House, 2013; Yukl, 1999).

To address the FRLM's lack of strategic and work-facilitating factors, Antonakis and House (2004, 2014) extended the FRLM into the eFRLM. Specifically, the eFRLM proposes that (i) monitoring the organizational environment (*environmental monitoring*), (ii) implementing strategic initiatives (*strategy formulation and implementation*), (iii) implementing tactical solutions (*path-goal facilitation*), and (iv) monitoring follower performance (*outcome monitoring*) are instrumental to effective leadership. These four factors are subsumed under the *instrumental leadership* dimension. Initial research found evidence for

instrumental leadership's construct validity (Antonakis & House, 2014) and critically addressed the validity of previous findings that were solely based on FRLM factors but omitted instrumental leadership factors when predicting leadership outcomes (Antonakis & House, 2014; Rowold, 2014). Adding instrumental leadership factors in predictive models alters the estimated coefficients of FRLM factors (i.e., omitted variable bias; Cinelli & Hazlett, 2020).

There is initial empirical evidence on instrumental leadership's predictive validity. Instrumental leadership is positively associated with followers' (a) health-related outcomes (e.g., reduced stress, work-family conflict, and burnout; Allgood et al., 2022; Poethke et al., 2021; Rowold et al., 2017), (b) satisfaction-related outcomes (e.g., increased job and leadership satisfaction and higher affective commitment; Antonakis & House, 2014; Rowold, 2014), and (c) performance-related outcomes (e.g., increased task and innovation performance, higher decision-making effectiveness; Chammas & Hernandez, 2019; Delbecq et al., 2013; Gerlach et al., 2020; Kramer et al., 2019; Rowold et al., 2017). Indeed, there is also initial evidence that instrumental leadership helps to explain followers' (d) perceptions of effective leadership (Antonakis & House, 2004, 2014).

4.2.2.2 eFRLM and Leadership Effectiveness. *Leadership effectiveness* refers to a leader's efficiency in influencing and guiding followers toward achieving organizational objectives (Hogan et al., 1994; Stogdill, 1950) and represents the "standard by which leaders should be judged" (Hogan et al., 1994, p. 494). The most common assessments of effective leadership are based on followers' ratings (i.e., perceptions) of their respective leader's effectiveness (Judge et al., 2002). Perceived leadership effectiveness is considered particularly informative as it directly induces actual follower behavior (Hogan et al., 1994; Meindl, 1995) and accounts for performance above expectations (Avolio & Bass, 1988; Lowe et al., 1996). Also, perceived leadership effectiveness with objective leadership effectiveness criteria, such as team or organizational unit performance (Hogan et al., 1994) and has been the subject of several meta-analyses examining the effectiveness of the FRLM's dimensions and factors (e.g., Judge & Piccolo, 2004; Lowe et al., 1996).

Transformational leadership and its factors are more strongly associated with perceived leadership effectiveness than transactional leadership and its contingent reward factor (Judge & Piccolo, 2004; Lowe et al., 1996). In contrast, laissez-faire leadership is perceived as ineffective (Antonakis & House, 2013; Avolio et al., 1995; Bass & Avolio, 1993). Instrumental leadership factors were found to explain unique variance beyond FRLM factors when predicting perceived leadership effectiveness (Antonakis & House, 2004): Three of four instrumental leadership factors—"strategy formulation and implementation," "path-goal

facilitation," and "outcome monitoring"—were found to predict leadership effectiveness when simultaneously considering transformational, transactional, and instrumental leadership factors, whereas only the transformational leadership factor "idealized influence" and the transactional leadership factor "contingent reward" predicted leadership effectiveness. In terms of variance explanation, instrumental leadership turned out to be equally important as transformational leadership when predicting perceived leadership effectiveness in traditional on-site work contexts (Antonakis & House, 2014).

4.2.2.3 eFRLM and Leadership Effectiveness in Remote Work Contexts. However, previous findings on the perceived effectiveness of eFRLM dimensions and factors in traditional on-site work contexts do not necessarily apply to widespread (Allen et al., 2015; Gajendran & Harrison, 2007) remote work settings. During remote work, the leader-follower dyad differs significantly from on-site work due to spatial distance and thus, technologymediated and often asynchronous rather than face-to-face communication (Avolio et al., 2000, 2014; Hertel et al., 2005; Kelley & Kelloway, 2012). Accordingly, leadership in remote work contexts—remote leadership—is defined as a social influence process mediated by information and communication technologies (ICTs), such as video conferencing, instant messaging, or digital document sharing. Employees led remotely-remote-working followers-perform some or all of their work away from their traditional on-site workplace, usually from home (e.g., Bailey & Kurland, 2002; Härtel et al., 2023). Thus, effective remote leaders enhance the performance of geographically dispersed followers via ICTs (Avolio et al., 2000, 2014; Van Wart et al., 2019). The rapidly evolving shift to remote work, recently amplified by the COVID-19 pandemic (Kniffin et al., 2021; Kramer & Kramer, 2020; Milasi et al., 2021; Rudolph et al., 2021), has raised questions about whether the reduced face-to-face interaction and asynchronous communication associated with remote work compromise the effectiveness of traditional leadership (Hertel et al., 2005). Initially, the leader-follower distance was assumed to have a "neutralizing effect" (Antonakis & Atwater, 2002, p. 685) on follower perceptions of leadership effectiveness. For instance, transformational leaders may require physical proximity to show attention and consideration in order to be perceived as effective by their followers (Andressen et al., 2012; Dubinsky et al., 1995; Howell et al., 2005).

The current state of research paints a mixed and incomplete picture of the generalizability of findings on the effectiveness of the FRLM from on-site to remote work contexts. Whereas some studies found supportive evidence for the effectiveness of FRLM dimensions and factors in remote work constellations (Kelloway et al., 2003; Neufeld et al., 2010; Purvanova & Bono, 2009; Ramserran & Haddud, 2018), other studies found FRLM

dimensions and factors to be less effective in remote work than in traditional on-site work settings (Andressen et al., 2012; Eisenberg et al., 2019; Hoch & Kozlowski, 2014; Howell et al., 2005). On the one hand, for instance, transformational leaders have been found to achieve higher team performance in remote working teams than in traditional teams interacting face-to-face (Purvanova & Bono, 2009). Also, for example, charismatic and intellectually stimulating emails were shown to be associated with increased individual and team performance (Kelloway et al., 2003). On the other hand, some studies (Andressen et al., 2012; Dubinsky et al., 1995; Eisenberg et al., 2019; Hoch & Kozlowski, 2014) found the performance of teams led by transformational leaders to decrease with increasing physical distance. As for instrumental leadership in the eFRLM, there is no research to date that has examined its association with perceived leadership effectiveness in remote work contexts.

Thus, the lack of research on the effectiveness of eFRLM dimensions and factors in remote work contexts opens the door to the present study. First, to our knowledge, only one study (Neufeld et al., 2010) captured the most common (Judge et al., 2002) and particularly insightful (Hogan et al., 1994; Meindl, 1995; Murphy & Cleveland, 1991) follower perspective on leadership effectiveness, which limits comparability with prior research conducted in traditional on-site work contexts. Second, we are not aware of any research that examined factor-level associations of the FRLM and perceived leadership effectiveness in remote work settings. Although a higher-level perspective should provide valuable insights into a leadership dimension's (e.g., transformational leadership) overall effectiveness, it does not allow one to draw fine-grained conclusions about the specific leadership factors (e.g., "articulating a vision") driving these effects. However, understanding which specific leadership factors might foster leadership effectiveness would facilitate the derivation of tangible recommendations for practitioners aimed at teaching specific FRLM-related skills that promote effective remote leadership. Third, and most remarkably, no study has yet examined the associations between instrumental leadership and perceived leadership effectiveness in remote work settings. Omitting instrumental leadership factors when predicting remote leadership effectiveness with FRLM factors could reduce the validity of research findings (Antonakis & House, 2014; Rowold, 2014). Also, supporting followers with resources and removing obstacles for goal achievement ("path-goal facilitation"), and providing positively framed, performanceenhancing feedback ("outcome monitoring") might be particularly beneficial to remote workers and perceived by them as effective leadership strategies (Bartsch et al., 2020; Krehl & Büttgen, 2022; Liao, 2017).

4.2.2.4 Moderating Role of VUCA Environments. The leadership behaviors that foster leadership effectiveness depend on environmental context (e.g., Osborn et al., 2002; Waldman et al., 2001). For example, dynamic and volatile organizational environments were found to moderate associations between the FRLM and firm-level outcomes (e.g., innovation or financial performance; Ensley et al., 2006; Prasad & Junni, 2016). However, less is known about the moderation effect of dynamic and volatile organizational environments on follower perceptions of effective leadership. Research suggests follower perceptions of the behaviors that influence leadership effectiveness to change in extreme contexts (Hannah et al., 2009). The extent to which an extreme environmental context is perceived as threatening varies across individuals (Benner, 1984), though. Therefore, followers may perceive eFRLM dimensions and factors as more or less effective depending on their individual perceptions of dynamic and extreme settings, such as VUCA environments. VUCA environments (Bennett & Lemoine, 2014) have recently received attention both in practice (e.g., Arkenberg, 2019; Huesmann & Khoroshylova, 2020; Kothari et al., 2021) and academia (e.g., Bennett & Lemoine, 2014; Elkington, 2018). Due to COVID-19-induced disruptions (e.g., novel forms of work communication and interaction due to remote work, financial uncertainty due to economic strain, and health concerns; Mihalache & Mihalache, 2022), followers might have perceived their then-current organizational environment as VUCA. Thus, the COVID-19 pandemic provided a unique opportunity to explore the moderation effect of follower-perceived VUCA environments on associations of eFRLM dimensions and factors with leadership effectiveness.

During the COVID-19 pandemic, followers faced a multifaceted crisis (Contreras et al., 2020) that was both a global health crisis and an economic threat to organizations and their people (Kniffin et al., 2021). Organizational environments during the COVID-19 pandemic could have been perceived as VUCA (Bennett & Lemoine, 2014) because they were (a) *volatile* (i.e., future developments were difficult to predict; e.g., dynamic pandemic events triggered adverse market reactions), (b) *uncertain* (i.e., critical information was missing; e.g., the duration that organizations were affected by COVID-19-induced preventive measures), (c) *complex* (i.e., organizational environments consisting of many interconnected parts were difficult to oversee; e.g., upstream and downstream supply chains were affected by the COVID-19 pandemic), and (d) *ambiguous* (i.e., unknown cause-effect relationships of organizational measures taken due to lacking experience; e.g., the workforce's ad hoc shift to remote work had unknown organizational impacts; Dima et al., 2021; Hadar et al., 2020; Luthans & Broad, 2022; Schulze et al., 2021; Sum, 2022; Worley & Jules, 2020). Recent research applied the VUCA concept to leadership by exploring leadership skills that may be required to succeed in such challenging

environments (e.g., Giones et al., 2019; Millar et al., 2018; Schoemaker et al., 2018). Initial evidence suggests that leaders in VUCA environments tend to employ more leadership behaviors related to instrumental leadership and that such behaviors also appear to be perceived as more effective than traditional leadership behaviors.

In VUCA environments, followers may require guidance by strategic vision (Hitt et al., 2010; Klein & House, 1995; Tavares et al., 2021). Thus, instrumental leadership's strategic factors ("environmental monitoring" and "strategy formulation and implementation") may be perceived as effective because they limit follower uncertainty and ambiguity by "redirecting attention to new goals, initiating new work structures and processes, and providing guidance and feedback" (Allgood et al., 2022, p. 7). Indeed, recent qualitative studies (Baran & Woznyj, 2021; Giones et al., 2019; Schoemaker et al., 2018) underscore the effectiveness of strategic leadership skills (e.g., considering an organization's external environment) in VUCA environments. Another strand of research (Bartsch et al., 2020; Stoker et al., 2022) found leadership behaviors resembling the work-facilitating factors of instrumental leadership ("pathgoal facilitation" and "outcome monitoring") to be effective in VUCA environments. Both work-facilitating factors of instrumental leadership are rooted in directive and task-oriented leadership (i.e., limiting followers' individual decision-making by giving clear instructions, structuring tasks, and monitoring compliance with instructions; see Kamphuis et al., 2011; Stoker et al., 2019), which has already been explored in extreme contexts (Hannah et al., 2009). Applying the threat-rigidity-hypothesis-organizations and their people behave rigidly in threatening environments by restricting information and constricting control (see Staw et al., 1981)-to VUCA environments, leaders might respond with increased levels of directive and task-oriented leadership to buffer potential losses of control (Stoker et al., 2019, 2022) and followers may perceive such behaviors as effective. Indeed, initial evidence suggests that directive and task-oriented leadership are perceived as more effective during extreme events (e.g., Mulder & Stemerding, 1963; Mulder et al., 1971, 1986).

We advance the young eFRLM literature by adding to the underexplored stream of research examining organizational environments' impacts on perceptions of leadership outcomes (Porter & McLaughlin, 2006). More specifically, we explore the moderation effect of the extent to which followers perceive their organizational environment as VUCA on the association between the eFRLM and leadership effectiveness. Thereby we focus on the clearly defined constructs VUCA (Bennett & Lemoine, 2014) and instrumental leadership (Antonakis & House, 2014). In addition, previously observed main effects of leadership behaviors on perceived leadership effectiveness in dynamic and crisis environments do not necessarily

preclude that these exact leadership behaviors are also perceived as effective in non-crisis environments. In comparison, explicitly testing moderating effects allows us to draw conclusions about leadership behaviors that are particularly effective in dynamic and crisis environments.

4.2.2.5 Present Study. The present study is the first to shed light on the merits of (transformational-transactional leadership, FRLM) and up-and-coming established (instrumental leadership, eFRLM) leadership theories in virtual and crisis-ridden organizational contexts through the follower lens. Specifically, we go beyond previous research by examining associations between the eFRLM and perceived leadership effectiveness in remote work settings at dimensional (research question, RQ 1.1) and factor levels (RQ 1.2). Heeding the call to examine how contextual factors affect impacts of instrumental leadership (Antonakis & House, 2014), we advance the young eFRLM literature in several ways: We determine the extent to which instrumental leadership explains incremental variance in perceived leadership effectiveness beyond the FRLM in remote work contexts at dimensional (RQ 2.1) and factor levels (RQ 2.2). We also explore the moderation effect of follower-perceived VUCA environments on associations between the eFRLM and perceived leadership effectiveness at dimensional (RQ 3.1) and factor levels (RQ 3.2). For this purpose, we surveyed 529 remote workers that provided follower perceptions on (a) their respective leader's manifestation of eFRLM dimensions and factors, (b) their perceptions of their respective leader's leadership effectiveness, and (c) evaluations of their respective organization's environment as VUCA. We formulated the following research questions (see Figure 4.2.1):

- RQ 1.1: Which eFRLM dimensions are associated with perceived leadership effectiveness in remote work contexts?
- RQ 1.2: Which eFRLM factors are associated with perceived leadership effectiveness in remote work contexts?
- RQ 2.1: Does the instrumental leadership dimension explain incremental variance beyond the original FRLM dimensions when predicting perceived leadership effectiveness in remote work contexts?
- RQ 2.2: Do instrumental leadership factors explain incremental variance beyond the original FRLM factors when predicting perceived leadership effectiveness in remote work contexts?
- RQ 3.1: How does the perceived VUCA environment moderate associations between eFRLM dimensions and perceived leadership effectiveness?

 RQ 3.2: How does the perceived VUCA environment moderate associations between eFRLM factors and perceived leadership effectiveness?

Figure 4.2.1

Conceptual Framework of the Present Study Mapping the Focal Dependent and Independent Variables and Providing an Overview of the Research Questions (RQs)



Note. VUCA = volatile, uncertain, complex, and ambiguous environments; FRLM = Full-Range Leadership Model; eFRLM = extended Full-Range Leadership Model.
4.2.3 Method

4.2.3.1 Sample. German-speaking participants in our online survey study were recruited via convenience sampling by placing advertisements in professional (LinkedIn, Xing) and social media (Facebook, Instagram, Twitter, Nebenan) network groups, on research platforms for mutual participant recruitment (SurveyCircle, PollPool⁴⁰), and in a lecture at Osnabrück University⁴¹. Participation was voluntary and respondents were informed that their responses would be anonymous and that they had the right to withdraw without any consequences. All participants gave informed consent prior to participation. To ensure that participants reported to a direct leader and had experience with remote work, two screening questions were presented: "Do you report to a direct leader?" and "Do you already have remote work experience?" Participants had to agree to both questions to begin the survey. Data collection took place between July 2021 and April 2022. During this time period, preventive measures to protect against COVID-19 infections (i.e., legal obligation for employers to enable remote work) forced a large proportion of the workforce to work remotely. This should have ensured that remote-working followers gained reasonable experience with their respective leader's remote leadership in organizational environments considered as VUCA. For an overview of the survey structure and detailed information on all variables collected, see the Codebook at https://bit.ly/3EzKmou.

The final sample⁴² consisted of 529 followers (67.24% female) working the majority of their weekly workdays remotely (M = 3.27, SD = 1.51). Follower age ranged from 19 to 63 years (M = 30.91, SD = 10.04) and 74.76% of participants held at least a bachelor's degree. Followers' weekly working hours (M = 34.25, SD = 13.83) equaled the average weekly working hours of the employed population in Germany (Eurostat, 2022). Followers held professional positions mainly as highly qualified employees, such as research associates,

⁴⁰ Participants recruited via SurveyCircle (n = 150) and PollPool (n = 49) received "participation points" to recruit participants for their own surveys.

⁴¹ Participants recruited at Osnabrück University (n = 28) attended the undergraduate course "Human Resource Management" and received "bonus points" to add to their course grade. Most participants recruited through lecture announcements indicated that they were participating on behalf of an affiliated student who was taking the course but was not employed at that time. This way, students who did not meet the participation prerequisites (i.e., reporting to a direct leader and being experienced with telework) could also receive the bonus points, which should have mitigated unwished incentives for participating when not meeting the requirements.

⁴² Of 1,120 participants who began the survey, we excluded 86 participants who did not meet the initial participation prerequisites (i.e., reporting to a direct leader and having remote work experience), 477 participants who did not provide sufficient responses (i.e., discontinuing survey participation before providing all responses except for control variables), nine participants without reasonable participants who indicated flawed participation via comments (e.g., an unintentional second participation), and 13 participants without reasonable remote work experience, that is, respondents working less than 0.5 workdays per week.

engineers, and department heads (38.81%) or as qualified employees, such as clerks, accountants, and technical draftsmen (30.78%) across various industries (most represented were 21.22% information technology, telecommunications, and media; 16.83% manufacturing industry; 14.53% research and development). The average follower had worked with their respective leader for roughly three years at the time of the study (M = 2.89, SD = 1.36). The leaders referred to by the participating followers were mostly between 40 and 44 years old and predominantly male (62.07%). On average, leaders led about 15 followers (M = 14.75, SD = 15.67) and most leaders could be located in middle management (e.g., department heads).

4.2.3.2 Measures.

4.2.3.2.1 Transformational and Transactional Leadership (FRLM). Transformational $(\alpha = .92, M = 3.26, SD = 0.60)$ and transactional leadership $(\alpha = .87, M = 3.55, SD = 0.99)$ were measured with 22 items and four items, respectively, using the German translation (Heinitz & Rowold, 2007; Krüger et al., 2011) of the Transformational Leadership Inventory (TLI; see Podsakoff et al., 1990, 1996a, 1996b). The six transformational leadership factors were assessed using five items for "articulating a vision" ($\alpha = .86$, M = 3.26, SD = 0.85; e.g., "My manager paints an interesting picture of the future for our group"), three items for "providing an appropriate model" ($\alpha = .80, M = 3.28, SD = 0.89$; e.g., "My manager provides a good model to follow"), four items for "fostering the acceptance of group goals" ($\alpha = .88$, M = 3.49, SD = 0.93; e.g., "My manager fosters collaboration among work groups"), three items for "high performance expectations" ($\alpha = .69$, M = 3.42, SD = 0.82; e.g., "My manager shows us that he/she expects a lot from us"), four items for "individualized support" ($\alpha = .85$, M = 3.61, SD = 0.95; e.g., "My manager behaves in a manner that is thoughtful of my personal needs"), and three items for "intellectual stimulation" ($\alpha = .82$, M = 3.12, SD = 0.91; e.g., "My manager has provided me with new ways of looking at things which used to be a puzzle for me"). The transactional leadership factor "contingent reward" ($\alpha = .87$, M = 3.55, SD = 0.99; e.g., "My manager provides me with positive feedback if I perform well") was assessed using four items. We did not assess laissez-faire leadership because it was found to be the "most inactive, as well as most ineffective" (Avolio, 1999, p. 50) dimension of leadership. Followers provided their ratings on a 5-point Likert scale ranging from 1 (never) to 5 (always).

4.2.3.2.2 Instrumental Leadership (eFRLM). We assessed instrumental leadership ($\alpha = .94$, M = 3.55, SD = 0.74) using a German translation (Rowold et al., 2017) of the instrumental leadership scale provided by Antonakis and House (2004) comprising 16 items (four items per factor) for the four factors "environmental monitoring" ($\alpha = .80$, M = 3.83, SD = 0.66; e.g., "My manager capitalizes on opportunities presented by the external

environment"), "strategy formulation and implementation" ($\alpha = .87, M = 3.43, SD = 0.90$; e.g., "My manager translates the mission into specific goals"), "path-goal facilitation" ($\alpha = .86$, M = 3.39, SD = 0.86; e.g., "My manager facilitates my goal achievement"), and "outcome monitoring" ($\alpha = .90, M = 3.54, SD = 0.97$; e.g., "My manager provides me with constructive feedback about my mistakes"). Followers provided their ratings on a 5-point Likert scale ranging from 1 (*never*) to 5 (*always*).

4.2.3.2.3 Leadership Effectiveness. Follower ratings of their respective leader's leadership effectiveness ($\alpha = .84$, M = 3.52, SD = 0.87) were assessed using four items (e.g., "My manager is effective in meeting organizational requirements") from the Multifactor Leadership Questionnaire (MLQ; Bass & Avolio, 1995; adapted and translated into German by Felfe & Goihl, 2002). Followers provided their ratings on a 5-point Likert scale ranging from 1 (*never*) to 5 (*always*).

4.2.3.2.4 VUCA Environment. We asked followers to evaluate their respective organizational environment's level of VUCA ($\alpha = .73$, M = 3.67, SD = 1.03) using four self-formulated items (e.g., "The organizational environment is uncertain, i.e., there is a lack of knowledge about whether events—despite knowledge about cause and effect relationships—will cause significant changes in the organizational environment"; see the Codebook for all items at https://bit.ly/3EzKmou), one item for each VUCA dimension (i.e., volatility, uncertainty, complexity, and ambiguity). For item formulation, we drew on the most widespread VUCA framework (Bennet & Lemoine, 2014). Followers responded on a 6-point Likert scale ranging from 1 (completely disagree) to 6 (completely agree).

4.2.3.2.5 Control Variables. We measured control variables typically considered in leadership research (e.g., Antonakis & House, 2014; Liden & Antonakis, 2009). On the follower-level, we assessed age, gender, education, average number of days working remotely per week, average weekly working hours, organizational tenure in years, number of years working with the leader, and interaction frequency with the leader. On the leader-level, we assessed age, gender, hierarchical level, and control span (see the Codebook at https://bit.ly/3EzKmou for a detailed overview of all assessed control variables and response formats). Some participants aborted the online survey before providing their demographic information, leading to six missing values for each control variable except for follower gender (ten missing values) and leader gender (seven missing values).

4.2.3.3 Analytical Approach. To examine the associations between the eFRLM dimensions and perceived leadership effectiveness in remote work contexts (RQ 1.1), we ran hierarchical linear regression analyses (Cohen & Cohen, 1983). We sequentially entered the

control variables (Model D1) and the aggregated dimensions of transformational leadership (Model D2), transactional leadership (Model D3), and instrumental leadership (Model D4) as independent variables to predict perceived leadership effectiveness. To examine the associations between eFRLM factors and perceived leadership effectiveness (RQ 1.2), we ran analogous hierarchical linear regressions and sequentially entered the control variables (Model F1), transformational leadership factors (Model F2), transactional leadership factors (Model F3), and instrumental leadership factors (Model F4). Perceived leadership effectiveness and all predictor variables were *z*-scaled before running the hierarchical regression analyses, except for the dummy-coded variables follower and leader gender (0 = male, 1 = female).

Hierarchical regression analyses are suited to mitigate multicollinearity among independent variables (Cohen & Cohen, 1983), which has become a serious concern in leadership research (Bass, 1999). We checked for multicollinearity by computing variance inflation factors (VIF) and tolerance statistics (TOL) for the control variables and eFRLM dimensions and factors (Mansfield & Helms, 1982; see Appendix 4.2.A, Table 4.2.A1 and Table 4.2.A2). We found no signs for multicollinearity (VIF \leq 4 and TOL \geq .25; O'Brien, 2007).

To answer the question whether instrumental leadership explains incremental variance beyond the original FRLM at dimensional (RQ 2.1) and factor (RQ 2.2) levels when predicting perceived leadership effectiveness in remote work contexts, we tested the differences in variance explanation (R^2) between Model D3/F3 (including control variables and FRLM dimensions/factors) and Model D4/F4 (including control variables and eFRLM dimensions/factors), respectively, using *F*-tests. This way, we also tested for distorted estimates due to overstated FRLM dimensions and factors when omitting the instrumental leadership dimensions and factors (Antonakis & House, 2014; Rowold, 2014; Rowold et al., 2017).

To explore the moderating effect of VUCA environments on associations of eFRLM dimensions and factors with perceived leadership effectiveness (RQ 3.1, 3.2), we added a fifth model to the outlined hierarchical linear regressions. Model D5/F5 additionally includes the main effect of perceived VUCA environments on perceived leadership effectiveness and the respective interaction terms of each eFRLM leadership dimension/factor with perceived VUCA environments on perceived leadership effectiveness.

For all statistical analyses, we used R (version 4.1.0; R Core Team, 2021) and the RStudio interface (version 2022.2.1.461; RStudio Team, 2022). To test the interaction effects (RQ 3.1, 3.2), we used the R package *interactions* (Long, 2021). The data and statistical code are publicly available in an online supplement at https://bit.ly/3EzKmou.

4.2.4 Results

Table 4.2.1 provides descriptive statistics and zero-order correlations among all variables. Because previous studies questioned instrumental leadership's discriminant validity (see Bormann & Rowold, 2018; Chammas & Hernandez, 2019), we checked the construct redundancy of all eFRLM factors. Of the twelve factors inspected, no zero-order correlation was above Shaffer et al.'s (2016) cut-off value of .90, indicating no lack of discriminant validity.

Table 4.2.2 shows the results of the hierarchical linear regression analyses at the dimensional level. Regarding associations between eFRLM dimensions and perceived leadership effectiveness in remote work contexts (RQ 1.1), instrumental leadership ($\beta = 0.40$ [0.32, 0.49], p < .001) represented the strongest predictor of leadership effectiveness in the full Model D4 (including control variables and the dimensions of transformational, transactional, and instrumental leadership), followed by transformational ($\beta = 0.36$ [0.28, 0.43], p < .001), and transactional leadership ($\beta = 0.20$ [0.14, 0.25], p < .001).

Table 4.2.3 shows the results of the hierarchical linear regression analyses at the factor level. Regarding associations between eFRLM factors and perceived leadership effectiveness in remote work contexts (RQ 1.2), we found the transformational leadership factors "articulating a vision" ($\beta = 0.22$ [0.14, 0.30], p < .001), "providing an appropriate model" ($\beta = 0.14$ [0.07, 0.22], p < .001), "fostering the acceptance of group goals" ($\beta = 0.13$ [0.05, 0.20], p = .003), and "individualized support" ($\beta = 0.09$ [0.02, 0.16], p = .015); the transactional leadership factor "contingent reward" ($\beta = 0.10$ [0.03, 0.16], p = .003); and the instrumental leadership factors "environmental monitoring" ($\beta = 0.15$ [0.07, 0.22], p < .001), and "path-goal facilitation" ($\beta = 0.12$ [0.04, 0.19], p = .003) predicting leadership effectiveness in the full Model F4 (including control variables and all factors of transformational leadership, transactional leadership).

Table 4.2.1

	Variable	M	SD	1 2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15	16	17	18	19	20	21	22	23	24	25	26	27
	1. Age ^a	30.91	10.04	18	.19	.14	.32	.69	.54	.06	.35	07	.13	.09	12	14	09	09	.02	06	12	05	11	02	11	12	12	16	.13
	2. Gender ^a	.67	.47	-	06	.02	18	13	09	05	08	.11	.01	01	.07	.06	.01	.04	.07	.02	.08	04	.03	.06	.04	.01	.01	.04	04
	3. Education ^a	5.93	1.12		-	.14	.37	03	01	.01	.13	05	.15	.02	01	.00	.00	04	.03	.07	.05	.03	03	.00	07	02	.00	.03	.08
	4. Remote working time ^a	3.27	1.51			-	.16	.14	.10	09	.06	02	04	02	.03	.04	.05	.00	.04	01	.00	.02	.02	.03	.05	.00	01	.00	.07
	5. Weekly working time ^a	34.25	13.83				-	.20	.14	.13	.25	12	.07	.11	04	08	05	11	.15	12	.00	09	10	07	09	13	04	06	.20
	6. Corporate tenure ^a	4.99	6.79					-	.64	.05	.29	02	.05	.13	06	08	04	04	.02	02	04	03	03	.02	02	04	05	08	.05
	7. Duration of working with leader ^a	2.89	3.55						-	.09	.36	06	.11	.06	05	06	.00	04	06	03	05	03	01	.02	02	02	.00	06	.04
	8. Interaction frequency with leader ^a	4.26	1.36							-	.01	03	.01	06	.16	.11	.11	.17	.04	.10	.19	.18	.20	.21	.12	.13	.23	.21	.04
	9. Age ^b	6.58	1.93								-	12	.29	.10	14	12	10	16	04	07	10	08	13	13	15	13	06	07	.06
	10. Gender ^b	.38	.49									-	18	13	.00	03	01	.04	.00	.01	02	04	.02	01	.08	.00	.00	02	.01
	11. Hierarchical level ^b	3.25	1.13										-	.22	02	.03	07	06	.07	06	03	05	05	.00	06	08	03	01	.11
ω	12. Control span ^b	14.75	15.67											-	.07	.09	01	.08	.10	07	01	03	.00	.02	.04	02	04	.02	.01
20	13. Transformational leadership	3.26	0.60												-	.91	.81	.85	.38	.43	.81	.55	.81	.70	.72	.70	.68	.79	04
	14. Articulating a vision	3.26	0.85													-	.68	.73	.28	.38	.71	.51	.74	.68	.69	.64	.58	.74	04
	15. Providing an appropriate model	3.28	0.89														-	.74	.07	.62	.64	.60	.76	.65	.63	.69	.65	.76	11
	16. Fostering the acceptance of group goals	3.49	0.93															-	.10	.53	.60	.55	.76	.63	.64	.69	.66	.74	11
	17. High performance expectations	3.42	0.82																-	26	.18	04	.12	.14	.22	.01	.05	.09	.17
	18. Individualized support	3.61	0.95																	-	.45	.70	.58	.49	.38	.58	.56	.61	21
	19. Intellectual stimulation	3.12	0.91																		-	.49	.69	.57	.55	.62	.65	.67	06
	20. Transactional leadership/contingent reward	3.55	0.99																			-	.62	.51	.46	.58	.59	.65	16
	21. Instrumental leadership	3.55	0.74																				-	.83	.86	.89	.88	.81	15
	22. Environmental monitoring	3.83	0.66																					-	.69	.64	.63	.71	08
	23. Strategy formulation and implementation	3.43	0.90																						-	.67	.62	.64	15

Descriptive Statistics and Intercorrelations Between the Study Variables

Variable	М	SD	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15	16	17	18	19	20	21	22	23	24	25	26	27
24. Path-goal facilitation	3.39	0.86	<u>,</u>																							-	.76	.73	16
25. Outcome monitoring	3.54	0.97	7																								-	.73	13
26. Perceived leadership effectiveness	3.52	0.87	1																									-	13
27. VUCA	3.67	1.03	5																										-
M. (500 < 500 MIICA	1.4	11				. 1	1	1.1		•																			

Note. $520 \le n \le 529$. VUCA = volatile, uncertain, complex, and ambiguous environments.

^a Follower-related control variables.

^b Leader-related control variables. Results in bold are significant at the $p \le .05$ level.

Table 4.2.2

Results of the Hierarchical Linear Regression Analyses Predicting Perceived Leadership Effectiveness at the eFRLM Dimensional Level

		Model D1			Model D2			Model D3			Model D4			Model D5	
Variables	β	95% CI	р												
Constant	01	[17, .15]	.92	.04	[06, .14]	.40	01	[10, .09]	.92	01	[09, .08]	.89	01	[09, .08]	.85
Controls															
Age ^a	21	[34,08]	.001	08	[16, .00]	.047	10	[17,02]	.012	07	[14, .00]	.044	07	[14, .00]	.039
Gender ^a	.04	[15, .22]	.69	05	[16, .07]	.44	.01	[10, .11]	.89	.02	[08, .12]	.68	.02	[08, .12]	.65
Education ^a	.10	[.00, .19]	.050	.06	[.00, .12]	.048	.04	[02, .09]	.15	.04	[02, .09]	.17	.04	[01, .09]	.14
Remote working time ^a	.04	[05, .13]	.35	01	[06, .05]	.79	01	[06, .04]	.59	02	[06, .03]	.49	01	[06, .04]	.70
Weekly working time ^a	08	[18, .02]	.099	06	[13, .00]	.040	03	[08, .03]	.39	01	[06, .05]	.85	01	[06, .05]	.85
Corporate tenure ^a	.06	[07, .19]	.39	.01	[07, .09]	.83	.01	[07, .08]	.82	01	[08, .06]	.86	.00	[07, .07]	.93
Duration of working with leader ^a	.01	[10, .13]	.82	01	[08, .06]	.83	.00	[06, .07]	.95	02	[08, .04]	.50	03	[09, .03]	.35
Interaction frequency with leader ^a	.23	[.15, .32]	<.001	.10	[.04, .15]	.001	.06	[.01, .11]	.014	.05	[.00, .09]	.060	.04	[.00, .09]	.073
Age ^b	02	[12, .07]	.62	.07	[.01, .13]	.028	.06	[.01, .12]	.025	.07	[.02, .12]	.010	.07	[.02, .12]	.008
Gender ^b	07	[24, .11]	.46	04	[15, .07]	.47	01	[10, .11]	.89	04	[13, .06]	.46	02	[11, .08]	.69
Hierarchical level ^b	.00	[09, .09]	.99	01	[07, .05]	.56	.01	[05, .06]	.83	.01	[04, .06]	.71	.01	[03, .06]	.57
Control span ^b	.05	[04, .14]	.26	03	[09, .02]	.24	02	[07, .03]	.51	.00	[05, .04]	.86	.00	[05, .04]	.93
Transformational leadership				.78	[.73, .84]	<.001	.62	[.57, .68]	<.001	.36	[.28, .43]	<.001	.36	[.28, .43]	<.001
Transactional leadership							.29	[.23, .35]	<.001	.20	[.14, .25]	<.001	.19	[.13, .25]	<.001
Instrumental leadership										.40	[.32, .49]	<.001	.42	[.34, .50]	<.001
Interaction effects															
VUCA													.00	[05, .04]	.92
Transformational leadership x VUCA													08	[16, .00]	.044
Transactional leadership x VUCA													08	[14,02]	.010
Instrumental leadership x VUCA													.14	[.05, .22]	.002
R^2		.09			.65			.70			.75			.76	
ΔR^2					.56			.06			.05			.01	
Adj. R ²		.07			.64			.70			.74			.75	
AIC		1455.34			965.48			877.27			789.68			785.68	
BIC		1514.03			1028.31			944.22			860.74			873.11	

Note. n = 519. Regressions were computed using *z*-standardized data except for followers' and leaders' gender, which was dummy-coded (0/1 = male/female). VUCA = volatile, uncertain, complex, and ambiguous environments. ^a Follower-related control variables.

^bLeader-related control variables.

Results in bold are significant at the $p \le .05$ level.

Table 4.2.3

Results of the Hierarchical Linear Regression Analyses Predicting Perceived Leadership Effectiveness at the eFRLM Factor Level

		Model F1			Model F2			Model F3			Model	74		Model F5	5
Variables	β	95% CI	р	β	95% CI	р	β	95% CI	р	β	95% C	[p	β	95% CI	р
Constant	01	[17, .15]	.92	.01	[08, .10]	.83	01	[09, .08]	.86	01	[09, .0	7] .77	02	[10, .06]] .65
Controls															
Age ^a	21	[34,08]	.001	08	[15,01]	.021	09	[16,02]	.012	08	[14,0	1] .023	09	[15,02]	.008
Gender ^a	.04	[15, .22]	.69	.00	[10, .10]	.99	.02	[08, .12]	.71	.02	[07, .1	1] .68	.02	[07, .11]	.66
Education ^a	.10	[.00, .19]	.050	.02	[04, .07]	.53	.02	[03, .07]	.49	.02	[03, .0	6] .54	.02	[03, .06]] .52
Remote working time ^a	.04	[05, .13]	.35	01	[06, .04]	.71	01	[06, .03]	.58	01	[06, .0	3] .59	01	[05, .04]] .84
Weekly working time ^a	08	[18, .02]	.099	.01	[05, .06]	.80	.01	[04, .07]	.64	.02	[03, .0	7].47	.02	[03, .08]] .36
Corporate tenure ^a	.06	[07, .19]	.39	.01	[06, .08]	.82	.01	[06, .08]	.75	.00	[07, .0	7].99	.02	[05, .08]] .62
Duration of working with leader ^a	.01	[10, .13]	.82	02	[08, .05]	.60	01	[07, .05]	.68	03	[09, .0	3] .34	03	[09, .02]] .24
Interaction frequency with leader ^a	.23	[.15, .32]	<.001	.08	[.04, .13]	.001	.07	[.03, .12]	.003	.05	[.00, .0	9] .036	.04	[.00, .09]] .065
Age ^b	02	[12, .07]	.62	.06	[.01, .11]	.031	.06	[.01, .11]	.029	.06	[.01, .1	1] .014	.06	[.02, .11]	.009
Gender ^b	07	[24, .11]	.46	03	[13, .07]	.53	02	[12, .07]	.66	02	[10, .0	7] .75	.00	[09, .09]] .97
$\underset{\text{W}}{\longrightarrow}$ Hierarchical level ^b	.00	[09, .09]	.99	.02	[04, .06]	.56	.02	[03, .07]	.49	.01	[04, .0	6] .63	.01	[03, .06]] .54
$\widetilde{\omega}$ Control span ^b	.05	[04, .14]	.26	01	[06, .04]	.64	01	[06, .04]	.67	.00	[04, .0	4] .99	.00	[04, .04]	.99
Transformational leadership															
Articulating a vision				.30	[.22, .38]	<.001	.27	[.19, .36]	<.001	.22	[.14, .3	0] <.001	.21	[.13, .29]] <.001
Providing an appropriate model				.21	[.14, .29]	<.001	.20	[.13, .28]	<.001	.14	[.07, .2	2] <.001	.15	[.07, .23]] <.001
Fostering the acceptance of group goals				.20	[.12, .28]	<.001	.20	[.12, .27]	<.001	.13	[.05, .2	0] .003	.12	[.04, .19]] .003
High performance expectations				.01	[04, .06]	.68	.01	[05, .06]	.81	.01	[04, .0	6] .70	.02	[03, .07]] .48
Individualized support				.22	[.15, .28]	<.001	.15	[.07, .22]	<.001	.09	[.02, .1	6] .015	.09	[.02, .16]	.013 .
Intellectual stimulation				.09	[.02, .15]	.014	.08	[.02, .15]	.017	.02	[05, .0	9] .81	.02	[05, .09]] .53
Transactional leadership															
Contingent reward							.13	[.06, .20]	<.001	.10	[.03, .1	6] .003	.09	[.03, .16]	.016]
Instrumental leadership															
Environmental monitoring										.15	[.08, .2	2] <.001	.15	[.08, .22]] <.001
Strategy formulation and implementation										04	[11, .0	3] .26	04	[11, .03]] .30
Path-goal facilitation										.12	[.04, .1	9] .003	.13	[.05, .20]] .001
Outcome monitoring										.15	[.07, .2	2] <.001	.15	[.07, .22]] <.001
Interaction effects															
VUCA													.00	[05, .04]	.92
Articulating a vision x VUCA													01	[09, .07]] .75
Providing an appropriate model x VUCA													01	[09, .06] .74

		Model F1			Model F2			Model F3			Model F4			Model F5	
Variables	β	95% CI	р	β	95% CI	р									
Fostering the acceptance of group goals x													06	F 14 021	14
VUCA													00	[14, .02]	.14
High performance expectations x VUCA													02	[06, .03]	.51
Individualized support x VUCA													01	[08, .06]	.74
Intellectual stimulation x VUCA													02	[08, .05]	.66
Contingent reward x VUCA													09	[15,02]	.016
Environmental monitoring x VUCA													.04	[03, .10]	.24
Strategy formulation and implementation x													02	F 05 101	55
VUCA													.02	[03, .10]	.55
Path-goal facilitation x VUCA													.00	[08, .08]	.97
Outcome monitoring x VUCA													.11	[.04, .19]	.003
R^2		.09			.74			.75			.78			.79	
ΔR^2					.66			.01			.03			.01	
Adj. R ²		.07			.74			.74			.77			.78	
AIC		1455.34			807.97			795.59			735.54			741.49	
BIC		1514.03			891.32			883.02			839.20			892.97	

 $\frac{101100}{\text{Note. } n = 519. \text{ Regressions were computed using } z-\text{standardized data except for followers' and leaders' gender, which was dummy-coded (0/1 = male/female). VUCA = volatile, uncertain, complex, and ambiguous environments.$ ^a Follower-related control variables.

^bLeader-related control variables.

Results in bold are significant at the $p \leq .05$ level.

We found evidence for incremental variance explanation of instrumental leadership beyond the original FRLM when predicting perceived leadership effectiveness in remote work contexts (see Table 4.2.2 and Table 4.2.3). At the dimensional level (RQ 2.1), the increase in variance explanation between Model D3 (including control variables and FRLM dimensions) and Model D4 (including control variables and eFRLM dimensions) was significant ($\Delta R^2 = .05$, F(1, 503) = 95.03, p < .001). Also, the Akaike Information Criterion (AIC; Akaike, 1987) and the Bayesian Information Criterion (BIC; Raftery, 1995) suggested Model D4 to be the bestfitting model due to its lowest AIC (789.68) and BIC (860.74) values compared to Model D1, Model D2, and Model D3. At the factor level (RQ 2.1), we also found a significant increase in variance explanation between Model F3 and Model F4 after entering the instrumental leadership factors to the control variables and FRLM factors ($\Delta R^2 = .03$, F(4, 495) = 17.57, p < .001). Again, Model F4 was found to fit the data best regarding AIC (735.54) and BIC (839.20) values.

Concerning the small but significant gain of explained variance (ΔR^2) of 5% and 3% from Model D3/F3 to Model D4/F4, it should be noted that the 70% and 75% of variance explanation found for Model D3/F3 (including only FRLM dimensions and factors) are both likely to be optimistically biased due to omitted variable bias caused by the absence of instrumental leadership dimensions and factors. Moreover, the shrinkages of the β -coefficients of the transformational leadership dimension ($\Delta\beta_{Model D3-Model D4} = .26$) and the transactional leadership dimension ($\Delta\beta_{Model D3-Model D4} = .09$) between Model D3 and Model D4 indicate overstated FRLM dimensions when not considering the instrumental leadership dimension in Model D3. Similarly, the shrinkages of the β -coefficients of the FRLM factors "fostering the acceptance of group goals" ($\Delta\beta_{Model F3-Model F4} = .07$), "intellectual stimulation" ($\Delta\beta_{Model F3-Model}$ F4 = .06), "providing an appropriate model" ($\Delta\beta_{Model F3-Model F4} = .06$), "individualized support" ($\Delta\beta_{Model F3-Model F4} = .06$), "intellectual stimulation" ($\Delta\beta_{Model F3-Model F4} = .06$), "articulating a vision" ($\Delta\beta_{Model F3-Model F4} = .05$), and "contingent reward" ($\Delta\beta_{Model F3-Model F4} = .03$) between Model F3 and Model F4 yield further evidence for overstated FRLM factors due to the absence of instrumental leadership factors in Model F3.

The unique contribution of instrumental leadership when predicting perceived leadership effectiveness was supported in supplemental analyses determining relative variable importance (see Appendix 4.2.A, Table 4.2.A1 and Table 4.2.A2, and the detailed explanation in Appendix 4.2.B): Employing a variance decomposition method (Lindeman, Merenda, and Gold method, LMG; Lindeman et al., 1980) and a machine learning method (random forests; Breiman, 2001, 2002) confirmed our main findings that (a) instrumental leadership was the

strongest predictor of perceived leadership effectiveness and (b) including instrumental leadership in the predictive model results in a substantial decrease in the variance explained by transformational-transactional leadership.

Concerning the moderation effect of perceived VUCA environments on the association between the eFRLM and leadership effectiveness at dimensional (RQ 3.1) and factor levels (RQ 3.2), a positive interaction effect indicates that the corresponding eFRLM dimension/factor is more positively associated with leadership effectiveness in environments evaluated as more VUCA. A negative interaction effect indicates that the corresponding eFRLM dimension/factor is less positively associated with leadership effectiveness in more pronounced VUCA environments. At the dimensional level (see Model D5, Table 4.2.2), we found a significant positive interaction effect for instrumental leadership ($\beta = 0.14$ [0.05, 0.22], p = .002) and significant negative interaction effects for transformational ($\beta = -0.08$ [-0.16, 0.00], p = .044) and transactional ($\beta = -0.08$ [-0.14, -0.02], p = .010) leadership. At the factor level (see Model F5, Table 4.2.3), we found a significant positive interaction effect for the instrumental leadership factor "outcome monitoring" ($\beta = 0.11$ [0.04, 0.19], p = .003) and a significant negative interaction effect for the transactional leadership factor "contingent reward" ($\beta = -0.09$ [-0.15, -0.08], p = .016). Figure 4.2.2 depicts the significant interaction effects at dimensional (A-C) and factor levels (D-E).

To further explore whether the eFRLM dimensions and factors were also differentially manifested in less/more-pronounced VUCA environments, we divided the sample into followers perceiving their organizational environment as low VUCA versus high VUCA. We then computed two-sample *t*-tests comparing the manifestation of eFRLM dimensions and factors between these groups (see Table 4.2.4). Using the scale center (3.50) as cut-off value, the organizational environment was perceived as low VUCA by about half the sample (n = 267, 51%) and perceived as high VUCA by the other half (n = 252, 49%). In high VUCA environments, we found a significant lower manifestation of the dimensions of transactional leadership and instrumental leadership. On the factor level, all four instrumental leadership factors, four of six transformational leadership factors ("individualized support," "providing an appropriate model," "fostering the acceptance of group goals," and "high performance expectations"), and the transactional leadership factor ("contingent reward") were significantly less manifested in high VUCA environments. The transformational leadership factor "high performance expectations" was the only eFRLM factor that was more manifested in high VUCA environments.

Figure 4.2.2

Significant Interaction Effects of Follower-Perceived VUCA Environments on the Association of eFRLM Dimensions (A-C) and eFRLM Factors (D-E) With Perceived Leadership Effectiveness



Note. VUCA = volatile, uncertain, complex, and ambiguous environments. "High VUCA" ("Low VUCA") refers to values one standard deviation above (below) the sample mean of follower-perceived VUCA environments.

Table 4.2.4

Mean Value Differences of the Implementation of eFRLM Dimensions and eFRLM Factors in Low Versus High Follower-Perceived VUCA Environments

	Low V	VUCA	High V	VUCA				
eFRLM dimensions	М	SD	М	SD	Δ_M	t	df	р
Transactional leadership	3.68	0.96	3.41	1.02	-0.27	-3.13	517	.002
Instrumental leadership	3.66	0.70	3.43	0.74	-0.23	-3.63	517	<.001
Transformational leadership	3.28	0.55	3.22	0.64	-0.06	-1.12	496	.26
eFRLM factors								
Individualized support	3.77	0.89	3.44	0.99	-0.34	-4.07	517	<.001
Path-goal facilitation	3.52	0.83	3.24	0.87	-0.28	-3.80	517	<.001
Outcome monitoring	3.68	0.93	3.40	0.98	-0.28	-3.29	517	.001
Contingent reward	3.68	0.96	3.41	1.02	-0.27	-3.13	517	.002
Strategy formulation and implementation	3.55	0.88	3.30	0.88	-0.25	-3.20	517	.001
Providing an appropriate model	3.36	0.82	3.19	0.95	-0.16	-2.10	494	.037
Fostering the acceptance of group goals	3.57	0.91	3.40	0.94	-0.16	-2.03	517	.042

	Low V	VUCA	High `	VUCA				
eFRLM dimensions	М	SD	М	SD	Δ_M	t	df	p
Intellectual stimulation	3.18	0.90	3.04	0.92	-0.14	-1.79	517	.074
Environmental monitoring	3.88	0.64	3.77	0.67	-0.11	-1.96	517	.050
Articulating a vision	3.29	0.80	3.21	0.90	-0.09	-1.15	517	.25
High performance expectations	3.34	0.81	3.52	0.81	0.18	2.55	517	.011

Note. VUCA = volatile, uncertain, complex, and ambiguous environments. Δ_M = mean value difference of the implementation of eFRLM leadership dimensions and eFRLM factors in low- versus high-pronounced VUCA environments. The sample was divided into low (n = 267, 51%) versus high (n = 252, 49%) perceived VUCA environments using the scale center (3.50) of the variable VUCA environments as a cut-off value. eFRLM dimensions and eFRLM factors are sorted by Δ_M in ascending order. Δ_M and *t*-values in bold are significant at the p < .05 level.

4.2.5 Discussion

The goal of this study was to gain insight into effective leadership in virtual and crisisridden organizational settings from the perspective of followers. To this end, we surveyed 529 followers on their perceptions of the effectiveness of established (transformationaltransactional) and aspiring (instrumental) leadership dimensions and factors in remote work and VUCA environments. Our research makes several contributions to the leadership literature: We found at both dimensional (RQ 1.1) and factor levels (RQ 1.2) that instrumental leadership was perceived as strongly effective in remote work contexts, along with transformational leadership and then followed by transactional leadership. Our results also indicate that instrumental leadership explains unique variance beyond the original FRLM at both dimensional (RQ 2.1) and factor (RQ 2.2) levels. This suggests that omitted variable bias may occur when instrumental leadership is not taken into account when predicting leadership outcomes in remote work contexts. Second, our study is the first to show that associations of eFRLM dimensions (RQ 3.1) and factors (RQ 3.2) with perceived leadership effectiveness are moderated by follower-perceived VUCA environments: At the dimensional level, instrumental leadership was perceived as particularly effective in more-pronounced VUCA environments, whereas both transformational and transactional leadership were perceived as less effective. At the factor level, the instrumental leadership factor "outcome monitoring" was perceived as particularly effective in more pronounced VUCA environments, whereas the transactional leadership factor "contingent reward" was perceived as less effective in more VUCA-like environments.

4.2.5.1 Implications for Theory.

4.2.5.1.1 Associations of the eFRLM Dimensions and Factors With Perceived Leadership Effectiveness in Remote Work Contexts. The present study provides initial evidence for the perceived effectiveness of instrumental leadership, transformational leadership, and transactional leadership in the context of remote work. Whereas instrumental leadership had not been studied in virtual environments, our findings align with previous research that shows the effectiveness of transformational (Neufeld et al., 2010; Purvanova & Bono, 2009; Ramserran & Haddud, 2018) and transactional leadership (Dubinsky et al., 1995; Howell et al., 2005) in virtual environments. For instance, in line with prior studies (Kelloway et al., 2003; Shamir et al., 1994), we found charismatic factors (i.e., "articulating a vision" and "providing an appropriate model") of transformational leadership to be beneficial in remote contexts. However, some literature (Andressen et al., 2012; Eisenberg et al., 2019; Hoch & Kozlowski, 2014; Howell et al., 2005; Howell & Hall-Merenda, 1999) suggests that the effectiveness of transformational-transactional leadership vanishes with increasing leaderfollower distance, which seems to contradict our findings. This discrepancy, however, may be due to changes in remote work. Whereas previous research mainly focused on leader-follower physical distance as the defining component of remote work (e.g., leader and followers working in the same versus a different city; Howell et al., 2005), our study centered on leader-follower communication via ICTs (e.g., video conferencing, instant messaging). Due to steady advancements in ICTs, the physical proximity between leaders and followers may be quite accurately simulated by now, potentially mitigating neutralizing effects of physical distance on the effectiveness of transformational-transactional leadership.

A novel contribution of our research is that we found instrumental leadership to explain unique variance in perceived leadership effectiveness during remote work beyond transformational-transactional leadership. The predictive validity for perceived leadership effectiveness held whether we examined instrumental leadership (a) on the dimensional level where it represented the strongest predictor of leadership effectiveness—or (b) on the factor level, where three of its four factors predicted leadership effectiveness. We found that effective remote leaders displayed three key behaviors: monitoring the organization's environment ("environmental monitoring"), supporting followers by removing obstacles and allocating resources ("path-goal facilitation"), and providing performance-enhancing feedback ("outcome monitoring"). These findings generally align with previous studies that have emphasized the effectiveness of strategic and work-facilitating leadership during remote work (Bartsch et al., 2020; Krehl & Büttgen, 2022; Liao, 2017).

Finally, we found evidence for omitted variable bias when not considering instrumental leadership and its factors to predict perceived leadership effectiveness in remote work contexts. The predictive value of FRLM dimensions and factors substantially decreased and/or even lost significance after we added instrumental leadership and its factors to our predictive models. These findings align with previous research demonstrating instrumental leadership's unique

variance explanation beyond FRLM dimensions and factors (Antonakis & House, 2014; Rowold, 2014; Rowold et al., 2017) as well as distorted predictive estimates for FRLM dimensions and factors when not considering instrumental leadership (Antonakis & House, 2014; Bormann & Rowold, 2018; Rowold, 2014). In particular, our results on the relative variance importance determined via variance decomposition methods (LMG in Lindeman et al., 1980; see Appendix 4.2.A, Table 4.2.A1 and Table 4.2.A2, and the detailed explanation in Appendix 4.2.B) are consistent with the findings of the pioneering study on instrumental leadership by Antonakis and House (2014) conducted in stationary on-site work settings: Transformational leadership's variance explanation of perceived leadership effectiveness decreased from 43% to 28% after the instrumental leadership dimension was added in Antonakis and House (2014). Similarly, in the present study, transformational leadership's variance explanation decreased from 43% to 27% after adding the instrumental leadership dimension. In both Antonakis and House (2014) and the present study, instrumental leadership accounted for a similar proportion of the variance in perceived leadership effectiveness, 28% and 29 %, respectively. Therefore, the present study underscores the methodological and theoretical raison d'être of a "fuller" (Antonakis & House, 2014, p. 748) FRLM augmenting transformational-transactional leadership theory (Bass, 1985), namely instrumental leadership.

4.2.5.1.2 Moderating Role of Perceived VUCA Environments. The present study heeded calls (Antonakis & House, 2014; Hannah et al., 2009; Liden & Antonakis, 2009; Porter & McLaughlin, 2006; Wu et al., 2021) to examine the environmental boundary conditions that affect the association of leadership dimensions and factors with leadership effectiveness. In particular, VUCA environments have been moving into the spotlight of both academia (Baran & Woznyj, 2021; Bennett & Lemoine, 2014; Elkington, 2018; Giones et al., 2019; Schoemaker et al., 2018) and practice (Arkenberg, 2019; Huesmann & Khoroshylova, 2020; Kothari et al., 2021) and are likely to characterize future business environments (Luthans & Broad, 2022). The present study suggests that instrumental leadership particularly contributes to leadership effectiveness in more-pronounced VUCA environments, and this effect was mainly driven by the outcome-monitoring factor (i.e., leaders facilitate followers' work and goal achievement through corrective and performance-improving feedback). This finding aligns with preliminary research suggesting that strategic (Schoemaker et al., 2018) and especially directive/taskoriented leadership (Dynes, 1983; Kamphuis et al., 2011; Perrow, 1984) may be beneficial in volatile and crisis-ridden environments. However, in contrast to previous research stating that strategic (Boal & Schultz, 2007; Giones et al., 2019; Schaedler et al., 2022) and directive/taskoriented leadership (Stoker et al., 2019, 2022) should also be implemented more by leaders in

crisis-ridden and volatile environments, we found that instrumental leadership might actually be implemented less often in more-pronounced VUCA environments. Thus, according to the present findings, leaders seem to lack an intuitive understanding of what type of leadership is effective in times of volatility and crisis, revealing potentials for teaching effective leader behaviors in such challenging times.

In addition, we found that transformational and transactional leadership may be perceived as less effective in pronounced VUCA environments. Thereby, we found transactional leadership and also several transformational leadership factors to be less-often implemented in more VUCA-like environments, suggesting that leaders may in these regards have some intuitive understanding of less effective leadership in crisis-ridden contexts. Unsettled followers may demand less charismatic-visionary and quid pro quo leadership because an abstract vision and a simple prospect of reward may not provide sufficiently tangible guidance when the environment is complex and volatile. These findings align with previous research suggesting that transformational leadership is less effective and less implemented in extreme contexts (Geier, 2016). However, there are also findings emphasizing the effectiveness of both transformational (Bligh et al., 2004; Boehm et al., 2010; Sommer et al., 2016; Zhang et al., 2012) and transactional (Bass, 2008; Geier, 2016; Schriesheim & Murphy, 1976) leadership under extreme conditions. One possible explanation for these conflicting results may be that previous studies have not considered the full range of leadership behaviors, specifically instrumental leadership behaviors, which may have introduced omitted variable bias and overstated FRLM factors (Antonakis & House, 2014).

4.2.5.2 Limitations and Future Research. The present study has several limitations that provide opportunities for future research. First, the cross-sectional design of the present study is useful to identify covariates in the early stages of a nascent research field (Spector, 2019; Wang & Cheng, 2020), such as research on leadership effectiveness in remote work contexts and VUCA environments, but it does not allow for the inference of causal relations because it lacks temporal elements. Therefore, future research should apply longitudinal (e.g., daily/weekly diary studies; see Ohly et al., 2010) or (quasi-) experimental designs (e.g., laboratory/field training interventions manipulating leadership behaviors in a pre-post control group design; Avolio et al., 2009) to examine causal effects of eFRLM dimensions and factors on leadership effectiveness. Applying longitudinal designs would also help to understand how perceptions of leadership effectiveness may change over time. In particular, previous research has indicated that perceived effectiveness of leadership varies through the phases of extreme contexts, such as the preparation, response, and recovery phases (Hannah et al., 2009).

Second, our data consist solely of follower self-reports, which could have introduced common method bias (Podsakoff et al., 2012) and single-source bias, potentially causing inflated main effects of the eFRLM dimensions and factors on perceived leadership effectiveness. However, including additional controlling predictor variables in the hierarchical linear regression models should have mitigated common method bias (Siemsen et al., 2010). Despite this, common method bias cannot explain the interaction effects of follower-perceived VUCA environments on the association of eFRLM dimensions and factors with perceived leadership effectiveness. In the event of common method bias, effect sizes of interaction terms are rather underestimated and the power to identify significant interaction effects is reduced (Evans, 1985; McClelland & Judd, 1993).

Third, follower ratings of leadership effectiveness are prone to bias (Lord & Maher, 1993; Meindl et al., 1985) due to the influence of exogenous factors, such as followers' individual differences. However, follower ratings of leadership are considered more accurate than leader self-ratings and directly influence actual follower behavior (Hogan et al., 1994; Meindl, 1995; see also Podsakoff & Organ, 1986). In addition, follower ratings of leadership effectiveness converge with objective leadership effectiveness criteria (e.g., organizational unit performance; see Hogan et al., 1994). Nevertheless, future research should complement perceptual measures of leadership effectiveness with objective (e.g., financial performance) organizational measures (Hogan et al., 1994).

Fourth, we suggest the development of a psychometric test measuring the extent of an employee's perceived VUCA environment. A self-report questionnaire based on established techniques for scale construction (e.g., exploratory and confirmatory factor analysis; Worthington & Whittaker, 2006) may contribute to creating a uniform perceptual measurement of VUCA environments thus enhancing the comparability of future research. Our self-developed measure of perceived VUCA environments might be a fertile ground to do so because it draws on the most widespread VUCA framework (Bennett & Lemoine, 2014) and showed acceptable internal consistency ($\alpha = .73$).

Fifth, in light of our findings supporting the methodological and theoretical need of a "fuller" FRLM (Antonakis & House, 2014, p. 748), we recommend future research drawing on transformational-transactional leadership theory to control for instrumental leadership. Imitating Oc's (2018) call, we further encourage future research to explore additional contexts (e.g., change management processes) in which eFRLM dimensions and factors may be instrumental for leaders to effectively manage their followers.

4.2.5.3 Practical Implications. Leaders play a crucial role in guiding organizations and their people through uncharted and stormy waters. Instrumental leadership skills seem to be important in remote work and dynamic, crisis-ridden environments that will likely characterize future business landscapes (Luthans & Broad, 2022). However, the present findings suggest that instrumental leadership behaviors are less implemented in dynamic and crisis-ridden environments. To address this gap, companies should consider implementing training programs (Lacerenza et al., 2017) that educate organizational leaders on effective leadership, taking the specific leader-follower constellation (e.g., remote work) and organizational environment (e.g., VUCA) into account. In addition, it seems important to raise leaders' awareness of the context-dependent nature of effective leadership behaviors and to cultivate a feedback culture mirroring such behaviors, for example, by customizing 360-degree feedback instruments to constantly changing business settings (Kelloway et al., 2000; Rowold et al., 2017).

4.2.5.4 Conclusion. The COVID-19 pandemic has revealed a need for effective leadership of a geographically dispersed remote workforce in VUCA environments. The present research delved into this topic by examining the transferability of the FRLM and its more recent extension—instrumental leadership (eFRLM)—to remote and dynamic, crisis-ridden work contexts. Our findings suggest that instrumental leadership is a crucial factor impacting leadership effectiveness in remote work contexts, which may become even more important in pronounced VUCA environments. These results have practical implications for organizations seeking to effectively lead remote working employees in challenging times, and point to the potential value of training and development programs focused on educating organizational leadership appears to be a fertile ground for future research that seeks to illuminate effective leadership in nascent virtual and rapidly changing organizational contexts.

4.2.6 References

- Akaike, H. (1987). Factor analysis and AIC. *Psychometrika*, 52(3), 317–332. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02294359
- Allen, T. D., Golden, T. D., & Shockley, K. M. (2015). How effective is telecommuting? Assessing the status of our scientific findings. *Psychological Science in the Public Interest*, 16(2), 40–68. https://doi.org/10.1177/1529100615593273
- Allgood, M., Jensen, U. T., & Stritch, J. M. (2022). Work-family conflict and burnout amid COVID-19: Exploring the mitigating effects of instrumental leadership and social belonging. *Review of Public Personnel Administration*, 0(0). https://doi.org/10.1177/0734371X221101308
- Andressen, P., Konradt, U., & Neck, C. P. (2012). The relation between self-leadership and transformational leadership: Competing models and the moderating role of virtuality. *Journal of Leadership & Organizational Studies*, 19(1), 68–82. https://doi.org/10.1177/1548051811425047
- Antonakis, J., & Atwater, L. (2002). Leader distance: A review and a proposed theory. *The Leadership Quarterly*, *13*(6), 673–704. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1048-9843(02)00155-8
- Antonakis, J., Bastardoz, N., Liu, Y., & Schriesheim, C. A. (2014). What makes articles highly cited? *The Leadership Quarterly*, 25(1), 152–179. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2013.10.014
- Antonakis, J., & House, R. J. (2004, June). On instrumental leadership: Beyond transactions and transformations [Conference paper]. Gallup Leadership Institute Conference, Omaha, NE, USA.
- Antonakis, J., & House, R. J. (2013). The full-range leadership theory: The way forward. In B. J. Avolio & F. J. Yammarino (Eds.), *Transformational and charismatic leadership: The road ahead 10th anniversary edition* (pp. 3–33). Emerald Group. https://doi.org/10.1108/S1479-357120130000005006
- Antonakis, J., & House, R. J. (2014). Instrumental leadership: Measurement and extension of transformational-transactional leadership theory. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 25(4), 746–771. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2014.04.005
- Arkenberg, C. (2019, October 23). Leading in a VUCA world: How 21st-century leaders can find success amid volatility, uncertainty, complexity, and ambiguity (VUCA). Deloitte United States. https://www2.deloitte.com/us/en/pages/technology-media-andtelecommunications/articles/leading-in-a-vuca-world.html
- Athanasiadou, C., & Theriou, G. (2021). Telework: Systematic literature review and future research agenda. *Heliyon*, 7(10). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2021.e08165
- Avolio, B. J. (1999). *Full leadership development: Building the vital forces in organizations*. Thousand Oaks.
- Avolio, B. J., & Bass, B. M. (1988). Transformational leadership, charisma, and beyond. In J. G. Hunt, B. R. Baliga, H. P. Dachler, & C. A. Schriesheim (Eds.), *Emerging leadership vistas* (pp. 29–49). D. C. Heath and Company.
- Avolio, B. J., Bass, B. M., & Jung, D. I. (1995). *MLQ Multifactor leadership questionnaire: Technical Report.* Mind Garden.
- Avolio, B. J., Kahai, S., & Dodge, G. E. (2000). E-leadership: Implications for theory, research, and practice. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 11(4), 615–668. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1048-9843(00)00062-X
- Avolio, B. J., Reichard, R. J., Hannah, S. T., Walumbwa, F. O., & Chan, A. (2009). A metaanalytic review of leadership impact research: Experimental and quasi-experimental studies. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 20(5), 764–784. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2009.06.006

- Avolio, B. J., Sosik, J. J., Kahai, S. S., & Baker, B. (2014). E-leadership: Re-examining transformations in leadership source and transmission. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 25(1), 105–131. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2013.11.003
- Bailey, D. E., & Kurland, N. B. (2002). A review of telework research: Findings, new directions, and lessons for the study of modern work. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 23(4), 383–400. https://doi.org/10.1002/job.144

Baran, B. E., & Woznyj, H. M. (2021). Managing VUCA: The human dynamics of agility. Organizational Dynamics, 50(2), 100787. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.orgdyn.2020.100787

- Bartsch, S., Weber, E., Büttgen, M., & Huber, A. (2020). Leadership matters in crisis-induced digital transformation: How to lead service employees effectively during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Journal of Service Management*, 32(1), 71–85. https://doi.org/10.1108/JOSM-05-2020-0160
- Bass, B. M. (1985). Leadership and performance beyond expectations. Free Press.
- Bass, B. M. (1999). Two decades of research and development in transformational leadership. *European Journal of Work and Organizational Psychology*, 8(1), 9–32. https://doi.org/10.1080/135943299398410
- Bass, B. M. (2008). Bass' handbook of leadership: Theory, research and managerial implications. Free Press.
- Bass, B. M., & Avolio, B. J. (1993). Transformational leadership: A response to critiques. In M. M. Chemers & R. Ayman (Eds.), *Leadership theory and research: Perspectives* and directions (pp. 49–80). Academic Press.
- Bass, B. M., & Avolio, B. J. (1995). MLQ multifactor leadership questionnaire: Sampler set. *Mind Garden*.
- Benner, P. E. (1984). Stress and satisfaction on the job: Work meanings and coping of midcareer men. Praeger.
- Bennett, N., & Lemoine, G. J. (2014). What a difference a word makes: Understanding threats to performance in a VUCA world. *Business Horizons*, *57*(3), 311–317. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bushor.2014.01.001
- Bi, J. (2012). A review of statistical methods for determination of relative importance of correlated predictors and identification of drivers of consumer liking. *Journal of Sensory Studies*, 27(2), 87–101. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1745-459X.2012.00370.x
- Bligh, M. C., Kohles, J. C., & Meindl, J. R. (2004). Charisma under crisis: Presidential leadership, rhetoric, and media responses before and after the September 11th terrorist attacks. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 15(2), 211–239. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2004.02.005
- Boal, K. B., & Schultz, P. L. (2007). Storytelling, time, and evolution: The role of strategic leadership in complex adaptive systems. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 18(4), 411–428. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2007.04.008
- Boehm, A., Enoshm, G., & Michal, S. (2010). Expectations of grassroots community leadership in times of normality and crisis. *Journal of Contingencies and Crisis Management*, 18(4), 184–194. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-5973.2010.00617.x
- Bormann, K. C., & Rowold, J. (2018). Construct proliferation in leadership style research: Reviewing pro and contra arguments. *Organizational Psychology Review*, 8(2–3), 149–173. https://doi.org/10.1177/2041386618794821
- Breiman, L. (2001). Random forests. *Machine Learning*, 45(1), 5–32. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1010933404324
- Breiman, L. (2002). *Manual on setting up, using, and understanding random forest v3.1*. Statistics Department University of California Berkeley. http://oz.berkely.edu/users/breiman/Using_random_forest_v3.1.pdf

- Chammas, C. B., & Hernandez, J. M. da C. (2019). Comparing transformational and instrumental leadership: The influence of different leadership styles on individual employee and financial performance in Brazilian startups. *Innovation & Management Review*, 16(2), 143–160. https://doi.org/10.1108/INMR-08-2018-0064
- Cinelli, C., & Hazlett, C. (2020). Making sense of sensitivity: Extending omitted variable bias. *Journal of the Royal Statistical Society: Series B (Statistical Methodology)*, 82(1), 39–67. https://doi.org/10.1111/rssb.12348
- Cohen, J., & Cohen, P. (1983). *Applied multiple regression/correlational analysis for the behavioral sciences* (2nd ed.). Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Contreras, F., Baykal, E., & Abid, G. (2020). E-leadership and teleworking in times of COVID-19 and beyond: What we know and where do we go. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *11*, 590271. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2020.590271
- Dasborough, M. T., & Scandura, T. (2022). Leading through the crisis: "Hands off" or "hands-on"? *Journal of Leadership & Organizational Studies*, 29(2), 219–223. https://doi.org/10.1177/15480518211036472
- DeGroot, T., Kiker, D. S., & Cross, T. C. (2000). A meta-analysis to review organizational outcomes related to charismatic leadership. *Canadian Journal of Administrative Sciences*, *17*(4), 356–372. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1936-4490.2000.tb00234.x
- Delbecq, A., House, R. J., De Luque, M. S., & Quigley, N. R. (2013). Implicit motives, leadership, and follower outcomes: An empirical test of CEOs. *Journal of Leadership* & Organizational Studies, 20(1), 7–24. https://doi.org/10.1177/1548051812467207
- Dima, G., Meseşan Schmitz, L., & Şimon, M.-C. (2021). Job stress and burnout among social workers in the VUCA world of COVID-19 pandemic. *Sustainability*, *13*(13). https://doi.org/10.3390/su13137109
- Dubinsky, A. J., Yammarino, F. J., Jolson, M. A., & Spangler, W. D. (1995). Transformational leadership: An initial investigation in sales management. *Journal of Personal Selling & Sales Management*, 15(2), 17–31. https://doi.org/10.1080/08853134.1995.10754018
- Dumdum, U. R., Lowe, K. B., & Avolio, B. J. (2013). A meta-analysis of transformational and transactional leadership correlates of effectiveness and satisfaction: An update and extension. In B. J. Avolio & F. J. Yammarino (Eds.), *Transformational and Charismatic Leadership: The Road Ahead 10th Anniversary Edition* (Vol. 5, pp. 39– 70). Emerald Group. https://doi.org/10.1108/S1479-357120130000005008
- Dynes, R. R. (1983). Problems in emergency planning. *Energy*, 8(8), 653–660. https://doi.org/10.1016/0360-5442(83)90035-X
- Eisenberg, J., Post, C., & DiTomaso, N. (2019). Team dispersion and performance: The role of team communication and transformational leadership. *Small Group Research*, *50*(3), 348–380. https://doi.org/10.1177/1046496419827376
- Elkington, R. (2018). Leadership decision-making leveraging big data in vuca contexts. *Journal of Leadership Studies*, 12(3), 66–70. https://doi.org/10.1002/jls.21599
- Ensley, M. D., Pearce, C. L., & Hmieleski, K. M. (2006). The moderating effect of environmental dynamism on the relationship between entrepreneur leadership behavior and new venture performance. *Journal of Business Venturing*, 21(2), 243– 263. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusvent.2005.04.006
- Eurostat. (2022, June 21). Average number of usual weekly hours of work in main job, by sex, age, professional status, full-time/part-time and occupation [Data set]. https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/databrowser/view/LFSA_EWHUIS__custom_2972866/d efault/table?lang=en

- Evans, M. G. (1985). A Monte Carlo study of the effects of correlated method variance in moderated multiple regression analysis. *Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes*, 36(3), 305–323. https://doi.org/10.1016/0749-5978(85)90002-0
- Felfe, J., & Goihl, K. (2002). Deutscher Multifactor Leadership Questionnaire (MLQ) [German multifactor leadership questionnaire (MLQ)]. Zusammenstellung sozialwissenschaftlicher Items und Skalen (ZIS). https://doi.org/10.6102/ZIS22
- Gajendran, R. S., & Harrison, D. A. (2007). The good, the bad, and the unknown about telecommuting: Meta-analysis of psychological mediators and individual consequences. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 92(6), 1524–1541. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.92.6.1524
- Gardner, W. L., Lowe, K. B., Moss, T. W., Mahoney, K. T., & Cogliser, C. C. (2010). Scholarly leadership of the study of leadership: A review of The Leadership Quarterly's second decade, 2000–2009. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 21(6), 922–958. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2010.10.003
- Geier, M. T. (2016). Leadership in extreme contexts: Transformational leadership, performance beyond expectations? *Journal of Leadership & Organizational Studies*, 23(3), 234–247. https://doi.org/10.1177/1548051815627359
- Gerlach, F., Hundeling, M., & Rosing, K. (2020). Ambidextrous leadership and innovation performance: A longitudinal study. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, 41(3), 383–398. https://doi.org/10.1108/LODJ-07-2019-0321
- Giones, F., Brem, A., & Berger, A. (2019). Strategic decisions in turbulent times: Lessons from the energy industry. *Business Horizons*, 62(2), 215–225. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bushor.2018.11.003
- Hadar, L. L., Ergas, O., Alpert, B., & Ariav, T. (2020). Rethinking teacher education in a VUCA world: Student teachers' social-emotional competencies during the Covid-19 crisis. *European Journal of Teacher Education*, 43(4), 573–586. https://doi.org/10.1080/02619768.2020.1807513
- Hannah, S. T., Uhl-Bien, M., Avolio, B. J., & Cavarretta, F. L. (2009). A framework for examining leadership in extreme contexts. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 20(6), 897–919. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2009.09.006
- Härtel, T. M., Hüttemann, D., & Müller, J. (2023). Associations between the implementation of telework strategies and job performance: Moderating influences of boundary management preferences and telework experience. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 14, 1099138. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2023.1099138
- Heinitz, K., & Rowold, J. (2007). Gütekriterien einer deutschen Adaption des Transformational Leadership Inventory (TLI) von Podsakoff [Psychometric properties of a German adaptation of the Transformational Leadership Inventory (TLI) by Podsakoff]. Zeitschrift für Arbeits- und Organisationspsychologie A & O, 51(1), 1–15.
- Hertel, G., Geister, S., & Konradt, U. (2005). Managing virtual teams: A review of current empirical research. *Human Resource Management Review*, 15(1), 69–95. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hrmr.2005.01.002
- Hitt, M. A., Haynes, K. T., & Serpa, R. (2010). Strategic leadership for the 21st century. Business Horizons, 53(5), 437–444. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bushor.2010.05.004
- Hoch, J. E., & Kozlowski, S. W. J. (2014). Leading virtual teams: Hierarchical leadership, structural supports, and shared team leadership. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 99(3), 390–403. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0030264
- Hogan, R., Curphy, G. J., & Hogan, J. (1994). What we know about leadership: Effectiveness and personality. *American Psychologist*, 49(6), 493–504. https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.49.6.493

- Howell, J. M., & Hall-Merenda, K. E. (1999). The ties that bind: The impact of leadermember exchange, transformational and transactional leadership, and distance on predicting follower performance. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 84(5), 680–694. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.84.5.680
- Howell, J. M., Neufeld, D. J., & Avolio, B. J. (2005). Examining the relationship of leadership and physical distance with business unit performance. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 16(2), 273–285. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2005.01.004
- Huesmann, T., & Khoroshylova, A. (2020, October). *Optimism on uncertain grounds—PwC deals study—Part 1 of 3: Market environment & strategy process*. PwC Deals Leadership Team. https://www.pwc.de/en/deals/optimism-on-uncertain-grounds.html
- Hunt, J. G. (2004). Task leadership. In G. R. Goethals, G. J. Sorensen, & J. M. Burns (Eds.), *Encyclopedia of leadership* (pp. 1524–1529). Sage Publications.
- Judge, T. A., Bono, J. E., Ilies, R., & Gerhardt, M. W. (2002). Personality and leadership: A qualitative and quantitative review. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 87(4), 765–780. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.87.4.765
- Judge, T. A., & Piccolo, R. F. (2004). Transformational and transactional leadership: A metaanalytic test of their relative validity. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 89(5), 755–768. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.89.5.755
- Kamphuis, W., Gaillard, A. W. K., & Vogelaar, A. L. W. (2011). The effects of physical threat on team processes during complex task performance. *Small Group Research*, 42(6), 700–729. https://doi.org/10.1177/1046496411407522
- Kelley, E., & Kelloway, E. K. (2012). Context matters: Testing a model of remote leadership. Journal of Leadership & Organizational Studies, 19(4), 437–449. https://doi.org/10.1177/1548051812454173
- Kelloway, E. K., Barling, J., & Helleur, J. (2000). Enhancing transformational leadership: The roles of training and feedback. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, 21(3), 145–149. https://doi.org/10.1108/01437730010325022
- Kelloway, E. K., Barling, J., Kelley, E., Comtois, J., & Gatien, B. (2003). Remote transformational leadership. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, 24(3), 163–171. https://doi.org/10.1108/01437730310469589
- Klein, K. J., & House, R. J. (1995). On fire: Charismatic leadership and levels of analysis. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 6(2), 183–198. https://doi.org/10.1016/1048-9843(95)90034-9
- Kniffin, K. M., Narayanan, J., Anseel, F., Antonakis, J., Ashford, S. P., Bakker, A. B.,
 Bamberger, P., Bapuji, H., Bhave, D. P., Choi, V. K., Creary, S. J., Demerouti, E.,
 Flynn, F. J., Gelfand, M. J., Greer, L. L., Johns, G., Kesebir, S., Klein, P. G., Lee, S.
 Y., ... Vugt, M. van. (2021). COVID-19 and the workplace: Implications, issues, and
 insights for future research and action. *American Psychologist*, 76(1), 63–77.
 https://doi.org/10.1037/amp0000716
- Kothari, A., Lazaroff-Puck, K., & Zolley, Sasha. (2021, July 26). Everyone needs more of this one skill. McKinsey & Company Organizational Blog. https://www.mckinsey.com/business-functions/people-and-organizationalperformance/our-insights/the-organization-blog/everyone-needs-more-of-this-one-skill
- Kramer, M. W., Day, E. A., Nguyen, C., Hoelscher, C. S., & Cooper, O. D. (2019). Leadership in an interorganizational collaboration: A qualitative study of a statewide interagency taskforce. *Human Relations*, 72(2), 397–419. https://doi.org/10.1177/0018726718763886
- Krehl, E.-H., & Büttgen, M. (2022). Uncovering the complexities of remote leadership and the usage of digital tools during the COVID-19 pandemic: A qualitative diary study.

German Journal of Human Resource Management, *36*(3), 325–352. https://doi.org/10.1177/23970022221083697

Krüger, C., Rowold, J., Borgmann, L., Staufenbiel, K., & Heinitz, K. (2011). The discriminant validity of transformational and transactional leadership: A multitraitmultimethod analysis of and norms for the German Transformational Leadership Inventory (TLI). *Journal of Personnel Psychology*, 10(2), 49–60. https://doi.org/10.1027/1866-5888/a000032

Lacerenza, C. N., Reyes, D. L., Marlow, S. L., Joseph, D. L., & Salas, E. (2017). Leadership training design, delivery, and implementation: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *102*(12), 1686–1718. https://doi.org/10.1037/apl0000241

- Liao, C. (2017). Leadership in virtual teams: A multilevel perspective. *Human Resource Management Review*, 27(4), 648–659. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hrmr.2016.12.010
- Liden, R. C., & Antonakis, J. (2009). Considering context in psychological leadership research. *Human Relations*, 62(11), 1587–1605. https://doi.org/10.1177/0018726709346374
- Lindeman, R. H., Merenda, P. F., & Gold, R. Z. (1980). *Introduction to bivariate and multivariate analysis*. Scott Foresman.
- Long, J. A. (2021, July 2). *Interactions: Comprehensive, user-friendly toolkit for probing interactions*. https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=interactions
- Lord, R. G., & Maher, K. J. (1993). *Leadership and information processing: Linking perceptions and performance*. Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203423950
- Lowe, K. B., & Gardner, W. L. (2000). Ten years of the leadership quarterly: Contributions and challenges for the future. *The Leadership Quarterly*, *11*(4), 459–514. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1048-9843(00)00059-X
- Lowe, K. B., Kroeck, K. G., & Sivasubramaniam, N. (1996). Effectiveness correlates of transformational and transactional leadership: A meta-analytic review of the mlq literature. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 7(3), 385–425. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1048-9843(96)90027-2
- Luthans, F., & Broad, J. D. (2022). Positive psychological capital to help combat the mental health fallout from the pandemic and VUCA environment. *Organizational Dynamics*, *51*(2), 100817. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.orgdyn.2020.100817
- Mansfield, E. R., & Helms, B. P. (1982). Detecting multicollinearity. *The American* Statistician, 36(3a), 158–160. https://doi.org/10.1080/00031305.1982.10482818
- McClelland, G. H., & Judd, C. M. (1993). Statistical difficulties of detecting interactions and moderator effects. *Psychological Bulletin*, *114*(2), 376–390. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.114.2.376
- Meindl, J. R. (1995). The romance of leadership as a follower-centric theory: A social constructionist approach. *The Leadership Quarterly*, *6*(3), 329–341. https://doi.org/10.1016/1048-9843(95)90012-8

Meindl, J. R., Ehrlich, S. B., & Dukerich, J. M. (1985). The romance of leadership. Administrative Science Quarterly, 30(1), 78–102. https://doi.org/10.2307/2392813

- Mihalache, M., & Mihalache, O. R. (2022). How workplace support for the COVID-19 pandemic and personality traits affect changes in employees' affective commitment to the organization and job-related well-being. *Human Resource Management*, 61(3), 295–314. https://doi.org/10.1002/hrm.22082
- Millar, C. C. J. M., Groth, O., & Mahon, J. F. (2018). Management innovation in a VUCA world: Challenges and recommendations. *California Management Review*, 61(1), 5– 14. https://doi.org/10.1177/0008125618805111

- Mulder, M., De Jong, R. D., Koppelaar, L., & Verhage, J. (1986). Power, situation, and leaders' effectiveness: An organizational field study. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 71(4), 566–570. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.71.4.566
- Mulder, M., Ritsema Van Eck, J. R., & De Jong, R. D. (1971). An Organization in crisis and non-crisis situations. *Human Relations*, 24(1), 19–41. https://doi.org/10.1177/001872677102400102
- Mulder, M., & Stemerding, A. (1963). Threat, attraction to group, and need for strong leadership: A laboratory experiment in a natural setting. *Human Relations*, 16(4), 317–334. https://doi.org/10.1177/001872676301600402
- Murphy, K. R., & Cleveland, J. N. (1991). *Performance appraisal: An organizational perspective*. Allyn & Bacon.
- Neufeld, D. J., Wan, Z., & Fang, Y. (2010). Remote leadership, communication effectiveness and leader performance. *Group Decision and Negotiation*, *19*(3), 227–246. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10726-008-9142-x
- O'Brien, R. M. (2007). A caution regarding rules of thumb for variance inflation factors. *Quality & Quantity*, 41(5), 673–690. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11135-006-9018-6
- Oc, B. (2018). Contextual leadership: A systematic review of how contextual factors shape leadership and its outcomes. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 29(1), 218–235. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2017.12.004
- Ohly, S., Sonnentag, S., Niessen, C., & Zapf, D. (2010). Diary studies in organizational research: A practical examination and some recommendations. *Journal of Personnel Psychology*, 9(2), 78–93. https://doi.org/10.1027/1866-5888/a000009
- Osborn, R. N., Hunt, J. G., & Jauch, L. R. (2002). Toward a contextual theory of leadership. *The Leadership Quarterly*, *13*(6), 797–837. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1048-9843(02)00154-6
- Perrow, C. (1984). Normal accidents: Living with high-risk technologies. Basic Books.
- Podsakoff, P. M., MacKenzie, S. B., & Bommer, W. H. (1996a). Meta-analysis of the relationships between Kerr and Jermier's substitutes for leadership and employee job attitudes, role perceptions, and performance. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 81(4), 380–399. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.81.4.380
- Podsakoff, P. M., MacKenzie, S. B., & Bommer, W. H. (1996b). Transformational leader behaviors and substitutes for leadership as determinants of employee satisfaction, commitment, trust, and organizational citizenship behaviors. *Journal of Management*, 22(2), 259–298. https://doi.org/10.1177/014920639602200204
- Podsakoff, P. M., MacKenzie, S. B., Moorman, R. H., & Fetter, R. (1990). Transformational leader behaviors and their effects on followers' trust in leader, satisfaction, and organizational citizenship behaviors. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 1(2), 107–142. https://doi.org/10.1016/1048-9843(90)90009-7
- Podsakoff, P. M., MacKenzie, S. B., & Podsakoff, N. P. (2012). Sources of method bias in social science research and recommendations on how to control it. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 63(1), 539–569.
- Podsakoff, P. M., & Organ, D. W. (1986). Self-reports in organizational research: Problems and prospects. *Journal of Management*, *12*(4), 531–544. https://doi.org/10.1177/014920638601200408
- Poethke, U., Klasmeier, K. N., & Diebig, M. (2022). Exploring systematic and unsystematic change of dynamic leader behaviours: A weekly diary study on the relation between instrumental leadership, stress, and health change. *European Journal of Work and Organizational Psychology*, 31(4), 537–549. https://doi.org/10.1080/1359432X.2021.2012458

- Porter, L. W., & McLaughlin, G. B. (2006). Leadership and the organizational context: Like the weather? *The Leadership Quarterly*, 17(6), 559–576. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2006.10.002
- Prasad, B., & Junni, P. (2016). CEO transformational and transactional leadership and organizational innovation: The moderating role of environmental dynamism. *Management Decision*, 54(7), 1542–1568. https://doi.org/10.1108/MD-11-2014-0651
- Purvanova, R. K., & Bono, J. E. (2009). Transformational leadership in context: Face-to-face and virtual teams. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 20(3), 343–357. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2009.03.004
- R Core Team. (2021). *R: A language and environment for statistical computing*. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. http://www.R-project.org/
- Raftery, A. E. (1995). Bayesian model selection in social research. *Sociological Methodology*, 25, 111–163. https://doi.org/10.2307/271063
- Ramserran, S., & Haddud, A. (2018). Managing online teams: Challenges and best practices. *International Journal of Business Performance Management*, 19(2), 131–157. https://doi.org/10.1504/IJBPM.2018.10010262
- Rowold, J. (2014). Instrumental leadership: Extending the transformational-transactional leadership paradigm. *German Journal of Human Resource Management*, 28(3), 367–390. https://doi.org/10.1177/239700221402800304
- Rowold, J., Diebig, M., & Heinitz, K. (2017). The effects of transformational and instrumental leadership on followers' levels of cortisol. *German Journal of Human Resource Management*, 31(3), 219–237. https://doi.org/10.1177/2397002216689240
- RStudio Team. (2022). *RStudio: Integrated development environment for R*. RStudio, PBC, Boston, MA. http://www.rstudio.com/
- Rudolph, C. W., Allan, B., Clark, M., Hertel, G., Hirschi, A., Kunze, F., Shockley, K., Shoss, M., Sonnentag, S., & Zacher, H. (2021). Pandemics: Implications for research and practice in industrial and organizational psychology. *Industrial and Organizational Psychology*, 14(1–2), 1–35. https://doi.org/10.1017/iop.2020.48
- Schaedler, L., Graf-Vlachy, L., & König, A. (2022). Strategic leadership in organizational crises: A review and research agenda. *Long Range Planning*, 55(2), 102156. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lrp.2021.102156
- Schoemaker, P. J. H., Heaton, S., & Teece, D. (2018). Innovation, dynamic capabilities, and leadership. *California Management Review*, 61(1), 15–42. https://doi.org/10.1177/0008125618790246
- Schriesheim, C. A., & Murphy, C. J. (1976). Relationships between leader behavior and subordinate satisfaction and performance: A test of some situational moderators. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 61(5), 634–641. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.61.5.634
- Schulze, C., Welker, A., Kühn, A., Schwertz, R., Otto, B., Moraldo, L., Dentz, U., Arends, A., Welk, E., Wendorff, J.-J., Koller, H., Kuss, D., & Ries, M. (2021). Public health leadership in a VUCA world environment: Lessons learned during the regional emergency rollout of SARS-CoV-2 vaccinations in Heidelberg, Germany, during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Vaccines*, 9(8), 887. https://doi.org/10.3390/vaccines9080887
- Shaffer, J. A., DeGeest, D., & Li, A. (2016). Tackling the problem of construct proliferation: A guide to assessing the discriminant validity of conceptually related constructs. *Organizational Research Methods*, 19(1), 80–110. https://doi.org/10.1177/1094428115598239
- Shamir, B., Arthur, M. B., & House, R. J. (1994). The rhetoric of charismatic leadership: A theoretical extension, a case study, and implications for research. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 5(1), 25–42. https://doi.org/10.1016/1048-9843(94)90004-3

- Siemsen, E., Roth, A., & Oliveira, P. (2010). Common method bias in regression models with linear, quadratic, and interaction effects. *Organizational Research Methods*, 13(3), 456–476. https://doi.org/10.1177/1094428109351241
- Sommer, S. A., Howell, J. M., & Hadley, C. N. (2016). Keeping positive and building strength: The role of affect and team leadership in developing resilience during an organizational crisis. *Group & Organization Management*, *41*(2), 172–202. https://doi.org/10.1177/1059601115578027
- Spector, P. E. (2019). Do not cross me: Optimizing the use of cross-sectional designs. *Journal* of Business and Psychology, 34(2), 125–137. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10869-018-09613-8
- Staw, B. M., Sandelands, L. E., & Dutton, J. E. (1981). Threat rigidity effects in organizational behavior: A multilevel analysis. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 26(4), 501–524. https://doi.org/10.2307/2392337
- Stogdill, R. M. (1950). Leadership, membership and organization. *Psychological Bulletin*, 47(1), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0053857
- Stoker, J. I., Garretsen, H., & Lammers, J. (2022). Leading and working from home in times of COVID-19: On the perceived changes in leadership behaviors. *Journal of Leadership & Organizational Studies*, 29(2), 208–218. https://doi.org/10.1177/15480518211007452
- Stoker, J. I., Garretsen, H., & Soudis, D. (2019). Tightening the leash after a threat: A multilevel event study on leadership behavior following the financial crisis. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 30(2), 199–214. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2018.08.004
- Sum, N. (2022). School leaders' perceptions of their roles during the pandemic: An Australian case study exploring volatility, uncertainty, complexity and ambiguity (VUCA leadership). School Leadership & Management, 42(2), 188–207. https://doi.org/10.1080/13632434.2022.2045268
- Tavares, G. M., Sobral, F., & Wright, B. E. (2021). Commitment to public values, charismatic leadership attributions, and employee turnover in street-level bureaucracies. *Journal of Public Administration Research and Theory*, 31(3), 542–560. https://doi.org/10.1093/jopart/muaa057
- Van Wart, M., Roman, A., Wang, X., & Liu, C. (2019). Operationalizing the definition of eleadership: Identifying the elements of e-leadership. *International Review of Administrative Sciences*, 85(1), 80–97. https://doi.org/10.1177/0020852316681446
- Waldman, D. A., Ramirez, G. G., House, R. J., & Puranam, P. (2001). Does leadership matter? CEO leadership attributes and profitability under conditions of perceived environmental uncertainty. *Academy of Management Journal*, 44(1), 134–143. https://doi.org/10.5465/3069341
- Wang, X., & Cheng, Z. (2020). Cross-sectional studies: Strengths, weaknesses, and recommendations. *Chest*, 158(1, Supplement), S65–S71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chest.2020.03.012
- Worley, C. G., & Jules, C. (2020). COVID-19's uncomfortable revelations about agile and sustainable organizations in a VUCA world. *The Journal of Applied Behavioral Science*, 56(3), 279–283. https://doi.org/10.1177/0021886320936263
- Worthington, R. L., & Whittaker, T. A. (2006). Scale development research: A content analysis and recommendations for best practices. *The Counseling Psychologist*, 34(6), 806–838. https://doi.org/10.1177/0011000006288127
- Wu, Y. L., Shao, B., Newman, A., & Schwarz, G. (2021). Crisis leadership: A review and future research agenda. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 32(6). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2021.101518

- Yammarino, F. J., Spangler, W. D., & Dubinsky, A. J. (1998). Transformational and contingent reward leadership: Individual, dyad, and group levels of analysis. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 9(1), 27–54. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1048-9843(98)90041-8
- Yukl, G. (1999). An evaluation of conceptual weaknesses in transformational and charismatic leadership theories. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 10(2), 285–305. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1048-9843(99)00013-2
- Yukl, G. (2008). How leaders influence organizational effectiveness. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 19(6), 708–722. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2008.09.008
- Zhang, Z., Jia, M., & Gu, L. (2012). Transformational leadership in crisis situations: Evidence from the People's Republic of China. *The International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 23(19), 4085–4109. https://doi.org/10.1080/09585192.2011.639027

Appendix 4.2.A

Table 4.2.A1

Supplementary Results of the Hierarchical Linear Regression Analyses Predicting Perceived Leadership Effectiveness at the eFLRM

Dimensional Level

		Mod	el D1			Mod	el D2			Mod	el D3			Mod	el D4	
Variable	VIF	TOL	LMG	RF	VIF	TOL	LMG	RF	VIF	TOL	LMG	RF	VIF	TOL	LMG	RF
Controls																
Age ^a	2.36	.42	.02	50.85	2.43	.41	.01	23.30	2.43	.41	.01	18.82	2.49	.40	.01	4.66
Gender ^a	1.07	.93	.00	7.85	1.09	.92	.00	3.30	1.10	.91	.00	2.85	1.11	.90	.00	0.70
Education ^a	1.27	.79	.00	22.61	1.31	.76	.00	14.54	1.32	.76	.00	10.72	1.32	.76	.00	1.98
Remote working time ^a	1.07	.93	.00	24.60	1.08	.93	.00	3.60	1.08	.93	.00	2.54	1.08	.93	.00	2.96
Weekly working time ^a	1.37	.73	.00	48.34	1.45	.69	.00	9.91	1.46	.69	.00	7.19	1.47	.68	.00	4.74
Corporate tenure ^a	2.49	.40	.00	32.12	2.53	.40	.00	14.88	2.53	.40	.00	10.93	2.55	.39	.00	3.56
Duration of working with leader ^a	1.85	.54	.00	8.99	1.88	.53	.00	22.13	1.88	.53	.00	15.50	1.89	.53	.00	2.96
Interaction frequency with leader ^a	1.06	.95	.05	24.96	1.11	.90	.01	10.87	1.13	.88	.01	8.19	1.17	.86	.01	3.53
بر Age ^b	1.32	.76	.00	30.52	1.34	.75	.00	10.61	1.34	.75	.00	7.68	1.36	.74	.00	4.01
Gender ^b	1.07	.94	.00	9.23	1.08	.93	.00	11.78	1.08	.93	.00	9.31	1.10	.91	.00	0.76
Hierarchical level ^b	1.20	.83	.00	22.16	1.22	.82	.00	18.80	1.23	.82	.00	14.64	1.23	.81	.00	2.77
Control span ^b	1.10	.91	.00	42.28	1.14	.88	.00	18.90	1.14	.88	.00	15.14	1.15	.87	.00	4.73
Transformational leadership					1.08	.93	.59	211.47	1.53	.66	.43	166.21	3.02	.33	.27	122.26
Transactional leadership									1.51	.66	.23	86.52	1.70	.59	.16	51.40
Instrumental leadership													3.37	.30	.29	130.23

Note. n = 519. Regressions were computed using *z*-standardized data except for followers' and leaders' gender, which was dummy-coded (0/1 = male/female). VIF = variance inflation factor; TOL = tolerance statistics; LMG = explained variance by a predictor variable based on the Lindeman, Merenda, and Gold method (Lindeman et al., 1980) for variance decomposition; RF = increase in node purity, which is calculated for each tree and then averaged over all trees, based on the random forest algorithm proposed by Breiman (2001, 2002) with the *ntree* parameter set at the default (500 trees).

^a Follower-related control variables.

^b Leader-related control variables.

Table 4.2.A2

Supplementary Results of the Hierarchical Linear Regression Analyses Predicting Perceived Leadership Effectiveness at the eFLRM Factor Level

		Mod	lel F1			Mod	el F2			Mod	lel F3			Mod	el F4	
Variables	VIF	TOL	LMG	RF	VIF	TOL	LMG	RF	VIF	TOL	LMG	RF	VIF	TOL	LMG	RF
Controls																
Age ^a	2.36	.42	.02	50.85	2.43	.41	.01	9.07	2.43	.41	.01	7.90	2.49	.40	.01	4.66
Gender ^a	1.07	.93	.00	7.85	1.09	.92	.00	1.12	1.10	.91	.00	1.07	1.11	.90	.00	0.70
Education ^a	1.27	.79	.00	22.61	1.31	.76	.00	3.27	1.32	.76	.00	5.62	1.32	.76	.00	1.98
Remote working time ^a	1.07	.93	.00	24.60	1.09	.92	.00	5.04	1.09	.92	.00	1.17	1.10	.91	.00	2.96
Weekly working time ^a	1.37	.73	.00	48.34	1.45	.69	.00	8.43	1.46	.69	.00	3.14	1.47	.68	.00	4.74
Corporate tenure ^a	2.49	.40	.00	32.12	2.53	.40	.00	5.94	2.53	.40	.00	5.42	2.55	.39	.00	3.56
Duration of working with leader ^a	1.85	.54	.00	8.99	1.88	.53	.00	5.40	1.88	.53	.00	4.45	1.89	.53	.00	2.96
Interaction frequency with leader ^a	1.06	.95	.05	24.96	1.11	.90	.01	7.44	1.13	.88	.01	6.31	1.17	.86	.01	3.53
Age ^b	1.32	.76	.00	30.52	1.34	.75	.00	6.56	1.34	.75	.00	5.62	1.36	.74	.00	4.01
Gender ^b	1.07	.94	.00	9.23	1.08	.93	.00	1.49	1.08	.93	.00	1.17	1.10	.91	.00	0.76
Hierarchical level ^b	1.20	.83	.00	22.16	1.22	.82	.00	4.75	1.23	.82	.00	4.20	1.23	.81	.00	2.77
Control span ^b	1.10	.91	.00	42.28	1.14	.88	.00	8.19	1.14	.88	.00	7.09	1.15	.87	.00	4.73
Transformational leadership																
Articulating a vision					3.28	.31	.17	77.13	3.37	.30	.15	76.65	3.94	.25	.10	62.33
Providing an appropriate role model					3.19	.31	.16	82.77	3.21	.31	.15	75.57	3.38	.30	.09	59.75
Fostering the acceptance of group goals					3.00	.33	.16	74.54	3.00	.33	.14	67.20	3.26	.31	.09	49.77
High performance expectations					1.40	.72	.01	7.70	1.40	.71	.01	7.12	1.44	.70	.00	4.60
Individualized support					2.12	.47	.11	38.75	2.83	.35	.09	28.76	2.95	.34	.06	14.66
Intellectual stimulation					2.36	.42	.11	35.97	2.36	.42	.10	32.90	2.61	.38	.06	32.90
Transactional leadership																
Contingent reward									2.35	.43	.10	35.94	2.41	.41	.06	17.92
Instrumental leadership																
Environmental monitoring													2.73	.37	.08	27.37
Strategy formulation and implementation													2.78	.36	.05	10.14
Path-goal facilitation													3.31	.30	.08	41.33
Outcome monitoring													3.21	.31	.09	43.09

Note. n = 519. Regressions were computed using *z*-standardized data except for followers' and leaders' gender, which was dummy-coded (0/1 = male/female). VIF = variance inflation factor; TOL = tolerance statistics; LMG = explained variance by a predictor variable based on the Lindeman, Merenda, and Gold method (Lindeman et al., 1980) for variance decomposition; RF = increase in node purity, which is calculated for each tree and then averaged over all trees, based on the random forest algorithm proposed by Breiman (2001, 2002) with the *ntree* parameter set at the default (500 trees).

^a Follower-related control variables.

^b Leader-related control variables.

Appendix 4.2.B

Previous research found instrumental leadership to explain unique variance in leadership outcomes beyond FRLM dimensions and factors (Antonakis & House, 2014; Rowold, 2014; Rowold et al., 2017). In addition, omitting instrumental leadership factors in predictive models has previously been shown to distort the FRLM's dimension and factor estimates (Antonakis & House, 2014; Bormann & Rowold, 2018; Rowold, 2014). Given that the eFRLM dimensions and factors are not orthogonal (i.e., they are intercorrelated), the change in R^2 observed in our main hierarchical regression analyses between Model D3/F3 (including control variables and FRLM dimensions/factors) and Model D4/F4 (including control variables and eFRLM dimensions/factors) does not indicate the total actual incremental variance explained by instrumental leadership (see Antonakis & House, 2014). To further investigate the relative importance of the instrumental leadership dimensions and factors when predicting leadership effectiveness, we employed two methods for assessing the eFRLM's relative variable importance (Grömping, 2009): (a) the Lindeman, Merenda, and Gold method (LMG; Lindeman et al., 1980) for variance decomposition in multiple linear regression analyses, using the R package relaimpo (Grömping, 2007), and (b) the random forest (RF) machine learning algorithm for variable importance (Breiman, 2001, 2002), using the R package randomForest (Liaw & Wiener, 2002). Both methods are appropriate for handling intercorrelated predictors and have been applied in previous research (Bi, 2012; Grömping, 2009). The supplemental findings support our main findings, that is, (a) instrumental leadership contributes unique variance when predicting perceived leadership effectiveness beyond the FRLM and control variables and (b) there may be omitted variable bias and overstated estimates when not considering instrumental leadership in FRLM predictive models.

The LMG method (Lindeman et al., 1980) decomposes the variance explained (R^2) by a predictor variable considering both its direct effect and its effect in combination with other variables in the model (Johnson & Lebreton, 2004). This method estimates semi-partial coefficients (Kruskal, 1987; Liu et al., 2021) and is particularly recommended for decomposing R^2 (Grömping, 2007). When applied at the dimensional level (see Table 4.2.A1), the LMG method showed that the contribution of transformational leadership to the variance explained in perceived leadership effectiveness decreased from 43% (Model D3) to 27% (Model D4) after adding instrumental leadership. In comparison, instrumental leadership accounted for 29% of the actual variance explanation in Model D4, explaining more variance than transformational leadership. Our findings are consistent with the pioneering study on instrumental leadership by Antonakis and House (2014) conducted in stationary on-site work settings: Transformational leadership's variance explanation of perceived leadership effectiveness decreased from 43% to 28% after the instrumental leadership dimension was added in Antonakis and House (2014). In the present study, transformational leadership's variance explanation decreased from 43% to 27%. In both Antonakis and House (2014) and the present study, instrumental leadership accounted for a similar proportion of the variance in perceived leadership effectiveness, 28% and 29%, respectively. Similarly, at the factor level (see Table 4.2.A2), the variance explanation of transformational leadership decreased substantially, with each of its corresponding six factors losing an average of 4% in R^2 after instrumental leadership factors were entered into Model F4. On average, instrumental leadership factors each contributed 7.47% to the actual variance explained in the prediction of leadership effectiveness, whereas the average contribution of transformational leadership factors was 6.63%.

The RF algorithm (Breiman, 2001, 2002) calculates the relative variance importance of predictor variables based on their contribution to the homogeneity of nodes and leaves in the modeled random forest. The importance of each predictor variable is measured by their increase in node purity (IncNodePurity), which is calculated for each tree and then averaged over all trees (Liaw & Wiener, 2002). An increase in node purity, as measured by the residual sum of squares, leads to a decrease in mean squared error (MSE) in regression analyses (González et al., 2015). The default number of trees (ntree parameter) used for computing the node purity increase was set at 500. When applied to our main hierarchical linear regression models predicting leadership effectiveness with control variables and eFRLM dimensions (Model D4; see Figure 4.2.B1) or factors (Model F4; see Figure 4.2.B2), the RF algorithm revealed that the instrumental leadership dimension was the most influential predictor in terms of increase in node purity (130.23), along with transformational leadership (122.26). Similarly, the instrumental leadership factors "outcome monitoring" (43.09) and "path-goal facilitation" (41.33) were among the top five most influential predictors in terms of increase in node purity, along with the transformational leadership factors "articulating a vision" (62.33), "providing an appropriate model" (59.75), and "fostering the acceptance of group goals" (49.77). These findings provide further support for the relative importance of instrumental leadership at both dimensional and factor levels and its predictive validity for leadership effectiveness. The corresponding values for the node purity increase for control variables and eFRLM dimensions/factors can be found in Table 4.2.A1 and Table 4.2.A2, respectively.

Figure 4.2.B1

Results of the Random Forest Algorithm Predicting Perceived Leadership Effectiveness Including Control Variables and eFRLM Dimensions

Instrumental leadership Transformational leadership Transactional leadership Transactional leadership Age* Ag					Dimensional I	evel		
instrumental readership • • Transcrional leadership • • Age* • • Weekly working time* • • Control span* • • Interaction frequency with leader* • • Age* • • Dorate tenue* • • Duration of working with leader* • • Hierarchical level* • • Gender* • •								- 27
Transformational leadership • • Age* • • Meekly working time* • • Control span ^o • • Interaction frequency with leader* • • Age* • • Duration of working time* • • Corporate tenure* • • Duration of working time* • • Gender* • • 0 20 40 69 80 100 120	Instrumental leadership							
Transactional leadership • Age* • Weekly working time* • Control span* • Interaction frequency with leader* • Age* • Corporate tenure* • Duration of working time* • Gender* • 0 20 40 60 80 100 120	Transformational leadership							0
Age* •	Transactional leadership				0			
Weekly working time* • Control span* • Interaction frequency with leader* • Age* • Corporate tenure* • 0 0	Age*	•						
Control span ^a Interaction frequency with leader* Interaction frequency with leader* Age ^a Image:	Weekly working time*	0						
Interaction frequency with leader* Age ^a Ag	Control span ^b	0						
Age ^a o Corporate tenure ⁴ o Remote working time ⁴ o Duration of working with leader ⁴ o Hierarchical level ^a o Gender ⁴ o Gender ⁴ o 0 20 40 60 80 100 120	Interaction frequency with leader*	0						
Corporate tenure* o Remote working time* o Duration of working with leader* o Hierarchical level* o 6ender* o Gender* o 0 20 40 60 80 100 100 120	Age ⁿ	•						
Remote working time* • Duration of working with leader* • Hierarchical level* • Education* • Gender* • 0 20 40 60 80 100 10 10	Corporate tenure*	0						
Duration of working with leader* • •	Remote working time*	0						
Hierarchical level* 6	Duration of working with leader*	•						
Education* Gender* Gender*	Hierarchical level*							
Gender* Gender* 0 20 40 60 80 100 120	Education*	0						
Gender* 0 20 40 60 80 100 120	Gender ^b	0						
0 20 40 60 80 100 120	Gender*	0						
v 2v 4v 60 60 100 120			20	40	60	80	100	120
			20		90	- 20	100	120

Note. Gender was dummy-coded (0/1 = male/female). The relevance of each control variable and eFRLM dimension is measured in terms of the increase in node purity ("IncNodePurity").

^a Follower-related control variables.

^b Leader-related control variables.

Figure 4.2.B2

Results of the Random Forest Algorithm Predicting Perceived Leadership Effectiveness Including Control Variables and eFRLM Factors

				Factor level			
s at a state st							
vrticulating a vision							
roviding an appropriate model							
ostering the acceptance of group goals							
Jutcome monitoring					.0		
'ath-goal facilitation					0		
invironmental monitoring				0			
iontingent reward			0				
ntellectual stimulation			0				
ndividualized support			0				
trategy formulation and implementation		•					
Veekly working time*	0						
ontrol span ^b	0						
ge*							
igh performance expectations	0						
ge ^a	0						
orporate tenure*	0						
iteraction frequency with leader*	o						
emote working time*	0						
uration of working with leader*	0						
ierarchical level®	•						
ducation*							
ender*	0						
Sender*							
	0	10	20	30	40	50	60
	507. J		837777			10.00	- 55

Note. Gender was dummy-coded (0/1 = male/female). The relevance of each control variable and eFRLM factor is measured in terms of the increase in node purity ("IncNodePurity").

^a Follower-related control variables.

^b Leader-related control variables.

Appendix 4.2 References

- Antonakis, J., & House, R. J. (2014). Instrumental leadership: Measurement and extension of transformational-transactional leadership theory. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 25(4), 746–771. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2014.04.005
- Bi, J. (2012). A review of statistical methods for determination of relative importance of correlated predictors and identification of drivers of consumer liking. *Journal of Sensory Studies*, 27(2), 87–101. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1745-459X.2012.00370.x

Bormann, K. C., & Rowold, J. (2018). Construct proliferation in leadership style research: Reviewing pro and contra arguments. *Organizational Psychology Review*, 8(2–3), 149–173. https://doi.org/10.1177/2041386618794821

- Breiman, L. (2001). Random forests. *Machine Learning*, 45(1), 5–32. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1010933404324
- Breiman, L. (2002). *Manual on setting up, using, and understanding random forest v3.1*. Statistics Department University of California Berkeley.
- http://oz.berkely.edu/users/breiman/Using_random_forest_v3.1.pdf
 González, C., Mira-McWilliams, J., & Juárez, I. (2015). Important variable assessment and electricity price forecasting based on regression tree models: Classification and regression trees, bagging and random forests. *IET Generation, Transmission & Distribution*, 9(11), 1120–1128. https://doi.org/10.1049/iet-gtd.2014.0655
- Grömping, U. (2007). Relative importance for linear regression in R: The package relaimpo. Journal of Statistical Software, 17(1), 1–27. https://doi.org/10.18637/jss.v017.i01
- Grömping, U. (2009). Variable importance assessment in regression: Linear regression versus random forest. *The American Statistician*, 63(4), 308–319. https://doi.org/10.1198/tast.2009.08199
- Johnson, J. W., & Lebreton, J. M. (2004). History and use of relative importance indices in organizational research. Organizational Research Methods, 7(3), 238–257. https://doi.org/10.1177/1094428104266510
- Kruskal, W. (1987). Relative importance by averaging over orderings. *The American Statistician*, 41(1), 6–10. https://doi.org/10.1080/00031305.1987.10475432
- Liaw, A., & Wiener, M. (2002). Classification and regression by randomForest. *R News*, 2(3), 18–22.
- Lindeman, R. H., Merenda, P. F., & Gold, R. Z. (1980). *Introduction to bivariate and multivariate analysis*. Scott Foresman.
- Liu, M., Hu, S., Ge, Y., Heuvelink, G. B. M., Ren, Z., & Huang, X. (2021). Using multiple linear regression and random forests to identify spatial poverty determinants in rural China. *Spatial Statistics*, 42, 100461. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.spasta.2020.100461
- Rowold, J. (2014). Instrumental leadership: Extending the transformational-transactional leadership paradigm. *German Journal of Human Resource Management*, *28*(3), 367–390. https://doi.org/10.1177/239700221402800304
- Rowold, J., Diebig, M., & Heinitz, K. (2017). The effects of transformational and instrumental leadership on followers' levels of cortisol. *German Journal of Human Resource Management*, 31(3), 219–237. https://doi.org/10.1177/2397002216689240